COMPARATIVE STUDIES OF ENERGY HOMEOSTASIS IN VERTEBRATES

EDITED BY: Maximilian Michel PUBLISHED IN: Frontiers in Endocrinology and Frontiers in Neuroscience







Frontiers Copyright Statement

© Copyright 2007-2018 Frontiers Media SA. All rights reserved. All content included on this site, such as text, graphics, logos, button icons, images, video/audio clips, downloads, data compilations and software, is the property of or is licensed to Frontiers Media SA ("Frontiers") or its licensees and/or subcontractors. The copyright in the text of individual articles is the property of their respective authors, subject to a license granted to Frontiers.

The compilation of articles constituting this e-book, wherever published, as well as the compilation of all other content on this site, is the exclusive property of Frontiers. For the conditions for downloading and copying of e-books from Frontiers' website, please see the Terms for Website Use. If purchasing Frontiers e-books from other websites or sources, the conditions of the website concerned apply.

Images and graphics not forming part of user-contributed materials may not be downloaded or copied without permission.

Individual articles may be downloaded and reproduced in accordance with the principles of the CC-BY licence subject to any copyright or other notices. They may not be re-sold as an e-book.

As author or other contributor you grant a CC-BY licence to others to reproduce your articles, including any graphics and third-party materials supplied by you, in accordance with the Conditions for Website Use and subject to any copyright notices which you include in connection with your articles and materials.

All copyright, and all rights therein, are protected by national and international copyright laws.

The above represents a summary only. For the full conditions see the Conditions for Authors and the Conditions for Website Use. ISSN 1664-8714

ISBN 978-2-88945-560-7 DOI 10.3389/978-2-88945-560-7

About Frontiers

Frontiers is more than just an open-access publisher of scholarly articles: it is a pioneering approach to the world of academia, radically improving the way scholarly research is managed. The grand vision of Frontiers is a world where all people have an equal opportunity to seek, share and generate knowledge. Frontiers provides immediate and permanent online open access to all its publications, but this alone is not enough to realize our grand goals.

Frontiers Journal Series

The Frontiers Journal Series is a multi-tier and interdisciplinary set of open-access, online journals, promising a paradigm shift from the current review, selection and dissemination processes in academic publishing. All Frontiers journals are driven by researchers for researchers; therefore, they constitute a service to the scholarly community. At the same time, the Frontiers Journal Series operates on a revolutionary invention, the tiered publishing system, initially addressing specific communities of scholars, and gradually climbing up to broader public understanding, thus serving the interests of the lay society, too.

Dedication to quality

Each Frontiers article is a landmark of the highest quality, thanks to genuinely collaborative interactions between authors and review editors, who include some of the world's best academicians. Research must be certified by peers before entering a stream of knowledge that may eventually reach the public - and shape society; therefore, Frontiers only applies the most rigorous and unbiased reviews.

Frontiers revolutionizes research publishing by freely delivering the most outstanding research, evaluated with no bias from both the academic and social point of view. By applying the most advanced information technologies, Frontiers is catapulting scholarly publishing into a new generation.

What are Frontiers Research Topics?

Frontiers Research Topics are very popular trademarks of the Frontiers Journals Series: they are collections of at least ten articles, all centered on a particular subject. With their unique mix of varied contributions from Original Research to Review Articles, Frontiers Research Topics unify the most influential researchers, the latest key findings and historical advances in a hot research area! Find out more on how to host your own Frontiers Research Topic or contribute to one as an author by contacting the Frontiers Editorial Office: researchtopics@frontiersin.org

COMPARATIVE STUDIES OF ENERGY HOMEOSTASIS IN VERTEBRATES

Topic Editor: Maximilian Michel, University of Cologne, Germany



Cover image: Tom Mc Nemar/Shutterstock.com

2

A brief glimpse into new insight driving the comparative biology of energy homeostasis in vertebrates with a focus on non-mammalian vertebrates. What are the key conserved mechanisms and what aspects of feeding behavior and energy allocation are different between species?

Citation: Michel, M., ed. (2018). Comparative Studies of Energy Homeostasis in Vertebrates. Lausanne: Frontiers Media. doi: 10.3389/978-2-88945-560-7

Table of Contents

05 Editorial: Comparative Studies of Energy Homeostasis in Vertebrates Maximilian Michel

SECTION 1

LIPID AND GLUCOSE HANDLING

- 08 Lipid Uptake, Metabolism, and Transport in the Larval Zebrafish Vanessa H. Quinlivan and Steven A. Farber
- **19** Zebrafish Models for Dyslipidemia and Atherosclerosis Research Amnon Schlegel
- 27 The Role of Peroxisome Proliferator-Activated Receptor Gamma (PPARG) in Adipogenesis: Applying Knowledge from the Fish Aquaculture Industry to Biomedical Research

Rebecca Wafer, Panna Tandon and James E. N. Minchin

37 Modeling Pancreatic Endocrine Cell Adaptation and Diabetes in the Zebrafish

Lisette A. Maddison and Wenbiao Chen

SECTION 2

CENTRAL REGULATION AND ENERGY EXPENDITURE

43 Nutrient Sensing Systems in Fish: Impact on Food Intake Regulation and Energy Homeostasis

Marta Conde-Sieira and José L. Soengas

- 64 Regulation of Agouti-Related Protein and Pro-Opiomelanocortin Gene Expression in the Avian Arcuate Nucleus Timothy Boswell and Ian C. Dunn
- 75 Appetite-Controlling Endocrine Systems in Teleosts Ivar Rønnestad, Ana S. Gomes, Koji Murashita, Rita Angotzi, Elisabeth Jönsson and Hélène Volkoff
- 99 Non-Mammalian Vertebrates: Distinct Models to Assess the Role of Ion Gradients in Energy Expenditure

Caroline E. Geisler, Kyle P. Kentch and Benjamin J. Renquist

 108 Comparative Physiology of Energy Metabolism: Fishing for Endocrine Signals in the Early Vertebrate Pool
 Iris van de Pol, Gert Flik and Marnix Gorissen

SECTION 3

A FOCUS ON LEPTIN BIOLOGY

126 Assessing the Functional Role of Leptin in Energy Homeostasis and the Stress Response in Vertebrates

Courtney A. Deck, Jamie L. Honeycutt, Eugene Cheung, Hannah M. Reynolds and Russell J. Borski

- **139** On the Molecular Evolution of Leptin, Leptin Receptor, and Endospanin Richard Lyle Londraville, Jeremy W. Prokop, Robert Joel Duff, Qin Liu and Matthew Tuttle
- 155 Leptin Induces Mitosis and Activates the Canonical Wnt/β-Catenin Signaling Pathway in Neurogenic Regions of Xenopus Tadpole Brain Melissa Cui Bender, Christopher J. Sifuentes and Robert J. Denver

SECTION 4

WIDER PERSPECTIVES

170 Energy Homeostasis in Monotremes Stewart C. Nicol





Editorial: Comparative Studies of Energy Homeostasis in Vertebrates

Maximilian Michel*

Institute of Zoology, University of Cologne, Cologne, Germany

Keywords: energy homeostasis, melanocortins, leptin, food intake regulation, energy expenditure

Editorial on the Research Topic

Comparative Studies of Energy Homeostasis in Vertebrates

Energy homeostasis of an organism is the sum of processes integrating energy intake with resource allocation. Its central control mechanisms are essential to an animal's life history and govern daily activity, such as searching for food, reproduction, etc. The first major inroads into our understanding of the genetic basis of energy homeostasis were made by the fortuitous finding of five monogenic obesity strains in mouse breeding experiments (1) obese, (2) diabetes, (3) agouti, (4) fat, and (5) tubby (1). The genes underlying these strains were eventually cloned, laying the groundwork for the analysis of the neural circuitry which underlies energy homeostasis in mice [for recent reviews, please see Ref. (2-4)]. This research quickly led to the discovery of the core genes involved in energy homeostasis in obese human patients such as the leptin system (5, 6) which is mutated in the obese and diabetes mouse strains or the melanocortin 4 receptor system (7, 8) which is impacted in the agouti mouse strain. By and by, the key genes involved in mammalian energy homeostasis were cloned and found to be conserved not only across mammals but also across all vertebrates. However, while the genes are conserved, the anatomical and functional data on these genes varies between species from comparable to variable. In contrast, research into the biochemical basis of energy acquisition and utilization showed clearly that large swaths of the underlying building blocks are highly conserved (9). It follows that the basic building blocks which play a role in energy homeostasis are largely conserved, for example, lipid handling by adipose tissue or glucose handling by the liver. In contrast, the central regulation of these processes differs between species. An argument can be made that these differences in regulation are likely dependent on the ecological niche of an individual species [see for example, Ronnestad et al. in this issue]. Understanding what exactly constitutes a conserved building block in energy homeostasis and how these are centrally regulated to allow an animal to exist in a given ecological niche will allow us to (1) gain insight into the evolution of biological diversity; (2) modulate growth behavior in farm animals (domestication as an ecological niche); and (3) ameliorate abnormal homeostasis patterns in humans (from metabolic syndrome on one extreme to anorexia and cancer cachexia on the other). This research topic comprises reviews and a research article focused on recent insight. Of note-this topic is complemented by a concurrent research topic on the "Neuroendocrine Control of Feeding Behavior" (10), which has a strong emphasis on mammalian systems.

The first set of contributions covers lipid and glucose handling in zebrafish. The first review by Steven Farber's group (Quinlivan and Farber) introduces the mechanisms governing embryonic and larval lipid dynamics in zebrafish around the time of the transition from egg yolk feeding to prey feeding. The authors highlight that the gut is colonized by microbiota following the animals first feeding. They show that during this time, gut microbiota has an immense impact on host absorptive processes. Finally, the authors point out the benefits of the zebrafish model system to carefully study the dynamics of lipid absorption and processing (Quinlivan and Farber). Amnon Schlegel (Schlegel) focuses the discussion on lipoprotein biology. He argues for the use of zebrafish as a model system,

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Cunming Duan, University of Michigan, United States

Reviewed by:

Chunyang Zhang, Harvard Medical School, United States

*Correspondence:

Maximilian Michel maximichel@gmail.com

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Experimental Endocrinology, a section of the journal Frontiers in Endocrinology

Received: 16 March 2018 Accepted: 17 May 2018 Published: 05 June 2018

Citation:

Michel M (2018) Editorial: Comparative Studies of Energy Homeostasis in Vertebrates. Front. Endocrinol. 9:291. doi: 10.3389/fendo.2018.00291

5

since cholesteryl ester transfer proteins, which predispose people as well as zebrafish to atherogenic lipoprotein profiles, are not conserved in rodents. This allows for the study of plaque formation in order to identify dyslipidemia and atherosclerosis modifiers—both chemical and genetic (Schlegel). Staying on the topic of adipose biology, James Minchin's group (Wafer et al.) reviews adipogenesis, in particular its master regulator peroxisome proliferator-activated receptor gamma (PPARG) in fish compared to mammals. Not only is this gene highly conserved, but surprisingly, the authors find that only a single ortholog is present across fish species which suggests a critical role in adipogenesis. Astonishingly, while target genes of PPARG seem to be conserved, ligands are more diverse. This suggests that specifically control of adipose tissue evolved but not the role it plays within the organism (Wafer et al.). Veering away from the control of lipid levels, the next contribution focuses on the control of systemic glucose levels by the pancreatic endocrine cells (Maddison and Chen). The authors showcase the utility of the zebrafish as a model system for beta cell proliferation, differentiation, and regeneration (Maddison and Chen). Taken together, these four contributions argue not only for the utility of the zebrafish as a model system but also that the basic building blocks underlying energy homeostasis are fundamentally conserved across vertebrates.

Conde-Sieira and Soengas expand this in their review on peripheral nutrient sensing systems. Importantly, the authors show that the basic glucosensory and fatty acid sensory mechanisms are conserved from different fish species to mammals. However, they see species-specific differences by how central regulation of energy homeostasis is achieved (Conde-Sieira and Soengas). The topic of central mechanisms is further developed in a paper in the concurrent research topic written by Delgado et al., where the authors specifically look at the hypothalamic integration of signals from glucose and fatty acid sensing systems as well as integration of circadian information and the stress axis to achieve food intake regulation (Delgado et al.). Boswell and Dunn reviewed the central melanocortin system in birds and present data for the conservation of the key aspects of central melanocortin action. Interestingly, the authors point to a little understood connection between the melanocortin system, growth, and food intake in birds (Boswell and Dunn), This effect, also seen in platyfish (11), mice and humans and may be mediated via the somatostatin axis (12). Hélène Volkoff in her contribution summarizes what we know to date on the impact of different endocrine systems in fish. While most mammalian peptides and hormones either have an effect on fish metabolic state (when injected) and/or are regulated by metabolic state, the phenotype strongly varies between species. This again suggests that the building blocks supporting metabolic state are intact and conserved but the control mechanisms vary between species. The author points out that this is possibly not all too surprising given the widespread adaptations necessary for more than 30,000 species of fish to find ecological niches (Volkoff). This aspect is further developed by Ronnestad et al., where the authors bring up examples of central control differences in fish with vastly different life history and ecological niches. Specifically, the authors review metabolic control in long-term fasting species (the arctic charr, mouthbrooders, and fasting in aquaculture), throughout life transitions (first feeding to juvenile), in voracious feeders, and in cave-living fish (Ronnestad et al.). Ben Renquist's group introduces metabolic rate in fish, an essential underlying principle in energy homeostasis. The authors concentrate on variations in proton leak, calcium cycling, and membrane potential and relate this to differences in habitat and ecological niche of the investigated species. They point out that small changes in genes involved in ion gradients and their regulation can correlate with critical biological differences and advantages to the species-allowing the organism to adapt to particularly extreme environmental conditions by changes in metabolic rate (Geisler et al.). The subsequent contribution by Marnix Gorissen (van de Pol et al.) further develops the concept of life history, focusing on what is required for an organism to live and survive in an aquatic niche. With a keen eye on the developments in the mammalian literature, the authors look at insulin and leptin biology in fish, from appetite regulation via sexual maturation, salt water adaptation, and glucose/adipose homeostasis to stress (van de Pol et al.).

The next set of reviews focus on mechanisms specifically controlled by leptin signaling. Russell Borski's group (Deck et al.) starts with an overview of leptin structure and points out that leptin has an anorexigenic effect throughout vertebrates. However, this overall effect is mediated by recruiting different building blocks in different species-mobilization of lipid or glucose stores. The authors then look at the mobilization of energy after osmotic stress, hypoxia, disease, and fasting in fish (Deck et al.). Richard Londraville's contribution (Londraville et al.) introduces the recent discovery of leptin in birds, where evidence suggests that leptin may not have an endocrine but rather may have an autocrine/paracrine function. The authors embark on an up to-date analysis of leptin receptor and endospanin (an overlapping transcript with modulatory function) evolution and structure, probing databanks based on recent structural insight. This insight can be used to inform future research into leptin function (Londraville et al.). The last contribution in this leptin-specific set of reviews is an original research article from the Denver lab which provides evidence on a scarcely studied aspect of leptin biology: leptin's role during development (Bender et al.). In *xenopus*, the authors show that leptin levels (secreted by adipose tissue) rise just prior to metamorphosis and stay elevated throughout metamorphosis. They find evidence that leptin mediates cell proliferation and conduct a microarray study which provides a basis for further investigation of leptin's role and regulation of neurogenesis (Bender et al.). These four articles provide a good overview on what is known about nonmammalian leptin biology and highlight the complex nature of this hormone more than 50 years after the identification of the first leptin phenotypes (13).

The last contribution forms a bridge between nonmammalian energy homeostasis research with the mammalian realm. Here, Stewart Nicol discusses energy homeostasis in monotremes (Nicol). Similar to evidence from birds and fish, leptin does not appear to play a role in adipostasis in monotremes. The author further looks at special life history adaptations, such as seasonality, hibernation, and torpor (Nicol). This is of particular note in relation to the contribution of Ronnestad et al. who discuss the role of seasonality in the arctic charr. An organism's life history needs to be taken into account when translating insight gained from one organism (for example, a fish or a mouse) to another (such as humans). It is imperative to keep Krogh's principle of comparative biology in mind (for each problem there will be an animal where it can be most conveniently studied) and the harvest this has brought to our understanding of biology. While historical examples range from action potentials in squid *via* learning in mollusks or the shark rectal gland; relevant examples in the context here could be the study of: (1) metabolic control in voracious feeders and seasonal animals; (2) the thermogenic role of muscle in birds lacking brown adipose; (3) the role of the melanocortin system in body growth in platyfish size morphs and birds; (4) metabolic control of migrating animals (eels, salmon,

REFERENCES

- Naggert J, Harris T, North M. The genetics of obesity. Curr Opin Genet Dev (1997) 7(3):398–404. doi:10.1016/S0959-437X(97)80155-4
- Anderson EJ, Cakir I, Carrington SJ, Cone RD, Ghamari-Langroudi M, Gillyard T, et al. 60 years of POMC: regulation of feeding and energy homeostasis by alpha-MSH. J Mol Endocrinol (2016) 56(4):T157–74. doi:10.1530/ JME-16-0014
- Andermann ML, Lowell BB. Toward a wiring diagram understanding of appetite control. *Neuron* (2017) 95(4):757–78. doi:10.1016/j.neuron.2017. 06.014
- Krashes MJ. Untangling appetite circuits with optogenetics and chemogenetics. In: Harris RBS, editor. *Appetite and Food Intake: Central Control*. Boca Raton, FL: Taylor & Francis Group (2017). p. 91–116.
- Montague CT, Farooqi IS, Whitehead JP, Soos MA, Rau H, Wareham NJ, et al. Congenital leptin deficiency is associated with severe early-onset obesity in humans. *Nature* (1997) 387(6636):903–8. doi:10.1038/43185
- Farooqi IS, Jebb SA, Langmack G, Lawrence E, Cheetham CH, Prentice AM, et al. Effects of recombinant leptin therapy in a child with congenital leptin deficiency. N Engl J Med (1999) 341(12):879–84. doi:10.1056/nejm199909163411204
- Yeo GS, Farooqi IS, Aminian S, Halsall DJ, Stanhope RG, O'Rahilly S. A frameshift mutation in MC4R associated with dominantly inherited human obesity. *Nat Genet* (1998) 20(2):111–2. doi:10.1038/2404
- Farooqi IS, Yeo GS, Keogh JM, Aminian S, Jebb SA, Butler G, et al. Dominant and recessive inheritance of morbid obesity associated with melanocortin 4 receptor deficiency. J Clin Invest (2000) 106(2):271–9. doi:10.1172/jci9397

birds). These contributions clearly show the variety of mechanisms which a single regulatory hormone can control. However, these reviews also point out that (a) a hormone can have one general role (such as the anorexigenic effect of leptin) throughout all vertebrates, while recruiting different building blocks to achieve this effect and (b) that different building blocks (such as control of adipose through PPARG) can be centrally controlled by different ligands depending on the species and likely its ecological niche.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

The author listed has made a substantial, direct, and intellectual contribution to the work and approved it for publication.

- Hochachka PW. The nature of evolution and adaptation: resolving the unitydiversity paradox. Can J Zool (1988) 66(5):1146–52. doi:10.1139/z88-167
- Luquet S, Granata R, Vaudry H. Neuroendocrine Control of Feeding Behavior [Online] (2017). Available from: https://www.frontiersin.org/research-topics/4969/ neuroendocrine-control-of-feeding-behavior (Accessed: March 16, 2018).
- Lampert KP, Schmidt C, Fischer P, Volff JN, Hoffmann C, Muck J, et al. Determination of onset of sexual maturation and mating behavior by melanocortin receptor 4 polymorphisms. *Curr Biol* (2010) 20(19):1729–34. doi:10.1016/j.cub.2010.08.029
- Lohr H, Hess S, Pereira MMA, Reinoss P, Leibold S, Schenkel C, et al. Dietinduced growth is regulated via acquired leptin resistance and engages a Pomc-Somatostatin-growth hormone circuit. *Cell Rep* (2018) 23(6):1728–41. doi:10.1016/j.celrep.2018.04.018
- Hummel KP, Dickie MM, Coleman DL. Diabetes, a new mutation in the mouse. Science (1966) 153(3740):1127–8. doi:10.1126/science.153.3740.1127

Conflict of Interest Statement: The author declares that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2018 Michel. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





Lipid Uptake, Metabolism, and Transport in the Larval Zebrafish

Vanessa H. Quinlivan^{1,2} and Steven A. Farber^{1,2*}

¹ Carnegie Institution for Science (CIS), Baltimore, MD, United States, ² The Johns Hopkins University, Baltimore, MD, United States

The developing zebrafish is a well-established model system for studies of energy metabolism, and is amenable to genetic, physiological, and biochemical approaches. For the first 5 days of life, nutrients are absorbed from its endogenous maternally deposited yolk. At 5 days post-fertilization, the yolk is exhausted and the larva has a functional digestive system including intestine, liver, gallbladder, pancreas, and intestinal microbiota. The transparency of the larval zebrafish, and the genetic and physiological similarity of its digestive system to that of mammals make it a promising system in which to address questions of energy homeostasis relevant to human health. For example, apolipoprotein expression and function is similar in zebrafish and mammals, and transgenic animals may be used to examine both the transport of lipid from yolk to body in the embryo, and the trafficking of dietary lipids in the larva. Additionally, despite the identification of many fatty acid and lipid transport proteins expressed by vertebrates, the cell biological processes that mediate the transport of dietary lipids from the intestinal lumen to the interior of enterocytes remain to be elucidated. Genetic tractability and amenability to live imaging and a range of biochemical methods make the larval zebrafish an ideal model in which to address open questions in the field of lipid transport, energy homeostasis, and nutrient metabolism.

Keywords: lipid metabolism, zebrafish, lipoproteins, comparative physiology, enterocytes

INTRODUCTION

The developing digestive system of the embryonic and larval zebrafish is a well-established model system for the study of vertebrate gastrointestinal physiology and metabolism. Metabolic and regulatory pathways for gastrointestinal system development, intestinal and liver cell differentiation, digestion, and nutrient uptake and transport are highly conserved between zebrafish and humans (1–7). The functional regionalization of the intestine also appears to be conserved among vertebrates including zebrafish with respect to transcription factor expression in epithelial cells over the length of the intestine (8). Additionally, the transparency of the developing larva makes it ideal for live imaging experiments: The larval zebrafish has a functional and visible liver, pancreas, gallbladder, intestine, and intestinal microbiota by 5 days post-fertilization (dpf) when it begins to feed. The zebrafish is also suitable for large-scale and high-throughput experiments due to its small size and high fertility (a single pair can produce hundreds of embryos in a day). Finally, as the importance of the gut microbiome to studies of nutritional physiology is becoming increasingly clear; the larval zebrafish microbiota are well-characterized, and germ-free and gnotobiotic models are available (9).

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Maximilian Michel, University of Michigan, United States

Reviewed by:

Mingyu Li, Vanderbilt University, United States Satoshi Ogawa, Monash University Malaysia, Malaysia James Minchin, University of Edinburgh, United Kingdom

*Correspondence:

Steven A. Farber farber@carnegiescience.edu

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Experimental Endocrinology, a section of the journal Frontiers in Endocrinology

Received: 14 July 2017 Accepted: 01 November 2017 Published: 20 November 2017

Citation:

Quinlivan VH and Farber SA (2017) Lipid Uptake, Metabolism, and Transport in the Larval Zebrafish. Front. Endocrinol. 8:319. doi: 10.3389/fendo.2017.00319 The zebrafish zygote contains a large yolk cell which is absorbed over the first 5 days of life and supplies the developing embryo with nutrients. The yolk consists of a lipid and protein rich core with a cellular syncytium at its periphery, called the yolk syncytial layer (YSL). The YSL exports amino acids, hydrolyzes complex lipids to release fatty acids, and synthesizes lipoproteins, which export lipid to the developing embryo until it is able to feed independently (10). The intestine of the larval zebrafish is open at both ends and ready to absorb exogenous food at 5 dpf, though the non-enterocyte secretory cell populations do not differentiate until later larval stages (11). Once the intestinal tract is open, the gut microbiota are acquired from the media. At this time, colonization occurs essentially immediately and is maintained throughout life with the main source of variation in bacterial community composition being changes in diet (12).

Both the embryonic and larval zebrafish are valuable models of lipid uptake and trafficking, respectively, from the yolk cell and the diet. This review encompasses the roles of lipid remodeling, lipoproteins, intestinal lipid transport proteins, and the gut microbiota in lipid processing during zebrafish development.

YOLK LIPID UPTAKE IN THE EMBRYONIC AND LARVAL ZEBRAFISH

Lipoproteins Transport Yolk Lipids to the Body of the Developing Zebrafish Embryo

The majority of the mass of a zebrafish zygote consists of the yolk, a lipid-rich structure that is gradually depleted by transport of its contents to the embryo as it develops into a free-feeding larva. Yolk lipids are packaged into lipoproteins in the YSL before being exported to the body of the developing zebrafish. Lipoproteins are lipid-transporting structures consisting of a neutral lipid interior bounded by a phospholipid (PL) and cholesterol monolayer, carrying one or more apolipoproteins. Apolipoproteins mediate interactions among lipoproteins, cellular receptors, and lipid-processing enzymes. The zebrafish genome contains analogs of every major human apolipoprotein, but there are some differences in patterns of expression and function. Due to the teleost genome duplication, zebrafish have multiple paralogs of each apolipoprotein gene. Human lipid metabolism genes with corresponding zebrafish paralogs discussed in this review are summarized in Table 1. There are 11 apolipoprotein genes in the apoB, apoA-IV, apoE, and apoA-I families, and all are expressed in the YSL (13) (Figure 1). Whole-mount in situ hybridization reveals that expression of some apolipoprotein genes is localized to subregions of the YSL, suggesting a previously uncharacterized compartmentalization of this structure. For example, mRNA encoding apoA-IV appears to be specific to the yolk extension at earlier stages (though different paralogs in this family are concentrated here at different points in development), while members of the other apolipoprotein families are expressed more evenly throughout the YSL (13). The significance of these potential YSL subdomains has yet to be described, but it is possible that there is a relationship to the regionalization of the developing intestine.

TABLE 1 | Zebrafish express multiple paralogs of human lipid metabolism genes.

Product class	Human gene	Zebrafish gene (paralogs)	Expression in digestive tissues
Apolipoproteins	apoA-l	apoA-la	Yolk syncytial layer (YSL), larval intestine
		apoA-lb	YSL, larval intestine, and liver
	apoA-II	apoA-II	YSL (14), larval, and adult liver (15)
	apoA-IV	apoA-IVa	YSL(extension), larval intestine
		apoA-IVb.1	YSL(extension), larval intestine
		apoA-IVb.2	YSL(extension), larval intestine
		apoA-IVb.3	YSL, larval intestine and liver
	ароВ	apoBa	YSL, larval liver
		apoBb.1	YSL, larval intestine and liver
		apoBb.2	YSL, larval liver
	apoC1	apoC1	Larval and adult liver (15)
	apoC2	apoC2	Larval and adult liver (15)
	apoE	apoEa	YSL(extension), larval intestine
		apoEb	YSL, larval intestine
Cholesterol transporter	npc1l1	npc1l1	Adult intestine and liver (16)
Fatty acid transporters	fatp3/ acsvl3	fatp3/slc27a3	
	fatp1/ acsvl5	slc27a1a	
		slc27a1b	
	fatp2/ acsvl1	slc27a2a	Adult liver
		slc27a2b	
	fatp4/ acsvl4	slc27a4	Anterior larval intestine
	fatp6/ acsvl2	slc27a6	
	cav1	cav1	Basal border of enterocytes
	cd36	cd36	YSL, larval intestine (17)
Long-chain Acyl- CoA synthetases	acsl1	acsl1a	Adult liver and intestine
		acsl1b	YSL, larval gut
	acsl2	acsl2	Adult liver
	acs/3	acsl3a	Adult liver and intestine
		acsl3b	Adult liver and intestine
	acsl4	acsl4a	YSL, larval gut, adult gut
		acsl4b	YSL, adult liver and intestine
	acsl5	acsl5	YSL, adult liver and intestine

Although the expression of apolipoprotein genes in the developing embryo and larva has been thoroughly characterized, the lipoprotein profile at these stages is less well defined. Most work on fish lipoproteins has focused on adults, likely due to the



difficulty of obtaining adequate blood samples from larvae (19). Secretion of very low-density lipoprotein (VLDL) particles from the yolk has been demonstrated by electron microscopy (20, 21). The YSL also expresses apoA-I and apoA-II, which are found in HDL (high-density lipoprotein) particles and chylomicrons but not LDL (low-density lipoprotein) or VLDL (13, 14). ApoB, which is a component of chylomicrons, LDL, and VLDL, has a vital role in the export of yolk lipids. Microsomal triglyceride (TG) transfer protein (MTP) packages TGs into ApoB-containing lipoproteins. ApoB is degraded if it is not associated with lipid so, in the absence of MTP function, ApoB is not functional (22). In $mtp^{-/-}$ mutant zebrafish larvae, lipids are trapped in the yolk (characterized by retention of yolk volume, an increase in yolk opacity, and a reduction in neutral lipid in the body) and larvae do not survive beyond 5 days (23). Additionally, unlike their wild-type siblings, *mtp*^{-/-} embryos retain fluorescent fatty acid injected into the yolk and do not export it or its fluorescent products to the circulation (18). The ability of $mtp^{-/-}$ larvae to grow and survive to 5 dpf suggests that some lipid must be transported out of the yolk in order for membranes to be synthesized, possibly through the synthesis of HDL-like particles that contain ApoA-I and do not require MTP for their assembly.

Lipid Composition of the Embryo Changes over the Course of Yolk Absorption

According to a recently published developmental study of lipid composition performed by liquid chromatography-mass spectrometry (LC-MS), at the time of fertilization, embryo lipids are approximately 40% cholesterol, 35% PL, and 9% TG, with less abundant species, including mono- and di-glycerides, cholesterol esters (CE), ceramides, and lysophospholipids, making up the remainder (24). Over the first 5 days of life, a linear decrease in the molar amount of most lipid species is observed in the yolk with a corresponding increase in the embryonic/larval body. Some exceptions have been observed: TG in the body remains consistently low as it is depleted from the yolk, suggesting that yolk TGs are primarily broken down and either oxidized for energy or resynthesized into other lipid products. Interestingly, CE, the other "energy storage" lipid class, is exchanged evenly from the yolk to the body during this period of development with the total amount remaining the same (24). Cholesterol synthesis in animal cells is tightly controlled in response to the cholesterol content of membranes via regulation of HMG-CoA reductase expression, and esterification is a major mechanism by which excess cholesterol is neutralized (25). One possible reason that CE is not depleted during the lecithotrophic (yolk-feeding) period of development is that breaking down CE for fatty acid oxidation would result in an overabundance of cholesterol. Favoring glycerolipids as an early energy source, therefore, would be important for cholesterol homeostasis, while CE from the volk could be repackaged into intracellular lipid droplets for later oxidation or storage in adipocytes. Free cholesterol in the yolk and the body decrease and increase, respectively, at the same apparent rate between 24 h and 5 days of development, but the cholesterol content of the body at 5 dpf is less than the initial amount in the yolk (24). It is likely that this portion of the cholesterol is directed to synthesis of steroid hormones and bile, though these compounds were not measured in this study.

Phospholipid dynamics in the developing embryo also appear to be more complex than simple yolk to body trafficking: while other PL classes seem to move gradually from the yolk to the body, phosphatidylcholine (PC) levels in the yolk increase over the first 24 h, then decrease over the next 4 days while remaining relatively constant in the body (24). Though the specific lipid composition of zebrafish embryonic lipoproteins has not been investigated, one possible explanation is that the initial increase in PC goes to building the outer monolayer on lipoproteins exported from the yolk. It is possible that when this lipoproteinassociated PC reaches the body, it is in excess and is either oxidized or remodeled.

Although Fraher and colleagues' published analysis of their LC-MS data set was limited to discussion of developmental changes in lipid classes, quantitation of all individual lipid species was published as a supplement to the manuscript. These data provide an opportunity to examine the changes in individual lipid species that occur during the first 5 days of zebrafish development. For example, the major PL classes are defined by head group (e.g., PCs, phosphatidylethanolamines, phosphatidylserines, etc.), but each of these classes comprises thousands of different molecules with different types of fatty acid "tails." Modern mass spectrometry technologies optimized for lipidomics can differentiate between individual lipid species at this level of resolution because they can precisely determine the mass to charge ratio (m/z) of each analyte in a mixture and because they employ a second step in which the molecules are fragmented and the subsequent m/z values of these fragments are also determined. Complex lipids such as PLs are identified using m/z values calculated from molecular formulas and expected fragmentation patterns, and are annotated in Fraher's supplemental data and other lipidomics data sets as "Head Group (FA 1/FA 2)." The most abundant PL in animal cell membranes, for example, is PC with the saturated 16-carbon fatty acid palmitate and the monounsaturated 18-carbon fatty acid oleate and is annotated as PC(16:0/18:1). When the specific fatty acid composition of a complex lipid cannot be determined, only the total fatty acid carbon chain length and number of unsaturated carbon-carbon bonds is given [e.g., PC(34:1)].

When trends in the amounts of individual lipids in Fraher's data set are examined, results suggest that changes in the PL profile are consistent with an increase in membrane PL in the larval body that is expected to occur with increasing growth. However, the trends in total amounts of PL present in the yolk and body are skewed by changes in individual PL species. Specifically, PC(18:2/20:4) is a major PL in the body at the start of development and shows a large decrease by 5 dpf. However, the expected major PC components of cell membranes including PC(34:1) and other PCs with total chain lengths in the low 30s increase over the course of larval development as expected. It is possible that longer-chain PLs predominate in lipoproteins but are a minor species in cell membranes, a model supported by a large increase in the amount of PC(18:2/20:4) in the yolk over the course of development (this species is the only PL in the yolk whose total molar amount increases over 1-5 days, though other PL species increase in the yolk in terms of percentage of total lipid). PLs containing the fatty acid arachidonic acid (20:4) are the precursor of eicosanoids, a class of signaling molecules with roles in regulating inflammation, vascular physiology, and stem cell activity (26, 27).

This finding suggests eicosanoids as an important area of interest in the ongoing characterization of yolk utilization in the zebrafish. Although the physiological implications of changes in individual lipids were not within the scope of this published work, the rich MS data set that was produced highlights the importance of examining behavior of individual lipids in studies of metabolism and transport.

Complex Lipid Synthesis and Remodeling Occurs in the Embryonic and Larval Zebrafish Yolk

The embryonic and larval zebrafish yolk is metabolically active not just in lipid transport, but also in the synthesis and remodeling of complex lipids, as was demonstrated through the injection of radioactive and fluorescently labeled lipids into the larval yolk followed by thin layer chromatography (TLC) analysis of the products of these metabolic tracers (18). Fatty acids labeled with BODIPY-FL (4,4-difluoro-5,7-dimethyl-4-bora-3a,4a-diazas-indacene; a green fluorescent small molecule tag) or radioactive fatty acids injected into the yolk of 3 dpf larval zebrafish were both metabolized into complex lipids including PL, CE, and TG and transported throughout the developing body. Furthermore, injection of radioactive oleate showed that the yolk synthesizes complex lipids at the earliest stages of development, as radioactive TG and PL products were found in embryos injected as early as 0.75 hours post-fertilization (hpf). While the rate of incorporation of radioactive oleate into each PL class was consistent in embryos and larvae aged 0.75-3 dpf, larvae injected at 3 dpf were the only group to synthesize labeled CE, and there was a large increase in the amount of radioactive TG at later stages as well (18). When BODIPY-C12 was injected into the yolk of 24 hpf zebrafish embryos and yolk and body lipids were analyzed separately by TLC 1-6 h post injection (hpi), fluorescent complex lipids including TG, CE, and several unidentified species were produced in the yolk at early time points. Some fluorescent complex lipids were detected in the body at 6 hpi (24). (It is not known whether fluorescent PL was synthesized in this experiment as the assay only detected nonpolar lipids.) Injection of fluorescent PL into the yolk at 24 hpf resulted in fluorescent diglyceride and unidentified complex lipid species in the yolk, but no identified products in the body up to 6 hpi (24). Taken together, this and other evidence shows that the yolk is metabolically active throughout development and can both break down and synthesize complex lipids (18, 24, 28) (Table 2).

DIETARY LIPID UPTAKE IN THE LARVAL ZEBRAFISH

Digestion and Absorption of Dietary Complex Lipids

The larval zebrafish undergoes a switch from a lecithotrophic state to a free-feeding animal during its fifth day of development,

TABLE 2 | The larval zebrafish is a versatile model system for metabolic labeling

of lipids.				
Labeled lipid substrate	Developmental stage/delivery method	Assay	Reference	
Radioactive FA	1 dpf/yolk injection	Thin layer chromatography (TLC)	Miyares et al. (18)	
	3 dpf/yolk injection	TLC	Miyares et al. (18)	
	6 dpf/feeding	HPLC	Quinlivan et al. (29)	
Fluorescent FA	1 dpf/yolk injection	TLC	Fraher et al. (24)	
	3 dpf/yolk injection	TLC	Miyares et al. (18)	
	6 dpf/feeding	TLC	Carten et al. (28)	
		HPLC	Quinlivan et al. (29)	
Fluorescent PL	1 dpf/yolk injection	TLC	Fraher et al. (24)	
Fluorescent CE	6 dpf/feeding	HPLC	Quinlivan et al. (29)	

so by the time its yolk supply is depleted it must be able to digest and absorb nutrients from exogenous food sources. The ability to precisely control timing of the first meal is an advantage of this model as processing of dietary lipids by enterocytes can be observed without interference from lipids absorbed from previous meals. Additionally, because the larva retains its transparency for several weeks after it becomes free-feeding, it is possible to perform live imaging experiments with either single meals or ongoing defined diets in the same system.

Most dietary lipid consumed by animals enters the intestine not in the form of free fatty acids, but in complex lipids. Dietary TGs, PLs, and CE must be broken down by intestinal lipases in the lumen before the components of these molecules can cross the enterocyte membrane. As the fatty acids in these molecules are all linked by ester bonds, the intestinal lipases secreted by the exocrine pancreas are versatile and process a wide range of dietary lipids so that they can be absorbed (30). Following lipolysis, dietary lipid products form micelles in the intestinal lumen, which are emulsified in this aqueous environment by bile. The composition of bile varies between species and there are significant differences between teleost fish and humans, but its function is conserved (31, 32).

Enteroendocrine Cells in the Intestine Regulate Digestion and Are Influenced by the Microbiota

As they do in mammals, enteroendocrine cells in zebrafish secrete a wide range of hormones including serotonin, which influences motility and appetite, and cholecystokinin (CCK), which stimulates gall bladder contraction and release of digestive enzymes from the pancreas (33, 34). The zebrafish genome contains two CCK paralogs; ccka is expressed in the digestive system of adults (no data are available for larvae at this time) and both *ccka* and *cckb* are expressed in the brain starting at 24 hpf (35, 36). In mammals, CCK promotes lipid digestion by stimulating the gall bladder to secrete bile, but does not increase lipase activity (37, 38). Similarly, larval zebrafish treated with a CCK receptor antagonist show reduced protease activity while intestinal phospholipase activity is unaffected (30). Enteroendocrine cells expressing serotonin begin to appear in the larval zebrafish intestine at 5 dpf. They may be detected by immunohistochemistry for serotonin, and are distinguished from the enteric neurons (which also express serotonin) by their shape and location in the epithelium. By 8 dpf, 10-18 enteroendocrine cells per larva may be observed in the distal intestine (posterior to the swim bladder) (11). A notable difference is that the larval zebrafish intestine does not have crypts, where enteroendocrine cells would be located in mammals.

The intestinal microbiota is required for normal enteroendocrine cell development (11). In germ-free larval zebrafish, 0–6 enteroendocrine cells were observed at 8 dpf (the total number of cells in the distal intestinal epithelium did not vary between germ-free and conventional groups). Larvae raised germ-free until 5 dpf, and then colonized with the conventional microbiota, developed normal numbers of enteroendocrine cells, suggesting that the yet-unidentified signal from the microbiota that promotes enteroendocrine cell development is not required before 5 dpf. Higher gut motility was observed in zebrafish larvae raised germ-free, suggesting a possible connection to digestive problems (including irritable bowel disease) observed in humans when the gut microbiota is disrupted (11). The lower number of serotonin-positive cells could explain this physiological effect as serotonin regulates gut motility in humans (33).

Lipid Transport into Enterocytes

Dietary lipids are imported from the intestinal lumen across the apical enterocyte membrane by several different mechanisms depending on their class. After complex lipids (including both glycerolipids and CE) are digested to yield fatty acids, mono-glycerides, and/or lysophospholipids, these products may cross membranes by a variety of transport processes conserved among zebrafish and mammals.

Cholesterol is taken up by enterocytes by a mechanism that requires the Niemann-Pick C1-Like 1 (NPC1L1) transport protein (39, 40). This membrane-associated protein is located at the brush border of enterocytes and is translocated to an intracellular compartment when cells are exposed to cholesterol; current models postulate a clathrin-dependent endocytic mechanism in which NPC1L1 is internalized along with a cholesterol cargo, which then moves through endosomes to the endoplasmic reticulum where it can be packaged into membranes or used to synthesize cholesterol ester (41, 42). NPC1L1 is encoded in the zebrafish genome, and several lines with point mutations in this gene have been created through the Sanger Institute Zebrafish Mutation Project (43). Ezetimibe, an inhibitor of NPC1L1-mediated cholesterol absorption that is used to treat hypercholesterolemia in humans, also blocks dietary cholesterol absorption in larval zebrafish (44-46). This creates an opportunity to use the zebrafish model to study physiological effects of modulating metabolic availability of a single component of a mixed-lipid diet. Regulation of NPC1L1 activity remains largely uncharacterized, although there is evidence from studies in humans given statins (inhibitors of cholesterol synthesis) that NPC1L1 expression levels increase in response to low intracellular cholesterol levels, suggesting that there may be an unidentified genetic mechanism that regulates NPC1L1 expression that could counteract the effects of statins by upregulating import of dietary cholesterol (47).

Fatty acid transfer proteins (FATPs) are a family of integral membrane proteins that facilitate transport of fatty acids into cells, including transport of dietary fatty acids into enterocytes. FATPs act in concert with acyl-coA synthetases (ACSs), which activate the newly imported fatty acids so that they are ready to form ester bonds and be incorporated into complex lipids (48, 49). There is evidence from mammalian and cell culture models that both the FATP and ACS families play roles in regulating preferential uptake of some dietary fatty acids over others, and in the partitioning of dietary fatty acids among complex lipids (48, 50). The zebrafish genome encodes 9 ACSL (ACSs specific to long-chain fatty acids, the type of fatty acid most abundant in animals including zebrafish) gene paralogs in six families. Expression of this class of genes is ubiquitous in adults, with proteins corresponding to seven of nine paralogs detectable by Western blot in most tissues including the gut (51). Expression of ACSL genes in the larva is more regionalized: in the *acsl1* family, *acsl1b* mRNA is detectable in the YSL and gut in early larval stages. The *acsl1a* paralog is not expressed in the YSL, and no expression data are available for early-gut development (17). Only *acsl1a* is expressed in the gut in adults (51). *Acsl4a* mRNA is present in both the YSL and the larval gut (52). Expression of *acsl4b* and *acsl5* is detectable in the YSL, but expression data are not available from larval stages after the gut has begun to develop (17) (**Figure 2**). Expression data are unavailable for the other *acsl* paralogs at any embryonic or larval stage, but what is known about expression of *acsl* genes in this model suggests potential division of function among paralogs similar to that suggested by regionalized apolipoprotein gene expression.

Compared with the ACSs, there is far less coverage of zebrafish FATPs in the current literature. As of now, no studies of FATP function in this model system have been published and only one genomic sequence is annotated as a FATP in the Ensembl database; FATP3/ACSVL3/SLC27A3 [with 7 paralogs, all annotated as members of solute carrier family 27 (*slc27*)]. The other six putative FATP paralogs are annotated as SLC27A1A and B {both with 65% protein sequence identity to human SLC27A1/FATP1/ACSVL5 [a mitochondrial long-chain FATP (54)], using the NCBI protein BLAST tool}, SLC27A2A (47% protein sequence identity to human SLC27A2B (55% protein sequence identity to human SLC27A2/FATP2/ACSVL1),



FIGURE 2 | Acyl-CoA synthetases are expressed in the larval zebrafish yolk syncytial layer (YSL) and intestine. (A) *In situ* hybridization reveals expression of *acsl1b*, *acsl4b*, and *acsl5* in the YSL at 24 hpf, and *acsl1b* in the developing gut at 2 dpf. Adapted from Ref. (17). (B) acsl4a is expressed in the gut and central nervous system (cns) of the 4 dpf larval zebrafish, and in the YSL at 24 hpf and earlier. Reprinted from Ref. (52), Figure S1E in Supplementary Material, under a CC-BY license. (C) *fatp4/acsvl4* is expressed in the gut (especially the anterior bulb) of the 5 dpf larval zebrafish. Adapted from Ref. (53).

SLC27A4 (70% protein sequence identity to human SLC27A4/ FATP4/ACSVL4), and SLC27A6 (57% protein sequence identity to human SLC27A6/FATP6/ACSVL2). The chromosomal locations of all of these putative *fatp* genes are conserved between the human and zebrafish genomes (syntenic analysis by ZFIN). Zebrafish SLC27A2A is expressed in the adult liver (55), and SLC27A4 is expressed in the anterior gut at 5 dpf (53) (**Figure 2**). No expression data are available for other adult organs, earlier larval stages, or the other putative FATPs at this time. However, as FATP4 is the primary fatty acid transporter on the apical brush border of human enterocytes, the similarity in expression between zebrafish and humans supports the larval zebrafish as a model in the investigation of FATP function in dietary fatty acid absorption (56).

The relative contributions of FATP4, other membraneassociated fatty acid-binding proteins, and passive diffusion to uptake of dietary fatty acids by enterocytes in larval zebrafish are not known. A recent review proposes a model in which the transmembrane receptor protein CD36, Caveolin 1 (Cav1), and FATP4 all act as fatty acid transporters at the enterocyte brush border, and in which passive diffusion of long-chain fatty acid salts across the enterocyte membrane plays a major role in adsorption (57). Larval zebrafish express CD36 and Cav1 in the intestine as well as FATP4 and, therefore, present an opportunity to apply live wholeanimal imaging tools toward investigations of the roles of each of these proteins in dietary fatty acid processing (58, 59). [Cav1 is located on the basolateral membrane of enterocytes in zebrafish and not at the brush border and, therefore, is unlikely to participate directly in uptake of fatty acids from the intestinal lumen (59).] In sum, despite tight conservation of FATPs and other fatty acid transporters, and their intestinal expression throughout the vertebrates, their physiological role in the intestine remains unclear.

The Intestinal Microbiota Influences Dietary Lipid Uptake

The bacterial population of the intestine also plays an important role in dietary lipid uptake and metabolism. Fermentation by the gut microbiota allows host animals to utilize dietary plant polysaccharides that would otherwise be indigestible by converting them to metabolizable short-chain fatty acids and monosaccharides (60). Multiple studies over the last decade have shown effects of changes in composition of the gut microbiota on adiposity, serum lipids, and tissue lipids in mammals (61-66). However, determining mechanisms by which bacteria may cause global changes in vertebrate host physiology has been difficult as the composition of the gut microbiota also changes in response to changes in diet (67, 68). The larval zebrafish model was recently used to investigate aspects of the relationship between gut bacteria and lipids involving processes other than short-chain fatty acid synthesis: when larvae raised germ-free were given a high-fat meal labeled with fluorescent fatty acids, less fluorescence accumulated in the intestinal epithelium when compared with conventionally raised larvae, showing that at least some members of the microbiota are necessary to promote uptake of dietary lipids. Monoassociated larvae (larvae raised

germ-free and then inoculated with a single bacterial species) colonized with the Firmicutes strain *Exiguobacterium* sp. were used to demonstrate that this bacterial strain alone was sufficient to promote intestinal fatty acid uptake to a point where fluorescence could be observed in extra-intestinal tissues. Furthermore, experiments using conditioned media from this strain and two others also revealed significant increases in enterocyte lipid droplet number over untreated germ-free larvae, suggesting that a factor secreted by these species is involved in promoting dietary lipid uptake (69). The exact mechanism for this host-microbe relationship is currently uncharacterized, as is the evolutionary advantage of promoting host lipid uptake for these microbial species.

Lipid Processing in Enterocytes for Storage and Export

Fatty acids taken up by enterocytes are repackaged into complex lipids at the endoplasmic reticulum and are subsequently stored in enterocyte lipid droplets or directed to lipoprotein synthesis for export. Lipid droplets are composed primarily of TGs and CE in the interior, and bounded by a PL monolayer with associated proteins such as perilipins (70). Though the mechanisms by which lipid droplets grow and shrink are well characterized, the regulation of lipid droplet size and number in various tissues is not as well understood, and most current research efforts focus on adipose and hepatic lipid droplets (71). As the intestine is not a site of long-term lipid storage in vertebrates including larval zebrafish, enterocyte lipid droplets are highly dynamic, temporary structures that respond with high sensitivity to the nutritive state of the animal. This property combined with the relative ease of live imaging in the larval zebrafish intestine compared with other animal models makes for an ideal system for the study of lipid droplet dynamics and regulation. When 5 dpf larvae are fed a high-fat/high-cholesterol meal of chicken egg yolk, both the average lipid droplet number per enterocyte and total area of the cell covered by lipid droplets increase significantly by 1 h postfeeding. Lipid droplet number peaks at 1 h and then gradually decreases, while total lipid droplet area is maintained up to 3 h following the meal, suggesting that smaller lipid droplets fuse as they mature (72). The gut microbiota also influence enterocyte lipid droplet number and size. Intestinal lipid droplets are both larger and more numerous in conventionally raised larvae after feeding than in germ-free larvae. Furthermore, conditioned media from a Firmicutes bacterial strain found to promote dietary fatty acid uptake and export to the liver was sufficient to increase enterocyte lipid droplet number but not the average lipid droplet size (69). These results have begun to reveal the diverse mechanisms by which different members of the gut microbiota influence lipid droplet dynamics and dietary lipid metabolism.

Lipoproteins are essential for the export of the products of dietary lipid from enterocytes into the circulation. Expression and function of apolipoproteins in the zebrafish is similar to that observed in mammals; at least one paralog from each of the ApoA-I, ApoB, ApoE, and ApoA-IV families is expressed in the larval zebrafish intestine (13). There is evidence that division of apolipoprotein function among organs is regulated by different mechanisms that achieve the same end in zebrafish and mammals: while different variants of ApoB are produced in the mammalian intestine and liver via RNA editing, larval zebrafish produce mRNA for the ApoB paralog b.1 in the intestine and liver and ApoBb.2 in the liver only. Similar compartmentalization of paralog expression between the liver and intestine is observed in the other apolipoprotein families as well (13) (Figure 3). Intestinal lipid accumulation in animals treated with an MTP inhibitor shows that as in the larval



FIGURE 3 | Zebrafish apolipoprotein genes are expressed in the larval digestive system. *In situ* hybridization reveals expression of 10 of the 11 zebrafish apolipoprotein genes in the *apoB*, *apoA-IV*, *apoE*, and *apoA-I* families in the liver and/or intestine of the 6 dpf larva. Dissected intestines probed for *apoA-la* are shown, and the gut of a larva probed for *apoA-1b* is magnified below the image of the whole larva. L, liver, I, intestine. Adapted and reprinted from Ref. (13), Figures 2–5, under a CC-BY license.

zebrafish yolk, availability of functional ApoB in necessary for normal rates of lipid export from the intestine, and that enterocyte lipid droplets are the destination of excess dietary fatty acids when export is slowed (73–75). The MTP inhibitor lomitapide is effective in larval zebrafish (72). It has also been observed that in mammals as the dietary fat content increases, chylomicron number reaches a plateau but average chylomicron size continues to increase, suggesting that apolipoprotein expression is the limiting factor in the rate of lipid export from the intestine (76).

Total Lipid Biochemistry of the Larval Zebrafish Reveals Global Effects of Diet on Lipid Composition, and Facilitates Metabolic Labeling Studies

The larval zebrafish intestine is not only an excellent model for the study of lipid droplet and lipoprotein packaging, but also a site of differential channeling of dietary fatty acids depending on their chemical properties. The amenability of this model to biochemistry due to the ease of obtaining large numbers



of embryos and larvae and performing lipid extractions from them, combined with the transparency of the larva, provides an opportunity unique among vertebrates to perform live imaging and metabolic labeling experiments in parallel using the same fluorescent lipid reagents (28, 77-79). Additionally, the whole-body lipid composition of the larval zebrafish is highly sensitive to changes in diet: the TG content of the 6 dpf larva increases 10-fold 24 h after a single high-fat meal (compared with a standard low-fat diet, and allowing time for the intestinal lumen to clear) (29). (In these experiments, the high-fat meal was chicken egg yolk; ~50% lipid dry weight, and the low-fat meal was SERA Micron larval growth food; 7% lipid. The lipid content of "standard chow" for zebrafish larvae is typically 5-15%.) Working at developmental stages before adipose tissue appears (~14 dpf) avoids signal to noise problems that may occur when the neutral lipid stored in adipose is included in the whole-body lipid profile. Also, at these early developmental stages examination of dietary lipid processing in the intestine can be isolated from potential regulatory influences from adipose tissue.

Though it was beyond the scope of our recent metabolic labeling study (29), the biochemical techniques described therein could be applied to later-stage larvae in order to examine potential crosstalk between adipose tissue and the enterocytes that could influence dietary lipid partitioning. We have also developed methods for using fluorescent fatty acids as metabolic labels in the context of standard and lipid-enriched diets in larval zebrafish (**Table 2**). In addition to exploring the metabolic labeling potential of fluorescent lipids whose product profiles were not previously described, we have also applied HPLC with charged aerosol (total lipid detection) and fluorescence detection to obtain a greater depth of information than previous studies using fluorescent TLC (28). Initial findings indicate that the partitioning of saturated

REFERENCES

- Farber SA, Pack M, Ho SY, Johnson ID, Wagner DS, Dosch R, et al. Genetic analysis of digestive physiology using fluorescent phospholipid reporters. *Science* (2001) 292:1385–8. doi:10.1126/science.1060418
- Flynn EJ III, Trent CM, Rawls JF. Ontogeny and nutritional control of adipogenesis in zebrafish (*Danio rerio*). J Lipid Res (2009) 50:1641–52. doi:10.1194/ jlr.M800590-JLR200
- Ho SY, Lorent K, Pack M, Farber SA. Zebrafish fat-free is required for intestinal lipid absorption and Golgi apparatus structure. *Cell Metab* (2006) 3:289–300. doi:10.1016/j.cmet.2006.03.001
- Ng AN, de Jong-Curtain TA, Mawdsley DJ, White SJ, Shin J, Appel B, et al. Formation of the digestive system in zebrafish: III. Intestinal epithelium morphogenesis. *Dev Biol* (2005) 286:114–35. doi:10.1016/j.ydbio.2005.07.013
- Rawls JF, Samuel BS, Gordon JI. Gnotobiotic zebrafish reveal evolutionarily conserved responses to the gut microbiota. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* (2004) 101:4596–601. doi:10.1073/pnas.0400706101
- 6. Song Y, Cone RD. Creation of a genetic model of obesity in a teleost. *FASEB J* (2007) 21:2042–9. doi:10.1096/fj.06-7503com
- Wallace K, Pack M. Unique and conserved aspects of gut development in zebrafish. *Dev Biol* (2003) 255:12–29. doi:10.1016/S0012-1606(02) 00034-9
- Lickwar CR, Camp JG, Weiser M, Cocchiaro JL, Kingsley DM, Furey TS, et al. Genomic dissection of conserved transcriptional regulation in intestinal epithelial cells. *PLoS Biol* (2017) 15:e2002054. doi:10.1371/journal.pbio. 2002054

fluorescent fatty acids among complex lipid classes varies with carbon chain length, the total fat and cholesterol content of the diet, and the type of fluorescent tag (29). Metabolic labeling with fluorescent fatty acids in the context of lipid metabolism by the larval zebrafish is summarized in **Figure 4**.

Potential mechanisms regulating the rate of lipid export from the intestine beyond lipoprotein levels, the regulation and physiological effects of the size of enterocyte lipid droplets, and the channeling of newly absorbed dietary fatty acids into the different classes of complex lipids are currently largely uncharacterized. The optically clear and genetically tractable larval zebrafish model presents an ideal system in which to investigate these questions relating to energy homeostasis with a combined live imaging and biochemical approach.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

VQ wrote the manuscript. SF edited the manuscript and provided guidance on the topic and scope.

FUNDING

This work was supported in part by the National Institute on Alcohol Abuse and Alcoholism (NIAAA) F31AA023142 to VQ, National Institute of Diabetes and Digestive and Kidney (NIDDK) R01DK093399 to SF, and National Institute of General Medicine (GM) R01GM63904 to the Zebrafish Functional Genomics Consortium (Stephen Ekker and SF). The content is solely the responsibility of the authors and does not necessarily represent the official views of the National Institutes of Health (NIH). Additional support for this work was provided by the G. Harold and Leila Y. Mathers Charitable Foundation to the laboratory of SF.

- Pham LN, Kanther M, Semova I, Rawls JF. Methods for generating and colonizing gnotobiotic zebrafish. *Nat Protoc* (2008) 3:1862–75. doi:10.1038/ nprot.2008.186
- Kimmel CB, Law RD. Cell lineage of zebrafish blastomeres. III. Clonal analyses of the blastula and gastrula stages. *Dev Biol* (1985) 108:94–101. doi:10.1016/0012-1606(85)90010-7
- Bates JM, Mittge E, Kuhlman J, Baden KN, Cheesman SE, Guillemin K. Distinct signals from the microbiota promote different aspects of zebrafish gut differentiation. *Dev Biol* (2006) 297:374–86. doi:10.1016/j.ydbio.2006.05.006
- Wong S, Stephens WZ, Burns AR, Stagaman K, David LA, Bohannan BJ, et al. Ontogenetic differences in dietary fat influence microbiota assembly in the Zebrafish Gut. *MBio* (2015) 6:e00687-15. doi:10.1128/mBio.00687-15
- Otis JP, Zeituni EM, Thierer JH, Anderson JL, Brown AC, Boehm ED, et al. Zebrafish as a model for apolipoprotein biology: comprehensive expression analysis and a role for ApoA-IV in regulating food intake. *Dis Model Mech* (2015) 8:295–309. doi:10.1242/dmm.018754
- Thisse B, Pflumio S, Fürthauer M, Loppin B, Heyer V, Degrave A, et al. Expression of the Zebrafish Genome during Embryogenesis (NIH R01 RR15402). ZFIN Direct Data Submission (2001). Available from: http://zfin.org/
- Cheng W, Guo L, Zhang Z, Soo HM, Wen C, Wu W, et al. HNF factors form a network to regulate liver-enriched genes in zebrafish. *Dev Biol* (2006) 294(2):482–96. doi:10.1016/j.ydbio.2006.03.018
- Lim FT, Lim SM, Ramasamy K. Cholesterol lowering by Pediococcus acidilactici LAB4 and Lactobacillus plantarum LAB12 in adult zebrafish is associated with improved memory and involves an interplay between npc1l1 and abca1. *Food Funct* (2017) 8:2817–28. doi:10.1039/C7FO00764G

- Thisse B, Thisse C. Fast Release Clones: A High Throughput Expression Analysis. ZFIN Direct Data Submission (2004). Available from: http://zfin.org/
- Miyares RL, de Rezende VB, Farber SA. Zebrafish yolk lipid processing: a tractable tool for the study of vertebrate lipid transport and metabolism. *Dis Model Mech* (2014) 7:915–27. doi:10.1242/dmm.015800
- 19. Babin PJ, Vernier JM. Plasma lipoproteins in fish. J Lipid Res (1989) 30:467-89.
- Mani-Ponset I, Guyot E, Diaz JP, Connes R. Utilization of yolk reserves during post-embryonic development in three teleostean species: the sea bream Sparus aurata, the sea bass Dicentrarchus labrax, and the pike-perch Stizostedion lucioperca. Mar Biol (1996) 126:539–47. doi:10.1007/BF00354636
- Walzer C, Schonenberger N. Ultrastructure and cytochemistry of the yolk syncytial layer in the alevin of trout (*Salmo fario trutta L. and Salmo gairdneri* R.) after hatching. II. The cytoplasmic zone. *Cell Tissue Res* (1979) 196:75–93. doi:10.1007/BF00236349
- Iqbal J, Dai K, Seimon T, Jungreis R, Oyadomari M, Kuriakose G, et al. IRE1beta inhibits chylomicron production by selectively degrading MTP mRNA. *Cell Metab* (2008) 7:445–55. doi:10.1016/j.cmet.2008.03.005
- Avraham-Davidi I, Ely Y, Pham VN, Castranova D, Grunspan M, Malkinson G, et al. ApoB-containing lipoproteins regulate angiogenesis by modulating expression of VEGF receptor 1. *Nat Med* (2012) 18:967–73. doi:10.1038/nm.2759
- Fraher D, Sanigorski A, Mellett NA, Meikle PJ, Sinclair AJ, Gibert Y. Zebrafish embryonic lipidomic analysis reveals that the yolk cell is metabolically active in processing lipid. *Cell Rep* (2016) 14:1317–29. doi:10.1016/j.celrep.2016. 01.016
- van der Wulp MY, Verkade HJ, Groen AK. Regulation of cholesterol homeostasis. Mol Cell Endocrinol (2013) 368:1–16. doi:10.1016/j.mce.2012.06.007
- Berry E, Liu Y, Chen L, Guo AM. Eicosanoids: emerging contributors in stem cell-mediated wound healing. *Prostaglandins Other Lipid Mediat* (2017) 132:17–24. doi:10.1016/j.prostaglandins.2016.11.001
- North TE, Goessling W, Walkley CR, Lengerke C, Kopani KR, Lord AM, et al. Prostaglandin E2 regulates vertebrate haematopoietic stem cell homeostasis. *Nature* (2007) 447:1007–11. doi:10.1038/nature05883
- Carten JD, Bradford MK, Farber SA. Visualizing digestive organ morphology and function using differential fatty acid metabolism in live zebrafish. *Dev Biol* (2011) 360:276–85. doi:10.1016/j.ydbio.2011.09.010
- Quinlivan VH, Wilson MH, Ruzicka J, Farber SA. An HPLC-CAD/ fluorescence lipidomics platform using fluorescent fatty acids as metabolic tracers. J Lipid Res (2017) 58:1008–20. doi:10.1194/jlr.D072918
- Hama K, Provost E, Baranowski TC, Rubinstein AL, Anderson JL, Leach SD, et al. In vivo imaging of zebrafish digestive organ function using multiple quenched fluorescent reporters. *Am J Physiol Gastrointest Liver Physiol* (2009) 296:G445–53. doi:10.1152/ajpgi.90513.2008
- Hofmann AF, Hagey LR, Krasowski MD. Bile salts of vertebrates: structural variation and possible evolutionary significance. *J Lipid Res* (2010) 51:226–46. doi:10.1194/jlr.R000042
- Moschetta A, Xu F, Hagey LR, van Berge-Henegouwen GP, van Erpecum KJ, Brouwers JF, et al. A phylogenetic survey of biliary lipids in vertebrates. *J Lipid Res* (2005) 46:2221–32. doi:10.1194/jlr.M500178-JLR200
- Gershon MD. Nerves, reflexes, and the enteric nervous system: pathogenesis of the irritable bowel syndrome. *J Clin Gastroenterol* (2005) 39:S184–93. doi:10.1097/01.mcg.0000156403.37240.30
- Raybould HE. Mechanisms of CCK signaling from gut to brain. Curr Opin Pharmacol (2007) 7:570–4. doi:10.1016/j.coph.2007.09.006
- Koven W, Schulte P. The effect of fasting and refeeding on mRNA expression of PepT1 and gastrointestinal hormones regulating digestion and food intake in zebrafish (*Danio rerio*). Fish Physiol Biochem (2012) 38:1565–75. doi:10.1007/s10695-012-9649-6
- Rauch GJ, Lyons DA, Middendorf I, Friedlander B, Arana N, Reyes T, et al. Submission and Curation of Gene Expression Data. ZFIN Direct Data Submission (2003). Available from: http://zfin.org/
- Folsch UR, Winckler K, Wormsley KG. Influence of repeated administration of cholecystokinin and secretin on the pancreas of the rat. Scand J Gastroenterol (1978) 13:663–71. doi:10.3109/00365527809181779
- Sonobe K, Sakai T, Satoh M, Haga N, Itoh Z. Control of gallbladder contractions by cholecystokinin through cholecystokinin-A receptors in the vagal pathway and gallbladder in the dog. *Regul Pept* (1995) 60:33–46. doi:10.1016/0167-0115(95)00117-0

- Altmann SW, Davis HR Jr, Zhu LJ, Yao X, Hoos LM, Tetzloff G, et al. Niemann-Pick C1 Like 1 protein is critical for intestinal cholesterol absorption. *Science* (2004) 303:1201–4. doi:10.1126/science.1093131
- Davis HR Jr, Zhu LJ, Hoos LM, Tetzloff G, Maguire M, Liu J, et al. Niemann-Pick C1 Like 1 (NPC1L1) is the intestinal phytosterol and cholesterol transporter and a key modulator of whole-body cholesterol homeostasis. *J Biol Chem* (2004) 279:33586–92. doi:10.1074/jbc.M405817200
- Ge L, Wang J, Qi W, Miao HH, Cao J, Qu YX, et al. The cholesterol absorption inhibitor ezetimibe acts by blocking the sterol-induced internalization of NPC1L1. *Cell Metab* (2008) 7:508–19. doi:10.1016/j.cmet.2008.04.001
- Skov M, Tonnesen CK, Hansen GH, Danielsen EM. Dietary cholesterol induces trafficking of intestinal Niemann-Pick Type C1 Like 1 from the brush border to endosomes. *Am J Physiol Gastrointest Liver Physiol* (2011) 300:G33–40. doi:10.1152/ajpgi.00344.2010
- Busch-Nentwich E, Kettleborough R, Dooley CM, Scahill C, Sealy I, White R, et al. Sanger Institute Zebrafish Mutation Project Mutant Data Submission. ZFIN Direct Data Submission (2013). Available from: http://zfin.org/
- Bays HE, Neff D, Tomassini JE, Tershakovec AM. Ezetimibe: cholesterol lowering and beyond. *Expert Rev Cardiovasc Ther* (2008) 6:447–70. doi:10.1586/ 14779072.6.4.447
- Clifton JD, Lucumi E, Myers MC, Napper A, Hama K, Farber SA, et al. Identification of novel inhibitors of dietary lipid absorption using zebrafish. *PLoS One* (2010) 5:e12386. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0012386
- 46. Van Heek M, France CF, Compton DS, McLeod RL, Yumibe NP, Alton KB, et al. In vivo metabolism-based discovery of a potent cholesterol absorption inhibitor, SCH58235, in the rat and rhesus monkey through the identification of the active metabolites of SCH48461. *J Pharmacol Exp Ther* (1997) 283:157–63.
- Tremblay AJ, Lamarche B, Lemelin V, Hoos L, Benjannet S, Seidah NG, et al. Atorvastatin increases intestinal expression of NPC1L1 in hyperlipidemic men. J Lipid Res (2011) 52:558–65. doi:10.1194/jlr.M011080
- Melton EM, Cerny RL, DiRusso CC, Black PN. Overexpression of human fatty acid transport protein 2/very long chain acyl-CoA synthetase 1 (FATP2/ Acsvl1) reveals distinct patterns of trafficking of exogenous fatty acids. *Biochem Biophys Res Commun* (2013) 440:743–8. doi:10.1016/j.bbrc.2013.09.137
- Richards MR, Harp JD, Ory DS, Schaffer JE. Fatty acid transport protein 1 and long-chain acyl coenzyme A synthetase 1 interact in adipocytes. *J Lipid Res* (2006) 47:665–72. doi:10.1194/jlr.M500514-JLR200
- Cooper DE, Young PA, Klett EL, Coleman RA. Physiological consequences of compartmentalized Acyl-CoA metabolism. *J Biol Chem* (2015) 290: 20023–31. doi:10.1074/jbc.R115.663260
- Lopes-Marques M, Cunha I, Reis-Henriques MA, Santos MM, Castro LF. Diversity and history of the long-chain acyl-CoA synthetase (Acsl) gene family in vertebrates. *BMC Evol Biol* (2013) 13:271. doi:10.1186/1471-2148-13-271
- Miyares RL, Stein C, Renisch B, Anderson JL, Hammerschmidt M, Farber SA. Long-chain Acyl-CoA synthetase 4A regulates Smad activity and dorsoventral patterning in the zebrafish embryo. *Dev Cell* (2013) 27:635–47. doi:10.1016/ j.devcel.2013.11.011
- Thisse C, Thisse B. High Throughput Expression Analysis of ZF-Models Consortium Clones. ZFIN Direct Data Submission (2005). Available from: http://zfin.org/
- Guitart M, Andreu AL, Garcia-Arumi E, Briones P, Quintana E, Gomez-Foix AM, et al. FATP1 localizes to mitochondria and enhances pyruvate dehydrogenase activity in skeletal myotubes. *Mitochondrion* (2009) 9:266–72. doi:10.1016/j.mito.2009.03.007
- Lam SH, Winata CL, Tong Y, Korzh S, Lim WS, Korzh V, et al. Transcriptome kinetics of arsenic-induced adaptive response in zebrafish liver. *Physiol Genomics* (2006) 27:351–61. doi:10.1152/physiolgenomics.00201.2005
- Stahl A, Hirsch DJ, Gimeno RE, Punreddy S, Ge P, Watson N, et al. Identification of the major intestinal fatty acid transport protein. *Mol Cell* (1999) 4:299–308. doi:10.1016/S1097-2765(00)80332-9
- Buttet M, Traynard V, Tran TT, Besnard P, Poirier H, Niot I. From fatty-acid sensing to chylomicron synthesis: role of intestinal lipid-binding proteins. *Biochimie* (2014) 96:37–47. doi:10.1016/j.biochi.2013.08.011
- Liu K, Xu Y, Wang Y, Wei S, Feng D, Huang Q, et al. Developmental expression and immune role of the class B scavenger receptor cd36 in zebrafish. *Dev Comp Immunol* (2016) 60:91–5. doi:10.1016/j.dci.2016.02.021

- Otis JP, Shen MC, Quinlivan V, Anderson JL, Farber SA. Intestinal epithelial cell caveolin 1 regulates fatty acid and lipoprotein cholesterol plasma levels. *Dis Model Mech* (2017) 10:283–95. doi:10.1242/dmm.027300
- Flint HJ, Scott KP, Duncan SH, Louis P, Forano E. Microbial degradation of complex carbohydrates in the gut. *Gut Microbes* (2012) 3:289–306. doi:10.4161/gmic.19897
- Backhed F, Ding H, Wang T, Hooper LV, Koh GY, Nagy A, et al. The gut microbiota as an environmental factor that regulates fat storage. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* (2004) 101:15718–23. doi:10.1073/pnas.0407076101
- Backhed F, Manchester JK, Semenkovich CF, Gordon JI. Mechanisms underlying the resistance to diet-induced obesity in germ-free mice. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* (2007) 104:979–84. doi:10.1073/pnas.0605374104
- Fleissner CK, Huebel N, Abd El-Bary MM, Loh G, Klaus S, Blaut M. Absence of intestinal microbiota does not protect mice from diet-induced obesity. *Br J Nutr* (2010) 104:919–29. doi:10.1017/S0007114510001303
- Gerard P. Gut microbiota and obesity. Cell Mol Life Sci (2016) 73:147–62. doi:10.1007/s00018-015-2061-5
- Rabot S, Membrez M, Bruneau A, Gerard P, Harach T, Moser M, et al. Germfree C57BL/6J mice are resistant to high-fat-diet-induced insulin resistance and have altered cholesterol metabolism. *FASEB J* (2010) 24:4948–59. doi:10.1096/fj.10-164921
- Turnbaugh PJ, Backhed F, Fulton L, Gordon JI. Diet-induced obesity is linked to marked but reversible alterations in the mouse distal gut microbiome. *Cell Host Microbe* (2008) 3:213–23. doi:10.1016/j.chom.2008.02.015
- Zhang C, Zhang M, Wang S, Han R, Cao Y, Hua W, et al. Interactions between gut microbiota, host genetics and diet relevant to development of metabolic syndromes in mice. *ISME J* (2010) 4:232–41. doi:10.1038/ismej.2009.112
- Ley RE, Hamady M, Lozupone C, Turnbaugh PJ, Ramey RR, Bircher JS, et al. Evolution of mammals and their gut microbes. *Science* (2008) 320:1647–51. doi:10.1126/science.1155725
- Semova I, Carten JD, Stombaugh J, Mackey LC, Knight R, Farber SA, et al. Microbiota regulate intestinal absorption and metabolism of fatty acids in the zebrafish. *Cell Host Microbe* (2012) 12:277–88. doi:10.1016/j.chom.2012.08.003
- Ruggles KV, Turkish A, Sturley SL. Making, baking, and breaking: the synthesis, storage, and hydrolysis of neutral lipids. *Annu Rev Nutr* (2013) 33:413–51. doi:10.1146/annurev-nutr-071812-161254
- Gluchowski NL, Becuwe M, Walther TC, Farese RV Jr. Lipid droplets and liver disease: from basic biology to clinical implications. *Nat Rev Gastroenterol Hepatol* (2017) 14:343–55. doi:10.1038/nrgastro.2017.32
- 72. Zeituni EM, Wilson MH, Zheng X, Iglesias PA, Sepanski M, Siddiqi MA, et al. Endoplasmic reticulum lipid flux influences enterocyte nuclear

morphology and lipid-dependent transcriptional responses. J Biol Chem (2016) 291:23804–16. doi:10.1074/jbc.M116.749358

- Cuchel M, Bloedon LT, Szapary PO, Kolansky DM, Wolfe ML, Sarkis A, et al. Inhibition of microsomal triglyceride transfer protein in familial hypercholesterolemia. N Engl J Med (2007) 356:148–56. doi:10.1056/ NEJMoa061189
- Robl JA, Sulsky R, Sun CQ, Simpkins LM, Wang T, Dickson JK Jr, et al. A novel series of highly potent benzimidazole-based microsomal triglyceride transfer protein inhibitors. *J Med Chem* (2001) 44:851–6. doi:10.1021/ jm000494a
- Wren JA, Ramudo AA, Campbell SL, King VL, Eagleson JS, Gossellin J, et al. Efficacy and safety of dirlotapide in the management of obese dogs evaluated in two placebo-controlled, masked clinical studies in North America. J Vet PharmacolTher(2007)30(Suppl1):81–9.doi:10.1111/j.1365-2885.2007.00867.x
- Cartwright IJ, Higgins JA. Increased dietary triacylglycerol markedly enhances the ability of isolated rabbit enterocytes to secrete chylomicrons: an effect related to dietary fatty acid composition. *J Lipid Res* (1999) 40:1858–66.
- Otis JP, Farber SA. Imaging vertebrate digestive function and lipid metabolism in vivo. *Drug Discov Today Dis Models* (2013) 10:e11–6. doi:10.1016/ j.ddmod.2012.02.008
- Otis JP, Farber SA. High-fat feeding paradigm for larval zebrafish: feeding, live imaging, and quantification of food intake. J Vis Exp (2016) (116):e54735. doi:10.3791/54735
- Zeituni EM, Farber SA. Studying lipid metabolism and transport during zebrafish development. *Methods Mol Biol* (2016) 1451:237–55. doi:10.1007/ 978-1-4939-3771-4_16

Conflict of Interest Statement: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

The reviewer JM declared a past collaboration with one of the authors SF to the handling editor.

Copyright © 2017 Quinlivan and Farber. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) or licensor are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





Zebrafish Models for Dyslipidemia and Atherosclerosis Research

Amnon Schlegel^{1,2,3,4*}

¹University of Utah Molecular Medicine Program, School of Medicine, University of Utah, Salt Lake City, UT, USA, ²Department of Internal Medicine, Division of Endocrinology, Metabolism and Diabetes, University of Utah, Salt Lake City, UT, USA, ³Department of Biochemistry, School of Medicine, University of Utah, Salt Lake City, UT, USA, ⁴Department of Nutrition and Integrative Physiology, College of Health, University of Utah, Salt Lake City, UT, USA

Atherosclerotic cardiovascular disease is the leading cause of death. Elevated circulating concentrations of lipids are a central pathogenetic driver of atherosclerosis. While numerous effective therapies for this condition have been developed, there is substantial unmet need for this pandemic illness. Here, I will review nutritional, physiological, genetic, and pathological discoveries in the emerging zebrafish model for studying dyslipidemia and atherosclerosis. The technical and physiological advantages and the pharmacological potential of this organism for discovery and validation of dyslipidemia and atherosclerosis targets are stressed through summary of recent findings. An emerging literature shows that zebrafish, through retention of a *cetp* ortholog gene and high sensitivity to ingestion of excess cholesterol, rapidly develops hypercholesterolemia, with a pattern of distribution of lipid species in lipoprotein particles similar to humans. Furthermore, recent studies leveraging the optical transparency of zebrafish larvae to monitor the fate of these ingested lipids have provided exciting insights to the development of dyslipidemia and atherosclerosis. Future directions for investigation are considered, with particular attention to the potential for *in vivo* cell biological study of atherosclerotic plaques.

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Maximilian Michel, Vanderbilt University, USA

Reviewed by:

Peggy Biga, University of Alabama at Birmingham, USA Anna-Pavlina Haramis, Leiden University, Netherlands

*Correspondence:

Amnon Schlegel amnons@u2m2.utah.edu

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Experimental Endocrinology, a section of the journal Frontiers in Endocrinology

Received: 03 November 2016 Accepted: 02 December 2016 Published: 16 December 2016

Citation:

Schlegel A (2016) Zebrafish Models for Dyslipidemia and Atherosclerosis Research. Front. Endocrinol. 7:159. doi: 10.3389/fendo.2016.00159 Keywords: atherosclerosis, dyslipidemia, zebrafish, genetics, physiology and metabolism

INTRODUCTION

Atherosclerosis is the leading cause of death (1). This chronic, progressive build-up of cholesterol, cellular debris, and calcium can narrow the lumens of critical arteries supplying the heart, brain, limbs, and organs. Plaques are mechanically weak structures and are prone to rupture. Once ruptured, a rapid thrombosis cascade is activated at the site of the plaque, occluding the artery and causing ischemic death to the supplied organ. Persons who have sustained an ischemic event in any artery are at substantially increased risk of repeated plaque rupture and thrombosis. While the last several decades have witnessed a decrease in the incidence of myocardial infarction and ischemic cerebrovascular accident, cardiovascular death is predicted to remain the leading killer for decades to come. A confluence of cardiovascular risk factors including tobacco exposure, hypertension, obesity in children and adults, type 2 diabetes mellitus, and non-alcoholic fatty liver disease is to blame for this trajectory (2–6). Moreover, there is widespread underutilization of effective antiplatelet, antihypertensive, and lipid lowering therapies (3, 7).

In the face of this clinical reality, I will argue in this minireview that zebrafish is an excellent system to discover and characterize new diagnostic and therapeutic targets for atherosclerosis. Those properties that make the study of lipid physiology and atherosclerosis in zebrafish potentially

transformative will be reviewed, with an emphasis on original work as throughout the remainder of this article, stressing studies published since others and I last reviewed this topic (8, 9).

ZEBRAFISH MODEL OVERVIEW

The general strengths of zebrafish for biomedical research are well known, owing to its facile husbandry and low cost of housing and maintenance. This organism can be used to generate large numbers of externally fertilized embryos. These animals develop rapidly and are a mainstay of embryological, forward genetic, and pharmacological research (10–12). In the last decade, a full array of modern genome editing tools has been deployed in zebrafish, including very promising knock-in technologies (13–15). These advances have been married to progress in working in zebrafish late larvae, juveniles, and adults, where numerous aspects of physiology pertinent to atherosclerosis emerge.

GENERAL FEATURES OF LIPOPROTEIN METABOLISM IN ZEBRAFISH

Lipoprotein Biology in Zebrafish

Elevated serum cholesterol and non-fasting triacylglycerol (TG) are central drivers of atherosclerosis (16–18). Understanding how lipids are absorbed from the diet, metabolized in tissues, and modified in atherosclerosis are central areas of investigation in developing newer and more effective therapies to treat atherosclerosis. A highly conserved system for transporting water-insoluble lipids is present in all animals (19). In particular, the apolipoprotein B (APOB)-coated particles produced by the intestine (chylomicrons) and liver [very low-density lipoprotein (VLDL) particles] are the carriers of the bulk of absorbed and resynthesized neutral lipids, cholesteryl esters (CE), and TG. These " β -lipoprotein" particles also carry fat-soluble vitamins A, D, and E from their sites of absorption or synthesis to their sites of use or storage (**Figure 1**).

In amniotes, two different protein products are encoded by a single APOB locus. In enterocytes of reptiles, birds, and mammals, the APOB pre-mRNA undergoes cytosine deamination (catalyzed by APOBEC) to generate a transcript encoding a truncated protein (APOB48) that is found exclusively on chylomicrons (21). The full-length APOB transcript can be translated in both the liver and intestine (encoding APOB100). APOB48-coated chylomicron remnants are susceptible to rapid postprandial clearance by the liver, whereas APOB100-coated chylomicron remnants and VLDL remnants [intermediate density lipoprotein (IDL) particles] can mature into the long-lived and atherogenic low-density lipoprotein (LDL) particles (Figure 1). Thus, it is important to appreciate that Apob (operationally equivalent to "Apob100")-coated zebrafish chylomicrons are, most likely, not cleared rapidly. Furthermore, zebrafish chylomicrons carry the potential to mature into LDL stoichiometrically (22). This lack of Apob48 might contribute to the rapid dyslipidemia and atherogenesis seen in dietary and genetic studies of zebrafish that will be discussed in subsequent sections. Finally, there are two zebrafish *apob* paralogs (two *apob* genes on different chromosomes). The contribution (expression and incorporation into chylomicrons and VLDL) of these Apob paralogs to circulating β -lipoproteins and atherogenesis is not known; however, their larval expression patterns are different, and their encoded proteins are structurally dissimilar, raising the possibility that they have unique functions (23).

Immediately beyond these critical issues of Apob biology, zebrafish utilizes highly conserved β-lipoprotein assembly proteins and transport mechanisms. Gene expression survey and knockdown approaches confirmed that the central Apob-coated lipoprotein particle-producing enzyme microsomal triglyceride transfer protein (encoded by *mtp* and having orthologs in all species ranging from insects to mammals) is present and functional in zebrafish yolk cell layer, liver, and intestine (24-26). More recently, studies on the intracellular trafficking of nascent chylomicrons have confirmed that the zebrafish model is well suited to investigating the molecular and cellular machinery of dietary energy harvest: the enterocyte undergoes stereotypical changes in ultrastructure when absorbing fats, and its secretory apparatus uses proteins conserved in evolution to pack and traffic nascent chylomicrons (27, 28). Finally, the major determinant of clearance of LDL particles from the circulation, the LDL receptor (Ldlr), has conserved function in zebrafish (29). In short, zebrafish has a complement of conserved lipid trafficking genes that renders study of lipid transport in this model organism relevant to human physiology. The next section will consider one additional, critical circulating protein that makes zebrafish lipoprotein biology particularly useful for modeling human lipoprotein biology.

Cholesteryl Ester Transfer Protein (CETP)

Following release into the circulation, lipoproteins are modified in zebrafish blood by enzymatic machinery that is also highly conserved with humans. Specifically, zebrafish carries an ortholog of the human CETP gene (30). CETP encodes a circulating protein that transfers CE from HDL particles to LDL particles in exchange for TG (Figure 2). Once loaded with TG and subject to additional modification, HDL is rendered more prone to rapid clearance, decreasing its "ability" to engage in atheroprotective processes such as reverse cholesterol transport (i.e., retrieving cholesterol from tissue macrophages to delivery to the liver and intestine for elimination). Likewise, increased CE loading of and depletion of TG from LDL contribute to atherogenesis by producing readily modifiable (oxidizable) small dense particles that can enter the subintimal space and drive atherogenesis (31-33). The net effect of Cetp function is to leave the organism with a higher concentration of atherogenic LDL particles and a lower concentration of atheroprotective HDL particles in circulation (the so-called "β-dominant" lipoprotein profile). In zebrafish, the fasting lipoprotein profile is β -dominant (34). This similarity to human lipoprotein composition reflects retention of a *cetp* ortholog in the zebrafish genome. As discussed below, this conservation of a critical human lipoprotein-modifying enzyme



FIGURE 1 [Intestinal and liver [J-lipoprotein synthesis and vascular modification. Ingested lipids are hydrolyzed in the lumen of the intestine to absorbable species, such as free cholesterol, free fatty acids, and monoacylglycerol. These molecules are re-esterified in the enterocyte of the small intestine to triacylglycerol (TG), cholesteryl esters (CE), and phospholipids (not shown) and packaged into chylomicrons, whose signature coat protein in humans is Apob48 (one molecule per particle). This particle enters the vasculature and acquires an Apoc2 molecule from an HDL particle (not shown). Apoc2 is a required binding partner for lipoprotein lipase (LPL), an enzyme tethered to the apical surface of capillary bed endothelial cells in muscle and adipose tissues (20). LPL liberates free fatty acids for use by these tissues. The partially lipid-depleted chylomicron remnant is rapidly cleared by the liver through the action of Apoe-binding LRP receptors and Apob-binding low-density lipoprotein receptors (LDLR). The liver synthesizes very low-density lipoprotein (VLDL) particles from *de novo* lipogenesis-derived fatty acids and re-esterified fatty acids that reach the liver adipocyte hydrolysis (and has relatively less CE in it). Human VLDL's signature coat protein is Apob100. Following LPL-catalyzed lipid hydrolysis, VLDL remnants, intermediate density lipoprotein (IDL) particles, are either rapidly cleared by the liver or mature into LDL. LDL particles have a long circulating half-life, and they can deposit under vascular endothelial cells, undergo oxidation, and trigger an inflammatory atherosclerotic reaction with subsequent plaque rupture and thrombosis causing ischemia to the supplied tissue.

renders zebrafish susceptible to a dyslipidemia with short dietary interventions. This conservation of a critical aspect of lipoprotein biology also opens the door to pharmacological intervention studies in zebrafish: many other, non-rodent laboratory models also fall short of recapitulating human lipoprotein composition and atherogenesis (35).



A Cetp ortholog is absent in commonly used rodent models of dyslipidemia, rendering the study of atherosclerosis inherently difficult in these species. Specifically, rodents are resistant to atherosclerosis because, among other things, they lack this enzyme's action. Rodents have high circulating HDL concentrations and low LDL concentrations (the so-called " α -dominant" lipoprotein pattern) as a consequence of losing the *Cetp* gene (35). The most commonly used genetic strategy to trigger dyslipidemia in mice is to study dietary and genetic interventions in the context of deleting the *Apoe* or *Ldlr* genes (36–40). Although they are widely used, these models do not capture the full biology of the corresponding human Mendelian diseases, familial dysbetalipoproteinemia (in the case of *Apoe*), and familial hypercholesterolemia (in the case of *Ldlr*): the HDL-cholesterol in both *Apoe^{-/-}* or *Ldlr^{-/-}* mice is still higher than in humans with *APOE*^{2/2} or *LDLR^{-/-}* genotypes, and

in both models, it is mainly the VLDL (and not the IDL and LDL, respectively) that increases. Furthermore, studies with only $Apoe^{-/-}$ or $Ldlr^{-/-}$ mouse models are often limited in generalizability: there is incomplete agreement in the findings with these two models (41). Beyond the limitations of standard mouse genetic models in driving atherogenic dyslipidemia, the atheromatous plaques that do form in mice lack features of "complex" human lesions. Indeed, to generate atheromatous plaques that appear more like human plaques, extreme physical stress is required in $Apoe^{-/-}$ animals deliberately maintained on a mixed genetic background (42). Even with this severe stress, plaque rupture (as in myocardial infarction) does not occur in rodents. Another supraphysiological approach to studying plaque rupture in mice that has met with some criticism because of its artificial nature involves causing a prolonged pharmacological hypertensive crisis in $Apoe^{-/-}$ animals;

this paradigm causes plaque rupture in the brachiocephalic artery, an uncommon site of rupture in humans (43).

ZEBRAFISH DYSLIPIDEMIA MODELS

High-Cholesterol Diet (HCD) Paradigm

The nutritional requirements of zebrafish are now known (44, 45). This knowledge has allowed several groups to establish conditions to induce metabolic stress by altering standard diets. For instance, zebrafish is susceptible to high-fat diet (HFD)-induced obesity, hyperglycemia, and dyslipidemia (46). The major breakthrough in applying zebrafish to the study of dyslipidemia was the development of HCD (34, 47, 48). Not only do larvae and adults readily ingest such diets but also these animals demonstrate a series of responses that firmly established the utility of this organism in studying dyslipidemia and atherogenesis. First, HCD-challenge caused β-dominant hypercholesterolemia in adults; second, vascular intimal lipid accumulation can be seen in larvae after short exposure to HCD, and these accumulated lipids attracted circulating monocytes; third, the extravasated LDL undergoes oxidation (to generate high-affinity ligands for innate immune receptors that are central for driving the inflammation of plaques); and fourth, the oxidized LDL particles can be tracked with live imaging (34, 47, 48). This last observation was made via transgenic overexpression of the human monoclonal antibody IK17, which binds to malondialdehyde-modified LDL. The sustained overexpression of IK17 prevented HCD-induced sub-intimal lipid accumulation (47). This is the first proof-of-principle demonstration that atherogenesis can be prevented in zebrafish through, presumably, accelerating immune complex-mediated clearance of modified LDL particles from the circulation (before they deposit in the walls of arteries). This constellation of findings sets the stage for future live imaging of atheromas in vivo, as discussed below.

CETP Pharmacology

Natural compound extracts of cinnamon, clove, grape skin, laurel, loquat, and turmeric contain inhibitors of zebrafish Cetp (30, 49, 50). These extracts protect zebrafish from highcholesterol diet-induced dyslipidemia. Conversely, artificial sweeteners increase HDL particle-carried Cetp activity and drive hyperlipidemia (51, 52). Whether such zebrafish studies will translate into better inhibitors of human, CETP is difficult to predict; moreover, artificial sweeteners appear to exert multiple pathological effects, including triggering glucose intolerance by altering the gut microbiome (53). This pharmaceutical research space has been marked by several abandoned small molecules; one ongoing cardiovascular outcomes trial of a CETP inhibitor (http://ClinicalTrials.gov identifier NCT01252953) and a possible study of another inhibitor might provide opportunities for not only using this approach in humans but also to identify additional questions that might be answered with a zebrafish model (54, 55).

Zebrafish APOC2 Deficiency

A further advance in developing zebrafish dyslipidemia models comes from the targeted deletion of the *apoc2* gene. Humans

lacking APOC2 have familial chylomicronemia, a condition marked by high serum TG concentrations and propensity to recurrent bouts of pancreatitis (56). Zebrafish *apoc2^{-/-}* mutants were generated with genome editing tools (22). These mutants demonstrated the hallmark finding of human APOC2 deficiency: decreased plasma lipase activity and severe hypertriglyceridemia (**Figure 1**). Their lipoprotein pattern is predominantly large, β -lipoproteins, as quantified with size-exclusion chromatography and scanning electron microscopy techniques. Imaging of the vasculature in *apoc2^{-/-}* mutants reveals accumulation of lipids and lipid-laden macrophages, both hallmarks of atherosclerotic plaques. This powerful dys-lipidemia model might prove particularly useful in studying the steps of LDL extravasation, oxidation, and engulfment by vascular wall macrophages.

Zebrafish Liver X Receptor (LXR) Deletion

Lxrs are central inducers of cholesterol catabolism (57). These nuclear receptor transcription factors regulate metabolism through engaging oxysterol ligands and altering expression of functionally integrated genes involved in reverse cholesterol transport, lipoprotein modification, intestinal cholesterol absorption and excretion, liver fatty acid and TG regulation, bile transport, and immune and inflammatory signaling (57). There are two Lxr paralogs in mammals. Lxr α , which arose in fish, is mainly expressed in tissues involved in tissue macrophages, liver, and intestine, whereas $Lxr\beta$, which arose in amphibians, is more widely expressed (58). Lxra upregulates hepatic lipogenic enzymes and increases blood TG levels (59, 60). This seemingly self-defeating function-driving elimination of cholesterol while triggering fatty acid synthesis-has been a major impediment to developing Lxr-based therapeutics. Indeed, the LXR_β-selective agonist BMS-852927 not only promotes reverse cholesterol transport in humans but also induces hepatic de novo lipogenesis and attendant hypertriglyceridemia; BMS-852927 also causes a rapid decrease in circulating neutrophil counts in humans, but not in cynomolgus monkeys, underscoring the challenge of drug development (61).

Zebrafish bearing a targeted deletion mutation of the Lxra gene nr1h3 develop severe hypercholesterolemia and hepatic steatosis when fed HCD and HFD (62). Conversely, overexpression of nr1h3 in enterocytes confers protection from dyslipidemia and hepatic steatosis when animals are fed a HFD; this metabolically beneficial effect of *nr1h3* overexpression is due to the induction of a transcriptional program resulting in temporary enterocyte storage of lipids, delaying an en masse delivery of atherogenic lipoprotein particles in the circulation. As noted above, zebrafish chylomicrons likely mature into LDL particles because of their full-length Apob-coat protein. As such, the nr1h3 gene deletion and intestine-limited overexpression models might be useful for studying atherogenesis in that the increase in LDL-cholesterol seen in nr1h3-/- mutants is substantial. Furthermore, these studies may lead to the rational development of intestine-limited LXR agonists to blunt the development of dyslipidemia and atherosclerosis.

THE FUTURE: ATHEROMA CELL BIOLOGY, GENETIC AND PHARMACOLOGICAL SCREENS, AND CANDIDATE GENE ANALYSES

Cell Biology of Atherosclerosis In Vivo

There is no a priori guarantee that zebrafish atheromas will model the full natural history of the human disease more closely in terms of mechanisms of development, inflammatory response, and final architecture than available models. However, if the advances in studying lipoprotein biology are any guides, the natural history of atheroma progression-from simple lipid accumulation below the vasculature to organization into "complex," cell-rich, and debris-rich plaques-should be feasible in zebrafish. In particular, live fluorescent markers of various cell types that accumulate within plaques such as vascular smooth muscles, macrophages, and other immune cells are available. These live imaging reporters could be used to monitor atherogenesis in real time. Notably, such live imaging tools have been deployed with remarkable success in studying architecturally complex mycobacterial infection and host response in zebrafish (63-65). This success in modeling a human host response to mycobacteria in zebrafish-where other laboratory species have fallen short of producing human-like granulomas-is cause for hope that zebrafish atherosclerosis will reveal conserved inflammatory and immune mechanisms. In particular, the observation that zebrafish macrophages form granulomas in response to mycobacterial infection raises the hope that these cells may very well form lipid-laden "foam cells" in atherosclerotic plaques and, thus, drive an evolutionarily conserved inflammatory response that defines "complex" lesions (i.e., recruiting additional cells to the plaque and driving inflammation). Whether zebrafish will be useful in studying all aspects of more advanced atherosclerotic plaques biology is not clear. For instance, zebrafish have much lower blood pressure than terrestrial animals. Whether this organism will be useful for generating plaque rupture models is difficult to predict. Systematic histological examination of zebrafish arteries from dyslipidemia models will be required to determine what aspects of plaque biology can be studied in this model.

Genetic and Chemical Screens for Dyslipidemia and Atherosclerosis Modifiers

Beyond hemodynamic concerns regarding the natural history of zebrafish atherosclerosis, it remains uncertain whether genetic or pharmacological screens could be designed to look for modulators of dyslipidemia and atherogenesis in zebrafish. These complex phenotypes develop after a period of feeding in late larvae, raising the time and effort required to perform a large-scale screening project. Developing convenient reporters for the development of dyslipidemia and atherogenesis and their validation in already established zebrafish models would help guide screen design. Such an approach has proven feasible and informative in studying fasting glucose regulation in larvae (66, 67).

Candidate Genes

A large repertoire of genetic loci has been associated on a population genetics level with lipid parameters (68). For most, the molecular and cellular bases of the associations are unknown. While it is now experimentally tractable to rapidly overexpress and delete genes in zebrafish, phenotypic characterization for atherosclerosis is still limited in comparison to examination of alterations in glucose metabolism (for which larvae phenotypes develop more rapidly and do not require feeding). For instance, my group recently explored the mechanistic association of a single nucleotide polymorphism (SNP) in the FOXN3 locus with fasting blood glucose (69). Through a blend of primary human hepatocyte, immortalized HepG2 hepatoma cell, and transgenic zebrafish approaches, we found that this SNP increases the expression of the FOXN3 protein and that this transcriptional repressor blunts a glucose utilization transcriptional program in the liver. Overexpression of both human FOXN3 and zebrafish foxn3 in liver increased fasting blood glucose in adults. Whether this gene acts in other tissues to modulate blood glucose is not known. Neither is the mechanism through which the risk allele increases FOXN3 expression. An approach similar to the one used to study FOXN3 could be used to examine the effect of overexpressing candidate genes (in liver or elsewhere) on zebrafish lipoprotein metabolism, again, with the caveat that the experimental window will need to be larger. Those "hits" showing changes in circulating lipids could be explored further using a large collection of null alleles (70) or through genome editing approaches (including conditional alleles).

CONCLUSION

Through a combination of genetic, developmental, and physiological advantages, the zebrafish has emerged as a major mechanistic discovery platform for studying dyslipidemia and atherosclerosis. Here, I highlighted individual areas of success using this organism, from dietary interventions, exploration of various aspects of lipoprotein production and processing, and genetic models for dyslipidemia and early atherosclerosis. Future work in the zebrafish system should include more thorough exploration of the composition and cellular architecture of atheromatous plaques, screenings effort to identify novel genes and small molecules that modulate atherogenesis, and candidate gene approaches to elucidating the functions of loci implicated in dyslipidemia and atherosclerosis through population genetic analyses. Collectively, this work in zebrafish may lead to the development of new and more effective therapies for dyslipidemia and atherosclerosis.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

The author is the sole contributor to the conceptual development and writing of this minireview.

FUNDING

Work in my laboratory is supported by US National Institutes of Health grant R01-DK096710 and American Heart Association Grant in Aid 15GRNT24670009.

REFERENCES

- Lozano R, Naghavi M, Foreman K, Lim S, Shibuya K, Aboyans V, et al. Global and regional mortality from 235 causes of death for 20 age groups in 1990 and 2010: a systematic analysis for the Global Burden of Disease Study 2010. Lancet (2012) 380(9859):2095–128. doi:10.1016/S0140-6736(12) 61728-0
- Mathers CD, Loncar D. Projections of global mortality and burden of disease from 2002 to 2030. *PLoS Med* (2006) 3(11):e442. doi:10.1371/journal. pmed.0030442
- Danaei G, Finucane MM, Lin JK, Singh GM, Paciorek CJ, Cowan MJ, et al. National, regional, and global trends in systolic blood pressure since 1980: systematic analysis of health examination surveys and epidemiological studies with 786 country-years and 5.4 million participants. *Lancet* (2011) 377(9765):568–77. doi:10.1016/S0140-6736(10)62036-3
- Ng M, Fleming T, Robinson M, Thomson B, Graetz N, Margono C, et al. Global, regional, and national prevalence of overweight and obesity in children and adults during 1980-2013: a systematic analysis for the Global Burden of Disease Study 2013. *Lancet* (2014) 384(9945):766–81. doi:10.1016/ S0140-6736(14)60460-8
- Danaei G, Finucane MM, Lu Y, Singh GM, Cowan MJ, Paciorek CJ, et al. National, regional, and global trends in fasting plasma glucose and diabetes prevalence since 1980: systematic analysis of health examination surveys and epidemiological studies with 370 country-years and 2.7 million participants. *Lancet* (2011) 378(9785):31–40. doi:10.1016/S0140-6736(11) 60679-X
- Review Team, LaBrecque DR, Abbas Z, Anania F, Ferenci P, Khan AG, et al. World gastroenterology organisation global guidelines: nonalcoholic fatty liver disease and nonalcoholic steatohepatitis. *J Clin Gastroenterol* (2014) 48(6):467–73. doi:10.1097/MCG.00000000000116
- Farzadfar F, Finucane MM, Danaei G, Pelizzari PM, Cowan MJ, Paciorek CJ, et al. National, regional, and global trends in serum total cholesterol since 1980: systematic analysis of health examination surveys and epidemiological studies with 321 country-years and 3.0 million participants. *Lancet* (2011) 377(9765):578–86. doi:10.1016/S0140-6736(10)62038-7
- Schlegel A, Gut P. Metabolic insights from zebrafish genetics, physiology, and chemical biology. *Cell Mol Life Sci* (2015) 72(12):2249–60. doi:10.1007/ s00018-014-1816-8
- Fang L, Liu C, Miller YI. Zebrafish models of dyslipidemia: relevance to atherosclerosis and angiogenesis. *Transl Res* (2014) 163(2):99–108. doi:10.1016/ j.trsl.2013.09.004
- Santoriello C, Zon LI. Hooked! Modeling human disease in zebrafish. J Clin Invest (2012) 122(7):2337–43. doi:10.1172/JCI60434
- Lieschke GJ, Currie PD. Animal models of human disease: zebrafish swim into view. Nat Rev Genet (2007) 8(5):353–67. doi:10.1038/nrg2091
- MacRae CA, Peterson RT. Zebrafish as tools for drug discovery. Nat Rev Drug Discov (2015) 14(10):721–31. doi:10.1038/nrd4627
- Kimura Y, Hisano Y, Kawahara A, Higashijima S. Efficient generation of knock-in transgenic zebrafish carrying reporter/driver genes by CRISPR/ Cas9-mediated genome engineering. *Sci Rep* (2014) 4:6545. doi:10.1038/ srep06545
- Auer TO, Duroure K, De Cian A, Concordet JP, Del Bene F. Highly efficient CRISPR/Cas9-mediated knock-in in zebrafish by homology-independent DNA repair. *Genome Res* (2014) 24(1):142–53. doi:10.1101/gr.161638.113
- Hoshijima K, Jurynec MJ, Grunwald DJ. Precise editing of the zebrafish genome made simple and efficient. *Dev Cell* (2016) 36(6):654–67. doi:10.1016/ j.devcel.2016.02.015
- Stamler J, Wentworth D, Neaton JD. Is relationship between serum cholesterol and risk of premature death from coronary heart disease continuous and graded? Findings in 356,222 primary screenees of the multiple risk factor intervention trial (MRFIT). *JAMA* (1986) 256(20):2823–8. doi:10.1001/ jama.1986.03380200061022
- TG and HDL Working Group of the Exome Sequencing Project, National Heart, Lung, and Blood Institute. Loss-of-function mutations in APOC3, triglycerides, and coronary disease. N Engl J Med (2014) 371(1):22–31. doi:10.1056/NEJMoa1307095
- Jørgensen AB, Frikke-Schmidt R, Nordestgaard BG, Tybjaerg-Hansen A. Loss-of-function mutations in APOC3 and risk of ischemic vascular disease. N Engl J Med (2014) 371(1):32–41. doi:10.1056/NEJMoa1308027

- Babin PJ, Gibbons GF. The evolution of plasma cholesterol: direct utility or a "spandrel" of hepatic lipid metabolism? *Prog Lipid Res* (2009) 48(2):73–91. doi:10.1016/j.plipres.2008.11.002
- Young SG, Zechner R. Biochemistry and pathophysiology of intravascular and intracellular lipolysis. *Genes Dev* (2013) 27(5):459–84. doi:10.1101/ gad.209296.112
- Conticello SG, Thomas CJF, Petersen-Mahrt SK, Neuberger MS. Evolution of the AID/APOBEC family of polynucleotide (deoxy)cytidine deaminases. *Mol Biol Evol* (2005) 22(2):367–77. doi:10.1093/molbev/msi026
- Liu C, Gates KP, Fang L, Amar MJ, Schneider DA, Geng H, et al. Apoc2 lossof-function zebrafish mutant as a genetic model of hyperlipidemia. *Dis Model Mech* (2015) 8(8):989–98. doi:10.1242/dmm.019836
- Otis JP, Zeituni EM, Thierer JH, Anderson JL, Brown AC, Boehm ED, et al. Zebrafish as a model for apolipoprotein biology: comprehensive expression analysis and a role for ApoA-IV in regulating food intake. *Dis Model Mech* (2015) 8(3):295–309. doi:10.1242/dnm.018754
- Marza E, Barthe C, Andre M, Villeneuve L, Helou C, Babin PJ. Developmental expression and nutritional regulation of a zebrafish gene homologous to mammalian microsomal triglyceride transfer protein large subunit. *Dev Dyn* (2005) 232(2):506–18. doi:10.1002/dvdy.20251
- Schlegel A, Stainier DY. Microsomal triglyceride transfer protein is required for yolk lipid utilization and absorption of dietary lipids in zebrafish larvae. *Biochemistry* (2006) 45(51):15179–87. doi:10.1021/bi0619268
- Avraham-Davidi I, Ely Y, Pham VN, Castranova D, Grunspan M, Malkinson G, et al. ApoB-containing lipoproteins regulate angiogenesis by modulating expression of VEGF receptor 1. *Nat Med* (2012) 18(6):967–73. doi:10.1038/ nm.2759
- Levic DS, Minkel JR, Wang WD, Rybski WM, Melville DB, Knapik EW. Animal model of Sar1b deficiency presents lipid absorption deficits similar to Anderson disease. *J Mol Med (Berl)* (2015) 93(2):165–76. doi:10.1007/ s00109-014-1247-x
- Zeituni EM, Wilson MH, Zheng X, Iglesias PA, Sepanski M, Siddiqi MA, et al. Endoplasmic reticulum lipid flux influences enterocyte nuclear morphology and lipid-dependent transcriptional responses. *J Biol Chem* (2016) 291(45):23804–16. doi:10.1074/jbc.M116.749358
- O'Hare EA, Wang X, Montasser ME, Chang YP, Mitchell BD, Zaghloul NA. Disruption of ldlr causes increased LDL-c and vascular lipid accumulation in a zebrafish model of hypercholesterolemia. *J Lipid Res* (2014) 55(11):2242–53. doi:10.1194/jlr.M046540
- Jin S, Hong JH, Jung SH, Cho KH. Turmeric and laurel aqueous extracts exhibit in vitro anti-atherosclerotic activity and in vivo hypolipidemic effects in a zebrafish model. *J Med Food* (2011) 14(3):247–56. doi:10.1089/jmf. 2009.1389
- Hall J, Qiu X. Structural and biophysical insight into cholesteryl ester-transfer protein. *Biochem Soc Trans* (2011) 39(4):1000–5. doi:10.1042/BST0391000
- Charles MA, Kane JP. New molecular insights into CETP structure and function: a review. J Lipid Res (2012) 53(8):1451-8. doi:10.1194/jlr. R027011
- von Eckardstein A. Implications of torcetrapib failure for the future of HDL therapy: is HDL-cholesterol the right target? *Expert Rev Cardiovasc Ther* (2010) 8(3):345–58. doi:10.1586/erc.10.6
- Stoletov K, Fang L, Choi S-H, Hartvigsen K, Hansen LF, Hall C, et al. Vascular lipid accumulation, lipoprotein oxidation, and macrophage lipid uptake in hypercholesterolemic zebrafish. *Circ Res* (2009) 104(8):952–60. doi:10.1161/ CIRCRESAHA.108.189803
- 35. Yin W, Carballo-Jane E, McLaren DG, Mendoza VH, Gagen K, Geoghagen NS, et al. Plasma lipid profiling across species for the identification of optimal animal models of human dyslipidemia. *J Lipid Res* (2012) 53(1):51–65. doi:10.1194/jlr.M019927
- Ishibashi S, Brown MS, Goldstein JL, Gerard RD, Hammer RE, Herz J. Hypercholesterolemia in low density lipoprotein receptor knockout mice and its reversal by adenovirus-mediated gene delivery. *J Clin Invest* (1993) 92(2):883–93. doi:10.1172/JCI116663
- Ishibashi S, Goldstein JL, Brown MS, Herz J, Burns DK. Massive xanthomatosis and atherosclerosis in cholesterol-fed low density lipoprotein receptor-negative mice. *J Clin Invest* (1994) 93(5):1885–93. doi:10.1172/ JCI117179
- Plump AS, Smith JD, Hayek T, Aalto-Setala K, Walsh A, Verstuyft JG, et al. Severe hypercholesterolemia and atherosclerosis in apolipoprotein E-deficient mice

created by homologous recombination in ES cells. *Cell* (1992) 71(2):343–53. doi:10.1016/0092-8674(92)90362-G

- Zhang SH, Reddick RL, Piedrahita JA, Maeda N. Spontaneous hypercholesterolemia and arterial lesions in mice lacking apolipoprotein E. *Science* (1992) 258(5081):468–71. doi:10.1126/science.1411543
- de Silva HV, Más-Oliva J, Taylor JM, Mahley RW. Identification of apolipoprotein B-100 low density lipoproteins, apolipoprotein B-48 remnants, and apolipoprotein E-rich high density lipoproteins in the mouse. *J Lipid Res* (1994) 35(7):1297–310.
- Getz GS, Reardon CA. Do the Apoe^{-/-} and Ldlr^{-/-} mice yield the same insight on atherogenesis? *Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol* (2016) 36(9):1734–41. doi:10.1161/atvbaha.116.306874
- Najafi AH, Aghili N, Tilan JU, Andrews JA, Peng X, Lassance-Soares RM, et al. A new murine model of stress-induced complex atherosclerotic lesions. *Dis Model Mech* (2013) 6(2):323–31. doi:10.1242/dmm.009977
- Matoba T, Sato K, Egashira K. Mouse models of plaque rupture. Curr Opin Lipidol (2013) 24(5):419–25. doi:10.1097/MOL.0b013e3283646e4d
- Kaushik S, Georga I, Koumoundouros G. Growth and body composition of zebrafish (*Danio rerio*) larvae fed a compound feed from first feeding onward: toward implications on nutrient requirements. *Zebrafish* (2011) 8(2):87–95. doi:10.1089/zeb.2011.0696
- Lawrence C. The husbandry of zebrafish (*Danio rerio*): a review. *Aquaculture* (2007) 269(1–4):1–20. doi:10.1016/j.aquaculture.2007.04.077
- 46. Oka T, Nishimura Y, Zang L, Hirano M, Shimada Y, Wang Z, et al. Dietinduced obesity in zebrafish shares common pathophysiological pathways with mammalian obesity. *BMC Physiol* (2010) 10(1):21. doi:10.1186/1472-6793-10-21
- Fang L, Green SR, Baek JS, Lee S-H, Ellett F, Deer E, et al. In vivo visualization and attenuation of oxidized lipid accumulation in hypercholesterolemic zebrafish. J Clin Invest (2011) 121(12):4861–9. doi:10.1172/JCI57755
- Fang L, Harkewicz R, Hartvigsen K, Wiesner P, Choi S-H, Almazan F, et al. Oxidized cholesteryl esters and phospholipids in zebrafish larvae fed a high cholesterol diet. *J Biol Chem* (2010) 285(42):32343–51. doi:10.1074/jbc. M110.137257
- Jin S, Cho K-H. Water extracts of cinnamon and clove exhibits potent inhibition of protein glycation and anti-atherosclerotic activity in vitro and in vivo hypolipidemic activity in zebrafish. *Food Chem Toxicol* (2011) 49(7):1521–9. doi:10.1016/j.fct.2011.03.043
- Kim JY, Hong JH, Jung HK, Jeong YS, Cho KH. Grape skin and loquat leaf extracts and acai puree have potent anti-atherosclerotic and anti-diabetic activity in vitro and in vivo in hypercholesterolemic zebrafish. *Int J Mol Med* (2012) 30(3):606–14. doi:10.3892/ijmm.2012.1045
- Kim J-Y, Seo J, Cho K-H. Aspartame-fed zebrafish exhibit acute deaths with swimming defects and saccharin-fed zebrafish have elevation of cholesteryl ester transfer protein activity in hypercholesterolemia. *Food Chem Toxicol* (2011) 49(11):2899–905. doi:10.1016/j.fct.2011.08.001
- Kim J-Y, Park K-H, Kim J, Choi I, Cho K-H. Modified high-density lipoproteins by artificial sweetener, aspartame, and saccharin, showed loss of anti-atherosclerotic activity and toxicity in zebrafish. *Cardiovasc Toxicol* (2015) 15(1):79–89. doi:10.1007/s12012-014-9273-z
- Suez J, Korem T, Zeevi D, Zilberman-Schapira G, Thaiss CA, Maza O, et al. Artificial sweeteners induce glucose intolerance by altering the gut microbiota. *Nature* (2014) 514(7521):181–6. doi:10.1038/nature13793
- Nicholls SJ, Brewer HB, Kastelein JJ, Krueger KA, Wang MD, Shao M, et al. Effects of the CETP inhibitor evacetrapib administered as monotherapy or in combination with statins on HDL and LDL cholesterol: a randomized controlled trial. *JAMA* (2011) 306(19):2099–109. doi:10.1001/jama. 2011.1649
- Hovingh GK, Kastelein JJP, van Deventer SJH, Round P, Ford J, Saleheen D, et al. Cholesterol ester transfer protein inhibition by TA-8995 in patients with mild dyslipidaemia (TULIP): a randomised, double-blind, placebo-controlled phase 2 trial. *Lancet* (2011) 386(9992):452–60. doi:10.1016/ S0140-6736(15)60158-1

- 56. Baggio G, Manzato E, Gabelli C, Fellin R, Martini S, Enzi GB, et al. Apolipoprotein C-II deficiency syndrome. Clinical features, lipoprotein characterization, lipase activity, and correction of hypertriglyceridemia after apolipoprotein C-II administration in two affected patients. *J Clin Invest* (1986) 77(2):520–7. doi:10.1172/JCI112332
- Calkin AC, Tontonoz P. Transcriptional integration of metabolism by the nuclear sterol-activated receptors LXR and FXR. *Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol* (2012) 13(4):213–24. doi:10.1038/nrm3312
- Uhlen M, Fagerberg L, Hallstrom BM, Lindskog C, Oksvold P, Mardinoglu A, et al. Proteomics. Tissue-based map of the human proteome. *Science* (2015) 347(6220):1260419. doi:10.1126/science.1260419
- Repa JJ, Liang G, Ou J, Bashmakov Y, Lobaccaro JM, Shimomura I, et al. Regulation of mouse sterol regulatory element-binding protein-1c gene (SREBP-1c) by oxysterol receptors, LXRalpha and LXRbeta. *Genes Dev* (2000) 14(22):2819–30. doi:10.1101/gad.844900
- Schultz JR, Tu H, Luk A, Repa JJ, Medina JC, Li L, et al. Role of LXRs in control of lipogenesis. *Genes Dev* (2000) 14(22):2831–8. doi:10.1101/gad.850400
- Kirchgessner TG, Sleph P, Ostrowski J, Lupisella J, Ryan CS, Liu X, et al. Beneficial and adverse effects of an LXR agonist on human lipid and lipoprotein metabolism and circulating neutrophils. *Cell Metab* (2016) 24(2):223–33. doi:10.1016/j.cmet.2016.07.016
- Cruz-Garcia L, Schlegel A. Lxr-driven enterocyte lipid droplet formation delays transport of ingested lipids. *J Lipid Res* (2014) 55(9):1944–58. doi:10.1194/jlr.M052845
- Cronan MR, Beerman RW, Rosenberg AF, Saelens JW, Johnson MG, Oehlers SH, et al. Macrophage epithelial reprogramming underlies mycobacterial granuloma formation and promotes infection. *Immunity* (2016) 45(4):861–76. doi:10.1016/j.immuni.2016.09.014
- 64. Chen Z, Hu Y, Cumming BM, Lu P, Feng L, Deng J, et al. Mycobacterial WhiB6 differentially regulates ESX-1 and the Dos Regulon to modulate granuloma formation and virulence in zebrafish. *Cell Rep* (2016) 16(9):2512–24. doi:10.1016/j.celrep.2016.07.080
- Berg RD, Levitte S, O'Sullivan MP, O'Leary SM, Cambier CJ, Cameron J, et al. Lysosomal disorders drive susceptibility to tuberculosis by compromising macrophage migration. *Cell* (2016) 165(1):139–52. doi:10.1016/ j.cell.2016.02.034
- Gut P, Baeza-Raja B, Andersson O, Hasenkamp L, Hsiao J, Hesselson D, et al. Whole-organism screening for gluconeogenesis identifies activators of fasting metabolism. *Nat Chem Biol* (2013) 9(2):97–104. doi:10.1038/nchembio.1136
- Weger BD, Weger M, Nusser M, Brenner-Weiss G, Dickmeis T. A chemical screening system for glucocorticoid stress hormone signaling in an intact vertebrate. ACS Chem Biol (2012) 7(7):1178–83. doi:10.1021/cb3000474
- Global Lipids Genetics Consortium, Willer CJ, Schmidt EM, Sengupta S, Peloso GM, Gustafsson S, et al. Discovery and refinement of loci associated with lipid levels. *Nat Genet* (2013) 45(11):1274–83. doi:10.1038/ng.2797
- Karanth S, Zinkhan EK, Hill JT, Yost HJ, Schlegel A. FOXN3 regulates hepatic glucose utilization. *Cell Rep* (2016) 15(2):2745–55. doi:10.1016/ j.celrep.2016.05.056
- Kettleborough RN, Busch-Nentwich EM, Harvey SA, Dooley CM, de Bruijn E, van Eeden F, et al. A systematic genome-wide analysis of zebrafish protein-coding gene function. *Nature* (2013) 496(7446):494–7. doi:10.1038/ nature11992

Conflict of Interest Statement: The author declares that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2016 Schlegel. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) or licensor are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





The Role of Peroxisome Proliferator-Activated Receptor Gamma (*PPARG*) in Adipogenesis: Applying Knowledge from the Fish Aquaculture Industry to Biomedical Research

Rebecca Wafer, Panna Tandon and James E. N. Minchin*

BHF Centre for Cardiovascular Science, The Queen's Medical Research Institute, University of Edinburgh, Edinburgh, UK

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Encarnación Capilla, University of Barcelona, Spain

Reviewed by:

Marta Bou, Nofima, Norway Mercedes Blazquez, Consejo Superior de Investigaciones Científicas (CSIC), Spain

> *Correspondence: James E. N. Minchin james.minchin@ed.ac.uk

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Experimental Endocrinology, a section of the journal Frontiers in Endocrinology

Received: 09 March 2017 **Accepted:** 01 May 2017 **Published:** 22 May 2017

Citation:

Wafer R, Tandon P and Minchin JEN (2017) The Role of Peroxisome Proliferator-Activated Receptor Gamma (PPARG) in Adipogenesis: Applying Knowledge from the Fish Aquaculture Industry to Biomedical Research. Front. Endocrinol. 8:102. doi: 10.3389/fendo.2017.00102 The tropical freshwater zebrafish has recently emerged as a valuable model organism for the study of adipose tissue biology and obesity-related disease. The strengths of the zebrafish model system are its wealth of genetic mutants, transgenic tools, and amenability to high-resolution imaging of cell dynamics within live animals. However, zebrafish adipose research is at a nascent stage and many gaps exist in our understanding of zebrafish adipose physiology and metabolism. By contrast, adipose research within other, closely related, teleost species has a rich and extensive history, owing to the economic importance of these fish as a food source. Here, we compare and contrast knowledge on peroxisome proliferator-activated receptor gamma (PPARG)-mediated adipogenesis derived from both biomedical and aquaculture literatures. We first concentrate on the biomedical literature to (i) briefly review PPARG-mediated adipogenesis in mammals, before (ii) reviewing Pparg-mediated adipogenesis in zebrafish. Finally, we (iii) mine the aquaculture literature to compare and contrast Pparg-mediated adipogenesis in aquaculturally relevant teleosts. Our goal is to highlight evolutionary similarities and differences in adipose biology that will inform our understanding of the role of adipose tissue in obesity and related disease.

Keywords: adipose, zebrafish, adipogenesis, pparg, aquaculture

Adipogenesis—the process of progenitor cell differentiation to generate mature, lipid-laden adipocytes (fat cells) is central to physiological homeostasis. Dysregulation of adipogenesis and a reduced capacity to sequester lipid within cytoplasmic lipid droplets (LDs) of adipocytes leads to lipodystrophy, ectopic lipid deposition, systemic metabolic dysfunction, and increased risk for developing diabetes and cardiovascular disease (1–3). Members of the peroxisome proliferator-activated receptor (PPAR) family of nuclear receptors have paramount roles in lipid metabolism; and, in particular, PPAR gamma (PPARG) is critical for adipogenesis. Much is known on PPARG-mediated adipogenesis in mammalian model systems; however, extensive research has also been conducted on adipogenesis in fish species relevant to the aquaculture industry. The aim of this mini-review is to integrate findings on Pparg-mediated adipogenesis from the aquaculture industry into the larger biomedical-centered literature. This review is focused on adipogenesis in white adipose tissue (WAT); however, adipogenesis in brown adipose has also recently been reviewed (4).

PPARG: A MASTER REGULATOR OF MAMMALIAN ADIPOGENESIS

Peroxisome proliferator-activated receptor gamma is both necessary and sufficient for WAT adipogenesis in mammals, and is considered a "master regulator" of adipogenesis. In mouse, Pparg plays an important role in placental vascularization, monocyte differentiation, and cardiac development (5, 6); however, Pparg is also required for adipogenesis both in vitro (7) and *in vivo* (5, 7, 8). Naturally occurring mutations within the PPARG coding sequence can lead to PPARG loss-of-function (LOF), severe lipodystrophy, insulin resistance, and diabetes in humans (2, 3, 9). Further, adipocyte-specific deletion of Pparg in mouse results in the complete absence of WAT (8). Strikingly, expression of *Pparg*, together with provision of an activating ligand, is sufficient to initiate an adipogenic program and maintain an adipocyte phenotype in previously non-adipogenic cells (10, 11). Therefore, PPARG has a central role in mammalian adipogenesis, typified by PPARG LOF in humans, which is associated with severe lipodystrophy, and metabolic dysfunction and disease.

In mammals, *PPARG* exists as two isoforms, G1 (γ 1) and G2 $(\gamma 2)$, derived from a single gene, and transcribed by distinct promoters (12, 13). PPARG2 contains additional 30 amino acids at the N-terminal of PPARG1 and is specific to WAT-whereas, PPARG1 can be expressed at low levels in non-WAT tissues (12, 13). Both γ 1 and γ 2 isoforms can instruct a similar adipogenic gene expression program; however, PPARG2 exhibits a quantitatively greater adipogenic ability (14). Structurally, PPARG contains six protein domains (domains A-F) (Figure 1A): the N-terminal A/B-domain contains the ligand-independent transactivation function 1 (AF-1); the C-domain is a highly conserved DNA-binding domain (DBD), consisting of two type II zinc fingers; the D-domain is a flexible hinge region; the E-domain contains the AF-2 ligand-binding domain (LBD); and at the C-terminus, a small F-domain has been shown to interact with cofactors (15).

The function of each PPARG domain has been extensively studied. The N-terminal AF-1 domain regulates the transcriptional activity of *PPARG* by (i) influencing Pparg ubiquitination and receptor turnover (16), (ii) controlling localization of Pparg to distinct cellular compartments (17, 18), (iii) facilitating communication with the LBD and enhancing ligand-dependent transcription (19), and (iv) recruitment of coactivators (20, 21) and corepressors (22). Importantly, many AF-1 focused regulatory mechanisms rely on posttranscriptional modifications of PPARG and can be both ligand-dependent or ligand-independent (23). Accordingly, inhibiting phosphorylation of serine 112 (S112) of Pparg2 in mouse results in improved insulin sensitivity when fed a high-fat diet (24). In addition, humans carrying a mutation blocking phosphorylation of an equivalent serine residue also have improved insulin sensitivity (18, 25). Together, these studies show that multiple diverse mechanisms converge on the

AF-1 domain to regulate the transcriptional activity, and insulin sensitizing potential, of PPARG.

The transcriptional activity of PPARG is highly dependent on its DBD. Mutations within the DBD of human PPARG inhibit the transcriptional potential of PPARG and patients carrying such mutations exhibit severe insulin resistance and an increased risk for diabetes (3, 9, 26). The core DBD is highly conserved between different nuclear receptors; both within the PPAR family, and between distinct nuclear receptor families (27). Indeed, some nuclear receptors bind identical DNA motifs (28) and, in support, Pparg retains the ability to conduct an adipogenic program even when fused to alternative DBDs (29). These data suggest that the specificity of PPARG-mediated gene activation is not entirely contained within the DBD. Pparg generally binds DNA as obligate heterodimers with members of the retinoid X receptor (RXR) family of nuclear receptors (30), although some evidence suggests Pparg can also function as a homodimer (31). Strikingly, mutations within RXR DBDs have severe consequences for the transcriptional activity of PPARG:RXR heterodimers, suggesting the DNA-binding activity of RXR is also central to PPARG function (32). PPARG/RXR heterodimers bind to cis-acting peroxisome proliferator response elements (PPREs) containing direct repeats of 5'-AGGTCA-3' separated by n nucleotides (DRn) (Figure 1B) (33-35). Along with an AAACT flanking sequence situated immediately 5' to the core DRn motif, which helps guide selective PPAR binding (36-38). ChIP-Seq analyses for Pparg binding have identified DR1 as the canonical motif for PPARG binding (33, 39, 40), and binding is dependent on the sequence, and affinity, of specific DR1 motifs (40). Wider chromatin organization and accessibility also appear key for PPARG-mediated adipogenesis, as extensive chromatin remodeling occurs early in adipogenesis, prior to Pparg binding, and creates "hotspots" primed for future Pparg binding (41).

THE LBD OF PPARG, KNOWN LIGANDS, AND MODULATION OF TRANSCRIPTIONAL ACTIVITY

Ligand binding regulates the transcriptional activity of PPARG and, as such, the LBD is central to the ability of PPARG to direct adipogenesis and regulate insulin sensitivity. Numerous lipid metabolites have been identified as PPARG ligands; including, polyunsaturated fatty acids (PUFAs), such as docosahexaenoic acid and linoleic acid, eicosanoids, and 15-deoxy- Δ 12,14prostanglandin J2 [PGJ(2)] (10, 42-47). Many of these ligands bind PPARG with low affinity and are unlikely to be present at concentrations required to activate PPARG in vivo (48). However, derivatives of linoleic acid have been shown to potently bind Pparg, and may represent an endogenous ligand for PPARG (49, 50). Intriguingly, a cAMP-induced, transient Pparg ligand is produced by 3T3-L1 adipocytes during the early stages of adipogenesis (51) and drives Pparg-mediated progenitor differentiation. Furthermore, this transient Pparg ligand is suggestive of a positive feedback loop, which is autonomous to adipocytes and acts in a paracrine manner. Synthetic ligands



(upper motif) and mouse (lower motif). Motifs are derived from the JASPAR database (http://jaspar.genereg.net/). (C) PPARG domain structure with dbSNPS predicted to be deleterious using SIFT and Polyphen, and conserved to zebrafish, Nile tilapia, and fugu. Red single nucleotide polymorphisms (SNPs) indicate functional verification (9). Yellow–brown histogram indicates the degree of conservation in PPARG between human, mouse, coelacanth, spotted gar, zebrafish, fugu, and Nile tilapia. Height and color indicate the degree of conservation.

also bind and regulate PPARG activity. Most prominently, thiazolidinediones (TZDs) are potent PPARG agonists that lower hyperglycemia, decrease plasma triacylglycerides and free fatty acids, and increase insulin sensitivity (51). As such, TZDs have incredible potential to improve insulin sensitivity and glucose homeostasis in diabetic patients. However, many TZDs have been withdrawn from clinical use, or are under extensive review, owing to toxic side effects (52, 53). In particular, TZDs induce adipogenesis in patients and can lead to increased weight gain (51, 54, 55).

ZEBRAFISH AS A MODEL TO STUDY Pparg-MEDIATED ADIPOGENESIS

As a complement to mammalian model systems, the zebrafish has recently emerged as a tractable model for studying adipogenesis in vivo. Zebrafish possess adipose tissue that is morphologically similar to mammalian WAT (56-58), and which is deposited in anatomically homologous regions to mammalian WAT (56, 58, 59). Further, zebrafish adipose responds to nutritional manipulation, suggesting a conserved role for WAT as an energy store or supply during periods of caloric excess or restriction (56, 60, 61). Zebrafish possess a single pparg ortholog on chromosome 11 (47), which exhibits 67% overall similarity to human PPARG (47). The LBD and DBD of zebrafish pparg show especially high conservation to human PPARG (80.5 and 94.3% of amino acids are identical in LDB and DBD, respectively) (Figure 1C) (47, 62). The N-terminal AF-1 domain shows much less conservation between zebrafish and human (Figure 1C) (47, 62); however, this is unsurprising as the AF-1 domain is well known to exhibit low similarity even between more closely related species (23). Interestingly, zebrafish pparg contain multiple regions with amino acid insertions not present in mammalian PPARG, suggesting the potential for neo-functionalization of fish Pparg (Figure 1C) (47). Importantly, zebrafish pparg mRNA is detected in adipocytes (56, 58, 60). Moreover, many compounds known to stimulate mammalian Pparg also modulate zebrafish pparg mRNA; including, organotin compounds such as tributyltin (63, 64), halogenated analogs of bisphenol A (65), and PGJ(2) (66). Construction of a zebrafish transgenic line expressing the human PPARG LBD fused to a Gal4 DBD exhibits increased transcriptional activity after treatment with TZDs including rosiglitazone, pioglitazone, or troglitazone (67), thus suggesting that ligand-dependent coactivators of Pparg are conserved and functional in zebrafish. Intriguingly, recent work showed that treatment of zebrafish with the TZD rosiglitazone increased adiposity, suggesting that the role of Pparg in stimulating zebrafish adipogenesis may also be conserved to mammals (68).

ADIPOGENESIS AND THE AQUACULTURE INDUSTRY

The use of zebrafish as a biomedical model system to study adipogenesis is at a nascent stage, and many gaps exist in our understanding. However, the aquaculture industry has conducted extensive investigation into adipogenesis in closely related fish species, owing to the fact that adipogenesis affects meat quality, animal health, and harvest yields (69). Aquaculture is defined as the farming of aquatic organisms; including fish, crustaceans, mollusks, and plants. The aquaculture industry contributes ~50% of the world's aquatic food source (70); thus representing a significant proportion of all food consumed worldwide (71). For this review, we focus on teleost species most closely related to zebrafish. For a comprehensive review of teleost phylogeny, we refer you to the following articles (72, 73). The teleost lineage is divided into three branches; clupeocephalans (including the majority of teleosts); and the relatively minor elopomorpha (including eels

and tarpons), and osteoglossomorpha (fish possessing toothed or bony tongues) (72, 73). For this review, we only consider clupeocephalans, which belong to two main lineages; ostariophysi and euteleostei. In 2010, freshwater fish production was dominated by ostariophysi such as silver carp (Hypophthalmichthys molitrix), grass carp (Ctenopharyngodon idella), common carp (Cyprinus carpio), and the euteleostei, Nile tilapia (Oreochromis niloticus). The euteleostei Atlantic salmon (Salmo salar) was the most farmed saltwater fish (70). Extensive regional differences exist in the species of fish farmed; for example, Asian countries primarily farm ostariophysi carp species, accounting for 89% of world aquaculture (70). By contrast, Mediterranean countries farm euteleostei species including gilthead sea bream (Sparus aurata) (74), European sea bass (Dicentrarchus labrax), and flathead gray mullet (Mugil cephalus) (70). Northern European countries, primarily farm euteleostei salmonid species such as Atlantic salmon and rainbow trout (Oncorhynchus mykiss) (70). A characteristic of teleosts is a teleost-specific third whole genome duplication (Ts3R), which is estimated to have occurred ~225-333 million years ago (72, 75). Recent genome sequencing projects have revealed that, in addition to Ts3R, certain teleost lineages have undergone further extensive genome duplication; including, salmonids (76, 77) and common carp (78). Genome duplications are hypothesized to underlie the dramatic radiation of teleosts and often lead to multiple gene copies, under reduced selective constraint, and thus receptive to neo-, non-, and subfunctionalization of the ancestral gene role (73).

EXTENSIVE SYNTENIC CONSERVATION AT TELEOST *pparg* LOCI

As PPARG exerts such a central role in mammalian adipogenesis, we first wished to assess whether duplicated teleost pparg paralogs have been retained. Only a single pparg ortholog was identified in 9 (of 10) teleost fish species with genome data on Ensembl (79). These data are striking, as the other members of the PPAR family (ppara and ppard) have been extensively duplicated, with paralogs retained, in teleosts (Ensembl Gene Tree: ENSGT00870000136388) (47). Teleost species with a single pparg ortholog include, ostariophysi such as zebrafish (cyprinidae); and euteleostei such as, Atlantic cod (gadiformes), pufferfish (tetradontiformes, both fugu and tetraodon), stickleback (gasterodae), and Nile tilapia (cichlidae) (Ensembl Gene Tree: ENSGT00870000136388) (47). The single teleost species with a retained pparg paralog is the ostariophysi blind cavefish (Astyanax mexicanus) of the chariciformes order (Figure 2). The striking loss of duplicated pparg genes in the majority of teleosts suggest stringent selective pressures for retaining Pparg copy number and function. To construct a predicted ancestral pparg locus, we examined synteny at the Pparg locus in tetrapods (mouse and human), a basal sarcopterygian (coelacanth), an actinopterygian holosteian basal to teleosts (spotted gar), and a chondrichthyan, cartilaginous fish (elephant shark) (Figure 2). Following the Ts3R, two pparg loci can be identified which each share extensive synteny to the predicted ancestral locus (Figure 2). Remarkably, in both ostariophysi and euteleostei, pparg appeared to be retained at a specific single locus (locus 1) (Figure 2), with the



FIGURE 2 | Extensive shared syntemy between mammals and fish at the *Peroxisome proliferator-activated receptor (PPARG)* locus. The predicted ancestral locus was inferred from comparing the loci documented in the figure, together with the chondrichthyan elephant shark (*Callorhinchus milii*) locus (not shown). The *C. milii* locus contained *Cenp* and *Rab43* genes (indicated with an asterisk). Ts3R indicates the teleost-specific genome duplication. Note the inversion of *TIMP4* and *SYN2* upstream of *PPARG* in the mammalian lineage. Duplicated *raf1* paralogs (*raf1a* and *raf1b*) are only retained in zebrafish and cavefish.

exception being Atlantic salmon, which retained *pparg* at locus 2 (**Figure 2**). Strikingly, in all euteleostei species examined, the region downstream of *pparg* contained multiple new genes not found in other species (*iffo2b*, *akr7a3*, *mrto4*, *megf6b*), suggesting an euteleostei-specific recombination event that completely changed the sequence downstream of *pparg* (**Figure 2**).

SEQUENCE HOMOLOGY OF TELEOST pparg GENES

Extensive synteny at teleost and mammalian *PPARG* suggest the locus is under considerable selective constraint; therefore, we next assessed whether the PPARG amino acid sequence

was equally conserved. We aligned PPARG sequences from representative tetrapods, a basal sarcopterygian, a holosteian, an ostariophysan, and euteleostians (Figure 1C). As expected, not all elements of the mammalian PPARG sequence were conserved from mammals to fish (Figure 1C). Strikingly, the DBD, hinge region, and LDB exhibited high levels of conservation from mammals to fish (Figure 1C). However, we found a large insertion into the hinge region specific to the euteleosts, fugu, and Nile tilapia (Figure 1C). We further found euteleost-specific and zebrafishspecific insertions into the AF-1 domain (Figure 1C). Aside from these three regions inserted into teleost Pparg, conservation was extensive (Figure 1C). Previous studies have identified that the LDB of fish Pparg (red sea bream and Nile tilapia) often contains additional amino acids compared to human PPARG (80, 81). However, the DBD of PPARG is well conserved between fish and mammals (81). These distinct patterns of conservation have been suggested to reflect the fact that PPARG target genes are well conserved, while there may be greater diversity in ligands, which activate PPARG (81) and may explain why some human PPARG agonists are unable to stimulate pparg expression across teleost species (81, 82).

CONSERVATION OF Pparg AMINO ACIDS AFFECTED BY DISEASE-ASSOCIATED GENETIC VARIATION IN HUMANS

The considerable sequence conservation between mammalian and teleost *PPARG* suggest that residues affected by naturally occurring, disease-associated, mutations in human *PPARG* may also be conserved in teleosts. To address this, we (i) collected all known human *PPARG* single nucleotide polymorphisms (SNPs) from dbSNP (347 SNPs), (ii) filtered these SNPs to identify 73 SNPs predicted to have a highly deleterious effect on PPARG function, (iii) identified amino acids altered by the deleterious SNPs, which were conserved to teleosts (39 SNPs/amino acids), (iv) filtered the conserved deleterious SNPs to ones that had been experimentally verified to have an effect on adipogenesis and PPARG function in humans (4 SNPs) (9). The resulting collection of SNPs (**Figure 1C**) represent ideal initial targets for modeling Pparg function during teleost adipogenesis and highlight the highly conserved nature of PPARG from mammals to fish.

EXPRESSION DYNAMICS OF *pparg* IN FARMED FISH SPECIES

Although little is known regarding the expression of *pparg* in zebrafish, extensive experiments have been undertaken in farmed fish species to determine the dynamics of *pparg* during adipogenesis. In grass carp (ostariophysi), gilthead sea bream, large yellow croaker, and Atlantic salmon (all euteleostei), Pparg/*pparg* appeared coincident with early stages of adipocyte differentiation and increased gradually throughout adipogenesis (69, 83–87). These dynamics mirror those observed in mammalian 3T3-L1 cells, where *Pparg* mRNA is present at low levels in adipocyte progenitors, and increases upon stimulation of adipogenesis (10, 88). Similar to 3T3-L1 cells, *cebpb* mRNA was also induced

prior to *pparg* during differentiation of adipocyte progenitors in the euteleostei, cobia (Rachycentron canadum), and in Atlantic Salmon (89). By contrast, in red sea bream (Pagrus major) (another euteleostei), pparg mRNA appeared to remain stable during a 10-day preadipocyte culture; however, isolated cells were maintained for 4 days prior to induction of adipogenesis; therefore, it remains possible that fluctuations in pparg mRNA expression occurred prior to analysis (80). However, by this method, accumulation of LDs appeared late and was not robust (80). Furthermore, in gilthead sea bream (euteleostei), pparg mRNA decreased in preadipocytes upon the addition of an adipogenic cocktail (83). The experimental reasons for differences in teleost pparg expression dynamics is unclear; however, in most fish species, the induction and maintenance of *pparg* mRNA during adipogenesis appears largely conserved to mammals. Furthermore, multiple pparg isoforms have been found in Nile tilapia and Atlantic salmon (both long and short isoforms) (81, 85, 90, 91), suggesting that teleost pparg is alternatively spliced similar to mammalian PPARG.

THE FUNCTIONAL ROLE OF Pparg-MEDIATED ADIPOGENESIS IN FARMED FISH SPECIES

In addition to expression dynamics, extensive experiments on Pparg-mediated adipogenesis have been conducted in aquaculturally relevant fish species. Much of the evidence for Pparg-mediated adipogenesis in fish species derive from primary adipocyte progenitor, or "preadipocyte," cell culture systems. Primary preadipocyte cultures have been established in multiple species, including; Atlantic salmon (84), red sea bream (92), rainbow trout (93), grass carp (94), large yellow croaker (69), gilthead sea bream (74), and cobia (89). In all of these systems, primary stromal-vascular cells were isolated from visceral adipose tissue (VAT) [the VAT source most likely equates to the pancreatic VAT and abdominal VAT deposits described in zebrafish (59)]. The preadipocyte culture methods closely follow established methods for the growth and differentiation of mammalian 3T3-L1 cells (95) and enable the incubation of preadipocytes, and differentiated adipocytes, with a range of pharmacological and biological agents to study potential roles during Pparg-mediated adipogenesis.

To our knowledge, no functional genetic data on the role of Pparg in farmed fish species is currently published. However, extensive data exist on pharmacological manipulation of Pparg and adipogenesis. Troglitazone, an insulin sensitizing TZD, potently stimulates preadipocyte differentiation in porcine and human preadipocytes (96, 97); and co-incubation with insulin induced preadipocyte differentiation in rainbow trout (98). A second TZD tested in teleosts, ciglitazone, induced *pparg* expression in preadipocytes of red sea bream (80), suggesting that TZDs induce both *pparg* and adipogenesis in teleosts. The role of several pro- and anti-adipogenic factors have also been studied in fish. Insulin has potent stimulatory effects on *Pparg* mRNA levels, and the proliferation and differentiation of mammalian preadipocytes, acting through IRS1 and the MAPK pathway (99, 100). In large yellow croaker (Percomorpha),

The Role of PPARG in Adipogenesis

insulin increased pparg mRNA, along with stimulating preadipocyte proliferation and differentiation (69). In accordance with mammalian data, Insulin inhibited lipolysis in differentiated adipocytes of rainbow trout (69, 101). Similarly, insulin also stimulated the differentiation of adipocyte progenitors and lipid accumulation in red sea bream (92). These findings suggest that insulin has a conserved role in stimulating *pparg* expression and promoting adipogenesis. Insulin-mediated induction of *pparg* and adipogenesis is also potentially conserved to other fish species, as the insulin-IRS1-MAPK signaling axis is also functional in rainbow trout adipocytes (102). However, unlike in rainbow trout, insulin had no effect on adipocyte lipolysis in gilthead sea bream (103). Tumor necrosis factor alpha (TNFA) is secreted from mammalian adipocytes and inhibits adipogenesis (104). Treating large yellow croaker preadipocytes with human TNFA reduced pparg mRNA levels, suppressed proliferation and differentiation, and stimulated lipolysis in differentiated adipocytes (69). An anti-adipogenic role for TNFA was also found in rainbow trout adipocytes at both RNA and protein levels (93, 105). PUFAs inhibit the proliferation and differentiation of mammalian preadipocytes (106, 107). DHA, an omega-3 fatty acid, was used in the treatment of large yellow croaker preadipocytes and led to decreased *pparg* mRNA levels and reductions in cell proliferation (69). It has further been shown that DHA stimulates lipolysis in 3T3-L1 preadipocytes (108); however, DHA did not exert a positive effect on lipolysis within large yellow croaker adipocytes and was actually observed to have an anti-lipolytic effect (69). Interestingly, DHA reduced lipid accumulation in Atlantic salmon adipocytes, although a mechanisms by which this occurred was not identified (85). Conversely, an analog of the saturated fatty acid palmitate, 2-bromopalmitate, increased pparg mRNA (red sea bream) (80). pparg cooperates with rxra to transcribe *fabp4* suggesting that fish Pparg also functions as an

REFERENCES

- Luo L, Liu M. Adipose tissue in control of metabolism. J Endocrinol (2016) 231:R77–99. doi:10.1530/JOE-16-0211
- Barroso I, Gurnell M, Crowley VE, Agostini M, Schwabe JW, Soos MA, et al. Dominant negative mutations in human PPARgamma associated with severe insulin resistance, diabetes mellitus and hypertension. *Nature* (1999) 402:880–3.
- Agostini M, Schoenmakers E, Mitchell C, Szatmari I, Savage D, Smith A, et al. Non-DNA binding, dominant-negative, human PPARgamma mutations cause lipodystrophic insulin resistance. *Cell Metab* (2006) 4:303–11. doi:10.1016/j. cmet.2006.09.003
- Nakagami H. The mechanism of white and brown adipocyte differentiation. Diabetes Metab J (2013) 37:85–90. doi:10.4093/dmj.2013.37.2.85
- Barak Y, Nelson MC, Ong ES, Jones YZ, Ruiz-Lozano P, Chien KR, et al. PPAR gamma is required for placental, cardiac, and adipose tissue development. *Mol Cell* (1999) 4:585–95. doi:10.1016/S1097-2765(00)80209-9
- Tontonoz P, Nagy L, Alvarez JG, Thomazy VA, Evans RM. PPARgamma promotes monocyte/macrophage differentiation and uptake of oxidized LDL. *Cell* (1998) 93:241–52. doi:10.1016/S0092-8674(00)81575-5
- Rosen ED, Sarraf P, Troy AE, Bradwin G, Moore K, Milstone DS, et al. PPAR gamma is required for the differentiation of adipose tissue in vivo and in vitro. *Mol Cell* (1999) 4:611–7. doi:10.1016/S1097-2765(00)80211-7
- Wang F, Mullican SE, DiSpirito JR, Peed LC, Lazar MA. Lipoatrophy and severe metabolic disturbance in mice with fat-specific deletion of PPARgamma. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* (2013) 110:18656–61. doi:10.1073/pnas.1314863110

obligate heterodimer with Rxr proteins to guide adipogenic gene expression (Nile tilapia) (81). In Atlantic salmon, *pparg* mRNA was induced after addition of liver X receptor (lxr) agonists (109), suggesting Pparg:Lxr coordinate gene expression in teleosts as they do in mammals (110).

CONCLUSION AND FUTURE DIRECTIONS

Peroxisome proliferator-activated receptor gamma is a master regulator of adipogenesis in mammals, and mutations deleterious to PPARG function lead to increased susceptibility to diabetes and cardiovascular disease. In this review, we assessed the literature on Pparg-mediated adipogenesis in teleost fish species, including the biomedical model system, zebrafish, and multiple aquaculturally relevant farmed fish species. We found a high degree of synteny and conservation at/in *pparg* in teleost fish, along with evidence of conserved expression, regulation, and function derived from primary preadipocyte culture studies. Altogether, information on the role of Pparg gleaned from aquaculturally relevant species is likely to be highly informative for future zebrafish and mammalian biomedical studies on adipogenesis.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

Background literature research, writing, and review were conducted by RW, PT, and JM. Sequence and locus analysis was conducted by JM.

FUNDING

This mini review was funded by a British Heart Foundation and University of Edinburgh Fellowship to JM, and a Diabetes UK Early Career Small Grant to JM (16/0005494).

- Majithia AR, Flannick J, Shahinian P, Guo M, Bray MA, Fontanillas P, et al. Rare variants in PPARG with decreased activity in adipocyte differentiation are associated with increased risk of type 2 diabetes. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* (2014) 111:13127–32. doi:10.1073/pnas.1410428111
- Tontonoz P, Hu E, Spiegelman BM. Stimulation of adipogenesis in fibroblasts by PPAR gamma 2, a lipid-activated transcription factor. *Cell* (1994) 79:1147–56. doi:10.1016/0092-8674(94)90006-X
- Hu E, Tontonoz P, Spiegelman BM. Transdifferentiation of myoblasts by the adipogenic transcription factors PPAR gamma and C/EBP alpha. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* (1995) 92:9856–60. doi:10.1073/pnas.92.21.9856
- Zhu Y, Qi C, Korenberg JR, Chen XN, Noya D, Rao MS, et al. Structural organization of mouse peroxisome proliferator-activated receptor gamma (mPPAR gamma) gene: alternative promoter use and different splicing yield two mPPAR gamma isoforms. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* (1995) 92:7921–5. doi:10.1073/pnas.92.17.7921
- Tontonoz P, Hu E, Graves RA, Budavari AI, Spiegelman BM. mPPAR gamma
 tissue-specific regulator of an adipocyte enhancer. *Genes Dev* (1994) 8: 1224–34. doi:10.1101/gad.8.10.1224
- Mueller E, Drori S, Aiyer A, Yie J, Sarraf P, Chen H, et al. Genetic analysis of adipogenesis through peroxisome proliferator-activated receptor gamma isoforms. *J Biol Chem* (2002) 277:41925–30. doi:10.1074/jbc.M206950200
- Qi C, Zhu Y, Reddy JK. Peroxisome proliferator-activated receptors, coactivators, and downstream targets. *Cell Biochem Biophys* (2000) 32(Spring):187–204. doi:10.1385/CBB:32:1-3:187
- 16. Fujimoto Y, Shiraki T, Horiuchi Y, Waku T, Shigenaga A, Otaka A, et al. Proline cis/trans-isomerase Pin1 regulates peroxisome proliferator-activated receptor

gamma activity through the direct binding to the activation function-1 domain. *J Biol Chem* (2010) 285:3126–32. doi:10.1074/jbc.M109.055095

- Burgermeister E, Chuderland D, Hanoch T, Meyer M, Liscovitch M, Seger R. Interaction with MEK causes nuclear export and downregulation of peroxisome proliferator-activated receptor gamma. *Mol Cell Biol* (2007) 27:803–17. doi:10.1128/MCB.00601-06
- von Knethen A, Tzieply N, Jennewein C, Brune B. Casein-kinase-II-dependent phosphorylation of PPARgamma provokes CRM1-mediated shuttling of PPARgamma from the nucleus to the cytosol. J Cell Sci (2010) 123:192–201. doi:10.1242/jcs.055475
- Shao D, Rangwala SM, Bailey ST, Krakow SL, Reginato MJ, Lazar MA. Interdomain communication regulating ligand binding by PPAR-gamma. *Nature* (1998) 396:377–80. doi:10.1038/24634
- Bugge A, Grontved L, Aagaard MM, Borup R, Mandrup S. The PPARgamma2 A/B-domain plays a gene-specific role in transactivation and cofactor recruitment. *Mol Endocrinol* (2009) 23:794–808. doi:10.1210/me.2008-0236
- Gelman L, Zhou G, Fajas L, Raspé E, Fruchart JC, Auwerx J. p300 interacts with the N- and C-terminal part of PPARgamma2 in a ligand-independent and -dependent manner, respectively. *J Biol Chem* (1999) 274:7681–8. doi:10.1074/jbc.274.12.7681
- Takahashi Y, Ohoka N, Hayashi H, Sato R. TRB3 suppresses adipocyte differentiation by negatively regulating PPARgamma transcriptional activity. *J Lipid Res* (2008) 49:880–92. doi:10.1194/jlr.M700545-JLR200
- Bugge A, Mandrup S. Molecular mechanisms and genome-wide aspects of PPAR subtype specific transactivation. PPAR Res (2010) 2010. doi:10.1155/ 2010/169506
- Rangwala SM, Rhoades B, Shapiro JS, Rich AS, Kim JK, Shulman GI, et al. Genetic modulation of PPARgamma phosphorylation regulates insulin sensitivity. *Dev Cell* (2003) 5:657–63. doi:10.1016/S1534-5807(03)00274-0
- Ristow M, Muller-Wieland D, Pfeiffer A, Krone W, Kahn CR. Obesity associated with a mutation in a genetic regulator of adipocyte differentiation. *N Engl J Med* (1998) 339:953–9. doi:10.1056/NEJM199810013391403
- Savage DB, Agostini M, Barroso I, Gurnell M, Luan J, Meirhaeghe A, et al. Digenic inheritance of severe insulin resistance in a human pedigree. *Nat Genet* (2002) 31:379–84. doi:10.1038/ng926
- Aagaard MM, Siersbaek R, Mandrup S. Molecular basis for gene-specific transactivation by nuclear receptors. *Biochim Biophys Acta* (2011) 1812: 824–35. doi:10.1016/j.bbadis.2010.12.018
- Umesono K, Giguere V, Glass CK, Rosenfeld MG, Evans RM. Retinoic acid and thyroid hormone induce gene expression through a common responsive element. *Nature* (1988) 336:262–5. doi:10.1038/336262a0
- Hummasti S, Tontonoz P. The peroxisome proliferator-activated receptor N-terminal domain controls isotype-selective gene expression and adipogenesis. *Mol Endocrinol* (2006) 20:1261–75. doi:10.1210/me.2006-0025
- Tontonoz P, Graves RA, Budavari AI, Erdjument-Bromage H, Lui M, Hu E, et al. Adipocyte-specific transcription factor ARF6 is a heterodimeric complex of two nuclear hormone receptors, PPAR gamma and RXR alpha. *Nucleic Acids Res* (1994) 22:5628–34. doi:10.1093/nar/22.25.5628
- Okuno M, Arimoto E, Ikenobu Y, Nishihara T, Imagawa M. Dual DNAbinding specificity of peroxisome-proliferator-activated receptor gamma controlled by heterodimer formation with retinoid X receptor alpha. *Biochem* J (2001) 353:193–8. doi:10.1042/bj3530193
- 32. Temple KA, Cohen RN, Wondisford SR, Yu C, Deplewski D, Wondisford FE. An intact DNA-binding domain is not required for peroxisome proliferatoractivated receptor gamma (PPARgamma) binding and activation on some PPAR response elements. *J Biol Chem* (2005) 280:3529–40. doi:10.1074/jbc. M411422200
- 33. Nielsen R, Pedersen TA, Hagenbeek D, Moulos P, Siersbaek R, Megens E, et al. Genome-wide profiling of PPARgamma:RXR and RNA polymerase II occupancy reveals temporal activation of distinct metabolic pathways and changes in RXR dimer composition during adipogenesis. *Genes Dev* (2008) 22:2953–67. doi:10.1101/gad.501108
- 34. Nakachi Y, Yagi K, Nikaido I, Bono H, Tonouchi M, Schönbach C, et al. Identification of novel PPARgamma target genes by integrated analysis of ChIP-on-chip and microarray expression data during adipocyte differentiation. *Biochem Biophys Res Commun* (2008) 372:362–6. doi:10.1016/j.bbrc. 2008.05.037
- 35. Hamza MS, Pott S, Vega VB, Thomsen JS, Kandhadayar GS, Ng PW, et al. De-novo identification of PPARgamma/RXR binding sites and direct

targets during adipogenesis. PLoS One (2009) 4:e4907. doi:10.1371/journal. pone.0004907

- 36. Juge-Aubry C, Pernin A, Favez T, Burger AG, Wahli W, Meier CA, et al. DNA binding properties of peroxisome proliferator-activated receptor subtypes on various natural peroxisome proliferator response elements. Importance of the 5'-flanking region. *J Biol Chem* (1997) 272:25252–9. doi:10.1074/ jbc.272.40.25252
- Palmer CN, Hsu MH, Griffin HJ, Johnson EF. Novel sequence determinants in peroxisome proliferator signaling. *J Biol Chem* (1995) 270:16114–21. doi:10.1074/jbc.270.27.16114
- Isakova A, Berset Y, Hatzimanikatis V, Deplancke B. Quantification of cooperativity in heterodimer-DNA binding improves the accuracy of binding specificity models. *J Biol Chem* (2016) 291:10293–306. doi:10.1074/jbc. M115.691154
- Lefterova MI, Zhang Y, Steger DJ, Schupp M, Schug J, Cristancho A, et al. PPARgamma and C/EBP factors orchestrate adipocyte biology via adjacent binding on a genome-wide scale. *Genes Dev* (2008) 22:2941–52. doi:10.1101/ gad.1709008
- Grossman SR, Zhang X, Wang L, Engreitz J, Melnikov A, Rogov P, et al. Systematic dissection of genomic features determining transcription factor binding and enhancer function. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* (2017) 114:E1291–300. doi:10.1073/pnas.1621150114
- Siersbæk R, Nielsen R, John S, Sung MH, Baek S, Loft A, et al. Extensive chromatin remodelling and establishment of transcription factor 'hotspots' during early adipogenesis. *EMBO J* (2011) 30:1459–72. doi:10.1038/emboj.2011.65
- Schupp M, Lazar MA. Endogenous ligands for nuclear receptors: digging deeper. J Biol Chem (2010) 285:40409–15. doi:10.1074/jbc.R110.182451
- Yu K, Bayona W, Kallen CB, Harding HP, Ravera CP, McMahon G, et al. Differential activation of peroxisome proliferator-activated receptors by eicosanoids. J Biol Chem (1995) 270:23975–83. doi:10.1074/jbc.270.41.23975
- Kliewer SA, Lenhard JM, Willson TM, Patel I, Morris DC, Lehmann JM. A prostaglandin J2 metabolite binds peroxisome proliferator-activated receptor gamma and promotes adipocyte differentiation. *Cell* (1995) 83:813–9. doi:10.1016/0092-8674(95)90194-9
- Forman BM, Tontonoz P, Chen J, Brun RP, Spiegelman BM, Evans RM. 15-Deoxy-delta 12, 14-prostaglandin J2 is a ligand for the adipocyte determination factor PPAR gamma. *Cell* (1995) 83:803–12. doi:10.1016/0092-8674(95)90193-0
- Lehmann JM, Lenhard JM, Oliver BB, Ringold GM, Kliewer SA. Peroxisome proliferator-activated receptors alpha and gamma are activated by indomethacin and other non-steroidal anti-inflammatory drugs. *J Biol Chem* (1997) 272:3406–10. doi:10.1074/jbc.272.6.3406
- 47. Den Broeder MJ, Kopylova VA, Kamminga LM, Legler J. Zebrafish as a model to study the role of peroxisome proliferating-activated receptors in adipogenesis and obesity. *PPAR Res* (2015) 2015:358029. doi:10.1155/2015/358029
- Bell-Parikh LC, Ide T, Lawson JA, McNamara P, Reilly M, FitzGerald GA. Biosynthesis of 15-deoxy-delta12,14-PGJ2 and the ligation of PPARgamma. *J Clin Invest* (2003) 112:945–55. doi:10.1172/JCI200318012
- Schopfer FJ, Lin Y, Baker PR, Cui T, Garcia-Barrio M, Zhang J, et al. Nitrolinoleic acid: an endogenous peroxisome proliferator-activated receptor gamma ligand. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* (2005) 102:2340–5. doi:10.1073/ pnas.0408384102
- Baker PR, Lin Y, Schopfer FJ, Woodcock SR, Groeger AL, Batthyany C, et al. Fatty acid transduction of nitric oxide signaling: multiple nitrated unsaturated fatty acid derivatives exist in human blood and urine and serve as endogenous peroxisome proliferator-activated receptor ligands. *J Biol Chem* (2005) 280:42464–75. doi:10.1074/jbc.M504212200
- Larsen TM, Toubro S, Astrup A. PPARgamma agonists in the treatment of type II diabetes: is increased fatness commensurate with long-term efficacy? *Int J Obes Relat Metab Disord* (2003) 27:147–61. doi:10.1038/sj.ijo.802223
- Hampp C, Pippins J. Pioglitazone and bladder cancer: FDA's assessment. *Pharmacoepidemiol Drug Saf* (2017) 26:117–8. doi:10.1002/pds.4154
- Derosa G, Sahebkar A, Maffioli P. The role of various peroxisome proliferator-activated receptors and their ligands in clinical practice. *J Cell Physiol* (2017). doi:10.1002/jcp.25804
- Lehmann JM, Moore LB, Smith-Oliver TA, Wilkison WO, Willson TM, Kliewer SA, et al. An antidiabetic thiazolidinedione is a high affinity ligand for peroxisome proliferator-activated receptor gamma (PPAR gamma). *J Biol Chem* (1995) 270:12953–6. doi:10.1074/jbc.270.22.12953

- Giannini S, Serio M, Galli A. Pleiotropic effects of thiazolidinediones: taking a look beyond antidiabetic activity. *J Endocrinol Invest* (2004) 27:982–91. doi:10.1007/BF03347546
- Flynn EJ III, Trent CM, Rawls JF. Ontogeny and nutritional control of adipogenesis in zebrafish (*Danio rerio*). J Lipid Res (2009) 50:1641–52. doi:10.1194/ jlr.M800590-JLR200
- Song Y, Cone RD. Creation of a genetic model of obesity in a teleost. FASEB J (2007) 21:2042–9. doi:10.1096/fj.06-7503com
- Imrie D, Sadler KC. White adipose tissue development in zebrafish is regulated by both developmental time and fish size. *Dev Dyn* (2010) 239:3013–23. doi:10.1002/dvdy.22443
- Minchin JE, Rawls JF. In vivo imaging and quantification of regional adiposity in zebrafish. *Methods Cell Biol* (2017) 138:3–27. doi:10.1016/bs.mcb. 2016.11.010
- Minchin JE, Dahlman I, Harvey CJ, Mejhert N, Singh MK, Epstein JA, et al. Plexin D1 determines body fat distribution by regulating the type V collagen microenvironment in visceral adipose tissue. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* (2015) 112:4363–8. doi:10.1073/pnas.1416412112
- McMenamin SK, Minchin JE, Gordon TN, Rawls JF, Parichy DM. Dwarfism and increased adiposity in the gh1 mutant zebrafish vizzini. *Endocrinology* (2013) 154:1476–87. doi:10.1210/en.2012-1734
- Zhao Y, Zhang K, Giesy JP, Hu J. Families of nuclear receptors in vertebrate models: characteristic and comparative toxicological perspective. *Sci Rep* (2015) 5:8554. doi:10.1038/srep08554
- Lima D, Castro LF, Coelho I, Lacerda R, Gesto M, Soares J, et al. Effects of tributyltin and other retinoid receptor agonists in reproductive-related endpoints in the zebrafish (*Danio rerio*). *J Toxicol Environ Health A* (2015) 78:747–60. doi:10.1080/15287394.2015.1028301
- Boyer IJ. Toxicity of dibutyltin, tributyltin and other organotin compounds to humans and to experimental animals. *Toxicology* (1989) 55:253–98. doi:10.1016/0300-483X(89)90018-8
- 65. Riu A, Grimaldi M, le Maire A, Bey G, Phillips K, Boulahtouf A, et al. Peroxisome proliferator-activated receptor gamma is a target for halogenated analogs of bisphenol A. *Environ Health Perspect* (2011) 119:1227–32. doi:10.1289/ehp.1003328
- 66. Ibabe A, Herrero A, Cajaraville MP. Modulation of peroxisome proliferatoractivated receptors (PPARs) by PPAR(alpha)- and PPAR(gamma)-specific ligands and by 17beta-estradiol in isolated zebrafish hepatocytes. *Toxicol In Vitro* (2005) 19:725–35. doi:10.1016/j.tiv.2005.03.019
- Tiefenbach J, Moll PR, Nelson MR, Hu C, Baev L, Kislinger T, et al. A live zebrafishbased screening system for human nuclear receptor ligand and cofactor discovery. *PLoS One* (2010) 5:e9797. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0009797
- Tingaud-Sequeira A, Ouadah N, Babin PJ. Zebrafish obesogenic test: a tool for screening molecules that target adiposity. *J Lipid Res* (2011) 52:1765–72. doi:10.1194/jlr.D017012
- 69. Wang X, Huang M, Wang Y. The effect of insulin, TNFalpha and DHA on the proliferation, differentiation and lipolysis of preadipocytes isolated from large yellow croaker (Pseudosciaena Crocea R.). *PLoS One* (2012) 7:e48069. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0048069
- Bostock J, McAndrew B, Richards R, Jauncey K, Telfer T, Lorenzen K, et al. Aquaculture: global status and trends. *Philos Trans R Soc Lond B Biol Sci* (2010) 365:2897–912. doi:10.1098/rstb.2010.0170
- Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations (FAO). The State of World Fisheries and Aquaculture 2016. Contributing to Food Security and Nutrition for All. Rome (2016). 200 p.
- Near TJ, Eytan RI, Dornburg A, Kuhn KL, Moore JA, Davis MP, et al. Resolution of ray-finned fish phylogeny and timing of diversification. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* (2012) 109:13698–703. doi:10.1073/pnas.1206625109
- Braasch I, Peterson SM, Desvignes T, McCluskey BM, Batzel P, Postlethwait JH. A new model army: emerging fish models to study the genomics of vertebrate Evo-Devo. J Exp Zool B Mol Dev Evol (2015) 324:316–41. doi:10.1002/ jez.b.22589
- 74. Salmeron C, Acerete L, Gutierrez J, Navarro I, Capilla E. Characterization and endocrine regulation of proliferation and differentiation of primary cultured preadipocytes from gilthead sea bream (*Sparus aurata*). *Domest Anim Endocrinol* (2013) 45:1–10. doi:10.1016/j.domaniend.2013.02.002
- Santini F, Harmon LJ, Carnevale G, Alfaro ME. Did genome duplication drive the origin of teleosts? A comparative study of diversification in ray-finned fishes. *BMC Evol Biol* (2009) 9:194. doi:10.1186/1471-2148-9-194

- Berthelot C, Brunet F, Chalopin D, Juanchich A, Bernard M, Noël B, et al. The rainbow trout genome provides novel insights into evolution after wholegenome duplication in vertebrates. *Nat Commun* (2014) 5:3657. doi:10.1038/ ncomms4657
- Lien S, Koop BF, Sandve SR, Miller JR, Kent MP, Nome T, et al. The Atlantic salmon genome provides insights into rediploidization. *Nature* (2016) 533:200–5. doi:10.1038/nature17164
- Xu P, Zhang X, Wang X, Li J, Liu G, Kuang Y, et al. Genome sequence and genetic diversity of the common carp, *Cyprinus carpio. Nat Genet* (2014) 46:1212–9. doi:10.1038/ng.3098
- Aken BL, Achuthan P, Akanni W, Amode MR, Bernsdorff F, Bhai J, et al. Ensembl 2017. Nucleic Acids Res (2017) 45:D635–42. doi:10.1093/nar/ gkw1104
- Oku H, Umino T. Molecular characterization of peroxisome proliferator-activated receptors (PPARs) and their gene expression in the differentiating adipocytes of red sea bream *Pagrus major. Comp Biochem Physiol B Biochem Mol Biol* (2008) 151:268–77. doi:10.1016/j.cbpb.2008.07.007
- He AY, Liu CZ, Chen LQ, Ning LJ, Qin JG, Li JM, et al. Molecular characterization, transcriptional activity and nutritional regulation of peroxisome proliferator activated receptor gamma in Nile tilapia (*Oreochromis niloticus*). *Gen Comp Endocrinol* (2015) 223:139–47. doi:10.1016/j.ygcen.2015.05.008
- Leaver MJ, Boukouvala E, Antonopoulou E, Diez A, Favre-Krey L, Ezaz MT, et al. Three peroxisome proliferator-activated receptor isotypes from each of two species of marine fish. *Endocrinology* (2005) 146:3150–62. doi:10.1210/ en.2004-1638
- Salmeron C, Riera-Heredia N, Gutierrez J, Navarro I, Capilla E. Adipogenic gene expression in Gilthead Sea Bream mesenchymal stem cells from different origin. *Front Endocrinol* (2016) 7:113. doi:10.3389/fendo.2016.00113
- Vegusdal A, Sundvold H, Gjoen T, Ruyter B. An in vitro method for studying the proliferation and differentiation of Atlantic salmon preadipocytes. *Lipids* (2003) 38:289–96. doi:10.1007/s11745-003-1063-3
- Todorcević M, Vegusdal A, Gjøen T, Sundvold H, Torstensen BE, Kjaer MA, et al. Changes in fatty acids metabolism during differentiation of Atlantic salmon preadipocytes; effects of n-3 and n-9 fatty acids. *Biochim Biophys Acta* (2008) 1781:326–35. doi:10.1016/j.bbalip.2008.04.014
- Liu P, Ji H, Li C, Tian J, Wang Y, Yu P, et al. Ontogenetic development of adipose tissue in grass carp (*Ctenopharyngodon idellus*). Fish Physiol Biochem (2015) 41:867–78. doi:10.1007/s10695-015-0053-x
- Todorcevic M, Skugor S, Krasnov A, Ruyter B. Gene expression profiles in Atlantic salmon adipose-derived stromo-vascular fraction during differentiation into adipocytes. *BMC Genomics* (2010) 11:39. doi:10.1186/1471-2164-11-39
- Chawla A, Schwarz EJ, Dimaculangan DD, Lazar MA. Peroxisome proliferatoractivated receptor (PPAR) gamma: adipose-predominant expression and induction early in adipocyte differentiation. *Endocrinology* (1994) 135:798–800. doi:10.1210/endo.135.2.8033830
- Cheng Y, Chen H. Effects of different fatty acids on cell differentiation and lipid accumulation in preadipocytes of warm water fish cobia (*Rachycentron canadum* Linnaeus, 1766). *Aquac Res* (2015) 46:590–601. doi:10.1111/ are.12204
- Andersen O, Eijsink VG, Thomassen M. Multiple variants of the peroxisome proliferator-activated receptor (PPAR) gamma are expressed in the liver of atlantic salmon (*Salmo salar*). *Gene* (2000) 255:411–8. doi:10.1016/S0378-1119(00)00350-4
- Sundvold H, Ruyter B, Ostbye TK, Moen T. Identification of a novel allele of peroxisome proliferator-activated receptor gamma (PPARG) and its association with resistance to *Aeromonas salmonicida* in Atlantic salmon (*Salmo salar*). *Fish Shellfish Immunol* (2010) 28:394–400. doi:10.1016/j. fsi.2009.11.023
- 92. Oku H, Tokuda M, Okumura T, Umino T. Effects of insulin, triiodothyronine and fat soluble vitamins on adipocyte differentiation and LPL gene expression in the stromal-vascular cells of red sea bream, *Pagrus major*. *Comp Biochem Physiol B Biochem Mol Biol* (2006) 144:326–33. doi:10.1016/j. cbpb.2006.03.008
- Bouraoui L, Gutierrez J, Navarro I. Regulation of proliferation and differentiation of adipocyte precursor cells in rainbow trout (*Oncorhynchus mykiss*). *J Endocrinol* (2008) 198:459–69. doi:10.1677/JOE-08-0264
- Li Y. Establishment and evaluation of a new model for studying lipogenesis in grass carp (*Ctenopharyngodon idella*) preadipocytes. *In Vitro Cell Dev Biol Anim* (2012) 48:37–42. doi:10.1007/s11626-011-9474-8
- Ruiz-Ojeda FJ, Ruperez AI, Gomez-Llorente C, Gil A, Aguilera CM. Cell models and their application for studying adipogenic differentiation in relation to obesity: a review. *Int J Mol Sci* (2016) 17. doi:10.3390/ijms17071040
- Poulos SP, Hausman GJ. A comparison of thiazolidinedione-induced adipogenesis and myogenesis in stromal-vascular cells from subcutaneous adipose tissue or semitendinosus muscle of postnatal pigs. J Anim Sci (2006) 84:1076–82. doi:10.2527/2006.8451076x
- Brown JM, Halvorsen YD, Lea-Currie YR, Geigerman C, McIntosh M. Trans-10, cis-12, but not cis-9, trans-11, conjugated linoleic acid attenuates lipogenesis in primary cultures of stromal vascular cells from human adipose tissue. J Nutr (2001) 131:2316–21.
- Bouraoui L, Cruz-Garcia L, Gutierrez J, Capilla E, Navarro I. Regulation of lipoprotein lipase gene expression by insulin and troglitazone in rainbow trout (*Oncorhynchus mykiss*) adipocyte cells in culture. *Comp Biochem Physiol A Mol Integr Physiol* (2012) 161:83–8. doi:10.1016/j.cbpa.2011.09.008
- Boney CM, Gruppuso PA, Faris RA, Frackelton AR Jr. The critical role of Shc in insulin-like growth factor-I-mediated mitogenesis and differentiation in 3T3-L1 preadipocytes. *Mol Endocrinol* (2000) 14:805–13. doi:10.1210/ mend.14.6.0487
- 100. Rieusset J, Andreelli F, Auboeuf D, Roques M, Vallier P, Riou JP, et al. Insulin acutely regulates the expression of the peroxisome proliferatoractivated receptor-gamma in human adipocytes. *Diabetes* (1999) 48:699–705. doi:10.2337/diabetes.48.4.699
- Albalat A, Gutierrez J, Navarro I. Regulation of lipolysis in isolated adipocytes of rainbow trout (*Oncorhynchus mykiss*): the role of insulin and glucagon. *Comp Biochem Physiol A Mol Integr Physiol* (2005) 142:347–54. doi:10.1016/j. cbpa.2005.08.006
- 102. Bouraoui L, Capilla E, Gutierrez J, Navarro I. Insulin and insulin-like growth factor I signaling pathways in rainbow trout (*Oncorhynchus* mykiss) during adipogenesis and their implication in glucose uptake. *Am J Physiol Regul Integr Comp Physiol* (2010) 299:R33-41. doi:10.1152/ ajpregu.00457.2009
- 103. Albalat A, Gómez-Requeni P, Rojas P, Médale F, Kaushik S, Vianen GJ, et al. Nutritional and hormonal control of lipolysis in isolated gilthead seabream

(Sparus aurata) adipocytes. Am J Physiol Regul Integr Comp Physiol (2005) 289:R259-65. doi:10.1152/ajpregu.00574.2004

- Cawthorn WP, Sethi JK. TNF-alpha and adipocyte biology. FEBS Lett (2008) 582:117–31. doi:10.1016/j.febslet.2007.11.051
- 105. Bou M, Todorčević M, Rodríguez J, Capilla E, Gutiérrez J, Navarro I. Interplay of adiponectin, TNFalpha and insulin on gene expression, glucose uptake and PPARgamma, AKT and TOR pathways in rainbow trout cultured adipocytes. *Gen Comp Endocrinol* (2014) 205:218–25. doi:10.1016/j.ygcen.2014.05.005
- 106. Awad AB, Begdache LA, Fink CS. Effect of sterols and fatty acids on growth and triglyceride accumulation in 3T3-L1 cells. J Nutr Biochem (2000) 11:153–8. doi:10.1016/S0955-2863(99)00087-X
- 107. Hensler M, Bardova K, Jilkova ZM, Wahli W, Meztger D, Chambon P, et al. The inhibition of fat cell proliferation by n-3 fatty acids in dietary obese mice. *Lipids Health Dis* (2011) 10:128. doi:10.1186/1476-511X-10-128
- Kim HK, Della-Fera M, Lin J, Baile CA. Docosahexaenoic acid inhibits adipocyte differentiation and induces apoptosis in 3T3-L1 preadipocytes. *J Nutr* (2006) 136:2965–9.
- Carmona-Antonanzas G, Tocher DR, Martinez-Rubio L, Leaver MJ. Conservation of lipid metabolic gene transcriptional regulatory networks in fish and mammals. *Gene* (2014) 534:1–9. doi:10.1016/j.gene.2013.10.040
- Li AC, Glass CK. PPAR- and LXR-dependent pathways controlling lipid metabolism and the development of atherosclerosis. *J Lipid Res* (2004) 45:2161–73. doi:10.1194/jlr.R400010-JLR200

Conflict of Interest Statement: These authors declare no commercial or financial activities that may act as potential conflicts of interest.

Copyright © 2017 Wafer, Tandon and Minchin. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) or licensor are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





Modeling Pancreatic Endocrine Cell Adaptation and Diabetes in the Zebrafish

Lisette A. Maddison and Wenbiao Chen*

Department of Molecular Physiology and Biophysics, Vanderbilt University School of Medicine, Nashville, TN, USA

Glucose homeostasis is an important element of energy balance and is conserved in organisms from fruit fly to mammals. Central to the control of circulating glucose levels in vertebrates are the endocrine cells of the pancreas, particularly the insulin-producing β -cells and the glucagon producing α -cells. A feature of α - and β -cells is their plasticity, an ability to adapt, in function and number as a response to physiological and pathophysiological conditions of increased hormone demand. The molecular mechanisms underlying these adaptive responses that maintain glucose homeostasis are incompletely defined. The zebrafish is an attractive model due to the low cost, high fecundity, and amenability to genetic and compound screens, and mechanisms governing the development of the pancreatic endocrine cells are conserved between zebrafish and mammals. Post development, both β - and α -cells of zebrafish display plasticity as in mammals. Here, we summarize the studies of pancreatic endocrine cell adaptation in zebrafish. We further explore the utility of the zebrafish as a model for diabetes, a relevant topic considering the increase in diabetes in the human population.

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Yong Zhu, East Carolina University, USA

Reviewed by:

Amnon Schlegel, University of Utah, USA Mary Kinkel, Appalachian State University, USA

*Correspondence: Wenbiao Chen wenbiao.chen@vanderbilt.edu

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Experimental Endocrinology, a section of the journal Frontiers in Endocrinology

Received: 29 November 2016 Accepted: 11 January 2017 Published: 26 January 2017

Citation:

Maddison LA and Chen W (2017) Modeling Pancreatic Endocrine Cell Adaptation and Diabetes in the Zebrafish. Front. Endocrinol. 8:9. doi: 10.3389/fendo.2017.00009 Keywords: zebrafish, glucose homeostasis, β -cell, α -cell, plasticity, regeneration

INTRODUCTION

Glucose homeostasis is a central physiological mechanism important to maintain proper energy balance and cellular function. While the bulk of the information concerning glucose homeostasis comes from studies in mammals, homeostatic mechanisms are active in many organisms including teleost fish [reviewed in Ref. (1)], which underscores the importance of maintaining tight control of circulating glucose. Maintenance of glucose homeostasis is a coordinated effort between multiple organ systems including the brain, skeletal muscle, liver, and the pancreatic endocrine cells. By appropriately secreting glucose, respectively, the pancreatic α - and β -cells play a central role in glucose homeostasis is still maintained through increased function and number of α - or β -cells. The regulatory mechanisms of this adaptation or compensation, particularly the compensatory increase of cell number, are not fully defined.

The zebrafish has been firmly established as an attractive animal model to explore questions in developmental biology. This has been aided by the low cost, high fecundity traits of the model (2) as well as the optical transparency (3–6), ease of genome manipulation (7–10), and the amenability toward small molecule screens (11–13). These attractive traits of zebrafish have also inspired investigators to study other biological questions including glucose homeostasis.

GLUCOSE HOMEOSTASIS IN ZEBRAFISH

The systems regulating glucose homeostasis in zebrafish are similar to those of mammals in composition, ontogeny, and function. As in mammals, glucose homeostasis in zebrafish involves brain, skeletal muscle, liver, and the pancreatic endocrine cells. For example, the glucose transporter Glut2 has been found to be critical for proper brain development (14) supporting the importance of appropriate glucose control in the brain. In skeletal muscle, glucose transporters are present (15) and glucose uptake has been found to be insulin sensitive (16), suggesting that like in mammals, skeletal muscle is a major site of glucose disposal. The liver has a critical function in glucose homeostasis as it both uses and produces glucose. Gluconeogenesis is dynamically regulated in the zebrafish liver (17), and glucose-regulated pck promoter activity has been leveraged to screen for compounds that impact glucose production (18). Furthermore, risk alleles for altered fasting blood glucose in humans have been found to increase gluconeogenesis in the liver (19). This again supports the conservation of regulatory pathways of glucose homeostasis. Coordinating many aspects of glucose homeostasis are the pancreatic endocrine cells. Of primary focus has been the insulinproducing β -cells and the glucagon-producing α -cells. In the zebrafish, these cells are present as early as 1 day post fertilization and their development is regulated by pathways similar to those for mammals (20-22). The conservation of glucose homeostasis system between zebrafish and mammals supports that zebrafish is a relevant model to study mechanisms of glucose homeostasis, including aspects of pancreatic endocrine cell biology.

PROMOTING β-CELL PROLIFERATION AND DIFFERENTIATION IN LARVAL STAGES WITH SMALL MOLECULES: LINEAGES AND PATHWAYS

Replenishing the β -cell mass has been an active area of investigation for many years as approaches to treat both type 1 and type 2 diabetes. To increase β -cells in adults, often the approach is to manipulate pathways active during development. But there is also a need to understand the mechanisms that promote an increase of β -cells post development, either through neogenesis or through increased proliferation as different mechanisms may be active for adaption to changes in physiology. In embryonic and early larval stages, the pancreatic endocrine cells are primarily coalesced in a single large islet referred to as the principal islet (23). At later larval stages, additional secondary islets are present (24). These secondary islets arise from centroacinar cells in the pancreatic duct (24-28). These cells are Notch sensitive (24, 25, 28) and express markers of endocrine precursors including Nkx6.1 (26) and Nkx2.2 (25). Inducing formation of secondary islets as a way to uncover pathways important in stages beyond early development was the basis of a compound screen (29, 30) and a component of another large-scale screen (30). These screens took advantage of the optical transparency of the zebrafish and transgenic lines that mark the pancreatic endocrine cells. The first screen revealed an important role for retinoic acid signaling in the

differentiation of endocrine progenitors (29). Follow-up studies have shown this pathway is functionally conserved in humans (31) and that retinoic acid signaling regulated Sox9b (32), an important transcription factor in endocrine cell differentiation (33). The high-throughput screen was based on increasing endocrine cells in both the principal and secondary islets and yielded several candidate pathways controlling endocrine cell differentiation including NFkB signaling and serotonin signaling (30). Both screens captured changes in both proliferation of endocrine cells and differentiation of precursors. Another compound screen aimed solely to increase β -cell proliferation (34) and relied on expression of markers indicative of the different phases of the cell cycle (35). This screen also identified retinoic acid and serotonin signaling, as well as glucocorticoids, as regulators of proliferation (34). These compound-screening approaches identified both molecules with functions in development, such as Sox9, and also pathways such as serotonin and NFkB which likely also function in post-developmental stages. Ultimately, these compound screening approaches using zebrafish may provide molecules that can be targeted to increase β -cell mass as a treatment for adults with diabetes.

PANCREATIC ENDOCRINE CELL PLASTICITY IN RESPONSE TO INSUFFICIENT HORMONE ACTION

Proper development of the pancreatic endocrine cells is unquestionably crucial to establish homeostatic control. But equally important is understanding the underlying mechanisms that allow adaptation to different physiological stresses, in other words, plasticity. For example, in mammals, the β -cell mass increases during pregnancy (36, 37), with high-fat diet in mice (38-40), and in non-diabetic obese humans (41, 42). With obesity the increase in β -cell mass is an adaptive mechanism to compensate for insulin resistance (43). In type 2 diabetic obese patients, the β -cell mass is decreased compared to non-diabetic counterparts (41, 44), which has been attributed to β -cell death or dedifferentiation, in other words, the loss of β -cell identity (45–47). Zebrafish have been shown to also have β -cell compensatory responses. For example, in states of overnutrition, through culturing in glucose solution or in chicken egg yolk emulsion, the number of β -cells increases (48–53). This treatment also causes β -cell increase in older larvae (52). In juvenile fish, a high calorie diet can promote β -cell proliferation and secondary islet formation (54), indicating that the overnutrition-induced β -cell expansion is not limited only to early larval stages. The compensatory increase in β-cells did not occur with intermittent exposure to the same diets, as would be found in meal-type feeding (52). Consistent with overnutrition as the trigger for the compensatory response, the expansion of the β -cells has been found to be dependent on the nutrient-secretion coupling apparatus in preexisting β -cells (49). Stimulating β -cell secretion through pharmacologic or genetic means increased the number of β -cells in the absence of overnutrition (49). Conversely, reducing β -cell activity inhibited the β -cell expansion in the presence of overnutrition (49). The rapid expansion of β -cells was not through stimulation of β -cell proliferation (49, 52) based on incorporation of EdU, which suggested differentiation of resident precursors. Lineage tracing experiments indicated that these new cells did not arise from the centroacinar cells in the pancreatic duct (50) but arise from cells with mnx1 and nkx2.2 promoter activity (50, 52) likely residing within the principal islet. The non-canonically secreted FGF1 has been proposed to be a candidate molecule stimulating differentiation of these resident endocrine precursors (50). Mutation of fgf1 abolished the overnutrition-induced β -cell expansion but did not alter the baseline β -cell number, and this could be rescued through transgenic expression of human FGF1 (50). Furthermore, when FGF1 was altered to allow for secretion through the canonical secretion pathway, the basal number of β-cells was increased without overnutrition stimulation (50). Intact leptin signaling is important for these responses (53) as leptin receptor mutant larvae had a higher number of β-cells developmentally but did not increase number of β-cells with high-fat diet feeding. In addition, blocking insulin expression through morpholino injection or through expression of a dominant-negative IRS2 protein increased the number of β -cells during embryonic stages (55). Furthermore, in adult fish with skeletal muscle insulin resistance, there was an initial increase in the number of β -cells (16). These studies suggest that with an increased need for insulin function, either due to elevated nutrient intake or through inhibition of insulin signaling, zebrafish increase the number of β -cells as an adaptive mechanism, similar to what has been observed in mammals. These conserved responses indicate that zebrafish are a useful model to study β -cell adaptive mechanisms, and with the utility of zebrafish in genetic and pharmacological approaches, the role of candidate molecules, such as FGF1, can be rapidly assessed.

Although β -cells are often the focus in glucose homeostasis, the glucagon-producing α -cells also have an important role in modulating glucose production. Glucagon acts as a counterregulatory hormone to insulin, and modulating glucagon signaling is becoming an increasingly attractive approach for diabetic treatments (56). It has been found in mice that the number of α -cells increases with blockade of glucagon signaling either by knocking out glucagon, the glucagon receptor, or Gsα, or by impairing glucagon receptor function with antagonists or monoclonal antibody treatment (57–61). With the β -cells, this suggests an adaptive response to the decreased effectiveness of glucagon. This is also true in zebrafish, where mutation of the two glucagon receptors resulted in an increased number of α -cells (62). The adaptive responses to nutritional or hormonal status in both β -cells and α -cells reflect conservation of metabolic responses between mammals and zebrafish. This further indicates that pathways and molecules identified in zebrafish may indeed be relevant to mammals.

ROBUST β -CELL REGENERATION FOLLOWING ABLATION

Another aspect of the plasticity of pancreatic endocrine cells is regeneration following ablation. Zebrafish has tremendous regenerative capacities, including the β -cells. Similar to compensatory increase of β -cell mass, ablation-induced regeneration is also a response to unmet insulin demand, inferred by the high free glucose levels following ablation (25, 34, 63, 64) and underscores the conservation of β -cell function in zebrafish. Most commonly in zebrafish, β -cells are ablated through β -cell-specific expression of bacterial nitroreductase that converts the prodrug metronidazole to a genotoxic metabolite, resulting in death of the cells (65). There have been other approaches however, including inducible expression of a truncated Bid protein, tBid (49), and mosaic expression of diphtheria toxin (DTA) (66) in larval zebrafish as well as streptozotocin (STZ) treatment in adult fish (67, 68). β-cell regeneration occurs quickly following ablation (25, 65, 69, 70) and has been used as an approach to identify sources of new β -cells. Using lineage tracing in adult fish where β-cells were ablated through nitroreductase/metronidazole, it was determined that the centroacinar cells residing in the pancreatic duct are the primary source of new β -cells based on promoter activity of nkx6.1 (26) or through Notch responsiveness (25). Ablation of β -cells in larval zebrafish also identified that transdifferentiation of α -cells to β -cells contributes to regeneration (55, 63, 64). Using a combination of pharmacological and morpholino approaches, the α -cell transdifferentiation was found to be dependent on glucagon but not through the modulation of gluconeogenesis (64). This seems to differ from mouse where α - to β -cell transdifferentiation is independent of glucagon signaling (71). The secreted factor IGFBP1 has been found to also enhance α - to β -transdifferentiation following ablation (63). Regeneration following ablation has also been used to identify compounds that increase regeneration (70). This study identified a compound that activates adensosine GPCR to increase proliferation. Interestingly, this compound had a limited capacity to induce β -cell proliferation during development, which may reflect the difference between embryonic immature β -cells and mature β -cells. These studies provide important insights into the origins of and specific pathways leading to new β-cells and exemplify the plasticity of pancreatic endocrine cells. The ablation and recovery studies also exemplify the robust regenerative capacity of zebrafish that is not fully recapitulated in mammalian models. β -cell ablation in mouse using STZ, pancreatic ligation, and partial pancreatectomy causes less robust regeneration (72-77). Understanding the keys that confer the regenerative capacity of zebrafish may provide avenues to boost the regenerative potential in mammals.

MODELING DIABETES IN THE ZEBRAFISH

It is always of interest to produce an animal model that accurately reflects a human disease. While studies in zebrafish have been extremely useful to identify molecules, pathways, and cell types that contribute to the plasticity of the pancreatic endocrine cells, to date there have been no models that accurately reflect the life history of a human with diabetes. This is exclusive of models reflecting the maturity-onset forms of diabetes including targeting NeuroD that models MODY6 (78), Pdx1 that models MODY4 (48), and Hnf1ba that models MODY5 (79). However, these forms of diabetes are quite rare in the overall patient population (80). The approaches to mimic type 1 diabetes by ablating β -cells have highlighted the regenerative nature of zebrafish, and

hyperglycemia is quickly reversed. Although stable expression of DTA can eliminate all β -cells, these fish have growth retardation and fail to thrive (54). For modeling type 2 diabetes, genetically induced muscle insulin resistance using dominant-negative IGF1 receptor (dnIGFR) expression only resulted in glucose intolerance in aged fish but no elevation in fasting blood glucose (16). Likewise, mutation of insulin receptors specifically in the liver resulted in postprandial alterations in glucose (10) but fasting blood glucose was reduced, similar to the liver insulin receptor knockout mice (81). Overfeeding adult fish quickly results in increased fasting glucose (16, 82) but hyperglycemia was reversed by returning to normal feeding. Although zebrafish are glucose sensitive (16, 83), insulin resistance or overfeeding in and of itself may be insufficient to lead to gross dysfunction of glucose homeostasis. A better understanding of the physiology of glucose control in zebrafish is likely necessary for the development of a truly diabetic zebrafish.

Despite the current lack of a robust model for diabetes, the zebrafish stands to contribute to the understanding of the influence of T2D-associated genetic loci on β-cell mass. Genome-wide association studies have identified loci associated with diabetes risk. The challenge is to determine the relevance of these different loci to phenotypes including β -cell mass and β -cell function and further determine the genes that may be influenced by these loci. Given the genetic tractability, the ease of producing mutations via CRISPR/Cas9, and the proven islet cell plasticity, zebrafish are an extremely attractive model to investigate the role of these candidate loci. Recently, O'Hare et al. examined 67 candidate genes from GWAS studies using morpholino and CRISPR-based approaches (84). The impact on β -cell number and regeneration was assayed, and 25 genes that reduced β -cell number when mutated were found. This included genes previously known to influence β -cell number such as *pdx1* and *pax4* as well as some new genes such as *camk1d*. This study, as well as those using genes

REFERENCES

- Polakof S, Mommsen TP, Soengas JL. Glucosensing and glucose homeostasis: from fish to mammals. *Comp Biochem Physiol B Biochem Mol Biol* (2011) 160(4):123–49. doi:10.1016/j.cbpb.2011.07.006
- Kimmel CB, Ballard WW, Kimmel SR, Ullmann B, Schilling TF. Stages of embryonic development of the zebrafish. *Dev Dyn* (1995) 203(3):253–310. doi:10.1002/aja.1002030302
- Zeituni EM, Farber SA. Studying lipid metabolism and transport during zebrafish development. In: Kawakami K, Patton EE, Orger M, editors. Zebrafish: Methods and Protocols. New York, NY: Springer (2016). p. 237–55.
- Herrgen L, Schröter C, Bajard L, Oates AC. Multiple embryo time-lapse imaging of zebrafish development. In: Lieschke GJ, Oates AC, Kawakami K, editors. *Zebrafish: Methods and Protocols*. Totowa, NJ: Humana Press (2009). p. 243–54.
- Hall C, Flores MV, Crosier K, Crosier P. Live cell imaging of zebrafish leukocytes. In: Lieschke GJ, Oates AC, Kawakami K, editors. *Zebrafish: Methods and Protocols*. Totowa, NJ: Humana Press (2009). p. 255–71.
- Feierstein CE, Portugues R, Orger MB. Seeing the whole picture: a comprehensive imaging approach to functional mapping of circuits in behaving zebrafish. *Neuroscience* (2015) 296:26–38. doi:10.1016/j.neuroscience.2014.11.046
- Ni TT, Lu J, Zhu M, Maddison LA, Boyd KL, Huskey L, et al. Conditional control of gene function by an invertible gene trap in zebrafish. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* (2012) 109(38):15389–94. doi:10.1073/pnas.1206131109

underlying monogenic forms of diabetes, supports the utility of zebrafish as a model to study the genetic basis of the disease.

To date, all of the screening modalities have relied on measuring changes in the physical number of the β -cells. While secondary measures have also examined free glucose (30, 34, 84), no primary screen has been done to assay for β -cell function either in parallel or instead of changes in cell number. Approaches to achieve this end are currently lacking. Examining calcium signaling through expression of genetically encoded sensors of calcium activity is one approach that may be useful (85), although difficult to employ in a high-throughput screen. To fully understand the physiology of glucose control in the zebrafish, other assays should be developed, beyond those that rely on cell numbers and free glucose assays.

Given all these measures, studies using zebrafish clearly have contributed to the study of glucose homeostasis. From endocrine cell development, plasticity under different conditions, genetic susceptibility, to modeling diabetes, the zebrafish has and will continue to have utility. With the ever increasing number of patients with diabetes, applying as many resources and approaches can only serve to increase knowledge and provide new avenues for therapies.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

All authors listed have made substantial, direct, and intellectual contribution to the work and approved it for publication.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

This work was supported by the Vanderbilt Diabetes Research and Training Center, the National Institutes of Health DK088686 (WC), and the American Diabetes Association 1-13-BS-027 (WC).

- Yin L, Maddison LA, Chen W. Multiplex conditional mutagenesis in zebrafish using the CRISPR/Cas system. *Methods Cell Biol* (2016) 135:3–17. doi:10.1016/ bs.mcb.2016.04.018
- Kikuta H, Kawakami K. Transient and stable transgenesis using Tol2 transposon vectors. In: Lieschke GJ, Oates AC, Kawakami K, editors. *Zebrafish: Methods and Protocols*. Totowa, NJ: Humana Press (2009). p. 69–84.
- Yin L, Maddison LA, Li M, Kara N, LaFave MC, Varshney GK, et al. Multiplex conditional mutagenesis using transgenic expression of Cas9 and sgRNAs. *Genetics* (2015) 200(2):431–41. doi:10.1534/genetics.115. 176917
- White DT, Eroglu AU, Wang G, Zhang L, Sengupta S, Ding D, et al. ARQiv-HTS, a versatile whole-organism screening platform enabling in vivo drug discovery at high-throughput rates. *Nat Protoc* (2016) 11(12):2432–53. doi:10.1038/nprot.2016.142
- Dang M, Fogley R, Zon LI. Identifying novel cancer therapies using chemical genetics and zebrafish. In: Langenau DM, editor. *Cancer and Zebrafish: Mechanisms, Techniques, and Models.* Cham: Springer (2016). p. 103–24.
- Brady CA, Rennekamp AJ, Peterson RT. Chemical screening in zebrafish. In: Kawakami K, Patton EE, Orger M, editors. *Zebrafish: Methods and Protocols*. New York, NY: Springer (2016). p. 3–16.
- Marin-Juez R, Rovira M, Crespo D, van der Vaart M, Spaink HP, Planas JV. GLUT2-mediated glucose uptake and availability are required for embryonic brain development in zebrafish. J Cereb Blood Flow Metab (2015) 35(1):74–85. doi:10.1038/jcbfm.2014.171

- Planas JV, Capilla E, Gutierrez J. Molecular identification of a glucose transporter from fish muscle. *FEBS Lett* (2000) 481(3):266–70. doi:10.1016/ S0014-5793(00)02020-2
- Maddison LA, Joest KE, Kammeyer RM, Chen W. Skeletal muscle insulin resistance in zebrafish induces alterations in beta-cell number and glucose tolerance in an age- and diet-dependent manner. *Am J Physiol Endocrinol Metab* (2015) 308(8):E662–9. doi:10.1152/ajpendo.00441.2014
- Jurczyk A, Roy N, Bajwa R, Gut P, Lipson K, Yang C, et al. Dynamic glucoregulation and mammalian-like responses to metabolic and developmental disruption in zebrafish. *Gen Comp Endocrinol* (2010) 170(2):334–45. doi:10.1016/j. ygcen.2010.10.010
- Gut P, Baeza-Raja B, Andersson O, Hasenkamp L, Hsiao J, Hesselson D, et al. Whole-organism screening for gluconeogenesis identifies activators of fasting metabolism. *Nat Chem Biol* (2013) 9(2):97–104. doi:10.1038/nchembio.1136
- Karanth S, Zinkhan EK, Hill JT, Yost HJ, Schlegel A. FOXN3 regulates hepatic glucose utilization. *Cell Rep* (2016) 15(12):2745–55. doi:10.1016/ j.celrep.2016.05.056
- Kimmel RA, Meyer D. Molecular regulation of pancreas development in zebrafish. *Methods Cell Biol* (2010) 100:261–80. doi:10.1016/B978-0-12-384892-5.00010-4
- Kinkel MD, Prince VE. On the diabetic menu: zebrafish as a model for pancreas development and function. *Bioessays* (2009) 31(2):139–52. doi:10.1002/ bies.200800123
- Tehrani Z, Lin S. Endocrine pancreas development in zebrafish. Cell Cycle (2011) 10(20):3466–72. doi:10.4161/cc.10.20.17764
- Li Z, Wen C, Peng J, Korzh V, Gong Z. Generation of living color transgenic zebrafish to trace somatostatin-expressing cells and endocrine pancreas organization. *Differentiation* (2009) 77(2):128–34. doi:10.1016/j.diff.2008.09.014
- Parsons MJ, Pisharath H, Yusuff S, Moore JC, Siekmann AF, Lawson N, et al. Notch-responsive cells initiate the secondary transition in larval zebrafish pancreas. *Mech Dev* (2009) 126(10):898–912. doi:10.1016/j.mod.2009.07.002
- Delaspre F, Beer RL, Rovira M, Huang W, Wang G, Gee S, et al. Centroacinar cells are progenitors that contribute to endocrine pancreas regeneration. *Diabetes* (2015) 64(10):3499–509. doi:10.2337/db15-0153
- Ghaye AP, Bergemann D, Tarifeno-Saldivia E, Flasse LC, Von Berg V, Peers B, et al. Progenitor potential of nkx6.1-expressing cells throughout zebrafish life and during beta cell regeneration. *BMC Biol* (2015) 13:70. doi:10.1186/ s12915-015-0179-4
- Wang Y, Rovira M, Yusuff S, Parsons MJ. Genetic inducible fate mapping in larval zebrafish reveals origins of adult insulin-producing beta-cells. *Development* (2011) 138(4):609–17. doi:10.1242/dev.059097
- Beer RL, Parsons MJ, Rovira M. Centroacinar cells: at the center of pancreas regeneration. *Dev Biol* (2016) 413(1):8–15. doi:10.1016/j.ydbio.2016.02.027
- Rovira M, Huang W, Yusuff S, Shim JS, Ferrante AA, Liu JO, et al. Chemical screen identifies FDA-approved drugs and target pathways that induce precocious pancreatic endocrine differentiation. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* (2011) 108(48):19264–9. doi:10.1073/pnas.1113081108
- Wang G, Rajpurohit SK, Delaspre F, Walker SL, White DT, Ceasrine A, et al. First quantitative high-throughput screen in zebrafish identifies novel pathways for increasing pancreatic beta-cell mass. *eLife* (2015) 4:1-26. doi:10.7554/ eLife.08261
- Huang W, Wang G, Delaspre F, Vitery Mdel C, Beer RL, Parsons MJ. Retinoic acid plays an evolutionarily conserved and biphasic role in pancreas development. *Dev Biol* (2014) 394(1):83–93. doi:10.1016/j.ydbio.2014.07.021
- Huang W, Beer RL, Delaspre F, Wang G, Edelman HE, Park H, et al. Sox9b is a mediator of retinoic acid signaling restricting endocrine progenitor differentiation. *Dev Biol* (2016) 418(1):28–39. doi:10.1016/j.ydbio.2016.08.019
- Seymour PA, Freude KK, Tran MN, Mayes EE, Jensen J, Kist R, et al. SOX9 is required for maintenance of the pancreatic progenitor cell pool. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* (2007) 104(6):1865–70. doi:10.1073/pnas.0609217104
- 34. Tsuji N, Ninov N, Delawary M, Osman S, Roh AS, Gut P, et al. Whole organism high content screening identifies stimulators of pancreatic betacell proliferation. *PLoS One* (2014) 9(8):e104112. doi:10.1371/journal.pone. 0104112
- Sugiyama M, Sakaue-Sawano A, Iimura T, Fukami K, Kitaguchi T, Kawakami K, et al. Illuminating cell-cycle progression in the developing zebrafish embryo. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* (2009) 106(49):20812–7. doi:10.1073/ pnas.0906464106

- Ackermann AM, Gannon M. Molecular regulation of pancreatic beta-cell mass development, maintenance, and expansion. *J Mol Endocrinol* (2007) 38(1–2):193–206. doi:10.1677/JME-06-0053
- Bouwens L, Rooman I. Regulation of pancreatic beta-cell mass. *Physiol Rev* (2005) 85(4):1255–70. doi:10.1152/physrev.00025.2004
- Terauchi Y, Takamoto I, Kubota N, Matsui J, Suzuki R, Komeda K, et al. Glucokinase and IRS-2 are required for compensatory beta cell hyperplasia in response to high-fat diet-induced insulin resistance. J Clin Invest (2007) 117(1):246–57. doi:10.1172/JCI17645
- Mosser RE, Maulis MF, Moulle VS, Dunn JC, Carboneau BA, Arasi K, et al. High-fat diet-induced beta-cell proliferation occurs prior to insulin resistance in C57Bl/6J male mice. *Am J Physiol Endocrinol Metab* (2015) 308(7):E573–82. doi:10.1152/ajpendo.00460.2014
- Stamateris RE, Sharma RB, Hollern DA, Alonso LC. Adaptive beta-cell proliferation increases early in high-fat feeding in mice, concurrent with metabolic changes, with induction of islet cyclin D2 expression. *Am J Physiol Endocrinol Metab* (2013) 305(1):E149–59. doi:10.1152/ajpendo.00040.2013
- Hanley SC, Austin E, Assouline-Thomas B, Kapeluto J, Blaichman J, Moosavi M, et al. {beta}-cell mass dynamics and islet cell plasticity in human type 2 diabetes. *Endocrinology* (2010) 151(4):1462–72. doi:10.1210/en.2009-1277
- Saisho Y, Butler AE, Manesso E, Elashoff D, Rizza RA, Butler PC. Beta-cell mass and turnover in humans: effects of obesity and aging. *Diabetes Care* (2013) 36(1):111–7. doi:10.2337/dc12-0421
- Sachdeva MM, Stoffers DA. Minireview: meeting the demand for insulin: molecular mechanisms of adaptive postnatal beta-cell mass expansion. *Mol Endocrinol* (2009) 23(6):747–58. doi:10.1210/me.2008-0400
- Rahier J, Guiot Y, Goebbels RM, Sempoux C, Henquin JC. Pancreatic beta-cell mass in European subjects with type 2 diabetes. *Diabetes Obes Metab* (2008) 10(Suppl 4):32–42. doi:10.1111/j.1463-1326.2008.00969.x
- Butler AE, Janson J, Bonner-Weir S, Ritzel R, Rizza RA, Butler PC. Beta-cell deficit and increased beta-cell apoptosis in humans with type 2 diabetes. *Diabetes* (2003) 52(1):102–10. doi:10.2337/diabetes.52.1.102
- Cinti F, Bouchi R, Kim-Muller JY, Ohmura Y, Sandoval PR, Masini M, et al. Evidence of beta-cell dedifferentiation in human type 2 diabetes. J Clin Endocrinol Metab (2016) 101(3):1044–54. doi:10.1210/jc.2015-2860
- Rhodes CJ. Type 2 diabetes a matter of beta-cell life and death? Science (2005) 307(5708):380–4. doi:10.1126/science.1104345
- Kimmel RA, Dobler S, Schmitner N, Walsen T, Freudenblum J, Meyer D. Diabetic pdx1-mutant zebrafish show conserved responses to nutrient overload and anti-glycemic treatment. *Sci Rep* (2015) 5:14241. doi:10.1038/ srep14241
- Li M, Maddison LA, Page-McCaw P, Chen W. Overnutrition induces betacell differentiation through prolonged activation of beta-cells in zebrafish larvae. Am J Physiol Endocrinol Metab (2014) 306(7):E799–807. doi:10.1152/ ajpendo.00686.2013
- Li M, Page-McCaw P, Chen W. FGF1 mediates overnutrition-induced compensatory beta-cell differentiation. *Diabetes* (2016) 65(1):96–109. doi:10.2337/ db15-0085
- Lodh S, Hostelley TL, Leitch CC, O'Hare EA, Zaghloul NA. Differential effects on beta-cell mass by disruption of Bardet-Biedl syndrome or Alstrom syndrome genes. *Hum Mol Genet* (2016) 25(1):57–68. doi:10.1093/hmg/ddv447
- Maddison LA, Chen W. Nutrient excess stimulates beta-cell neogenesis in zebrafish. *Diabetes* (2012) 61(10):2517–24. doi:10.2337/db11-1841
- Michel M, Page-McCaw PS, Chen W, Cone RD. Leptin signaling regulates glucose homeostasis, but not adipostasis, in the zebrafish. *Proc Natl Acad Sci* USA (2016) 113(11):3084–9. doi:10.1073/pnas.1513212113
- Ninov N, Hesselson D, Gut P, Zhou A, Fidelin K, Stainier DY. Metabolic regulation of cellular plasticity in the pancreas. *Curr Biol* (2013) 23(13):1242–50. doi:10.1016/j.cub.2013.05.037
- Ye L, Robertson MA, Mastracci TL, Anderson RM. An insulin signaling feedback loop regulates pancreas progenitor cell differentiation during islet development and regeneration. *Dev Biol* (2016) 409(2):354–69. doi:10.1016/j. ydbio.2015.12.003
- Davidson JA, Holland WL, Roth MG, Wang MY, Lee Y, Yu X, et al. Glucagon therapeutics: dawn of a new era for diabetes care. *Diabetes Metab Res Rev* (2016) 32(7):660–5. doi:10.1002/dmrr.2773
- 57. Gelling RW, Du XQ. Dichmann DS, Romer J, Huang H, Cui L, et al. Lower blood glucose, hyperglucagonemia, and pancreatic alpha cell hyperplasia

in glucagon receptor knockout mice. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* (2003) 100(3):1438–43. doi:10.1073/pnas.0237106100

- Longuet C, Robledo AM, Dean ED, Dai C, Ali S, McGuinness I, et al. Liverspecific disruption of the murine glucagon receptor produces alpha-cell hyperplasia: evidence for a circulating alpha-cell growth factor. *Diabetes* (2013) 62(4):1196–205. doi:10.2337/db11-1605
- Yu R, Dhall D, Nissen NN, Zhou C, Ren SG. Pancreatic neuroendocrine tumors in glucagon receptor-deficient mice. *PLoS One* (2011) 6(8):e23397. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0023397
- Chen M, Gavrilova O, Zhao WQ, Nguyen A, Lorenzo J, Shen L, et al. Increased glucose tolerance and reduced adiposity in the absence of fasting hypoglycemia in mice with liver-specific Gs alpha deficiency. *J Clin Invest* (2005) 115(11):3217–27. doi:10.1172/JCI24196
- Solloway MJ, Madjidi A, Gu C, Eastham-Anderson J, Clarke HJ, Kljavin N, et al. Glucagon couples hepatic amino acid catabolism to mTOR-dependent regulation of alpha-cell mass. *Cell Rep* (2015) 12(3):495–510. doi:10.1016/ j.celrep.2015.06.034
- Li M, Dean ED, Zhao L, Nicholson WE, Powers AC, Chen W. Glucagon receptor inactivation leads to alpha-cell hyperplasia in zebrafish. *J Endocrinol* (2015) 227(2):93–103. doi:10.1530/JOE-15-0284
- Lu J, Liu KC, Schulz N, Karampelias C, Charbord J, Hilding A, et al. IGFBP1 increases beta-cell regeneration by promoting alpha- to beta-cell transdifferentiation. *EMBO J* (2016) 35(18):2026–44. doi:10.15252/embj.201592903
- Ye L, Robertson MA, Hesselson D, Stainier DY, Anderson RM. Glucagon is essential for alpha cell transdifferentiation and beta cell neogenesis. *Development* (2015) 142(8):1407–17. doi:10.1242/dev.117911
- Pisharath H, Rhee JM, Swanson MA, Leach SD, Parsons MJ. Targeted ablation of beta cells in the embryonic zebrafish pancreas using *E. coli* nitroreductase. *Mech Dev* (2007) 124(3):218–29. doi:10.1016/j.mod.2006.11.005
- Li Z, Korzh V, Gong Z. DTA-mediated targeted ablation revealed differential interdependence of endocrine cell lineages in early development of zebrafish pancreas. *Differentiation* (2009) 78(4):241–52. doi:10.1016/j.diff.2009.05.009
- Moss JB, Koustubhan P, Greenman M, Parsons MJ, Walter I, Moss LG. Regeneration of the pancreas in adult zebrafish. *Diabetes* (2009) 58(8):1844–51. doi:10.2337/db08-0628
- Olsen AS, Sarras MP Jr, Leontovich A, Intine RV. Heritable transmission of diabetic metabolic memory in zebrafish correlates with DNA hypomethylation and aberrant gene expression. *Diabetes* (2012) 61(2):485–91. doi:10.2337/ db11-0588
- Anderson RM, Bosch JA, Goll MG, Hesselson D, Dong PD, Shin D, et al. Loss of Dnmt1 catalytic activity reveals multiple roles for DNA methylation during pancreas development and regeneration. *Dev Biol* (2009) 334(1):213–23. doi:10.1016/j.ydbio.2009.07.017
- Andersson O, Adams BA, Yoo D, Ellis GC, Gut P, Anderson RM, et al. Adenosine signaling promotes regeneration of pancreatic beta cells in vivo. *Cell Metab* (2012) 15(6):885–94. doi:10.1016/j.cmet.2012.04.018
- Damond N, Thorel F, Moyers JS, Charron MJ, Vuguin PM, Powers AC, et al. Blockade of glucagon signaling prevents or reverses diabetes onset only if residual beta-cells persist. *eLife* (2016) 5:1–18. doi:10.7554/eLife.13828
- Afelik S, Rovira M. Pancreatic beta-cell regeneration: facultative or dedicated progenitors? *Mol Cell Endocrinol* (2016). doi:10.1016/j.mce.2016.11.008

- Kopp JL, Grompe M, Sander M. Stem cells versus plasticity in liver and pancreas regeneration. Nat Cell Biol (2016) 18(3):238–45. doi:10.1038/ncb3309
- Cavelti-Weder C, Shtessel M, Reuss JE, Jermendy A, Yamada T, Caballero F, et al. Pancreatic duct ligation after almost complete beta-cell loss: exocrine regeneration but no evidence of beta-cell regeneration. *Endocrinology* (2013) 154(12):4493–502. doi:10.1210/en.2013-1463
- 75. Yin D, Tao J, Lee DD, Shen J, Hara M, Lopez J, et al. Recovery of islet beta-cell function in streptozotocin-induced diabetic mice: an indirect role for the spleen. *Diabetes* (2006) 55(12):3256–63. doi:10.2337/db05-1275
- Bonner-Weir S, Trent DF, Honey RN, Weir GC. Responses of neonatal rat islets to streptozotocin: limited B-cell regeneration and hyperglycemia. *Diabetes* (1981) 30(1):64–9. doi:10.2337/diab.30.1.64
- Rankin MM, Wilbur CJ, Rak K, Shields EJ, Granger A, Kushner JA. β-cells are not generated in pancreatic duct ligation-induced injury in adult mice. *Diabetes* (2013) 62(5):1634–45. doi:10.2337/db12-0848
- Dalgin G, Prince VE. Differential levels of Neurod establish zebrafish endocrine pancreas cell fates. *Dev Biol* (2015) 402(1):81–97. doi:10.1016/j. ydbio.2015.03.007
- Lancman JJ, Zvenigorodsky N, Gates KP, Zhang D, Solomon K, Humphrey RK, et al. Specification of hepatopancreas progenitors in zebrafish by hnf1ba and wnt2bb. *Development* (2013) 140(13):2669–79. doi:10.1242/dev.090993
- Gardner DS, Tai ES. Clinical features and treatment of maturity onset diabetes of the young (MODY). *Diabetes Metab Syndr Obes* (2012) 5:101–8. doi:10.2147/DMSO.S23353
- Michael MD, Kulkarni RN, Postic C, Previs SF, Shulman GI, Magnuson MA, et al. Loss of insulin signaling in hepatocytes leads to severe insulin resistance and progressive hepatic dysfunction. *Mol Cell* (2000) 6(1):87–97. doi:10.1016/ S1097-2765(05)00015-8
- Zang L, Shimada Y, Nishimura Y, Tanaka T, Nishimura N. A novel, reliable method for repeated blood collection from aquarium fish. *Zebrafish* (2013) 10(3):425–32. doi:10.1089/zeb.2012.0862
- Eames SC, Philipson LH, Prince VE, Kinkel MD. Blood sugar measurement in zebrafish reveals dynamics of glucose homeostasis. *Zebrafish* (2010) 7(2):205–13. doi:10.1089/zeb.2009.0640
- O'Hare EA, Yerges-Armstrong LM, Perry JA, Shuldiner AR, Zaghloul NA. Assignment of functional relevance to genes at type 2 diabetes-associated loci through investigation of beta-cell mass deficits. *Mol Endocrinol* (2016) 30(4):429–45. doi:10.1210/me.2015-1243
- Kimmel RA, Meyer D. Zebrafish pancreas as a model for development and disease. *Methods Cell Biol* (2016) 134:431–61. doi:10.1016/bs.mcb.2016.02.009

Conflict of Interest Statement: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2017 Maddison and Chen. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) or licensor are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





Nutrient Sensing Systems in Fish: Impact on Food Intake Regulation and Energy Homeostasis

Marta Conde-Sieira and José L. Soengas *

Laboratorio de Fisioloxía Animal, Departamento de Bioloxía Funcional e Ciencias da Saúde, Facultade de Bioloxía, Universidade de Vigo, Vigo, Spain

Evidence obtained in recent years in a few species, especially rainbow trout, supports the presence in fish of nutrient sensing mechanisms. Glucosensing capacity is present in central (hypothalamus and hindbrain) and peripheral [liver, Brockmann bodies (BB, main accumulation of pancreatic endocrine cells in several fish species), and intestine] locations whereas fatty acid sensors seem to be present in hypothalamus, liver and BB. Glucose and fatty acid sensing capacities relate to food intake regulation and metabolism in fish. Hypothalamus is as a signaling integratory center in a way that detection of increased levels of nutrients result in food intake inhibition through changes in the expression of anorexigenic and orexigenic neuropeptides. Moreover, central nutrient sensing modulates functions in the periphery since they elicit changes in hepatic metabolism as well as in hormone secretion to counter-regulate changes in nutrient levels detected in the CNS. At peripheral level, the direct nutrient detection in liver has a crucial role in homeostatic control of glucose and fatty acid whereas in BB and intestine nutrient sensing is probably involved in regulation of hormone secretion from endocrine cells.

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Maximilian Michel, University of Michigan, USA

Reviewed by:

Helene Volkoff, Memorial University, Canada Lisette Maddison, Vanderbilt University, USA

> *Correspondence: José L. Soengas jsoengas@uvigo.es

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Neuroendocrine Science, a section of the journal Frontiers in Neuroscience

Received: 29 November 2016 Accepted: 19 December 2016 Published: 05 January 2017

Citation:

Conde-Sieira M and Soengas JL (2017) Nutrient Sensing Systems in Fish: Impact on Food Intake Regulation and Energy Homeostasis. Front. Neurosci. 10:603. doi: 10.3389/fnins.2016.00603 Keywords: nutrient sensors, fish, hypothalamus, liver, Brockmann bodies, intestine, food intake, homeostasis

NUTRIENT SENSING MECHANISMS IN FISH

Since sensing and responding to fluctuations in environmental nutrient levels is a requisite for life, is not surprising that different organisms are able to detect extracellular and intracellular levels of sugars, amino acids, and lipids. The sensing of a specific nutrient may occur directly through binding of the sensed molecule to the sensor, or indirectly through detection of a related molecule that reflect nutrient abundance (Ogunnowo-Bada et al., 2014; Efeyan et al., 2015). We provide in the next sections a summary of the findings obtained in fish about glucose and fatty acid sensors.

As for the other main nutrient, amino acid, the increase in mammals in the levels of specific branched-chain amino acids (BCAA) such as leucine inhibits food intake. This process occurs through activation of amino acid sensing systems mediated by activation of target of rapamycin (mTOR) and/or inhibition of AMP-activated protein kinase (AMPK) signaling, or via activation of BCAA metabolism (Heeley and Blouet, 2016; Morrison et al., 2016). Furthermore, the deficiency in essential amino acids (including BCAA) elicits an increase in food intake through amino acid sensing systems mediated by general control nondepressable 2 and eukaryotic initiation factor 2α (Fromentin et al., 2012; Maurin et al., 2014). In fish, no studies have attempted yet to evaluate the possible presence and functioning of comparable amino acid sensing mechanisms and their relationship with food intake control. Their presence in central areas regulating food intake is

however reasonable considering that most fish are carnivorous, and therefore they are strongly dependent (certainly much more than omnivorous mammals in which most studies have been carried out to date) on dietary protein/amino acid levels for functioning. The only studies available in fish demonstrated in peripheral tissues like muscle and liver the effect of changes in amino acid levels in mRNA abundance of mTOR (Seiliez et al., 2008; Wacyk et al., 2012; Tu et al., 2015; Liang et al., 2016; Xu et al., 2016).

The hypothetical mechanisms involved in sensing of glucose, fatty acid, and amino acid in fish are summarized in **Figure 1**.

Glucosensors

Glucosensing is the ability of specialized cells to detect changes in the levels of glucose. This ability relates to food intake control and counter-regulatory responses to changes in levels of plasma metabolites in brain areas like hypothalamus and hindbrain. In pancreatic endocrine cells and intestine it relates to hormone release whereas in liver relates to the metabolic switch between glucose utilization and production in liver. There are several glucosensing mechanisms characterized in

mammals. The best known is that mediated by glucokinase (GK), as demonstrated in brain neurons, pancreatic β-cells and hepatocytes (Blouet and Schwartz, 2010; Ogunnowo-Bada et al., 2014; Efevan et al., 2015). In this mechanism (Marty et al., 2007; Polakof et al., 2011d), glucose is taken up by glucose facilitative carrier type 2 (GLUT2), phosphorylated to glucose 6-phosphate by GK, and then metabolized through glycolysis increasing intracellular ATP/ADP ratio (Figure 1). The increased ratio induces closure of ATP-dependent inward rectified potassium channel (K_{ATP}^+) inducing the depolarization of membrane and the entry of calcium into the cell through L-type voltagedependent calcium channel. This entry of calcium finally results in changes in neuronal activity (brain), modulation of hormone release (endocrine cells) or changes in metabolism (liver). There is also evidence in mammals for GK-independent glucosensing mechanisms as also displayed in Figure 1 (Fioramonti et al., 2004; Marty et al., 2007; González et al., 2009; Thorens, 2012; Donovan and Watts, 2014). The expression of liver X receptor (LXR) (Mitro et al., 2007) responds to increased glucose levels eliciting a decrease in gluconeogenic capacity (Anthonisen et al., 2010; Archer et al., 2014). The sweet taste receptors (formed by



liver X receptor; MCD, malonyl-CoA decarboxylase; MCFA, medium-chain fatty acid; mTOR, target of rapamycin; PLC, phospholipase C; PPARs, peroxisome proliferator-activated receptors; SGLT-1, sodium/glucose co-transporter 1; SREBP1c, sterol regulatory element-binding protein type 1c; PKC, protein kinase C; PUFA, poly-unsaturated fatty acid; ROS, reactive oxygen species; T1R2, type 1 taste receptor subunit 2; T1R3, type 1 taste receptor subunit 3; UCP2, uncoupling protein 2; VDCC, L-type voltage-dependent calcium channel; Vm, membrane potential.

type 1 taste receptor subunits (T1Rs) 2 and 3, and α -gustducin) respond to changes in glucose levels activating an intracellular signaling cascade (Ren et al., 2009; Kyriazis et al., 2014; Murovets et al., 2015; Herrera Moro Chao et al., 2016). Enhanced glucose levels induce increased expression of sodium/glucose cotransporter 1 (SGLT-1) (Díez-Sampedro et al., 2003; González et al., 2009; Thorens, 2012). The mitochondrial production of reactive oxygen species (ROS) leads to increased expression of uncoupling protein 2 (UCP2) in response to increased glucose levels (Beall et al., 2010; Diano and Horvath, 2012). These different systems might relate since, for instance, T1R3 and α -gustducin are necessary for SGLT-1 response to increased carbohydrate levels in the diet (Wauson et al., 2013).

In fish, evidence obtained in recent years support the presence of a GK-dependent glucosensing mechanism in central and peripheral areas of rainbow trout (Polakof et al., 2011d; Soengas, 2014). Indeed, in rainbow trout changes in the levels of glucose induced dietary (Polakof et al., 2008b,c), intraperitoneal (IP) (Polakof et al., 2007a, 2008a; Conde-Sieira et al., 2010a,b, 2012b; Otero-Rodiño et al., 2015), in vitro (Polakof et al., 2007b; Aguilar et al., 2011; Conde-Sieira et al., 2011, 2012a), or intracerebroventricular (ICV) (Polakof and Soengas, 2008) treatments resulted in changes in glucosensing mechanisms in hypothalamus and hindbrain. These include changes in GK mRNA abundance and activity, glucose and glycogen levels, GLUT2 mRNA abundance, glycolytic and glycogenic potentials, and in the activity of $K_{\mbox{\scriptsize ATP}}^+.$ Besides the studies carried out in rainbow trout, a recent study provided evidence of glucose sensing properties in several hypothalamic nuclei in medaka (Hasebe et al., 2016). In peripheral tissues of rainbow trout, the presence and functioning of GK-dependent glucosensing mechanisms is supported by findings in liver (Soengas et al., 2006; Conde-Sieira et al., 2012b), Brockmann bodies (BB, main accumulation of endocrine pancreatic cells) (Polakof et al., 2007a,b, 2008b,c), and intestine (Polakof et al., 2010a; Polakof and Soengas, 2013). Interestingly, the response of glucosensing systems to glucose is more important during the day than during the night in liver but not in hypothalamus, hindbrain, and BB whose responses to hyperglycemic treatment were similar at night and day (Conde-Sieira et al., 2012a).

The presence of GK-independent glucosensing mechanisms and their response to changes in glucose levels has recently been assessed in different central and peripheral areas of rainbow trout (Polakof and Soengas, 2013; Otero-Rodiño et al., 2015, 2016a,b,c). These include hypothalamus (mitochondrial activity, sweet taste receptor, and LXR), hindbrain (SGLT-1), liver (sweet taste receptor), BB (sweet taste receptor, LXR, and mitochondrial activity), and intestine (sweet taste receptor, SGLT-1, and LXR). Furthermore, a recent study (Balasubramanian et al., 2016) also demonstrated increased mRNA abundance of T1R2 and LXR in brain of rainbow trout nutritionally programmed to cope with enhanced carbohydrate levels in the diet.

Figure 2 summarizes the integrative responses of glucosensing systems in different fish tissues to an increase or decrease in glucose levels.

Fatty Acid Sensors

In mammals fatty acid sensing systems are involved in hypothalamus and hindbrain in the detection of changes in the levels of long-chain fatty acid (LCFA) thus contributing to energy homeostasis control (Migrenne et al., 2007; Gao et al., 2013; Duca and Yue, 2014; Efeyan et al., 2015). The best known mechanism is of metabolic nature (Figure 1) in a way that a rise in LCFA levels results in increased levels of malonyl-CoA, which inhibits carnitine palmitoyl transferase-1 (CPT-1) then resulting in the inability of mitochondria to import fatty acid-CoA for oxidation (López et al., 2005, 2007). There is also evidence for the presence of alternative mechanisms in mammals (Figure 1). These include the increased binding capacity of fatty acid translocase (FAT/CD36) in response to elevated LCFA levels resulting in changes in the expression of several transcription factors (Le Foll et al., 2009). The activation of specific isoforms of protein kinase C in response to increase levels of LCFA results in the inhibition of K⁺_{ATP} activity (Benoit et al., 2009; Blouet and Schwartz, 2010). The activity of K⁺_{ATP} inhibited by increased capacity of mitochondria to produce ROS in response to increased LCFA levels (Blouet and Schwartz, 2010). Finally, the activity of lipoprotein lipase increases in response to enhanced availability of triglycerides resulting in increased levels of LCFA stimulating G-protein-coupled receptors 40 and 120 (Picard et al., 2013; Ekberg et al., 2016). These systems apparently respond to specific LCFA, such as the monounsaturated fatty acid oleate (C18:1 n-9) (López et al., 2007; Blouet and Schwartz, 2010; Duca and Yue, 2014). The ability of other classes of LCFA differing in the length of their acyl chain and/or in their degree of unsaturation to elicit the activation of these systems has been scarcely assessed to date. The available studies in mammals indicate that neither saturated fatty acids like palmitate (C16:0) nor the presence of two (such as in linoleate, C18:2 n-6) or three (such as in docosahexanoate, C22:6 n-3) double bonds activate fatty acid sensing systems (Gomez-Pinilla and Ying, 2010; Ross et al., 2010; Schwinkendorf et al., 2011; Greco et al., 2014).

Lipids are major nutrients in fish where they metabolically support many different processes (Sheridan, 1994; Tocher, 2003; Polakof et al., 2010b). Therefore, not surprisingly, many studies evaluated the effects of different dietary lipids in fish metabolism (Morash et al., 2009; Torstensen et al., 2009; Sánchez-Gurmaches et al., 2010; Figueiredo-Silva et al., 2012a,b,c; Martinez-Rubio et al., 2013). However, only recent studies provide evidence for the presence of fatty acid sensing systems in central areas of rainbow trout (Librán-Pérez et al., 2012, 2013a, 2014a,b, 2015a,b) and Senegalese sole (Conde-Sieira et al., 2015a) as well as in peripheral areas of rainbow trout (Librán-Pérez et al., 2012, 2013a,b,c, 2015c).

The treatment of rainbow trout with oleate induced responses compatible with fatty acid sensing in hypothalamus (Librán-Pérez et al., 2012, 2013a, 2014a), BB (Librán-Pérez et al., 2012, 2013a, 2015c), and liver (Librán-Pérez et al., 2013b,c, 2015c). These responses include decreased lipogenic and fatty acid oxidation capacities, reduced activity of K_{ATP}^+ , and changes in the expression of transcription factors resultant of FAT/CD36 modulation. This response is comparable in general with that



reported in mammals. Furthermore, in rainbow trout, similar responses occurred after treatment with the medium-chain fatty acid (MCFA) octanoate, and this is in contrast to mammals (Hu et al., 2011). This different behavior between fish and mammals might relate to the findings that body lipids in teleosts contain considerable amounts of MCFA (Davis et al., 1999; Trushenski, 2009) and/or MCFA oxidation in fish, at least in rainbow trout, is equally preferred compared with that of LCFA (Figueiredo-Silva et al., 2012a), in contrast with mammals (Ooyama et al., 2009). The response of fatty acid sensing systems in rainbow trout hypothalamus to increased levels of oleate or octanoate is also supported by the response of these tissues to specific inhibitors in vitro (Librán-Pérez et al., 2013a). Another peculiarity of fatty acid sensing systems in fish is their apparent capacity to respond to changes in the levels of polyunsaturated fatty acid (PUFA) of the n-6 and particularly n-3 series. These PUFA are very relevant for fish since their diets are particularly rich in long chain PUFA (Sargent et al., 2002) and PUFA are therefore abundant in their tissues (Mourente and Tocher, 1992; Tocher, 2003). Furthermore, the brain of marine fish is particularly rich in n-3 PUFA, mainly in α -linolenate (C18:3 n-3), eicosapentanoate (C20:5 n-3), and docosahexanoate (C22:6 n-3) (Tocher et al., 1992; Betancor et al., 2014). Conde-Sieira et al. (2015a) demonstrated that not only oleate but also α -linolenate activated fatty acid sensing systems present in the hypothalamus of Senegalese sole. This is completely different to that described in mammals (see above) and may relate to the importance of n-3 PUFA in fish. However, the capacity of PUFA to activate fatty acid sensing systems appears to be specific of certain PUFA since eicosapentanoate did not induce any significant change in fatty acid sensing systems (Conde-Sieira et al., 2015a).

Although levels of a particular fatty acid cannot be decreased, lipolysis inhibitors have been used to decrease circulating levels of all fatty acids, and this resulted in decreased activity of fatty acid sensing systems in mammals (Oh et al., 2012, 2014). A similar experimental approach in rainbow trout also resulted in the inhibition of fatty acid sensing systems in hypothalamus, BB, and liver, and these changes apparently relate to the activation of hypothalamus-pituitary-interrenal (HPI) axis (Librán-Pérez et al., 2014b, 2015d).

Figure 3 summarizes the integrative responses to changes in levels of specific fatty acids of fatty acid sensing systems in different fish tissues.

In summary, the evidence obtained in recent years support the presence in fish central and peripheral areas of several of the sensing mechanisms for glucose and fatty acid already characterized in mammalian models. However, these mechanisms are not exactly the same since besides responding to glucose or LCFA they also respond to other molecules such as MCFA or PUFA. Clearly, the assessment of amino acid sensing mechanism is lacking in fish, and this is of crucial importance considering that most fish species are carnivorous. Finally, there is also no information available regarding cellular mechanisms integrating information of main nutrient sensing systems into shared regulatory pathways.

IMPACT OF NUTRIENT SENSING ON FOOD INTAKE REGULATION

In mammals nutrient detection activates directly or indirectly hypothalamic neurocircuits involved in the regulation of food intake, energy expenditure, and homeostasis (Berthoud, 2002; Morton et al., 2006, 2014; Berthoud and Morrison, 2008; Blouet and Schwartz, 2010). These circuits include two clearly defined populations of neurons mostly present in several hypothalamic nuclei including arcuate, as well as in other brain regions like hindbrain (Schwartz et al., 2000; Mobbs et al., 2005; Blouet and Schwartz, 2010; Efeyan et al., 2015). The first population responds to rises in circulating levels of glucose, fatty acid, or amino acid with the enhancement of AgRP and NPY expression. The second population responds to rises in levels of the same nutrients with enhanced co-expression of CART and POMC. Accordingly, in response to a rise in the levels of nutrients CART/POMC neurons depolarize while AgRP/NPY neurons hyperpolarize (Levin et al., 2004; Fioramonti et al., 2007). These populations also inhibit each other producing signals to higher-order neurons (Marty et al., 2007). Hypothalamic projections terminating in the hindbrain also causes a flow of efferent information to tissues involved in energy balance including liver, adipose tissue, and endocrine pancreas (Zheng and Berthoud, 2008).

In fish, NPY/AgRP and POMC/CART neurons are present in brain areas analogous to those in mammals (Cerdá-Reverter and Canosa, 2009). In addition, the expression of these neuropeptides relates to food intake control since feeding conditions change mRNA abundance of neuropeptides (Volkoff et al., 2005, 2009; Volkoff, 2006; Hoskins and Volkoff, 2012). Indeed, food deprivation decreased mRNA abundance of CART in goldfish (Volkoff and Peter, 2001), cod (Kehoe and Volkoff, 2007), and Atlantic salmon (Murashita et al., 2009) while values increased with re-feeding in channel catfish (Kobayashi et al., 2008), and



FIGURE 3 | Schematic drawing with a hypothetical model of integrative responses to an increase (left panel) or decrease (right panel) in levels of specific fatty acids of fatty acid sensing systems in different fish tissues. ↑, increase; ↓, decrease; ?, unknown; AgRP, agouti-related peptide; Akt, protein kinase B; AMPK, AMP-activated protein kinase; BSX, hypothalamic homeobox transcription factor; CART, cocaine- and amphetamine-related transcript; CREB, cAMP response-element binding protein; FoxO1, forkhead box protein O1; HPI, hypothalamus-pituitary-interrenal axis; LCFA, long-chain fatty acid; MCFA, medium-chain fatty acid; mTOR, target of rapamycin; NPY, neuropeptide Y; POMC, pro-opio melanocortin; PUFA, poly-unsaturated fatty acid.

post-prandial changes occurred in goldfish (Volkoff and Peter, 2001) and channel catfish (Peterson et al., 2012). As for POMC, its mRNA abundance increased post-prandially in rainbow trout (Gong and Björnsson, 2014), medaka (Chisada et al., 2014), and Atlantic halibut (Gomes et al., 2015). The mRNA levels of AgRP increased with food deprivation in hypothalamus of goldfish (Cerdá-Reverter and Peter, 2003), zebrafish (Song et al., 2003), carp (Zhong et al., 2013), and sea bass (Agulleiro et al., 2013), though not in Atlantic salmon (Murashita et al., 2009) whereas no post-feeding changes occurred in medaka (Chisada et al., 2014). AgRP mRNA levels also increased in hypothalamus of GH-transgenic carp that also displayed increased food intake (Zhong et al., 2013). The mRNA abundance of NPY decreased post-feeding in grass carp (Zhou et al., 2013), goldfish (Kehoe and Volkoff, 2007), and zebrafish (Tian et al., 2015) but responses were contradictory in orange-spotted grouper (Tang et al., 2013), rainbow trout (Gong and Björnsson, 2014), and zebrafish (Chen et al., 2016). Finally, decreased mRNA abundance of NPY occurred in food-deprived rainbow trout (Gong et al., 2016b).

Glucosensors and Regulation of Food Intake

In mammals, the detection of changes in glucose levels by glucosensing mechanisms results in regulatory responses, including food intake, allowing the animal to control blood glucose levels (Marty et al., 2007). Accordingly, reduced glycaemia increases food intake whereas enhanced glycaemia decreases food intake (Morton et al., 2014; Ogunnowo-Bada et al., 2014; Rogers et al., 2016).

Similar changes in food intake in response to altered glucose levels occur in fish (Polakof et al., 2011d, 2012a). Decreased food intake occurred in rainbow trout fed with a diet enriched in carbohydrates (Kaushik et al., 1989; Suárez et al., 2002; Krogdahl et al., 2004; Polakof et al., 2008b,c; Figueiredo-Silva et al., 2013). A similar response was observed after ICV or IP hyperglycaemic treatments in the same species (Ruibal et al., 2002; Polakof et al., 2007a, 2008a; Conde-Sieira et al., 2010a,b, 2012b). In contrast, increased food intake occurred in rainbow trout fed a diet with a reduced amount of carbohydrates (Sánchez-Muros et al., 1998; Capilla et al., 2003; Polakof et al., 2008b,c) or after IP or ICV hypoglycaemic treatments (Polakof et al., 2007a, 2008a; Conde-Sieira et al., 2010a,b). Comparable responses of food intake to changes in glucose levels also occurred in other fish species including goldfish (Narnaware and Peter, 2002), tilapia (Saravanan et al., 2012; Figueiredo-Silva et al., 2013), Siberian sturgeon (Gong et al., 2014) or sea bass (Castro et al., 2015).

In brain areas producing AgRP/NPY and POMC/CART histochemical studies in rainbow trout support the presence of GK (Polakof et al., 2009) suggesting a functional relationship between glucosensors and neuropeptides. However, few studies in fish described changes in the mRNA abundance of those neuropeptides in response to changes in glucose levels. The mRNA abundance of hypothalamic NPY decreased in hyperglycaemic-treated rainbow trout (Conde-Sieira et al., 2010b, 2012b; Aguilar et al., 2011; Otero-Rodiño et al., 2016a).

A similar decline occurred in fish fed with a carbohydrateenriched diet, such as in rainbow trout (Figueiredo-Silva et al., 2012c) and goldfish (Narnaware and Peter, 2002) whereas in the whole brain of gilthead sea bream no changes occurred (Babaei et al., 2017). CART mRNA levels in hypothalamus increased in response to elevated glucose levels in catfish (Subhedar et al., 2011) and rainbow trout (Conde-Sieira et al., 2010b, 2012b; Otero-Rodiño et al., 2015) or after rainbow trout were fed with a carbohydrate-enriched diet (Figueiredo-Silva et al., 2012c). Hypothalamic POMC mRNA levels increased in hyperglycaemic rainbow trout (Conde-Sieira et al., 2010b; Otero-Rodiño et al., 2015). Finally, AgRP mRNA abundance did not display changes in hypothalamus of rainbow trout after hyperglycaemic treatment (Otero-Rodiño et al., 2015, 2016a). Therefore, the mRNA abundance in glucosensing central areas (hypothalamus and hindbrain) of the four neuropeptides involved in the food intake regulation is affected by changes in glycaemia, and this is compatible with the changes observed in food intake (Polakof et al., 2008a,b).

Fatty Acid Sensors and Regulation of Food Intake

In fish fed with a lipid-enriched diet, a decrease in food intake usually takes place. This occurred for instance in rainbow trout (Peragón et al., 2000; Rasmussen et al., 2000; Gélineau et al., 2001; Forsman and Ruohonen, 2009; Figueiredo-Silva et al., 2012c; Saravanan et al., 2013), chinook salmon (Silverstein et al., 1999), polka-dot grouper (Williams et al., 2006), Senegalese sole (Bonacic et al., 2016) or grass carp (Li et al., 2016). Moreover, enhanced lipid storage is also usually associated with a reduced food intake (Shearer et al., 1997; Silverstein et al., 1999; Johansen et al., 2002, 2003). Therefore, lipid metabolism is clearly influencing food intake control in fish. Considering the relative high importance of fatty acids within the lipid pool, both in fish diets and in tissue composition, is not surprising that the available studies in fish focussed on fatty acids.

In recent studies in rainbow trout a decrease in food intake was observed after IP (Librán-Pérez et al., 2012) or ICV (Librán-Pérez et al., 2014a; Velasco et al., 2016a,b) administration of oleate or octanoate, with the effect being more important for octanoate. The effect of octanoate is specific of fish (at least rainbow trout) since in mammals treatment with this fatty acid did not affect food intake (López et al., 2007; Hu et al., 2011). Moreover, when rainbow trout fed diets containing different lipid composition, the lower food intake occurred in fish with the highest levels of fatty acid in plasma (Luo et al., 2014). This finding supports that central fatty acid sensing mechanisms mediated the lipid-induced decrease in food intake. Further support come from results obtained in rainbow trout where the decrease in food intake induced by treatment with a fatty acid synthase (FAS) inhibitor is counteracted by the simultaneous presence of an acetyl-CoA carboxylase inhibitor (Librán-Pérez et al., 2012), i.e., a response similar to that of mammals (Loftus et al., 2000; Gao and Lane, 2003; Hu et al., 2011). In Senegalese sole IP treatment with oleate, α -linolenate, or eicosapentanoate also resulted in a decrease in food intake (Conde-Sieira et al.,

2015a). Furthermore, when levels of circulating fatty acid decreased through pharmacological treatment a clear increase in food intake occurred in rainbow trout (Librán-Pérez et al., 2014b).

In mammals, the activation of fatty acid sensing systems results in food intake inhibition through changes in the expression of anorexigenic and orexigenic neuropeptides (López et al., 2005; Oh et al., 2016). Accordingly, the increase in LCFA levels results in a decrease in the mRNA abundance of AgRP and NPY as well as in an increase in mRNA abundance of CART and POMC. Therefore, not surprisingly, several studies have described changes in mRNA abundance of neuropeptides in fish fed lipid-enriched diets. Feeding fish with these diets resulted in increased mRNA abundance of POMC in rainbow trout (Librán-Pérez et al., 2015b), and increased mRNA abundance of CART in rainbow trout (Figueiredo-Silva et al., 2012c; Librán-Pérez et al., 2015b) and Atlantic salmon (Hevrøy et al., 2012). Feeding diets enriched in lipids also induced a decrease in NPY mRNA abundance in grass carp (Li et al., 2010) but not in rainbow trout (Figueiredo-Silva et al., 2012c; Librán-Pérez et al., 2015b) or orange-spotted grouper (Tang et al., 2013). Finally, AgRP mRNA abundance did not change in Atlantic salmon (Hevrøy et al., 2012) but decreased in rainbow trout (Librán-Pérez et al., 2015b) fed with lipid-enriched diets.

Other available studies described the impact of treatments with specific fatty acids on mRNA abundance of orexigenic and anorexigenic neuropeptides. In rainbow trout oleate either through IP (Librán-Pérez et al., 2012), in vitro (Librán-Pérez et al., 2013c) or ICV (Librán-Pérez et al., 2014a; Velasco et al., 2016a,b) treatments resulted in hypothalamus in a decrease in mRNA abundance of NPY and an increase in mRNA abundance of CART and POMC. Changes observed in NPY mRNA levels after oleate treatment are comparable to those of mammals (Blouet and Schwartz, 2010). The changes displayed by neuropeptides point to an enhancement of the anorexigenic potential, which is in agreement with the effects in food intake after treatment with the same fatty acid. The treatment of rainbow trout with octanoate also resulted in decreased NPY mRNA abundance after ICV treatment (Librán-Pérez et al., 2014a), and increased mRNA abundance of CART and POMC after ICV and in vitro treatments (Librán-Pérez et al., 2013c, 2014a). These changes also suggest an enhancement of the anorexigenic potential in hypothalamus in response to octanoate treatment supporting the reduced food intake observed after treating the same species with octanoate (Librán-Pérez et al., 2012, 2014a). This effect of octanoate is exclusive to fish, at least rainbow trout, since in mammals octanoate does not induce any change in mRNA abundance of neuropeptides (Hu et al., 2011). In Senegalese sole, the treatment with oleate also induced a decrease in the mRNA abundance of AgRP while that of CART increased, i.e., a balance favoring an anorexigenic response (Conde-Sieira et al., 2015a). In the same species, the IP treatment with the PUFAs α-linolenate or eicosapentanoate (Conde-Sieira et al., 2015a) decreased mRNA abundance of AgRP (a-linolenate) and increased mRNA abundance of CART (a-linolenate and eicosapentanoate) thus favoring enhanced anorexigenic potential, in a way similar to the effects elicited by oleate. This was the first time in any vertebrate species in which any PUFA induced changes in hypothalamic mRNA abundance of neuropeptides involved in food intake control. Interestingly, parameters involved in fatty acid sensing changed only in the case of α -linolenate (Conde-Sieira et al., 2015a) suggesting a complex relationship between changes in fatty acid sensing and neuropeptide mRNA abundance.

In a way similar to that described above for fatty acid sensing systems and food intake responses, the decrease in rainbow trout of circulating levels of fatty acid resulted in decreased mRNA abundance of POMC and CART. This change favors enhanced orexigenic potential (Librán-Pérez et al., 2014b), i.e., the opposed response of that elicited by increased levels of fatty acids.

Linking Nutrient Sensing and Neuropeptide Control of Food Intake

The mechanisms linking the function of nutrient sensing systems with changes in the expression of neuropeptides, which ultimately regulate food intake, are mostly unknown in mammals. Changes in the expression of neuropeptides might relate to modulation of forkhead box01, phosphorylated cAMP response-element binding protein, and/or brain homeobox transcription factor (Diéguez et al., 2011). The actions of these factors would result in the enhancement of CART and POMC expression and the inhibition of AgRP and NPY expression resulting in decreased food intake (López et al., 2007; Diéguez et al., 2011). However, it is not clear how these transcription factors relate to the activity of the different nutrient sensing systems. Several possibilities have been suggested in mammals (López et al., 2007; Diéguez et al., 2011; Gao et al., 2013; Morton et al., 2014) including direct action of malonyl CoA or CPT-1, indirect action through CPT-1 inhibition, modulation by AMPK, mTOR, protein kinase B (Akt), or carbohydrate-responsive element-binding protein and/or involvement of ceramides.

In fish, several recent studies carried out in rainbow trout provided evidence for several of these hypothetical mechanisms. Indeed, Librán-Pérez et al. (2015b) demonstrated that protein levels of AMPK, Akt, and mTOR increased in hypothalamus of fish fed a lipid-enriched diet. Furthermore, Gong et al. (2016a) demonstrated increased Akt protein levels in isolated hypothalamic cells incubated with leptin. Finally, Velasco et al. (2016b) also suggested the possible involvement of ceramides in the connection between activation of hypothalamic fatty acid sensing systems, neuropeptide mRNA abundance, and control of food intake. Besides these preliminary studies, there is no other evidence in fish about hypothalamic pathways related to integration of metabolic information coming from different nutrient sensor systems (glucose, fatty acids, amino acids) into a shared pathway controlling food intake via neuropeptide expression.

Food intake regulation is a complex process in which nutrient sensing systems are apparently involved in fish, in a way again comparable to that of mammals with notable differences including the capacity of several nutrients like MCFA or PUFA to modify food intake control in fish. Again, there is no information regarding the involvement of amino acid sensing systems in fish on food intake regulation, and this clearly needs assessment in the near future. Once characterized such a putative effect, the next step would be the assessment of how and why changes in those sensing systems translate into expression of anorexigenic and orexigenic neuropeptides ultimately regulating food intake. The possible mechanisms are mostly unknown, even in mamamals, and therefore it is quite probable that important differences between fish and mammals arise considering their different gastrointestinal morphology and physiology, and dietary habits.

IMPACT OF NUTRIENT SENSING ON ENERGY HOMEOSTASIS

Nutrient sensing mechanisms in mammals are also implicated in the regulation of energy homeostasis through processes other than food intake (Levin, 2006; Blouet and Schwartz, 2010; Morton et al., 2014), such as hormone secretion and energy expenditure (Morgan et al., 2004; Pocai et al., 2005; Le Foll et al., 2009; Roh et al., 2016). The homeostatic control carried out by nutrient sensing systems occurs at both central and peripheral levels. At the central level, the brain integrates multiple metabolic inputs from the periphery as nutrients, gutderived satiety signals and adiposity-related hormones eliciting a counter-regulatory response in peripheral tissues modulating various aspects of metabolism (Morton et al., 2014; Rogers et al., 2016). At peripheral level, nutrient sensing systems modulate energy metabolism either directly or indirectly through endocrine effectors (Marty et al., 2007; Morton et al., 2014).

Central Nutrient Sensing and Counter-Regulation

Central Nutrient Sensing and Regulation of Hepatic Metabolism

ICV administration of glucose or a LCFA like oleate in mammals results in a decrease of hepatic glucose production and lipogenesis (Obici et al., 2002; Morgan et al., 2004; Migrenne et al., 2011). The downstream mechanism(s) involved are presumably based on sympathetic and parasympathetic systems that provide direct innervations to liver and endocrine pancreas via the splanchnic nerve and vagus nerve, respectively (Morgan et al., 2004; Migrenne et al., 2006; Blouet and Schwartz, 2012; Roh et al., 2016).

In fish, central glucose administration affects liver metabolism. In rainbow trout ICV administration of glucose resulted in liver in decreased levels of glucose and glucose 6-phosphate, increased capacity for glycolysis and glycogenesis, and decreased capacity of glucose export into plasma (Polakof and Soengas, 2008). The presence of glucose in the brain appears to be a signal of energy abundance indicative that no production and release of glucose from liver is necessary to sustain plasma glucose levels (Polakof and Soengas, 2008). Central treatment with oleate or octanoate in rainbow trout also induced changes in several parameters related to fatty acid and glucose metabolism in liver directed to counter-regulate the elevated fatty acid levels detected in the brain (Librán-Pérez et al., 2015c). These changes in liver include increased levels

of glucose and glycogen, decreased levels of fatty acids and total lipids, decreased mRNA abundance of GK and fructose 1,6-bisphosphatase as well as FAS and CPT-1 activities. The changes in glucose metabolism observed in liver are similar to those reported in mammals where ICV administration of oleate (but not octanoate) resulted in a marked decrease of hepatic glucose production via decreased glycogenolysis and glucose release (Obici et al., 2002; Morgan et al., 2004). Furthermore, the results obtained in liver metabolism were similar when comparing central (Librán-Pérez et al., 2015c) and IP (Librán-Pérez et al., 2013b) administration of fatty acid, which would indicate that sensing capacity in liver is indirect and therefore dependent on the previous sensing in brain. These changes in hepatic metabolism after central administration of glucose or fatty acid are indicative of a functional connection between central nutrient sensing and production/release of fuels from liver (Marty et al., 2007). The mechanisms involved are also likely based on sympathetic and parasympathetic systems (Morgan et al., 2004; Migrenne et al., 2006) since, at least in rainbow trout, vagus and splanchnic nerves are present in the gastrointestinal tract though it is not clear whether or not branches of those nerves arrive to the liver (Burnstock, 1959; Seth and Axelsson, 2010).

Interestingly, in rainbow the HPI axis is also likely involved in the counter-regulatory response of liver metabolism to a fall of circulating FA levels, in order to restore the normal values (Librán-Pérez et al., 2014b, 2015d), in a way comparable to that described in mammals (Oh et al., 2012, 2014).

Central Nutrient Sensing and the Pancreatic Counter-Regulatory Response

Central glucose detection is involved in mammals in the pancreatic counter-regulatory response to hypoglycaemia in order to restore normal blood glucose levels (Blouet and Schwartz, 2010). The brain, especially the hypothalamus and brain stem, receives and integrates this information to control the counter-regulatory response by modulating pancreatic insulin and glucagon secretion via the parasympathetic and sympathetic efferent nerves that innervate pancreatic α - and β-cells (Ogunnowo-Bada et al., 2014; Roh et al., 2016). This response involves suppression of insulin secretion, activation of glucagon secretion, activation of catecholamine secretion from the adrenal glands, and the activation of hepatic glucose production by the autonomic nervous system (Marty et al., 2007). Conversely, central glucose administration suppresses the counter-regulatory hormonal responses to hypoglycaemia (Roh et al., 2016). In mammals, several studies demonstrate the involvement of central glucosensors and their components in the counter-regulatory response (Miki et al., 2001; Evans et al., 2004; Sanders et al., 2004; Marty et al., 2005; McCrimmon et al., 2005). These central glucosensors can modulate not only the counter-regulatory response to hypoglycaemia in the pancreatic cells by modulating the glucagon secretion, but also the glucosestimulated insulin secretion in the β -cells, through activation and inhibition of the sympathetic or parasympathetic branches, respectively (Thorens, 2011; Chan and Sherwin, 2012; Osundiji et al., 2012).

In fish, central administration of glucose in rainbow trout resulted in increased GK activity and expression in BB (Polakof and Soengas, 2008). This may suggest an activation of the glucosensor system in BB that could result in increased insulin levels in plasma as part of the system trying to counter-regulate the increase in plasma glucose levels elicited by ICV treatment (Polakof and Soengas, 2008). Other studies carried out in rainbow trout also support the connection between glucose levels and pancreatic function (Polakof et al., 2012a,b). Indeed, plasma insulin levels decrease and plasma glucagon levels increase in fish subjected to natural or experimental deprivation of food (Navarro and Gutiérrez, 1995). Moreover, in zebrafish exposed to high glucose levels, insulin expression was also apparently enhanced (Jurczyk et al., 2011).

Several studies in mammals suggest that not only glucose, but also fatty acid detection in central nutrient sensing areas can alter the pancreatic function through alterations of sympathetic nervous activity (Migrenne et al., 2006; Blouet and Schwartz, 2010). Central administration of lipids that do not change plasma fatty acid concentrations, induce increased glucoseinduced insulin secretion counteracted by the inhibition of β -oxidation (Cruciani-Guglielmacci et al., 2004). Furthermore, oleate injection leads to increments in plasma insulin levels without altering glycaemia, suggesting that fatty acids *per se* can regulate neural control of insulin secretion (Migrenne et al., 2011).

In fish, ICV treatment with oleate or octanoate elicited several changes in BB lipid metabolism (Librán-Pérez et al., 2015c), which, in general, are different than those obtained after IP administration using the same fatty acid (Librán-Pérez et al., 2012) or to those described in mammals after ICV administration of oleate (MacDonald et al., 2008). Therefore, contrary to that observed in mammals, fatty acid sensing in BB of rainbow trout appears to be mainly direct and probably not dependent on previous central sensing. Furthermore, the action of peripheral hormones is probably influencing sensing capacity since results obtained after IP administration of fatty acid *in vivo* differed from those obtained with the same tissue *in vitro* (Librán-Pérez et al., 2013a).

Peripheral Nutrient Sensing and Energy Homeostasis

Metabolic Response of Liver to Changes in Nutrient Abundance

In fish, as in mammals, the regulation of glucose levels in blood depends on the balance between glucose utilization via glycolysis or glycogenesis, and glucose production via gluconeogenesis or glycogenolysis in liver. An imbalance in this regulation could be responsible of glucose intolerance in some fish species (Enes et al., 2009; Polakof et al., 2012a). This regulation relies on the differential response to variations in glycaemia of enzymes involved in hepatic metabolism. GK has been shown to be essential in fish liver for induction by glucose of key glycolytic and lipogenic enzymes and repression of genes involved in gluconeogenesis (Vaulont et al., 2000) thus acting as a glucosensor (Magnuson and Matschinsky, 2004; Polakof et al., 2011d). Thus, many fish species increased GK activity and/or expression as well as glycolytic potential in liver under hyperglycaemic conditions induced by glucose administration or by feeding diets with high contents of carbohydrates (Tranulis et al., 1996; Panserat et al., 2000; Enes et al., 2006, 2009; Conde-Sieira et al., 2010a, 2015b, 2016; Castro et al., 2016).

Changes in circulating levels of glucose also modulated other components of the GK-dependent glucosensing machinery in liver of different fish species (Hemre et al., 2002; Polakof et al., 2008b, 2011d; Enes et al., 2009). These include variations in glucose and glycogen levels, GLUT2 mRNA abundance, glycolytic and glycogenic potentials, and in the activity of K_{ATP}^+ occurred in the liver of hyperglycaemic rainbow trout (Conde-Sieira et al., 2010a, 2012a). Moreover, in rainbow trout fed a carbohydrate-enriched diet an up-regulation occurred in these parameters while feeding a carbohydrate-free diet resulted in a down-regulation (Polakof et al., 2008b). As for GK-independent mechanisms, experimental results obtained in fish liver indicate enhanced mitochondrial activity in response to increased levels of glucose in rainbow trout (Craig et al., 2013; Otero-Rodiño et al., 2016b). However, these responses were not reflected in other fish species such as zebrafish (Seiliez et al., 2013), red sea bream (Liang et al., 2003) or grass carp (Li et al., 2010). Furthermore, experiments in vitro carried out in rainbow trout did not confirm the presence of a glucosensing mechanism in liver mediated by the mitochondrial activity (Otero-Rodiño et al., 2016c). The mechanism based on sweet taste receptor appears to be operative in liver of rainbow trout since the responses obtained with this tissue in vitro (Otero-Rodiño et al., 2016c) are compatible with the responses described in mammalian liver (Treesukosol et al., 2011) although with some differences to those presented in vivo (Otero-Rodiño et al., 2016b). A glucosensor based on the hepatic LXR seems to work differentially in fish liver compared with mammals since gluconeogenesis is not inhibited by hyperglycaemia either induced by glucose administration or by feeding fish with carbohydrate-enriched diets (Panserat et al., 2001; Kirchner et al., 2008; Polakof et al., 2011d; Otero-Rodiño et al., 2016b,c). However, in other fish species such as Senegalese sole, gilthead sea bream or common carp a clear inhibition of gluconeogenesis occurred under hyperglycaemic conditions (Panserat et al., 2002b; Kamalam et al., 2013; Conde-Sieira et al., 2015b, 2016) although no studies regarding glucosensing mechanisms based on LXR are available in these species.

Other metabolic sensors regulate intermediary metabolism in mammals through control of intracellular glucose use (Polakof et al., 2012a), including AMPK (activated when the energy level in the cell is low) or mTOR (activated when the levels of nutrients increase). In fish, AMPK phosphorylation decreased in liver and mTOR phosphorylation increased in liver and muscle of rainbow trout under post-prandial conditions (Seiliez et al., 2008; Lansard et al., 2010; Polakof et al., 2011e). Furthermore, the pharmacological activation of hepatic AMPK and the inhibition of mTOR pathway induce glucose catabolism and increased gluconeogenesis besides decreased glycolysis in trout liver, respectively (Lansard et al., 2010; Polakof et al., 2011e). These findings suggest the existence in fish of a system induced by feeding carbohydrates with similar consequences on glucose metabolism as those observed in mammals (Seiliez et al., 2008; Lansard et al., 2010; Polakof et al., 2011e). Moreover, under hyperglycaemic conditions a decrease in the mRNA abundance of sirtuin-1 (another integrative nutrient sensor) is observed in liver and BB of rainbow trout (Otero-Rodiño et al., 2016b), similar to that described in mammals (Ruderman et al., 2010; Velásquez et al., 2011). Therefore, evidences exist in fish regarding the functioning of integrative energy and nutrient sensors in response to changes in the levels of a nutrient like glucose (Otero-Rodiño et al., 2016b).

Increased circulating fatty acid levels also induce metabolic changes in liver of fish as in mammals, in order to restore normal conditions. High content of lipids in the diet reduce lipogenic potential and increases β -oxidation in the liver of many fish species (Dias et al., 2004; Figueiredo-Silva et al., 2010; Borges et al., 2013; He et al., 2015; Librán-Pérez et al., 2015b; Li et al., 2016). Furthermore, dietary lipid level affects glucose metabolism inducing hyperglycaemia, and reducing glycolytic capacity and increasing gluconeogenic potential in liver, as described in several fish species like rainbow trout (Gélineau et al., 2001; Panserat et al., 2002a; Figueiredo-Silva et al., 2012a,b), other salmonids (Mazur et al., 1992; Hemre and Sandnes, 1999), grouper (Cheng et al., 2006), sunshine bass (Hutchins et al., 1998), and Senegalese sole (Borges et al., 2014). The long-term use of lipid-enriched diets in fish can compromise glucose homeostasis due to an impairment on insulin signaling and a down regulation of the Akt and mTOR pathways, as observed in rainbow trout or Senegalese sole (Panserat et al., 2002a; Figueiredo-Silva et al., 2012b; Borges et al., 2014).

Several of the putative components of fatty acid sensing mechanisms are present in fish liver (Kolditz et al., 2008; Plagnes-Juan et al., 2008; Lansard et al., 2009; Skiba-Cassy et al., 2009; Polakof et al., 2010b). Moreover, the peripheral administration of oleate or octanoate induces in rainbow trout enhanced fatty acid catabolism as well as reduced lipogenic and glycolytic potentials, suggesting a direct action of fatty acid administration on hepatic glucose and lipid metabolism (Librán-Pérez et al., 2013b). However, under in vitro conditions (Librán-Pérez et al., 2013c), administration of oleate or octanoate induces changes opposed of those observed in vivo, which indicates that fatty acid sensing capacity in liver is indirect and probably be the result of previous hypothalamic sensing. The finding that ICV treatment in rainbow trout with the same fatty acid induced changes in fatty acid sensing systems (Librán-Pérez et al., 2015c) similar to those obtained after IP treatment supports this hypothesis.

Nutrient Sensing in BB and the Modulation of Hormone Release

In mammals, the glucosensing mechanism based on GK present in pancreatic β -cells is involved in modulation of insulin release in response to changes in blood glucose levels (Rutter et al., 2015), which therefore constitutes an essential mechanism for the maintenance of glucose homeostasis (MacDonald et al., 2005; Polakof et al., 2011d).

Experimental evidences suggest that a glucosensor system linked to insulin secretion is present in pancreatic endocrine cells in fish. Indeed, insulin release is stimulated by glucose

(Epple et al., 1987; Mommsen and Plisetskaya, 1991; Hrytsenko et al., 2008; Jurczyk et al., 2011) as well as by 2-deoxyglucose, mannose and K⁺ (Ronner and Scarpa, 1987; Ronner, 1991) and inhibited under hypoglycaemia induced by food deprivation (Navarro and Gutiérrez, 1995). These changes may relate to those observed in the pancreatic glucosensor system in fish under altered conditions of glycaemia. In rainbow trout BB these include increased GK activity and expression, GLUT2 expression, glycolytic capacity as well as glucose and glycogen levels in hyperglycaemic fish (Polakof et al., 2007a,b). In the same species, feeding fish with diets enriched in carbohydrates upregulates glucosensing response in BB whereas feeding fish with diets poor in carbohydrates resulted in a down-regulation of glucosensing response in the same tissue (Polakof et al., 2008b,c). Some GKindependent mechanisms also present in BB of rainbow trout respond to increased levels of glucose with changes in parameters related to mitochondrial activity, LXR, and sweet taste receptor both in vivo (Otero-Rodiño et al., 2016b) and in vitro (Otero-Rodiño et al., 2016c).

In mammals, lipid metabolism in the β -cell is also critical for the normal regulation of insulin secretion (MacDonald et al., 2008) and fatty acids directly regulate insulin release from pancreatic β -cells (Nolan et al., 2006). In fish, the available experimental results also demonstrate enhanced insulin release in response to increase levels of fatty acid (Barma et al., 2006). Moreover, insulin treatment in rainbow trout enhances the potential of lipogenesis and decreases the potential of fatty acid oxidation in several tissues (Plagnes-Juan et al., 2008; Lansard et al., 2010; Polakof et al., 2010b, 2011d; Caruso and Sheridan, 2011). In rainbow trout, the decreased mRNA levels of FAS and CPT1c in BB after treatment with oleate or octanoate (Librán-Pérez et al., 2012) suggest that components of putative fatty acid sensing systems respond in BB to increased fatty acid levels. This response could modulate insulin secretion from this tissue, as reported in mammals (Keane and Newsholme, 2014), with the main difference that in fish fatty acid sensing systems are also responsive to a MCFA like octanoate. This mechanism appear to be mainly the result of a direct action of fatty acid in β-cells (Librán-Pérez et al., 2013a) though an indirect action by previous hypothalamic sensing mediated by vagal and/or splanchnic outflow cannot be discarded (Librán-Pérez et al., 2015c).

Glucosensing Capacity in Gut

The gastrointestinal tract in mammals has an important role in the complex signaling network that controls food intake, metabolism and energy homeostasis since it releases several energy-related gastrointestinal hormones that send nutritional information to the control areas in the brain through afferent nerves (Schwartz et al., 2000; Roh et al., 2016). Accordingly, the presence of nutrient sensing mechanisms have been proposed in mammalian enteroendocrine cells (Miguel-Aliaga, 2012) and enterocytes (Pfannkuche and Gäbel, 2009). Glucose can be sensed in the gastrointestinal tract by mechanisms dependent on sweet taste receptors and gustducin, which are activated by glucose leading to the release of glucagon-like peptide 1 (GLP-1) and gastric inhibitory polypeptide (Kokrashvili et al., 2009; Miguel-Aliaga, 2012). Other glucosensing mechanisms controlling hormonal release in mammalian gastrointestinal tract involve electrogenic or metabolic processes mediated by SGLT-1 and GLUT2/GK (Miguel-Aliaga, 2012).

In fish intestine, histochemical studies evidence the presence of components of different glucosensing systems (SGLT-1 and GK) in enterocytes and enteroendocrine cells of rainbow trout (Polakof et al., 2010a). Furthermore, molecular evidence also pointed to the presence in fish intestine of glucosensing mechanisms involving components of metabolic (GK/GLUT2), electrogenic (SGLT-1), nuclear (LXR) and sweet taste receptor systems (Ishimaru et al., 2005; Geurden et al., 2007; Hashiguchi et al., 2007; Kirchner et al., 2008; Cruz-García et al., 2009; Polakof et al., 2010a). However, only few studies characterized the response of these systems in intestine to increased levels of glucose. In black bullhead enterocytes enhanced glucose uptake through SGLT-1 occurred in fish fed a diet rich in carbohydrates (Soengas and Moon, 1998) whereas in zebrafish GLUT2 mRNA abundance in intestine changed in parallel with changes in glucose levels (Castillo et al., 2009). In rainbow trout, increased glycogen levels, GK activity, glycolytic capacity, and transcript levels of GK, SGLT-1, and LXR, as well as decreased transcript levels of T1R and gustducin occurred in intestine of hyperglycemic trout (Polakof et al., 2010a; Polakof and Soengas, 2013). These systems seem to operate in fish in a different way compared with other vertebrate species (Polakof and Soengas, 2013) but certainly appear to be functional, and thus presumably involved in fish gastrointestinal physiology, especially through production and release of gastrointestinal hormones.

Possible Glucosensing Capacity in Head Kidney and Its Role on Cortisol Release

One study using head kidney perifused cultures in rainbow trout demonstrated that in the presence of ACTH, cortisol release increased in parallel with the increase of glucose in the medium (Conde-Sieira et al., 2013). These changes could relate to the presence of a glucosensing system in putative interrenal cells in head kidney that would respond to glucose levels in a way similar to that of pancreatic β -cells for insulin release. Accordingly, immunohistochemical studies indicate the presence of GK protein in interrenal cells and SGLT-1 protein in both interrenal and chromaffin cells of rainbow trout (Conde-Sieira et al., 2013). However, metabolite levels and enzymes activities involved in glucosensing mechanisms did not show a clear response to changes in circulating glucose levels in head kidney of rainbow trout, probably due to the high cellular heterogeneity of the tissue assessed (Conde-Sieira et al., 2013). A further study in rainbow trout (Gesto et al., 2014) supports that cortisol release under stress conditions in rainbow trout might relate to hyperglycemia previously elicited by catecholamine action.

As a whole, the nutrient sensing systems characterized in fish are involved in the regulation of energy homeostasis through mechanisms other than regulation of food intake. The evidence obtained in recent years pointed to a role of these systems in counter-regulatory mechanisms as well as in the regulation of hormone release, though the evidence is preliminary in some cases.

ENDOCRINE MODULATION OF NUTRIENT SENSING

Several hormones modulate the response of nutrient sensing systems in mammals to changes in the levels of nutrients. These hormones provide information about homeostasis, status of energy stores, and the presence of food and its composition in the gastrointestinal tract. These include ghrelin, insulin, leptin, cholecystokinin (CCK), GLP-1, adiponectins, cannabinoids, and glucocorticoids (Diéguez et al., 2009; Blouet and Schwartz, 2010; Morton et al., 2014).

Results obtained in recent years in fish provide evidence for the modulatory role of several of these hormones in the activity of nutrient sensing systems as well as in the mRNA abundance of neuropeptides related to the control of food intake. Moreover, several of these hormones modulate peripheral nutrient sensing systems.

As in other vertebrates, insulin administration modifies glucose and lipid metabolism in fish, by enhancing the glucose uptake in liver and muscle, increasing hepatic glycolytic and lipogenic potentials, and depressing gluconeogenesis and fatty acid oxidation (Mommsen and Plisetskaya, 1991; Plagnes-Juan et al., 2008; Jin et al., 2014). The effects on lipid metabolism depend on the dose of insulin administered as well as the feeding status of fish (Polakof et al., 2010b, 2011f). Insulin is present and synthesized in fish brain (Caruso et al., 2008) where insulin receptors are also present (Gutiérrez and Plisetskaya, 1994; Leibush et al., 1996). Insulin treatment resulted in contradictory effects in food intake in fish. In rainbow trout IP administration of insulin inhibited (Librán-Pérez et al., 2015a) or activated (Polakof et al., 2008a; Conde-Sieira et al., 2010b) food intake whereas ICV treatment with insulin inhibited food intake in rainbow trout (Soengas and Aldegunde, 2004) but not in catfish (Silverstein and Plisetskaya, 2000). The putative anorectic effects of insulin would be in agreement with the increased anorexigenic potential elicited by insulin treatment as demonstrated increased mRNA abundance of CART in rainbow trout (Librán-Pérez et al., 2015a) and catfish (Subhedar et al., 2011) as well as decreased NPY mRNA abundance in rainbow trout (Librán-Pérez et al., 2015a). As for insulin capacity to modulate the activity of nutrient sensing systems, its administration in rainbow trout inhibits glucosensing response in hypothalamus, hindbrain, BB, and intestine (Polakof et al., 2007a, 2008a, 2010b; Conde-Sieira et al., 2010b). As for fatty acid sensing systems, no clear effects of insulin treatment were observed in rainbow trout hypothalamus (Librán-Pérez et al., 2015a), in contrast to mammals (Duca and Yue, 2014). However, in liver and BB insulin treatment potentiates the effect of oleate and octanoate on fatty acid sensing systems (Librán-Pérez et al., 2015a).

Leptin treatment is usually anorectic in fish as demonstrated studies in rainbow trout (Murashita et al., 2008; Kling et al., 2009; Aguilar et al., 2010; Gong et al., 2016a), goldfish (Volkoff et al., 2003; de Pedro et al., 2006; Vivas et al., 2011) and striped bass (Won et al., 2012). This anorectic effect occurred in parallel with changes in the expression of neuropeptides generally indicating an enhanced anorexigenic potential. Thus, leptin treatment induced a decrease in NPY mRNA levels in hypothalamus of rainbow trout (Murashita et al., 2008; Aguilar et al., 2011), hypothalamus and telencephalon of goldfish (Volkoff et al., 2003), and in whole brain in grass carp (Li et al., 2010). POMC mRNA abundance increased in response to leptin treatment in rainbow trout (Murashita et al., 2008; Aguilar et al., 2011; Gong et al., 2016a). Leptin treatment also increased CART mRNA levels in hypothalamus of goldfish (Volkoff and Peter, 2001), catfish (Subhedar et al., 2011), and rainbow trout (Murashita et al., 2008; Aguilar et al., 2011; Gong et al., 2016a). Furthermore, leptin receptor knockout for medaka displayed (compared with the wild type) a higher food intake, as well as decreased POMC mRNA abundance, and increased NPY and AgRP mRNA abundance (Chisada et al., 2014) whereas zebrafish knockout for leptin displayed changes in mRNA abundance of genes related to glucose but not to lipid metabolism (Michel et al., 2016). The anorectic effects of leptin could relate, at least in part, to the activation of nutrient sensing systems. In fact, leptin treatment clearly activates central glucosensing systems in rainbow trout (Aguilar et al., 2010, 2011). There is little evidence for the action of leptin on nutrient sensing systems in peripheral tissues of fish. The only available study showed that ICV leptin treatment in rainbow trout did not affect liver glucosensing capacity, although an increased glycogenolytic potential possibly mediated by the activation of the sympathetic nervous system occurred in rainbow trout liver (Aguilar et al., 2010).

Few studies have assessed the effects of GLP-1 on food intake in fish to date. GLP-1 treatment resulted in an inhibition of food intake in catfish (Silverstein et al., 2001) and coho salmon (White et al., 2016) but not in channel catfish (Schroeter et al., 2015). In rainbow trout GLP-1 treatment (Polakof et al., 2011b) elicited in hypothalamus and hindbrain the activation of glucosensing systems with increased mRNA abundance of CART and POMC, and decreased mRNA abundance of NPY, i.e., changes clearly indicative of enhanced anorexigenic potential. In the same species, GLP-1 IP treatment also resulted in the activation of GK-mediated glucosensing mechanism in liver (Polakof et al., 2011b).

Treatments with CCK produce anorectic responses in fish as demonstrated in rainbow trout (Gélineau and Boujard, 2001; Jönsson et al., 2006), coho salmon (White et al., 2016), goldfish (Himick and Peter, 1994; Kang et al., 2010), catfish (Silverstein and Plisetskaya, 2000), sea bass (Rubio et al., 2008), and winter flounder (MacDonald and Volkoff, 2009). Furthermore, CCK treatment in rainbow trout activated glucosensing capacity in hypothalamus and hindbrain (Polakof et al., 2011a), and this is accompanied by decreased NPY mRNA levels in hindbrain and hypothalamus, thus supporting increased anorexigenic potential. In liver of rainbow trout IP administration of CCK also activated glucosensing capacity (Polakof et al., 2011a).

The effects of ghrelin treatment on food intake in fish are controversial. Increases were noted in goldfish (Miura et al., 2006), brown trout (Tinoco et al., 2014), rainbow trout (Velasco et al., 2016a,b), striped sea bass (Picha et al., 2009) or cavefish (Penney and Volkoff, 2014) whereas decreases occurred in rainbow trout (Jönsson et al., 2010), channel

catfish (Schroeter et al., 2015), and tilapia (Peddu et al., 2009). In rainbow trout ghrelin treatment activates central glucosensing systems (Polakof et al., 2011c), an effect opposed of that in mammals (Wang et al., 2008). In contrast ghrelin treatment induces an inhibition of fatty acid sensing systems in rainbow trout hypothalamus and hindbrain (Velasco et al., 2016a,b) in a way similar to that described in mammals, and these changes agree with those of mRNA abundance of neuropeptides that decreased for POMC/CART and increased for AgRP/NPY. Increased mRNA abundance of NPY occurred in hypothalamus of ghrelin-treated goldfish (Miura et al., 2006). Central ghrelin treatment also modulates indirectly hepatic liver metabolism resulting in increased potential for lipogenesis and decreased potential for fatty acid oxidation, as indicative of inhibition of fatty acid sensing (Velasco et al., 2016c).

A reduction in food intake is a typical response to stress in fish, and at least part of this response might depend on changes in the ability of stress to alter nutrient sensing systems regulating food intake. A readjustment in the activity of hypothalamic glucosensing mechanisms occurred in stressed rainbow trout (Conde-Sieira et al., 2010a; Otero-Rodiño et al., 2015). This effect might relate to any of the components of the HPI axis such as corticotropin releasing factor (CRF), which is involved in the effects of stress on food intake in mammals (Evans et al., 2004; McCrimmon et al., 2006). Accordingly, the treatment of rainbow trout hypothalamus with CRF altered functioning of glucosensing mechanisms (Conde-Sieira et al., 2011) in a way similar to that observed under stress conditions (Conde-Sieira et al., 2010a).

Finally, melatonin is mainly involved in fish in the timing of rhythmic events, but also in growth, endocrine function, and metabolism (Falcón et al., 2010). In rainbow trout, melatonin *in vitro* treatment in hypothalamic tissue activated glucosensing mechanisms and elicited a response in the expression of neuropeptides compatible with an enhancement of orexigenic potential (Conde-Sieira et al., 2012a). In contrast, in liver a clear down-regulation of glucosensing potential occurred in response to melatonin treatment (Conde-Sieira et al., 2012b). This differential tissue response to melatonin treatment might relate to the day-night differences in glucosensing capacity observed in liver of rainbow trout (Conde-Sieira et al., 2012b).

In summary, several hormones involved in the regulation of energy homeostasis are involved in the modulation of glucose and fatty acid sensing systems in fish. Despite most studies were carried out with glucosensing systems, few with fatty acid sensing systems and none with putative amino acid sensing systems, a preliminary conclusion can be obtained in a way that anorexigenic/anabolic hormones demonstrated to activate nutrient sensing systems whereas orexigenic/catabolic hormones inhibit them. There are differences in the direction and magnitude of the responses compared with the mammalian model, which among other reasons might relate to the high degree of hormone variants present in fish (as a result of their additional genome duplication), and/or to the clear difference in dietary habits between both models.



CONCLUSIONS

Research carried out in recent years provided information for the presence and functioning of putative nutrient sensing systems either in peripheral or central areas of the few fish species assessed to date regarding this issue, mainly rainbow trout, as summarized in **Figure 4**.

The main role of these systems is to participate in the control of homeostasis through modulation of feeding behavior or other processes such as energy expenditure or hormone secretion. The known mechanisms are comparable to those of mammals in several aspects but clear differences arise in others, such as the fish capacity of detecting changes in circulating levels of MCFA or PUFA. These differences between fish and mammals might relate to at least three different reasons, among others. A first reason might relate to the large importance of amino acids for metabolic purposes in fish, not only in carnivorous but also in herbivorous and omnivorous species. A second reason may be due to the high variety of dietary fish habits resulting in large differences in gastrointestinal morphology and function. A third reason may rely on the existence in fish of multiple gene variants

REFERENCES

- Aguilar, A. J., Conde-Sieira, M., López-Patiño, M. A., Míguez, J. M., and Soengas, J. L. (2011). *In vitro* leptin treatment of rainbow trout hypothalamus and hindbrain affects glucosensing and gene expression of neuropeptides involved in food intake regulation. *Peptides* 32, 232–240. doi: 10.1016/j.peptides.2010.11.007
- Aguilar, A. J., Conde-Sieira, M., Polakof, S., Míguez, J. M., and Soengas, J. L. (2010). Central leptin treatment modulates brain glucosensing function and peripheral energy metabolism of rainbow trout. *Peptides* 31, 1044–1054. doi: 10.1016/j.peptides.2010.02.026
- Agulleiro, M. J., Cortés, R., Fernández-Durán, B., Guillot, R., Navarro, S., Meimaridou, E., et al. (2013). Melanocortin 4 receptor becomes an ACTH receptor by coexpression of melanocortin receptor accessory protein 2. *Mol. Endocrinol.* 27, 1934–1945. doi: 10.1210/me. 2013-1099

in neuropeptides, hormones, and metabolic effectors resulting from the additional gene duplication of actinopterygians. The assessment of these topics, together with the possible presence and functioning of amino acid sensing systems in fish, as well as the elucidation of signaling pathways linking activity of sensors with the effectors controlling homeostasis, such as expression of neuropeptides controlling food intake, hormone secretion or metabolic changes, are open questions demanding further research in the near future.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

Both authors designed the paper, wrote and approved the final version of the manuscript.

FUNDING

The authors acknowledge grants from Spanish Agencia Estatal de Investigación and European Fund for Regional Development (AGL2016-74857-C3-R and FEDER) to JS. MC was recipient of a postdoctoral fellowship from Xunta de Galicia.

- Anthonisen, E. H., Berven, L., Holm, S., Nygård, M., Nebb, H. I., and Grønning-Wang, L. M. (2010). Nuclear receptor liver X receptor is O-GlcNAc-modified in response to glucose. J. Biol. Chem. 285, 1607–1615. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M109.082685
- Archer, A., Laurencikiene, J., Ahmed, O., Steffensen, K. R., Parini, P., Gustafsson, J. A., et al. (2014). Skeletal muscle as a target of LXR agonist after long-term treatment: focus on lipid homeostasis. *Am. J. Physiol. Endocrinol. Metab.* 306, E494–E502. doi: 10.1152/ajpendo.00410.2013
- Babaei, S., Sáez, A., Caballero-Solares, A., Fernández, F., Baanante, I. V., and Metón, I. (2017). Effect of dietary macronutrients on the expression of cholecystokinin, leptin, ghrelin and neuropeptide Y in gilthead sea bream (*Sparus aurata*). *Gen. Comp. Endocrinol.* 240, 121–128. doi: 10.1016/j.ygcen. 2016.10.003
- Balasubramanian, M. N., Panserat, S., Dupont-Nivet, M., Quillet, E., Montfort, J., Le Cam, A., et al. (2016). Molecular pathways associated with the nutritional programming of plant-based diet acceptance in rainbow trout following

an early feeding exposure. BMC Genomics 17:449. doi: 10.1186/s12864-016-2804-1

- Barma, P., Dey, D., Basu, D., Roy, S. S., and Bhattacharya, S. (2006). Nutritionally induced insulin resistance in an Indian perch: a possible model for type 2 diabetes. *Curr. Sci.* 90, 188–194.
- Beall, C., Piipari, K., Al-Qassab, H., Smith, M. A., Parker, N., Carling, D., et al. (2010). Loss of AMP-activated protein kinase α2 subunit in mouse β-cells impairs glucose-stimulated insulin secretion and inhibits their sensitivity to hypoglycaemia. *Biochem. J.* 429, 323–333. doi: 10.1042/BJ20100231
- Benoit, S. C., Kemp, C. J., Elias, C. F., Abplanalp, W., Herman, J. P., Migrenne, S., et al. (2009). Palmitic acid mediates hypothalamic insulin resistance by altering PKC-O subcellular localization in rodents. *J. Clin. Invest.* 119, 2577–2589. doi: 10.1172/JCI36714
- Berthoud, H. R. (2002). Multiple neural systems controlling food intake and body weight. *Neurosci. Biobehav. Rev.* 26, 393–428. doi: 10.1016/S0149-7634(02)00014-3
- Berthoud, H. R., and Morrison, C. (2008). The brain, appetite, and obesity. *Annu. Rev. Psychol.* 59, 55–92. doi: 10.1146/annurev.psych.59.103006.093551
- Betancor, M. B., Howarth, F. J., Glencross, B. D., and Tocher, D. R. (2014). Influence of dietary docosahexanoic acid in combination with other long-chain polyunsaturated fatty acids on expression of biosynthesis genes and phospholipid fatty acid compositions in tissues of post-smolt Atlantic salmon (*Salmo salar*). Comp. Biochem. Physiol. B. 172, 74–89. doi: 10.1016/j.cbpb.2014.04.007
- Blouet, C., and Schwartz, G. J. (2010). Hypothalamic nutrient sensing in the control of energy homeostasis. *Behav. Brain Res.* 209, 1–12. doi: 10.1016/j.bbr.2009.12.024
- Blouet, C., and Schwartz, G. J. (2012). Brainstem nutrient sensing in the nucleus of the solitary tract inhibits feeding. *Cell Metab.* 16, 579–587. doi: 10.1016/j.cmet.2012.10.003
- Bonacic, K., Campoverde, C., Gómez-Arbones, J., Gisbert, E., Estevez, A., and Morais, S. (2016). Dietary fatty acid composition affects food intake and gut-brain satiety signaling in Senegalese sole (*Solea senegalensis*, Kaup 1858) larvae and post-larvae. *Gen. Comp. Endocrinol.* 228, 79–94. doi: 10.1016/j.ygcen.2016.02.002
- Borges, P., Medale, F., Dias, J., and Valente, L. M. (2013). Protein utilisation and intermediary metabolism of Senegalese sole (*Solea senegalensis*) as a function of protein:lipid ratio. *Br. J. Nutr.* 109, 1373–1381. doi: 10.1017/S0007114512003418
- Borges, P., Valente, L. M., Veron, V., Dias, K., Panserat, S., and Medale, F. (2014). High dietary lipid level is associated with persistent hyperglycaemia and downregulation of muscle Akt-mTOR pathway in Senegalese sole (*Solea* senegalensis). PLoS ONE 9:e102196. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0102196
- Burnstock, G. (1959). The innervation of the gut of the brown trout (*Salmo trutta*). *Quart. J. Microsc. Sci.* 100, 199–219.
- Capilla, E., Médale, F., Navarro, I., Panserat, S., Vachot, C., Kaushik, S., et al. (2003). Muscle insulin binding and plasma levels in relation to liver glucokinase activity, glucose metabolism and dietary carbohydrates in rainbow trout. *Reg. Peptides* 110, 123–132. doi: 10.1016/S0167-0115(02)00212-4
- Caruso, M. A., Kittilson, J. D., Raine, J., and Sheridan, M. A. (2008). Rainbow trout (*Oncorhynchus mykiss*) possess two insulin-encoding mRNAs that are differentially expressed. *Gen. Comp. Endocrinol.* 155, 695–704. doi: 10.1016/j.ygcen.2007.09.006
- Caruso, M. A., and Sheridan, M. A. (2011). New insights into the signaling system and function of insulin in fish. *Gen. Comp. Endocrinol.* 173, 227–247. doi: 10.1016/j.ygcen.2011.06.014
- Castillo, J., Crespo, D., Capilla, E., Díaz, M., Chauvigné, F., Cerda, J., et al. (2009). Evolutionary structural and functional conservation of an ortholog of the GLUT2 glucose transporter gene (SLC2A2) in zebrafish. Am. J. Physiol. Regul. Integr. Comp. Physiol. 297, R1570–R1581. doi: 10.1152/ajpregu.00430.2009
- Castro, C., Corraze, G., Firmino-Diógenes, A., Larroquet, L., Panserat, S., and Oliva-Teles, A. (2016). Regulation of glucose and lipid metabolism by dietary carbohydrate levels and lipid sources in gilthead sea bream juveniles. *Br. J. Nutr.* 116, 19–34. doi: 10.1017/S000711451600163X
- Castro, C., Corraze, G., Pérez-Jimenez, A., Larroquet, L., Cluzeaud, M., Panserat, S., et al. (2015). Dietary carbohydrate and lipid source affect cholesterol metabolism of European sea bass (*Dicentrarchus labrax*) juveniles. *Br. J. Nutr.* 114, 1143–1156. doi: 10.1017/S0007114515002731

- Cerdá-Reverter, J. M., and Canosa, L. F. (2009). "Neuroendocrine systems of the fish brain," in *Fish Neuroendocrinology*, eds N. J. Bernier, G. J. Van der Kraak, A. P. Farrell, and C. J. Brauner (Amsterdam: Elsevier), 3–74.
- Cerdá-Reverter, J. M., and Peter, R. E. (2003). Endogenous melanocortin antagonist in fish: structure, brain mapping, and regulation by fasting of the goldfish agouti-related protein gene. *Endocrinology* 144, 3552–4561. doi: 10.1210/en.2003-0453
- Chan, O., and Sherwin, R. S. (2012). Hypothalamic regulation of glucosestimulated insulin secretion. *Diabetes* 61, 564–565. doi: 10.2337/db11-1846
- Chen, H., Huang, H., Chen, X., Deng, S., Zhu, C., Huang, H., et al. (2016). Structural and functional characterization of neuromedin S in the teleost fish, zebrafish (*Danio rerio*). Comp. Biochem. Physiol. B. 191, 76–83. doi: 10.1016/j.cbpb.2015.09.007
- Cheng, A.-C., Chen, C.-Y., Liou, C.-H., and Chang, C.-F. (2006). Effects of dietary protein and lipids on blood parameters and superoxide anion production in the grouper, epinephelus coioides (*Serranidae: Epinephelinae*). Zool. Stud. 45, 492–502.
- Chisada, S., Kurokawa, T., Murashita, K., Rønnestad, I., Taniguchi, Y., Toyoda, A., et al. (2014). Leptin receptor-deficient (knockout) medaka, *Oryzias latipes*, show chronical up-regulated levels of orexigenic neuropeptides, elevated food intake and stage specific effects on growth and fat allocation. *Gen. Comp. Endocrinol.* 195, 9–20. doi: 10.1016/j.ygcen.2013.10.008
- Conde-Sieira, M., Aguilar, A. J., López-Patiño, M. A., Míguez, J. M., and Soengas, J. L. (2010a). Stress alters food intake and glucosensing response in hypothalamus, hindbrain, liver, and Brockmann bodies of rainbow trout. *Physiol. Behav.* 101, 483–493. doi: 10.1016/j.physbeh.2010.07.016
- Conde-Sieira, M., Agulleiro, M. J., Aguilar, A. J., Míguez, J. M., Cerdá-Reverter, J. M., and Soengas, J. L. (2010b). Effect of different glycaemic conditions on gene expression of neuropeptides involved in control of food intake in rainbow trout; interaction with stress. J. Exp. Biol. 213, 3858–3865. doi: 10.1242/jeb.048439
- Conde-Sieira, M., Alvarez, R., López Patiño, M. A., Míguez, J. M., Flik, G., and Soengas, J. L. (2013). ACTH-stimulated cortisol release from head kidney of rainbow trout is modulated by glucose concentration. *J. Exp. Biol.* 216, 554–567. doi: 10.1242/jeb.076505
- Conde-Sieira, M., Bonacic, K., Velasco, C., Valente, L. M., Morais, S., and Soengas, J. L. (2015a). Hypothalamic fatty acid sensing in Senegalese sole (*Solea senegalensis*): response to long-chain saturated, monounsaturated, and polyunsaturated (n-3) fatty acids. *Am. J. Physiol. Regul. Integr. Comp. Physiol.* 309, R1521–R1531. doi: 10.1152/ajpregu.00386.2015
- Conde-Sieira, M., Librán-Pérez, M., López Patiño, M. A., Míguez, J. M., and Soengas, J. L. (2011). CRF treatment indices a readjustment in glucosensing capacity in the hypothalamus and hindbrain of rainbow trout. *J. Exp. Biol.* 214, 3887–3894. doi: 10.1242/jeb.061564
- Conde-Sieira, M., Librán-Pérez, M., López Patiño, M. A., Soengas, J. L., and Míguez, J. M. (2012a). Melatonin treatment alters glucosensing capacity and mRNA expression levels of peptides related to food intake control in rainbow trout hypothalamus. *Gen. Comp. Endocrinol.* 178, 131–138. doi: 10.1016/j.ygcen.2012.04.011
- Conde-Sieira, M., López-Patiño, M. A., Míguez, J. M., and Soengas, J. L. (2012b). Glucosensing capacity in rainbow trout liver displays day-night variations possibly related to melatonin action. *J. Exp. Biol.* 215, 3112–3119. doi: 10.1242/jeb.069740
- Conde-Sieira, M., Salas-Leiton, E., Duarte, M. M., Pelusio, N. F., Soengas, J. L., and Valente, L. M. P. (2016). Short- and long-term metabolic responses to diets with different protein: carbohydrate ratio in Senegalese sole (*Solea senegalensis*, Kaup 1858). Br. J. Nutr. 115, 1896–1910. doi: 10.1017/S0007114516001057
- Conde-Sieira, M., Soengas, J. L., and Valente, L. M. P. (2015b). Potential capacity of Senegalese sole (*Solea senegalensis*) to use carbohydrates: metabolic responses to hypo- and hyper-glycaemia. *Aquaculture* 438, 59–67. doi: 10.1016/j.aquaculture.2014.12.042
- Craig, P. M., Massarsky, A., and Moon, T. W. (2013). Understanding glucose uptake during methionine deprivation in incubated rainbow trout (Oncorhynchus mykiss) hepatocytes using a non-radioactive method. Comp. Biochem. Physiol. B. 166, 23–29. doi: 10.1016/j.cbpb.2013.06.005
- Cruciani-Guglielmacci, C., Hervalet, A., Douared, L., Sanders, N. M., Levin, B. E., Ktorza, A., et al. (2004). Beta oxidation in the brain is required for the effects of non-esterified fatty acids on glucose-induced insulin secretion in rats. *Diabetologia* 47, 2032–2038. doi: 10.1007/s00125-004-1569-2

- Cruz-García, L., Minghetti, M., Navarro, I., and Tocher, D. R. (2009). Molecular cloning, tissue expression and regulation of liver X Receptor (LXR) transcription factors of Atlantic salmon (*Salmo salar*) and rainbow trout (*Oncorhynchus mykiss*). *Comp. Biochem. Physiol. B.* 153, 81–88. doi: 10.1016/j.cbpb.2009.02.001
- Davis, D. A., Lazo, J. P., and Arnold, C. R. (1999). Response of juvenile red drum (*Sciaenops ocellatus*) to practical diets supplemented with medium chain triglycerides. *Fish Physiol. Biochem.* 21, 235–247. doi: 10.1023/A:10 07836612376
- de Pedro, N., Martínez-Álvarez, R., and Delgado, M. J. (2006). Acute and chronic leptin reduces food intake and body weight in goldfish (*Carassius auratus*). J. Endocrinol. 188, 513–520. doi: 10.1677/joe.1.06349
- Diano, S., and Horvath, K. (2012). Mitochondrial uncoupling protein 2 (UCP2) in glucose and lipid metabolimsm. *Trends Molec. Med.* 18, 52–58. doi: 10.1016/j.molmed.2011.08.003
- Dias, J., Rueda-Jasso, R., Panserat, S., da Conceicao, L. E. C., Gomes, E. F., and Dinis, M. T. (2004). Effect of dietary carbohydrate-to-lipid ratios on growth, lipid deposition and metabolic hepatic enzymes in juvenile Senegalese sole (*Solea senegalensis*, Kaup). Aquacult. Res. 35, 1122–1130. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2109.2004.01135.x
- Diéguez, C., Frühbeck, G., and López, M. (2009). Hypothalamic lipids and the regulation of energy homeostasis. *Obes. Fact.* 2, 126–135. doi: 10.1159/000209251
- Diéguez, C., Vazquez, M. J., Romero, A., López, M., and Nogueiras, R. (2011). Hypothalamic control of lipid metabolism: focus on leptin, ghrelin and melanocortins. *Neuroendocrinology* 94, 1–11. doi: 10.1159/000328122
- Díez-Sampedro, A., Hirayama, B. A., Osswald, C., Gorboulev, V., Baumgarten, K., Volk, C., et al. (2003). A glucose sensor hiding in a family of transporters. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 100, 11753–11758. doi: 10.1073/pnas.1733027100
- Donovan, C. M., and Watts, A. G. (2014). Peripheral and central glucose sensing in hypoglycemic detection. *Physiology* 29, 314–324. doi: 10.1152/physiol.00069.2013
- Duca, F. A., and Yue, J. T. (2014). Fatty acid sensing in the gut and the hypothalamus: *in vivo* and *in vitro* perspectives. *Mol. Cell Endocrinol.* 397, 23–33. doi: 10.1016/j.mce.2014.09.022
- Efeyan, A., Comb, W. C., and Sabatini, D. M. (2015). Nutrient sensing mechanisms and pathways. *Nature* 517, 302–310. doi: 10.1038/nature14190
- Ekberg, J. H., Hauge, M., Kristensen, L. V., Madsen, A. N., Engelstoft, M. S., Husted, A.-S., et al. (2016). GPR119, a major enteroendocrine sensor of dietary triglyceride metabolites co acting in synergy with FFA1 (GPR40). *Endocrinology* 157, 4561–4569. doi: 10.1210/en.2016-1334
- Enes, P., Panserat, S., Kaushik, S., and Oliva-Teles, A. (2006). Effect of normal and waxy maize starch on growth, food utilization and hepatic glucose metabolism in European sea bass (*Dicentrarchus labrax*) juveniles. *Comp. Biochem. Physiol. B* 143, 89–96. doi: 10.1016/j.cbpa.2005.10.027
- Enes, P., Panserat, S., Kaushik, S., and Oliva-Teles, A. (2009). Nutritional regulation of hepatic glucose metabolism in fish. *Fish Physiol. Biochem.* 35, 519–539. doi: 10.1007/s10695-008-9259-5
- Epple, A., Brinn, J. E., Burggren, W., Ishii, S., Langer, H., Neuweiler, G., et al. (1987). The Comparative Physiology of the Pancreatic Islets. Berlin: Springer-Verlag.
- Evans, M. L., McCrimmon, R. J., Flanagan, D. E., Keshavarz, T., Fan, X., McNay, E. C., et al. (2004). Hypothalamic ATP-sensitive K⁺ channels play a key role in sensing hypoglycemia and triggering counterregulatory epinephrine and glucagon responses. *Diabetes* 53, 2542–2551. doi: 10.2337/diabetes.53. 10.2542
- Falcón, J., Migaud, H., Muñoz-Cueto, J. A., and Carrillo, M. (2010). Current knowledge on the melatonin system in teleost fish *Gen. Comp. Endocrinol.* 165, 469–482. doi: 10.1016/j.ygcen.2009.04.026
- Figueiredo-Silva, A., Corraze, G., Borges, P., and Valente, L. (2010). Dietary protein/lipid level and protein source effects on growth, tissue composition and lipid metabolism of blackspot seabream (*Pagellus bogaraveo*). Aquacult. Nutr. 16, 173–187. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2095.2009.00649.x
- Figueiredo-Silva, A. C., Kaushik, S., Terrier, F., Schrama, J. W., Médale, F., and Geurden, I. (2012a). Link between lipid metabolism and voluntary food intake in rainbow trout fed coconut oil rich in medium-chain TAG. Br. J. Nutr. 107, 1714–1725. doi: 10.1017/S0007114511004739

- Figueiredo-Silva, A. C., Panserat, S., Kaushik, S., Geurden, I., and Polakof, S. (2012b). High levels of dietary fat impair glucose homeostasis in rainbow trout. *J. Exp. Biol.* 215, 169–178. doi: 10.1242/jeb.063933
- Figueiredo-Silva, A. C., Saravanan, S., Schrama, J. W., Kaushik, S., and Geurden, I. (2012c). Macronutrient-induced differences in food intake relate with hepatic oxidative metabolism and hypothalamic regulatory neuropeptides in rainbow trout (*Oncorhynchus mykiss*). *Physiol. Behav.* 106, 499–505. doi: 10.1016/j.physbeh.2012.03.027
- Figueiredo-Silva, A. C., Saravanan, S., Schrama, J. W., Panserat, S., Kaushik, S., and Geurden, I. (2013). A comparative study of the metabolic response in rainbow trout and Nile tilapia to changes in dietary macronutrient composition. *Br. J. Nutr.* 109, 816–826. doi: 10.1017/S000711451200205X
- Fioramonti, X., Contié, S., Song, Z., Routh, V. H., Lorsignol, A., and Pénicaud, L. (2007). Characterization of glucosensing neuron subpopulations in the arcuate nucleus. Integration in neuropeptide Y and pro-opio melanocortin networs? *Diabetes* 56, 1219–1227. doi: 10.2337/db06-0567
- Fioramonti, X., Lorsignol, A., Taupignon, A., and Pénicaud, L. (2004). A new ATP-sensitive K⁺ channel-independent mechanism is involved in glucose-excited neurons of mouse arcuate nucleus. *Diabetes* 53, 2767–2775. doi: 10.2337/diabetes.53.11.2767
- Forsman, A., and Ruohonen, K. (2009). Dynamics of protein and lipid intake regulation of rainbow trout studied with a wide lipid range of encapsulated diets and self-feeders. *Physiol. Behav.* 96, 85–90. doi: 10.1016/j.physbeh.2008.08.018
- Fromentin, G., Darcel, N., Chaumontet, C., Marsset-Baglieri, A., Nadkarni, N., and Tomé, D. (2012). Peripheral and central mechanisms involved in the control of food intake by dietary amino acids and proteins. *Nutr. Res. Rev.* 25, 29–39. doi: 10.1017/S0954422411000175
- Gao, S., and Lane, D. (2003). Effect of the anorectic fatty acid synthase inhibitor C75 on neuronal activity in the hypothalamus and brainstem. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 100, 5628–5633. doi: 10.1073/pnas.1031698100
- Gao, S., Moran, T. H., Lopaschuk, G. D., and Butler, A. A. (2013). Hypothalamic malonyl-CoA and the control of food intake. *Physiol. Behav.* 122, 17–24. doi: 10.1016/j.physbeh.2013.07.014
- Gélineau, A., and Boujard, T. (2001). Oral administration of cholecystokinin receptor antagonists increase feed intake in rainbow trout. J. Fish Biol. 58, 716–724. doi: 10.1111/j.1095-8649.2001.tb00524.x
- Gélineau, A., Corraze, G., Boujard, T., Larroquet, L., and Kaushik, S. (2001). Relation between dietary lipid level and voluntary feed intake, growth, nutrient gain, lipid deposition and hepatic lipogenesis in rainbow trout. *Reprod. Nutr. Dev.* 41, 487–503. doi: 10.1051/rnd:2001103
- Gesto, M., Otero-Rodiño, C., López-Patiño, M. A., Míguez, J. M., Soengas, J. L., and Conde-Sieira, M. (2014). Is plasma cortisol response to stress in rainbow trout regulated by catecholamine-induced hyperglycemia? *Gen. Comp. Endocrinol.* 205, 207–217. doi: 10.1016/j.ygcen.2014.04.002
- Geurden, I., Aramendi, M., Zambonino-Infante, J., and Panserat, S. (2007). Early feeding of carnivorous rainbow trout (*Oncorhynchus mykiss*) with a hyperglucidic diet during a short period: effect on dietary glucose utilization in juveniles. *Am. J. Physiol. Regul. Integr. Comp. Physiol.* 292, R2275–R2283. doi: 10.1152/ajpregu.00444.2006
- Gomes, A. S., Jordal, A. E., Olsen, K., Harboe, T., Power, D. M., and Rønnestad, I. (2015). Neuroendocrine control of appetite in Atlantic halibut (*Hippoglossus hippoglossus*): changes during metamorphosis and effects of feeding. *Comp. Biochem. Physiol. A.* 183, 116–125. doi: 10.1016/j.cbpa.2015.01.009
- Gomez-Pinilla, F., and Ying, Z. (2010). Differential effects of exercise and dietary docosahexanoic acid on molecular systems associated with control of allostasis in the hypothalamus and hippocampus. *Neuroscience* 168, 130–137. doi: 10.1016/j.neuroscience.2010.02.070
- Gong, G., Xue, M., Wang, J., Wu, X.-F., Zheng, Y.-H., Han, F., et al. (2014). The regulation of gluconeogenesis in the Siberian sturgeon (*Acipenser baerii*) affected later in life by a short-term high-glucose programming during early life. *Aquaculture* 436, 127–136. doi: 10.1016/j.aquaculture.2014.10.044
- Gong, N., and Björnsson, B. T. (2014). Leptin signaling in the rainbow trout central nervous system is modulated by a truncated leptin receptor isoform. *Endocrinology* 155, 2445–2455. doi: 10.1210/en.2013-2131
- Gong, N., Johansson, M., and Björnsson, B. T. (2016b). Impaired central leptin signaling and sensitivity in rainbow trout with high muscle adiposity. *Gen. Comp. Endocrinol.* 235, 48–56. doi: 10.1016/j.ygcen.2016.06.013

- Gong, N., Jönsson, E., and Björnsson, B. T. (2016a). Acute anorexigenic action of leptin in rainbow trout is mediated by the hypothalamic Pi3k pathway. J. Mol. Endocrinol. 56, 227–238. doi: 10.1530/JME-15-0279
- González, J. A., Reimann, F., and Burdakov, D. (2009). Dissociation between sensing and metabolism of glucose in sugar sensing neurones. J. Physiol. 587, 41–48. doi: 10.1113/jphysiol.2008.163410
- Greco, J. A., Oosterman, J. E., and Belsham, D. D. (2014). Differential effects of omega-3 fatty acid docosahexanoic acid and palmitate on the circadian transcriptional profile of clock genes in immortalized hypothalamic neurons. Am. J. Physiol. Regul. Integr. Comp. Physiol. 307, R1049–R1060. doi: 10.1152/ajpregu.00100.2014
- Gutiérrez, J., and Plisetskaya, E. M. (1994). "Peptide receptor assay: insulin receptors," in *Biochemistry and Molecular Biology of Fishes*, Vol 3, eds P. W. Hochachka and T. P. Mommsen (Amsterdam: Elsevier), 429–444.
- Hasebe, M., Kanda, S., and Oka, Y. (2016). Female-specific glucose sensitivity of GhRH1 neurons leads to sexually dimorphic inhibition of reproduction in medaka. *Endocrinology* 157, 4318–4329. doi: 10.1210/en. 2016-1352
- Hashiguchi, Y., Furuta, Y., Kawahara, R., and Nishida, M. (2007). Diversification and adaptive evolution of putative sweet taste receptors in threespine stickleback. *Gene* 396, 170–179. doi: 10.1016/j.gene.2007.03.015
- He, A. Y., Ning, L. J., Chen, L. Q., Chen, Y. L., Xing, Q., Li, J. M., et al. (2015). Systemic adaptation of lipid metabolism in response to low- and high-fat diet in Nile tilapia (*Oreochromis niloticus*). *Physiol. Rep.* 3:e12485. doi: 10.14814/phy2.12485
- Heeley, N., and Blouet, C. (2016). Central amino acid sensing in the control of feeding behavior. *Front. Endocrinol.* 7:148. doi: 10.3389/fendo.2016.00148
- Hemre, G. I., Mommsen, T. P., and Krogdahl, Å. (2002). Carbohydrates in fish nutrition: effects on growth, glucose metabolism and hepatic enzymes. *Aquacult. Nutr.* 8, 175–194. doi: 10.1046/j.1365-2095.2002.00200.x
- Hemre, G. I., and Sandnes, K. (1999). Effect of dietary lipid level on muscle composition in Atlantic salmon Salmo salar. Aquacult. Nutr. 5, 9–16. doi: 10.1046/j.1365-2095.1999.00081.x
- Herrera Moro Chao, D., Argmann, C., Van Eijk, M., Boot, R. G., Ottenhoff, R., Van Roomen, C., et al. (2016). Impact of obesity on taste receptor expression in extra-oral tissues: emphasis on hypothalamus and brainstem. *Sci. Rep.* 6:29094. doi: 10.1038/srep29094
- Hevrøy, E. M., Waagbø, R., Torstensen, B. E., Takle, H., Stubhaug, I., Jørgensen, S. M., et al. (2012). Ghrelin is involved in voluntary anorexia in Atlantic salmon raised at elevated sea temperatures. *Gen. Comp. Endocrinol.* 175, 118–134. doi: 10.1016/j.ygcen.2011.10.007
- Himick, B. A., and Peter, R. E. (1994). CCK/gastrin-like immunoreactivity in brain and gut, and CCK suppression of feeding in goldfish. Am. J. Physiol. Regul. Integr. Comp. Physiol. 267, R841–R851.
- Hoskins, L. J., and Volkoff, H. (2012). The comparative endocrinology of feeding in fish: insights and challenges. *Gen. Comp. Endocrinol.* 176, 327–335. doi: 10.1016/j.ygcen.2011.12.025
- Hrytsenko, O., Wright, J. R. Jr., and Pohajdak, B. (2008). Regulation of insulin gene expression and insulin production in Nile tilapia (*Oreochromis niloticus*). Gen. Comp. Endocrinol. 155, 328–340. doi: 10.1016/j.ygcen.2007.05.006
- Hu, Z., Cha, S. H., Chohnan, S., and Lane, M. D. (2011). Hypothalamic malonyl-CoA as a mediator of feeding behavior. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 100, 12624–12629. doi: 10.1073/pnas.1834402100
- Hutchins, C. G., Rawles, S. D., and Gatlin, D. M. (1998). Effects of dietary carbohydrate kind and level on growth, body composition and glycemic response of juvenile sunshine bass (*Morone chrysops* female x *Morone* saxatilis male). Aquaculture 161, 187–199. doi: 10.1016/S0044-8486(97) 00269-X
- Ishimaru, Y., Okada, S., Naito, H., Nagai, T., Yasuoka, A., Matsumoto, I., et al. (2005). Two families of candidate taste receptors in fishes. *Mech. Dev.* 122, 1310–1321. doi: 10.1016/j.mod.2005.07.005
- Jin, J., Panserat, S., Kamalam, B. S., Aguirre, P., Véron, V., and Médale, F. (2014). Insulin regulates lipid and glucose metabolism similarly in two lines of rainbow trout divergently selected for muscle fat content. *Gen. Comp. Endocrinol.* 204, 49–59. doi: 10.1016/j.ygcen.2014.04.027
- Johansen, S. J. S., Ekli, M., and Jobling, M. (2002). Is there lipostatic regulation of feed intake in Atlantic salmon Salmo salar L.? Aquacult. Res. 33, 515–524. doi: 10.1046/j.1365-2109.2002.00736.x

- Johansen, S. J. S., Sveier, H., and Jobling, M. (2003). Lipostatic regulation of feed intake in Atlantic salmon Salmo salar L. defending adiposity at the expense of growth? Aquacult. Res. 34, 317–331. doi: 10.1046/j.1365-2109.2003.00821.x
- Jönsson, E., Forsman, A., Einarsdottir, I. E., Egnér, B., Ruohonen, K., and Björnsson, B. T. (2006). Circulating levels of cholecystokinin and gastrinreleasing peptide in rainbow trout fed different diets. *Gen. Comp. Endocrinol.* 148, 187–194. doi: 10.1016/j.ygcen.2006.02.016
- Jönsson, E., Kaiya, H., and Björnsson, B. T. (2010). Ghrelin decreases food intake in juvenile rainbow trout (*Oncorhynchus mykiss*) through the central anorexigenic corticotropin-releasing factor system. *Gen. Comp. Endocrinol.* 166, 39–46. doi: 10.1016/j.ygcen.2009.11.001
- Jurczyk, A., Roy, N., Bajwa, R., Gut, P., Lipson, K., Yang, C., et al. (2011). Dynamic glucoregulation and mammalian-like responses to metabolic and developmental disruption in zebrafish. *Gen. Comp. Endocrinol.* 170, 334–345. doi: 10.1016/j.ygcen.2010.10.010
- Kamalam, B. S., Médale, F., Larroquet, L., Corraze, G., and Panserat, S. (2013). Metabolism and fatty acid profile in fat and lean rainbow trout lines fed with vegetable oil: effect of carbohydrates. *PLoS ONE* 8:e76570. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0076570
- Kang, K. S., Yahashi, S., Azuma, M., and Matsuda, K. (2010). The anorexigenic effect of cholecystokinin octapeptide in a goldfish model is mediated by the vagal afferent and subsequently through the melanocortin- and corticotropin-releasing hormone-signaling pathways. *Peptides* 31, 2130–2134. doi: 10.1016/j.peptides.2010.07.019
- Kaushik, S., Médale, F., Fauconneau, B., and Blanc, D. (1989). Effect of digestible carbohydrates on protein - energy utilization and on glucose metabolism in rainbow trout (*Salmo gairdneri* R). Aquaculture 79, 63–74. doi: 10.1016/0044-8486(89)90446-8
- Keane, K., and Newsholme, P. (2014). Metabolic regulation of insulin secretion. Vitam. Horm. 95, 1–33. doi: 10.1016/B978-0-12-800174-5.00001-6
- Kehoe, A. S., and Volkoff, H. (2007). Cloning and charac-terization of neuropeptide Y (NPY) and cocaine and amphetamine regulated transcript (CART) in Atlantic cod (*Gadus morhua*). Comp. Biochem. Physiol. A. 146, 451–461. doi: 10.1016/j.cbpa.2006.12.026
- Kirchner, S., Panserat, S., Lim, P. L., Kaushik, S., and Ferraris, R. P. (2008). The role of hepatic, renal and intestinal gluconeogenic enzymes in glucose homeostasis of juvenile rainbow trout. *J. Comp. Physiol. B.* 178, 429–438. doi: 10.1007/s00360-007-0235-7
- Kling, P., Rønnestad, I., Stefansson, S. O., Murashita, K., Kurokawa, T., and Björnsson, B. T. (2009). A homologous salmonid leptin radioimmunoassay indicates elevated plasma leptin levels during fasting of rainbow trout. *Gen. Comp. Endocrinol.* 162, 307–312. doi: 10.1016/j.ygcen.2009.04.003
- Kobayashi, Y., Peterson, B. C., and Waldbieser, G. C. (2008). Association of cocaine- and amplhetamine-regulated transcript (CART) messenger RNA level, food intake, and growth in channel catfish. *Comp. Biochem. Physiol. A.* 151, 219–225. doi: 10.1016/j.cbpa.2008.06.029
- Kokrashvili, Z., Mosinger, B., and Margolskee, R. F. (2009). Taste signaling elements expressed in gut enteroendocrine cells regulate nutrientresponsive secretion of gut hormones. Am. J. Clin. Nutr. 90, 822S–825S. doi: 10.3945/ajcn.2009.27462t
- Kolditz, C., Borthaire, M., Richard, N., Corraze, G., Panserat, S., Vachot, C., et al. (2008). Liver and muscle metabolic changes induced by dietary energy content and genetic selection in rainbow trout (*Oncorhynchus mykiss*). Am. J. Physiol. Regul. Integr. Comp. Physiol. 294, R1154–R1164. doi: 10.1152/ajpregu.00766.2007
- Krogdahl, A., Sundby, A., and Olli, J. J. (2004). Atlantic salmon (Salmo salar) and rainbow trout (Oncorhynchus mykiss) digest and metabolize nutrients differently. Effects of water salinity and dietary starch level. Aquaculture 229, 335–360. doi: 10.1016/S0044-8486(03)00396-X
- Kyriazis, G. A., Smith, K. R., Tyrberg, B., Hussain, T., and Pratley, R. E. (2014). Sweet taste receptors regulate basal insulin secretion and contribute to compensatory insulin hypersecretion during the development of diabetes in male mice. *Endocrinology* 155, 2112–2121. doi: 10.1210/en. 2013-2015
- Lansard, M., Panserat, S., Plagnes-Juan, E., Seiliez, I., and Skiba-Cassy, S. (2010). Integration of insulin and amino acid signals that regulate hepatic metabolismrelated gene expression in rainbow trout: role of TOR. *Amino Acids* 39, 801–810. doi: 10.1007/s00726-010-0533-3

- Lansard, M., Panserat, S., Seiliez, I., Polakof, S., Plagnes-Juan, E., Geurden, I., et al. (2009). Hepatic protein kinase B (Akt)-target of rapamycin (TOR)-signalling pathways and intermediary metabolism in rainbow trout (*Oncorhynchus mykiss*) are not significantly affected by feeding plant-based diets. Br. J. Nutr. 102, 1564–1573. doi: 10.1017/S000711450999095X
- Le Foll, C., Irani, B. G., Magnan, C., Dunn-Meynell, A. A., and Levin, B. E. (2009). Characteristics and mechanisms of hypothalamic neuronal fatty acid sensing. Am. J. Physiol. Regul. Integr. Comp. Physiol. 297, R655–R664. doi: 10.1152/ajpregu.00223.2009
- Leibush, B., Parrizas, I., Navarro, I., Lappova, M. A., Maestro, M., Encinas, M., et al. (1996). Insulin and insulin-like growth factor-I receptors in fish brain. *Regul. Peptides* 61, 155–161. doi: 10.1016/0167-0115(95)00154-9
- Levin, B. E. (2006). Metabolic sensing neurons and the control of energy homeostasis. *Physiol. Behav.* 89, 486–489. doi: 10.1016/j.physbeh.2006.07.003
- Levin, B. E., Routh, V. H., Kang, L., Sanders, N. M., and Dunn-Meynell, A. A. (2004). Neuronal glucosensing. What do we know after 50 years? *Diabetes* 53, 2521–2528. doi: 10.2337/diabetes.53.10.2521
- Li, A., Yuan, X., Liang, X.-F., Liu, L., Li, J., Li, B., et al. (2016). Adaptations of lipid metabolism and food intake in response to low and high fat diets in juvenile grass carp (*Ctenopharyngodon idellus*). Aquaculture 457, 43–49. doi: 10.1016/j.aquaculture.2016.01.014
- Li, G. G., Liang, X. F., Xie, Q., Li, G., Yu, Y., and Lai, K. (2010). Gene structure, recombinant expression and functional characterization of grass carp leptin. *Gen. Comp. Endocrinol.* 166, 117–127. doi: 10.1016/j.ygcen.2009.10.009
- Liang, H., Ren, M., Habte-Tsion, H.-M., Ge, X., Xie, J., Mi, H., et al. (2016). Dietary arginine affects growth performance, plasma amino acid contents and gene expressions of the TOR signaling pathway in juvenile blunt snout bream, *Megalobrama amblycephala. Aquaculture* 461, 1–8. doi: 10.1016/j.aquaculture.2016.04.009
- Liang, X. F., Ogata, H. Y., Oku, H., Chen, J., and Hwang, F. (2003). Abundant and constant expression of uncoupling protein 2 in the liver of red sea bream *Pagrus major. Comp. Biochem. Physiol. A* 136, 655–661. doi: 10.1016/S1095-6433(03)00218-6
- Librán-Pérez, M., Figueiredo-Silva, A. C., Panserat, S., Geurden, I., Míguez, J. M., Polakof, S., et al. (2013b). Response of hepatic lipid and glucose metabolism to a mixture or single fatty acids: possible presenc of fatty acid-sensing mechanisms. *Comp. Biochem. Physiol. A.* 164, 241–248. doi: 10.1016/j.cbpa.2012.09.012
- Librán-Pérez, M., Geurden, I., Dias, K., Corraze, G., Panserat, S., and Soengas, J. L. (2015b). Feeding rainbow trout with a lipid-enriched diet: effects on fatty acid sensing, regulation of food intake and cellular signaling pathways. *J. Exp. Biol.* 218, 2610–2619. doi: 10.1242/jeb.123802
- Librán-Pérez, M., López-Patiño, M. A., Míguez, J. M., and Soengas, J. L. (2013a). Oleic acid and octanoic acid sensing capacity in rainbow trout *Oncorhynchus mykiss* is direct in hypothalamus and Brockmann bodies. *PLoS ONE* 8:e59507. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0059507
- Librán-Pérez, M., López-Patiño, M. A., Míguez, J. M., and Soengas, J. L. (2013c). *In vitro* response of putative fatty acid-sensing systems in rainbow trout liver to increased levels of oleate or octanoate. *Comp. Biochem. Physiol. A.* 165, 288–294. doi: 10.1016/j.cbpa.2013.03.024
- Librán-Pérez, M., Otero-Rodiño, C., López-Patiño, M. A., Míguez, J. M., and Soengas, J. L. (2014a). Central administration of oleate or octanoate activates hypothalamic fatty acid sensing and inhibits food intake in rainbow trout. *Physiol. Behav.* 129, 272–279. doi: 10.1016/j.physbeh.2014.02.061
- Librán-Pérez, M., Otero-Rodiño, C., López-Patiño, M. A., Míguez, J. M., and Soengas, J. L. (2015c). Effects of intracerebroventricular treatment with oleate or octanoate on fatty acid metabolism in Brockmann bodies and liver of rainbow trout. Aquacult. Nutr. 21, 194–205. doi: 10.1111/anu.12158
- Librán-Pérez, M., Polakof, S., López-Patiño, M. A., Míguez, J. M., and Soengas, J. L. (2012). Evidence of a metabolic fatty-acid sensing system in the hypothalamus and Brockmann bodies of rainbow trout: implications in food intake regulation. Am. J. Physiol. Regul. Integr. Comp. Physiol. 302, R1340–R1350. doi: 10.1152/ajpregu.00070.2012
- Librán-Pérez, M., Velasco, C., López-Patiño, M. A., Míguez, J. M., and Soengas, J. L. (2014b). Counter-regulatory response to a fall in circulating fatty acid levels in rainbow trout. Possible involvement of the hypothalamus-pituitaryinterrenal axis. *PLoS ONE* 9:e113291. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0113291
- Librán-Pérez, M., Velasco, C., Otero-Rodiño, C., López-Patiño, M. A., Míguez, J. M., and Soengas, J. L. (2015a). Effects of insulin treatment on the

response to oleate and octanoate of food intake and fatty acid-sensing systems in rainbow trout. *Domestic Anim. Endocrinol.* 53, 124–135. doi: 10.1016/j.domaniend.2015.06.004

- Librán-Pérez, M., Velasco, C., Otero-Rodiño, C., López-Patiño, M. A., Míguez, J. M., and Soengas, J. L. (2015d). Metabolic response in liver and Brockmann bodies of rainbow trout to inhibition of lipolysis; possible involvement of the hypothalamus-pituitary-interrenal (HPI) axis. J. Comp. Physiol. B. 185, 413–423. doi: 10.1007/s00360-015-0894-8
- Loftus, T. M., Jaworsky, D. E., Frehywot, G. J., Townsend, C. A., Ronnett, G. V., Lane, M. D., et al. (2000). Reduced food intake and body weight in mice treated with fatty acid synthase inhibitors. *Science* 288, 2379–2381. doi: 10.1126/science.288.5475.2379
- López, M., Lelliott, C. J., and Vidal-Puig, A. (2007). Hypothalamic fatty acid metabolism: a housekeeping pathway that regulates food intake. *Bioessays* 29, 248–261. doi: 10.1002/bies.20539
- López, M., Tovar, S., Vázquez, M. J., Nogueiras, R., Señarís, R., and Diéguez, C. (2005). Sensing the fat: fatty acid metabolism in the hypothalamus and the melanocortin system. *Peptides* 26, 1753–1758. doi: 10.1016/j.peptides. 2004.11.025
- Luo, L., Xue, M., Vachot, C., Geurden, I., and Kaushik, S. (2014). Dietary medium chain fatty acids from coconut oil have little effects on postprandial plasma metabolite profiles in rainbow trout (*Oncorhynchus mykiss*). Aquaculture 420–421, 24–31. doi: 10.1016/j.aquaculture.2013.10.024
- MacDonald, E., and Volkoff, H. (2009). Cloning, distribution and effects of season and nutritional status on the expression of neuropeptide Y (NPY), cocaine and amphetamine regulated transcript (CART) and cholecystokinin (CCK) in winter flounder (*Pseudopleuronectes americanus*). *Horm. Behav.* 56, 58–65. doi: 10.1016/j.yhbeh.2009.03.002
- MacDonald, M. J., Dobrzyn, A., Ntambi, J., and Stoker, S. W. (2008). The role of rapid lipogenesis in insulin secretion: insulin secretagogues acutely alter lipid composition of INS-1 832/13 cells. *Arch. Biochem. Biophys.* 470, 153–162. doi: 10.1016/j.abb.2007.11.017
- MacDonald, P. E., Joseph, J. W., and Rorsman, P. (2005). Glucose-sensing mechanisms in pancreatic beta-cells. *Philos. Trans. R. Soc. Lond. B Biol. Sci.* 360, 2211–2225. doi: 10.1098/rstb.2005.1762
- Magnuson, M. A., and Matschinsky, F. M. (2004). "Glucokinase as a glucose sensor: past, present and future," in *Glucokinase and Glycemic Disease: From Basics* to Novel Therapeutics, eds F. M. Matschinsky and M. A. Magnuson (Basel: Karger), 1–17.
- Martinez-Rubio, L., Wadsworth, S., González Vecino, J. L., Bell, J. G., and Tocher, D. R. (2013). Effect of dietary digestible energy content on expression of genes of lipid metabolism and LC-PUFA biosynthesis in liver of Atlantic salmon (*Salmo salar L.*). Aquaculture 384–387, 94–103. doi: 10.1016/j.aquaculture.2012.12.010
- Marty, N., Dallaporta, M., Foretz, M., Emery, M., Tarussio, D., Bady, I., et al. (2005). Regulation of glucagon secretion by glucose transporter type 2 (GLUT2) and astrocyte-dependent glucose sensors. *J. Clin. Invest.* 115, 3545–3553. doi: 10.1172/JCI26309
- Marty, N., Dallaporta, M., and Thorens, B. (2007). Brain glucose sensing, counteregulation, and energy homeostasis. *Physiology* 22, 241–251. doi: 10.1152/physiol.00010.2007
- Maurin, A. C., Benani, A., Lorsignol, A., Brenachot, X., Parry, L., Carraro, V., et al. (2014). Hypothalamic elF2α signaling regulates food intake. *Cell Rep.* 6, 438–444. doi: 10.1016/j.celrep.2014.01.006
- Mazur, C. N., Higgs, D. A., Plisetskaya, E., and March, B. E. (1992). Utilization of dietary starch and glucose tolerance in juvenile Chinook salmon (*Oncorhynchus tshawytscha*) of different strains in seawater. *Fish Physiol. Biochem.* 10, 303–313. doi: 10.1007/BF00004479
- McCrimmon, R. J., Evans, M. L., Fan, X., McNay, E. C., Chan, O., Ding, Y., et al. (2005). Activation of ATP-sensitive K⁺ channels in the ventromedial hypothalamus amplifies counterregulatory hormone responses to hypoglycemia in normal and recurrently hypoglycemic rats. *Diabetes* 54, 3169–3174. doi: 10.2337/diabetes.54.11.3169
- McCrimmon, R. J., Song, Z., Cheng, H., McNay, E. C., Weickart-Yeckel, C., Routh, V. H., et al. (2006). Corticotrophin-releasing factor receptors within the ventromedial hypothalamus regulate hypoglycemia-induced hormonal counterregulation. J. Clin. Invest. 116, 1723–1730. doi: 10.1172/ JCI27775

- Michel, M., Page-McCaw, P. S., Chen, W., and Cone, R. D. (2016). Leptin signaling regulates glucose homeostasis, but not adipostasis, in the zebrafish. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 113, 3084–3089. doi: 10.1073/pnas.1513 212113
- Migrenne, S., Le Foll, C., Levin, B. E., and Magnan, C. (2011). Brain lipid sensing and nervous control of energy balance. *Diabetes Metab.* 37, 83–88. doi: 10.1016/j.diabet.2010.11.001
- Migrenne, S., Magnan, C., and Cruciani-Guglielmacci, C. (2007). Fatty acid sensing and nervous control of energy homeostasis. *Diabetes Metab.* 33, 177–182. doi: 10.1016/j.diabet.2007.01.006
- Migrenne, S., Marsolier, N., Cruciani-Guglielmacci, C., and Magnan, C. (2006). Importance of the gut-brain axis in the control of glucose homeostasis. *Curr. Opin. Pharmacol.* 6, 592–597. doi: 10.1016/j.coph.2006.08.004
- Miguel-Aliaga, I. (2012). Nerveless and gutsy: intestinal nutrient sensing from invertebrates to humans. Sem. Cell Deve. Biol. 23, 614–620. doi: 10.1016/j.semcdb.2012.01.002
- Miki, T., Liss, B., Minami, K., Shiuchi, T., Saraya, A., Kashima, Y., et al. (2001). ATP-sensitive K⁺ channels in the hypothalamus are essential for the maintenance of glucose homeostasis. *Nat. Neurosci.* 4, 507–512. doi: 10.1038/ 87455
- Mitro, N., Mak, P. A., Vargas, L., Godio, C., Hampton, E., Molteni, V., et al. (2007). The nuclear receptor LXR is a glucose sensor. *Nature* 445, 219–223. doi: 10.1038/nature05449
- Miura, T., Maruyama, K., Shimakura, S., Kaiya, H., Uchiyama, M., Kangawa, K., et al. (2006). Neuropeptide y mediates ghrelin-induced feeding in the goldfish, *Carassius auratus*. *Neurosci. Lett.* 407, 279–283. doi: 10.1016/j.neulet.2006.08.071
- Mobbs, C. V., Isoda, F., Makimura, H., Mastaitis, J., Mizuno, T., Shu, I. W., et al. (2005). Impaired glucose signaling as a cause of obesity and the metabolic syndrome: the glucoadipostatic hypothesis. *Physiol. Behav.* 85, 2–23. doi: 10.1016/j.physbeh.2005.04.005
- Mommsen, T. P., and Plisetskaya, E. M. (1991). Insulin in fishes and agnathans history structure and metabolic regulation. *Rev. Aquat Sci.* 4, 225–259.
- Morash, A. J., Bureau, D. P., and McClelland, G. B. (2009). Effects of dietary fatty acid composition on the regulation of carnitine palmitoyltransferase (CPT) I in rainbow trout (*Oncorhynchus mykiss*). *Comp. Biochem. Physiol. B.* 152, 85–93. doi: 10.1016/j.cbpb.2008.10.005
- Morgan, K., Obici, S., and Rossetti, L. (2004). Hypothalamic responses to longchain fatty acids are nutritionally regulated. J. Biol. Chem. 279, 31139–31148. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M400458200
- Morrison, C. D., Xi, X., White, C. L., Ye, J., and Martin, R. J. (2016). Amino acids inhibit Agrp gene expression via an mTOR-dependent mechanism. Am. J. Physiol. Endocrinol. Metab. 293, E165–E171. doi: 10.1152/ajpendo.00675.2006
- Morton, G. J., Cummings, D. E., Baskin, D. G., Barsh, G. S., and Schwartz, M. W. (2006). Central nervous system control of food intake and body weight. *Nature* 443, 289–295. doi: 10.1038/nature05026
- Morton, G. J., Meek, T. H., and Schwartz, M. W. (2014). Neurobiology of food intake in health and disease. Nat. Rev. Neurosci. 15, 367–378. doi: 10.1038/nrn3745
- Mourente, G., and Tocher, D. R. (1992). Lipid class and fatty acid composition of brain lipids from Atlantic herring (*Clupea harengus*) at different stages of development. *Mar. Biol.* 112, 553–558. doi: 10.1007/BF00346172
- Murashita, K., Kurokawa, T., Ebbesson, L. O. E., Stefansson, S. O., and Ronnestad, I. (2009). Characterization, tissue distribution, and regulation of agouti-related protein (AgRP), cocaine- and amphetamine-regulated transcript (CART) and neuropeptide Y (NPY) in Atlantic salmon (*Salmo* salar). Gen. Comp. Endocrinol. 162, 160–171. doi: 10.1016/j.ygcen.2009. 03.015
- Murashita, K., Uji, S., Yamamoto, T., Rønnestad, I., and Kurokawa, T. (2008). Production of recombinant leptin and its effects on food intake in rainbow trout (Oncorhynchus mykiss). Comp. Biochem. Physiol. B. 150, 377–384. doi: 10.1016/j.cbpb.2008.04.007
- Murovets, V. O., Bachmanov, A. A., and Zolotarev, V. A. (2015). Impaired glucose metabolism in mice lacking the *Tas1r3* taste receptor gene. *PLoS ONE* 10:0130997. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0130997
- Narnaware, Y. k., and Peter, R. E. (2002). Influence of diet composition on food intake and neuropeptide Y (NPY) gene expression in goldfish brain. *Reg. Peptides* 103, 75–83. doi: 10.1016/S0167-0115(01)00342-1

- Navarro, I., and Gutiérrez, J. (1995). "Fasting and starvation," in *Biochemistry and Molecular Biology of Fishes*, eds P. W. Hochachka and T. P. Mommsen (New York, NY: Elsevier), 394–434.
- Nolan, C. J., Madiraju, M. S., Delghingaro-Augusto, V., Peyot, M. L., and Prentki, M. (2006). Fatty acid signaling in the beta-cell and insulin secretion. *Diabetes* 55, S16–S23. doi: 10.2337/db06-S003
- Obici, S., Feng, Z., Morgan, K., Stein, D., Karkanias, G., and Rossetti, L. (2002). Central administration of oleic acid inhibits glucose production and food intake. *Diabetes* 51, 271–275. doi: 10.2337/diabetes.51.2.271
- Ogunnowo-Bada, E., Heeley, N., Brochard, L., and Evans, M. L. (2014). Brain glucose sensing, glucokinase and nural control of metabolism and islet function. *Diab. Obes. Metab.* 16, 26–32. doi: 10.1111/dom.12334
- Oh, Y. T., Kim, J., Kang, I., and Youn, J. H. (2014). Regulation of hypothalamic-pituitary-adrenal axis by circulating free fatty acids in male wistar rats: role of individual free fatty acids. *Endocrinology* 155, 923–931. doi:10.1210/en.2013-1700
- Oh, Y. T., Oh, H. H., Nguyen, A. K., Choi, C. S., and Youn, J. H. (2016). Circulating free fatty acids inhibit food intake in an oleate-specific manner in rats. *Physiol. Behav.* 167, 194–201. doi: 10.1016/j.physbeh.2016.09.015
- Oh, Y. T., Oh, K. S., Kang, I., and Youn, J. H. (2012). A fall in plasma free fatty acid (FFA) level activates the hypothalamic-pituitary-adrenal axis independent of plasma glucose: evidence for brain sensing of circulating FFA. *Endocrinology* 153, 3587–3592. doi: 10.1210/en.2012-1330
- Ooyama, Y., Kojima, K., Aoyama, T., and Takeuchi, H. (2009). Decrease of food intake in rats after ingestion of medium-chain triacylglycerol. J. Nutr. Sci. Vitaminol. 55, 423–427. doi: 10.3177/jnsv.55.423
- Osundiji, M. A., Lam, D. D., Shaw, J., Yueh, C. Y., Markkula, S. P., Hurst, P., et al. (2012). Brain glucose sensors play a significant role in the regulation of pancreatic glucose-stimulated insulin secretion. *Diabetes* 61, 321–328. doi: 10.2337/db11-1050
- Otero-Rodiño, C., Librán-Pérez, M., Velasco, C., López-Patiño, M. A., Míguez, J. M., and Soengas, J. L. (2015). Evidence for the presence of glucosensor mechanisms not dependent on glucokinase in hypothalamus and hindbrain of rainbow trout (*Oncorhynchus mykiss*). *PLoS ONE* 10:e0128603. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0128603
- Otero-Rodiño, C., Librán-Pérez, M., Velasco, C., Álvarez-Otero, R., López-Patiño, M. A., Míguez, J. M., et al. (2016b). Glucosensing in liver and Brockmann bodies of rainbow trout through glucokinase-independent mechanisms. *Comp. Biochem. Physiol. B.* 199, 29–42. doi: 10.1016/j.cbpb.2015. 09.008
- Otero-Rodiño, C., Velasco, C., Álvarez-Otero, R., López-Patiño, M. A., Míguez, J. M., and Soengas, J. L. (2016a). *In vitro* evidence supports the presence of glucokinase-independent glucosensing mechanisms in hypothalamus and hindbrain of rainbow trout. *J. Exp. Biol.* 219, 1750–1759. doi: 10.1242/jeb.137737
- Otero-Rodiño, C., Velasco, C., Álvarez-Otero, R., López-Patiño, M. A., Míguez, J. M., and Soengas, J. L. (2016c). *In vitro* evidence in rainbow trout supporting glucosensing mediated by sweet taste receptor, LXR, and mitochondrial activity in Brockmann bodies, and sweet taste receptor in liver. *Comp. Biochem. Physiol. B*. 200, 6–16. doi: 10.1016/j.cbpb.2016.04.010
- Panserat, S., Capilla, E., Gutierrez, J., Frappart, P. O., Vachot, C., Plagnes-Juan, E., et al. (2001). Glucokinase is highly induced and glucose-6phosphatase poorly repressed in liver of rainbow trout (*Oncorhynchus mykiss*) by a single meal with glucose. *Comp. Biochem. Physiol. B* 128, 275–283. doi: 10.1016/S1096-4959(00)00322-5
- Panserat, S., Medale, F., Blin, C., Breque, J., Vachot, C., Plagnes-Juan, E., et al. (2000). Hepatic glucokinase is induced by dietary carbohydrates in rainbow trout, gilthead seabream, and common carp. Am. J. Physiol. Regul. Integr. Comp. Physiol. 278, 1164–1170.
- Panserat, S., Perrin, A., and Kaushik, S. (2002a). High dietary lipid induce liver glucose-6 phosphatase expression in rainbow trout (*Oncorhynchus mykiss*). J. Nutr. 132, 137–141.
- Panserat, S., Plagnes-Juan, E., and Kaushik, S. (2002b). Gluconeogenic enzyme gene expression is decreased by dietary carbohydrates in common carp (*Cyprinus carpio*) and gilthead seabream (*Sparus aurata*). *Biochim. Biophys. Acta* 1579, 35–42. doi: 10.1016/S0167-4781(02)00501-8
- Peddu, S. C., Breves, J. P., Kaiya, H., Grau, E. G., and Riley, L. G. Jr. (2009). Pre- and postprandial effects on ghrelin signaling in the brain and on the

GH/IGF-I axis in the Mozambique tilapia (Oreochromis mossambicus). Gen. Comp. Endocrinol. 161, 412–418. doi: 10.1016/j.ygcen.2009.02.008

- Penney, C. C., and Volkoff, H. (2014). Peripheral injections of cholecystokinin, apelin, ghrelin and orexin in cavefish (*Astyanax fasciatus mexicanus*): effects on feeding and on the brain expression levels of tyrosine hydroxylase, mechanistic target of rapamycin and appetite-related hormones. *Gen. Comp. Endocrinol.* 196, 34–40. doi: 10.1016/j.ygcen.2013.11.015
- Peragón, J., Barroso, J. B., García-Salguero, L., de la Higuera, M., and Lupiáñez, J. A. (2000). Dietary alterations in protein, carbohydrates and fat increase liver protein-turnover rate and decrease overall growth rate in the rainbow trout (Oncorhynchus mykiss). Comp. Biochem. Physiol. 209, 97–104.
- Peterson, B. C., Waldbieser, G. C., Riley, L. G. Jr., Upton, K. R., Kobayashi, Y., and Small, B. C. (2012). Pre- and postprandial changes in orexigenic and anorexigenic factors in channel catfish (*Ictalurus punctatus*). *Gen. Comp. Endocrinol.* 176, 231–239. doi: 10.1016/j.ygcen.2012.01.022
- Pfannkuche, H., and G\u00e4bel, G. (2009). Glucose, epithelium, and enteric nervous system: dialogue in the dark. J. Anim. Physiol. Anim. Nutr. (Berl) 93, 277–286. doi: 10.1111/j.1439-0396.2008.00847.x
- Picard, A., Rouch, C., Kassis, N., Moullé, V. S., Croizier, S., Denis, R. G., et al. (2013). Hippocampal lipoprotein lipase regulates energy balance in rodents. *Mol. Metab.* 3, 167–176. doi: 10.1016/j.molmet.2013.11.002
- Picha, M. E., Strom, C. N., Riley, L. G., Walker, A. A., Won, E. T., Johnstone, W. M., et al. (2009). Plasma ghrelin and growth hormone regulation in response to metabolic state in hybrid striped bass: effects of feeding, ghrelin and insulin-like growth factor-I on *in vivo* and *in vitro* GH secretion. *Gen. Comp. Endocrinol.* 161, 365–372. doi: 10.1016/j.ygcen.2009.01.026
- Plagnes-Juan, E., Lansard, M., Seiliez, I., Médale, F., Corraze, G., Kaushik, S., et al. (2008). Insulin regulates the expression of several metabolism-related genes in the liver and primary hepatocytes of rainbow trout (*Oncorhynchus mykiss*). *J. Exp. Biol.* 211, 2510–2518. doi: 10.1242/jeb.018374
- Pocai, A., Obici, S., Schwartz, G. J., and Rossetti, L. (2005). A brainliver circuit regulates glucose homeostasis. *Cell. Metab.* 1, 53–61. doi: 10.1016/j.cmet.2004.11.001
- Polakof, S., Medale, F., Larroquet, L., Vachot, C., Corraze, G., and Panserat, S. (2011f). Regulation of *de novo* hepatic lipogenesis by insulin infusion in rainbow trout fed a high-carbohydrate diet. *J. Anim. Sci.* 89, 3079–3088. doi: 10.2527/jas.2010-3733
- Polakof, S., Médale, F., Skiba-Cassy, S., Corraze, G., and Panserat, S. (2010b). Molecular regulation of lipid metabolism in liver and muscle of rainbow trout subjected to acute and chronic insulin treatments. *Domestic Anim. Endocrinol.* 39, 26–33. doi: 10.1016/j.domaniend.2010.01.003
- Polakof, S., Míguez, J. M., Moon, T. W., and Soengas, J. L. (2007a). Evidence for the presence of a glucosensor in hypothalamus, hindbrain, and Brockmann bodies of rainbow trout. Am. J. Physiol. Regul. Integr. Comp. Physiol. 292, R1657–R1666. doi: 10.1152/ajpregu.00525.2006
- Polakof, S., Míguez, J. M., and Soengas, J. L. (2007b). In vitro evidences for glucosensing capacity and mechanisms in hypothalamus, hindbrain, and Brockmann bodies of rainbow trout. Am. J. Physiol. Regul. Integr. Comp. Physiol. 293, R1410–R1420. doi: 10.1152/ajpregu.00283.2007
- Polakof, S., Míguez, J. M., and Soengas, J. L. (2008a). Changes in food intake and glucosensing function of hypothalamus and hindbrain in rainbow trout subjected to hyperglycemic or hypoglycemic conditions. *J. Comp. Physiol. A.* 194, 829–839. doi: 10.1007/s00359-008-0354-y
- Polakof, S., Míguez, J. M., and Soengas, J. L. (2008b). Dietary carbohydrates induce changes in glucosensing capacity and food intake in rainbow trout. Am. J. Physiol. Regul. Integr. Comp. Physiol. 295, R478–R489. doi: 10.1152/ajpregu.00176.2008
- Polakof, S., Míguez, J. M., and Soengas, J. L. (2011a). Cholecystokinin impact on rainbow trout glucose homeostasis: possible involvement of central glucosensors. *Reg. Peptides* 172, 23–29. doi: 10.1016/j.regpep.2011. 08.002
- Polakof, S., Míguez, J. M., and Soengas, J. L. (2011b). Evidence for a gutbrain axis used by glucagon-like peptide-1 to elicit hyperglycaemia in fish. J. Neuroendocrinol. 23, 508–518. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2826.2011.02137.x
- Polakof, S., Míguez, J. M., and Soengas, J. L. (2011c). Ghrelin effects on central glucosensing ad energy homeostasis-related peptides in rainbow trout. *Domestic Anim. Endocrinol.* 41, 126–136. doi: 10.1016/j.domaniend.2011. 05.006

- Polakof, S., Mommsen, T. P., and Soengas, J. L. (2011d). Glucosensing and glucose homeostasis: from fish to mammals. *Comp. Biochem. Physiol. B.* 160, 123–149. doi: 10.1016/j.cbpb.2011.07.006
- Polakof, S., Panserat, S., Craig, P. M., Martyres, D. J., Plagnes-Juan, E., Savari, S., et al. (2011e). The metabolic consequences of hepatic AMP-kinase phosphorylation in rainbow trout. *PLoS ONE* 6:e20228. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0020228
- Polakof, S., Panserat, S., Plagnes-Juan, E., and Soengas, J. L. (2008c). Altered dietary carbohydrates significantly affect gene expression of the major glucosensing components in Brockmannn bodies and hypothalamus of rainbow trout. Am. J. Physiol. Regul. Integr. Comp. Physiol. 295, R1077–R1088. doi: 10.1152/ajpregu.90476.2008
- Polakof, S., Panserat, S., Soengas, J. L., and Moon, T. W. (2012a). Glucose metabolism in fish: a review. J. Comp. Physiol. B. 182, 1015–1045. doi: 10.1007/ s00360-012-0658-7
- Polakof, S., Rodríguez-Alonso, M., and Soengas, J. L. (2009). Immunohistochemical localization of glucokinase in rainbow trout brain. *Comp. Biochem. Physiol. A.* 153, 352–358. doi: 10.1016/j.cbpa.2009. 03.015
- Polakof, S., Alvarez, R., and Soengas, J. L. (2010a). Gut glucose metabolism in rainbow trout: implications in glucose homeostasis and glucosensing capacity. Am. J. Physiol. Regul. Integr. Comp. Physiol. 299, R19–R32. doi: 10.1152/ajpregu.00005.2010
- Polakof, S., Skiba-Cassy, S., Kaushik, S., Seiliez, I., Soengas, J. L., and Panserat, S. (2012b). Glucose and lipid metabolism in the pancreas of rainbow trout is regulated at the molecular level by nutritional status and carbohydrate intake. *J. Comp. Physiol. B.* 182, 507–516. doi: 10.1007/s00360-011-0636-5
- Polakof, S., and Soengas, J. L. (2008). Involvement of lactate in glucose metabolism and glucosensing function in selected tissues of rainbow trout. J. Exp. Biol. 211, 1075–1086. doi: 10.1242/jeb.014050
- Polakof, S., and Soengas, J. L. (2013). Evidence of sugar sensitive genes in the gut of a carnivorous fish species. *Comp. Biochem. Physiol. B.* 166, 58–64. doi: 10.1016/j.cbpb.2013.07.003
- Rasmussen, R. S., Ostenfeld, T. H., Rønsholdt, B., and McLean, E. (2000). Manipulation of end-product quality of rainbow trout with finishing diets. *Aquacult. Nutr.* 6, 17–23. doi: 10.1046/j.1365-2095.2000.00119.x
- Ren, X., Zhou, L., Terwiliger, R., Newton, S. S., and de Araujo, I. E. (2009). Sweet taste signaling functions as a hypothalamic glucose sensor. *Front. Integr. Neurosci.* 3:12. doi: 10.3389/neuro.07.012.2009
- Rogers, R. C., Ritter, S., and Hermann, G. E. (2016). Hindbrain cytoglucopeniainduced increases in systemic blood glucose levels by 2-deoxyglucose depend on intact astrocytes adn adenosine release. Am. J. Physiol. Regul. Integr. Comp. Physiol. 310, R1102–R1108. doi: 10.1152/ajpregu. 00493.2015
- Roh, E., Song do, K., and Kim, M. (2016). Emerging role of the brain in the homeostatic regulation of energy and glucose metabolism. *Exp. Mol. Med.* 48, e216. doi: 10.1038/emm.2016.4
- Ronner, P. (1991). 2-Deoxyglucose stimulates the release of insulin and somatostatin from the perfused catfish pancreas. *Gen. Comp. Endocrinol.* 81, 276–283. doi: 10.1016/0016-6480(91)90012-U
- Ronner, P., and Scarpa, A. (1987). Secretagogues for pancreatic hormone release in the channel catfish. *Gen. Comp. Endocrinol.* 65, 354–362. doi: 10.1016/0016-6480(87)90120-1
- Ross, R. A., Rossetti, L., Lam, T. K., and Schwartz, G. J. (2010). Differential effects of hypothalamic long-chain fatty acid infusions on suppression of hepatic glucose production. *Am. J. Physiol. Endocrinol. Metab.* 299, E633–E639. doi: 10.1152/ajpendo.00190.2010
- Rubio, V. C., Sánchez-Vázquez, F. J., and Madrid, J. A. (2008). Role of cholecystokinin and its antagonist proglumide on macronutrient selection in European sea bass *Dicentrarchus labrax*, L. *Physiol. Behav.* 93, 862–869. doi: 10.1016/j.physbeh.2007.12.001
- Ruderman, N. B., Xu, X. J., Nelson, L., Cacicedo, J. M., Saha, A. K., Lan, F., et al. (2010). AMPK and SIRT1: a long-standing partnership? *Am. J. Physiol. Endocrinol. Metab.* 298, E751–E760. doi: 10.1152/ajpendo.00745.2009
- Ruibal, C., Soengas, J. L., and Aldegunde, M. (2002). Brain serotonin and the control of food intake in rainbow trout (*Oncorhynchus mykiss*): effects of changes in plasma glucose levels. J. Comp. Physiol. A. 188, 479–484. doi: 10.1007/s00359-002-0320-z

- Rutter, G. A., Pullen, T. J., Hodson, D. J., and Martinez-Sanchez, A. (2015). Pancreatic β-cell identity, glucose sensing and the control of insulin secretion. *Biochem. J.* 466, 203–218. doi: 10.1042/BJ20141384
- Sánchez-Gurmaches, J., Cruz-Garcia, L., Gutiérrez, J., and Navarro, I. (2010). Endocrine control of oleic acid and glucose metabolism in rainbow trout (Oncorhynchus mykiss) muscle cells in culture. Am. J. Physiol. Regul. Integr. Comp. Physiol. 299, R562–R572. doi: 10.1152/ajpregu.00696.2009
- Sánchez-Muros, M. J., García-Rejón, L., García-Salguero, L., de la Higuera, M., and Lupiáñez, J. A. (1998). Long-term nutritional effects on the pimary liver and kidney metabolism in rainbow trout. Adaptative response to starvation and high-protein, carbohydrate-free diet to glutamate dehydrogenase and alanine aminotransferase kinetics. Int. J. Biochem. 30, 55–63.
- Sanders, N. M., Dunn-Meynell, A. A., and Levin, B. E. (2004). Third ventricular alloxan reversibly impairs glucose conterregulatory responses. *Diabetes* 53, 1230–1236. doi: 10.2337/diabetes.53.5.1230
- Saravanan, S., Geurden, I., Figueiredo-Silva, A. C., Kaushik, S., Haidar, M. N., Verreth, J. A. J., et al. (2012). Control of voluntary feed intake in fish: a role for dietary oxygen demand in Nile tilapia (*Oreochromis niloticus*) fed diets with different macronutrient profiles. *Br. J. Nutr.* 108, 1519–1529. doi: 10.1017/S0007114511006842
- Saravanan, S., Geurden, I., Figueiredo-Silva, A. C., Kaushik, S., Verreth, J. A. J., and Schrama, J. W. (2013). Voluntary feed intake in rainbow trout is regulated by diet-induced diferences in oxygen use. *J. Nutr.* 143, 781–787. doi: 10.3945/jn.112.173062
- Sargent, J. R., Tocher, D. R., and Bell, J. G. (2002). "The lipids," in *Fish Nutrition*, eds J. E. Halver and R. W. Hardy (San Diego, CA: Academic Press), 182–258.
- Schroeter, J. C., Fenn, C. M., and Small, B. C. (2015). Elucidating the roles of gut neuropeptides on channel catfish feed intake, glycemia, and hypothalamic NPY and POMC expression. *Comp. Biochem. Physiol. A.* 188, 168–174. doi: 10.1016/j.cbpa.2015.06.031
- Schwartz, M. W., Woods, S. C., Porte, D. Jr., Seeley, R. J., and Baskin, D. G. (2000). Central nervous system control of food intake. *Nature* 404, 661–671.
- Schwinkendorf, D. R., Tsatsos, N. G., Gosnell, B. A., and Mashek, D. G. (2011). Effects of central administration of distinct fatty acids on hypothalamic neuropeptide expression and energy metabolism. *Int. J. Obes.* 35, 336–344. doi: 10.1038/ijo.2010.159
- Seiliez, I., Gabillard, J. C., Skiba-Cassy, S., Garcia-Serrana, D., Gutiérrez, J., Kaushik, S., et al. (2008). An *in vivo* and *in vitro* assessment of TOR signaling cascade in rainbow trout (*Oncorhynchus mykiss*). Am. J. Physiol. Regul. Integr. Comp. Physiol. 295, R329–R335. doi: 10.1152/ajpregu.001 46.2008
- Seiliez, I., Médale, F., Aguirre, P., Larquier, M., Lanneretonne, L., Alami-Durante, H., et al. (2013). Postprandial regulation of growth- and metabolism-related factors in zebrafish. *Zebrafish* 10, 237–248. doi: 10.1089/zeb.2012.0835
- Seth, H., and Axelsson, M. (2010). Sympathetic, parasympathetic and enteric regulation of the gastrointestinal vasculature in rainbow trout (*Oncorhynchus mykiss*) under normal and postprandial conditions. J. Exp. Biol. 213, 3118–3126. doi: 10.1242/jeb.043612
- Shearer, K. D., Silverstein, J., and Plisetskaya, E. M. (1997). Role of adiposity in food intake control of juvenile chinook salmon (*Oncorhynchus tshawytscha*). Comp. Biochem. Physiol. A. 118, 1209–1215. doi: 10.1016/S0300-9629(97)86801-6
- Sheridan, M. A. (1994). Regulation of lipid metabolism in poikilothermic vertebrates. Comp. Biochem. Physiol. B. 107, 495–508. doi: 10.1016/0305-0491(94)90176-7
- Silverstein, J. T., Bondareva, V. M., Leonard, J. B., and Plisetskaya, E. M. (2001). Neuropeptide regulation of feeding in catfish, *Ictalurus punctatus*: a role for glucagon-like peptide-1 (GLP-1)? *Comp. Biochem. Physiol. B.* 129, 623–631. doi: 10.1016/S1096-4959(01)00357-8
- Silverstein, J. T., and Plisetskaya, E. M. (2000). The effects of NPY and insulin on food intake regulation in fish. Am. Zool. 40, 296–308. doi: 10.1093/icb/40.2.296
- Silverstein, J. T., Shearer, K. D., Dickhoff, W. W., and Plisetskaya, E. M. (1999). Regulation of nutrient intake and energy balance in salmon. *Aquaculture* 177, 161–169. doi: 10.1016/S0044-8486(99)00076-9
- Skiba-Cassy, S., Lansard, M., Panserat, S., and Médale, F. (2009). Rainbow trout genetically selected fo greater muscle fat content display increased activation of liver TOR signaling and lipogenic gene expression. Am. J. Physiol. Regul. Integr. Comp. Physiol. 297, R1421–R1429. doi: 10.1152/ajpregu.003 12.2009

- Soengas, J. L. (2014). Contribution of glucose- and fatty acid sensing systems to the regulation of food intake in fish. A review. *Gen. Comp. Endocrinol.* 205, 36–48. doi: 10.1016/j.ygcen.2014.01.015
- Soengas, J. L., and Aldegunde, M. (2004). Brain glucose and insulin: effects on food intake and brain biogenic amines of rainbow trout. J. Comp. Physiol. A. 190, 641–649. doi: 10.1007/s00359-004-0524-5
- Soengas, J. L., and Moon, T. W. (1998). Transport and metabolism of glucose in isolated enterocytes of the black bullhead *Ictalurus melas*: effects of diet and hormones. J. Exp. Biol. 201, 3263–3273.
- Soengas, J. L., Polakof, S., Chen, X., Sangiao-Alvarellos, S., and Moon, T. W. (2006). Glucokinase and hexokinase expression and activities in rainbow trout tissues: changes with food deprivation and refeeding. *Am. J. Physiol. Regul. Integr. Comp. Physiol.* 291, R810–R821. doi: 10.1152/ajpregu.00115.2006
- Song, Y., Golling, G., Thacker, T. L., and Cone, R. D. (2003). Agouti-related protein (AGRP) is conserved and regulated by metabolic state in the zebrafish, *Danio rerio. Endocrine* 22, 257–265. doi: 10.1385/ENDO:22:3:257
- Suárez, M. D., Sanz, A., Bazoco, J., and García-Gallego, M. (2002). Metabolic effects of changes in the dietary protein:carbohydrate ratio in eel (*Anguilla anguilla*) and trout (*Oncorhynchus mykiss*). *Aquacult. Int.* 10, 143–156. doi: 10.1023/A:1021371104839
- Subhedar, N., Varsagade, V. G., Singru, P. S., Thim, L., and Clausen, J. T. (2011). Cocaine- and amphetamine-regulated transcript peptide (CART) in the telencephalon of the catfish, *Clarias gariepinus*: distribution and response to fasting, 2-deoxy-D-glucose, glucose, insulin, and leptin treatments. *J. Comp. Neurol.* 519, 1281–1300. doi: 10.1002/cne.22569
- Tang, Z., Sun, C., Yan, A., Wu, S., Qin, C., Zhang, Y., et al. (2013). Genes involved in fatty acid metabolism: molecular characterization and hypothalamic mRNA response to energy status and neuropeptide Y treatment in the orangespotted grouper *Epinephelus coioides*. Mol. Cell Endocrinol. 376, 114–124. doi: 10.1016/j.mce.2013.06.020
- Thorens, B. (2011). Brain glucose sensing and neural regulation of insulin and glucagon secretion. *Diabet. Obes. Metab.* 1, 82–88. doi: 10.1111/j.1463-1326.2011.01453.x
- Thorens, B. (2012). "Sensing of glucose in the brain," in *Appetite Control*, ed H. G. Joost (Berlin: Springer-Verlag), 277–293.
- Tian, J., He, G., Mai, K., and Liu, C. (2015). Effects of postprandial starvation on mRNA expression of endocrine-, amino acid and peptide transporter-, and metabolic enzyme-related genes in zebrafish (*Danio rerio*). Fish Physiol. Biochem. 41, 773–787. doi: 10.1007/s10695-015-0045-x
- Tinoco, A. B., Näslund, J., Delgado, M. J., de Pedro, N., Johnsson, J. I., and Jönsson, E. (2014). Ghrelin increases food intake, swimming activity and growth in juvenile brown trout (*Salmo trutta*). *Physiol. Behav.* 124, 15–22. doi: 10.1016/j.physbeh.2013.10.034
- Tocher, D. R. (2003). Metabolism and functions of lipids and fatty acids in teleost fish. *Rev. Fish. Sci.* 11, 107–184. doi: 10.1080/713610925
- Tocher, D. R., Mourente, G., and Sargent, J. R. (1992). Metabolism of [1-¹⁴C]Docosahexaenoate (22:6n-3), [1-¹⁴C]Eicosapentaenoate (20:5n-3) and [1-¹⁴C]Linolenate (18:3n-3) in brain cells from juvenile turbot *Scophthalmus maximus*. *Lipids* 27, 494–499. doi: 10.1007/BF02536129
- Torstensen, B. E., Nanton, D. A., Olsvik, P. A., Sundvold, H., and Stubhaug,I. (2009). Gene expression of fatty acid-binding proteins, fatty acid transport proteins (cd36 and FATP) and β -oxidation-related genes in Atlantic salmon (*Salmo salar* L.) fed fish oil or vegetable oil. *Aquaculture Nutr.* 15, 440–451. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2095.2008.00609.x
- Tranulis, M. A., Dregni, O., Christophersen, B., Krogdahl, A., and Borrebaek, B. (1996). A glucokinase-like-enzyme in the liver of Atlantic salmon (*Salmo salar*). *Comp. Biochem. Physiol. A.* 114, 35–39. doi: 10.1016/0305-0491(95)02119-1
- Treesukosol, Y., Smith, K. R., and Spector, A. C. (2011). The functional role of the T1R family of receptors in sweet taste and feeding. *Physiol. Behav.* 105, 14–26. doi: 10.1016/j.physbeh.2011.02.030
- Trushenski, J. T. (2009). Saturated lipid sources in feeds for sunshine bass: alterations in production performance and tissue fatty acid composition. North Am. J. Aquacult. 71, 363–373. doi: 10.1577/A09-001.1
- Tu, Y., Xie, S., Han, D., Yang, Y., Jin, J., and Zhu, X. (2015). Dietary arginine requirement for gibel carp (*Carassius auratus gibelio* var. CAS III) reduces with fish size from 50 g to 150 g associated with modulation of genes involved in TOR signaling pathway. *Aquaculture* 449, 37–47. doi: 10.1016/j.aquaculture.2015.02.031

- Vaulont, S., Vasseur-Cognet, M., and Kahn, A. (2000). Glucose regulation of gene transcription. J. Biol. Chem. 275, 31555–31558. doi: 10.1074/jbc.R000016200
- Velasco, C., Librán-Pérez, M., Otero-Rodiño, C., López-Patiño, M. A., Míguez, J. M., Cerdá-Reverter, J. M., et al. (2016a). Ghrelin modulates hypothalamic fatty acid-sensing and control of food intake in rainbow trout. *J. Endocrinol.* 228, 25–37. doi: 10.1530/JOE-15-0391
- Velasco, C., Librán-Pérez, M., Otero-Rodiño, C., López-Patiño, M. A., Míguez, J. M., and Soengas, J. L. (2016b). Ceramides are involved in regulation of food intake in rainbow trout (*Oncorhynchus mykiss*). Am. J. Physiol. Regul. Integr. Comp. Physiol. 311, R658–R668. doi: 10.1152/ajpregu.00201.2016
- Velasco, C., Librán-Pérez, M., Otero-Rodiño, C., López-Patiño, M. A., Míguez, J. M., and Soengas, J. L. (2016c). Intracerebroventricular ghrelin treatment affects lipid metabolism in liver of rainbow trout (*Oncorhynchus mykiss*). *Gen. Comp. Endocrinol.* 228, 33–39. doi: 10.1016/j.ygcen.2016.01.016
- Velásquez, D. A., Martinez, G., Romero, A., Vázquez, M. J., Boit, K. D., Dopeso-Reyes, I. G., et al. (2011). The central sirtuin1/p53 pathway is essential for the orexigenic action of ghrelin. *Diabetes* 60, 1177–1185. doi: 10.2337/db10-0802
- Vivas, Y., Azpeleta, C., Feliciano, A., Velarde, E., Isorna, E., Delgado, M. J., et al. (2011). Time-dependent effects of leptin on food intake and locomotor activity in goldfish. *Peptides* 32, 989–995. doi: 10.1016/j.peptides.2011.01.028
- Volkoff, H. (2006). The role of neuropeptide Y, orexins, cocaine and amphetamine-related transcript, cholecystokinin, amylin and leptin in the regulation of feeding in fish. *Comp. Biochem. Physiol. A.* 144, 325–331. doi: 10.1016/j.cbpa.2005.10.026
- Volkoff, H., Canosa, L. F., Unniappan, S., Cerdá-Reverter, J. M., Bernier, N. J., Kelly, S. P., et al. (2005). Neuropeptides and the control of food intake in fish. *Gen. Comp. Endocrinol.* 142, 3–19. doi: 10.1016/j.ygcen.2004.11.001
- Volkoff, H., Eykelbosh, A. J., and Peter, R. E. (2003). Role of leptin in the control of feeding of goldfish *Carassius auratus*: interactions with cholecystokinin, neuropeptide Y and orexin A, and modulation by fasting. *Brain Res.* 972, 90–109. doi: 10.1016/S0006-8993(03)02507-1
- Volkoff, H., Hoskins, L. J., and Tuziak, S. M. (2009). Influence of intrinsic signals and environmental cue on the endocrine control of feeding in fish: potential application in aquaculture. *Gen. Comp. Endocrinol.* 167, 352–359. doi: 10.1016/j.ygcen.2009.09.001
- Volkoff, H., and Peter, R. E. (2001). Characterization of two forms of cocaine- and amphetamine-regulated transcript (CART) peptide precursors in goldfish: molecular cloning and distribution, modulation of expression by nutritional status, and interactions with leptin. *Endocrinology* 142, 5076–5088. doi: 10.1210/endo.142.12.8519
- Wacyk, J., Powell, M., Rodnick, K. J., Overturf, K., Hill, R. A., and Hardy, R. (2012). Dietary protein source significantly alters growth performance, plasma variables and hepatic gene expression in rainbow trout (*Oncorhynchus mykiss*) fed amino acid balanced diets. *Aquaculture* 356–357, 223–234. doi: 10.1016/j.aquaculture.2012.05.013

- Wang, W. G., Chen, X., Jiang, H., and Jiang, Z. Y. (2008). Effects of ghrelin on glucose-sensing and gastric distension sensitive neurons in rat dorsal vagal complex. *Regul. Peptides* 146, 169–175. doi: 10.1016/j.regpep.2007. 09.007
- Wauson, E. M., Lorente-Rodríguez, A., and Cobb, M. H. (2013). Minireview: nutrient sensing by G protein-couples receptors. *Mol. Endocrinol.* 27, 1188–1197. doi: 10.1210/me.2013-1100
- White, S. L., Volkoff, H., and Devlin, R. H. (2016). Regulation of feeding behavior and food intake by appetite-regulating peptides in wild-type and growth hormone-transgenic coho salmon. *Horm. Behav.* 84, 18–28. doi: 10.1016/j.yhbeh.2016.04.005
- Williams, I., Williams, K. C., Smith, D. M., and Jones, M. (2006). Polka-dot grouper, *Cromileptes altivelis*, can utilize dietary fat efficiently. *Aquacult. Nutr.* 12, 379–387. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2095.2006.00437.x
- Won, E. T., Baltzegar, D. A., Picha, M. E., and Borski, R. J. (2012). Cloning and characterization of leptin in a Perciform fish, the striped bass (*Morone saxatilis*): control of feeding and regulation by nutritional state. *Gen. Comp. Endocrinol.* 178, 98–107. doi: 10.1016/j.ygcen.2012.04.019
- Xu, D., He, G., Mai, K., Xu, W., and Song, F. (2016). Postprandial nutrientsensing and metabolic responses after partial dietary replacement by soyabean meal in turbot (*Scophthalmus maximus* L.). Br. J. Nutr. 115, 379–388. doi: 10.1017/S0007114515004535
- Zheng, H., and Berthoud, H. R. (2008). Neural systems controlling the drive to eat: mind versus metabolism. *Physiology* 23, 75–83. doi: 10.1152/physiol.00047.2007
- Zhong, C., Song, Y., Wang, Y., Zhang, T., Duan, M., Li, Y., et al. (2013). Increased food intake in growth hormone-transgenic common carp (*Cyprinus carpio* L.) may be mediated by upregulating Agouti-related protein (AgRP). *Gen. Comp. Endocrinol.* 192, 81–88. doi: 10.1016/j.ygcen.2013.03.024
- Zhou, Y., Liang, X.-F., Yuan, X., Jie, L., He, Y., Fang, L., et al. (2013). Neuropeptide Y stimulates food intake and regulates metabolism in grass carp, *Ctenopharyngodon idellus. Aquaculture* 380–383, 52–61. doi: 10.1016/j.aquaculture.2012.11.033

Conflict of Interest Statement: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2017 Conde-Sieira and Soengas. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) or licensor are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





Regulation of Agouti-Related Protein and Pro-Opiomelanocortin Gene Expression in the Avian Arcuate Nucleus

Timothy Boswell^{1*} and Ian C. Dunn²

¹ School of Biology, Newcastle University, Newcastle upon Tyne, UK, ² Royal (Dick) School of Veterinary Studies, Roslin Institute, University of Edinburgh, Easter Bush, UK

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Maximilian Michel, University of Michigan, USA

Reviewed by: Kazuhisa Honda,

Kazuinsa Honda, Kobe University, Japan Miriam Friedman-Einat, Agricultural Research Organization, Volcani Center, Israel Hiroyuki Kaiya, National Cerebral and Cardiovascular Center Research Institute, Japan

> *Correspondence: Timothy Boswell timothy.boswell@ncl.ac.uk

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Neuroendocrine Science, a section of the journal Frontiers in Endocrinology

Received: 30 January 2017 Accepted: 27 March 2017 Published: 13 April 2017

Citation:

Boswell T and Dunn IC (2017) Regulation of Agouti-Related Protein and Pro-Opiomelanocortin Gene Expression in the Avian Arcuate Nucleus. Front. Endocrinol. 8:75. doi: 10.3389/fendo.2017.00075 The arcuate nucleus is generally conserved across vertebrate taxa in its neuroanatomy and neuropeptide expression. Gene expression of agouti-related protein (AGRP), neuropeptide Y (NPY), pro-opiomelanocortin (POMC), and cocaine- and amphetamineregulated transcript (CART) has been established in the arcuate nucleus of several bird species and co-localization demonstrated for AGRP and NPY. The proteins encoded by these genes exert comparable effects on food intake in birds after central administration to those seen in other vertebrates, with AGRP and NPY being orexigenic and CART and α -melanocyte-stimulating hormone anorexigenic. We have focused on the measurement of arcuate nucleus AGRP and POMC expression in several avian models in relation to the regulation of energy balance, incubation, stress, and growth. AGRP mRNA and POMC mRNA are, respectively, up- and downregulated after energy deprivation and restriction. This suggests that coordinated changes in the activity of AGRP and POMC neurons help to drive the homeostatic response to replace depleted energy stores in birds as in other vertebrates. While AGRP and POMC expression are generally positively and negatively correlated with food intake, respectively, we review here situations in some avian models in which AGRP gene expression is dissociated from the level of food intake and may have an influence on growth independent of changes in appetite. This suggests the possibility that the central melanocortin system exerts more pleiotropic functions in birds. While the neuroanatomical arrangement of AGRP and POMC neurons and the sensitivity of their activity to nutritional state appear generally conserved with other vertebrates, detailed knowledge is lacking of the key nutritional feedback signals acting on the avian arcuate nucleus and there appear to be significant differences between birds and mammals. In particular, recently identified avian leptin genes show differences between bird species in their tissue expression patterns and appear less closely linked in their expression to nutritional state. It is presently uncertain how the regulation of the central melanocortin system in birds is brought about in the situation of the apparently reduced importance of leptin and ghrelin compared to mammals.

Keywords: melanocortin, AGRP, pro-opiomelanocortin, melanocortin 4 receptor, hypothalamus, birds, leptin

INTRODUCTION

Neural circuitry in the arcuate nucleus of the hypothalamus is well established in mammals as being particularly important for the regulation of energy balance (1, 2). Two neuronal cell types are involved. One synthesizes both agouti-related protein (AGRP) and neuropeptide Y (NPY), and the other produces α -melanocyte-stimulating hormone (α -MSH) and other peptides from the pro-opiomelanocortin (POMC) precursor together with cocaine- and amphetamine-regulated transcript (CART). AGRP and α -MSH peptides secreted from arcuate nucleus neurons bind to melanocortin receptors in the brain and collectively comprise the components of the central melanocortin system. AGRP/NPY neurons exert anabolic effects on food intake and body mass while POMC/CART neurons are catabolic. Evidence from non-mammalian vertebrate taxa suggests that the neuronal circuitry has been evolutionarily conserved both in its neuroanatomical location and in the genes the cells express. For example, AGRP, NPY, POMC, and CART mRNAs have all been localized in several teleost fish species in the lateral tuberal nucleus (NLT), the equivalent of the mammalian arcuate nucleus (3-6). Comparable observations have been made in birds, where the arcuate nucleus has historically been named the infundibular nucleus. Immunoreactive cell bodies and mRNA have been localized in the arcuate nucleus in several bird species for NPY, AGRP, and POMC (7-12). Furthermore, the co-expression of AGRP and NPY mRNA characteristic of laboratory rodents has been demonstrated in individual arcuate nucleus neurons in the Japanese quail (Coturnix coturnix japonica) (13). Less is known about CART in birds and its co-expression with POMC has yet to be formally demonstrated. However, immunoreactive CART neuronal cell bodies have been identified in the arcuate nucleus of the zebra finch (Taeniopygia guttata) (14).

We consider in this review the extent to which the evolutionary neuroanatomical conservation of the arcuate nucleus neurons implicated in energy balance in birds is conserved at the functional level, with an emphasis on our recent studies on the regulation of AGRP and POMC expression in several avian models.

AGRP, POMC, AND ENERGY HOMEOSTASIS

Nutritional Sensitivity of AGRP and POMC Gene Expression

It is well established in laboratory rodents that neuropeptide gene expression in the arcuate nucleus AGRP/NPY and POMC/CART neurons is sensitive to nutritional state (physiologically reported in mammals by variation in plasma leptin concentrations) as part of a counter-regulatory response to loss of body energy stores during situations of negative energy balance such as fasting or food restriction (2). Comparable findings have been obtained in birds in response to both experimental food deprivation and chronic restriction. For example, AGRP mRNA was increased by food deprivation for 24 h in adult Japanese quail, a response also consistently observed after food deprivation for 24–48 h in domestic broiler chicks (11, 15-18). AGRP expression returned to baseline levels after 24 h refeeding (15-18). We have extended these observations to investigate the effects of chronic food restriction in growing broiler breeder hens. Food restriction of the parent hens of broiler chickens during the growth phase is a common practice in the poultry industry in order to mitigate poor reproductive performance when birds are fed ad libitum (19). We observed that AGRP mRNA was strongly increased in 12-week-old hens that had been maintained on an industrial food restriction regime for 6 weeks and gene expression returned to baseline after 2 days' refeeding (20). A further comparison within the same experiment indicated that the level of AGRP mRNA was sensitive to feeding history: in two groups of hens sampled at the same body mass, AGRP gene expression was significantly higher in a group that had been maintained at an intermediate level of food restriction for 6 weeks compared to a group that had been maintained on commercial food restriction for 4 weeks before being released onto 2 weeks of ad libitum feeding. These results suggested that AGRP gene expression in broiler breeder hens is at least as sensitive to chronic food restriction as in mammals such as sheep, Siberian hamsters (Phodopus sungorus), rats, and golden spiny mice (Acomys russatus) (21-24). Furthermore, its expression is more closely linked to feeding state than reported in some rat studies of chronic food restriction where either no change was observed in AGRP mRNA, or where arcuate nucleus neuropeptide mRNAs had not returned to baseline levels after 4 weeks' refeeding (25, 26).

It would be predicted from mammalian studies that food deprivation and restriction would exert an opposite, inhibitory, effect on POMC mRNA levels compared to AGRP mRNA because POMC gene expression induces a catabolic effect on energy balance (2). However, in birds, some studies have reported no change in POMC mRNA level after 24-48 h food deprivation in Japanese quail and broiler chicks (11, 17) while significantly decreased POMC expression has been observed in other broiler chick studies (15, 16, 18). For chronic food restriction, we detected no difference in POMC expression after 6 weeks' restriction in our study of 12-week-old broiler breeder hens mentioned above, but another investigation reported a significant decrease after 7 days' restriction in both 3-week-old broiler and layer chicks (20, 27). The greater variability in detecting altered POMC mRNA and the reduced magnitude of the change in POMC expression compared to that for AGRP in response to food deprivation or restriction may reflect a greater relative importance of increased AGRP expression in the counter-regulatory response to lost energy stores or, alternatively, a possibly greater role for regulatory control at the level of POMC-derived peptide secretion as has been reported in mammals (28).

Nutritional Regulation of AGRP- and POMC-Derived Peptide Synthesis and Secretion

The significance of altered AGRP and POMC gene expression in response to manipulation of energy status is beginning to be understood in laboratory rodents. For example, the respective increased and decreased AGRP and POMC mRNA following a fast appears to be matched by parallel changes at the level of increased release of AGRP peptide and decreased release of α - and γ -MSH peptides (29–31) and by, respectively, increased and decreased firing of AGRP and POMC neurons (32, 33). Furthermore, optogenetic approaches have demonstrated that feeding behavior can be directly induced or inhibited by light activation of AGRP and POMC neurons, respectively (34). In contrast, most studies of the central melanocortin system in birds have focused on mRNA measurements as an indicator of the activity of the neurons. However, a few investigations have demonstrated the presence of central melanocortin system peptides in the avian arcuate nucleus. For example, AGRP immunoreactivity was identified in the Khaki Campbell duck (Anas platyrhynchos) arcuate nucleus (12), and evidence for altered synthesis of AGRP peptide is available for the ring dove (Streptopelia risoria), where increased numbers of AGRP-immunoreactive cell bodies were observed in the medio-basal hypothalamus following a 48-h fast and also during the post-hatching phase of the reproductive cycle when the parent birds are in negative energy balance as a result of the demands of feeding offspring (10, 35). Relatively little is known in birds about the processing of POMC-derived peptides in the hypothalamus and their relative importance for energy balance regulation. However, immunoreactive neuronal cell bodies for α-MSH, β-endorphin, and N-terminal POMC (pro- γ -MSH) were detected in the arcuate nucleus of broiler chickens (7), and co-localization of POMC mRNA and α -MSH peptide was observed in individual arcuate nucleus neurons in Japanese quail (11).

Given the general lack of information in birds about AGRP and POMC signaling above the mRNA level, the significance of changes in gene expression in relation to energy status is generally inferred from the mammalian literature and from the behavioral effects of the encoded peptides. There is behavioral evidence that domestic pigeons and Japanese quail eat more in a refeeding period after food deprivation compared to control birds that had been allowed to feed freely over the experimental fasting phase (13, 36). This increased food intake combined with knowledge about the effects of energy deprivation on AGRP and POMC gene expression is consistent with the idea that fasting stimulates food intake by increased secretion of AGRP peptide and, in some situations, reduced secretion of POMC-derived peptides such as α -MSH.

Central Melanocortin Receptors

The avian central melanocortin system peptides appear to exert their effects by acting on melanocortin receptors in the hypothalamus as in mammals. Characterization of the pharmacological properties of the five chicken melanocortin receptor subtypes *in vitro* revealed a relatively greater affinity for ACTH-derived peptides than for α -MSH compared to their mammalian orthologs (37). This might suggest a more significant role in birds for ACTH as a central melanocortin receptor ligand. Studies have not been performed to localize or quantify ACTH peptide in the avian hypothalamus, but its synthesis and secretion have been reported in the hypothalamus of laboratory rats (28), and an inhibitory effect on feeding of the centrally administered peptide has been observed in rats, domestic pigeons (*Columba livia*), and broiler chicks (38–40). Another POMC peptide, β -endorphin, has been localized in the chicken arcuate nucleus, as noted above (7). It stimulates food intake after central injection of the ostrich and mammalian peptide, respectively, in the domestic pigeon and the chicken (41, 42). Further investigation is needed to explore the context and significance of β -endorphin secretion from POMC/CART neurons.

Pharmacological studies have been performed in birds on the melanocortin 4 receptor (MC4R), the melanocortin receptor most strongly associated with the regulation of food intake in mammals. The synthetic compounds HS014 and HS024 were identified in vitro as selective antagonists and melanotan II (MTII) as a potent agonist in the chicken (37). The predicted stimulatory effects on food intake for the antagonist, and inhibitory effects for the agonist, have been confirmed for HS014 and MTII in ring doves and in broiler and layer chickens following central or peripheral injection (27, 35, 43). Several studies have investigated the effect of central injection of MSH peptides on food intake in domestic chicks. Inhibitory effects of α -, β -, and γ 2-MSH have been observed (44–47) with reports of differential sensitivity between broiler and layer and high and low-growth lines (48, 49). However, while the amino acid sequence of α -MSH is conserved across vertebrates, the chicken sequences for β - and γ 2-MSH differ between birds and mammals and appear to have a less potent effect on food intake in chicks when administered centrally compared to mammalian versions (43). This suggests a more prominent role for α-MSH among the avian POMC-derived peptides. As in mammals, there is evidence for competition between the α-MSH agonist and the AGRP antagonist at central melanocortin receptors because central injection of AGRP dose-dependently attenuated the inhibitory effect on feeding of α-MSH in domestic chicks (45). Central injections of AGRP alone stimulated food intake, as expected, in the ring dove but with an apparently lower potency than observed in laboratory rodents, which may reflect the use of heterologous human AGRP fragments in the ring dove experiment (35). Layer chicks were observed to be more sensitive in their feeding response to central AGRP injection than broiler chicks (45).

While pharmacological and behavioral studies suggest that the actions of AGRP- and POMC-derived peptides, particularly α -MSH, are conserved between birds and mammals, knowledge is lacking in birds about the site of action of the peptides and the central melanocortin receptor subtypes that naturally mediate their signaling effects: the projections of AGRP/NPY and POMC/ CART neurons have not been studied, and the central melanocortin receptors involved have not been precisely localized. Both MC4R and melanocortin 3 receptor (MC3R) mRNA have been quantified in the chicken hypothalamus in real-time PCR studies (15, 17, 50, 51) and the melanocortin 5 receptor more generally in the brain (50, 52). Increased MC4R gene expression has been observed after 48 h food deprivation in broiler chicks (15, 17), which may be in response to decreased agonistic drive. Little is known about the possible role of the MC3R in the regulation of energy balance in birds, but its hypothalamic expression was higher in chickens lines selected for low compared to high body weight (50, 51).

The Avian Central Melanocortin System

REGULATION OF AGRP AND POMC EXPRESSION BY INCUBATION, STRESS, AND PREPARATION FOR MIGRATION

Effects of Incubation and Stress

While the dynamic coordinated changes in arcuate nucleus AGRP and POMC gene expression in response to energy shortage are well established in mammals and conserved in birds, less is known about the occurrence and influence of altered basal expression of these genes. Uniquely avian models are available to test the hypothesis that variation in the levels of AGRP and POMC mRNA measured in individuals with free access to food promotes the expression of natural seasonal changes in feeding behavior and metabolism. We have recently investigated this in a chicken strain that exhibits natural incubation behavior. Hens incubate their eggs over a 3-week period that is associated with a suite of behavioral and physiological changes known as "broodiness" (53). Hens spend an increasing amount of time sitting on their eggs and cease laying. Linked to this is the expression of natural anorexia when birds reduce their food intake and reduce body mass over the incubation period (54). Experimental food deprivation and refeeding in junglefowl hens suggested that the level around which body mass is defended (or set point) is reduced during incubation, and the concept was extended to other vertebrate species of natural "animal anorexias" that are expressed in phases of life history such as hibernation or territorial defense where the time available to feed is limited (55, 56).

We drew on these studies to investigate how AGRP and POMC gene expression changes during the incubation phase in hens (57). One possible outcome was that there would be no change in gene expression because in birds with free access to food, body mass is at its appropriate defended level despite the fact that body mass is lower: altered AGRP and POMC expression would only be expected in response to perturbation such as food deprivation or restriction. Alternatively, it was possible that changes in basal gene expression play a role in promoting the loss of body mass. In this case, increased POMC expression would be expected, combined with unaltered, or reduced, AGRP expression. We controlled for possible confounding effects of, respectively, enlarged and regressed ovaries in laying and incubating hens by pair-feeding two groups of laying hens to the amount of food eaten voluntarily by incubating birds (57). This resulted in ovarian regression in those groups that matched that shown in the incubating hens. One of the pair-fed groups was allowed to refeed for 5 days so that food intake and body mass stabilized to reveal the natural ad libitum food intake level in birds with regressed ovaries. In birds sampled 21 days after the onset of incubation, POMC gene expression was increased to a level on the border of statistical significance in the incubating hens compared to the two control groups, consistent with the idea that this is linked to an increased anorexic drive. However, unexpectedly, AGRP mRNA was higher in both incubating and pair-fed birds, compared to the re-fed control group. This finding is interesting in suggesting that increased AGRP gene expression (and the assumed associated increase in AGRP peptide signaling) does not necessarily result in increased food intake. This situation was not unique to incubation. A related experiment

arose from our observation that hens transferred from single housing in a cage to housing in a pen showed reduced food intake in their new environment presumably because they perceived the transfer as stressful (57). Measurements of AGRP and POMC gene expression 6 days after the housing transfer showed results comparable to the incubation experiment, this time with significantly increased POMC mRNA combined with increased AGRP expression. This result is again consistent with increased POMC expression contributing to anorexic drive that leads to the reduced food intake. The fact that AGRP gene expression is increased during incubation and after housing transfer suggests that its sensitivity to reduced energy availability is maintained despite an apparent change in the defended set point for body mass during incubation. The normal stimulatory effects of AGRP expression on food intake may be overridden by a relatively greater inhibitory influence of the increased POMC expression and, in the case of incubation, a possible inhibitory influence on feeding of hypothalamic vasoactive intestinal polypeptide, the expression of which is causatively linked to incubation behavior in birds (53). The fact that AGRP gene expression is increased in these situations may be of adaptive significance in promoting more rapid restoration of energy stores when incubation ends and as part of the recovery from the effects of a stressor. For incubation, it is also possible that increased AGRP mRNA is linked to altered daily patterns of behavior during incubation when expression of ingestive behavior is confined to two daily recesses from nest sitting but during which feeding may be relatively intense (53).

Photoperiodic Effects and Migratory Physiology

Another opportunity provided by avian models to investigate the possibility of seasonal regulation of AGRP and POMC gene expression is represented by species that show increased appetite and fat deposition as preparation for migratory flight (58). Laboratory studies in captive birds have revealed that the increased appetite (hyperphagia) and fat deposition that occur before migration are stimulated by changes in daylength and appear to involve changes in the level around which body mass is regulated as has been suggested for incubation (59). Seasonal changes in reproductive physiology mediated by photoperiod in birds and seasonal mammals have been linked to release of thyroid-stimulating hormone from the pars tuberalis of the pituitary gland. This results in conversion within the mediobasal hypothalamus of thyroxine into triiodothyronine (T3) that promotes release of gonadotropin-releasing hormone from neuron terminals in the median eminence (60). It is possible that locally increased tissue concentrations of T3 mediate seasonal cycles in appetite and fat deposition in addition to reproduction. This is suggested by a mammalian study of Siberian hamsters that received hypothalamic implants of T3. This procedure on short day animals induced changes in body mass characteristic of exposure to long photoperiods (61). Furthermore, there is evidence in domestic chicks that experimentally increased T3 stimulates hypothalamic AGRP gene expression both in vivo and in vitro (62). However, there is limited evidence in hamsters for an important role for the arcuate nucleus and its neuropeptides in

driving seasonal cycles in food intake and body mass (63). We are currently investigating whether the situation is similar in birds by quantifying AGRP gene expression in Gambel's white-crowned sparrows (*Zonotrichia leucophrys gambelii*) after photostimulation. This will test whether increased AGRP gene expression is associated with seasonally increased food intake in this migratory species.

INFLUENCE OF GROWTH AND SEX ON AGRP AND POMC EXPRESSION

In addition to a possible role of basal changes in gene expression in regulating reproductive and seasonal changes in food intake and body weight, our recent studies suggest that AGRP and POMC expression may be related to growth. In our chronic food restriction experiment on broiler breeder hens (20) reviewed in relation to energy homeostasis above, we noted that AGRP gene expression was inversely related to body mass in the groups maintained on *ad libitum* feeding at the time of sampling (**Figure 1**). Birds were the same age at the time they were killed and had all been maintained on commercial restricted feeding for the first 6 weeks. The highest body mass was attained in the birds fed *ad libitum* over the next 6 weeks and the lowest in birds that were only allowed to refeed for 2 days. AGRP mRNA remained significantly elevated in birds fed *ad libitum*



for 2 weeks compared to 6 weeks. Thus, the level of AGRP expression could be regarded as a measure of the growth potential of the different experimental groups, with the highest expression in birds that were furthest away from the natural growth trajectory. We have further evidence for this at the genetic level. When we compared AGRP gene expression between males and females in 12-week-old broiler breeder chickens that had been re-fed for 2 days after food restriction, expression was significantly higher in males and this difference was replicated in ad libitum-fed fully mature chickens of another genetic strain (64). The higher AGRP expression in males is consistent with the fact that they grow faster and attain a higher mature body mass. It would therefore be predicted that AGRP mRNA would be higher in fully fed birds in chicken strains that grow more rapidly. We obtained evidence for this from trait linkage analysis of birds from a broiler-layer cross that differed in growth rate (65). We identified a genotype that explained 19% of the difference in body mass between the lines that was associated with lower global tissue expression of the cholecystokinin A receptor (CCKAR) in the high-growth haplotype. We demonstrated that the high-growth birds were less sensitive to the inhibitory effects on food intake of intraperitoneal cholecystokinin (CCK) injection and that they showed significantly higher expression of AGRP (but no difference in POMC mRNA). This suggests that the tone of CCK signaling influences AGRP expression. It could be predicted that increased AGRP expression is causative in generating higher growth by stimulating food intake. However, we have been unable to find a consistent difference in daily food intake between the lines. This demonstrates again, as we observed for incubation, that high AGRP gene expression can be dissociated from increased feeding. Any effects of AGRP on growth rate must therefore be independent of food intake. The mechanisms involved are currently unclear and point to a need in birds to investigate the effects of central melanocortin system signaling on metabolic aspects of energy balance regulation distinct from feeding behavior.

While our observations linking AGRP expression to growth in birds are preliminary and require further investigation, they serve to highlight a possible involvement of the central melanocortin system in growth regulation that has received limited attention in vertebrates compared to its more general effects on energy homeostasis. Experimental inactivation or natural mutation of the MC4R in laboratory mice and humans is associated with increased linear growth (66, 67). The mechanisms underlying this effect are not fully understood but appear to be independent of growth hormone secretion and involve hyperinsulinemia (68, 69). More direct evidence for a link between the central melanocortin system and growth has been obtained from teleost fish for which it has been reported that transgenic overexpression of the natural melanocortin receptor antagonist agouti-signaling protein reversed the pattern of sexually dimorphic growth in zebrafish (Danio rerio) (70) and that AGRP and POMC neurons project directly to the pituitary gland (71). Transgenic overexpression of AGRP itself in zebrafish led to both obesity and increased linear growth, while suppression of AGRP expression reduced larval growth rate and was mediated through the MC4R (71, 72). Thus it seems that AGRP exerts more pleiotropic

effects on hormonal axes through the pituitary gland in teleosts compared to mammals and more investigation is needed to determine whether this applies to non-mammalian vertebrates more generally including birds.

REGULATION OF AGRP AND POMC EXPRESSION BY METABOLIC HORMONES, HYPOTHALAMIC ENERGY SENSING, AND GUT FILL

Leptin

Less is known in birds than mammals about the regulatory feedback signals to the arcuate nucleus that mediate the physiological changes in AGRP and POMC gene expression reviewed above. This is due in part to uncertainty over the status of leptin in birds, with leptin being a key regulator of the central melanocortin system in mammals (2). Leptin genes have recently been identified in several avian species after a 20-year search (73-77). However, they have low (about 30%) amino acid sequence identity with mammalian leptins, with variable tissue expression patterns between species and limited expression in adipose tissue (78). Mammalian leptins inhibit food intake in birds after central or peripheral injection but peripheral infusion of "chicken leptin" (later shown to be mouse leptin) had no effect on AGRP and POMC gene expression in young broilers (79). Thus, unlike the situation in mammals, there is currently no direct evidence to support an action of leptin on AGRP and POMC gene expression, but further investigation is needed that takes into account the new information on avian leptin.

Ghrelin

A pronounced difference between birds and mammals is also apparent for the effects of ghrelin on food intake. There is commonality in that, as in mammals, ghrelin is expressed in the avian stomach (proventriculus) and its gene expression and circulating protein are increased by fasting and decreased by refeeding in layer chickens and Japanese quail (80). Also, in free-living garden warblers (Sylvia borin) sampled at a stopover site during spring migration, plasma ghrelin concentrations were positively associated with higher fat scores (81). However, unlike the situation in mammals, central and peripheral injections of mammalian and chicken ghrelin decrease, rather than stimulate, feeding (80, 81). There is evidence in mammals for a regulatory influence of ghrelin on AGRP/NPY neurons (82). Expression of the ghrelin receptor (GHSR) has been detected in the domestic chick hypothalamus (83), but its localization there, including in the arcuate nucleus, is unknown. The inhibitory effect of centrally administered ghrelin on food intake appeared to be mediated via corticotropin-releasing factor rather than through AGRP/NPY neurons because ghrelin injection did not influence NPY gene expression (84).

Hypothalamic Energy Sensing

At the local tissue level, there is suggestive evidence for a link in birds between arcuate nucleus neuropeptide gene expression and hypothalamic energy sensing as there is in mammals. Immunoreactivity for the energy sensor AMP-activated protein kinase (AMPK) was observed in the chicken arcuate nucleus and food deprivation for 48 h increased phosphorylated AMPKα in parallel with AGRP mRNA (17, 85). In broiler chicks, 24 h food deprivation led to increased expression of the AMPK subunit mRNAs AMPKα2, AMPKβ1, AMPKβ2, and AMPKy1 along with, respectively, increased and decreased AGRP and POMC mRNAs (16). When domestic broiler chicks were fed with the AMPK inhibitor α -lipoic acid (α -LPA), hypothalamic AMPKa1 mRNA was decreased along with food intake, confirming α -LPA's inhibitory effect (86). However, the pattern of expression of AGRP and POMC was opposite to that predicted for a regulatory effect of AMPK. The same study (86) also confirmed the expression in the chick hypothalamus of hypoxia-inducible factor- 1α , a nuclear transcription factor that influences POMC gene expression in mammals in response to local hypoxia (87). More generally, microarray and real-time PCR analysis of gene expression in the hypothalamus of broiler chicks food-deprived for 48 h suggested that fasting induces metabolic switching (16, 18). Genes associated with fatty acid oxidation and inhibition of glycolysis were upregulated, and those linked to fatty acid synthesis and transport downregulated, in parallel with increased AGRP and reduced POMC gene expression. The suggestion of metabolic switching was supported by central injection of compounds influencing glycolysis and fatty acid oxidation (18). Injection of α -LPA decreased food intake, which is consistent with the finding of the dietary administration study above and with α -LPA stimulating glycolysis through inhibition of pyruvate dehydrogenase kinase isoform 4 (18). In contrast, injection of the glycolytic inhibitor 2-deoxyglucose stimulated food intake. The possible importance of the metabolic sensor sirtuin 1 in mediating the metabolic switching was suggested by the fact that administration of its inhibitor NADH and activator NAD+, respectively, decreased and increased food intake (18). However, the effect of these manipulations on neuropeptide gene expression was not reported so that it is not clear to what extent the changes in food intake observed are directly attributable to regulatory effects on AGRP/NPY and POMC/CART neurons. Thus, overall, although suggestive, evidence for a direct effect of metabolic sensing on AGRP and POMC gene expression is lacking and further investigation is needed.

Local Hypothalamic Signaling

Signals that may influence central melanocortin system gene expression within the hypothalamus have been explored by microarray and pathway analysis in newly hatched broiler chicks that were food deprived for up to 48 h and re-fed (15). Functional interactions, supported by hypothalamic cell culture experiments, were identified within a network of six genes encoding the neuropeptide relaxin-3, the neuropeptide receptors NPY5R and somatostatin receptor 5, and the β 2 adrenergic and metabotropic glutamate receptor 8 neurotransmitter receptors together with POMC, which appeared to play a central role. POMC expression was downregulated by fasting while the other genes were upregulated.

Insulin

For metabolic hormones, evidence is needed for co-expression of hormone receptors in individual AGRP/NPY and POMC/ CART neurons. So far, this has been established only for insulin. Before the discovery of leptin, insulin was favored in mammals as a long-term regulator of energy balance because fasting, or basal, concentrations report body fat content, the hormone is transported into the brain, and insulin receptors are present on AGRP/ NPY neurons (2). It is less clear whether it plays a similar role in the long-term regulation of energy balance of birds: although circulating insulin concentrations are correlated with food intake in chickens, they did not differ under fasting conditions between selected lines of fat and lean birds (88). However, central injection of insulin decreased food intake in layer chicks and the effect was blocked by coadministration of the MC4R antagonist HS014 (89, 90). A direct effect of insulin on arcuate nucleus neurons was suggested by the demonstration of co-localization of insulin receptor immunoreactivity with that of NPY, and with α -MSH in individual neurons (91). Insulin stimulates POMC gene expression and inhibits that of AGRP and NPY in the brain of laboratory rodents (92), and this regulatory influence appears to have been conserved to some extent in birds. Thus, in the chick studies, central insulin injections consistently stimulated POMC expression, but a decrease in NPY mRNA was observed in one study and not another, and no decrease in AGRP mRNA was detected (89, 90). Overall, however, the results suggest an involvement of insulin in the response of POMC/CART and possibly AGRP/NPY neurons to fasting.

Corticosterone and Thyroid Hormones

Other metabolic hormones that have a regulatory influence on AGRP/NPY and POMC/CART neurons in mammals are corticosterone and thyroid hormones. Circulating corticosterone is increased by fasting in birds and mammals and, respectively, increases and decreases AGRP and POMC gene expression in laboratory rodents (93, 94). There is evidence in domestic chicks for a suppressive effect of corticosterone on POMC expression (62, 95). However, there is more variability in the response of AGRP gene expression to centrally or peripherally administered corticosterone or to the glucocorticoid receptor agonist dexamethasone (62, 95-97). Thyroid hormones have already been mentioned in the context of preparation for migration above. There is evidence in both birds and mammals for a stimulatory effect of T3 on AGRP gene expression (63, 98). Thus, overall, there is some commonality in the regulatory influences of corticosterone and T3 on AGRP/NPY and POMC/CART neurons between birds and mammals.

Cholecystokinin

We identified a possible link between signaling by the gut peptide CCK and AGRP expression in the context of growth as reviewed above (65). It is unclear whether the increased AGRP expression we observed in high-growth haplotype chickens is a secondary consequence of reduced CCKAR expression and experimental manipulations of CCK signaling in other chicken strains are needed. In mammals, there is evidence for an involvement of

the central melanocortin system, both in the hindbrain and the hypothalamus, in the inhibitory effects of CCK on feeding because MC4R knockout mice show a reduced sensitivity (99, 100).

Gut Fullness Effects

In addition to feedback effects by metabolic hormones, we have recently investigated the possibility for a sensitivity of AGRP gene expression to signals arising from gut fullness. This has been in the applied context of attempting to improve the welfare of broiler breeder chickens that experience prolonged hunger during the industrial practice of food restriction when birds receive a limited ration of food per day. As an alternative, it is possible to use alternative diets containing a high proportion of food that is normally high in fiber and of low energy density (101). This could potentially mitigate some of the undesirable effects of constant hunger by providing more total food and therefore more opportunity for the expression of natural foraging and ingestive behaviors. However, it is uncertain whether birds fed on such diets still experience a "metabolic hunger." To address this, we provided restricted-fed 12-week-old broiler breeder birds with ad libitum access to food for 2 days compared to birds re-fed a diet over the same time period that was diluted with the non-nutritive bulking agent ispaghula husk, and to birds that remained on a restricted diet (64). We measured significantly increased AGRP expression and decreased POMC expression compared to fully fed controls in both food-restricted birds and in those receiving the dietary bulking agent. This suggests that AGRP and POMC gene expression is insensitive to mechanosensory signals relating to gut fullness. We are performing further experiments to confirm this using other more industrially relevant diet formulations.

CONCLUSION

The striking neuroanatomical conservation among vertebrates of the arcuate nucleus AGRP/NPY and POMC/CART neurons appears to be accompanied in birds by functional conservation in these cells of a coordinated signaling response to energy deprivation whereby AGRP/NPY neurons are stimulated and POMC/ CART neurons are inhibited, which promotes replacement of lost energy stores when food becomes available. However, the picture is somewhat incomplete in birds compared to mammals with investigations tending to be skewed toward the measurement of gene expression rather than being focused on secretion of the peptides. Information is lacking on the connections of the neurons, both within and outside the hypothalamus, and little is known about the metabolic and energetic effects of the arcuate nucleus peptides distinct from their effects on food intake. Knowledge in birds has also been limited by a lack of availability of transgenic methods to assess the effects on energy balance of experimental genetic activation and inactivation, although such methods now appear to be close to routine application (102).

The use of unique avian models to explore aspects of the regulation of the central melanocortin system has highlighted possible differences from mammals and emphasized adaptations that may be representative of those in other non-mammalian vertebrates. These include changes in basal expression of AGRP and POMC in relation to seasonal changes in food intake, energy balance, and reproduction that tend not to be apparent in mammalian models (63). There are also situations in birds in which AGRP gene expression is dissociated from the pattern of food intake, particularly in relation to sexually dimorphic growth, which widens the perspective of investigations into the functions of the melanocortin system in birds and other vertebrates beyond the regulation of appetite.

The apparent functional conservation of changes in central melanocortin system gene expression in response to energy shortage is somewhat puzzling from the evidence available on how the system is regulated by feedback signals. Circulating leptin is acknowledged to play a prominent regulatory role on the system in mammals whereas in birds its sites of synthesis are variable and less focused on adipose tissue, and it appears to act more as an autocrine/paracrine signaling factor than as a circulating hormone (78). The recent discovery of avian leptin genes together with the knowledge that the pattern of expression is more representative of other non-mammals than mammals offers the opportunity for the regulation of the avian melanocortin system to be viewed from a new perspective. More commonality between birds and mammals is evident in the regulatory effects of other metabolic hormones such as insulin, corticosterone, and T3. However, it is presently unclear whether these hormones exert

REFERENCES

- Sawchenko PE. Towardanewneurobiologyofenergybalance,appetite,andobesity: the anatomists weigh in. *J Comp Neurol* (1998) 402:435–41. doi:10.1002/ (SICI)1096-9861(19981228)402:4<435::AID-CNE1>3.3.CO;2-D
- Schwartz MW, Woods SC, Porte D Jr, Seeley RJ, Baskin DG. Central nervous system control of food intake. *Nature* (2000) 404:661–71. doi:10.1038/35007534
- Cerdá-Reverter JM, Anglade I, Martínez-Rodríguez G, Mazurais D, Muñoz-Cueto JA, Carrillo M, et al. Characterization of neuropeptide Y expression in the brain of a perciform fish, the sea bass (*Dicentrarchus labrax*). J Chem Neuroanat (2000) 19:197–210. doi:10.1016/S0891-0618(00)00063-6
- Schiöth HB, Cerdá-Reverter JM, Peter RE. The central melanocortin system regulates food intake in goldfish. *Regul Pept* (2003) 115:101–13. doi:10.1016/ S0167-0115(03)00144-7
- Song Y, Golling G, Thacker TL, Cone RD. Agouti-related protein (AGRP) is conserved and regulated by metabolic state in the zebrafish, *Danio rerio*. *Endocrine* (2003) 22:257–65. doi:10.1385/ENDO:22:3:257
- Le HT, Angotzi AR, Ebbesson LO, Karlsen Ø, Rønnestad I. The ontogeny and brain distribution dynamics of the appetite regulators NPY, CART and pOX in larval Atlantic cod (*Gadus morhua* L). *PLoS One* (2016) 11:e0153743. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0153743
- Gerets HH, Peeters K, Arckens L, Vandesande F, Berghman LR. Sequence and distribution of pro-opiomelanocortin in the pituitary and brain of the chicken (*Gallus gallus*). *J Comp Neurol* (2000) 417:250–62. doi:10.1002/ (SICI)1096-9861(20000207)417:2<250::AID-CNE9>3.0.CO;2-Z
- Kameda Y, Miura M, Nishimaki T. Localization of neuropeptide Y mRNA and peptide in the chicken hypothalamus and their alterations after food deprivation, dehydration and castration. *J Comp Neurol* (2001) 436:376–88. doi:10.1002/cne.1074
- Strader AD, Buntin JD. Neuropeptide-Y: a possible mediator of prolactin-induced feeding and regulator of energy balance in the ring dove (*Streptopelia risoria*). J Neuroendocrinol (2001) 13:386–92. doi:10.1046/j.1365-2826. 2001.00642.x
- Strader AD, Buntin JD. Changes in agouti-related peptide during the ring dove breeding cycle in relation to prolactin and parental hyperphagia. *J Neuroendocrinol* (2003) 15:1046–53. doi:10.1046/j.1365-2826.2003.01092.x
- 11. Phillips-Singh D, Li Q, Takeuchi S, Ohkubo T, Sharp PJ, Boswell T. Fasting differentially regulates expression of agouti-related peptide, pro-

the main regulatory effects on the system with diminished input from leptin and ghrelin, or whether other regulatory mechanisms are present that are either ancestral and representative of other non-mammalian vertebrates rather than mammals or are unique and linked to the general adaptations that have evolved in birds to support flight.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

TB wrote the article with substantial intellectual and editorial input from ID on its content and structure. Both authors approved the work for publication.

FUNDING

Our work has been supported by DEFRA Grant AW1141 "Quantifying the subjective state of feed-restricted broiler chickens using behavioural and neurochemical measures" and by BBSRC Grant BB/L000571/1 "Investigating how the type and quantity of food affect foraging behaviour and the neural circuits controlling feeding in broiler breeder chickens." The Roslin Institute is funded by the BBSRC through Institute Strategic Grant funding.

opiomelanocortin, prepro-orexin, and vasoactive intestinal polypeptide mRNAs in the hypothalamus of Japanese quail. *Cell Tissue Res* (2003) 313:217–25. doi:10.1007/s00441-003-0755-8

- Mirabella N, Esposito V, Squillacioti C, De Luca A, Paino G. Expression of agouti-related protein (AgRP) in the hypothalamus and adrenal gland of the duck (*Anas platyrhynchos*). *Anat Embryol* (2004) 209:137–41. doi:10.1007/ s00429-004-0431-0
- Boswell T, Li Q, Takeuchi S. Neurons expressing neuropeptide Y mRNA in the infundibular nucleus of Japanese quail are activated by fasting and co-express agouti-related protein mRNA. *Brain Res Mol Brain Res* (2002) 100:31–42. doi:10.1016/S0169-328X(02)00145-6
- 14. Singh O, Kumar S, Singh U, Kumar V, Lechan RM, Singru PS. Cocaine- and amphetamine-regulated transcript peptide (CART) in the brain of zebra finch, *Taeniopygia guttata*: organization, interaction with neuropeptide Y, and response to changes in energy status. *J Comp Neurol* (2016) 524:3014–41. doi:10.1002/cne.24004
- Higgins SE, Ellestad LE, Trakooljul N, McCarthy F, Saliba J, Cogburn LA, et al. Transcriptional and pathway analysis in the hypothalamus of newly hatched chicks during fasting and delayed feeding. *BMC Genomics* (2010) 11:162. doi:10.1186/1471-2164-11-162
- Lei L, Lixian Z. Effect of 24 h fasting on gene expression of AMPK, appetite regulation peptides and lipometabolism related factors in the hypothalamus of broiler chicks. *Asian-Australas J Anim Sci* (2012) 25:1300–8. doi:10.5713/ ajas.2012.12153
- Song Z, Liu L, Yue Y, Jiao H, Lin H, Sheikhahmadi A, et al. Fasting alters protein expression of AMP-activated protein kinase in the hypothalamus of broiler chicks (*Gallus gallus domesticus*). *Gen Comp Endocrinol* (2012) 178:546–55. doi:10.1016/j.ygcen.2012.06.026
- Fang X-L, Zhu X-T, Chen S-F, Zhang Z-Q, Zeng Q-J, Deng L, et al. Differential gene expression pattern in hypothalamus of chickens during fasting-induced metabolic reprogramming: functions of glucose and lipid metabolism in the feed intake of chickens. *Poult Sci* (2014) 93:2841–54. doi:10.3382/ ps.2014-04047
- Mench JA. Broiler breeders: feed restriction and welfare. Worlds Poult Sci J (2002) 58:23–9. doi:10.1079/WPS20020004
- Dunn IC, Wilson PW, Smulders TV, Sandilands V, D'Eath RB, Boswell T. Hypothalamic agouti-related protein expression is affected by both acute and chronic experience of food restriction and re-feeding in chickens. *J Neuroendocrinol* (2013) 25:920–8. doi:10.1111/jne.12088
- Henry BA, Rao A, Ikenasio BA, Mountjoy KG, Tilbrook AJ, Clarke IJ. Differential expression of cocaine- and amphetamine-regulated transcript and agouti related-protein in chronically food-restricted sheep. *Brain Res* (2001) 918:40–50. doi:10.1016/S0006-8993(01)02918-3
- Gutman R, Hacmon-Keren R, Choshniak I, Kronfeld-Schor N. Effect of food availability and leptin on the physiology and hypothalamic gene expression of the golden spiny mouse: a desert rodent that does not hoard food. *Am J Physiol Regul Integr Comp Physiol* (2008) 295:R2015–23. doi:10.1152/ ajpregu.00105.2008
- Mercer JG, Moar KM, Logie TJ, Findlay PA, Adam CL, Morgan PJ. Seasonally inappropriate body weight induced by food restriction: effect on hypothalamic gene expression in male Siberian hamsters. *Endocrinology* (2001) 142:4173–81. doi:10.1210/endo.142.10.8454
- 24. Bertile F, Oudart H, Criscuolo F, Le Maho Y, Raclot T. Hypothalamic gene expression in long-term fasted rats: relationship with body fat. *Biochem Biophys Res Commun* (2003) 303:1106–13. doi:10.1016/S0006-291X(03)00481-9
- Bi S, Robinson BM, Moran TH. Acute food deprivation and chronic food restriction differentially affect hypothalamic NPY mRNA expression. *Am J Physiol Regul Integr Comp Physiol* (2003) 285:R1030–6. doi:10.1152/ ajpregu.00734.2002
- Kinzig KP, Hargrave SL, Tao EE. Central and peripheral effects of chronic food restriction and weight restoration in the rat. *Am J Physiol Endocrinol Metab* (2009) 296:E282–90. doi:10.1152/ajpendo.90523.2008
- Hen G, Yosefi G, Simchaev V, Shinder D, Hruby VJ, Friedman-Einat M. The melanocortin circuit in obese and lean strains of chicks. *J Endocrinol* (2006) 190:527–35. doi:10.1677/joe.1.06783
- Pritchard LE, Oliver RL, McLoughlin JD, Birtles S, Lawrence CB, Turnbull AV, et al. Proopiomelanocortin-derived peptides in rat cerebrospinal fluid and hypothalamic extracts: evidence that secretion is regulated with respect to energy balance. *Endocrinology* (2003) 144:760–6. doi:10.1210/ en.2002-220866
- Li J-Y, Finniss S, Yang Y-K, Zeng Q, Qu S-Y, Barsh G, et al. Agouti-related protein-like immunoreactivity: characterization of release from hypothalamic tissue and presence in serum. *Endocrinology* (2000) 141:1942–50. doi:10.1210/en.141.6.1942
- Perello M, Stuart RC, Nillni EA. Differential effects of fasting and leptin on proopiomelanocortin peptides in the arcuate nucleus and in the nucleus of the solitary tract. *Am J Physiol Endocrinol Metab* (2007) 292:E1348–57. doi:10.1152/ajpendo.00466.2006
- Breen TL, Conwell IM, Wardlaw SL. Effects of fasting, leptin, and insulin on AGRP and POMC peptide release in the hypothalamus. *Brain Res* (2005) 1032:141–8. doi:10.1016/j.brainres.2004.11.008
- Yang Y, Arasoy D, Su HH, Sternson SM. Hunger states switch a flip-flop memory circuit via a synaptic AMPK-dependent positive feedback loop. *Cell* (2011) 146:992–1003. doi:10.1016/j.cell.2011.07.039
- 33. Mandelblat-Cerf Y, Ramesh RN, Burgess CR, Patella P, Yang Z, Lowell BB, et al. Arcuate hypothalamic AgRP and putative POMC neurons show opposite changes in spiking across multiple timescales. *Elife* (2015) 4:e071122. doi:10.7554/eLife.07122
- Aponte Y, Atasoy D, Sternson SM. AGRP neurons are sufficient to orchestrate feeding behavior rapidly and without training. *Nat Neurosci* (2011) 14:351–5. doi:10.1038/nn.2739
- Strader AD, Schiöth HB, Buntin JD. The role of the melanocortin system and the melanocortin-4 receptor in ring dove (*Streptopelia risoria*) feeding behavior. *Brain Res* (2003) 960:112–21. doi:10.1016/S0006-8993(02)03799-X
- Ziegler HP. Feeding behavior in the pigeon: a neurobehavioral analysis. In: Goodman IJ, Schein MW, editors. *Birds: Brain and Behavior*. New York: Academic Press (1974). p. 101–32.
- Ling MK, Hotta E, Kilianova Z, Haitina T, Ringholm A, Johanson L, et al. The melanocortin receptor subtypes in chicken have high preference to ACTH-derived peptides. *Br J Pharmacol* (2004) 143:626–37. doi:10.1038/ sj.bjp.0705900
- Schulz C, Paulus K, Lobmann R, Dallman M, Lehnert H. Endogenous ACTH, not only α-melanocyte-stimulating hormone, reduces food intake mediated by hypothalamic mechanisms. *Am J Physiol Endocrinol Metab* (2010) 298:E237–44. doi:10.1152/ajpendo.00408.2009
- Deviche P, Delius JD. Short-term modulation of domestic pigeon (*Columbia livia* L.) behaviour induced by intraventricular administration of ACTH. Z Tierpsychol (1981) 55:335–42. doi:10.1111/j.1439-0310.1981.tb01276.x

- Shipp SL, Yi J, Dridi S, Gilbert ER, Cline MA. The central anorexigenic mechanism of adrenocorticotropic hormone involves the caudal hypothalamus in chicks. *Neuropeptides* (2015) 53:29–35. doi:10.1016/j.npep.2015.07.005
- 41. Deviche P, Schepers G. Intracerebroventricular injection of ostrich β -endorphin to satiated pigeons induces hyperphagia but not hyperdipsia. *Peptides* (1984) 5:691–4. doi:10.1016/0196-9781(84)90008-1
- McCormack JF, Denbow DM. Feeding, drinking and temperature responses to intracerebroventricular beta-endorphin in the domestic fowl. *Peptides* (1988) 9:709–15. doi:10.1016/0196-9781(88)90110-6
- Saneyasu T, Honda K, Kamisoyama H, Nakayama Y, Ikegami K, Hasegawa S. Alpha-melanocyte stimulating hormone plays an important role in the regulation of food intake by the central melanocortin system in chicks. *Peptides* (2011) 32:996–1000. doi:10.1016/j.peptides.2011.03.006
- Kawakami S-I, Bungo T, Ando R, Ohgushi A, Shimojo M, Masuda Y, et al. Central injection of α-melanocyte-stimulating hormone inhibits fasting- and neuropeptide Y-induced feeding in neonatal chicks. *Eur J Pharmacol* (2000) 398:361–4. doi:10.1016/S0014-2999(00)00344-7
- 45. Tachibana T, Sugahara K, Ohgushi A, Ando R, Kawakami S, Yoshimatsu T, et al. Intracerebroventricular injection of agouti-related protein attenuates the anorexigenic effect of alpha-melanocyte stimulating hormone in neonatal chicks. *Neurosci Lett* (2001) 305:131–4. doi:10.1016/S0304-3940(01)01827-4
- Cline MA, Smith ML. Central alpha-melanocyte stimulating hormone attenuates behavioral effects of neuropeptide Y in chicks. *Physiol Behav* (2007) 91:588–92. doi:10.1016/j.physbeh.2007.03.021
- Smith ML, Kohart NA, Newmyer BA, Cline MA. Gamma(2)-melanocyte stimulating hormone decreases food intake in chicks. *Neurosci Lett* (2009) 465:210–3. doi:10.1016/j.neulet.2009.08.021
- Cline MA, Nandar W, Bowden C, Hein PP, Denbow DM, Siegel PB. Differential feeding responses to central alpha-melanocyte stimulating hormone in genetically low and high body weight selected lines of chickens. *Life Sci* (2008) 83:208–13. doi:10.1016/j.lfs.2008.06.003
- Honda K, Saneyasu T, Hasegawa S, Kamisoyama H. A comparative study of the central effects of melanocortin peptides on food intake in broiler and layer chicks. *Peptides* (2012) 37:13–7. doi:10.1016/j.peptides.2012.06.015
- Ka S, Lindberg J, Strömstedt L, Fitzsimmons C, Lindqvist N, Lundeberg J, et al. Extremely different behaviours in high and low body weight lines of chicken are associated with differential expression of genes involved in neuronal plasticity. *J Neuroendocrinol* (2009) 21:208–16. doi:10.1111/j.1365-2826. 2009.01819.x
- Yi J, Gilbert ER, Siegel PB, Cline MA. Fed and fasted chicks from lines divergently selected for low or high body weight have differential hypothalamic appetite-associated factor mRNA expression profiles. *Behav Brain Res* (2015) 286:58–63. doi:10.1016/j.bbr.2015.02.008
- Takeuchi S, Takahashi S. Melanocortin receptor genes in the chicken tissue distributions. *Gen Comp Endocrinol* (1998) 112:220–31. doi:10.1006/ gcen.1998.7167
- Sharp PJ. Broodiness and broody control. In: Hocking PM, editor. *Biology* of *Breeding Poultry*. Wallingford, UK: CABI Publishing (2009). p. 181–205.
- Savory CJ. Changes in food intake and body weight of bantam hens during breeding. *ApplAnim Ethol* (1979)5:283–8. doi:10.1016/0304-3762(79)90062-2
- Sherry DF, Mrosovsky N, Hogan JA. Weight loss and anorexia during incubation in birds. J Comp Physiol Psychol (1980) 94:89–98. doi:10.1037/h0077647
- Mrosovsky N, Sherry DF. Animal anorexias. Science (1980) 207:837–42. doi:10.1126/science.6928327
- Dunn IC, Wilson PW, D'Eath RB, Boswell T. Hypothalamic agouti-related peptide mRNA is elevated during natural and stress-induced anorexia. *J Neuroendocrinol* (2015) 27:681–91. doi:10.1111/jne.12295
- Cornelius JM, Boswell T, Jenni-Eiermann S, Breuner CW, Ramenofsky M. Contributions of endocrinology to the migration life history of birds. *Gen Comp Endocrinol* (2013) 190:47–60. doi:10.1016/j.ygcen.2013.03.027
- King JR, Barker S, Farner DS. A comparison of energy reserves during autumnal and vernal migratory periods in the white crowned sparrow, *Zonotrichia leucophrys gambelii*. *Ecology* (1963) 44:513–21. doi:10.2307/1932530
- Nishiwaki-Ohkawa T, Yoshimura T. Molecular basis for regulating seasonal reproduction in vertebrates. *J Endocrinol* (2016) 229:R117–27. doi:10.1530/ JOE-16-0066
- Murphy M, Ebling FJP. The role of hypothalamic tri-iodothyronine availability in seasonal regulation of energy balance and body weight. *J Thyroid Res* (2011) 2011:387562. doi:10.4061/2011/387562

- Byerly MS, Simon J, Lebihan-Duval E, Duclos MJ, Cogburn LA, Porter TE. Effects of BDNF, T3, and corticosterone on expression of the hypothalamic obesity gene network *in vivo* and *in vitro*. *Am J Physiol* (2009) 296:R1180–9. doi:10.1152/ajpregu.90813.2008
- 63. Ebling FJP. On the value of seasonal mammals for identifying mechanisms underlying the control of food intake and body weight. *Horm Behav* (2014) 66:56–65. doi:10.1016/j.yhbeh.2014.03.009
- 64. Caughey S, Wilson P, Mukhtar N, D'Eath R, Dunn I, Boswell T. Sex differences in basal hypothalamic anorectic and orexigenic gene expression after re-feeding with normal and non-nutritive diets. In: Bédécarrats G, editor. ISAE 2016: Program and Abstracts of the 11th International Symposium on Avian Endocrinology, Oct 11-14. Niagara, Canada (2016). 58 p.
- 65. Dunn IC, Meddle SL, Wilson PW, Wardle CA, Law AS, Bishop VR, et al. Decreased expression of the satiety signal receptor CCKAR is responsible for increased growth and body weight during the domestication of chickens. *Am J Physiol* (2013) 304:E909–21. doi:10.1152/ajpendo.00580.2012
- Huszar D, Lynch CA, Fairchild-Huntress V, Dunmore JH, Fang Q, Berkemeier LR, et al. Targeted disruption of the melanocortin-4 receptor results in obesity in mice. *Cell* (1997) 88:131–41. doi:10.1016/ S0092-8674(00)81865-6
- Farooqi IS, Keogh JM, Yeo GS, Lank EJ, Cheetham T, O'Rahilly S. Clinical spectrum of obesity and mutations in the melanocortin 4 receptor gene. *N Engl J Med* (2003) 348:1085–95. doi:10.1056/NEJMoa022050
- 68. Martinelli CE, Keogh JM, Greenfield JR, Henning E, van der Klaauw AA, Blackwood A, et al. Obesity due to melanocortin 4 receptor (MC4R) deficiency is associated with increased linear growth and final height, fasting hyperinsulinemia, and incompletely suppressed growth hormone secretion. *J Clin Endocrinol Metab* (2011) 96:E181–8. doi:10.1210/jc.2010-1369
- Tan HY, Steyn FJ, Huang L, Cowley M, Veldhuis JD, Chen C. Hyperphagia in male melanocortin 4 receptor deficient mice promotes growth independently of growth hormone. *J Physiol* (2016) 594:7309–26. doi:10.1113/ JP272770
- Guillot R, Cortés R, Navarro S, Mischitelli M, García-Herranz V, Sánchez E, et al. Behind melanocortin antagonist overexpression in the zebrafish brain: a behavioral and transcriptomic approach. *Horm Behav* (2016) 82:87–100. doi:10.1016/j.yhbeh.2016.04.011
- Zhang C, Forlano PM, Cone RD. AgRP and POMC neurons are hypophysiotropic and coordinately regulate multiple endocrine axes in a larval teleost. *Cell Metab* (2012) 15:256–64. doi:10.1016/j.cmet.2011.12.014
- Song Y, Cone RD. Creation of a genetic model of obesity in a teleost. *FASEB* J (2007) 21:2042–9. doi:10.1096/fj.06-7503com
- Prokop JW, Schmidt C, Gasper D, Duff RJ, Milsted A, Ohkubo T, et al. Discovery of the elusive leptin in birds: identification of several 'missing links' in the evolution of leptin and its receptor. *PLoS One* (2014) 9:e92751. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0092751
- Friedman-Einat M, Cogburn LA, Yosefi S, Hen G, Shinder D, Shirak A, et al. Discovery and characterization of the first genuine avian leptin gene in the rock dove (*Columba livia*). *Endocrinology* (2014) 155:3376–84. doi:10.1210/ en.2014-1273
- 75. Huang G, Li J, Wang H, Lan X, Wang Y. Discovery of a novel functional leptin protein (LEP) in zebra finches: evidence for the existence of an authentic avian leptin gene predominantly expressed in the brain and pituitary. *Endocrinology* (2014) 155:3389–96. doi:10.1210/en.2014-1084
- Friedman-Einat M, Seroussi E. Quack leptin. BMC Genomics (2014) 15:551. doi:10.1186/1471-2164-15-551
- 77. Seroussi E, Cinnamon Y, Yosefi S, Genin O, Smith JG, Rafati N, et al. Identification of the long-sought leptin in chicken and duck: expression pattern of the highly GC-rich avian leptin fits an autocrine/paracrine rather than endocrine function. *Endocrinology* (2016) 157:737–51. doi:10.1210/ en.2015-1634
- Boswell T, Dunn IC. Regulation of the avian central melanocortin system and the role of leptin. *Gen Comp Endocrinol* (2015) 221:278–83. doi:10.1016/j. ygcen.2014.12.009
- Dridi S, Swennen Q, Decuypere E, Buyse J. Mode of leptin action in chicken hypothalamus. *Brain Res* (2005) 1047:214–23. doi:10.1016/j. brainres.2005.04.034
- Kaiya H, Kangawa K, Miyazato M. Update on ghrelin biology in birds. Gen Comp Endocrinol (2013) 190:170–5. doi:10.1016/j.ygcen.2013.04.014

- Goymann W, Lupi S, Kaiya H, Cardinale M, Fusani L. Ghrelin affects stopover decisions and food intake in a long-distance migrant. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* (2017) 114:1946–51. doi:10.1073/pnas.1619565114
- Wang Q, Liu C, Uchida A, Chuang J-C, Walker A, Liu T, et al. Arcuate AgRP neurons mediate orexigenic and glucoregulatory actions of ghrelin. *Mol Metab* (2014) 3:64–72. doi:10.1016/j.molmet.2013.10.001
- Nie Q, Fang M, Xie L, Peng X, Xu H, Luo C, et al. Molecular characterization of the ghrelin and ghrelin receptor genes and effects on fat deposition in chicken and duck. *J Biomed Biotechnol* (2009) 2009:567120. doi:10.1155/2009/567120
- Saito ES, Kaiya H, Tachibana T, Tomonaga S, Denbow DM, Kangawa K, et al. Inhibitory effect of ghrelin on food intake is mediated by the corticotropin-releasing factor system in neonatal chicks. *Regul Pept* (2005) 15:201–8. doi:10.1016/j.regpep.2004.09.003
- Proszkowiec-Weglarz M, Richards MP, Ramachandran R, McMurtry JP. Characterization of the AMP-activated protein kinase pathway in chickens. *Comp Biochem Physiol B* (2006) 143:92–106. doi:10.1016/j. cbpb.2005.10.009
- Wang Y, Song Z, Everaert N, De Ketelaere B, Willemsen H, Decuypere E, et al. The anorectic effects of alpha-lipoicacid are mediated by central AMPK and are not due to taste aversion in chicken (*Gallus gallus*). *Physiol Behav* (2014) 132:66–72. doi:10.1016/j.physbeh.2014.04.047
- Zhang H, Zhang G, Gonzalez FJ, Park SM, Cai D. Hypoxia-inducible factor directs POMC gene to mediate hypothalamic glucose sensing and energy balance regulation. *PLoS Biol* (2011) 9:e1001112. doi:10.1371/journal. pbio.1001112
- Simon J. Chicken as a useful species for the comprehension of insulin action. Crit Rev Poult Biol (1989) 2:121–48.
- Honda K, Kamisoyama H, Saneyasu T, Sugahara K, Hasegawa S. Central administration of insulin suppresses food intake in chicks. *Neurosci Lett* (2007) 423:153–7. doi:10.1016/j.neulet.2007.07.004
- Shiraishi J, Yanagita K, Fujita M, Bungo T. Central insulin suppresses feeding behavior via melanocortins in chicks. *Domest Anim Endocrinol* (2008) 34:223–8. doi:10.1016/j.domaniend.2007.05.002
- Shiraishi J, Tanizawa H, Fujita M, Kawakami S, Bungo T. Localization of hypothalamic insulin receptor in neonatal chicks: evidence for insulinergic system control of feeding behavior. *Neurosci Lett* (2011) 491:177–80. doi:10.1016/j.neulet.2011.01.031
- Porte D Jr, Baskin DG, Schwartz MW. Leptin and insulin action in the central nervous system. Nutr Rev (2002) 60:S20-9. doi:10.1301/ 002966402320634797
- Harvey S, Klandorf H. Reduced adrenocortical function and increased thyroid function in fasted and refed chickens. *J Endocrinol* (1983) 98:129–35. doi:10.1677/joe.0.0980129
- Makimura H, Mizuno T, Isoda F, Beasley J, Silverstein J, Mobbs C. Role of glucocorticoids in mediating effects of fasting and diabetes on hypothalamic gene expression. *BMC Physiol* (2003) 3:5. doi:10.1186/ 1472-6793-3-4
- Liu L, Song Z, Sheikhahmadi A, Jiao H, Lin H. Effect of corticosterone on gene expression of feed intake regulatory peptides in laying hens. *Comp Biochem Physiol B* (2012) 162:81–7. doi:10.1016/j.cbpb.2012.04.005
- Liu L, Song Z, Jiao H, Lin H. Glucocorticoids increase NPY gene expression via hypothalamic AMPK signaling in broiler chicks. *Endocrinology* (2014) 155:2190–8. doi:10.1210/en.2013-1632
- Liu L, Xu S, Wang X, Jiao H, Zhao J, Lin H. Effect of dexamethasone on hypothalamic expression of appetite-related genes in chickens under different diet and feeding conditions. *J Anim Sci Biotechnol* (2016) 7:23. doi:10.1186/ s40104-016-0084-x
- 98. Herwig A, Campbell G, Mayer CD, Boelen A, Anderson RA, Ross AW, et al. A thyroid hormone challenge in hypothyroid rats identifies T3 regulated genes in the hypothalamus and in models with altered energy balance and glucose homeostasis. *Thyroid* (2014) 24:1575–93. doi:10.1089/ thy.2014.0169
- Fan W, Ellacott KL, Halatchev IG, Takahashi K, Yu P, Cone RD. Cholecystokinin-mediated suppression of feeding involves the brainstem melanocortin system. *Nat Neurosci* (2004) 7:335–6. doi:10.1038/nn1214
- 100. Blevins JE, Morton GJ, Williams DL, Caldwell DW, Bastian LS, Wisse BE, et al. Forebrain melanocortin signaling enhances the hindbrain satiety

response to CCK-8. Am J Physiol (2009) 296:R476-84. doi:10.1152/ajpregu. 90544.2008

- 101. D'Eath RB, Tolkamp BJ, Kyriazakis I, Lawrence AB. 'Freedom from hunger' and preventing obesity: the animal welfare implications of reducing food quantity or quality. *Anim Behav* (2009) 77:275–88. doi:10.1016/j.anbehav. 2008.10.028
- 102. Dimitrov L, Pedersen D, Ching KH, Yi H, Collarini EJ, Izquierdo S, et al. Germline gene editing in chickens by efficient CRISPR-mediated homologous recombination in primordial germ cells. *PLoS One* (2016) 11:e0154303. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0154303

Conflict of Interest Statement: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2017 Boswell and Dunn. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) or licensor are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





Appetite-Controlling Endocrine Systems in Teleosts

Ivar Rønnestad^{1*}, Ana S. Gomes¹, Koji Murashita^{1,2}, Rita Angotzi¹, Elisabeth Jönsson³ and Hélène Volkoff⁴

¹ Department of Biology, University of Bergen, Bergen, Norway, ² Research Center for Aquaculture Systems, National Research Institute of Aquaculture, Japan Fisheries Research and Education Agency, Tamaki, Mie, Japan, ³ Department of Biological and Environmental Sciences, University of Gothenburg, Gothenburg, Sweden, ⁴ Departments of Biology and Biochemistry, Memorial University of Newfoundland, St John's, NL, Canada

Mammalian studies have shaped our understanding of the endocrine control of appetite and body weight in vertebrates and provided the basic vertebrate model that involves central (brain) and peripheral signaling pathways as well as environmental cues. The hypothalamus has a crucial function in the control of food intake, but other parts of the brain are also involved. The description of a range of key neuropeptides and hormones as well as more details of their specific roles in appetite control continues to be in progress. Endocrine signals are based on hormones that can be divided into two groups: those that induce (orexigenic), and those that inhibit (anorexigenic) appetite and food consumption. Peripheral signals originate in the gastrointestinal tract, liver, adipose tissue, and other tissues and reach the hypothalamus through both endocrine and neuroendocrine actions. While many mammalian-like endocrine appetite-controlling networks and mechanisms have been described for some key model teleosts, mainly zebrafish and goldfish, very little knowledge exists on these systems in fishes as a group. Fishes represent over 30,000 species, and there is a large variability in their ecological niches and habitats as well as life history adaptations, transitions between life stages and feeding behaviors. In the context of food intake and appetite control, common adaptations to extended periods of starvation or periods of abundant food availability are of particular interest. This review summarizes the recent findings on endocrine appetite-controlling systems in fish, highlights their impact on growth and survival, and discusses the perspectives in this research field to shed light on the intriguing adaptations that exist in fish and their underlying mechanisms.

Keywords: appetite control, feed intake, hormones, neuropeptides, teleosts, adaptations, fasting, voracious feeding

INTRODUCTION

Control of food intake and energy metabolism is vital for the development and survival of an organism. These processes ensure optimal allocation of energy resources to cover the basic maintenance of metabolism and immune system, the cost of foraging and other daily activities, somatic growth, reproductive investment, and sufficient energy stores to survive periods of low food availability (1).

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Maximilian Michel, University of Michigan, USA

Reviewed by:

Russell J. Borski, North Carolina State University, USA José Luis Soengas, University of Vigo, Spain Even Hjalmar Jørgensen, UiT the Arctic University of Norway, Norway

> *Correspondence: Ivar Rønnestad ivar.ronnestad@bio.uib.no

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Neuroendocrine Science, a section of the journal Frontiers in Endocrinology

Received: 26 January 2017 Accepted: 27 March 2017 Published: 18 April 2017

Citation:

Rønnestad I, Gomes AS, Murashita K, Angotzi R, Jönsson E and Volkoff H (2017) Appetite-Controlling Endocrine Systems in Teleosts. Front. Endocrinol. 8:73. doi: 10.3389/fendo.2017.00073

Terminology for gene names: GENE (All capitals), Mammalian protein; Gene (First letter capital), Fish Protein; Gene (First letter capital, italic), Mammalian gene; gene (small letters only and italic), Fish gene.

Food intake is affected by external factors, such as temperature and photoperiod, stress, predators, and food availability, as well as by internal factors, such as genetics, life stage, gut filling, and stored energy. The hypothalamus is the hub that controls appetite and energy balance and integrates peripheral signals related to food intake and digestion, metabolism, and energy storage (**Figure 1**). These include not only endocrine signals (gut peptides, the focus of this review) but also other signals such as nutrient levels through central nutrient sensing systems and the presence/absence of food in the gastrointestinal (GI) tract through vagal afferents projecting to the brain.

Fishes represent over 30,000 species with an enormous variation in their ecological niches and habitats as well as life history adaptations, transitions between life stages and feeding behaviors. In the context of food intake and appetite control, common adaptations to extended periods of starvation or periods of abundant food availability are of particular interest. Also, the large variations in appetite between species and within a species (individual variation) are intriguing. A large fraction of fish species has indeterminate growth, i.e., these species continue to grow during their whole life span. This contrasts with growth in mammals and other model animals including zebrafish (Danio rerio), which reach a maximum length size as adults. Thus, while control of appetite and food intake is often viewed as a behavioral component of maintaining an energy balance (2), the general concept of energy homeostasis needs to be used with caution.

This review summarizes the recent findings on appetitecontrolling systems in fish with a focus on peptide hormones. A major goal is to discuss perspectives in this research field that can reveal how fish adapt to their specific ecological requirements.

CENTRAL CONTROL

The physiological mechanisms that control appetite are relatively well conserved among vertebrates, and many of the neuropeptides and hormones involved in the central appetite regulation in mammals are also found in fish (3–7). However, differences in appetite-controlling systems can be found as a response to the large diversity in feeding habits of teleost species (8), yet the mechanisms for many of these adaptations remain unexplored.

Central signals arising in the hypothalamus are crucial for the control of food intake, and this brain area produces both orexigenic (appetite-stimulating) and anorexigenic (appetiteinhibiting) factors. The main hormones and neuropeptides so far described in teleosts and their possible involvement in the central control of appetite are presented in **Figure 1** and described below.

NPY

Neuropeptide Y (NPY) is one of the strongest orexigenic signals in mammals, and the NPY/agouti-related peptide (AgRP) neurons in the arcuate nucleus (ARC) are the principal inducer of feeding (9,10). The relative importance of NPY in feeding regulation seems to vary among teleosts. In goldfish (*Carassius auratus*) (11, 12), carp (*Cyprinus carpio*) (13), channel catfish (*Ictalurus punctatus*) (14), zebrafish (15), rainbow trout (*Oncorhynchus mykiss*) (16), and Nile (17) and red (18) tilapias (*Oreochromis* sp.), NPY injections increase feeding. Food deprivation increases brain *npy* expression in several species, including goldfish (19), chinook and Coho salmon (*Oncorhynchus tshawytscha; Oncorhynchus kisutch*) (20), zebrafish (15, 21), winter skate (*Leucoraja ocellata*) (22), tiger puffer (*Takifugu rubripes*) (23), and winter (24) and Brazilian (25) flounder (*Pseudopleuronectes americanus*;



Paralichthys brasiliensis), suggesting an orexigenic role. In some species, such as Atlantic cod (*Gadus morhua*) (26), tiger puffer (23), snakeskin gourami (*Trichogaster pectoralis*) (27), Brazilian flounder (25), channel catfish (28), and cobia (*Rachycentron canadum*) (29), *npy* brain expression levels are high around feeding time and decrease post-feeding, further suggesting a role of Npy as a short-term appetite stimulator in fish. Npy treatments have also been shown to stimulate fish growth/growth hormone (GH) secretion both *in vitro* [goldfish (30)] and *in vivo* [tilapia (*Oreochromis mossambicus*) (17, 31); orange-spotted grouper (*Epinephelus coioides*) (32)].

However, in Atlantic cod, fasting does not affect *npy* brain expression (26), in cunner (*Tautogolabrus adspersus*), shortterm fasting decreases *npy* brain expression (33), and in both Atlantic salmon (*Salmo salar*) (34) and larval Atlantic halibut (*Hippoglossus hippoglossus*) (35), *npy* expression increases after feeding, suggesting that Npy might have a minor role as a feeding stimulator in these species. GH transgenesis, which results in increased feeding rates, does not affect brain *npy* levels in Coho salmon (36) and carp (37) but decreases *npy* levels in zebrafish (38).

In goldfish (39), Senegalese sole (*Solea senegalensis*) larvae (40), rainbow trout (41), and both Atlantic cod larvae (42) and adults (43), *npy* brain expression is modulated by diet, which is consistent with the role of NPY containing neurons in sensing the metabolic status (e.g., glucose levels) as reported for mammals (10) and fish [e.g., tilapia (44)]. However, in cobia (29), *npy* expression does not appear to correlate with diet-induced changes in food intake.

CART

The peptide cocaine-amphetamine-related transcript (CART) was originally isolated from rat brain as a transcript regulated by acute administration of cocaine or amphetamine (45, 46). In goldfish, *cart* brain expression also increases following treatment with amphetamine (47). CART is a potent anorexigenic peptide in mammals (48–50) and birds (51), and CART injections inhibit food intake in goldfish (52).

Several cart genes have been identified in some fish species [e.g., two in goldfish (53), four in zebrafish (54), six in medaka (Oryzias latipes) (55), and seven in Senegalese sole (56)] whereas only one *cart* has been reported for others [e.g., Atlantic salmon (57), Atlantic cod (26), Atlantic halibut (35), and channel catfish (28)]. Post-feeding increases in cart brain expression have been reported for several fish species such as catfish (28), Atlantic salmon (34) and goldfish (53) suggesting that Cart acts as a shortterm satiety factor in fish. Fasting has been shown to decrease cart brain expression in several fish species, and these changes are sometimes gene-specific. In goldfish, although the expression of both cart genes decreases after fasting, cart1 appears more affected than *cart2* (53). In both zebrafish (58) and medaka (55), only one cart is affected by fasting, and in Senegalese sole, three out of seven cart genes are affected (56). However, fasting does not affect cart expression in other species such as winter flounder (24) or Atlantic halibut larvae (35), perhaps since only one gene has been identified in these species to date. Cart is also involved in sensing metabolic status, as hypothalamic cart mRNA levels change in response to changes in the levels of glucose in rainbow trout (41) or fatty acids in rainbow trout (59) and Senegalese sole (60).

Orexin

Orexins (OXs) A and B (or hypocretin 1 and 2) are neuropeptide products of a single gene precursor, prepro-orexin (pOX), through proteolytic cleavage. Two orexin receptors have been identified, OXR1 and OXR2. OX-A binds to both receptors with similar potencies whereas OX-B binds preferentially to OXR2 receptors (61). In mammals, orexins have been implicated in the regulation of many physiological functions, including feeding, sleep-wake cycles, reproduction, and cardiovascular function (62-65). Orexins and/or orexin receptors have been identified in several fish species, including goldfish (66), cavefish (Astyanax fasciatus mexicanus) (67), zebrafish (68), barfin flounder (Verasper moseri) (69), orange-spotted grouper (70), Atlantic cod (71), winter flounder (72), and dourado (Salminus brasiliensis) (73). Orexins have been shown to increase feeding and locomotor behavior in both mammals (74) and fish (75-81). Consistent with its role as an orexigenic peptide, ox brain mRNA expression increases following fasting [e.g., cavefish (67), goldfish (77, 82), zebrafish (68), winter flounder (72), Atlantic cod (71), and dourado (73)] and around feeding time [e.g., cavefish (67), orange-spotted grouper (70), and goldfish (83)].

Galanin

Galanin (GAL) is a 29–30 amino acid peptide first identified in mammals (84) and shown to have actions in brain and peripheral tissues to increase appetite and regulate metabolism (85, 86). Gal has been isolated in several fish species [reviewed in Ref. (87)] and appears to act as an orexigenic peptide. Injections of GAL stimulate food intake in goldfish (88) and tench (*Tinca tinca*) (89). Although long-term food deprivation does not affect brain gal mRNA expression in goldfish, the expression levels of gal decrease after the scheduled feeding time in fed fish, suggesting that Gal is a short-term regulator of appetite (90). Related to its role in metabolism, high gal mRNA expression has been linked to increased locomotion in zebrafish (91).

MCH

Melanin-concentrating hormone (Mch) was first isolated from the salmon pituitary as a skin-paling factor (92, 93) and later isolated and identified as an orexigenic factor in mammals (94). In fish, the role of Mch in food intake regulation is still unclear. In goldfish, central injections of MCH inhibit appetite, and fasting induce a decrease in brain Mch-immunoreactive (ir) cells (95–97), suggesting an anorexigenic role. However, in other teleost species, such as winter flounder (98), barfin flounder (99), zebrafish (100), and Atlantic cod (101), fasting-induced increases *mch* mRNA levels and -ir cells, pointing to an orexigenic role.

CRH

The corticotropin-releasing hormone (CRH) family includes CRH [or corticotropin-releasing factor (CRF)], urocortin (Ucn), urocortin 2, and urocortin 3. Members of the CRF family of neuropeptides have been shown to decrease feed intake in mammals (102). In goldfish, Crf and urotensin I (UI, the homolog of UCN in mammals) stimulate the hypothalamic–pituitary–interrenal axis (the fish homolog to the hypothalamic–pituitary–adrenal axis) to induce secretion of glucocorticoids (e.g., cortisol) and act as anorexigenic factors (6, 103). Central injections of CRF (104–106) or UI inhibit food intake in goldfish. Similar effects have been shown in rainbow trout (106). In Ya fish (*Schizothorax prenanti*), fasting decreases *crf* brain expression levels (107), consistent with the anorexigenic role of Crf-related peptides in fish.

Melanocortin System

The vertebrate melanocortin system is phylogenetically well conserved, and it has been identified in fish, amphibians, and mammals (108–110). It consists of (1) melanocortin peptides, which includes melanocyte-stimulating hormones (α -, β -, and γ -MSH) and adrenocorticotropic hormone, all derived from the gene pro-opiomelancortin (*Pomc*), (2) five G protein-coupled melanocortin receptors (MCRs), and (3) endogenous melanocortin antagonists, agouti and AgRP (111). In vertebrates, components of the melanocortin system are involved in a diverse range of physiological functions, including regulation of food intake, appetite, and anticipatory behavior (112).

The melanocortins are posttranslational products of the POMC prohormone, which also gives rise to the opiate peptide β-endorphin. Posttranslational processing of the POMC prohormone is tissue-specific, which results in the production of different POMC peptides by different cell types and, therefore, multiple physiological functions. Pomc is a single copy gene in mammals and birds, but in most teleosts, there are two to three different pomc transcripts [e.g., zebrafish (113), carp (114), barfin flounder (115), gilthead sea bream (Sparus aurata) (116), and sockeye salmon (Oncorhynchus nerka) (117)], proposed to result from the whole or partial genome duplication (118). In salmonids, Atlantic salmon and rainbow trout, three copies of pomc gene and one splice variant have been described, i.e., pomc (-a1, -a2, -a2s, and -b) (119, 120). However, the functions of the fish *pomc* subtypes remain largely unexplored. In rainbow trout, fasting induces increased expression levels of both hypothalamic pomca1 and pomcb (121), whereas in olive flounder (Paralichthys olivaceus), pomc2 but not pomc1 and pomc3 mRNA levels increase with fasting (122), suggesting a form-specific response of pomc in some species.

The repertoire of MCRs (MC1R to MC5R) found at the target cells has undergone significant diversification and specialization. Therefore, MCRs differ in their affinity for the different melanocortins, agouti, and AgRP. Of importance to energy homeostasis are MC3R and MC4R that are expressed throughout the central nervous system (CNS). Fish Mcr and ligands are expressed in a highly conserved pattern relative to mammals (123, 124). This conservation is also seen in the melanocortin neural circuits involved in hypothalamic control of energy homeostasis, underlining that the melanocortin functions originated early in evolution (125). The presence of Mc4r in teleosts has been reported in several species [e.g., goldfish (126), zebrafish (127), spotted scat (*Scatophagus argus*) (128), snakeskin gourami (129), fugu (109), common carp (130), and Ya fish (131)]. In Atlantic salmon, several paralogs of Mcr have been described, mc1r (-p1 and -p2), *mc2r*, *mc4r* (*-a-p1*, *-a-p2*, *-b-p1*, and *b-p2*), *mc5r*, *mrap2* (*-p1* and -p2) (Lars Ebbesson, Uni Environment, Bergen, Norway, personal communication). Mc3r seems to have been lost early in teleost evolution and is not present in salmonids, as observed for pufferfishes, tiger puffer and tetraodon (Tetraodon nigroviridis) (132). The only known *mc3r* in teleosts is the zebrafish *mc3r*; however, mc3r has also been identified in the spiny dogfish (Squalus acanthias) (133). In snakeskin gourami, the mc4r mRNA expression varies during daily feeding and fasting period, and its correlation with npy expression indicates a role in feed intake control (27, 129). However, in barfin flounder and sea bass (Dicentrarchus labrax), progressive fasting did not modify the hypothalamic mc4r mRNA expression (134, 135). Intracerebroventricular injections of MCR agonist decrease food intake in juvenile rainbow trout (136) and in goldfish (126, 137) in a dose-dependent manner, whereas the injection of MCR antagonists increases food intake in rainbow trout and in goldfish (137). The importance of Mc4r in the regulation of fish growth is also emphasized by naturally occurring mutations of the Mc4r in swordtails (Xiphophorus nigrensis and Xiphophorus multilineatus), which dramatically affects growth (138, 139).

An interesting fact is the existence of two endogenous antagonists in the melanocortin system, agouti and AgRP. These proteins are paracrine-signaling molecules and act as subtypeselective endogenous antagonists. AgRP exerts its major physiological function in the hypothalamus, where it acts as a potent orexigenic factor (140) due to its ability to antagonize the MC3R and MC4R (141). agrp genes have been identified in several fish species (57, 124, 126, 130, 131, 142-144). Hypothalamic agrp expression in goldfish (137), sea bass (agrp1, not agrp2) (144), and zebrafish (124) dramatically increased during fasting. In addition, GH-transgenic common carp has higher feed intake and higher hypothalamic agrp1 mRNA expression levels than non-transgenic fish (37). agrp mRNA abundance in the hypothalamus of rainbow trout (59) and Senegalese sole (60) also responds to changes in the levels of specific fatty acids. Altogether, it is suggested that the role of AgRP in energy homeostasis and its relation to the melanocortin system is conserved across vertebrates (51, 145).

ANATOMICAL LOCATIONS OF CENTRAL APPETITE CONTROL SYSTEMS

Control of appetite is an evolutionarily conserved process resulting from a close interplay between multiple neuronal and peripheral signals, which are integrated in the hypothalamus and processed in a specific spatial and temporal order to regulate hunger and satiety (4, 146). The mammalian hypothalamus consists of numerous interconnecting nuclei organized into complex neuronal networks where ARC nucleus, ventromedial nucleus (VMN), dorsomedial nucleus (DMN), paraventricular nucleus (PVN), and lateral hypothalamus (LH) play crucial roles in food intake control and energy expenditure [reviewed in Ref. (146)]. The ARC contains two distinct neuronal populations referred to as "first order" neurons, releasing appetite stimulators NPY/ AgRP and appetite suppressors POMC/CART (1, 147). Neuronal projections from the first order neurons connect to other hypothalamic nuclei (PVN, DMN, VMN, and LH) (148). These "second order" nuclei express potent orexigenic factors such as orexins and MCH in the LH, and anorexigenic neuropeptides such as CRH and thyrotropin-releasing hormone (TRH) in the PVN. Lesioning studies in these nuclei have long recognized their functional significance in generating satiety and hunger responses [reviewed in Ref. (149)].

The existence of a functional (and to lesser extent anatomical) equivalence of appetite-controlling brain regions in fish has been demonstrated, based on electrical stimulation and brain lesion studies [reviewed in Ref. (4)]. The teleostean hypothalamic neurons are organized in a similar fashion as their mammalian counterparts and are distributed in conserved clusters within the ventral diencephalon (150–153). Yet, very little is known about the fish anatomical homologs to mammalian hypothalamic VMN, DMN, PVN, and LH nuclei, owing to the lack of specific neuronal molecular markers for distinct neuronal classes. In addition, expression domains of fish appetite control genes do not appear anatomically confined to their putative hypothalamic homologous areas.

The lateral tuberal nucleus (NLT; also known as ventral periventricular hypothalamus Hv) might be a feeding center and the teleostean homolog of the mammalian ARC [reviewed in Ref. (153)]. *pomc, agrp,* and *leptin* receptor transcripts are found in neurons within the NLT of goldfish (126, 137) and zebrafish (154), and ir and/or gene expression studies have identified Npy in the NLT of several teleosts (155, 156), as well as sturgeon [*Acipenser transmontanus* (157) and elasmobranch fish (158)]. *npy* and *cart* transcripts are also present in the NLT of juvenile Atlantic cod (159). In addition, Msh- α and Agrp-ir-cells are found in discrete populations in the NLT of zebrafish (125).

A recent study shows high homology between the zebrafish neurosecretory preoptic area (POA) and the mammalian PVN (153, 160). This homology is consistent with the presence of fish *trh* and *crh* ortholog genes in the POA, although their expression is not exclusive to the POA (161–164). The mammalian PVN is an important site of NPY synthesis and release (146, 165), and recent evidence indicates that Npy-ir cells and *npy* mRNAs are also present in the POA of fish (159, 166), further supporting functional homology between PVN and POA structures.

Functional and to some extent anatomical homologies could also exist between the mammalian and fish LH. In mammals, LH is an important site of orexins and MCH expression and believed to act as a "feeding center" (146). The LH is the site of transit for neuronal fibers interconnecting hypothalamic nuclei and forebrain to midbrain structures. A similar neuronal pattern has been observed in the LH of zebrafish, where *pOx*-expressing neurons send projections to the midbrain and the spinal cord (167, 168). In addition to the LH, the POA and the rostral NLT are also important sites of *pOx* expression in fish, as recently observed by double-fluorescence *in situ* hybridization in Atlantic cod larvae, in which the caudal domain of *pOx*-expressing neurons in the POA overlaps with the rostral-most *cart* cell population in the NLT (159). *pOx* mRNA expression in the POA has also been reported in zebrafish (169). Furthermore, the strong expression of *cart* mRNAs and the absence of orexigenic modulators such as *npy* or *pOx* in the diffuse nucleus of the inferior hypothalamic lobe of Atlantic cod has recently led to the hypothesis that this nucleus may be the VMN homolog and that may serve as "satiety center" in fish (159) as in mammals (149, 167).

mRNAs of several appetite signals have been detected in the brain of different fish in extra-hypothalamic areas analogous to those characterized in mammals, suggesting a functional relationship between them (26, 41, 58, 159, 170, 171). It is, however, important to underline that canonical appetite genes (e.g., *Npy* and *Cart*) in mammals are modulated by many factors and their wide brain distribution may reflect various physiological roles and responses to changing environmental conditions (45, 172). All these mechanisms are still largely unknown in fish.

PERIPHERAL SIGNALS

The GI-Tract

The GI-tract is the largest endocrine organ in vertebrates and produces around 30 different neuropeptides and hormones. These peptides act on several tissues, including the GI-tract itself, exocrine glands, and the CNS (173, 174). Most of the GI peptides are sensitive to the gut nutrient content, and some of them are important in the control of appetite and meal size (174, 175). GI peptides may act on the CNS *via* an endocrine action by traveling in the blood, which requires that they pass the blood–brain barrier, and/or by stimulating afferent vagal nerve fibers (174, 176, 177). Studies on rainbow trout show that appetite returns when 80–90% of the stomach content has been emptied (178), indicating that gut filling, feed digestion, and transit rates may affect appetite control with both hunger and satiety signals. Indeed, most of the gut-derived appetite-regulating factors are also involved in digestion, thus coordinating these two processes (179).

GHRL

Ghrelin (GHRL) is mainly produced in the stomach of fish and mammals, or in the intestine of some stomachless species (180). Ghrl has been shown to have an orexigenic function in several fish species, including goldfish (177, 181), tilapia (182), brown trout (Salmo trutta) (183), and grass carp (Ctenopharyngodon idellus) (184), which is consistent with its role in mammals (185, 186). However, in rainbow trout, opposite effects of Ghrl on feed intake have been reported from two independent studies: one showed that central injection of Ghrl increased feed intake after 24 h (187) whereas the other study showed that short-term (1 h) central and long-term (weeks) peripheral administration of Ghrl suppressed appetite (174). The different time scales may, at least partly, explain the contradictory results. Recently, an anorexigenic response was also reported in channel catfish after Ghrl administration (188). In goldfish, appetite-regulating neuropeptides in the CNS, such as Npy and Ox, seem to mediate Ghrl-induced feeding (181, 189), but interactions between Ghrl and central appetite regulators are inconsistent in other examined fish species. For example, Ghrl increased (in tilapia and rainbow trout) (182, 187), decreased (in rainbow trout) (190), or did not affect

(in brown trout and channel catfish) (183, 188) hypothalamic npy expression. Moreover, Ghrl decreased (in rainbow trout) (187) or had no effect (in channel catfish) (188) on pomc expression. A CRH receptor antagonist (a-helical CRF 9-41) abolished Ghrl-induced feeding (191) whereas Ghrl administration did not affect central crh expression in rainbow trout (187). In goldfish, it appears that peripheral Ghrl may stimulate feeding by acting on gastric vagal afferents that transmit information to brain appetite centers (177). Indirect effects on food intake, through stimulatory actions on digestion, could subsequently affect onset of feeding. For instance, rat GHRL evoked intestinal contraction in zebrafish (192, 193), but homologous Ghrl did not affect GI-tract contractility in goldfish and rainbow trout (194). The presence of GH secretagogue receptor in the fish pituitary and brain (particularly hypothalamus and telencephalon) also suggests a direct action of octanoylated Ghrl in these tissues (195, 196).

CCK

Cholecystokinin (CCK) is secreted by the proximal intestine and mainly acts as a short-term satiety factor at the same time as it promotes digestion through its many actions on the digestive system of vertebrates (174, 197). CCK is characterized by an evolutionary conserved biologically active C-terminal octapeptide (CCK-8) among vertebrates (198, 199), and Cck-ir cells have been observed in the intestine of most fish groups (174). Central or peripheral administration of sulfated CCK-8 suppresses food intake in goldfish (200) and channel catfish (14). Oral CCK administration inhibits feed intake in sea bass (201), while oral treatment with CCK antagonists increases food intake in rainbow trout (202). A single cck gene has been cloned in several teleost species, including yellowtail (Seriola quinqueradiata) (203), Atlantic herring (Clupea harengus) (204), and pirapitinga (Piaractus brachypomus) (205). However, two different cck sequences were identified in Japanese flounder (Paralichthys olivaceus), tetraodon (206), Atlantic salmon (207), and white sea bream (Diplodus sargus) (208), and three distinct cck genes exists in rainbow trout (209). All the identified *cck* genes in teleosts are predominantly expressed in the GI-tract and brain, including hypothalamus, telencephalon, and optic tectum.

Both circulating levels of Cck and cck gene expression are influenced by macronutrients, although these effects appear to be species-specific. For example, rainbow trout fed a high fat diet had higher plasma Cck levels compared with fish fed a high protein diet (210) and oral administration of single bolus of fat (oleic acid) or protein (casein), but not carbohydrate (starch), increased cck expression in yellowtail gut (211). In addition, cck expression levels increased following a meal in yellowtail pyloric caeca (212) and circulating Cck levels increase postprandially in rainbow trout (213). Fasting decreases gene expression or protein levels of Cck in the gut of yellowtail and white sea bream (203, 208). These results support the anorexigenic function of Cck and the conservation of this function in the teleost lineage. Some studies, however, show opposite effects; in Coho salmon, cck gene expression in the gut increased during winter fasting (214). In Atlantic salmon, on the other hand, intestinal cck mRNA expression was unchanged after 6 days of fasting (207). Furthermore, there are variations in the distribution pattern of Cck-producing cells within the intestinal segments among species (204, 215, 216) as well as in the fasting response among *cck* isoforms (207–209) suggesting diverging roles among species and cck isoforms. The action of CCK is initiated by its binding to two subtypes of cognate receptors (CCK-1R and CCK-2R), which results in satiety (197). Cck receptor genes have been isolated in yellowtail (cck-1r) (217), Atlantic salmon (cck-1r, cck-2r1, and cck-2r2) (218), and goldfish (cck-1r and cck-2r) (219). The primary structure of fish Cck receptors as well as their tissue distribution patterns is highly conserved; cck-1r is widely distributed within the GI-tract, while *cck-2r* is mainly expressed in the brain. Furthermore, *cck*-1r expression levels increased after feeding in yellowtail pyloric caeca (217), suggesting that Cck-1r mediates the effects of Cck on appetite, as in mammals (220). Further studies on Cck receptors are required to elucidate the detailed mechanisms underlying the anorexigenic function of Cck in fish.

PYY

Peptide YY (PYY) is a member of the NPY family. But, while NPY is well known to have a strong orexigenic function in the CNS (1), peripheral PYY mainly produced in the distal intestine (221) inhibits food intake in mammals (222). PYY consists of two forms: 36 (PYY1-36) or 34 (PYY3-36) amino acids (223). Two isoforms of the gene *pyy*, *pyya*, and *pyyb* (previously named *py*) (224) have been identified in teleost species, including sea bass (155), Atlantic salmon (207), and piranha (*Pygocentrus nattereri*) (225). To date, the *pyy* gene expression patterns are similar among the studied fish species, being predominantly expressed in the brain and GI-tract (203, 226). On the other hand, controversial results have been reported when analyzing intestinal segments from fed versus fasted fish. Fasting decreased (in piranha) (225), increased (in yellowtail) (203), or did not affect (in Atlantic salmon) (207) pyy expression. After feeding, GI-tract pyy mRNA expression increased in grass carp (227), while it decreased in yellowtail (212). These observations suggest that pyy response to fasting/feeding might be species-specific (225). Central and peripheral Pyy1-36 injection reduced food intake in goldfish (228), while administration of the truncated form Pyy3-36 had no effect on food intake in channel catfish (188) or goldfish (228). These results suggest that Pyy3-36 is not a major endogenous form of Pyy in fish (228, 229). The current mammalian model indicates that PYY suppresses appetite through the inhibition of NPY and subsequent activation of POMC neurons (230); however, the effects of GI-tract-derived Pyy on CNS are still uncertain in fish. PYY inhibits GI motility and pancreatic exocrine activity in mammals (175), and a similar digestive function has also been suggested for Pyy in teleosts (207, 211).

GRP

Gastrin-releasing peptide (GRP) is a homolog of the amphibian bombesin (Bbs) and is released from the GI-tract. In mammals, GRP decreases feed intake (231) and stimulates gastric acid secretion and motility (232). Bbs/Grp also appears to stimulate gastric secretion and motility in teleosts (233–235). In teleost species, Bbs/ Grp-like peptides have been detected in the GI-tract of rainbow trout (236) and chub (*Squalius cephalus*) (237), and *bbs/grp* cDNA sequences have been published for goldfish (238), zebrafish (239), and Atlantic cod (240). Restricted feeding decreased *grp* expression in the gut of Atlantic cod (240) and zebrafish, but the *grp* decreasing pattern was reversed in the latter after refeeding (239). Central or peripheral injections of Bbs suppress feed intake in goldfish (200), which might be attributed to Bbs-induced reduction in *ghrl* gut expression (241). In addition, peripheral injections of Bbs/ Grp decrease feeding in channel catfish (188) and Coho salmon (242). On the other hand, feeding status or diet composition does not seem to influence plasma Grp levels in rainbow trout (210). These observations indicate that teleost peripheral (gut) Grp may have an anorexigenic function and its signaling pathway is not endocrine but *via* neuronal circuits or local paracrine action, as proposed for the mammalian model (231).

The Evolution of Leptin Teleost Genes

The leptin gene (Ob) was first identified in double mutant (Ob/ Ob) mice (243) and presented an obese phenotype associated with impaired metabolic functions. Since obesity is linked to several comorbidities in humans, including type II diabetes and cardiovascular disease (244, 245), leptin has been extensively investigated in both humans and murine models. The first fish leptin was identified in 2005 (246). Leptin orthologs and several duplicated paralogs, originating from the whole-genome duplication (WGD) events, have recently been identified in teleost species (247, 248). These include 3R-leptin duplicated paralogs (A and B) in zebrafish (249), medaka (250), orange-spotted grouper (251), tilapia (252), chub mackerel [Scomber japonicas (253)], and European and Japanese eel [Anguilla anguilla and Anguilla japonica (254)], as well as two conserved leptin paralogs [lepAI/lepAII and lepA1/lepA2 (255, 256)]; in common carp and goldfish, as a result of the ancestral lepA doubling at the basal root of cyprinids (256, 257) about 8 million years ago (258). In salmonids, additional "recent" 4R-leptin duplicates have been identified consistently with the (pseudo) tetraploid state of their genome (259-261).

Leptin functions are mediated *via* class-I helical cytokine receptors (long-form LEPR) through intracellular JAK/STAT signal transduction pathways (262, 263), in an evolutionarily conserved manner as suggested by transfection assay studies for carp (264), rainbow trout (265), and tilapia (252) receptors. In humans, alternative splicing of the LEPR gene leads to expression of long (LEPRb) and short (LEPRa, -Rc, -Rd) isoforms (266).

Single leptin receptors have been identified in most fishes (154, 250, 251, 267, 268), but two 3R-duplicated *lepR* genes are present in the ancestral teleost eel. This suggests that a loss of the second *lepR* (*lepRB*) may have occurred after the clupeocephals/ elopomorphs split during teleost radiation (254). At the root of extant salmonids, the *lepRA* was then further duplicated by the 4R-WGD as deduced by the recently cloned *lepRA2* in Atlantic salmon (269). Like mammals, LepR isoforms that arise from alternative splicing of the C-terminal exon have been identified in fish (260, 264, 270, 271). LepR splice variants encode for circulating soluble binding proteins (LepBPs) that may function in leptin modulation, transport, and clearance (265, 271, 272). The characterization of the *leptin-lepR* system in the context of WGD(s) in teleost genomes and overall evaluation of their

functional significance are instrumental to understand to which extent leptin duplicates have contributed to species-specific feeding adaptations.

Leptin Signaling – The Liver and Adipose Tissue

In mammals, leptin is an anorexigenic hormone released into the blood stream mainly by adipocytes. It acts as a lipostatic factor in a negative feedback loop between fat tissue and hypothalamic brain regions so that the organism can maintain energy balance and adequate fat mass reservoirs (273-276). Leptin signaling in the CNS is exerted on different hypothalamic neurons to inhibit the expression of the orexigenic NPY and AgRP and stimulate anorexigenic POMC and CART (120, 277-280). In fish, liver is the main secretory source of LepA (249, 250, 260, 270, 281-283), although some studies reported moderate mRNA expression and secretion from the adipose tissue (260, 270, 281, 284, 285). Central and peripheral administration of recombinant leptin, using homologous or heterologous leptin, produces anorectic effects in several fish species, suggesting that the regulatory role of leptin on appetite is well conserved in vertebrates (120, 279, 282, 286-289).

Leptin variations in response to feeding status (postprandial, short- and long-term fasting/food restriction) have been reported at the level of gene expression and protein among fish orthologs as well as among paralogs. For instance, postprandial increases in hepatic *lepA* and *lepB* expression are observed within 9 h in common carp (255), and hepatic *lepA* in orange-spotted grouper (251) and mandarin fish [Siniperca chuatsi (289)], suggesting that leptins may act as a satiety signal. In longer-term fasting (after 7 days and after 3 weeks), a significant increase in hepatic lepA expression was observed in orange-spotted grouper, but not in carp (289). Prolonged feed restriction induced hepatic upregulation of lepA expression in salmonids (290-292) and chub mackerel (253). In contrast, liver lepA expression decreases during catabolic states in striped bass (Morone saxatilis) (282), and hepatic mRNA expression of *lep1*, *lep2*, *lepRa*, and *lepRb* does not correlate to feeding status in eels (254).

lepB expression is low or absent in the liver of several teleosts and is mostly found in the CNS (253, 261, 289). The brain expression profiling of lepA-B paralogs in relation to feeding status shows species-specific variations among orthologs, paralogs, and time exposure to catabolic states. For instance, short-term fasting induces a downregulation of both *lepA* and *lepB* in the brain of mandarin fish (289), whereas it has no effect on *leptin(s)/lepR* in orange-spotted grouper (251). Long-term fasting has no effect on either lepA or lepB in Nile tilapia, Oreochromis niloticus (252), and eel (254), while in salmon, it induces upregulation of lepA1 and leprA1 expression and downregulation of lepB1-2 genes in the brain (269). The increases in *lepA1* and *leprA1* mRNA upon fasting are in line with most studies on plasma leptin in salmonids (291-293). Also, in Mozambique tilapia (Oreochromis mossambicus), hepatic lepA mRNA as well as circulating LepA is higher in fasted than fed fish (294), as is seen with salmonids. Rising leptin plasma levels could be adaptive during catabolic states inducing anorexigenic effects at the level of the CNS, and a consequent reduction of energy-demanding foraging behavior during periods of limited food availability (291, 295). Interestingly, in burbot

(*Lota lota*), plasma leptin levels decrease following fasting at 2°C but not at 10°C, implying that metabolic rate may influence leptin in catabolic conditions (296).

Given the lipostatic role of leptin in mammals, putative similar roles have been investigated in teleosts. The *lepB* gene has been proposed to be involved in lipid metabolism in chub mackerel (253) and mandarin fish (289). However, plasma levels do not correlate with body adiposity in salmonids (293, 297). Leptin patterns in adipose tissue vary widely among species and between duplicates; in salmon, only *lepA1–2* are found with *lepA1* type being higher expressed (260, 261). Low *lepA1–II* expression has been reported in visceral adipose tissue of common carp (298). The differential leptin expression in adipose tissue between fish species and mammals may be a result of the divergent fat allocation patterns observed for the various species but also related to differences between endotherm and ectotherms.

In vivo recombinant LepA treatments suggest anti-adipogenic effects and stimulatory actions on fat metabolism in several teleosts (287, 299, 300). Consistently, LepA treatment *in vitro* stimulates lipolysis in rainbow trout adipocytes (284). In addition, *lepr*-deficient medaka exhibit increased visceral fat depots compared to wild types, which is consistent with the body composition of the leptin receptor-deficient db/db mice and Zucker obese rats (243, 301).

While these findings suggest that leptin is involved in mobilization of lipid stores in fish, emerging literature suggests that rather than a canonic "lipostat" signaling for adipostasis (as in mammals), leptin might be important in other metabolic processes. Recent fish studies suggest roles of leptin in glucose homeostasis (302-304) and in the coordination of energy metabolism and somatic growth (305). Leptin receptor-deficient zebrafish do not exhibit increased appetite or adiposity but display β-cell hyperplasia and increased levels of insulin mRNA and alterations in glucose homeostasis, suggesting that leptin might act as a glucostat rather than a lipostat in fish. In both rainbow trout (303) and tilapia (304), either peripheral or central treatment of homologous LepA induces hyperglycemia and glycogenolysis. In tilapia, lipase gene expression was not altered, suggesting the hormone is important in mobilizing glucose. Thus, the contradictory leptin data attained so far on gene expression, in vivo and in vitro recombinant leptin administrations or leptin plasma levels in response to different feeding status, suggest an independent evolution of leptin functions among teleosts. Species-specific responses among orthologs may reflect defined metabolic adaptations to the widely diverse fish life histories. Similarly, leptin duplicates may be under different selective processes and respond to modulation of nutritional status in a spatiotemporal specific manner.

Other Tissues

In mammalian species, there is a range of other peripheral tissues that produce and release factors (peptides/cytokines) that affect appetite, such as the thyroid and pancreatic hormones.

Thyroid

The thyroid axis consists of hypothalamic TRH, pituitary thyrotropin (TSH), and thyroid hormones [thyroxin (T4) and

tri-iodothyronine (T3)]. In mammals, the thyroid axis plays a significant role in energy expenditure, as it increase basal metabolic rate, control appetite, and food intake and regulate body weight (306, 307). The few studies that have targeted the role of the thyroid axis on fish feeding suggest a stimulatory effect. For instance, in goldfish, injections of either TRH or T4 increase feeding and locomotion (82, 308), and treatment with the antifouling agent tributyltin increases weight gain and food intake, as well as serum thyroid hormone levels (309). In Amur sturgeon (*Acipenser schrenckii*), low feeding rates result in low thyroid hormones serum levels (310). In both winter flounder (72) and goldfish (82), fasting induces increases in hypothalamic *trh* mRNA expression, further suggesting an orexigenic role.

Pancreas

The pancreas secretes mainly insulin and glucagon-related peptides, which have been shown to affect metabolism in fish (311). Plasma insulin and glucagon levels increase after feeding in fish; however, their specific role in the food intake regulation is largely unknown.

Complete isletectomy in the goby (*Gillichthys mirabilis*) results in hyperphagia (312), and in rainbow trout, intraperitoneal injections of insulin decrease food intake (313), suggesting an anorexigenic role for insulin in fish.

The vertebrate proglucagon (Pg) gene encodes three peptide hormones, namely, glucagon, glucagon-like peptide 1 (GLP-1), and glucagon-like peptide 2 (GLP-2) (314). In mammals, GLP-1 and GLP-2 are satiety signals, mainly produced by the GI-tract (315, 316). In fishes, the pancreas synthesizes glucagon and Glp-1, and the intestine releases glucagon, Glp-1, and Glp-2 (317). To date, the pg gene has also been isolated in several teleost species (314), and duplicate pg genes have been identified in all teleost species for which the genomic sequencing has been completed (318). Although, to our knowledge, there is no information on glucagon and Glp2, Glp-1 appears to act as an anorexigenic factor in fish. In channel catfish, central administration of GLP-1 has a potent inhibitory effect on feed intake, but peripheral injection showed only a weak or no effect on appetite (188, 319). On the other hand, peripheral GLP-1 injection strongly decreased feed intake in Coho salmon (242), suggesting that the peripheral (GI-tract) anorexigenic Glp-1 effects might be species-specific in fish. In rainbow trout, peripheral injections of Glp-1 increase plasma glucose levels, decrease hindbrain npy and pomc mRNA levels and increase hindbrain cart expression levels, suggesting that Glp-1 regulates not only food intake but also glucose homeostasis (320). Although mammalian GLP-1 inhibits gastric emptying (321), the function of Glp-1 on digestion (speed) is still unclear in fish.

SELECTED FISH ADAPTATIONS IN THE ENDOCRINE REGULATION OF FEEDING

Owing to their large diversity, fishes display a wide range of interesting adaptations in the feeding biology and appetite to different environmental conditions and food availability. Research on these comparative aspects both with regards to evolution and function is still largely unexplored and only a few species, mainly with commercial interest, have been studied. Below, we provide some examples and discuss other adaptions that could be explored further.

Long-term Seasonal Fasting (The Arctic Charr)

The anadromous (sea-migrating) life-strategy of Arctic charr (*Salvelinus alpinus*) is characterized by substantial seasonal changes in food intake, growth, and adiposity. In the wild, most of the annual growth and energy accumulation occurs because of an intense appetite burst during the short seawater residence in summer, whereas overwintering in freshwater is characterized by anorexia and depletion of energy reserves (322–325). The seasonal cycle in food intake and growth in this species seems to be a strictly genetically programmed process as captive offspring of Arctic charr exhibit pronounced seasonal changes in food intake and growth when held at constant temperature and given food in excess (326, 327). Because of the physiologically regulated seasonal feeding cycles, Arctic charr represent an interesting model for investigation of adaptive mechanisms underlying long-term regulation of appetite and energy homeostasis (328).

It has been suggested that the seasonal feeding cycle is regulated by a lipostatic mechanism (297, 328–330). Leptin, the principal regulator of the lipostatic mechanism in mammals (331), does not appear to be involved in signaling the large variations of adiposity in the Arctic charr (297). However, hepatic leptin production increases at the end of the winter fasting period (297), when fat mobilization and increased plasma glucose occurs (325). It is possible that leptin has a role in depressing metabolism during long-term seasonal fasting, when fat stores are depleted by the suppression of liver lipolytic pathways (292, 297). It is also possible that leptin is more important as a glucostat than an adipostat in Arctic charr, as suggested in zebrafish (302).

The role of Ghrl in controlling the seasonal variation in appetite of charr has also been explored. Stomach *ghrl* mRNA expression seems to be negatively correlated with feed intake and growth (332), supporting that Ghrl acts as an anorexigenic factor, as suggested in one study on rainbow trout (191). The expression levels of a range of putative central appetite-controlling genes in Arctic charr such as *pomc*, *cart*, *mc4r*, *agrp*, and *npy* were not correlated to its annual feeding cycle (333). Further studies are needed to understand how anadromous Arctic charr can maintain an anorexic state when overwintering despite the massive loss of fat reserves.

Long-term Fasting Related with Reproduction (The Mouthbrooder)

Mouthbrooder fish hold their eggs in their mouth until their young are free-swimming. Several fish are classified as mouthbrooders, some being paternal (male holds eggs) and others maternal (most common). Eggs can be fertilized in the environment or in the female's mouth (in the case of maternal brooding). Teleost mouthbrooder fish include cichlids (e.g., mbuna *Astatotilapia burtoni*) and tilapias such as *Oreochromis mossambicus* and *Oreochromis niloticus*, sea catfish (e.g., *Ariopsis felis*), cardinalfish (e.g., *Pterapogon kauderni*), and gouramis (e.g., dwarf gourami *Colisa lalia*). While guarding eggs, most mouthbrooders do not eat or feed less, often resulting in a weight decrease (334–338).

Very little is known about the endocrine mechanisms responsible for brooding-induced fasting. Fed mbuna females with large ovarian eggs (pre-spawning or spawning) have larger gonadotropin-releasing hormone (Gnrh1) neurons (339), which has also been observed in convict cichlid, Amatitlania nigrofasciatus (340) and higher mRNA expression levels of whole brain gnrh1 (major Gnrh form involved in reproduction), than mouthbrooding females carrying eggs, which is reflected by higher gonadosomatic indexes and higher circulating levels of sex steroids (341). However, no significant differences are seen in gnrh2, in contrast with fasting-induced changes reported for other fish species [e.g., winter flounder (342) and Ya fish (343)]. Similarly, no differences are seen in npy, pomc or mch whole-brain expression, between mbuna holding eggs in their mouths and pre-spawning females (341). However, orexin increases in fasting mbuna females, which is consistent with its stimulatory role on feeding and inhibitory actions on spawning (66). The increase in cck is more surprising, as Cck is a satiety factor that is normally secreted when the GI-tract is full. This increase in *cck* might be a response to long-term fasting to attenuate hunger and prevent feeding by counteracting increases in orexigenic peptides such as orexin.

Interestingly, when comparing fed and fasted mouthbrooding females from which eggs/fry have been removed, no differences in brain expressions of appetite regulators (*npy, cck, orexin, pomc,* and *mch*) were seen (341), possibly because of changes in physiology and metabolism. However, as no information is available about the effects of fasting on appetite regulators for pre-spawning females or immature fish, it is difficult to draw definitive conclusions on the changes that lead to brooding-induced fasting.

Long-term Fasting in Aquaculture (Trout and Salmon)

Like the above-mentioned Arctic charr, many other fish species, including rainbow trout and Atlantic salmon, tolerate long fasting periods. Rather than a genetically driven seasonal halt in feed intake as in charr, they adapt to long periods with low food availability in the wild. To better understand the potential role of various peptides in this process, plasma protein and/or gene expression levels of candidate appetite-regulating hormones and neuropeptides have been analyzed during variable periods of food deprivation in salmon and trout.

Leptin

The picture of leptin endocrinology dynamics in fish during fasting is not clear-cut, even within species, e.g., rainbow trout. Recent data on two lines of rainbow trout bred for either high (fat line) or low (lean line) muscle lipid content indicate that leptin response to fasting may be plastic and dependent on selective breeding, environmental factors and/or energy status and body composition (344). The two lines of trout differ in the fat deposition pattern: the fat line has higher total energy reserves, higher muscle adiposity, and lower visceral adiposity than the lean line.

A 4-week fasting period decreased plasma Lep in the lean line while Lep levels and hepatic *lep* expression remained unchanged in the fat line (344). This contrasts previous results in rainbow trout, where leptin levels increase or remain unchanged during fasting, despite a decrease in condition factor (293, 345).

Tissue *lep* gene expression was also unaltered in long-term fasted fish except for an increased expression in fat rich muscle tissue (346). In the same study, the fasted fish displayed hyperphagia when they could refeed, eating as much as up to 8.4% of their body weight (346). Hence, even though the fasted fish were clearly in a catabolic state, hungry and mobilizing energy stores, leptin production and plasma levels remained unchanged.

Unlike the observation mentioned above (346), appetite does not always return immediately when food becomes available for anorectic/food-deprived salmonids (345, 347). During a 72-h refeeding period for long-term fasted rainbow trout, there was a large variability in the time to start feeding between individuals, and some did not feed at all in the beginning. This response may have been caused by high leptin levels in these individuals (345). Leptin generally did not start to decrease until some food had been ingested, raising the question of which mechanism is responsible for triggering the onset of appetite. In fine flounder (*Paralichthys adspersus*), leptin also decreases after, but not before refeeding (291). This fast leptin response indicates that there is a short-term meal-related regulation of leptin release (291, 345).

Available data on the relation between leptin and energy status in Atlantic salmon are still limited to those from food restriction studies or experiments using diets with different energy content (260, 290, 348, 349). Plasma leptin levels were not different between fish that were fed full or restricted (60%) rations for 10 months, although hepatic *lepA2* expression was higher in the fed than in the fasted salmon (260). In a shorter trial (7 weeks), feed-restricted fish had higher plasma leptin levels and elevated hepatic lep expression levels than controls fed to satiation (290), which is consistent with some of the previous studies on rainbow trout (293, 345). Restricted feeding during several months (April-September) in Atlantic salmon parr undergoing sexual maturation showed that fish with the highest fat stores had the lowest leptin levels (349). Similarly, fish on a high-energy diet had lower leptin levels than fish on a low energy diet with less adipose stores (348). Taken together, these studies lend further support to the notion that leptin is not a long-term adiposity signal in salmonids. The results obtained from fish species are also interesting in the context of studies on wild mammals with seasonal changes in adiposity and feeding behavior, showing a large variability in the link between plasma leptin levels, fasting, and adiposity (350-353).

Ghrelin

The response of plasma Ghrl and *ghrl* mRNA expression to fasting in fish is highly variable between studies and fasting duration (354). There are few studies investigating the response of Ghrl to long-term fasting in Atlantic salmon and rainbow trout. In rainbow trout, plasma Ghrl levels decreased after 1–3 weeks of fasting (213). In Atlantic salmon, 2 days of fasting led to elevated plasma Ghrl levels, indicating an effect of short-term feeding status on Ghrl release, a response consistent with this

"hunger hormone." However, after 14 days of food-deprivation, Ghrl levels were unchanged in fasted salmon compared to fully fed controls (355). Whether these differences are a result of true species differences in Ghrl function (see section above about ghrelin), domestication processes or experimental design remains unclear.

Fasting-Induced Changes in Central Appetite Regulatory Neuropeptides

The recent study by Jørgensen et al. (346) is one of few that have investigated potential changes in the expression of hypothalamic appetite-regulating peptides during fasting in a salmonid species. Rainbow trout was fasted for 4 months, and among the peptides that were measured in the hypothalamus (*lepa1*, *cart*, *agrp*, *pomca1*, *pomca2*, *pomcb*, *npy*, *mc4r*, and *crf*), few fasting-induced effects were observed. There was an increased gene expression of *pomca1* and *pomcb*, suggesting that increased *pomc* transcript levels may be a potential mechanism for a reduced appetite and foraging activity in catabolic conditions.

Peripherally injected Lep seems to increase the expression of *pomc-a1* and *-a2* with a concurrent transient reduction in *npy* gene expression (279). In rainbow trout, the leptin receptor is localized in mediobasal hypothalamic appetite centers, and it seems that Pomc and Cart mediate leptin's acute anorexigenic effect in this species (295). It may be speculated that during long-term fasting in salmonids, increased circulating leptin levels stimulate hypothalamic Pomc neurons, suppressing appetite. Brain sensitivity (amount of receptor levels) to, e.g., leptin and Ghrl will also influence appetite. At the termination of a 7-week feeding/fasting experiment, fed Atlantic salmon parr showed an increase in *lepr* gene expression in the brain, while the *lepr* gene expression in food-deprived fish was unaltered despite increased plasma Lep levels. This was interpreted by the authors as the possible result of a negative feedback of Lep on its receptor (290).

Life-Stage Transition (First Feeding Larvae to Juveniles)

Most fish species spawn eggs, in which the developing embryo relies on yolk nutrients until it is sufficiently developed to capture, ingest, and digest feed. After onset of exogenous feeding, the larvae continue to grow and develop into juveniles—a transition triggered by environmental cues that induce a coordinated program to remodel the organism. The transition involves a wide range of changes in behavior, habitat, and physiology, and many fish larvae change food sources as they become adults; therefore, it has major consequences for feeding behavior and most likely in the control of appetite (356).

Several studies have aimed to understand the various aspects of the feeding biology and nutritional requirements of developing fish larvae to improve their performance in aquaculture. However, very few have focused on the mechanisms that control appetite and food intake (42, 357). This may be partly explained by biological and technical challenges when working with fish larvae, such as the accurate determination of food intake, the use of individual larva (instead of pools), or the handling of individual variability in growth and development.

There are several described cases where fish larvae continue to eat, despite having an apparently full GI-tract. For instance, Atlantic halibut larvae continue to ingest prey despite a full gut and with gut transit rates so high that the prey is eliminated (defecated) undigested and sometimes even alive (358). Apparently, the feedback systems and satiety signals originating in the GI-tract are not functional in these early stages. It has been argued that fish larvae have adapted to low concentrations and availability of prey in the wild. Consequently, satiety signals may not be required to prevent overfeeding. In aquaculture conditions, however, larvae are reared with constant and abundant food availability and continuous light, and therefore appetite-controlling mechanisms become crucial to avoid continuous ingestion of prey, short gut transit times of ingested food, reduced time for digestion, low digestive efficiency, and nutrient absorption (359). This is of particularly interest for altricial-gastric species, which lack a fully developed and functional stomach prior to metamorphosis (360 - 364).

Some studies have started to explore the ontogeny expression of several appetite regulators (71, 240, 365, 366), and their detailed spatial and differential distribution in fish larvae (159). Key factors in appetite control are present very early in fish development, such as *npy* at zygote stage in blunt snout bream (Megalobrama amblycephala) (367) and at blastula stages in orange-spotted grouper (170), ghrl (240) and ox (71) at cleavage stage, and gastrin (240) at blastula stage in Atlantic cod. In Atlantic halibut, only ghrl and cart mRNA expression levels were significantly modified throughout development, while ontogeny did not affect *npy*, *pyy*, and *pomc-c* expressions levels in the brain of the developing larvae (35). Ghrl was widely distributed in the GI-tract and present in the anterior GI-tract before the gastric glands and pepsinogen production appeared in newly Atlantic halibut hatched yolk-sac larvae (368). Notably, increased levels of ghrl in the GI-tract during metamorphosis were correlated with stomach development (360, 369). cart mRNA expression levels decreased at the initiation of halibut metamorphosis, while cart levels in whole larvae of Atlantic cod increased during the corresponding developmental phase (365). In Atlantic cod, cck, npy, and ox show a similar pattern of a moderate but consistent decrease from 3 days post-hatching (dph) until 60 dph (42, 365). The differences in cart expression between Atlantic halibut and Atlantic cod larvae are intriguing and may be a result of different factors, including the use of whole cod larvae versus halibut head and differences in developmental rate (370, 371).

Many of the neuropeptides involved in appetite control in higher vertebrates and adult teleost are present in the brain of fish larvae, suggesting a role of these genes in appetite control also in the early stages (35, 159, 168, 372–374). In the recent study of Le et al. (159), the development expression patterns of *npy*, *cart*, and *ox* genes were analyzed in brain regions of Atlantic cod, from start of exogenous feeding until juvenile stage. Both spatial and temporal expression patterns of orexigenic and anorexigenic factors during larval ontogeny indicated a progressive development of the brain regulatory networks that control appetite. In addition, the wide distribution and co-expression of *npy*, *cart*, and *ox* in hypothalamus, led the authors to propose that this is the main area for appetite control in fish larvae, comparable to mammals and adult fish (6, 374–376). However, it remains unclear to what extent these appetite-regulating genes are functional at these early developmental stages.

Few have assessed the response of these factors in terms of feed intake (35, 40) or different diets (40, 42, 377). In Atlantic cod larvae, Kortner et al. (42) showed that the expression levels of cck and npy were diet-specifically modulated and followed the same expression profile as the genes coding for digestive enzymes, suggesting a close connection between appetite control and digestion processes. Recently, two studies in Senegalese sole larvae have analyzed the effect of fatty acids ingestion in the control of food intake (378, 379). The administration of several fatty acids (leate, linoleate, α -linolenate, or eicosapentaenoate) in sole post-larvae enhanced the expression of the anorexigenic neuropeptides cart4 and pomcb and decreased the orexigenic npy, with no major discrepancies between the different fatty acids tested (378). However, the transcriptional analysis of several anorexigenic: *pyya*, *pyyb*, *glp1*, *cckl*, *cart1a*, *cart1b*, *cart2a*, *cart4*, *pomc-a*, *pomc-b*, crf; and orexigenic: gal, npy, agrp2 factors showed a dissimilar response to feeding times and dietary fatty acid composition (cod liver oil, linseed oil, soybean oil, or olive oil) that was generally not in agreement with their putative function (40). For example, the changes observed for sole npy in developmental stages 16 and 34 dph were not consistent. At 16 dph npy expression levels increased before feeding, as expected, but then continue to increase up to 3 h after feeding (40), which is counterintuitive for an orexigenic factor (1, 12). At 34 dph, npy expression was only affected by the dietary fatty acid profile. This was similar to the results obtained by Kortner et al. (42), where cod npy was diet-specifically modulated in larvae at 16 dph, but no evident changes were found at 29 dph. Furthermore, in Atlantic halibut larvae, npy levels increased 5 h after refeeding (35). The differences observed between species may suggest that the Npy is still not fully functional in appetite regulation in larvae, possibly reflecting a yet underdeveloped appetite-regulating system. Furthermore, the response of npy, pyy, pomc-c, and cart to food deprivation and refeeding in Atlantic halibut larvae did not appear to be coordinated (35), lacking a consistent expression pattern to explain their contribution to appetite control in early larvae as it was for Senegalese sole larvae (40). In addition, the differences observed between both studies in Senegalese sole larvae may be explained by the different approaches used: use of complex diets fed through the whole larval and post-larval stage (379) versus a tube-fed single meal of pure fatty acids solution (378).

Altogether, these studies support the hypothesis that a feedback signaling system from the GI-tract to the CNS is still not fully established in the early larval stages. This, however, does not rule out that developing fish larvae may have their own specific system of appetite regulation adapted to their feeding ecology or that larvae possess a rudimentary, still developing, regulatory system. Fish larvae are often considered as "feeding machines" because they can ingest food at rates above their own weight daily (357, 380–382). This suggests that larvae are constantly hungry and motivated to feed, although several studies have shown that some fish larvae exhibit a circadian prandial pattern and do not feed constantly (383–385). Given the complexity of appetite-controlling mechanisms and how difficult

it is to interpret results due to the lack of specific information on the roles played by some of the potential anorexigenic and orexigenic factors in fish, it remains a challenge to elucidate the appetite-control system in fish larvae with different digestive tract morphologies and feeding strategies. A better understanding will greatly increase our basic knowledge on larval physiology and help to improve larval rearing regimes and feeding protocols in hatcheries.

The Voracious Feeders

Several species have an aggressive and voracious feeding behavior, most of them usually being carnivorous top predators. Well-known examples include Perciformes such as bluefish (*Pomatomus saltatrix*), bluegill (*Lepomis macrochirus*), cobia, groupers, tilapia and African cichlids, salmonids (e.g., rainbow trout), pikes (e.g., Northern pike *Esox lucius*), some characids (e.g., dourado and piranhas), as well as elasmobranchs, i.e., sharks and rays (338).

Within the teleosts, several studies have examined the effects of fasting and feeding on the expression of a few appetite regulator genes. However, there are no data on how endocrine mechanisms might regulate the increased feed intake in these voracious fish, and no comparative study has been performed between voracious species and a "gentler" herbivore/omnivore species (e.g., cyprinids, some flatfish species).

In response to fasting, it appears that most voracious fish display a similar trend to what occurs in non-aggressive species [e.g., the omnivorous goldfish and pacu (Piaractus mesopotamicus)], i.e., increases in expression of orexigenic factors [e.g., ox in dourado (73) and piranha (225), and ghrl in piranha (386)] and decreases in expression of anorexigenic factors [e.g., cart in piranha (225)]. However, few studies have examined periprandial changes in voracious fish. Taking the example of orexin, its expression appears to increase around feeding time and decrease after feeding, similar to what is seen for other fish species, such as orange grouper (70) and tilapia (387). In dourado, ox expression is similar before, during, and after feeding, suggesting a constant state of feeding/searching behavior. In addition, ox expression levels in fasted fish increase at mealtime and dramatically at postfeeding time, suggesting that dourado have a high motivation to search for food that persists after meal time (73). In contrast, pacu, a fish from the same order (Characiformes) as dourado, shows high ox levels at pre-feeding, and these tend to decrease at mealtime and post-feeding. Moreover, if pacu is not fed at the scheduled mealtime, ox levels increase at mealtime but return to basal levels within 1 h, suggesting that the fish have "given up" on searching food (388), which is reflected by their calm behavior (Volkoff, personal observation).

Voracious fish are often aggressive during feeding. Although aggression is often related to reproduction, in these species it also occurs outside the reproductive context (389). Interestingly, early studies in cichlid fish (*Tilapia heudelotii macrocephala*) and in bluegill have shown that electrical stimulation of the hypothalamic region elicited both feeding and aggressive responses (390, 391). The brain monoaminergic system, especially serotonin [5-hydroxytryptamine (5-HT)], plays a key role in controlling aggressive behavior (392). 5-HT has been reported to inhibit

aggressive behavior in several voracious species, e.g., trout (393) and pikeperch (*Sander lucioperca*) (394). Interestingly, surface Mexican tetra (*Astyanax mexicanus*) species are aggressive predators, in particular during feeding episodes, whereas blind cave forms of this species exhibit reduced aggressiveness and have a tendency to continuously search for food. These differences in foraging and aggressive behaviors are related to 5-HT network modifications within hypothalamic neurons (395, 396). 5-HT also has anorexigenic actions in rainbow trout (397) and in mammals (387) and has been shown to interact with appetite regulators. For example, the behavioral effects produced by orexin administration, i.e., increased locomotion and feeding, are blocked by 5-HT antagonists (398). It would therefore be valuable to compare 5-HT levels between voracious and non-voracious fish.

Intra-species differences (sometimes referred to as personality/ motivation) in basal locomotor and feeding activities are often observed between individuals. These differences might be due to different expression levels of appetite regulators or monoamines. For example, in tilapia, low serotonergic activity in the hypothalamus is correlated with a personality characterized by high feeding motivation (399). Similarly, in salmonid fish, subordinate individuals characteristically exhibit higher plasma cortisol levels than dominant ones (400). There are most likely different causes for voraciousness in fish, and more direct studies are needed to explain the underlying mechanisms of the appetitecontrolling networks that result in these large differences in feeding behaviors.

How Important Is Vision? (The Blind Mexican Cavefish)

Although most fish rely in part on vision to feed (401), this sense is not essential for some species. The best example is that of fish living in cave environments, which are characterized by constant darkness and food scarcity (338, 402). Cavefish such as the Mexican tetra are often blind and have specialized anatomical features to better locate food and maximize food intake (396, 403, 404). Such adaptations include well-developed olfactory bulbs (405), taste buds (406), and lateral line neuromasts (407-409). In addition, these fish display behavioral adaptations for detecting prey and increasing feeding efficiency: they are opportunistic feeders, show increased swimming/exploratory and feeding behaviors (410), do not sleep (411), and do not exhibit schooling behavior (403, 412, 413). This enhanced food-finding efficiency is present not only in adults but also in young larvae when the yolk has been depleted (414). Overall, surface fish placed in the dark are less efficient at finding food than cavefish (415-417).

To cope with a particularly food-limited habitat compared to most surface fish, cavefish have developed behavioral (increased appetite, with ingestion of large amounts of food during feeding events) and metabolic adaptations. The latter include reduced basal metabolic rate, increased metabolic efficiency, starvation resistance (reduced weight loss during fasting), and increased body fat composition (403, 413, 418).

Peripheral injections of known orexigenic factors in cavefish, such as OX, GHRL, and apelin, increase not only food consumption but also the whole brain mRNA expressions of orexigenic factors (e.g., GHRL injections induce an increase in ox brain expression), whereas injections of CCK reduce food intake and induce a decrease in the whole brain expression orexigenic factors (e.g., *apelin*) (67, 79). Peripheral injections of OX greatly increase locomotor activity and ox brain mRNA levels in cavefish. Basal ox mRNA levels in whole brain are higher in cave fish than in surface fish (Buenos Aires tetra, *Hyphessobrycon anisitsi*, a characid surface species closely related to *Astyanax*) (405), suggesting that the higher overall locomotor/feeding activity in cavefish compared to the surface forms might be mediated by an increase in ox levels (67, 79). Coding mutations in *mc4r* also contribute to the increased appetite and starvation resistance of cavefish compared with surface fish (419).

Cavefish are avid feeders and become very active around feeding time when appetite increases (420). Brain *ox* mRNA expression levels increase before and decrease after a scheduled mealtime (67), suggesting that orexin acts as a short-term hunger signal and is linked to food anticipatory activity. Conversely, the brain expression of the anorexigenic *pyy* increases after feeding (67), suggesting a role for Pyy as a short-term satiety factor. However, *cck* brain expression does not display periprandial variations in cavefish (67), which might contribute to a less rapid satiety and longer bouts of feeding.

Short-term food restriction increases *ox* brain mRNA transcription levels in cavefish (67), indicating a role in the longterm regulation of feeding in cavefish and perhaps triggering an increased motivation to seek food. However, as opposed to most surface fish examined to date, short-term fasting does not increase brain mRNA levels of *pyy* and *cck*, suggesting that the anorexigenic systems are inhibited during fasting, perhaps to slow down digestion/gastric emptying of food in the gut or to maintain a hunger state that would favor food-seeking behavior.

FUTURE

Many of the studies on appetite-controlling systems in teleosts are based on domesticated fish that have been bred in captivity for generations (e.g., salmon, carp, and cod). These fish, which are submitted to optimal habitat (e.g., no predators, constant optimal photoperiods and temperatures) and feeding (e.g., satiation, minimal food-seeking behavior) conditions might have present modifications in their feeding behavior and systems controlling appetite, as compared to wild fish exposed to suboptimal conditions. This phenomenon has been shown in domesticated rats that eat more than wild individuals (421). Comparisons between wild and captive populations might reveal important information on the effects of domestication on feeding behavior. Therefore, observations of feeding behavior and sampling of fish in their natural environment would be valuable.

Overall, within a few model species, only a few appetiteregulating hormones (e.g., leptin, Npy, and Cck) have been studied more in detail. In addition, there are very few studies on the mechanisms of action of these hormones, including at the level of their target cells and their receptors. Many questions related to the concepts "set-point" in energy homeostasis and stimulus for synthesis/secretion of these hormones, i.e., whether it is direct nutrient sensing by the hormone-producing cells or stimulation of these cells by another hormone/ neurotransmitter or both, also remain to be answered. Also, many of these hormones are expressed both in the CNS and in peripheral tissues and the relative importance of each, as well as their interactions in controlling the appetite, are poorly understood.

One of the major limitations in the field of appetite endocrinology in fish is that the vast majority of studies have been constrained to the analyses of transcript levels. Although the existence of a proportional relationship between mRNA and protein expressions measured from a tissue have long been assumed, recent data show that this is not always the case (422). The development of fish-specific hormone assays and protein expression techniques is crucial for a better understanding of appetite-regulating mechanisms in fish. In addition, most studies analyze large portions of specific tissues (e.g., whole brain, whole hypothalamus, or whole intestine), which might also bias results, as, for example, specific regions (e.g., proximal versus distal intestine, or specific hypothalamic nuclei) might have different functions and respond differently to feeding conditions.

Although it is often observed that growth is directly related to food intake, many gaps exist on our understanding of how these two functions are connected in fish. The recent development of GH-transgenic fish is promising for the exploration of this field. Thus, the development of emerging techniques such as gene editing (CRISPR/Cas9 system) will be a great tool to study the role of appetite regulators in fish. Targeted mutagenesis using CRISPR/ Cas9 system has been successfully used in several species, including zebrafish (423), salmon (424), and African cichlids (425), but so far only a few studies have used this technique to examine the role of appetite regulators on fish models, e.g., leptin receptor mutations in zebrafish (302).

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

All authors designed, wrote and approved the final version of the manuscript.

FUNDING

The authors acknowledge funding from EU-FP7-KBBE-2007-2A LIFECYCLE (IR, RA, EJ, and ASG), Research Council of Norway [Grants 172548/S40; 190043; 199482 (IR)], and Regional Research fund West (Grants 247978; 259919) (IR, ASG, and KM); Natural Sciences and Engineering Research Council (NSERC) Discovery Grant, 261414-03 (HV); the research center SWEMARC at the University of Gothenburg (EJ); Japan Fisheries Research and Education Agency (KM); and JSPS KAKENHI (JP15KK0288) (KM).

REFERENCES

- Schwartz MW, Woods SC, Porte D, Seeley RJ, Baskin DG. Central nervous system control of food intake. *Nature* (2000) 404:661–71. doi:10.1038/35007534
- Friedman MI. Food intake: control, regulation and the illusion of dysregulation. In: Harris R, Mattes R, editors. *Appetite and Food Intake: Behavioral and Physiological Considerations*. Boca Raton: CRC Press (2008). p. 1–19.
- Kulczykowska E, Sánchez Vázquez FJ. Neurohormonal regulation of feed intake and response to nutrients in fish: aspects of feeding rhythm and stress. *Aquac Res* (2010) 41:654–67. doi:10.1111/j.1365-2109.2009.02350.x
- Lin XW, Volkoff H, Narnaware Y, Bernier NJ, Peyon P, Peter RE. Brain regulation of feeding behavior and food intake in fish. *Comp Biochem Physiol A Mol Integr Physiol* (2000) 126:415–34. doi:10.1016/S1095-6433(00)00230-0
- 5. Volkoff H, Peter RE. Feeding behavior of fish and its control. *Zebrafish* (2006) 3:131-40. doi:10.1089/zeb.2006.3.131
- Volkoff H, Canosa LF, Unniappan S, Cerda-Reverter JM, Bernier NJ, Kelly SP, et al. Neuropeptides and the control of food intake in fish. *Gen Comp Endocrinol* (2005) 142:3–19. doi:10.1016/j.ygcen.2004.11.001
- Volkoff H, Xu M, MacDonald E, Hoskins L. Aspects of the hormonal regulation of appetite in fish with emphasis on goldfish, Atlantic cod and winter flounder: notes on actions and responses to nutritional, environmental and reproductive changes. *Comp Biochem Physiol Part A Mol Integr Physiol* (2009) 153:8–12. doi:10.1016/j.cbpa.2008.12.001
- 8. Nelson JS. Fishes of the World. New Jersey: John Wiley and Sons (2006).
- Muroi Y, Ishii T. A novel neuropeptide Y neuronal pathway linking energy state and reproductive behavior. *Neuropeptides* (2016) 59:1–8. doi:10.1016/j. npep.2016.09.002
- Kohno D, Yada T. Arcuate NPY neurons sense and integrate peripheral metabolic signals to control feeding. *Neuropeptides* (2012) 46:315–9. doi:10.1016/j.npep.2012.09.004
- Lopez-Patino MA, Guijarro AI, Isorna E, Delgado MJ, Alonso-Bedate M, de Pedro N. Neuropeptide Y has a stimulatory action on feeding behavior in goldfish (*Carassius auratus*). *Eur J Pharmacol* (1999) 377:147–53. doi:10.1016/S0014-2999(99)00408-2
- Narnaware YK, Peyon PP, Lin X, Peter RE. Regulation of food intake by neuropeptide Y in goldfish. Am J Physiol Regul Integr Comp Physiol (2000) 279:R1025–34.
- Zhou Y, Liang XF, Yuan XC, Li J, He Y, Fang L, et al. Neuropeptide Y stimulates food intake and regulates metabolism in grass carp, *Ctenopharyngodon idellus. Aquaculture* (2013) 380:52–61. doi:10.1016/j.aquaculture.2012.11.033
- Silverstein JT, Plysetskaya EM. The effects of NPY and insulin on food intake regulation in fish. *Am Zool* (2000) 40:296–308. doi:10.1093/icb/40.2.296
- Yokobori E, Azuma M, Nishiguchi R, Kang KS, Kamijo M, Uchiyama M, et al. Neuropeptide Y stimulates food intake in the zebrafish, *Danio rerio*. *J Neuroendocrinol* (2012) 24:766–73. doi:10.1111/j.1365-2826.2012.02281.x
- Aldegunde M, Mancebo M. Effects of neuropeptide Y on food intake and brain biogenic amines in the rainbow trout (*Oncorhynchus mykiss*). *Peptides* (2006) 27:719–27. doi:10.1016/j.peptides.2005.09.014
- Kiris GA, Kumlu M, Dikel S. Stimulatory effects of neuropeptide Y on food intake and growth of *Oreochromis niloticus*. *Aquaculture* (2007) 264:383–9. doi:10.1016/j.aquaculture.2006.12.004
- Carpio Y, Acosta J, Morales A, Herrera F, González LJ, Estrada MP. Cloning, expression and growth promoting action of Red tilapia (*Oreochromis* sp.) neuropeptide Y. *Peptides* (2006) 27:710–8. doi:10.1016/j.peptides.2005.08.013
- Narnaware YK, Peter RE. Effects of food deprivation and refeeding on neuropeptide Y (NPY) mRNA levels in goldfish. *Comp Biochem Physiol B Biochem Mol Biol* (2001) 129:633–7. doi:10.1016/S1096-4959(01)00359-1
- Silverstein JT, Breininger J, Baskin DG, Plisetskaya EM. Neuropeptide Y-like gene expression in the salmon brain increases with fasting. *Gen Comp Endocrinol* (1998) 110:157–65. doi:10.1006/gcen.1998.7058
- Tian J, He G, Mai KS, Liu CD. Effects of postprandial starvation on mRNA expression of endocrine-, amino acid and peptide transporter-, and metabolic enzyme-related genes in zebrafish (*Danio rerio*). *Fish Physiol Biochem* (2015) 41:773–87. doi:10.1007/s10695-015-0045-x
- 22. MacDonald E, Volkoff H. Neuropeptide Y (NPY), cocaine- and amphetamine-regulated transcript (CART) and cholecystokinin (CCK) in winter skate (*Raja ocellata*): cDNA cloning, tissue distribution and mRNA expression responses to fasting. *Gen Comp Endocrinol* (2009) 161:252–61. doi:10.1016/j. ygcen.2009.01.021

- Kamijo M, Kojima K, Maruyama K, Konno N, Motohashi E, Ikegami T, et al. Neuropeptide Y in tiger puffer (*Takifugu rubripes*): distribution, cloning, characterization, and mRNA expression responses to prandial condition. *Zoolog Sci* (2011) 28:882–90. doi:10.2108/zsj.28.882
- 24. MacDonald E, Volkoff H. Cloning, distribution and effects of season and nutritional status on the expression of neuropeptide Y (NPY), cocaine and amphetamine regulated transcript (CART) and cholecystokinin (CCK) in winter flounder (*Pseudopleuronectes americanus*). *Horm Behav* (2009) 56:58–65. doi:10.1016/j.yhbeh.2009.03.002
- Campos VF, Robaldo RB, Deschamps JC, Seixas FK, McBride AJA, Marins LF, et al. Neuropeptide Y gene expression around meal time in the Brazilian flounder *Paralichthys orbignyanus*. J Biosci (2012) 37:227–32. doi:10.1007/ s12038-012-9205-7
- Kehoe AS, Volkoff H. Cloning and characterization of neuropeptide Y (NPY) and cocaine and amphetamine regulated transcript (CART) in Atlantic cod (*Gadus morhua*). Comp Biochem Physiol A Mol Integr Physiol (2007) 146:451–61. doi:10.1016/j.cbpa.2006.12.026
- Boonanuntanasarn S, Jangprai A, Yoshizaki G. Characterization of neuropeptide Y in snakeskin gourami and the change in its expression due to feeding status and melanocortin 4 receptor expression. *Gen Comp Endocrinol* (2012) 179:184–95. doi:10.1016/j.ygcen.2012.07.024
- Peterson BC, Waldbieser GC, Riley LG, Upton KR, Kobayashi Y, Small BC. Pre- and postprandial changes in orexigenic and anorexigenic factors in channel catfish (*Ictalurus punctatus*). *Gen Comp Endocrinol* (2012) 176:231–9. doi:10.1016/j.ygcen.2012.01.022
- Nguyen MV, Jordal AE, Espe M, Buttle L, Lai HV, Rønnestad I. Feed intake and brain neuropeptide Y (NPY) and cholecystokinin (CCK) gene expression in juvenile cobia fed plant-based protein diets with different lysine to arginine ratios. *Comp Biochem Physiol A Mol Integr Physiol* (2013) 165:328–37. doi:10.1016/j.cbpa.2013.04.004
- 30. Peng C, Peter RE. Neuroendocrine regulation of growth hormone secretion and growth in fish. *Zool Stud* (1997) 36:79–89.
- Carpio Y, Leon K, Acosta J, Morales R, Estrada MP. Recombinant tilapia neuropeptide Y promotes growth and antioxidant defenses in African catfish (*Clarias gariepinus*) fry. *Aquaculture* (2007) 272:649–55. doi:10.1016/j. aquaculture.2007.08.024
- Wu SG, Li B, Lin HR, Li WS. Stimulatory effects of neuropeptide Y on the growth of orange-spotted grouper (*Epinephelus coioides*). Gen Comp Endocrinol (2012) 179:159–66. doi:10.1016/j.ygcen.2012.08.010
- Babichuk NA, Volkoff H. Changes in expression of appetite-regulating hormones in the cunner (*Tautogolabrus adspersus*) during short-term fasting and winter torpor. *Physiol Behav* (2013) 120:54–63. doi:10.1016/j. physbeh.2013.06.022
- Valen R, Jordal AE, Murashita K, Rønnestad I. Postprandial effects on appetite-related neuropeptide expression in the brain of Atlantic salmon, *Salmo salar. Gen Comp Endocrinol* (2011) 171:359–66. doi:10.1016/j. ygcen.2011.02.027
- Gomes AS, Jordal AE, Olsen K, Harboe T, Power DM, Rønnestad I. Neuroendocrine control of appetite in Atlantic halibut (*Hippoglossus hippoglossus*): changes during metamorphosis and effects of feeding. *Comp Biochem Physiol A Mol Integr Physiol* (2015) 183:116–25. doi:10.1016/j.cbpa.2015.01.009
- Raven PA, Uh M, Sakhrani D, Beckman BR, Cooper K, Pinter J, et al. Endocrine effects of growth hormone overexpression in transgenic Coho salmon. *Gen Comp Endocrinol* (2008) 159:26–37. doi:10.1016/j.ygcen.2008.07.011
- Zhong CR, Song YL, Wang YP, Zhang TL, Duan M, Li YM, et al. Increased food intake in growth hormone-transgenic common carp (*Cyprinus carpio* L.) may be mediated by upregulating Agouti-related protein (AgRP). *Gen Comp Endocrinol* (2013) 192:81–8. doi:10.1016/j.ygcen.2013.03.024
- Dalmolin C, Almeida DV, Figueiredo MA, Marins LF. Food intake and appetite control in a GH-transgenic zebrafish. *Fish Physiol Biochem* (2015) 41:1131–41. doi:10.1007/s10695-015-0074-5
- Narnaware YK, Peter RE. Influence of diet composition on food intake and neuropeptide Y (NPY) gene expression in goldfish brain. *Regul Pept* (2002) 103:75–83. doi:10.1016/S0167-0115(01)00342-1
- Bonacic K, Campoverde C, Gómez-Arbonés J, Gisbert E, Estevez A, Morais S. Dietary fatty acid composition affects food intake and gut-brain satiety signaling in Senegalese sole (*Solea senegalensis*, Kaup 1858) larvae and post-larvae. *Gen Comp Endocrinol* (2016) 228:79–94. doi:10.1016/j. ygcen.2016.02.002

- Conde-Sieira M, Agulleiro MJ, Aguilar AJ, Miguez JM, Cerda-Reverter JM, Soengas JL. Effect of different glycaemic conditions on gene expression of neuropeptides involved in control of food intake in rainbow trout; interaction with stress. *J Exp Biol* (2010) 213:3858–65. doi:10.1242/jeb.048439
- 42. Kortner TM, Overrein I, Øie G, Kjørsvik E, Arukwe A. The influence of dietary constituents on the molecular ontogeny of digestive capability and effects on growth and appetite in Atlantic cod larvae (*Gadus morhua*). *Aquaculture* (2011) 315:114–20. doi:10.1016/j.aquaculture.2010.04.008
- Tuziak SM, Rise ML, Volkoff H. An investigation of appetite-related peptide transcript expression in Atlantic cod (*Gadus morhua*) brain following a *Camelina sativa* meal-supplemented feeding trial. *Gene* (2014) 550:253–63. doi:10.1016/j.gene.2014.08.039
- Riley LG, Walker AP, Dorough CP, Schwandt SE, Grau EG. Glucose regulates ghrelin, neuropeptide Y, and the GH/IGF-I axis in the tilapia, *Oreochromis* mossambicus. Comp Biochem Physiol A Mol Integr Physiol (2009) 154:541–6. doi:10.1016/j.cbpa.2009.08.018
- Rogge G, Jones D, Hubert GW, Lin Y, Kuhar MJ. CART peptides: regulators of body weight, reward and other functions. *Nat Rev Neurosci* (2008) 9:747–58. doi:10.1038/nrn2493
- Zhang M, Han L, Xu Y. Roles of cocaine- and amphetamine-regulated transcript in the central nervous system. *Clin Exp Pharmacol Physiol* (2012) 39:586–92. doi:10.1111/j.1440-1681.2011.05642.x
- Volkoff H. The effects of amphetamine injections on feeding behavior and the brain expression of orexin, CART, tyrosine hydroxylase (TH) and thyrotropin releasing hormone (TRH) in goldfish (*Carassius auratus*). *Fish Physiol Biochem* (2013) 39:979–91. doi:10.1007/s10695-012-9756-4
- Kristensen P, Judge ME, Thim L, Ribel U, Christjansen KN, Wulff BS, et al. Hypothalamic CART is a new anorectic peptide regulated by leptin. *Nature* (1998) 393:72–6. doi:10.1038/29993
- Vrang N, Larsen PJ, Kristensen P, Tang-Christensen M. Central administration of cocaine-amphetamine-regulated transcript activates hypothalamic neuroendocrine neurons in the rat. *Endocrinology* (2000) 141:794–801. doi:10.1210/endo.141.2.7295
- Kuhar MJ, Adams S, Dominguez G, Jaworski J, Balkan B. CART peptides. Neuropeptides (2002) 36:1–8. doi:10.1054/npep.2002.0887
- Tachibana T, Takagi T, Tomonaga S, Ohgushi A, Ando R, Denbow DM, et al. Central administration of cocaine- and amphetamine-regulated transcript inhibits food intake in chicks. *Neurosci Lett* (2003) 337:131–4. doi:10.1016/ S0304-3940(02)01321-6
- Volkoff H, Peter RE. Effects of CART peptides on food consumption, feeding and associated behaviors in the goldfish, *Carassius auratus*: actions on neuropeptide Y- and orexin A-induced feeding. *Brain Res* (2000) 887:125–33. doi:10.1016/S0006-8993(00)03001-8
- 53. Volkoff H, Peter RE. Characterization of two forms of cocaine- and amphetamine-regulated transcript (CART) peptide precursors in goldfish: molecular cloning and distribution, modulation of expression by nutritional status, and interactions with leptin. *Endocrinology* (2001) 142:5076–88. doi:10.1210/ endo.142.12.8519
- Akash G, Kaniganti T, Tiwari NK, Subhedar NK, Ghose A. Differential distribution and energy status-dependent regulation of the four CART neuropeptide genes in the zebrafish brain. *J Comp Neurol* (2014) 522:2266–85. doi:10.1002/cne.23532
- Murashita K, Kurokawa T. Multiple cocaine- and amphetamine-regulated transcript (CART) genes in medaka, *Oryzias latipes*: cloning, tissue distribution and effect of starvation. *Gen Comp Endocrinol* (2011) 170:494–500. doi:10.1016/j.ygcen.2010.11.005
- Bonacic K, Martinez A, Martin-Robles AJ, Munoz-Cueto JA, Morais S. Characterization of seven cocaine- and amphetamine-regulated transcripts (CARTs) differentially expressed in the brain and peripheral tissues of *Solea senegalensis* (Kaup). *Gen Comp Endocrinol* (2015) 224:260–72. doi:10.1016/j. ygcen.2015.08.017
- 57. Murashita K, Kurokawa T, Ebbesson LOE, Stefansson SO, Rønnestad I. Characterization, tissue distribution, and regulation of agouti-related protein (AgRP), cocaine- and amphetamine-regulated transcript (CART) and neuropeptide Y (NPY) in Atlantic salmon (*Salmo salar*). *Gen Comp Endocrinol* (2009) 162:160–71. doi:10.1016/j.ygcen.2009.03.015
- 58. Nishio S, Gibert Y, Berekelya L, Bernard L, Brunet F, Guillot E, et al. Fasting induces CART down-regulation in the zebrafish nervous system

in a cannabinoid receptor 1-dependent manner. *Mol Endocrinol* (2012) 26:1316–26. doi:10.1210/me.2011-1180

- Libran-Perez M, Velasco C, Lopez-Patino MA, Miguez JM, Soengas JL. Counter-regulatory response to a fall in circulating fatty acid levels in rainbow trout. Possible involvement of the hypothalamus-pituitary-interrenal axis. *PLoS One* (2014) 9:e113291. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0113291
- 60. Conde-Sieira M, Bonacic K, Velasco C, Valente LMP, Morais S, Soengas JL. Hypothalamic fatty acid sensing in Senegalese sole (*Solea senegalensis*): response to long-chain saturated, monounsaturated, and polyunsaturated (n-3) fatty acids. *Am J Physiol Regul Integr Comp Physiol* (2015) 309:R1521–31. doi:10.1152/ajpregu.00386.2015
- Matsuki T, Sakurai T. Orexins and orexin receptors: from molecules to integrative physiology. In: Civelli O, Zhou Q-Y, editors. Orphan G Protein-Coupled Receptors and Novel Neuropeptides. Berlin, Heidelberg: Springer (2008). p. 27–55.
- Nunez A, Rodrigo-Angulo ML, Andres ID, Garzon M. Hypocretin/ orexin neuropeptides: participation in the control of sleep-wakefulness cycle and energy homeostasis. *Curr Neuropharmacol* (2009) 7:50–9. doi:10.2174/157015909787602797
- Li S-B, Jones JR, de Lecea L. Hypocretins, neural systems, physiology, and psychiatric disorders. *Curr Psychiatry Rep* (2016) 18:1–12. doi:10.1007/ s11920-015-0639-0
- 64. Teske JA, Mavanji V. Energy expenditure: role of orexin. *Vitam Horm* (2012) 89:91–109. doi:10.1016/B978-0-12-394623-2.00006-8
- Nixon JP, Kotz CM, Novak CM, Billington CJ, Teske JA. Neuropeptides controlling energy balance: orexins and neuromedins. *Handb Exp Pharmacol* (2012) 209:77–109. doi:10.1007/978-3-642-24716-3_4
- Hoskins LJ, Xu M, Volkoff H. Interactions between gonadotropin-releasing hormone (GnRH) and orexin in the regulation of feeding and reproduction in goldfish (*Carassius auratus*). *Horm Behav* (2008) 54:379–85. doi:10.1016/j. yhbeh.2008.04.011
- Wall A, Volkoff H. Effects of fasting and feeding on the brain mRNA expressions of orexin, tyrosine hydroxylase (TH), PYY and CCK in the Mexican blind cavefish (*Astyanax fasciatus mexicanus*). *Gen Comp Endocrinol* (2013) 183:44–52. doi:10.1016/j.ygcen.2012.12.011
- Novak CM, Jiang XL, Wang CF, Teske JA, Kotz CM, Levine JA. Caloric restriction and physical activity in zebrafish (*Danio rerio*). *Neurosci Lett* (2005) 383:99–104. doi:10.1016/j.neulet.2005.03.048
- Amiya N, Mizusawa K, Kobayashi Y, Yamanome T, Amano M, Takahashi A. Food deprivation increases the expression of the prepro-orexin gene in the hypothalamus of the barfin flounder, *Verasper moseri. Zoolog Sci* (2012) 29:43–8. doi:10.2108/zsj.29.43
- Yan A, Zhang L, Tang Z, Zhang Y, Qin C, Li B, et al. Orange-spotted grouper (*Epinephelus coioides*) orexin: molecular cloning, tissue expression, ontogeny, daily rhythm and regulation of NPY gene expression. *Peptides* (2011) 32:1363–70. doi:10.1016/j.peptides.2011.05.004
- Xu MY, Volkoff H. Molecular characterization of prepro-orexin in Atlantic cod (*Gadus morhua*): cloning, localization, developmental profile and role in food intake regulation. *Mol Cell Endocrinol* (2007) 271:28–37. doi:10.1016/j. mce.2007.03.003
- Buckley C, MacDonald EE, Tuziak SM, Volkoff H. Molecular cloning and characterization of two putative appetite regulators in winter flounder (*Pleuronectes americanus*): preprothyrotropin-releasing hormone (TRH) and preproorexin (OX). *Peptides* (2010) 31:1737–47. doi:10.1016/j. peptides.2010.05.017
- Volkoff H, Sabioni RE, Cyrino JEP. Appetite regulating factors in dourado, Salminus brasiliensis: cDNA cloning and effects of fasting and feeding on gene expression. Gen Comp Endocrinol (2016) 237:34–42. doi:10.1016/j. ygcen.2016.07.022
- Tsujino N, Sakurai T. Orexin/hypocretin: a neuropeptide at the interface of sleep, energy homeostasis, and reward system. *Pharmacol Rev* (2009) 61:162–76. doi:10.1124/pr.109.001321
- Volkoff H, Bjorklund JM, Peter RE. Stimulation of feeding behavior and food consumption in the goldfish, *Carassius auratus*, by orexin-A and orexin-B. *Brain Res* (1999) 846:204–9. doi:10.1016/S0006-8993(99)02052-1
- Facciolo RM, Crudo M, Zizza M, Giusi G, Canonaco M. Feeding behaviors and ORXR-beta-GABA A R subunit interactions in *Carassius auratus*. *Neurotoxicol Teratol* (2011) 33:641–50. doi:10.1016/j.ntt.2011.09.008

- Nakamachi T, Matsuda K, Maruyama K, Miura T, Uchiyama M, Funahashi H, et al. Regulation by orexin of feeding behaviour and locomotor activity in the goldfish. *J Neuroendocrinol* (2006) 18:290–7. doi:10.1111/j.1365-2826.2006.01415.x
- Matsuda K, Kang KS, Sakashita A, Yahashi S, Vaudry H. Behavioral effect of neuropeptides related to feeding regulation in fish. *Ann N Y Acad Sci* (2011) 1220:117–26. doi:10.1111/j.1749-6632.2010.05884.x
- Penney CC, Volkoff H. Peripheral injections of cholecystokinin, apelin, ghrelin and orexin in cavefish (*Astyanax fasciatus mexicanus*): effects on feeding and on the brain expression levels of tyrosine hydroxylase, mechanistic target of rapamycin and appetite-related hormones. *Gen Comp Endocrinol* (2014) 196:34–40. doi:10.1016/j.ygcen.2013.11.015
- Yokobori E, Kojima K, Azuma M, Kang KS, Maejima S, Uchiyama M, et al. Stimulatory effect of intracerebroventricular administration of orexin A on food intake in the zebrafish, *Danio rerio. Peptides* (2011) 32:1357–62. doi:10.1016/j.peptides.2011.05.010
- Panula P. Hypocretin/orexin in fish physiology with emphasis on zebrafish. *Acta Physiol (Oxf)* (2010) 198:381–6. doi:10.1111/j.1748-1716.2009.02038.x
- Abbott M, Volkoff H. Thyrotropin releasing hormone (TRH) in goldfish (*Carassius auratus*): role in the regulation of feeding and locomotor behaviors and interactions with the orexin system and cocaine- and amphetamine-regulated transcript (CART). *Horm Behav* (2011) 59:236–45. doi:10.1016/j. yhbeh.2010.12.008
- Hoskins LJ, Volkoff H. Daily patterns of mRNA expression of two core circadian regulatory proteins, Clock2 and Per1, and two appetite-regulating peptides, OX and NPY, in goldfish (*Carassius auratus*, Linnaeus). *Comp Biochem Physiol A Physiol* (2012) 163:127–36. doi:10.1016/j.cbpa.2012.05.197
- Tatemoto K, Hosoya M, Habata Y, Fujii R, Kakegawa T, Zou M-X, et al. Isolation and characterization of a novel endogenous peptide ligand for the human APJ receptor. *Biochem Biophys Res Commun* (1998) 251:471–6. doi:10.1006/bbrc.1998.9489
- Fang P, Yu M, Guo L, Bo P, Zhang Z, Shi M. Galanin and its receptors: a novel strategy for appetite control and obesity therapy. *Peptides* (2012) 36:331–9. doi:10.1016/j.peptides.2012.05.016
- Lang R, Gundlach AL, Holmes FE, Hobson SA, Wynick D, Hökfelt T, et al. Physiology, signaling, and pharmacology of galanin peptides and receptors: three decades of emerging diversity. *Pharmacol Rev* (2014) 67:118. doi:10.1124/pr.112.006536
- Mensah ET, Volkoff H, Unniappan S. Galanin systems in non-mammalian vertebrates with special focus on fishes. *EXS* (2010) 102:243–62. doi:10.1007/978-3-0346-0228-0_17
- de Pedro N, Cespedes MV, Delgado MJ, Alonso-Bedate M. The galanininduced feeding stimulation is mediated via alpha-adrenergic receptors in goldfish. *Regul Pept* (1995) 57:77–84. doi:10.1016/0167-0115(95)91255-4
- Guijarro AI, Delgado MJ, Pinillos ML, López-Patiño MA, Alonso-Bedate M, De Pedro N. Galanin and β-endorphin as feeding regulators in cyprinids: effect of temperature. *Aquac Res* (1999) 30:483–9. doi:10.1046/j.1365-2109.1999.00360.x
- Unniappan S, Cerda-Reverter JM, Peter RE. In situ localization of preprogalanin mRNA in the goldfish brain and changes in its expression during feeding and starvation. *Gen Comp Endocrinol* (2004) 136:200–7. doi:10.1016/j. ygcen.2003.12.010
- Sterling ME, Karatayev O, Chang GQ, Algava DB, Leibowitz SF. Model of voluntary ethanol intake in zebrafish: effect on behavior and hypothalamic orexigenic peptides. *Behav Brain Res* (2015) 278:29–39. doi:10.1016/j. bbr.2014.09.024
- Oshima N, Kasukawa H, Fujii R, Wilkes BC, Hruby VJ, Hadley ME. Action of melanin-concentrating hormone (MCH) on teleost chromatophores. *Gen Comp Endocrinol* (1986) 64:381–8. doi:10.1016/0016-6480(86)90072-9
- Kawauchi H, Kawazoe I, Tsubokawa M, Kishida M, Baker BI. Characterization of melanin-concentrating hormone in chum salmon pituitaries. *Nature* (1983) 305:321–3. doi:10.1038/305321a0
- 94. Joost HG. Appetite Control. Heidelberg: Springer (2012).
- 95. Matsuda K, Shimakura S, Maruyama K, Miura T, Uchiyama M, Kawauchi H, et al. Central administration of melanin-concentrating hormone (MCH) suppresses food intake, but not locomotor activity, in the goldfish, *Carassius auratus*. Neurosci Lett (2006) 399:259–63. doi:10.1016/j.neulet.2006.02.005
- 96. Matsuda K, Shimakura S, Miura T, Maruyama K, Uchiyama M, Kawauchi H, et al. Feeding-induced changes of melanin-concentrating hormone

(MCH)-like immunoreactivity in goldfish brain. Cell Tissue Res (2007) 328:375-82. doi:10.1007/s00441-006-0347-5

- 97. Shimakura S, Miura T, Maruyama K, Nakamachi T, Uchiyama M, Kageyama H, et al. Alpha-melanocyte-stimulating hormone mediates melanin-concentrating hormone-induced anorexigenic action in goldfish. *Horm Behav* (2008) 53:323–8. doi:10.1016/j.yhbeh.2007.10.009
- Tuziak SM, Volkoff H. A preliminary investigation of the role of melanin-concentrating hormone (MCH) and its receptors in appetite regulation of winter flounder (*Pseudopleuronectes americanus*). Mol Cell Endocrinol (2012) 348:281–96. doi:10.1016/j.mce.2011.09.015
- Takahashi A, Tsuchiya K, Yamanome T, Amano M, Yasuda A, Yamamori K, et al. Possible involvement of melanin-concentrating hormone in food intake in a teleost fish, barfin flounder. *Peptides* (2004) 25:1613–22. doi:10.1016/j. peptides.2004.02.022
- 100. Berman JR, Skariah G, Maro GÂS, Mignot E, Mourrain P. Characterization of two melanin-concentrating hormone genes in zebrafish reveals evolutionary and physiological links with the mammalian MCH system. *J Comp Neurol* (2009) 517:695–710. doi:10.1002/cne.22171
- 101. Tuziak SM, Volkoff H. Melanin-concentrating hormone (MCH) and gonadotropin-releasing hormones (GnRH) in Atlantic cod, *Gadus morhua*: tissue distributions, early ontogeny and effects of fasting. *Peptides* (2013) 50:109–18. doi:10.1016/j.peptides.2013.10.005
- Lovejoy DA. Chapter 101 CRH family A2 kastin. Second ed. In: Abba J, editor. *Handbook of Biologically Active Peptides*. Boston, MA: Academic Press (2013). p. 752–9.
- 103. Bernier NJ, Peter RE. The hypothalamic-pituitary-interrenal axis and the control of food intake in teleost fish. Comp Biochem Physiol B Biochem Mol Biol (2001) 129:639–44. doi:10.1016/S1096-4959(01)00360-8
- De Pedro N, Alonso-Gomez AL, Gancedo B, Delgado MJ, Alonso-Bedate M. Role of corticotropin-releasing factor (CRF) as a food intake regulator in goldfish. *Physiol Behav* (1993) 53:517–20. doi:10.1016/0031-9384(93)90146-7
- Matsuda K. Regulation of feeding behavior and psychomotor activity by corticotropin-releasing hormone (CRH) in fish. *Front Neurosci* (2013) 7:91. doi:10.3389/fnins.2013.00091
- 106. Ortega VA, Lovejoy DA, Bernier NJ. Appetite-suppressing effects and interactions of centrally administered corticotropin-releasing factor, urotensin I and serotonin in rainbow trout (*Oncorhynchus mykiss*). *Front Neurosci* (2013) 7:196. doi:10.3389/fnins.2013.00196
- 107. Wang T, Zhou C, Yuan D, Lin F, Chen H, Wu H, et al. Schizothorax prenanti corticotropin-releasing hormone (CRH): molecular cloning, tissue expression, and the function of feeding regulation. Fish Physiol Biochem (2014) 40:1407–15. doi:10.1007/s10695-014-9935-6
- Metz JR, Peters JJM, Flik G. Molecular biology and physiology of the melanocortin system in fish: a review. *Gen Comp Endocrinol* (2006) 148:150–62. doi:10.1016/j.ygcen.2006.03.001
- 109. Klovins J, Haitina T, Fridmanis D, Kilianova Z, Kapa I, Fredriksson R, et al. The melanocortin system in Fugu: determination of POMC/AGRP/MCR gene repertoire and synteny, as well as pharmacology and anatomical distribution of the MCRs. *Mol Biol Evol* (2004) 21:563–79. doi:10.1093/molbev/ msh050
- Boswell T, Takeuchi S. Recent developments in our understanding of the avian melanocortin system: its involvement in the regulation of pigmentation and energy homeostasis. *Peptides* (2005) 26:1733–43. doi:10.1016/j. peptides.2004.11.039
- Gantz I, Fong TM. The melanocortin system. Am J Physiol Endocrinol Metab (2003) 284:E468–74. doi:10.1152/ajpendo.00434.2002
- 112. Cone RD. Studies on the physiological functions of the melanocortin system. *Endocr Rev* (2006) 27:736–49. doi:10.1210/er.2006-0034
- Gonzalez-Nunez V, Gonzalez-Sarmiento R, Rodriguez RE. Identification of two proopiomelanocortin genes in zebrafish (*Danio rerio*). Brain Res Mol Brain Res (2003) 120:1–8. doi:10.1016/j.molbrainres.2003.09.012
- 114. Arends RJ, Vermeer H, Martens GJ, Leunissen JA, Wendelaar Bonga SE, Flik G. Cloning and expression of two proopiomelanocortin mRNAs in the common carp (*Cyprinus carpio* L.). *Mol Cell Endocrinol* (1998) 143:23–31. doi:10.1016/S0303-7207(98)00139-7
- 115. Takahashi A, Amano M, Itoh T, Yasuda A, Yamanome T, Amemiya Y, et al. Nucleotide sequence and expression of three subtypes of proopiomelanocortin mRNA in barfin flounder. *Gen Comp Endocrinol* (2005) 141:291–303. doi:10.1016/j.ygcen.2005.01.010

- 116. Cardoso JC, Laiz-Carrion R, Louro B, Silva N, Canario AV, Mancera JM, et al. Divergence of duplicate POMC genes in gilthead sea bream *Sparus auratus*. *Gen Comp Endocrinol* (2011) 173:396–404. doi:10.1016/j.ygcen.2010.12.001
- 117. Okuta A, Ando H, Ueda H, Urano A. Two types of cDNAs encoding proopiomelanocortin of sockeye salmon, *Oncorhynchus nerka. Zoolog Sci* (1996) 13:421–7. doi:10.2108/zsj.13.421
- 118. Takahashi A, Kobayashi Y, Amano M, Yamanome T. Structural and functional diversity of proopiomelanocortin in fish with special reference to barfin flounder. *Peptides* (2009) 30:1374–82. doi:10.1016/j.peptides.2009.04.014
- Leder EH, Silverstein JT. The pro-opiomelanocortin genes in rainbow trout (Oncorhynchus mykiss): duplications, splice variants, and differential expression. J Endocrinol (2006) 188:355–63. doi:10.1677/joe.1.06283
- 120. Murashita K, Jordal A-EO, Nilsen TO, Stefansson SO, Kurokawa T, Björnsson BT, et al. Leptin reduces Atlantic salmon growth through the central pro-opiomelanocortin pathway. *Comp Biochem Physiol Part A Mol Integr Physiol* (2011) 158:79–86. doi:10.1016/j.cbpa.2010.09.001
- 121. Jørgensen EH, Bernier NJ, Maule AG, Vijayan MM. Effect of long-term fasting and a subsequent meal on mRNA abundances of hypothalamic appetite regulators, central and peripheral leptin expression and plasma leptin levels in rainbow trout. *Peptides* (2016) 86:162–70. doi:10.1016/j. peptides.2015.08.010
- 122. Kang DY, Kim HC. Functional relevance of three proopiomelanocortin (POMC) genes in darkening camouflage, blind-side hypermelanosis, and appetite of *Paralichthys olivaceus*. *Comp Biochem Physiol B Biochem Mol Biol* (2015) 179:44–56. doi:10.1016/j.cbpb.2014.09.002
- 123. Cerdá-Reverter JM, Ringholm A, Schiöth HB, Peter RE. Molecular cloning, pharmacological characterization, and brain mapping of the melanocortin 4 receptor in the goldfish: involvement in the control of food intake. *Endocrinology* (2003) 144:2336–49. doi:10.1210/en.2002-0213
- 124. Song Y, Golling G, Thacker T, Cone R. Agouti-related protein (AGRP) is conserved and regulated by metabolic state in the zebrafish, *Danio rerio*. *Endocrine* (2003) 22:257–65. doi:10.1385/ENDO:22:3:257
- 125. Forlano PM, Cone RD. Conserved neurochemical pathways involved in hypothalamic control of energy homeostasis. J Comp Neurol (2007) 505:235–48. doi:10.1002/cne.21447
- Cerda-Reverter JM, Schioth HB, Peter RE. The central melanocortin system regulates food intake in goldfish. *Regul Pept* (2003) 115:101–13. doi:10.1016/ S0167-0115(03)00144-7
- 127. Ringholm A, Fredriksson R, Poliakova N, Yan YL, Postlethwait JH, Larhammar D, et al. One melanocortin 4 and two melanocortin 5 receptors from zebrafish show remarkable conservation in structure and pharmacology. *J Neurochem* (2002) 82:6–18. doi:10.1046/j.1471-4159.2002.00934.x
- 128. Li J-T, Yang Z, Chen H-P, Zhu C-H, Deng S-P, Li G-L, et al. Molecular cloning, tissue distribution, and pharmacological characterization of melanocortin-4 receptor in spotted scat, *Scatophagus argus. Gen Comp Endocrinol* (2016) 230–231:143–52. doi:10.1016/j.ygcen.2016.04.010
- 129. Jangprai A, Boonanuntanasarn S, Yoshizaki G. Characterization of melanocortin 4 receptor in snakeskin gourami and its expression in relation to daily feed intake and short-term fasting. *Gen Comp Endocrinol* (2011) 173:27–37. doi:10.1016/j.ygcen.2011.04.021
- 130. Wan Y, Zhang Y, Ji P, Li Y, Xu P, Sun X. Molecular characterization of CART, AgRP, and MC4R genes and their expression with fasting and re-feeding in common carp (*Cyprinus carpio*). Mol Biol Rep (2012) 39:2215–23. doi:10.1007/s11033-011-0970-4
- 131. Wei R, Yuan D, Wang T, Zhou C, Lin F, Chen H, et al. Characterization, tissue distribution and regulation of agouti-related protein (AgRP) in a cyprinid fish (*Schizothorax prenanti*). *Gene* (2013) 527:193–200. doi:10.1016/j. gene.2013.06.003
- 132. Schiöth HB, Haitina T, Ling MK, Ringholm A, Fredriksson R, Cerdá-Reverter JM, et al. Evolutionary conservation of the structural, pharmacological, and genomic characteristics of the melanocortin receptor subtypes. *Peptides* (2005) 26:1886–900. doi:10.1016/j.peptides.2004.11.034
- 133. Klovins J, Haitina T, Ringholm A, Löwgren M, Fridmanis D, Slaidina M, et al. Cloning of two melanocortin (MC) receptors in spiny dogfish. *Eur J Biochem* (2004) 271:4320–31. doi:10.1111/j.1432-1033.2004.04374.x
- 134. Kobayashi Y, Tsuchiya K, Yamanome T, Schioth HB, Kawauchi H, Takahashi A. Food deprivation increases the expression of melanocortin-4 receptor in the liver of barfin flounder, *Verasper moseri. Gen Comp Endocrinol* (2008) 155:280–7. doi:10.1016/j.ygcen.2007.05.010

- 135. Sanchez E, Rubio VC, Thompson D, Metz J, Flik G, Millhauser GL, et al. Phosphodiesterase inhibitor-dependent inverse agonism of agouti-related protein on melanocortin 4 receptor in sea bass (*Dicentrarchus labrax*). Am J Physiol Regul Integr Comp Physiol (2009) 296:R1293–306. doi:10.1152/ ajpregu.90948.2008
- Schjolden J, Schioth HB, Larhammar D, Winberg S, Larson ET. Melanocortin peptides affect the motivation to feed in rainbow trout (*Oncorhynchus mykiss*). *Gen Comp Endocrinol* (2009) 160:134–8. doi:10.1016/j.ygcen.2008.11.003
- Cerdá-Reverter JM, Peter RE. Endogenous melanocortin antagonist in fish: structure, brain mapping, and regulation by fasting of the goldfish agouti-related protein gene. *Endocrinology* (2003) 144:4552–61. doi:10.1210/ en.2003-0453
- 138. Kallman KD, Borkoski V. Sex-linked gene controlling onset of sexual maturity in female and male platyfish (*Xiphophorus maculatus*), fecundity in females and adult size in males. *Genetics* (1978) 89:79–119.
- 139. Lampert KP, Schmidt C, Fischer P, Volff JN, Hoffmann C, Muck J, et al. Determination of onset of sexual maturation and mating behavior by melanocortin receptor 4 polymorphisms. *Curr Biol* (2010) 20:1729–34. doi:10.1016/j.cub.2010.08.029
- 140. Valassi E, Scacchi M, Cavagnini F. Neuroendocrine control of food intake. *Nutr Metab Cardiovasc Dis* (2008) 18:158–68. doi:10.1016/j.numecd.2007.06.004
- 141. Ollmann MM, Wilson BD, Yang YK, Kerns JA, Chen YR, Gantz I, et al. Antagonism of central melanocortin receptors in vitro and in vivo by agoutirelated protein. *Science* (1997) 278:135–8. doi:10.1126/science.278.5335.135
- 142. Klovins J, Schioth HB. Agouti-related proteins (AGRPs) and agouti-signaling peptide (ASIP) in fish and chicken. Ann N Y Acad Sci (2005) 1040:363–7. doi:10.1196/annals.1327.063
- Kurokawa T, Murashita K, Uji S. Characterization and tissue distribution of multiple agouti-family genes in pufferfish, *Takifugu rubripes. Peptides* (2006) 27:3165–75. doi:10.1016/j.peptides.2006.09.013
- 144. Agulleiro MJ, Cortés R, Leal E, Ríos D, Sánchez E, Cerdá-Reverter JM. Characterization, tissue distribution and regulation by fasting of the agouti family of peptides in the sea bass (*Dicentrarchus labrax*). Gen Comp Endocrinol (2014) 205:251–9. doi:10.1016/j.ygcen.2014.02.009
- 145. Song Y, Cone RD. Creation of a genetic model of obesity in a teleost. *FASEB J* (2007) 21:2042–9. doi:10.1096/fj.06-7503com
- 146. Kalra SP, Dube MG, Pu SY, Xu B, Horvath TL, Kalra PS. Interacting appetite-regulating pathways in the hypothalamic regulation of body weight. *Endocr Rev* (1999) 20:68–100. doi:10.1210/er.20.1.68
- Wynne K, Stanley S, McGowan B, Bloom S. Appetite control. J Endocrinol (2005) 184:291–318. doi:10.1677/joe.1.05866
- 148. Bouret SG, Draper SJ, Simerly RB. Formation of projection pathways from the arcuate nucleus of the hypothalamus to hypothalamic regions implicated in the neural control of feeding behavior in mice. *J Neurosci* (2004) 24:2797–805. doi:10.1523/JNEUROSCI.5369-03.2004
- 149. King BA. The rise, fall, and resurrection of the ventromedial hypothalamus in the regulation of feeding behavior and body weight. *Physiol Behav* (2006) 87:221–44. doi:10.1016/j.physbeh.2005.10.007
- Cerdá-Reverter JM, Canosa LF. Chapter 1 Neuroendocrine systems of the fish brain. In: Bernier N, Kraak GVD, Farrell A, Brauner C, editors. *Fish Physiology*. Amsterdam: Academic Press (2009). p. 3–74.
- 151. MachlufY, Gutnick A, Levkowitz G. Development of the zebrafish hypothalamus. Ann NY Acad Sci (2011) 1220:93–105. doi:10.1111/j.1749-6632.2010.05945.x
- Suarez MD, Martinez TF, Saez MI, Morales AE, Garcia-Gallego M. Effects of dietary restriction on post-mortem changes in white muscle of sea bream (*Sparus aurata*). Aquaculture (2010) 307:49–55. doi:10.1016/j. aquaculture.2010.07.006
- Biran J, Tahor M, Wircer E, Levkowitz G. Role of developmental factors in hypothalamic function. *Front Neuroanat* (2015) 9:47. doi:10.3389/ fnana.2015.00047
- Liu Q, Chen Y, Copeland D, Ball H, Duff RJ, Rockich B, et al. Expression of leptin receptor gene in developing and adult zebrafish. *Gen Comp Endocrinol* (2010) 166:346–55. doi:10.1016/j.ygcen.2009.11.015
- 155. Cerdá-Reverter JM, Anglade I, Martínez-Rodríguez G, Mazurais D, Muñoz-Cueto JA, Carrillo M, et al. Characterization of neuropeptide Y expression in the brain of a perciform fish, the sea bass (*Dicentrarchus labrax*). J Chem Neuroanat (2000) 19:197–210. doi:10.1016/S0891-0618(00)00063-6
- 156. Traverso JM, Ravaglia MA, Vissio PG, Maggese MC, Paz DA. Localization of neuropeptide Y-like immunoreactive structures in the brain of the pejerrey,

Odontesthes bonariensis (Teleostei, Atheriniformes). Anat Histol Embryol (2003) 32:29-35. doi:10.1046/j.1439-0264.2003.00434.x

- 157. Chiba A, Honma Y. Neuropeptide Y-immunoreactive structures in the telencephalon and diencephalon of the white sturgeon, *Acipenser transmontanus*, with special regard to the hypothalamo-hypophyseal system. *Arch Histol Cytol* (1994) 57:77–86. doi:10.1679/aohc.57.77
- Vallarino M, Danger JM, Fasolo A, Pelletier G, Saint-Pierre S, Vaudry H. Distribution and characterization of neuropeptide Y in the brain of an elasmobranch fish. *Brain Res* (1988) 448:67–76. doi:10.1016/0006-8993(88)91102-X
- 159. Le HTMD, Angotzi AR, Ebbesson LOE, Karlsen Ø, Rønnestad I. The ontogeny and brain distribution dynamics of the appetite regulators npy, cart and pox in larval Atlantic cod (*Gadus morhua* L.). *PLoS One* (2016) 11:e0153743. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0153743
- Herget U, Wolf A, Wullimann MF, Ryu S. Molecular neuroanatomy and chemoarchitecture of the neurosecretory preoptic-hypothalamic area in zebrafish larvae. J Comp Neurol (2014) 522:1542–64. doi:10.1002/cne.23480
- Olivereau M, Olivereau J. Localization of crf-like immunoreactivity in the brain and pituitary of teleost fish. *Peptides* (1988) 9:13–21. doi:10.1016/0196-9781(88)90004-6
- 162. Matz SP, Hofeldt GT. Immunohistochemical localization of corticotropin-releasing factor in the brain and corticotropin-releasing factor and thyrotropin-stimulating hormone in the pituitary of Chinook salmon (Oncorhynchus tshawytscha). Gen Comp Endocrinol (1999) 114:151–60. doi:10.1006/gcen.1999.7253
- 163. Ando H, Ando J, Urano A. Localization of mRNA encoding thyrotropin-releasing hormone precursor in the brain of sockeye salmon. *Zoolog Sci* (1998) 15:945–53. doi:10.2108/zsj.15.945
- Grone BP, Maruska KP. Divergent evolution of two corticotropin-releasing hormone (CRH) genes in teleost fishes. *Front Neurosci* (2015) 9:365. doi:10.3389/fnins.2015.00365
- 165. Frankish HM, Dryden S, Hopkins D, Wang Q, Williams G. Neuropeptide-Y, the hypothalamus, and diabetes – insights into the central control of metabolism. *Peptides* (1995) 16:757–71. doi:10.1016/0196-9781(94)00200-P
- 166. Perez Sirkin DI, Suzuki H, Canepa MM, Vissio PG. Orexin and neuropeptide Y: tissue specific expression and immunoreactivity in the hypothalamus and preoptic area of the cichlid fish *Cichlasoma dimerus*. *Tissue Cell* (2013) 45:452–9. doi:10.1016/j.tice.2013.09.001
- 167. Williams G, Bing C, Cai XJ, Harrold JA, King PJ, Liu XH. The hypothalamus and the control of energy homeostasis: different circuits, different purposes. *Physiol Behav* (2001) 74:683–701. doi:10.1016/S0031-9384(01)00612-6
- 168. Faraco JH, Appelbaum L, Marin W, Gaus SE, Mourrain P, Mignot E. Regulation of hypocretin (orexin) expression in embryonic zebrafish. *J Biol Chem* (2006) 281:29753–61. doi:10.1074/jbc.M605811200
- 169. Kaslin J, Nystedt JM, Ostergard M, Peitsaro N, Panula P. The orexin/hypocretin system in zebrafish is connected to the aminergic and cholinergic systems. *J Neurosci* (2004) 24:2678–89. doi:10.1523/JNEUROSCI.4908-03.2004
- 170. Chen R, Li W, Lin H. cDNA cloning and mRNA expression of neuropeptide Y in orange spotted grouper, *Epinephelus coioides*. Comp Biochem Physiol B Biochem Mol Biol (2005) 142:79–89. doi:10.1016/j.cbpc.2005.06.003
- 171. Kojima K, Kamijo M, Kageyama H, Uchiyama M, Shioda S, Matsuda K. Neuronal relationship between orexin-A- and neuropeptide Y-induced orexigenic actions in goldfish. *Neuropeptides* (2009) 43:63–71. doi:10.1016/j. npep.2009.01.004
- 172. Brothers SP, Wahlestedt C. Therapeutic potential of neuropeptide Y (NPY) receptor ligands. *EMBO Mol Med* (2010) 2:429–39. doi:10.1002/ emmm.201000100
- Mendieta-Zerón H, López M, Dieguez C. Gastrointestinal peptides controlling body weight homeostasis. *Gen Comp Endocrinol* (2008) 155:481–95. doi:10.1016/j.ygcen.2007.11.009
- 174. Jönsson E, Holmgren S. Integrated function and control of the gut endocrine Endocrine systems of the gut. *Encycl Fish Physiol* (2011) 2:1341–7.
- Murphy KG, Bloom SR. Gut hormones in the control of appetite. *Exp Physiol* (2004) 89:507–16. doi:10.1113/expphysiol.2004.027789
- Johansson V. Behavioural Effects and Central Nervous System Actions of Growth Hormone in Salmonid Fish, Zoologiska Institutionen. Göteborg, Sweden: University of Gothenburg (2004).
- 177. Matsuda K, Miura T, Kaiya H, Maruyama K, Shimakura S-I, Uchiyama M, et al. Regulation of food intake by acyl and des-acyl ghrelins in the goldfish. *Peptides* (2006) 27:2321–5. doi:10.1016/j.peptides.2006.03.028

- 178. Grove DJ, Loizides LG, Nott J. Satiation amount, frequency of feeding and gastric emptying rate in *Salmo gairdneri*. J Fish Biol (1978) 12:507–16. doi:10 .1111/j.1095-8649.1978.tb04195.x
- Camilleri M. Peripheral mechanisms in appetite regulation. Gastroenterology (2015) 148:1219–33. doi:10.1053/j.gastro.2014.09.016
- Kaiya H, Miyazato M, Kangawa K. Recent advances in the phylogenetic study of ghrelin. *Peptides* (2011) 32:2155–74. doi:10.1016/j.peptides.2011.04.027
- 181. Miura T, Maruyama K, Shimakura S-I, Kaiya H, Uchiyama M, Kangawa K, et al. Regulation of food intake in the goldfish by interaction between ghrelin and orexin. *Peptides* (2007) 28:1207–13. doi:10.1016/j.peptides.2007.03.023
- 182. Riley LG, Fox BK, Kaiya H, Hirano T, Grau EG. Long-term treatment of ghrelin stimulates feeding, fat deposition, and alters the GH/IGF-I axis in the tilapia, Oreochromis mossambicus. Gen Comp Endocrinol (2005) 142:234–40. doi:10.1016/j.ygcen.2005.01.009
- 183. Tinoco AB, Näslund J, Delgado MJ, de Pedro N, Johnsson JI, Jönsson E. Ghrelin increases food intake, swimming activity and growth in juvenile brown trout (*Salmo trutta*). *Physiol Behav* (2014) 124:15–22. doi:10.1016/j. physbeh.2013.10.034
- 184. Yuan X, Cai W, Liang X-F, Su H, Yuan Y, Li A, et al. Obestatin partially suppresses ghrelin stimulation of appetite in "high-responders" grass carp, *Ctenopharyngodon idellus. Comp Biochem Physiol A Mol Integr Physiol* (2015) 184:144–9. doi:10.1016/j.cbpa.2015.02.019
- 185. Date Y, Nakazato M, Murakami N, Kojima M, Kangawa K, Matsukura S. Ghrelin acts in the central nervous system to stimulate gastric acid secretion. *Biochem Biophys Res Commun* (2001) 280:904–7. doi:10.1006/bbrc.2000.4212
- 186. Nakazato M, Murakami N, Date Y, Kojima M, Matsuo H, Kangawa K, et al. A role for ghrelin in the central regulation of feeding. *Nature* (2001) 409:194–8. doi:10.1038/35051587
- Velasco C, Librán-Pérez M, Otero-Rodiño C, López-Patiño MA, Míguez JM, Cerdá-Reverter JM, et al. Ghrelin modulates hypothalamic fatty acid-sensing and control of food intake in rainbow trout. *J Endocrinol* (2016) 228:25–37. doi:10.1530/JOE-15-0391
- Schroeter JC, Fenn CM, Small BC. Elucidating the roles of gut neuropeptides on channel catfish feed intake, glycemia, and hypothalamic NPY and POMC expression. *Comp Biochem Physiol A Mol Integr Physiol* (2015) 188:168–74. doi:10.1016/j.cbpa.2015.06.031
- 189. Miura T, Maruyama K, Shimakura S-I, Kaiya H, Uchiyama M, Kangawa K, et al. Neuropeptide Y mediates ghrelin-induced feeding in the gold-fish, *Carassius auratus. Neurosci Lett* (2006) 407:279–83. doi:10.1016/j. neulet.2006.08.071
- Polakof S, Miguez JM, Soengas JL. Ghrelin effects on central glucosensing and energy homeostasis-related peptides in rainbow trout. *Domest Anim Endocrinol* (2011) 41:126–36. doi:10.1016/j.domaniend.2011.05.006
- 191. Jönsson E, Kaiya H, Björnsson BT. Ghrelin decreases food intake in juvenile rainbow trout (Oncorhynchus mykiss) through the central anorexigenic corticotropin-releasing factor system. Gen Comp Endocrinol (2010) 166:39–46. doi:10.1016/j.ygcen.2009.11.001
- 192. Olsson C, Holbrook JD, Bompadre G, Jonsson E, Hoyle CHV, Sanger GJ, et al. Identification of genes for the ghrelin and motilin receptors and a novel related gene in fish, and stimulation of intestinal motility in zebrafish (*Danio rerio*) by ghrelin and motilin. *Gen Comp Endocrinol* (2008) 155:217–26. doi:10.1016/j.ygcen.2007.05.016
- Olsson C, Holmberg A, Holmgren S. Development of enteric and vagal innervation of the zebrafish (*Danio rerio*) gut. J Comp Neurol (2008) 508:756–70. doi:10.1002/cne.21705
- 194. Kitazawa T, Itoh K, Yaosaka N, Maruyama K, Matsuda K, Teraoka H, et al. Ghrelin does not affect gastrointestinal contractility in rainbow trout and goldfish in vitro. *Gen Comp Endocrinol* (2012) 178:539–45. doi:10.1016/j. ygcen.2012.06.025
- 195. Chan CB, Cheng CHK. Identification and functional characterization of two alternatively spliced growth hormone secretagogue receptor transcripts from the pituitary of black seabream *Acanthopagrus schlegeli*. *Mol Cell Endocrinol* (2004) 214:81–95. doi:10.1016/j.mce.2003.11.020
- 196. Kaiya H, Mori T, Miyazato M, Kangawa K. Ghrelin receptor (GHS-R)-like receptor and its genomic organisation in rainbow trout, *Oncorhynchus* mykiss. Comp Biochem Physiol A Mol Integr Physiol (2009) 153:438–50. doi:10.1016/j.cbpa.2009.04.612
- Raybould HE. Mechanisms of CCK signaling from gut to brain. Curr Opin Pharmacol (2007) 7:570–4. doi:10.1016/j.coph.2007.09.006

- Johnsen AH, Rehfeld JF. The phylogeny of the cholecystokinin gastrin family. Regul Pept (1992) 39:256–256. doi:10.1016/0167-0115(92)90560-H
- Chandra R, Liddle RA. Cholecystokinin. Curr Opin Endocrinol Diabetes Obes (2007) 14:63–7. doi:10.1097/MED.0b013e3280122850
- 200. Himick BA, Peter RE. Bombesin acts to suppress feeding behavior and alter serum growth hormone in goldfish. *Physiol Behav* (1994) 55:65–72. doi:10.1016/0031-9384(94)90011-6
- Rubio VC, Sanchez-Vazquez FJ, Madrid JA. Role of cholecystokinin and its antagonist proglumide on macronutrient selection in European sea bass *Dicentrarchus labrax*, L. *Physiol Behav* (2008) 93:862–9. doi:10.1016/j. physbeh.2007.12.001
- 202. Gelineau A, Boujard T. Oral administration of cholecystokinin receptor antagonists increase feed intake in rainbow trout. *J Fish Biol* (2001) 58:716–24. doi:10.1111/j.1095-8649.2001.tb00524.x
- 203. Murashita K, Fukada H, Hosokawa H, Masumoto T. Cholecystokinin and peptide Y in yellowtail (*Seriola quinqueradiata*): molecular cloning, realtime quantitative RT-PCR, and response to feeding and fasting. *Gen Comp Endocrinol* (2006) 145:287–97. doi:10.1016/j.ygcen.2005.09.008
- 204. Kamisaka Y, Drivenes O, Kurokawa T, Tagawa M, Rønnestad I, Tanaka M, et al. Cholecystokinin mRNA in Atlantic herring, *Clupea harengus* – molecular cloning, characterization, and distribution in the digestive tract during the early life stages. *Peptides* (2005) 26:385–93. doi:10.1016/j.peptides.2004.10.018
- 205. Volkoff H. Cloning and tissue distribution of appetite-regulating peptides in pirapitinga (*Piaractus brachypomus*). J Anim Physiol Anim Nutr (2015) 99:987–1001. doi:10.1111/jpn.12318
- 206. Kurokawa T, Suzuki T, Hashimoto H. Identification of gastrin and multiple cholecystokinin genes in teleost. *Peptides* (2003) 24:227–35. doi:10.1016/ S0196-9781(03)00034-2
- 207. Murashita K, Kurokawa T, Nilsen TO, Rønnestad I. Ghrelin, cholecystokinin, and peptide YY in Atlantic salmon (*Salmo salar*): molecular cloning and tissue expression. *Gen Comp Endocrinol* (2009) 160:223–35. doi:10.1016/j. ygcen.2008.11.024
- 208. Micale V, Campo S, D'Ascola A, Guerrera MC, Levanti MB, Germana A, et al. Cholecystokinin in white sea bream: molecular cloning, regional expression, and immunohistochemical localization in the gut after feeding and fasting. *PLoS One* (2012) 7:e52428. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0052428
- Jensen H, Rourke IJ, Moller M, Jonson L, Johnsen AH. Identification and distribution of CCK-related peptides and mRNAs in the rainbow trout, *Oncorhynchus mykiss. Biochim Biophys Acta* (2001) 1517:190–201. doi:10.1016/S0167-4781(00)00263-3
- 210. Jönsson E, Forsman A, Einarsdottir IE, Egner B, Ruohonen K, Björnsson BT. Circulating levels of cholecystokinin and gastrin-releasing peptide in rainbow trout fed different diets. *Gen Comp Endocrinol* (2006) 148:187–94. doi:10.1016/j.ygcen.2006.02.016
- 211. Murashita K, Fukada H, Rønnestad I, Kurokawa T, Masumoto T. Nutrient control of release of pancreatic enzymes in yellowtail (*Seriola quinqueradiata*): involvement of CCK and PY in the regulatory loop. *Comp Biochem Physiol A Mol Integr Physiol* (2008) 150:438–43. doi:10.1016/j.cbpa.2008.05.003
- 212. Murashita K, Fukada H, Hosokawa H, Masumoto T. Changes in cholecystokinin and peptide Y gene expression with feeding in yellowtail (*Seriola quinqueradiata*): relation to pancreatic exocrine regulation. *Comp Biochem Physiol B Biochem Mol Biol* (2007) 146:318–25. doi:10.1016/j.cbpb.2006.11.009
- 213. Jönsson E, Forsman A, Einarsdottir IE, Kaiya H, Ruohonen K, Bjornsson BT. Plasma ghrelin levels in rainbow trout in response to fasting, feeding and food composition, and effects of ghrelin on voluntary food intake. *Comp Biochem Physiol A Mol Integr Physiol* (2007) 147:1116–24. doi:10.1016/j. cbpa.2007.03.024
- 214. Lohmus M, Raven P, Sundstrom L, Devlin R. Disruption of seasonality in growth hormone-transgenic Coho salmon (*Oncorhynchus kisutch*) and the role of cholecystokinin in seasonal feeding behavior. *Horm Behav* (2008) 54:506–13. doi:10.1016/j.yhbeh.2008.02.010
- 215. Kamisaka Y, Jordal A-EO, Edvardsen RB, Kryvi H, Otterlei E, Rønnestad I. A case report on the distended gut syndrome (DGS) in cultured larvae of Atlantic cod (*Gadus morhua*). Aquaculture (2010) 309:38–48. doi:10.1016/j. aquaculture.2010.09.006
- 216. Webb KA Jr, Khan IA, Nunez BS, Rønnestad I, Holt GJ. Cholecystokinin: molecular cloning and immunohistochemical localization in the gastrointestinal tract of larval red drum, *Sciaenops ocellatus* (L.). *Gen Comp Endocrinol* (2010) 166:152–9. doi:10.1016/j.ygcen.2009.10.010

- 217. Furutani T, Masumoto T, Fukada H. Molecular cloning and tissue distribution of cholecystokinin-1 receptor (CCK-1R) in yellowtail *Seriola quinqueradiata* and its response to feeding and in vitro CCK treatment. *Gen Comp Endocrinol* (2013) 186:1–8. doi:10.1016/j.ygcen.2013.02.003
- Rathore RM, Angotzi AR, Jordal A-EO, Rønnestad I. Cholecystokinin receptors in Atlantic salmon: molecular cloning, gene expression, and structural basis. *Physiol Rep* (2013) 1:e00069. doi:10.1002/phy2.69
- 219. Tinoco AB, Valenciano AI, Gómez-Boronat M, Blanco AM, Nisembaum LG, de Pedro N, et al. Two cholecystokinin receptor subtypes are identified in goldfish, being the CCKAR involved in the regulation of intestinal motility. *Comp Biochem Physiol A Mol Integr Physiol* (2015) 187:193–201. doi:10.1016/j.cbpa.2015.05.027
- 220. Woods SC. Gastrointestinal satiety signals I. An overview of gastrointestinal signals that influence food intake. Am J Physiol Gastrointest Liver Physiol (2004) 286:G7–13. doi:10.1152/ajpgi.00448.2003
- 221. Lundberg JM, Tatemoto K, Terenius L, Hellström PM, Mutt V, Hökfelt T, et al. Localization of peptide YY (PYY) in gastrointestinal endocrine cells and effects on intestinal blood flow and motility. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* (1982) 79:4471–5. doi:10.1073/pnas.79.14.4471
- Batterham RL, Cowley MA, Small CJ, Herzog H, Cohen MA, Dakin CL, et al. Gut hormone PYY3-36 physiologically inhibits food intake. *Nature* (2002) 418:650–4. doi:10.1038/nature00887
- 223. Grandt D, Schimiczek M, Beglinger C, Layer P, Goebell H, Eysselein VE, et al. Two molecular forms of Peptide YY (PYY) are abundant in human blood: characterization of a radioimmunoassay recognizing PYY 1–36 and PYY 3–36. *Regul Pept* (1994) 51:151–9. doi:10.1016/0167-0115(94)90204-6
- 224. Sundstrom G, Larsson TA, Brenner S, Venkatesh B, Larhammar D. Evolution of the Neuropeptide Y family: new genes by chromosome duplications in early vertebrates and in teleost fishes. *Gen Comp Endocrinol* (2008) 155:705–16. doi:10.1016/j.ygcen.2007.08.016
- Volkoff H. Appetite regulating peptides in red-bellied piranha, *Pygocentrus nattereri*: cloning, tissue distribution and effect of fasting on mRNA expression levels. *Peptides* (2014) 56:116–24. doi:10.1016/j.peptides.2014.03.022
- Kurokawa T, Suzuki T. Development of neuropeptide Y-related peptides in the digestive organs during the larval stage of Japanese flounder, *Paralichthys oli*vaceus. Gen Comp Endocrinol (2002) 126:30–8. doi:10.1006/gcen.2001.7774
- 227. Chen Y, Pandit NP, Fu J, Li D, Li J. Identification, characterization and feeding response of peptide YYb (PYYb) gene in grass carp (*Ctenopharyngodon idellus*). Fish Physiol Biochem (2013) 40:45–55. doi:10.1007/s10695-013-9822-6
- Gonzalez R, Unniappan S. Molecular characterization, appetite regulatory effects and feeding related changes of peptide YY in goldfish. *Gen Comp Endocrinol* (2009) 166:273–9. doi:10.1016/j.ygcen.2009.09.008
- 229. Fällmar H, Sundstro"m GR, Lundell I, Mohell N, Larhammar D. Neuropeptide Y/peptide YY receptor Y2 duplicate in zebrafish with unique introns displays distinct peptide binding properties. *Comp Biochem Physiol B Biochem Mol Biol* (2011) 160:166–73. doi:10.1016/j.cbpb.2011.08.001
- 230. Bauer PV, Hamr SC, Duca FA. Regulation of energy balance by a gut-brain axis and involvement of the gut microbiota. *Cell Mol Life Sci* (2016) 73:737–55. doi:10.1007/s00018-015-2083-z
- Merali Z, McIntosh J, Anisman H. Role of bombesin-related peptides in the control of food intake. *Neuropeptides* (1999) 33:376–86. doi:10.1054/ npep.1999.0054
- McColl KE, el-Omar E. Review article: gastrin releasing peptide and its value in assessing gastric secretory function. *Aliment Pharmacol Ther* (1995) 9:341–7. doi:10.1111/j.1365-2036.1995.tb00392.x
- 233. Holmgren S, Jönsson AC. Occurrence and effects on motility of bombesin related peptides in the gastrointestinal tract of the Atlantic cod, *Gadus morhua. Comp Biochem Physiol C* (1988) 89:249–56. doi:10.1016/0742-8413(88)90219-8
- 234. Holstein B, Humphrey CS. Stimulation of gastric acid secretion and suppression of VIP-like immunoreactivity by bombesin in the Atlantic codfish, *Gadus morhua. Acta Physiol Scand* (1980) 109:217–23. doi:10.111 1/j.1748-1716.1980.tb06589.x
- 235. Thorndyke M, Holmgren S. Bombesin potentiates the effect of acetylcholine on isolated strips of fish stomach. *Regul Pept* (1990) 30:125–35. doi:10.1016/0167-0115(90)90053-Y
- Jensen J, Conlon JM. Isolation and primary structure of gastrin-releasing peptide from a teleost fish, the trout (*Oncorhynchus mykiss*). *Peptides* (1992) 13:995–9. doi:10.1016/0196-9781(92)90061-7

- 237. Bosi G, Di Giancamillo A, Arrighi S, Domeneghini C. An immunohistochemical study on the neuroendocrine system in the alimentary canal of the brown trout, *Salmo trutta*, L., 1758. *Gen Comp Endocrinol* (2004) 138:166–81. doi:10.1016/j.ygcen.2004.06.003
- Volkoff H, Peyon P, Lin X, Peter RE. Molecular cloning and expression of cDNA encoding a brain bombesin/gastrin-releasing peptide-like peptide in goldfish. *Peptides* (2000) 21:639–48. doi:10.1016/S0196-9781(00)00199-6
- 239. Koven W, Schulte P. The effect of fasting and refeeding on mRNA expression of PepT1 and gastrointestinal hormones regulating digestion and food intake in zebrafish (*Danio rerio*). *Fish Physiol Biochem* (2012) 38:1–11. doi:10.1007/ s10695-012-9649-6
- 240. Xu M, Volkoff H. Molecular characterization of ghrelin and gastrin-releasing peptide in Atlantic cod (*Gadus morhua*): cloning, localization, developmental profile and role in food intake regulation. *Gen Comp Endocrinol* (2009) 160:250–8. doi:10.1016/j.ygcen.2008.12.004
- Canosa LF, Unniappan S, Peter RE. Periprandial changes in growth hormone release in goldfish: role of somatostatin, ghrelin, and gastrin-releasing peptide. *Am J Physiol Regul Integr Comp Physiol* (2005) 289:R125–33. doi:10.1152/ ajpregu.00759.2004
- 242. White SL, Volkoff H, Devlin RH. Regulation of feeding behavior and food intake by appetite-regulating peptides in wild-type and growth hormone-transgenic Coho salmon. *Horm Behav* (2016) 84:18–28. doi:10.1016/j. yhbeh.2016.04.005
- 243. Zhang YY, Proenca R, Maffei M, Barone M, Leopold L, Friedman JM. Positional cloning of the mouse obese gene and its human homolog. *Nature* (1994) 372:425–32. doi:10.1038/372425a0
- 244. Kahn SE, Hull RL, Utzschneider KM. Mechanisms linking obesity to insulin resistance and type 2 diabetes. *Nature* (2006) 444:840–6. doi:10.1038/ nature05482
- 245. Van Gaal LF, Mertens IL, De Block CE. Mechanisms linking obesity with cardiovascular disease. *Nature* (2006) 444:875–80. doi:10.1038/nature05487
- Kurokawa T, Uji S, Suzuki T. Identification of cDNA coding for a homologue to mammalian leptin from pufferfish, *Takifugu rubripes. Peptides* (2005) 26:745–50. doi:10.1016/j.peptides.2004.12.017
- 247. Londraville RL, Macotela Y, Duff RJ, Easterling MR, Liu Q, Crespi EJ. Comparative endocrinology of leptin: assessing function in a phylogenetic context. *Gen Comp Endocrinol* (2014) 203:146–57. doi:10.1016/j. ygcen.2014.02.002
- Gorissen M, Flik G. Leptin in teleostean fish, towards the origins of leptin physiology. *J Chem Neuroanat* (2014) 61–62:200–6. doi:10.1016/j. jchemneu.2014.06.005
- Gorissen M, Bernier N, Nabuurs S, Flik G, Huising M. Two divergent leptin paralogues in zebrafish (*Danio rerio*) that originate early in teleostean evolution. *J Endocrinol* (2009) 201(3):329–39. doi:10.1677/JOE-09-0034
- 250. Kurokawa T, Murashita K. Genomic characterization of multiple leptin genes and a leptin receptor gene in the Japanese medaka, *Oryzias latipes. Gen Comp Endocrinol* (2009) 161:229–37. doi:10.1016/j.ygcen.2009.01.008
- 251. Zhang H, Chen H, Zhang Y, Li S, Lu D, Zhang H, et al. Molecular cloning, characterization and expression profiles of multiple leptin genes and a leptin receptor gene in orange-spotted grouper (*Epinephelus coioides*). *Gen Comp Endocrinol* (2013) 181:295–305. doi:10.1016/j.ygcen.2012.09.008
- 252. Shpilman M, Hollander-Cohen L, Ventura T, Gertler A, Levavi-Sivan B. Production, gene structure and characterization of two orthologs of leptin and a leptin receptor in tilapia. *Gen Comp Endocrinol* (2014) 207:74–85. doi:10.1016/j.ygcen.2014.05.006
- 253. Ohga H, Matsumori K, Kodama R, Kitano H, Nagano N, Yamaguchi A, et al. Two leptin genes and a leptin receptor gene of female chub mackerel (*Scomber japonicus*): molecular cloning, tissue distribution and expression in different obesity indices and pubertal stages. *Gen Comp Endocrinol* (2015) 222:88–98. doi:10.1016/j.ygcen.2015.06.002
- 254. Morini M, Pasquier J, Dirks R, van den Thillart G, Tomkiewicz J, Rousseau K, et al. Duplicated leptin receptors in two species of eel bring new insights into the evolution of the leptin system in vertebrates. *PLoS One* (2015) 10:31. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0126008
- Huising MO, Kruiswijk CP, Flik G. Phylogeny and evolution of class-I helical cytokines. J Endocrinol (2006) 189:1–25. doi:10.1677/joe.1.06591
- 256. Belen Tinoco A, Gabriela Nisembaum L, Isorna E, Jesus Delgado M, de Pedro N. Leptins and leptin receptor expression in the goldfish (*Carassius auratus*).

Regulation by food intake and fasting/overfeeding conditions. *Peptides* (2012) 34:329–35. doi:10.1016/j.peptides.2012.02.001

- 257. Yan A-F, Chen T, Chen S, Ren C-H, Hu C-Q, Cai Y-M, et al. Goldfish leptin-AI and leptin-AII: function and central mechanism in feeding control. *Int J Mol Sci* (2016) 17:783. doi:10.3390/ijms17060783
- 258. Li JT, Hou GY, Kong XF, Li CY, Zeng JM, Li HD, et al. The fate of recent duplicated genes following a fourth-round whole genome duplication in a tetraploid fish, common carp (*Cyprinus carpio*). Sci Rep (2015) 5:8199. doi:10.1038/srep08199
- Lien S, Koop BF, Sandve SR, Miller JR, Kent MP, Nome T, et al. The Atlantic salmon genome provides insights into rediploidization. *Nature* (2016) 533:200. doi:10.1038/nature17164
- 260. Rønnestad I, Nilsen TO, Murashita K, Angotzi AR, Moen A-GG, Stefansson SO, et al. Leptin and leptin receptor genes in Atlantic salmon: cloning, phylogeny, tissue distribution and expression correlated to long-term feeding status. *Gen Comp Endocrinol* (2010) 168:55–70. doi:10.1016/j.ygcen.2010.04.010
- 261. Angotzi AR, Stefansson SO, Nilsen TO, Rathore RM, Rønnestad I. Molecular cloning and genomic characterization of novel leptin-like genes in salmonids provide new insight into the evolution of the leptin gene family. *Gen Comp Endocrinol* (2013) 187:48–59. doi:10.1016/j.ygcen.2013.03.022
- 262. Zabeau L, Defeau D, Van der Heyden J, Iserentant H, Vandekerckhove J, Tavernier J. Functional analysis of leptin receptor activation using a Janus kinase/signal transducer and activator of transcription complementation assay. *Mol Endocrinol* (2004) 18:150–61. doi:10.1210/me.2003-0078
- Fruhbeck G. Intracellular signalling pathways activated by leptin. *Biochem J* (2006) 393:7–20. doi:10.1042/BJ20051578
- 264. Cao YB, Xue JL, Wu LY, Jiang W, Hu PN, Zhu J. The detection of 3 leptin receptor isoforms in crucian carp gill and the influence of fasting and hypoxia on their expression. *Domest Anim Endocrinol* (2011) 41:74–80. doi:10.1016/j. domaniend.2011.04.002
- Gong N, Bjornsson BT. Leptin signaling in the rainbow trout central nervous system is modulated by a truncated leptin receptor isoform. *Endocrinology* (2014) 155:2445–55. doi:10.1210/en.2013-2131
- Tartaglia LA. The leptin receptor. J Biol Chem (1997) 272:6093–6. doi:10.1074/ jbc.272.10.6093
- 267. Kurokawa T, Okamoto T, Gen K, Uji S, Murashita K, Unuma T, et al. Influence of water temperature on morphological deformities in cultured larvae of Japanese eel, Anguilla japonica, at completion of yolk resorption. J World Aquac Soc (2008) 39:726–35. doi:10.1111/j.1749-7345.2008.00208.x
- Tinoco AB, Nisembaum LG, Isorna E, Delgado MJ, de Pedro N. Leptins and leptin receptor expression in the goldfish (*Carassius auratus*). Regulation by food intake and fasting/overfeeding conditions. *Peptides* (2012) 34:329–35. doi:10.1016/j.peptides.2012.02.001
- 269. Angotzi AR, Stefansson SO, Nilsen TO, Øvrebø JI, Andersson E, Taranger GL, et al. Identification of a novel leptin receptor duplicate in Atlantic salmon: expression analyses in different life stages and in response to feeding status. *Gen Comp Endocrinol* (2016) 235:108–19. doi:10.1016/j. ygcen.2016.06.004
- 270. Gong Y, Luo Z, Zhu Q-L, Zheng J-L, Tan X-Y, Chen Q-L, et al. Characterization and tissue distribution of leptin, leptin receptor and leptin receptor overlapping transcript genes in yellow catfish *Pelteobagrus fulvidraco. Gen Comp Endocrinol* (2013) 182:1–6. doi:10.1016/j.ygcen.2012.11.006
- 271. Gong N, Einarsdottir IE, Johansson M, Björnsson BT. Alternative splice variants of the rainbow trout leptin receptor encode multiple circulating leptin-binding proteins. *Endocrinology* (2013) 154:2331–40. doi:10.1210/ en.2012-2082
- Uotani S, Bjorbaek C, Tornoe J, Flier JS. Functional properties of leptin receptor isoforms internalization and degradation of leptin and ligand-induced receptor downregulation. *Diabetes* (1999) 48:279–86. doi:10.2337/ diabetes.48.2.279
- 273. Oswal A, Yeo G. Leptin and the control of body weight: a review of its diverse central targets, signaling mechanisms, and role in the pathogenesis of obesity. *Obesity* (2010) 18:221–9. doi:10.1038/oby.2009.228
- 274. Harris RBS. Is leptin the parabiotic "satiety" factor? Past and present interpretations. *Appetite* (2013) 61:111–8. doi:10.1016/j.appet.2012.08.006
- Keen-Rhinehart E, Ondek K, Schneider JE. Neuroendocrine regulation of appetitive ingestive behavior. *Front Neurosci* (2013) 7:213. doi:10.3389/ fnins.2013.00213

- 276. Friedman J. Leptin at 20: an overview. J Endocrinol (2014) 223:T1-8. doi:10.1530/JOE-14-0405
- 277. Ahima RS, Flier JS. Leptin. Annu Rev Physiol (2000) 62:413–37. doi:10.1146/ annurev.physiol.62.1.413
- Bagnasco M, Kalra PS, Kalra SP. Ghrelin and leptin pulse discharge in fed and fasted rats. *Endocrinology* (2002) 143:726–9. doi:10.1210/endo.143.2.8743
- Murashita K, Uji S, Yamamoto T, Rønnestad I, Kurokawa T. Production of recombinant leptin and its effects on food intake in rainbow trout (*Oncorhynchus mykiss*). Comp Biochem Physiol B Biochem Mol Biol (2008) 150:377–84. doi:10.1016/j.cbpb.2008.04.007
- 280. Chisada S-I, Kurokawa T, Murashita K, Rønnestad I, Taniguchi Y, Toyoda A, et al. Leptin receptor-deficient (knockout) medaka, *Oryzias latipes*, show chronical up-regulated levels of orexigenic neuropeptides, elevated food intake and stage specific effects on growth and fat allocation. *Gen Comp Endocrinol* (2014) 195:9–20. doi:10.1016/j.ygcen.2013.10.008
- 281. Pfundt B, Sauerwein H, Mielenz M. Leptin mRNA and protein immunoreactivity in adipose tissue and liver of rainbow trout (*Oncorhynchus mykiss*) and immunohistochemical localization in liver. *Anat Histol Embryol* (2009) 38:406–10. doi:10.1111/j.1439-0264.2009.00951.x
- 282. Won ET, Baltzegar DA, Picha ME, Borski RJ. Cloning and characterization of leptin in a Perciform fish, the striped bass (*Morone saxatilis*): control of feeding and regulation by nutritional state. *Gen Comp Endocrinol* (2012) 178:98–107. doi:10.1016/j.ygcen.2012.04.019
- 283. Douros JD, Baltzegar DA, Breves JP, Lerner DT, Seale AP, Gordon Grau E, et al. Prolactin is a major inhibitor of hepatic leptin A synthesis and secretion: studies utilizing a homologous leptin A ELISA in the tilapia. *Gen Comp Endocrinol* (2014) 207:86–93. doi:10.1016/j.ygcen.2014.03.007
- 284. Salmerón C, Johansson M, Angotzi AR, Rønnestad I, Jonsson E, Bjornsson BT, et al. Effects of nutritional status on plasma leptin levels and in vitro regulation of adipocyte leptin expression and secretion in rainbow trout. *Gen Comp Endocrinol* (2015) 210:114–23. doi:10.1016/j.ygcen.2014.10.016
- 285. Salmerón C, Johansson M, Asaad M, Angotzi AR, Rønnestad I, Stefansson SO, et al. Roles of leptin and ghrelin in adipogenesis and lipid metabolism of rainbow trout adipocytes in vitro. *Comp Biochem Physiol Part A Mol Integr Physiol* (2015) 188:40–8. doi:10.1016/j.cbpa.2015.06.017
- 286. Volkoff H, Eykelbosh AJ, Peter RE. Role of leptin in the control of feeding of goldfish *Carassius auratus*: interactions with cholecystokinin, neuropeptide Y and orexin A, and modulation by fasting. *Brain Res* (2003) 972:90–109. doi:10.1016/S0006-8993(03)02507-1
- 287. Li G-G, Liang X-F, Xie Q, Li G, Yu Y, Lai K. Gene structure, recombinant expression and functional characterization of grass carp leptin. *Gen Comp Endocrinol* (2010) 166:117–27. doi:10.1016/j.ygcen.2009.10.009
- 288. Rønnestad I, Søyland MA, Hansen T, Jordal A-EO, Nilsen TO, Gomes AS, et al. Effects of intraperitoneal administration of leptin on voluntary feed intake, appetite signaling pathways and metabolism in Atlantic salmon, *Salmo salar. FASEB J* (2016) 30:lb644.
- 289. Yuan X, Li A, Liang X-F, Huang W, Song Y, He S, et al. Leptin expression in mandarin fish *Siniperca chuatsi* (Basilewsky): regulation by postprandial and short-term fasting treatment. *Comp Biochem Physiol A Mol Integr Physiol* (2016) 194:8–18. doi:10.1016/j.cbpa.2016.01.014
- 290. Trombley S, Maugars G, Kling P, Bjornsson BT, Schmitz M. Effects of longterm restricted feeding on plasma leptin, hepatic leptin expression and leptin receptor expression in juvenile Atlantic salmon (*Salmo salar L.*). *Gen Comp Endocrinol* (2012) 175:92–9. doi:10.1016/j.ygcen.2011.10.001
- 291. Fuentes EN, Kling P, Einarsdottir IE, Alvarez M, Antonio Valdes J, Molina A, et al. Plasma leptin and growth hormone levels in the fine flounder (*Paralichthys adspersus*) increase gradually during fasting and decline rapidly after refeeding. *Gen Comp Endocrinol* (2012) 177:120–7. doi:10.1016/j. ygcen.2012.02.019
- 292. Jørgensen EH, Martinsen M, Strøm V, Hansen KER, Ravuri CS, Gong N, et al. Long-term fasting in the anadromous Arctic charr is associated with downregulation of metabolic enzyme activity and upregulation of leptin A1 and SOCS expression in the liver. *J Exp Biol* (2013) 216:3222–30. doi:10.1242/ jeb.088344
- 293. Kling P, Rønnestad I, Stefansson SO, Murashita K, Kurokawa T, Bjornsson BT. A homologous salmonid leptin radioimmunoassay indicates elevated plasma leptin levels during fasting of rainbow trout. *Gen Comp Endocrinol* (2009) 162:307–12. doi:10.1016/j.ygcen.2009.04.003

- 294. Douros JD, Baltzegar DA, Mankiewicz J, Taylor J, Yamaguchi Y, Lerner DT, et al. Control of leptin by metabolic state and its regulatory interactions with pituitary growth hormone and hepatic growth hormone receptors and insulin like growth factors in the tilapia (*Oreochromis mossambicus*). *Gen Comp Endocrinol* (2017) 240:227–37. doi:10.1016/j.ygcen.2016.07.017
- 295. Gong N, Jönsson E, Bjornsson BT. Acute anorexigenic action of leptin in rainbow trout is mediated by the hypothalamic Pi3k pathway. J Mol Endocrinol (2015) 56:227–38. doi:10.1530/JME-15-0279
- 296. Nieminen P, Mustonen A-M, Hyvärinen H. Fasting reduces plasma leptinand ghrelin-immunoreactive peptide concentrations of the burbot (*Lota lota*) at 2 degrees C but not at 10 degrees C. *Zoolog Sci* (2003) 20:1109–15. doi:10.2108/zsj.20.1109
- 297. Frøiland E, Jobling M, Björnsson BT, Kling P, Ravuri CS, Jørgensen EH. Seasonal appetite regulation in the anadromous Arctic charr: evidence for a role of adiposity in the regulation of appetite but not for leptin in signalling adiposity. *Gen Comp Endocrinol* (2012) 178:330–7. doi:10.1016/j. ygcen.2012.06.017
- 298. Huising MO, Geven EJW, Kruiswijk CP, Nabuurs SB, Stolte EH, Spanings FAT, et al. Increased leptin expression in common carp (*Cyprinus carpio*) after food intake but not after fasting or feeding to satiation. *Endocrinology* (2006) 147:5786–97. doi:10.1210/en.2006-0824
- Londraville RL, Duvall CS. Murine leptin injections increase intracellular fatty acid-binding protein in green sunfish (*Lepomis cyanellus*). Gen Comp Endocrinol (2002) 129:56–62. doi:10.1016/S0016-6480(02)00510-5
- 300. de Pedro N, Martinez-Alvarez R, Delgado MJ. Acute and chronic leptin reduces food intake and body weight in goldfish (*Carassius auratus*). *J Endocrinol* (2006) 188:513–20. doi:10.1677/joe.1.06349
- Pelleymounter MA, Cullen MJ, Baker MB, Hecht R, Winters D, Boone T, et al. Effects of the obese gene-product on body-weight regulation in ob/ob mice. *Science* (1995) 269:540–3. doi:10.1126/science.7624776
- 302. Michel M, Page-McCaw PS, Chen WB, Cone RD. Leptin signaling regulates glucose homeostasis, but not adipostasis, in the zebrafish. *Proc Natl Acad Sci* US A (2016) 113:3084–9. doi:10.1073/pnas.1513212113
- 303. Aguilar AJ, Conde-Sieira M, Polakof S, Miguez JM, Soengas JL. Central leptin treatment modulates brain glucosensing function and peripheral energy metabolism of rainbow trout. *Peptides* (2010) 31:1044–54. doi:10.1016/j. peptides.2010.02.026
- Baltzegar DA, Reading BJ, Douros JD, Borski RJ. Role for leptin in promoting glucose mobilization during acute hyperosmotic stress in teleost fishes. *J Endocrinol* (2014) 220:61–72. doi:10.1530/JOE-13-0292
- 305. Won ET, Douros JD, Hurt DA, Borski RJ. Leptin stimulates hepatic growth hormone receptor and insulin-like growth factor gene expression in a teleost fish, the hybrid striped bass. *Gen Comp Endocrinol* (2016) 229:84–91. doi:10.1016/j.ygcen.2016.02.003
- Mullur R, Liu Y-Y, Brent GA. Thyroid hormone regulation of metabolism. *Physiol Rev* (2014) 94:355–82. doi:10.1152/physrev.00030.2013
- Fliers E, Klieverik LP, Kalsbeek A. Novel neural pathways for metabolic effects of thyroid hormone. *Trends Endocrinol Metab* (2010) 21:230–6. doi:10.1016/j.tem.2009.11.008
- Goodyear K. Effects of Thyroid Hormone Injections on Feeding and Appetite-Regulating Hormones in Goldfish (Carassius auratus), Biology. St John's: Memorial University of Newfoundland (2012). 35 p.
- 309. Zhang J, Sun P, Yang F, Kong T, Zhang R. Tributyltin disrupts feeding and energy metabolism in the goldfish (*Carassius auratus*). *Chemosphere* (2016) 152:221–8. doi:10.1016/j.chemosphere.2016.02.127
- 310. Li DP, Liu ZD, Xie CX. Effect of stocking density on growth and serum concentrations of thyroid hormones and cortisol in Amur sturgeon, *Acipenser schrenckii. Fish Physiol Biochem* (2012) 38:511–20. doi:10.1007/ s10695-011-9531-y
- 311. Navarro I, Rojas P, Capilla E, Albalat A, Castillo J, Montserrat N, et al. Insights into insulin and glucagon responses in fish. *Fish Physiol Biochem* (2002) 27:205–16. doi:10.1023/B:FISH.0000032726.78074.04
- 312. Kelley KM. Experimental diabetes mellitus in a teleost fish. I. Effect of complete isletectomy and subsequent hormonal treatment on metabolism in the goby, *Gillichthys mirabilis. Endocrinology* (1993) 132:2689–95. doi:10.1210/ en.132.6.2689
- Libran-Perez M, Velasco C, Otero-Rodino C, Lopez-Patino MA, Miguez JM, Soengas JL. Effects of insulin treatment on the response to oleate and octanoate

of food intake and fatty acid-sensing systems in rainbow trout. *Domest Anim Endocrinol* (2015) 53:124–35. doi:10.1016/j.domaniend.2015.06.004

- 314. Busby ER, Mommsen TP. Proglucagons in vertebrates: expression and processing of multiple genes in a bony fish. *Comp Biochem Physiol B Biochem Mol Biol* (2016) 199:58–66. doi:10.1016/j.cbpb.2016.02.004
- 315. Tang-Christensen M, Larsen PJ, Thulesen J, Rømer J, Vrang N. The proglucagonderived peptide, glucagon-like peptide-2, is a neurotransmitter involved in the regulation of food intake. *Nat Med* (2000) 6:802–7. doi:10.1038/77535
- 316. Turton MD, O'Shea D, Gunn I, Beak SA, Edwards CM, Meeran K, et al. A role for glucagon-like peptide-1 in the central regulation of feeding. *Nature* (1996) 379:69–72. doi:10.1038/379069a0
- Plisetskaya EM, Mommsen TP. Glucagon and glucagon-like peptides in fishes. Int Rev Cytol (1996) 168:187–257. doi:10.1016/S0074-7696(08)60885-2
- Roch GJ, Wu S, Sherwood NM. Hormones and receptors in fish: do duplicates matter? *Gen Comp Endocrinol* (2009) 161:3–12. doi:10.1016/j. ygcen.2008.10.017
- 319. Silverstein JT, Bondareva VM, Leonard JBK, Plisetskaya EM. Neuropeptide regulation of feeding in catfish, *Ictalurus punctatus*: a role for glucagon-like peptide-1 (GLP-1)? *Comp Biochem Physiol B Biochem Mol Biol* (2001) 129:623–31. doi:10.1016/S1096-4959(01)00357-8
- 320. Polakof S, Miguez JM, Soengas JL. Evidence for a gut-brain axis used by glucagon-like peptide-1 to elicit hyperglycaemia in fish. J Neuroendocrinol (2011) 23:508–18. doi:10.1111/j.1365-2826.2011.02137.x
- 321. Imeryüz N, Yeğen BC, Bozkurt A, Coşkun T, Villanueva-Peñacarrillo ML, Ulusoy NB. Glucagon-like peptide-1 inhibits gastric emptying via vagal afferent-mediated central mechanisms. *Am J Physiol* (1997) 273:G920–7.
- Boivin TG, Power G. Winter condition and proximate composition of anadromous Arctic charr (*Salvelinus alpinus*) in eastern Ungava Bay, Quebec. *Can J Zool* (1990) 68:2284–89. doi:10.1139/z90-319
- Dutil JD. Energetic constraints and spawning interval in the anadromous Arcticcharr(Salvelinusalpinus). Copeia (1986) 1986:945. doi:10.2307/1445291
- 324. Jobling M, Koskela J, Pirhonen J. Feeding time, feed intake and growth of baltic salmon, *Salmo salar*, and brown trout, *Salmo trutta*, reared in monoculture and duoculture at constant low temperature. *Aquaculture* (1998) 163:73–84. doi:10.1016/S0044-8486(98)00224-5
- 325. Jørgensen EH, Johansen SJS, Jobling M. Seasonal patterns of growth, lipid deposition and lipid depletion in anadromous Arctic charr. J Fish Biol (1997) 51:312–26. doi:10.1111/j.1095-8649.1997.tb01668.x
- 326. Saether BS, Johnsen HK, Jobling M. Seasonal changes in food consumption and growth of Arctic charr exposed to either simulated natural or a 12:12 LD photoperiod at constant water temperature. *J Fish Biol* (1996) 48:1113–22. doi:10.1006/jfbi.1996.0114
- 327. Tveiten H, Johnsen HK, Jobling M. Influence of maturity status on the annual cycles of feeding and growth in Arctic charr reared at constant temperature. *J Fish Biol* (1996) 48:910–24. doi:10.1111/j.1095-8649.1996.tb01486.x
- Jørgensen EH, Johnsen HK. Rhythmic life of the Arctic charr: adaptations to life at the edge. *Mar Genomics* (2014) 14:71–81. doi:10.1016/j. margen.2013.10.005
- Jobling M. Are compensatory growth and catch-up growth two sides of the same coin? Aquac Int (2010) 18:501–10. doi:10.1007/s10499-009-9260-8
- Jobling M, Miglavs I. The size of lipid depots a factor contributing to the control of food intake in Arctic charr, *Salvelinus alpinus*? *J Fish Biol* (1993) 43:487–9. doi:10.1111/j.1095-8649.1993.tb00583.x
- Rosenbaum M, Leibel RL. Role of leptin in energy homeostasis in humans. J Endocrinol (2014) 223:T83–96. doi:10.1530/JOE-14-0358
- 332. Frøiland E, Murashita K, Jørgensen EH, Kurokawa T. Leptin and ghrelin in anadromous Arctic charr: cloning and change in expressions during a seasonal feeding cycle. *Gen Comp Endocrinol* (2010) 165:136–43. doi:10.1016/j. ygcen.2009.06.010
- 333. Striberny A, Ravuri CS, Jobling M, Jorgensen EH. Seasonal differences in relative gene expression of putative central appetite regulators in Arctic charr (*Salvelinus alpinus*) do not reflect its annual feeding cycle. *PLoS One* (2015) 10:e0138857. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0138857
- 334. Bone Q, Moore RH. Biology of Fishes. New York: Taylor & Francis (2008).
- 335. Keenleyside MH, editor. *Cichlid Fishes: Behaviour, Ecology and Evolution.* Chapman and Hall (1991).
- 336. Oppenheimer JR. Mouthbreeding in fishes. Anim Behav (1970) 18(Pt 3): 493–503. doi:10.1016/0003-3472(70)90045-X

- Wolfgang M, Schierwater B. Energy expenditure for mouthbrooding in a cichlid fish. *Behav Ecol Sociobiol* (1988) 22:161–4. doi:10.1007/BF00300565
- Helfman GF, Collette BB, Facey DE, Bowen BW. *The Diversity of Fishes:* Biology, Evolution and Ecology. Hoboken, NJ: Wiley-Blackwell (2009).
- White SA, Fernald RD. Gonadotropin-releasing-hormone containing neurons change size with reproductive state in female *Haplochromis burtoni*. *J Neurosci* (1993) 13:434–41.
- 340. Nesjan E, Gutierrez-Ibanez C, Cameron JR, Merrigan S, Wylie DR, Hurd PL. Social status and GnRH soma size in female convict cichlids (*Amatitlania nigrofasciatus*). Behav Brain Res (2014) 272:205–8. doi:10.1016/j. bbr.2014.06.028
- 341. Grone BP, Carpenter RE, Lee M, Maruska KP, Fernald RD. Food deprivation explains effects of mouthbrooding on ovaries and steroid hormones, but not brain neuropeptide and receptor mRNAs, in an African cichlid fish. *Horm Behav* (2012) 62:18–26. doi:10.1016/j.yhbeh.2012.04.012
- 342. Tuziak SM, Volkoff H. Gonadotrophin-releasing hormone in winter flounder (*Pseudopleuronectes americanus*): molecular characterization, distribution and effects of fasting. *Gen Comp Endocrinol* (2013) 184:9–21. doi:10.1016/j. ygcen.2012.12.010
- 343. Wang T, Yuan D, Zhou C, Lin F, Chen H, Wu H, et al. Characterization of Schizothorax prenanti cgnrhII gene: fasting affects cgnrhII expression. J Fish Biol (2014) 85:407–20. doi:10.1111/jfb.12430
- Johansson M, Morgenroth D, Einarsdottir IE, Gong N, Bjornsson BT. Energy stores, lipid mobilization and leptin endocrinology of rainbow trout. *J Comp Physiol B* (2016) 186:759–73. doi:10.1007/s00360-016-0988-y
- Johansson M, Bjornsson BT. Elevated plasma leptin levels of fasted rainbow trout decrease rapidly in response to feed intake. *Gen Comp Endocrinol* (2015) 214:24–9. doi:10.1016/j.ygcen.2015.02.020
- 346. Jørgensen EH, Bernier NJ, Maule AG, Vijayan MM. Effect of long-term fasting and a subsequent meal on mRNA abundances of hypothalamic appetite regulators, central and peripheral leptin expression and plasma leptin levels in rainbow trout. *Peptides* (2015) 86:162–170. doi:10.1016/j. peptides.2015.08.010
- 347. Crim LW, Wilson CE, So YP, Idler DR, Johnston CE. Feeding, reconditioning, and rematuration responses of captive Atlantic salmon (*Salmo salar*) kelt. *Can J Fish Aquat Sci* (1992) 49:1835–42. doi:10.1139/f92-203
- Johnsen CA, Hagen O, Adler M, Jonsson E, Kling P, Bickerdike R, et al. Effects of feed, feeding regime and growth rate on flesh quality, connective plasma hormones in farmed Atlantic salmon (*Salmo salar L.*). *Aquaculture* (2011) 318:343–54. doi:10.1016/j.aquaculture.2011.05.040
- 349. Trombley S, Mustafa A, Schmitz M. Regulation of the seasonal leptin and leptin receptor expression profile during early sexual maturation and feed restriction in male Atlantic salmon, *Salmo salar* L., parr. *Gen Comp Endocrinol* (2014) 204:60–70. doi:10.1016/j.ygcen.2014.04.033
- Schneider JE, Blum RM, Wade GN. Metabolic control of food intake and estrous cycles in Syrian hamsters. I. Plasma insulin and leptin. *Am J Physiol Regul Integr Comp Physiol* (2000) 278:R476–85.
- 351. Kronfeld-Schor N, Richardson C, Silvia BA, Kunz TH, Widmaier EP. Dissociation of leptin secretion and adiposity during prehibernatory fattening in little brown bats. *Am J Physiol Regul Integr Comp Physiol* (2000) 279:R1277–81.
- 352. Nieminen P, Mustonen AM, Asikainen J, Hyvarinen H. Seasonal weight regulation of the raccoon dog (*Nyctereutes procyonoides*): interactions between melatonin, leptin, ghrelin, and growth hormone. *J Biol Rhythms* (2002) 17:155–63. doi:10.1177/074873002129002447
- 353. Arnould JPY, Morris MJ, Rawlins DR, Boyd IL. Variation in plasma leptin levels in response to fasting in Antarctic fur seals (*Arctocephalus* gazella). J Comp Physiol B (2002) 172:27-34. doi:10.1007/ s003600100224
- Jönsson E. The role of ghrelin in energy balance regulation in fish. Gen Comp Endocrinol (2013) 187:79–85. doi:10.1016/j.ygcen.2013.03.013
- 355. Hevrøy EM, Azpeleta C, Shimizu M, Lanzen A, Kaiya H, Espe M, et al. Effects of short-term starvation on ghrelin, GH-IGF system, and IGF-binding proteins in Atlantic salmon. *Fish Physiol Biochem* (2011) 37:217–32. doi:10.1007/ s10695-010-9434-3
- McMenamin SK, Parichy DM. Chapter five Metamorphosis in teleosts. In: Yun-Bo S, editor. *Current Topics in Developmental Biology*. Amsterdam: Academic Press (2013). p. 127–65.

- 357. Rønnestad I, Yúfera M, Ueberschär B, Ribeiro L, Saele Ø, Boglione C. Feeding behaviour and digestive physiology in larval fish: current knowledge, and gaps and bottlenecks in research. *Rev Aquac* (2013) 5:S59–98. doi:10.1111/ raq.12010
- Harboe T, Mangor-Jensen A, Moren M, Hamre K, Rønnestad I. Control of light condition affects the feeding regime and enables successful eye migration in Atlantic halibut juveniles. *Aquaculture* (2009) 290:250–5. doi:10.1016/j. aquaculture.2009.02.032
- 359. Rønnestad I, Kamisaka Y, Conceição LEC, Morais S, Tonheim SK. Digestive physiology of marine fish larvae: hormonal control and processing capacity for proteins, peptides and amino acids. *Aquaculture* (2007) 268:82–97. doi:10.1016/j.aquaculture.2007.04.031
- 360. Gomes A, Kamisaka Y, Harboe T, Power D, Rønnestad I. Functional modifications associated with gastrointestinal tract organogenesis during metamorphosis in Atlantic halibut (*Hippoglossus hippoglossus*). BMC Dev Biol (2014) 14:11. doi:10.1186/1471-213X-14-11
- 361. Darias MJ, Murray HM, Gallant JW, Douglas SE, Yúfera M, Martínez-Rodríguez G. Ontogeny of pepsinogen and gastric proton pump expression in red porgy (*Pagrus pagrus*): determination of stomach functionality. *Aquaculture* (2007) 270:369–78. doi:10.1016/j.aquaculture.2007.04.045
- 362. Douglas SE, Gawlicka A, Mandla S, Gallant JW. Ontogeny of the stomach in winter flounder: characterization and expression of the pepsinogen and proton pump genes and determination of pepsin activity. *J Fish Biol* (1999) 55:897–915. doi:10.1111/j.1095-8649.1999.tb00729.x
- 363. Murray HM, Gallant JW, Johnson SC, Douglas SE. Cloning and expression analysis of three digestive enzymes from Atlantic halibut (*Hippoglossus hippoglossus*) during early development: predicting gastrointestinal functionality. *Aquaculture* (2006) 252:394–408. doi:10.1016/j.aquaculture.2005.03.030
- 364. Yúfera M, Moyano FJ, Astola A, Pousão-Ferreira P, Martínez-Rodríguez G. Acidic digestion in a teleost: postprandial and circadian pattern of gastric pH, pepsin activity, and pepsinogen and proton pump mRNAs expression. *PLoS One* (2012) 7:e33687. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0033687
- 365. Kortner TM, Overrein I, Øie G, Kjorsvik E, Bardal T, Wold PA, et al. Molecular ontogenesis of digestive capability and associated endocrine control in Atlantic cod (*Gadus morhua*) larvae. *Comp Biochem Physiol Part* A Mol Integr Physiol (2011) 160:190–9. doi:10.1016/j.cbpa.2011.05.033
- 366. Kamisaka Y, Totland GK, Tagawa M, Kurokawa T, Suzuki T, Tanaka M, et al. Ontogeny of cholecystokinin-immunoreactive cells in the digestive tract of Atlantic halibut, *Hippoglossus hippoglossus*, larvae. *Gen Comp Endocrinol* (2001) 123:31–7. doi:10.1006/gcen.2001.7653
- 367. Ping HC, Feng K, Zhang GR, Wei KJ, Zou GW, Wang WM. Ontogeny expression of ghrelin, neuropeptide Y and cholecystokinin in blunt snout bream, *Megalobrama amblycephala. J Anim Physiol Anim Nutr* (2014) 98:338–46. doi:10.1111/jpn.12084
- 368. Einarsdóttir I, Power D, Jönsson E, Björnsson B. Occurrence of ghrelin-producing cells, the ghrelin receptor and Na+,K+-ATPase in tissues of Atlantic halibut (*Hippoglossus hippoglossus*) during early development. *Cell Tissue Res* (2011) 344:481–98. doi:10.1007/s00441-011-1158-x
- Manning AJ, Murray HM, Gallant JW, Matsuoka MP, Radford E, Douglas SE. Ontogenetic and tissue-specific expression of preproghrelin in the Atlantic halibut, *Hippoglossus hippoglossus* L. *J Endocrinol* (2008) 196:181–92. doi:10.1677/JOE-07-0517
- 370. Kvåle A, Mangor-Jensen A, Moren M, Espe M, Hamre K. Development and characterisation of some intestinal enzymes in Atlantic cod (*Gadus morhua* L.) and Atlantic halibut (*Hippoglossus hippoglossus* L.) larvae. *Aquaculture* (2007) 264:457–68. doi:10.1016/j.aquaculture.2006.12.024
- 371. Kamisaka Y, Rønnestad I. Reconstructed 3D models of digestive organs of developing Atlantic cod (*Gadus morhua*) larvae. *Mar Biol* (2011) 158:233–43. doi:10.1007/s00227-010-1554-x
- 372. Mukherjee A, Subhedar NK, Ghose A. Ontogeny of the cocaine- and amphetamine-regulated transcript (CART) neuropeptide system in the brain of zebrafish, *Danio rerio. J Comp Neurol* (2012) 520:770–97. doi:10.1002/ cne.22779
- 373. Mathieu M, Tagliafierro G, Bruzzone F, Vallarino M. Neuropeptide tyrosine-like immunoreactive system in the brain, olfactory organ and retina of the zebrafish, *Danio rerio*, during development. *Brain Res Dev Brain Res* (2002) 139:255–65. doi:10.1016/S0165-3806(02)00577-1
- 374. Demski LS, Northcutt RG. The terminal nerve: a new chemosensory system in vertebrates? *Science* (1983) 220:435–7. doi:10.1126/science.6836287

- Dietrich MO, Horvath TL. Feeding signals and brain circuitry. Eur J Neurosci (2009) 30:1688–96. doi:10.1111/j.1460-9568.2009.06963.x
- Williams KW, Elmquist JK. Lighting up the hypothalamus: coordinated control of feeding behavior. *Nat Neurosci* (2011) 14:277–8. doi:10.1038/ nn0311-277
- 377. Moguel-Hernández I, Peña R, Andree KB, Tovar-Ramirez D, Bonacic K, Dumas S, et al. Ontogeny changes and weaning effects in gene expression patterns of digestive enzymes and regulatory digestive factors in spotted rose snapper (*Lutjanus guttatus*) larvae. *Fish Physiol Biochem* (2016) 42:1319–34. doi:10.1007/s10695-016-0220-8
- Velasco C, Bonacic K, Soengas JL, Morais S. Orally administered fatty acids enhance anorectic potential but do not activate central fatty acid sensing in Senegalese sole post-larvae. *J Exp Biol* (2017) 220:677–85. doi:10.1242/ jeb.150979
- 379. Bonacic K, Campoverde C, Gomez-Arbones J, Gisbert E, Estevez A, Morais S. Dietary fatty acid composition affects food intake and gut-brain satiety signaling in Senegalese sole (*Solea senegalensis*, Kaup 1858) larvae and post-larvae. *Gen Comp Endocrinol* (2016) 228:79–94. doi:10.1016/j. ygcen.2016.02.002
- 380. Barahona-Fernandes MH, Conan G. Daily food intake of reared larvae of the European seabass (*Dicentrarchus labrax* L.) Statistical analysis and modelling. *ICES Symposium on the Early Life History of Fish*. Woods Hole (1981). p. 9–12.
- Govoni J, Boehlert G, Watanabe Y. The physiology of digestion in fish larvae. *Environ Biol Fishes* (1986) 16:59–77. doi:10.1007/BF00005160
- Parra G, Yúfera M. Comparative energetics during early development of two marine fish species, *Solea senegalensis* (Kaup) and *Sparus aurata* (L.). *J Exp Biol* (2001) 204:2175–83.
- Ai-Jun M, Xue-Zhou L, Yong-Jiang X, You L, Zhi-Meng Z. Feeding rhythm and growth of the tongue sole, *Cynoglossus semilaevis* Günther, during its early life stages. *Aquac Res* (2006) 37:586–93. doi:10.1111/j.1365-2109.2006.01466.x
- 384. Mata-Sotres JA, Martinez-Rodriguez G, Perez-Sanchez J, Sanchez-Vazquez FJ, Yufera M. Daily rhythms of clock gene expression and feeding behavior during the larval development in gilthead seabream, *Sparus* aurata. Chronobiol Int (2015) 32:1061–74. doi:10.3109/07420528.2015. 1058271
- Kotani T, Fushimi H. Determination of appropriate feeding schedules from diel feeding rhythms in finfish larviculture. *Aquaculture* (2011) 315:104–13. doi:10.1016/j.aquaculture.2010.10.032
- Volkoff H. Cloning, tissue distribution and effects of fasting on mRNA expression levels of leptin and ghrelin in red-bellied piranha (*Pygocentrus nattereri*). Gen Comp Endocrinol (2015) 217:20–7. doi:10.1016/j.ygcen.2015.05.004
- 387. Chen W-B, Wang X, Zhou Y-L, Dong H-Y, Lin H-R, Li W-S. Molecular cloning, tissue distribution and the expression in the regulation of food intake of prepro-orexin in Nile tilapia (*Oreochromis niloticus*). *Zoolog Res* (2011) 32:285–92. doi:10.3724/SPJ.1141.2011.03285
- Volkoff H, Esatevan Sabioni R, Coutinho LL, Cyrino JEP. Appetite regulating factors in pacu (*Piaractus mesopotamicus*): tissue distribution and effects of food quantity and quality on gene expression. *Comp Biochem Physiol Part A Mol Integr Physiol* (2017) 203:241–54. doi:10.1016/j.cbpa.2016.09.022
- Villars TA. Hormones and aggressive behavior in teleost fishes. In: Svare BB, editor. *Hormones and Aggressive Behavior*. Boston, MA: Springer US (1983). p. 407–33.
- 390. Demski LS. Feeding and aggressive behavior evoked by hypothalamic stimulation in a cichlid fish. *Comp Biochem Physiol A Physiol* (1973) 44:685–92. doi:10.1016/0300-9629(73)90134-5
- 391. Demski LS, Knigge KM. The telencephalon and hypothalamus of the bluegill (*Lepomis macrochirus*): evoked feeding, aggressive and reproductive behavior with representative frontal sections. *J Comp Neurol* (1971) 143:1–16. doi:10.1002/cne.901430102
- Backstrom T, Pettersson A, Johansson V, Winberg S. CRF and urotensin I effects on aggression and anxiety-like behavior in rainbow trout. *J Exp Biol* (2011) 214:907. doi:10.1242/jeb.045070
- Winberg S, Øverli Ø, Lepage O. Suppression of aggression in rainbow trout (Oncorhynchus mykiss) by dietary L-tryptophan. J Exp Biol (2001) 204:3867.
- 394. Krol J, Zakes Z. Effect of dietary L-tryptophan on cannibalism, survival and growth in pikeperch Sander lucioperca (L.) post-larvae. Aquac Int (2016) 24:441–51. doi:10.1007/s10499-015-9936-1
- 395. Hinaux H, Retaux S, Elipot Y. Chapter 17 Social behavior and aggressiveness in Astyanax A2 – Keene, Alex C. In: Yoshizawa M, McGaugh SE, editors. Biology

and Evolution of the Mexican Cavefish. Amsterdam: Academic Press (2016). p. 335–59.

- Elipot Y, Hinaux H, Callebert J, Retaux S. Evolutionary shift from fighting to foraging in blind cavefish through changes in the serotonin network. *Curr Biol* (2013) 23:1–10. doi:10.1016/j.cub.2012.10.044
- 397. Perez Maceira JJ, Mancebo MJ, Aldegunde M. The involvement of 5-HT-like receptors in the regulation of food intake in rainbow trout (*Oncorhynchus* mykiss). Comp Biochem Physiol C Toxicol Pharmacol (2014) 161:1–6. doi:10.1016/j.cbpc.2013.12.003
- Donovan M, Tecott L. Serotonin and the regulation of mammalian energy balance. Front Neurosci (2013) 7:36. doi:10.3389/fnins.2013.00036
- 399. Silva PIM, Martins CIM, Hoglund E, Gjøen HM, Øverli Ø. Feeding motivation as a personality trait in Nile tilapia (*Oreochromis niloticus*): role of serotonergic neurotransmission. *Fish Physiol Biochem* (2014) 40:1547–57. doi:10.1007/s10695-014-9947-2
- Gilmour KM, DiBattista JD, Thomas JB. Physiological causes and consequences of social status in salmonid fish. *Integr Comp Biol* (2005) 45:263–73. doi:10.1093/icb/45.2.263
- Wagner HJ. Vision in Fishes: An Introduction Encyclopedia of Fish Physiology. San Diego: Academic Press (2011). p. 98–101.
- 402. Trajano E, Bichuette ME, Kapoor BG. *Biology of Subterranean Fishes*. Enfield, NH; Boca Raton, FL: Science Publishers, CRC Press (2010).
- Yoshizawa M. Behaviors of cavefish offer insight into developmental evolution. *Mol Reprod Dev* (2015) 82:268–80. doi:10.1002/mrd.22471
- 404. Yoshizawa M. Chapter 13 The evolution of sensory adaptation in Astyanax mexicanus. In: Keene AC, Yoshizawa M, McGaugh SE, editors. Biology and Evolution of the Mexican Cavefish. Amsterdam: Academic Press (2016). p. 247–67.
- 405. Menuet A, Alunni A, Joly JS, Jeffery WR, Retaux S. Expanded expression of Sonic Hedgehog in Astyanax cavefish: multiple consequences on forebrain development and evolution. Development (2007) 134:845–55. doi:10.1242/ dev.02780
- 406. Parzefall J, Trajano E. Behavioral patterns in subterranean fishes. In: Trajano E, Bichuette ME, Kapoor BG, editors. *Biology of Subterranean Fishes*. Boca Raton, FL: Science Publishers (2010). p. 81–114.
- 407. Montgomery J, Coombs S, Baker C. The mechanosensory lateral line system of the hypogean form of Astyanax fasciatus. Environ Biol Fishes (2001) 62:87–96. doi:10.1023/A:1011873111454
- Yoshizawa M, Goriçki S, Soares D, Jeffery WR. Evolution of a behavioral shift mediated by superficial neuromasts helps cavefish find food in darkness. *Curr Biol* (2010) 20:1631–6. doi:10.1016/j.cub.2010.07.017
- 409. Jeffery W, Strickler A, Guiney S, Heyser D, Tomarev S. Prox 1 in eye degeneration and sensory organ compensation during development and evolution of the cavefish Astyanax. Dev Genes Evol (2000) 210:223–30. doi:10.1007/ s004270050308
- Retaux S, Elipot Y. Feed or fight: a behavioral shift in blind cavefish. Commun Integr Biol (2013) 6:e23166. doi:10.4161/cib.23166
- Duboue ER, Keene AC, Borowsky RL. Evolutionary convergence on sleep loss in cavefish populations. *Curr Biol* (2011) 21:671–6. doi:10.1016/j. cub.2011.03.020
- 412. Gregson JNS, Burt de Perera T. Shoaling in eyed and blind morphs of the characin Astyanax fasciatus under light and dark conditions. J Fish Biol (2007) 70:1615–9. doi:10.1111/j.1095-8649.2007.01430.x
- 413. Niemiller ML, Soares D. Cave environments. In: Riesch R, Tobler M, Plath M, editors. Extremophile Fishes: Ecology, Evolution, and Physiology of

Teleosts in Extreme Environments. Cham: Springer International Publishing (2015). p. 161-91.

- 414. Espinasa L, Bibliowicz J, Jeffery WR, Retaux S. Enhanced prey capture skills in Astyanax cavefish larvae are independent from eye loss. Evodevo (2014) 5:1–7. doi:10.1186/2041-9139-5-35
- Hüppop K. Food-finding ability in cave fish (Astyanax fasciatus). Int J Speleol (1987) 16:59–66. doi:10.5038/1827-806X.16.1.4
- 416. Mitchell RW, Russell WH, Elliott WR. Mexican Eyeless Characin Fishes, Genus Astyanax: Environment, Distribution, and Evolution. Lubbock, TX: Texas Tech Press (1977).
- 417. Volkoff H. Feeding behavior, starvation response, and endocrine regulation of feeding in Mexican blind cavefish (*Astyanax fasciatus mexicanus*). In: Keene AC, Yoshizawa M, EcGaugh SE, editors. *Biology and Evolution of the Mexican Cavefish*. Amsterdam: Academic Press (2015). p. 269–90.
- 418. Salin K, Voituron Y, Mourin J, Hervant F. Cave colonization without fasting capacities: an example with the fish Astyanax fasciatus mexicanus. Comp Biochem Physiol A Mol Integr Physiol (2010) 156:451–7. doi:10.1016/j. cbpa.2010.03.030
- 419. Aspiras AC, Rohner N, Martineau B, Borowsky RL, Tabin CJ. Melanocortin 4 receptor mutations contribute to the adaptation of cavefish to nutrient-poor conditions. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* (2015) 112:9668–73. doi:10.1073/ pnas.1510802112
- 420. Aranda A, Madrid JA, Sanchez-Vazquez EJ. Influence of light on feeding anticipatory activity in goldfish. J Biol Rhythms (2001) 16:50–7. doi:10.1177/074873040101600106
- 421. Shepherd DS. Feeding patterns and operant responding by wild and domesticated rats in self-maintenance conditions. *Behav Brain Res* (1986) 19:83–7. doi:10.1016/0166-4328(86)90050-1
- 422. Haider S, Pal R. Integrated analysis of transcriptomic and proteomic data. *Curr Genomics* (2013) 14:91–110. doi:10.2174/1389202911314020003
- 423. Hwang WY, Fu Y, Reyon D, Maeder ML, Tsai SQ, Sander JD, et al. Efficient genome editing in zebrafish using a CRISPR-Cas system. *Nat Biotechnol* (2013) 31:227–9. doi:10.1038/nbt.2501
- 424. Edvardsen RB, Leininger S, Kleppe L, Skaftnesmo KO, Wargelius A. Targeted mutagenesis in Atlantic salmon (*Salmo salar L.*) using the CRISPR/Cas9 system induces complete knockout individuals in the F0 generation. *PLoS One* (2014) 9:e108622. doi:10.1371/journal.pone. 0108622
- 425. Juntti SA, Hilliard AT, Kent KR, Kumar A, Nguyen A, Jimenez MA, et al. A neural basis for control of cichlid female reproductive behavior by prostaglandin F2alpha. *Curr Biol* (2016) 26:943–9. doi:10.1016/j.cub.2016.01.067

Conflict of Interest Statement: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2017 Rønnestad, Gomes, Murashita, Angotzi, Jönsson and Volkoff. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) or licensor are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





Non-Mammalian Vertebrates: Distinct Models to Assess the Role of Ion Gradients in Energy Expenditure

Caroline E. Geisler, Kyle P. Kentch and Benjamin J. Renquist*

School of Animal and Comparative Biomedical Science, University of Arizona, Tucson, AZ, United States

Animals store metabolic energy as electrochemical gradients. At least 50% of mammalian energy is expended to maintain electrochemical gradients across the inner mitochondrial membrane (H⁺), the sarcoplasmic reticulum (Ca⁺⁺), and the plasma membrane (Na+/K+). The potential energy of these gradients can be used to perform work (e.g., transport molecules, stimulate contraction, and release hormones) or can be released as heat. Because ectothermic species adapt their body temperature to the environment, they are not constrained by energetic demands that are required to maintain a constant body temperature. In fact, ectothermic species expend seven to eight times less energy than similarly sized homeotherms. Accordingly, ectotherms adopt low metabolic rates to survive cold, hypoxia, and extreme bouts of fasting that would result in energy wasting, lactic acidosis and apoptosis, or starvation in homeotherms, respectively. Ectotherms have also evolved unique applications of ion gradients to allow for localized endothermy. Endothermic avian species, which lack brown adipose tissue, have been integral in assessing the role of H⁺ and Ca⁺⁺ cycling in skeletal muscle thermogenesis. Accordingly, the diversity of non-mammalian vertebrate species allows them to serve as unique models to better understand the role of ion gradients in heat production, metabolic flux, and adaptation to stressors, including obesity, starvation, cold, and hypoxia.

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Maximilian Michel, University of Michigan, United States

Reviewed by:

Elisabeth Eppler, University of Basel, Switzerland Jon Ramsey, University of California, Davis, United States

*Correspondence:

Benjamin J. Renquist bjrenquist@email.arizona.edu

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Experimental Endocrinology, a section of the journal Frontiers in Endocrinology

Received: 30 January 2017 Accepted: 18 August 2017 Published: 01 September 2017

Citation:

Geisler CE, Kentch KP and Renquist BJ (2017) Non-Mammalian Vertebrates: Distinct Models to Assess the Role of Ion Gradients in Energy Expenditure. Front. Endocrinol. 8:224. doi: 10.3389/fendo.2017.00224 Keywords: ectotherm, endotherm, energy expenditure, membrane potential, mitochondrial membrane potential, H $^{+}$ gradient, Ca $^{++}$ gradient, Na $^{+}/K^{+}$ gradient

INTRODUCTION

The ease of genetic manipulation, the standard husbandry demands, and the well-established experimental methods have resulted in rodent model predominating the obesity field. Yet, the diversity of non-mammalian vertebrates, including both endothermic (birds and some fish) and ectothermic (amphibians, reptiles, and fish) species that have adapted to a variety of environments, provides unique opportunities to better understand the regulation of energy expenditure. The heterogeneity of species and environments to which they have adapted yield an abundance of unique attributes that can better help us understand energy expenditure. Herein, we review research in non-mammalian vertebrate control of electrochemical gradients and application of this work to mammalian species.

Basal metabolic rate is seven- to eightfold higher in mammals than in similarly sized ectotherms maintained at $37^{\circ}C(1, 2)$. Because ectothermic species have low levels of basal heat production, they

Abbreviations: UCP, uncoupling protein; ANT, adenine nucleotide translocase; NADH, nicotinamine adenine dinucleotide; ATP, adenosine triphosphate; ADP, adenosine diphosphate.

are sensitive models to identify the role of ion flux in altering heat production and basal metabolic rate. For example, egg brooding female pythons use whole body skeletal muscle contractions to facilitate endothermy and maintain a body temperature 9-13°C above ambient temperature (3, 4). This contraction-induced thermogenesis increases the oxygen consumption 22 times above baseline (5). In rat pups (22 days), maintenance of body temperature in an environment 9–13°C, colder than thermoneutral, increases oxygen consumption just two times above baseline (6). While in penguin chicks, a temperature drop of 10°C below the shivering threshold only increases oxygen consumption by 27%, while a temperature 25°C below the shivering threshold doubles oxygen consumption (7). Thus, the low basal metabolic rate of ectothermic vertebrate species allow for a uniquely sensitive model to perturbations in metabolic rate, while the endothermic bird provides a comparative model to better understand perturbations and adaptations that affect whole body and skeletal muscle energy expenditure in the absence of endothermic brown adipose tissue.

Herein, we review the lower vertebrate literature on energy expenditure with a focus on three ion gradients: the H⁺ gradient at the inner mitochondrial membrane, the Ca⁺⁺ gradient of the sarcoplasmic reticulum, and the Na⁺/K⁺ gradient across the plasma membrane. We further apply findings from the lower vertebrate literature to our current understanding of mammalian energy expenditure and its potential application to human health.

H⁺ GRADIENT

The H⁺ gradient is maintained in the inter-mitochondrial membrane space, created by electron transport chain activity

(Figure 1). This gradient is dissipated by H⁺ ion leak across the inner mitochondrial membrane, which can be exacerbated by uncoupling proteins (UCP) and adenine nucleotide translocases (ANT), or production of adenosine triphosphate (ATP) through ATP synthase. Accordingly, the mitochondrial density, innermitochondrial membrane surface area, expression and activity of electron transport chain proteins, and the expression of UCPs and ANTs that allow for H⁺ leak across the inner mitochondrial membrane are integral to heat production and energy expenditure.

Compared to endotherms, reptilian tissues have fewer mitochondria with less inner mitochondrial membrane surface area per mitochondria, resulting in 50% less inner mitochondrial membrane across which H⁺ can leak (1). Because the organs that are rich in mitochondria are smaller in ectotherms, whole body mitochondrial membrane surface area is four times greater in mammals than in reptiles of the same body size (8). The H⁺ gradient is established by electron transport chain activity and depressed by the release of H⁺ out of the inter-mitochondrial membrane space. With four times less membrane surface area, ectotherms have lower electron transport chain activity and H⁺ ion leak.

Electron Transport Chain

The decreased electron transport chain activity in ectotherms is not a result of decreased activity of proteins integral to oxidative phosphorylation (2, 9). ATP synthesis, expressed as a percentage of mitochondrial respiration, is similar in reptiles and mammals at similar body temperature (2). Inner mitochondrial membrane cytochrome *C* oxidase (complex IV) content and activity is also similar in fish and cattle (9). Moreover, when corrected for tissue protein content, cytochrome *C* oxidase activity is similar in





reptiles and mammals (10). Thus, the decreased electron transport chain activity in ectotherms is a result of decreased mitochondria numbers, mitochondrial size, mitochondrial membrane area, and a resulting decrease in total electron transport proteins rather than altered activity of the mitochondrial machinery.

The electron transport chain represents an important point of manipulation for energy expenditure in ectotherms. During hypoxia and cold exposure, electron transport chain activity can be depressed to accommodate the decreased cellular energy demand imposed by these conditions. Thus, in species not dependent on internal heat production, limiting cellular respiration is an adaptive response to environmental stress. In fact, ectothermy allows for adaptive whole body cooling and metabolic depression to prevent metabolic acidosis in response to hypoxia (11). Four months of *in vivo* hypoxia results in a severe decrease in adenosine diphosphate (ADP) stimulated respiration (State 3) and a decrease in ADP-independent respiration (State 4; H⁺ leak) from isolated skeletal muscle mitochondria (12). Hypoxia induces a characteristic rise in plasma lactate in frogs maintained at 7°C, while there is no change in plasma lactate in frogs maintained at 1.5°C (13). The rise in lactate at 7°C is a result of glycolytic flux exceeding the mitochondrial capacity for oxidation under hypoxic conditions. In turn, frogs or toads challenged with hypoxia chose to reside at lower temperatures, decrease their metabolic rate, and limit the metabolic disturbances associated with a lack of oxygen (13-15). In alligators, hypoxia leads to hypothermia in an adaptive effort to depress metabolic demands (16). Long-term exposure to hypoxia and 3°C water results in an adaptive decrease in skeletal muscle mitochondrial oxygen consumption by inhibiting flux through the electron transport chain and limiting H⁺ ion leak across the inner mitochondrial membrane (12, 17-19). Indeed, ectothermic species exploit the decrease in metabolic demand that accompanies low body temperatures to adapt to acute or chronic hypoxic environments (14).

Chronic hypoxia, due to a high altitude habitat, also regulates mitochondrial respiration. In a comparison of two closely related lizard species that live at different elevations, species adapted to high elevations had lower oxidative capacity and less ADPindependent respiration than species that inhabit lower elevations (20). Thus, adaptation to chronic hypoxia increased the efficiency of H⁺ ion gradient energy capture as ATP. Of note, mitochondria from lizards adapted to high elevations are less able to increase respiration in response to an increase in incubation temperature (20). Suggesting that there is an adaptive cost to the tight coupling between the H⁺ ion gradient and ATP synthesis.

In endotherms, cold exposure increases electron transport chain activity to promote endogenous heat production. Acute, 24 h, cold exposure in the chick increases expression of cytochrome *C* oxidase and NADH ubiquinone oxidoreductase (complex I) (21). Chronic cold exposure similarly increases cytochrome *C* oxidase activity as a result of increased mitochondria number and increased inner mitochondrial membrane area/mitochondrial volume (22). In small mammals, the primary thermogenic organ is brown adipose tissue. Chronic, 4 week, cold exposure in the tree shrew increases the cytochrome oxidase activity in brown adipose tissue to six times that observed in thermoneutral conditions (23). The same 4-week cold exposure increases liver cytochrome oxidase activity 2.7 times (23). In mice, skeletal muscle electron transport activity is increased by cold acclimation (24). Mice that lack UCP1 and the thermogenic potential of brown adipose tissue, display an increase in skeletal muscle mitochondria to accommodate an increased thermogenic role for skeletal muscle (24). Together these studies suggest that cold exposure increases electron transport chain activity and mitochondrial density similarly in endothermic avian and mammalian systems. The necessity to use a UCP1 knockout mouse to better assess the role of skeletal muscle in thermogenesis recommends that birds, which lack brown adipose tissue, may be better suited models to understand the role of skeletal muscle thermogenesis in response to environmental or dietary stimuli.

H⁺ Leak

H⁺ leak across the inner mitochondrial membrane uncouples the electron transport chain from oxidative phosphorylation, preventing the capture of energy as ATP and enhancing its release as heat. In rodent-based studies, heat production through H+ leak is primarily associated with the inducible thermogenesis observed in brown adipose tissue. However, the leak of H+ in liver and skeletal muscle mitochondria has been estimated to be responsible for 20% of basal energy expenditure in the rat (25). In fact, it accounts for 50% of respiration in perfused rat skeletal muscle (25). By comparing the respiration rate of mitochondria collected from rat and frog heart in the absence of ADP, Akhmerov showed that H⁺ ion leak was six- to sevenfold greater in isolated rat mitochondria than in isolated frog mitochondria (26). This may be in part explained by the inner mitochondrial membrane surface area per mitochondria being larger in mammals than in reptiles of a similar size (1). However, it may also be due to differences in the H⁺ gradient and membrane lipid composition.

Proton leak increases with mitochondrial membrane potential across species. Still, at the same mitochondrial membrane potential, H⁺ ion leak is approximately fivefold greater in the rat than in the bearded dragon (2). Other ectothermic species mute H⁺ leak by maintaining a lower mitochondrial membrane potential. In the rainbow trout, mitochondrial proton leak at a given membrane potential is higher than that observed in mitochondria from rat or pigeon (27). This is because membranes in cold-water fish species have a high degree of polyunsaturated fatty acyl groups to maintain membrane fluidity at low temperatures. The increase in polyunsaturation also increases ion permeability (28). To limit proton leak, the rainbow trout has low electron transport chain activity eliciting a low mitochondrial membrane potential. Accordingly, total proton leak is lower in the rainbow trout than in the endothermic rat and pigeon. Thus, proton leak can be manipulated by either altering electron transport chain activity and mitochondrial membrane potential or by changing H⁺ ion permeability.

Although proton leak is typically associated with heat production, increasing proton leak can also allow for metabolic flexibility. Accordingly, fish express UCP1, 2, and 3 (29, 30). In the carp, UCP1 is primarily expressed in the liver and expression is downregulated by a decrease in water temperature (30). The liver plays a central role in synthesizing and distributing glucose, ketones, and lipids to the rest of the body. Therefore, an increase in water and body temperature would increase the metabolic demand of non-hepatic tissues and necessitate expression of UCP1 to regenerate FAD+ and NAD+. In line with increased gluconeogenic demand, hepatic phosphoenolpyruvate carboxykinase (PEPCK) enzyme activity, essential for greater gluconeogenic flux, is increased in the Antarctic eelpout in response to a 5°C increase in water temperature (31). Thus, the direct relationship between temperature and UCP1 expression may encourage the regeneration of hepatic FAD⁺ and NAD⁺, essential for flux through β-oxidation to produce the acetyl-CoA necessary for ketogenesis while sparing amino acid oxidation. Accordingly, in the fish upregulation of UCP1 is not an adaptation to increase hepatic heat production, but instead to promote metabolic flexibility. Skeletal muscle primarily expresses UCP3 in both fish and rodents (30, 32). Interestingly, UCP3 is also similarly upregulated by fasting in both rodents and fish, while fasting increases proton leak from skeletal muscle mitochondria in the cane toad (15). As we proposed for UCP1 in liver, it has been proposed that this upregulation of UCP3-mediated H⁺ leak is essential for the increased reliance on fatty acid oxidation during a fast (32). Thus, studies of UCP regulation in fish can improve our understanding of UCP-mediated changes in metabolic flux without the demand for heat generation.

Conversely, some ectothermic fish species appear to manipulate H⁺ leak to warm-specific tissues above environmental temperature. Indeed, cold acclimation increases UCP1 expression in the optic tectum, a brain region important for sight, in the carp (33). This warms the brain's optic center to maintain eyesight in cold environments, through a mechanism similar to the Ca++ cycling-based heater organ in deep diving marine species (34, 35). In sharks, skeletal muscle endothermy is thought to increase swimming rate, allow for thermal niche expansion, and increase digestive enzyme activity and digestive system passage (36). The mako shark uses red muscle fibers for endothermia. Mitochondria from mako shark red muscle fibers and liver display increased succinate stimulated respiration and maintain membrane potentials that exceed that of mitochondria from two ectothermic sharks. Although mitochondria from all of these shark species have similar levels of proton leak at a given membrane potential, the increased proton gradient in mako sharks drives H⁺ leak and heat production (37). Together these studies suggest that heat production through H⁺ leak may be used in some ectothermic species to warm specific tissues or maintain a set minimal body temperature required for survival.

In endotherms (birds and mammals), proton leak decreases with increasing body mass and explains 67% of the variability in standard metabolic rate (27, 38, 39). Proton leak is robust in birds. In fact, liver mitochondrial proton leak in all birds studied, including the much larger emu and goose, exceeded that of the rat (39). Across bird species, the ratio of monounsaturated fatty acids in phospholipids increases with body mass (39). The increase in monounsaturated fatty acyl groups may play a role in the decreased proton leak associated with increased body mass. In fact, membranes rich in monounsaturated fatty acyl groups are typical in ectothermic species with low levels of membrane ion permeability (40).

In rodents, studies aimed at understanding the endothermic response to cold have focused on the role of UCP1-mediated H⁺

ion leak in brown adipose tissue (41). Brown adipose tissue is integral to the maintenance of homeothermy in newborn infants (42–44). However, in humans, the passage from newborn through childhood and into adulthood results in a decrease in the amount of UCP in adipose tissue, suggestive of a reduction in metabolically active brown adipose tissue (45). The recent identification of brown adipose tissue depots near the clavicle in the adult human has spurred a resurgence in research aimed at better understanding the role of brown adipose tissue in energy expenditure of adult humans (46, 47). Yet the relative mass of brown adipose tissue in the adult human is minimal (168 \pm 56 cm³). Accordingly, animal models that lack brown adipose tissue may provide a better understanding of the role of H⁺ leak in the thermogenesis of other tissues (48).

Birds, which lack brown adipose tissue, are uniquely suited to address the role of H⁺ leak in the endothermic response to environmental stimuli (cold or fasting). Avian UCP is expressed in skeletal muscle and increases in cold acclimated ducklings and penguins (49, 50). Proton leak across the inner mitochondrial membrane is higher in skeletal muscle from penguins that have been exposed repeatedly to cold water over 20 days. Teulier et al. observed that cold exposure of ducklings increased whole animal metabolic rate and ADP-stimulated oxidative phosphorylation. Surprisingly, despite the upregulation of avian UCP expression, there was no effect of cold acclimation on the efficiency of ATP synthesis or non-phosphorylating respiration. Accordingly, Teulier et al. propose that avian UCP primarily increases heat production by increasing aerobic skeletal muscle metabolic flux, rather than enhancing H⁺ leak (51).

In addition to the UCPs, the ANT may encourage proton leak through the inner mitochondrial membrane (52). Avian ANT protein expression increases in response to repeated cold water immersion (50). Therefore, both ANT and UCP are upregulated in cold acclimated birds and may be integral to the maintenance of body temperature through upregulated skeletal muscle thermogenesis. During a fast, the maintenance of body temperature may partially depend on mitochondrial H⁺ leak. Skeletal muscle avian UCP expression increases with glucagon treatment in ducklings (49). In the hummingbird, which undergoes torpor every night to endure an extended fast, skeletal muscle UCP expression increases during torpor and likely serves to help the bird re-warm from the torpid state (53). Thus, skeletal muscle is an integral site of mitochondrial proton leak, a key source of heat production in endotherms.

Ca++ CYCLING

Non-mammalian vertebrates have been integral to understanding the thermogenic potential of Ca^{++} cycling. Both fish and birds use Ca^{++} cycling to generate body heat independent of locomotion. To understand the unique physiological adaptations that each have evolved, we must first understand the basis of the Ca^{++} cycle. Within skeletal muscle the sarco/endoplasmic reticulum Ca^{++} ATPase (SERCA) pumps Ca^{++} from the cytosol into the sarcoplasmic reticulum against the concentration gradient, while hydrolyzing an ATP to ADP and inorganic phosphate. The hydrolysis of ATP releases some energy as heat. The remainder of the energy is released as heat when Ca^{++} leaks from the sarcoplasmic reticulum into the cytosol down the electrochemical gradient (**Figure 1**). This cycle is essential for calcium oscillations in muscle that allow for contraction.

Marlin, swordfish, and tuna all have an endothermic "heater" organ that raises the temperature of the brain and eye (35, 54-56). This heater organ is a highly vascularized, modified eye muscle rich in mitochondria and cytochrome oxidase activity (35, 54–56). By maintaining the central nervous system and eyes at temperatures above ambient temperature, the heater organ improves eye sight and central nervous system function in cold ambient temperatures (35, 56-58). Warming the retina improves temporal resolution up to 10-fold, giving these deep diving, visual predators a crucial advantage over prey species (56). In addition to being mitochondria rich (68% of total cell volume), the heater organ contains a great deal of sarcoplasmic reticulum rich in SERCA1b and the ryanodine receptor 1 (34, 55). This encourages heat production from ATP hydrolysis as the SERCA pumps Ca++ into the sarcoplasmic reticulum and additional heat production as that Ca++ flows through the ryanodine receptor 1 down the concentration gradient back into the cytosol (34). The lack of contractile proteins uniquely positions the heater organ to take full advantage of heat generation by calcium cycling without motor consequence (58).

Cold exposure increases basal metabolic rate in birds, rodents, and humans (59-62). However, unlike rodents, which rely heavily on brown adipose tissue for thermogenesis, birds lack brown adipose tissue and rely more heavily on skeletal muscle thermogenesis. In the Muscovy duck, in vivo cold exposure increases ex vivo skeletal muscle oxygen consumption by 25% (63). Acute cold exposure of ducklings increases cardiac output and directs blood flow toward thermogenic sites, resulting in a 130% increase in skeletal muscle blood flow (64), indicating that skeletal muscle is the primary thermogenic organ in the duckling. In fact, birds rely on skeletal muscle calcium cycling to maintain body temperature at low environmental temperatures. Accordingly, acute 24-h cold-exposure increases skeletal muscle Ca++ ATPase activity (21). Cold acclimation over 5 weeks in ducklings increases sarcoplasmic reticulum SERCA1, SERCA2, and ryanodine receptor expression and activity as evidenced by increased Ca++ uptake and ryanodine binding (65, 66). The increase in Ca++ cycling leads to an increased resting metabolic rate, ATP demand, and oxygen consumption in cold acclimated birds (63, 67, 68). This is accommodated by increased expression of components of the electron transport chain, including cytochrome C and NADH ubiquinone oxidoreductase (21).

Interestingly, cold exposure stimulates lipolysis in birds, rodents, and humans (21, 62, 69). Mobilized lipids provide a source of carbons to meet this increased metabolic demand associated with maintaining body temperature. Accordingly, in the mouse, fatty acid translocase (cd36) knockout prevents the maintenance of body temperature in response to cold exposure (70). Moreover, cold acclimation in the sparrow increases pectoralis cd36 protein expression by 46% (71). In addition to acting as a carbon source, these lipids may modulate the degree of Ca⁺⁺ cycling. Long-chain acyl carnitines accumulate in the skeletal muscle of cold acclimated ducklings. Palmitoyl (16 C) carnitine

activates Ca^{++} release from duckling skeletal muscle sarcoplasmic reticulum (72). Thus, this skeletal muscle non-esterified fatty acid accumulation and the potential downstream consequences are conserved from birds to rodents and humans (62).

Data from the partially endothermic fish species and homeothermic avian species has established the thermogenic potential of skeletal muscle and the role of skeletal muscle calcium cycling in heat generation and body temperature maintenance. More recently, studies focused on sarcolipin (SLN), a protein that uncouples ATP hydrolysis from sarcoplasmic reticulum Ca++ sequestration, have elucidated a mechanism by which mammals use this calcium sequestration machinery to generate heat (73). Normally, SERCA hydrolyzes ATP and uses the majority of that energy to pump Ca++ from the cytoplasm against a concentration gradient into the sarcoplasmic reticulum, while releasing the remaining energy as heat. By decreasing Ca++ sequestration, SLN increases the heat released per mol of ATP hydrolyzed by more than 50% (74-76). The Periasamy laboratory has conducted a set of elegant studies to investigate the role of SLN in the response to thermogenic and dietary challenges (77, 78). They first showed that UCP1 knockout mice, which lack the thermogenic potential of brown adipose tissue, express more SLN in skeletal muscle (78). SLN overexpression in skeletal muscle increases oxygen consumption (77). This increase in skeletal muscle oxygen consumption translates to whole body energy metabolism, as SLN overexpressing mice lose weight when pair fed with wild-type mice. Furthermore, when challenged with a high fat diet, these SLN overexpressing mice eat more yet gain less body weight than wild-type mice (77). These findings in the mouse may translate to humans, as obesity alters methylation in the promoter of the ryanodine receptor 1 gene (79). In fact, this effect on the RYR1 promoter is the most prominent methylation response to obesity, most heavily affected. Moreover, the normal pattern of methylation can be restored with weight loss (79).

Fish and birds have been essential in establishing the role of calcium cycling and the SERCAs in energy expenditure and heat production. Deep water fish have developed a unique tissue with specified function to maintain brain and eye temperatures during exposure to deep cold ocean waters, while endothermic birds establish the potential for skeletal muscle to act as a thermogenic organ. New research reporting that calcium cycling is important for body weight regulation in rodents provides an exciting new avenue for drug development to combat obesity. Humans and birds both express higher levels of SLN than mice, recommending that birds may be a valuable model organism for assessing the role of SLN in body weight regulation.

PLASMA MEMBRANE POTENTIAL

The maintenance of the plasma membrane potential is a critical component of cellular homeostasis and requires the tight regulation of intracellular ion concentrations. Passive ion channels and active transport pumps establish Na⁺, K⁺, and Cl⁻ electrochemical gradients across the plasma membrane that are essential for fundamental cellular processes. Transport of molecules both into and out of the cell, hormone secretion, muscle contraction, and neuronal communication are all dependent on the maintenance of resting membrane potential and utilization of these energetically favorable ion gradients. The Na^+/K^+ ATPase is the primary active pump driving cellular membrane potential (**Figure 1**).

Na⁺/K⁺ ATPase activity represents a major cellular energy demand and significant portion of resting metabolic activity. At the whole animal level, the Na⁺/K⁺ ATPase accounts for ~25% of ATP consumption in mammals (80). However, this can vary widely by tissue. In the liver, Na⁺/K⁺ ATPase activity constitutes ~10% of cellular energy use, while this rises to 60% in brain and kidney (81). Comparing the relative contribution of energy consuming processes between endotherms and ectotherms, 60 and 54% of cellular respiration is directed toward ATP production, of which ~13.3 and ~18.5% is consumed by the Na⁺/K⁺ ATPase in rat and lizard hepatocytes, respectively (2, 82). Since the respiration rate of rat hepatocytes is about four times that of lizard hepatocytes, 5.6 times more ATP is allocated toward Na⁺/K⁺ ATPase activity.

While endotherms and ectotherms maintain similar Na⁺/K⁺ ATPase densities across tissue type, the molecular activity of the pump is four to five times higher in endotherms (83). Accordingly, the plasma membrane passive permeability to both Na⁺ and K⁺ is four- to ninefold greater in endotherms than in ectotherms at the same temperature (84–86). Thus, to maintain established ion gradients, the leakier cell membranes of endotherms require more active Na⁺/K⁺ ATPase. Increased total ion flux in endotherms may be an evolutionary adaptation to increase heat production. The resulting higher activity of the Na⁺/K⁺ ATPase, in part, accounts for the greater level of energy expenditure in endotherms.

The lipid composition of the plasma membrane has a primary role in regulating Na⁺/K⁺ ATPase activity. Among ectotherms, the degree of membrane polyunsaturation is significantly correlated with Na⁺/K⁺ ATPase activity (87). In membrane crossover experiments, reconstitution of the Na⁺/K⁺ ATPase of an ectotherm (cane toad or crocodile) in the more polyunsaturated membrane of an endotherm (rat or cattle) increases pump activity by 40-180% while reconstitution in the reverse direction decreases Na⁺/K⁺ ATPase activity by 40–250% (88, 89). Thus, the inherent properties of the plasma membrane strongly regulate Na⁺/K⁺ ATPase activity. Interestingly, membranes of cold water fish have higher levels of unsaturated phospholipids than their warm water counterparts (90). In carp liver slices, exposure to decreasing temperatures immediately inhibits the synthesis of saturated fatty acids and stimulates desaturase activity (91). Across fish species, acclimation to low temperatures increases the degree of membrane fatty acyl unsaturation, stimulating Na⁺/ K⁺ ATPase activity to compensate for the cold-induced decline in enzyme activity (92). Ectotherms adapt to temperature by changing membrane composition, representing a key regulatory mechanism by which activity of membrane-integrated enzymes, including the Na⁺/K⁺ ATPase, are altered to maintain membrane potential in the face of variable environmental conditions. Still, temperature changes have a more robust effect on active pump processes than passive ion leak, giving rise to the possibility of temperature disrupted ion gradients. In fact, in skeletal muscle of cane toads, bullfrogs, and black racer snakes, intracellular Na+ concentrations are higher at 20°C compared to 30°C, suggestive of decreased Na⁺/K⁺ ATPase activity with increasing environmental

temperature (93). In cold-adapted species, activity of the Na⁺/K⁺ ATPase is less temperature sensitive, limiting temperaturedependent changes in membrane potential. In fact, the molecular activity of the Na⁺/K⁺ ATPase from an Antarctic octopus is 400% greater than that of the temperate octopus at 10°C (94).

Many ectotherms that overwinter underground or are exposed to prolonged water submersion have developed strategies to tolerate hypoxia. Turtles can spend over half of their life in an overwintering state and survive sustained periods of anoxia (95). In the western painted turtle hepatocyte, 28% of total cellular ATP is utilized by the Na⁺/K⁺ ATPase in normoxia (96). In response to anoxia, the Na⁺/K⁺ ATPase activity decreases by 75%, but accounts for nearly three-fourth of total cellular ATP turnover. Suppressed Na⁺/K⁺ ATPase activity is partially mediated by adenosine signaling which is robustly stimulated during anoxia (97). Ion gradients and plasma membrane potential are maintained during anoxia. Thus, passive ion flux must be downregulated in anoxia to match the decrease in active ion transport. In the turtle, neurons adapt to low oxygen by limiting K⁺ leak through a fivefold reduction in the open probability of Ca⁺⁺ gated K⁺ channels (98). However, not all ectotherms can maintain ion gradients when challenged with low oxygen. In rainbow trout hepatocytes, an anoxia-intolerant species, cellular ATP content, and Na⁺/K⁺ ATPase activity are rapidly reduced by anoxia while K⁺ efflux rates exceed K⁺ influx up to eightfold (99). In the anoxia-tolerant goldfish, anoxia diminishes K⁺ efflux to match the decline in Na⁺/K⁺ ATPase activity, resulting in a net flux of K⁺ close to 0. Therefore, downregulating ion leak and allocating a greater percentage of total cellular ATP to the Na⁺/K⁺ ATPase appear to be principal strategies in maintaining membrane potential during metabolic arrest in anoxia-tolerant species.

This comparison between anoxia tolerant and intolerant fish species recommends that hypoxia-induced cellular damage may be limited by inhibiting K⁺ efflux channels within cells. Indeed, hypoxia induces K⁺ efflux in mammalian tissues (100-102). In fact, inhibition of K⁺ efflux across the plasma membrane prevents neuronal apoptosis in rats subjected to transient middle cerebral artery occlusion to induce hypoxia and ischemia or in serum-starved apoptosis-induced mouse neocortical neurons (103). In addition, the role of K⁺ efflux in hypoxia-induced apoptosis may be used to better understand the resistance of cancer to hypoxia-induced apoptosis. Several human cancers express low levels of K⁺ channels, preventing K⁺ efflux, and resulting in resistance to apoptosis (104). As in the anoxia tolerant goldfish, this diminished K⁺ efflux, allows cancer cells to maintain a nearly normal membrane potential in the face of depressed Na⁺/K⁺ ATPase activity. Thus, the strategies developed by anoxia tolerant species may be used to limit hypoxia induced tissue damage caused by cardiac arrest or arterial occlusion, while the sensitivity of anoxia intolerant species may provide insight into treatments that will diminish the hypoxia resistance observed in cancer.

CONCLUSION

Maintaining ion gradients demands at least 50% of mammalian resting metabolic energy expenditures. By adapting body temperature to the environment, ectotherms are not reliant on ion flux down the mitochondrial membrane H⁺, sarcoplasmic reticulum Ca++, or plasma membrane Na+/K+ gradients for internal heat generation. Because they are not as stringently dependent on the energetic costs of endogenous thermoregulation, ectotherms can manipulate these ion gradients to adapt to a wide range of environments and stressors. Like mammals, avian species are constrained by the demands of homeothermy. Yet, they lack the endothermic brown adipose tissue depots that constrain interpretation of rodent-based findings. In turn, having adapted to a range of environments, avian species provide an ideal comparative model to understand the regulation of ion flux to manipulate heat generation. The diversity of non-mammalian vertebrate species and environmental niches to which they have adapted provide unique insight into ion gradients that are lacking in studies of mammalian species. Ectothermic fish manipulate H+ and Ca⁺⁺ leak to warm-specific tissues, providing ideal models to further investigate the regulation of ion leak. Avian species have been essential in establishing the importance of skeletal muscle mitochondrial density and Ca++ ATPase activity in thermogenesis. Recent work highlighting the role of SLN in mammalian body weight homeostasis validates the application of these avian studies to understand mammalian physiology. Finally, studies that compare the ability of anoxia tolerant and intolerant fish species to

REFERENCES

- 1. Else PL, Hulbert AJ. Comparison of the "mammal machine" and the "reptile machine": energy production. *Am J Physiol* (1981) 240:R3–9.
- 2. Brand MD, Couture P, Else PL, Withers KW, Hulbert AJ. Evolution of energy metabolism. Proton permeability of the inner membrane of liver mitochondria is greater in a mammal than in a reptile. *Biochem J* (1991) 275(Pt 1):81–6. doi:10.1042/bj2750081
- Slip DJ, Shine R. Reptilian endothermy: a field study of thermoregulation by brooding diamond pythons. *J Zool* (1988) 216:367–78. doi:10.1111/ j.1469-7998.1988.tb02435.x
- Hutchison VH, Dowling HG, Vinegar A. Thermoregulation in a brooding female Indian python, *Python molurus* bivittatus. *Science* (1966) 151:694–6. doi:10.1126/science.151.3711.694
- Harlow P, Grigg G. Shivering thermogenesis in a brooding diamond python, *Python spilotes spilotes. Copeia* (1984) 1984:959–65. doi:10.2307/1445340
- Taylor PM. Oxygen consumption in new-born rats. J Physiol (1960) 154:153–68. doi:10.1113/jphysiol.1960.sp006570
- Duchamp C, Barre H, Delage D, Rouanet JL, Cohen-Adad F, Minaire Y. Nonshivering thermogenesis and adaptation to fasting in king penguin chicks. *Am J Physiol* (1989) 257:R744–51.
- Else PL, Hulbert AJ. An allometric comparison of the mitochondria of mammalian and reptilian tissues: the implications for the evolution of endothermy. J Comp Physiol B (1985) 156:3–11. doi:10.1007/BF00692920
- Wilson MT, Bonaventura J, Brunori M. Mitochondrial cytochrome content and cytochrome oxidase activity of some Amazonian fish. *Comp Biochem Physiol A Physiol* (1979) 62:245–9. doi:10.1016/0300-9629(79)90763-1
- Hulbert AJ, Else PL. Evolution of mammalian endothermic metabolism: mitochondrial activity and cell composition. Am J Physiol (1989) 256:R63–9.
- Donohoe PH, Boutilier RG. The protective effects of metabolic rate depression in hypoxic cold submerged frogs. *Respir Physiol* (1998) 111:325–36. doi:10.1016/S0034-5687(97)00125-4
- St-Pierre J, Tattersall GJ, Boutilier RG. Metabolic depression and enhanced O(2) affinity of mitochondria in hypoxic hypometabolism. *Am J Physiol Regul Integr Comp Physiol* (2000) 279:R1205–14.
- Tattersall GJ, Boutilier RG. Balancing hypoxia and hypothermia in coldsubmerged frogs. J Exp Biol (1997) 200:1031–8.

maintain plasma membrane potential may be applied to prevent the damage associated with stroke- or cardiac arrest-induced hypoxia and ischemia. In addition, these studies can be applied to exacerbate sensitivity to hypoxia in cancer. The vast number of lower vertebrate species and the varied environments to which they have adapted allow for unique research opportunities that can be exploited to expand our knowledge of mechanisms underlying metabolic flux, energy expenditure, and body weight regulation.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

CG, KK, and BR all made substantial contributions to the conceptual framework of this review, participated in the drafting and revising of the manuscript, approved this final version for submission, and agreed to be accountable for all aspects of the work.

FUNDING

This work is supported by the National Institute of Food and Agriculture, U.S. Department of Agriculture, under award number 2015-70007-24236 and by the U.S. Department of Agriculture Western Regional Aquaculture Center award entitled Efficient, rapid assay for predicting the growth rate of aquaculture species based on metabolic rate of the fertilized egg.

- 14. Wood SC, Malvin GM. Physiological significance of behavioral hypothermia in hypoxic toads (*Bufo marinus*). J Exp Biol (1991) 159:203–15.
- Trzcionka M, Withers KW, Klingenspor M, Jastroch M. The effects of fasting and cold exposure on metabolic rate and mitochondrial proton leak in liver and skeletal muscle of an amphibian, the cane toad *Bufo marinus*. J Exp Biol (2008) 211:1911–8. doi:10.1242/jeb.016519
- Branco LG, Portner HO, Wood SC. Interaction between temperature and hypoxia in the alligator. *Am J Physiol* (1993) 265:R1339–43.
- Boutilier RG, St-Pierre J. Adaptive plasticity of skeletal muscle energetics in hibernating frogs: mitochondrial proton leak during metabolic depression. *J Exp Biol* (2002) 205:2287–96.
- St-Pierre J, Brand MD, Boutilier RG. The effect of metabolic depression on proton leak rate in mitochondria from hibernating frogs. *J Exp Biol* (2000) 203:1469–76.
- St-Pierre J, Boutilier RG. Aerobic capacity of frog skeletal muscle during hibernation. *Physiol Biochem Zool* (2001) 74:390–7. doi:10.1086/320428
- Tang X, Xin Y, Wang H, Li W, Zhang Y, Liang S, et al. Metabolic characteristics and response to high altitude in *Phrynocephalus erythrurus* (Lacertilia: Agamidae), a lizard dwell at altitudes higher than any other living lizards in the world. *PLoS One* (2013) 8:e71976. doi:10.1371/journal. pone.0071976
- Hirabayashi M, Ijiri D, Kamei Y, Tajima A, Kanai Y. Transformation of skeletal muscle from fast- to slow-twitch during acquisition of cold tolerance in the chick. *Endocrinology* (2005) 146:399–405. doi:10.1210/ en.2004-0723
- Duchamp C, Barre H, Rouanet JL, Lanni A, Cohen-Adad F, Berne G, et al. Nonshivering thermogenesis in king penguin chicks. I. Role of skeletal muscle. *Am J Physiol* (1991) 261:R1438–45.
- Zhang L, Yang F, Wang ZK, Zhu WL. Role of thermal physiology and bioenergetics on adaptation in tree shrew (*Tupaia belangeri*): the experiment test. *Sci Rep* (2017) 7:41352. doi:10.1038/srep41352
- 24. Shabalina IG, Hoeks J, Kramarova TV, Schrauwen P, Cannon B, Nedergaard J. Cold tolerance of UCP1-ablated mice: a skeletal muscle mitochondria switch toward lipid oxidation with marked UCP3 up-regulation not associated with increased basal, fatty acid- or ROS-induced uncoupling or enhanced GDP effects. *Biochim Biophys Acta* (2010) 1797:968–80. doi:10.1016/j. bbabio.2010.02.033

- Rolfe DF, Brand MD. Contribution of mitochondrial proton leak to skeletal muscle respiration and to standard metabolic rate. *Am J Physiol* (1996) 271:C1380–9.
- Akhmerov RN. Qualitative difference in mitochondria of endothermic and ectothermic animals. *FEBS Lett* (1986) 198:251–5. doi:10.1016/0014-5793(86)80415-X
- Brookes PS, Buckingham JA, Tenreiro AM, Hulbert AJ, Brand MD. The proton permeability of the inner membrane of liver mitochondria from ectothermic and endothermic vertebrates and from obese rats: correlations with standard metabolic rate and phospholipid fatty acid composition. *Comp Biochem Physiol B Biochem Mol Biol* (1998) 119:325–34. doi:10.1016/ S0305-0491(97)00357-X
- Dey I, Buda C, Wiik T, Halver JE, Farkas T. Molecular and structural composition of phospholipid membranes in livers of marine and freshwater fish in relation to temperature. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* (1993) 90:7498–502. doi:10.1073/pnas.90.16.7498
- Wen ZY, Liang XF, He S, Li L, Shen D, Tao YX. Molecular cloning and tissue expression of uncoupling protein 1, 2 and 3 genes in Chinese perch (*Siniperca chuatsi*). *Comp Biochem Physiol B Biochem Mol Biol* (2015) 185:24–33. doi:10.1016/j.cbpb.2015.03.005
- Jastroch M, Wuertz S, Kloas W, Klingenspor M. Uncoupling protein 1 in fish uncovers an ancient evolutionary history of mammalian nonshivering thermogenesis. *Physiol Genomics* (2005) 22:150–6. doi:10.1152/ physiolgenomics.00070.2005
- Windisch HS, Kathover R, Portner HO, Frickenhaus S, Lucassen M. Thermal acclimation in Antarctic fish: transcriptomic profiling of metabolic pathways. *Am J Physiol Regul Integr Comp Physiol* (2011) 301:R1453–66. doi:10.1152/ ajpregu.00158.2011
- Samec S, Seydoux J, Russell AP, Montani JP, Dulloo AG. Skeletal muscle heterogeneity in fasting-induced upregulation of genes encoding UCP2, UCP3, PPARgamma and key enzymes of lipid oxidation. *Pflugers Arch* (2002) 445:80–6. doi:10.1007/s00424-002-0879-9
- 33. Jastroch M, Buckingham JA, Helwig M, Klingenspor M, Brand MD. Functional characterisation of UCP1 in the common carp: uncoupling activity in liver mitochondria and cold-induced expression in the brain. *J Comp Physiol B* (2007) 177:743–52. doi:10.1007/s00360-007-0171-6
- Morrissette JM, Franck JP, Block BA. Characterization of ryanodine receptor and Ca2⁺-ATPase isoforms in the thermogenic heater organ of blue marlin (*Makaira nigricans*). J Exp Biol (2003) 206:805–12. doi:10.1242/jeb.00158
- Runcie RM, Dewar H, Hawn DR, Frank LR, Dickson KA. Evidence for cranial endothermy in the opah (*Lampris guttatus*). J Exp Biol (2009) 212:461–70. doi:10.1242/jeb.022814
- Newton KC, Wraith J, Dickson KA. Digestive enzyme activities are higher in the shortfin mako shark, *Isurus oxyrinchus*, than in ectothermic sharks as a result of visceral endothermy. *Fish Physiol Biochem* (2015) 41:887–98. doi:10.1007/s10695-015-0055-8
- Duong CA, Sepulveda CA, Graham JB, Dickson KA. Mitochondrial proton leak rates in the slow, oxidative myotomal muscle and liver of the endothermic shortfin mako shark (*Isurus oxyrinchus*) and the ectothermic blue shark (*Prionace glauca*) and leopard shark (*Triakis semifasciata*). J Exp Biol (2006) 209:2678–85. doi:10.1242/jeb.02317
- Porter RK, Brand MD. Body mass dependence of H⁺ leak in mitochondria and its relevance to metabolic rate. *Nature* (1993) 362:628–30. doi:10.1038/ 362628a0
- Brand MD, Turner N, Ocloo A, Else PL, Hulbert AJ. Proton conductance and fatty acyl composition of liver mitochondria correlates with body mass in birds. *Biochem J* (2003) 376:741–8. doi:10.1042/bj20030984
- Hulbert AJ, Augee ML, Raison JK. The influence of thyroid hormones on the structure and function of mitochondrial membranes. *Biochim Biophys Acta* (1976) 455:597–601. doi:10.1016/0005-2736(76)90328-X
- Ukropec J, Anunciado RP, Ravussin Y, Hulver MW, Kozak LP. UCP1independent thermogenesis in white adipose tissue of cold-acclimated Ucp1-/-mice. J Biol Chem (2006) 281:31894–908. doi:10.1074/jbc.M606114200
- 42. Aherne W, Hull D. Brown adipose tissue and heat production in the newborn infant. *J Pathol Bacteriol* (1966) 91:223–34. doi:10.1002/path.1700910126
- Hu HH, Wu TW, Yin L, Kim MS, Chia JM, Perkins TG, et al. MRI detection of brown adipose tissue with low fat content in newborns with hypothermia. *Magn Reson Imaging* (2014) 32:107–17. doi:10.1016/j.mri.2013.10.003

- Plattner O, Semsroth M, Sessler DI, Papousek A, Klasen C, Wagner O. Lack of nonshivering thermogenesis in infants anesthetized with fentanyl and propofol. *Anesthesiology* (1997) 86:772–7. doi:10.1097/00000542-199704000-00006
- Lean ME, James WP, Jennings G, Trayhurn P. Brown adipose tissue uncoupling protein content in human infants, children and adults. *Clin Sci (Lond)* (1986) 71:291–7. doi:10.1042/cs0710291
- Nedergaard J, Bengtsson T, Cannon B. Unexpected evidence for active brown adipose tissue in adult humans. *Am J Physiol Endocrinol Metab* (2007) 293:E444–52. doi:10.1152/ajpendo.00691.2006
- Virtanen KA, Lidell ME, Orava J, Heglind M, Westergren R, Niemi T, et al. Functional brown adipose tissue in healthy adults. N Engl J Med (2009) 360:1518–25. doi:10.1056/NEJMoa0808949
- Ouellet V, Labbe SM, Blondin DP, Phoenix S, Guerin B, Haman F, et al. Brown adipose tissue oxidative metabolism contributes to energy expenditure during acute cold exposure in humans. *J Clin Invest* (2012) 122:545–52. doi:10.1172/JCI60433
- Raimbault S, Dridi S, Denjean F, Lachuer J, Couplan E, Bouillaud F, et al. An uncoupling protein homologue putatively involved in facultative muscle thermogenesis in birds. *Biochem J* (2001) 353:441–4. doi:10.1042/bj3530441
- Talbot DA, Duchamp C, Rey B, Hanuise N, Rouanet JL, Sibille B, et al. Uncoupling protein and ATP/ADP carrier increase mitochondrial proton conductance after cold adaptation of king penguins. *J Physiol* (2004) 558:123–35. doi:10.1113/jphysiol.2004.063768
- Teulier L, Rouanet JL, Letexier D, Romestaing C, Belouze M, Rey B, et al. Coldacclimation-induced non-shivering thermogenesis in birds is associated with upregulation of avian UCP but not with innate uncoupling or altered ATP efficiency. J Exp Biol (2010) 213:2476–82. doi:10.1242/jeb.043489
- Brand MD, Pakay JL, Ocloo A, Kokoszka J, Wallace DC, Brookes PS, et al. The basal proton conductance of mitochondria depends on adenine nucleotide translocase content. *Biochem J* (2005) 392:353–62. doi:10.1042/BJ20050890
- Vianna CR, Hagen T, Zhang CY, Bachman E, Boss O, Gereben B, et al. Cloning and functional characterization of an uncoupling protein homolog in hummingbirds. *Physiol Genomics* (2001) 5:137–45.
- 54. Carey FG. A brain heater in the swordfish. *Science* (1982) 216:1327–9. doi:10.1126/science.7079766
- Tullis A, Block BA, Sidell BD. Activities of key metabolic enzymes in the heater organs of scombroid fishes. J Exp Biol (1991) 161:383–403.
- Fritsches KA, Brill RW, Warrant EJ. Warm eyes provide superior vision in swordfishes. *Curr Biol* (2005) 15:55–8. doi:10.1016/j.cub.2004.12.064
- Block BA, Carey FG. Warm brain and eye temperatures in sharks. J Comp Physiol B (1985) 156:229–36. doi:10.1007/BF00695777
- Block BA. Structure of the brain and eye heater tissue in marlins, sailfish, and spearfishes. J Morphol (1986) 190:169–89. doi:10.1002/jmor.1051900203
- Duchamp C, Chatonnet J, Dittmar A, Barre H. Increased role of skeletal muscle in the calorigenic response to glucagon of cold-acclimated ducklings. *Am J Physiol* (1993) 265:R1084–91.
- Barre H, Geloen A, Chatonnet J, Dittmar A, Rouanet JL. Potentiated muscular thermogenesis in cold-acclimated muscovy duckling. *Am J Physiol* (1985) 249:R533–8.
- Howland RJ. Acute cold exposure increases the glucagon sensitivity of thermogenic metabolism in the rat. *Experientia* (1986) 42:162–3. doi:10.1007/ BF01952447
- Seitz HJ, Krone W, Wilke H, Tarnowski W. Rapid rise in plasma glucagon induced by acute cold exposure in man and rat. *Pflugers Arch* (1981) 389:115–20. doi:10.1007/BF00582100
- Marmonier F, Duchamp C, Cohen-Adad F, Eldershaw TP, Barre H. Hormonal control of thermogenesis in perfused muscle of Muscovy ducklings. *Am J Physiol* (1997) 273:R1638–48.
- Duchamp C, Barre H. Skeletal muscle as the major site of nonshivering thermogenesis in cold-acclimated ducklings. *Am J Physiol* (1993) 265:R1076–83.
- Dumonteil E, Barre H, Meissner G. Expression of sarcoplasmic reticulum Ca2⁺ transport proteins in cold-acclimating ducklings. *Am J Physiol* (1995) 269:C955–60.
- Dumonteil E, Barre H, Meissner G. Sarcoplasmic reticulum Ca(2+)-ATPase and ryanodine receptor in cold-acclimated ducklings and thermogenesis. *Am J Physiol* (1993) 265:C507–13.
- 67. Filali-Zegzouti Y, Abdelmelek H, Rouanet JL, Cottet-Emard JM, Pequignot JM, Barre H. Involvement of the catecholaminergic system in

glucagon-induced thermogenesis in Muscovy ducklings (*Cairina moschata*). *Pflugers Arch* (2000) 441:275–80. doi:10.1007/s004240000409

- Vezina F, Dekinga A, Piersma T. Shorebirds' seasonal adjustments in thermogenic capacity are reflected by changes in body mass: how preprogrammed and instantaneous acclimation work together. *Integr Comp Biol* (2011) 51:394–408. doi:10.1093/icb/icr044
- Kuroshima A, Yahata T, Ohno T. Changes in plasma glucagon levels to stressful environmental temperatures. *Jpn J Physiol* (1981) 31:43–52. doi:10.2170/ jjphysiol.31.43
- Putri M, Syamsunarno MR, Iso T, Yamaguchi A, Hanaoka H, Sunaga H, et al. CD36 is indispensable for thermogenesis under conditions of fasting and cold stress. *Biochem Biophys Res Commun* (2015) 457:520–5. doi:10.1016/j. bbrc.2014.12.124
- Zhang Y, Carter T, Eyster K, Swanson DL. Acute cold and exercise training up-regulate similar aspects of fatty acid transport and catabolism in house sparrows (*Passer domesticus*). J Exp Biol (2015) 218:3885–93. doi:10.1242/ jeb.126128
- Dumonteil E, Barre H, Meissner G. Effects of palmitoyl carnitine and related metabolites on the avian Ca(2+)-ATPase and Ca2+ release channel. *J Physiol* (1994) 479(Pt 1):29–39. doi:10.1113/jphysiol.1994.sp020275
- Smith WS, Broadbridge R, East JM, Lee AG. Sarcolipin uncouples hydrolysis of ATP from accumulation of Ca2⁺ by the Ca2⁺-ATPase of skeletal-muscle sarcoplasmic reticulum. *Biochem J* (2002) 361:277–86. doi:10.1042/0264-6021:3610277
- Bal NC, Maurya SK, Sopariwala DH, Sahoo SK, Gupta SC, Shaikh SA, et al. Sarcolipin is a newly identified regulator of muscle-based thermogenesis in mammals. *Nat Med* (2012) 18:1575–9. doi:10.1038/nm.2897
- Mall S, Broadbridge R, Harrison SL, Gore MG, Lee AG, East JM. The presence of sarcolipin results in increased heat production by Ca(2⁺)-ATPase. *J Biol Chem* (2006) 281:36597–602. doi:10.1074/jbc.M606869200
- 76. Sahoo SK, Shaikh SA, Sopariwala DH, Bal NC, Bruhn DS, Kopec W, et al. The N terminus of sarcolipin plays an important role in uncoupling sarco-endoplasmic reticulum Ca2⁺-ATPase (SERCA) ATP hydrolysis from Ca2⁺ transport. *J Biol Chem* (2015) 290:14057–67. doi:10.1074/jbc. M115.636738
- Maurya SK, Bal NC, Sopariwala DH, Pant M, Rowland LA, Shaikh SA, et al. Sarcolipin is a key determinant of the basal metabolic rate, and its overexpression enhances energy expenditure and resistance against diet-induced obesity. J Biol Chem (2015) 290:10840–9. doi:10.1074/jbc.M115.636878
- Rowland LA, Bal NC, Kozak LP, Periasamy M. Uncoupling protein 1 and sarcolipin are required to maintain optimal thermogenesis, and loss of both systems compromises survival of mice under cold stress. *J Biol Chem* (2015) 290:12282–9. doi:10.1074/jbc.M115.637603
- Huang YT, Maccani JZ, Hawley NL, Wing RR, Kelsey KT, McCaffery JM. Epigenetic patterns in successful weight loss maintainers: a pilot study. *Int J Obes (Lond)* (2015) 39:865–8. doi:10.1038/ijo.2014.213
- Rolfe DF, Brown GC. Cellular energy utilization and molecular origin of standard metabolic rate in mammals. *Physiol Rev* (1997) 77:731–58.
- Clausen T, Van Hardeveld C, Everts ME. Significance of cation transport in control of energy metabolism and thermogenesis. *Physiol Rev* (1991) 71:733–74.
- Hulbert AJ, Else PL. Basal metabolic rate: history, composition, regulation, and usefulness. *Physiol Biochem Zool* (2004) 77:869–76. doi:10.1086/422768
- Else PL, Windmill DJ, Markus V. Molecular activity of sodium pumps in endotherms and ectotherms. *Am J Physiol* (1996) 271:R1287–94.
- Doll CJ, Hochachka PW, Reiner PB. Reduced ionic conductance in turtle brain. Am J Physiol (1993) 265:R929–33.
- Else PL, Hulbert AJ. Evolution of mammalian endothermic metabolism: "leaky" membranes as a source of heat. *Am J Physiol* (1987) 253:R1–7.
- Hulbert AJ, Else PL. Comparison of the "mammal machine" and the "reptile machine": energy use and thyroid activity. *Am J Physiol* (1981) 241:R350–6.
- Turner N, Hulbert AJ, Else PL. Sodium pump molecular activity and membrane lipid composition in two disparate ectotherms, and comparison with endotherms. *J Comp Physiol B* (2005) 175:77–85. doi:10.1007/ s00360-004-0464-y

- Else PL, Wu BJ. What role for membranes in determining the higher sodium pump molecular activity of mammals compared to ectotherms? *J Comp Physiol B* (1999) 169:296–302. doi:10.1007/s003600050224
- Wu BJ, Hulbert AJ, Storlien LH, Else PL. Membrane lipids and sodium pumps of cattle and crocodiles: an experimental test of the membrane pacemaker theory of metabolism. *Am J Physiol Regul Integr Comp Physiol* (2004) 287:R633–41. doi:10.1152/ajpregu.00549.2003
- Grim JM, Miles DR, Crockett EL. Temperature acclimation alters oxidative capacities and composition of membrane lipids without influencing activities of enzymatic antioxidants or susceptibility to lipid peroxidation in fish muscle. J Exp Biol (2010) 213:445–52. doi:10.1242/jeb.036939
- Farkas T. Adaptation of fatty acid composition to temperature a study on carp (*Cyprinus carpio* L.) liver slices. *Comp Biochem Physiol B* (1984) 79:531–5. doi:10.1016/0305-0491(84)90361-4
- Hazel JR, Williams EE. The role of alterations in membrane lipid composition in enabling physiological adaptation of organisms to their physical environment. *Prog Lipid Res* (1990) 29:167–227. doi:10.1016/0163-7827(90) 90002-3
- Stinner JN, Hartzler LK. Effect of temperature on pH and electrolyte concentration in air-breathing ectotherms. J Exp Biol (2000) 203:2065–74.
- Galarza-Munoz G, Soto-Morales SI, Holmgren M, Rosenthal JJ. Physiological adaptation of an Antarctic Na⁺/K⁺-ATPase to the cold. *J Exp Biol* (2011) 214:2164–74. doi:10.1242/jeb.048744
- Ultsch GR. The ecology of overwintering among turtles: where turtles overwinter and its consequences. *Biol Rev Camb Philos Soc* (2006) 81:339–67. doi:10.1017/S1464793106007032
- Buck LT, Hochachka PW. Anoxic suppression of Na(+)-K(+)-ATPase and constant membrane potential in hepatocytes: support for channel arrest. *Am J Physiol* (1993) 265:R1020–5.
- Buck LT. Adenosine as a signal for ion channel arrest in anoxia-tolerant organisms. *Comp Biochem Physiol B Biochem Mol Biol* (2004) 139:401–14. doi:10.1016/j.cbpc.2004.04.002
- Rodgers-Garlick CI, Hogg DW, Buck LT. Oxygen-sensitive reduction in Ca(2)(⁺)-activated K(⁺) channel open probability in turtle cerebrocortex. *Neuroscience* (2013) 237:243–54. doi:10.1016/j.neuroscience.2013.01.046
- Krumschnabel G, Biasi C, Schwarzbaum PJ, Wieser W. Membrane-metabolic coupling and ion homeostasis in anoxia-tolerant and anoxia-intolerant hepatocytes. *Am J Physiol* (1996) 270:R614–20.
- 100. Venkatesh N, Lamp ST, Weiss JN. Sulfonylureas, ATP-sensitive K⁺ channels, and cellular K⁺ loss during hypoxia, ischemia, and metabolic inhibition in mammalian ventricle. *Circ Res* (1991) 69:623–37. doi:10.1161/01. RES.69.3.623
- Vleugels A, Carmeliet E. Hypoxia increases potassium efflux from mammalian myocardium. *Experientia* (1976) 32:483–4. doi:10.1007/BF01920810
- 102. Shivkumar K, Deutsch NA, Lamp ST, Khuu K, Goldhaber JI, Weiss JN. Mechanism of hypoxic K loss in rabbit ventricle. *J Clin Invest* (1997) 100:1782–8. doi:10.1172/JCI119705
- Wei L, Yu SP, Gottron F, Snider BJ, Zipfel GJ, Choi DW. Potassium channel blockers attenuate hypoxia- and ischemia-induced neuronal death in vitro and in vivo. *Stroke* (2003) 34:1281–6. doi:10.1161/01.STR.0000065828.18661.FE
- 104. Bonnet S, Archer SL, Allalunis-Turner J, Haromy A, Beaulieu C, Thompson R, et al. A mitochondria-K⁺ channel axis is suppressed in cancer and its normalization promotes apoptosis and inhibits cancer growth. *Cancer Cell* (2007) 11:37–51. doi:10.1016/j.ccr.2006.10.020

Conflict of Interest Statement: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2017 Geisler, Kentch and Renquist. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) or licensor are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.




Comparative Physiology of Energy Metabolism: Fishing for Endocrine Signals in the Early Vertebrate Pool

Iris van de Pol, Gert Flik* and Marnix Gorissen

Department of Animal Ecology and Physiology, Institute for Water and Wetland Research, Radboud University, Nijmegen, Netherlands

Energy is the common currency of life. To guarantee a homeostatic supply of energy, multiple neuro-endocrine systems have evolved in vertebrates; systems that regulate food intake, metabolism, and distribution of energy. Even subtle (lasting) dysregulation of the delicate balance of energy intake and expenditure may result in severe pathologies. Feeding-related pathologies have fueled research on mammals, including of course the human species. The mechanisms regulating food intake and body mass are well-characterized in these vertebrates. The majority of animal life is ectothermic, only birds and mammals are endotherms. What can we learn from a (comparative) study on energy homeostasis in teleostean fishes, ectotherms, with a very different energy budget and expenditure? We present several adaptation strategies in fish. In recent years, the components that regulate food intake in fishes have been identified. Although there is homology of the major genetic machinery with mammals (i.e., there is a vertebrate blueprint), in many cases this does not imply analogy. Although both mammals and fish must gain their energy from food, the expenditure of the energy obtained is different. Mammals need to spend vast amounts of energy to maintain body temperature; fishes seem to utilize a broader metabolic range to their advantage. In this review, we briefly discuss ecto- and endothermy and their consequences for energy balance. Next, we argue that the evolution of endothermy and its (dis-)advantages may explain very different strategies in endocrine regulation of energy homeostasis among vertebrates. We follow a comparative and evolutionary line of thought: we discuss similarities and differences between fish and mammals. Moreover, given the extraordinary radiation of teleostean fishes (with an estimated number of 33,400 contemporary species, or over 50% of vertebrate life forms), we also compare strategies in energy homeostasis between teleostean species. We present recent developments in the field of (neuro)endocrine regulation of energy balance in teleosts, with a focus on leptin.

Keywords: leptin, insulin, gills, metabolism, aerobic scope, oxygen, teleost, fish

INTRODUCTION

Among contemporary vertebrate species, none are as abundant as the teleostean fish. With an estimated number of 33,400 species, fish comprise roughly half of all vertebrates (1). The earliest vertebrates originated approximately 530 million years ago (Mya) in the Panthalassan, Paleo-Thetys, and Iapetus oceans (2, 3). The rise of primitive fishes in the Ordovician was followed by an unparalleled

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Maximilian Michel, University of Michigan, USA

Reviewed by:

Thomas W. Moon, University of Ottawa, Canada Sergio Polakof, French National Institute for Agricultural Research (INRA), France Richard Londraville, University of Akron, USA

> *Correspondence: Gert Flik g.flik@science.ru.nl

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Experimental Endocrinology, a section of the journal Frontiers in Endocrinology

Received: 01 December 2016 Accepted: 10 February 2017 Published: 02 March 2017

Citation:

van de Pol I, Flik G and Gorissen M (2017) Comparative Physiology of Energy Metabolism: Fishing for Endocrine Signals in the Early Vertebrate Pool. Front. Endocrinol. 8:36. doi: 10.3389/fendo.2017.00036

108

radiation of the aquatic vertebrates in the Devonian period (the "Age of fish"), and next, ~380 Mya, after the water–land transition, terrestrial tetrapods radiated (4, 5).

Before the teleost-tetrapod split, at least two whole (or largescale) genome duplication (WGD) events occurred (6). These duplication events have been paramount in expanding the functional gene repertoire of all vertebrates and facilitated functional divergence of genes. The "Ohno-mechanism" (2) states that of a pair of duplicated genes, one can retain its original function while the other one is silenced to become a pseudogene (is no longer expressed) or acquire a new function, and this is called neo- or sub-functionalization (7). These phenomena may also explain why fish lineages escaped from five major mass extinctions (and many smaller ones) that raged on earth and challenged all life forms (8).

Within the class of the Actinopterygii (ray-finned fishes), a third genome duplication occurred around 350 Mya (9); in cyprinid and salmonid lineages, even a fourth major duplication occurred (10, 11). An attractive hypothesis is that the phylogenetic timing of these events suggests that fish-specific genome duplications accommodated the extent of radiation and phenotypic diversification seen in the teleostean lineage (12). However, ecophysiological factors appear to be primary drivers of the rate of salmonid diversification, not the salmonid WGD per se (13). Indeed, a more extensive study shows that there is no direct association between the teleostean WGD and the rate of diversification in lineages (14). Whatever mechanism prevails, of all extant actinopterygian fishes (except for ~44 basal non-teleostean species), the teleosts (the largest group of bony fishes) comprise, with about 96%, the majority of all fishes (9, 12, 15, 16).

Modern bony fish are found in virtually all aquatic niches imaginable (17) and even in terrestrial environments (lungfishes, mudskippers) and display amazing adaptations in energy homeostasis. Fish have adapted to extremely challenging environments offering them either high tolerance or strong acclimation capacity to unfavorable conditions (18). Indeed, as energy homeostasis requires regulation of the balance between anabolism and catabolism, between energy intake and expenditure, we find adaptations in both. Energy intake essentially equals food intake, expenditure concerns adenosine trisphosphate (ATP)consuming processes and thermogenesis. Breakdown of energy carriers (sugars, fatty acids, and protein) will free energy that is then temporarily stored in ATP. This molecule is, therefore, called the "currency of energy" (19). Under anaerobic conditions, in a fermentation pathway, glucose breakdown to pyruvate yields only two ATP's, while under aerobic conditions and operationalizing the citric acid cycle a total of up to 38 ATP's are formed per glucose molecule.

In the first part of this review, we discuss key physiological aspects of energy metabolism that determine how energy is budgeted: metabolic strategies, thermal physiology, and aerobic scope are addressed with a special attention to the earliest vertebrates, fish. We (non-exhaustively) look at changes in the regulation of the metabolic demand depending on an organism's thermal physiology. In the second part, we discuss the consequences of these different physiologies for the endocrinology of energy metabolism, with a focus on insulin and, mainly, leptin. These hormones are key in manipulating energy stores, i.e., the regulation of energy intake and expenditure, on the long term.

LIVING IN AN AQUATIC NICHE

The inefficiency of metabolism under hypoxia (a regular phenomenon in water bodies) or anoxia must have favored adaptations toward optimization of branchial oxygen uptake mechanisms, oxygen carrying capacity by adjustment of hematocrit, hemoglobin content or oxygen affinity, or facilitating anaerobic metabolism. Fish, gill-bearing vertebrates, threatened by hypoxia invest in adaptations that boil down to adjustments in oxygen provision and rely secondarily on modifications of metabolic pathways.

When oxygen levels become limiting or 0, fish living in such niches exhibit strong metabolic suppression and use fermentation pathways for ATP production as escape; goldfish (*Carassius auratus*), bitterling (*Rhodeus amarus*), and crucian carp (*Carassius carassius*) avoid lactate accumulation by pyruvate dehydrogenase-mediated production (in their muscle compartment) of acetaldehyde and ethanol, which is excreted *via* the gills. By doing so, potentially lethal lactic acidosis is avoided (20, 21).

Antarctic icefishes (with many representatives in the families of Nototheniidae and Channichthyidae) live at ambient seawater (SW) temperatures of -1.9°C and below [having evolved antifreeze proteins that prevent ice crystals in their bodily fluids from growing and by doing so, prevent cryodamage (22)] in normoxic seawaters. Although more oxygen dissolves in colder water, the bioavailability of oxygen is much lower (23). This is due to lower O2-diffusion rates in the cold, reducing an organism's capacity to take up oxygen and ensure an adequate oxygen supply. Icefishes have lost hemoglobin (Hb) (and lack red blood cells) and often also myoglobin (Mb). This remarkable feature is not, as was widely assumed, an adaptation to prevent their blood from becoming too viscous. In fact, in terms of energetic cost, it would be a disadvantageous adaptation, as icefishes pump a far greater blood volume per time unit than "red-blooded" teleosts of equal body mass (24). Instead, the loss of Hb and Mb includes the loss of a primitive function of these proteins: the oxygenation of NO to NO_3^- (25). Indeed, icefishes have high concentrations of circulating NO, which stimulates vasodilation, angiogenesis, and mitochondrial biogenesis. Hence, elevated NO levels might have been the evolutionary driver of unique adaptations in the oxygen delivery system of icefishes [reviewed in Ref. (24)]. The very-low aerobic metabolism of these carnivores depends merely on oxygen diffusion over an enlarged gill surface from water to blood and from blood to tissues from a large vessel bed; a large heart, with cardiocytes and with an extreme mitochondrial density, pumps the blood through the vessel bed that is expanded to compensate for the limited oxygen carrying capacity of the plasma (26).

The scaleless carp (*Gymnocypris przewalskii*) meets extreme conditions, including chronic mild hypoxia, in Lake Qinghai [6 mg $O_2 L^{-1}$; 9–13 ppt salinity; pH ~9.3 (27)] on the Tibetan Plateau at 3,200 m. When challenged with extreme hypoxia (0.3 mg $O_2 L^{-1}$), its gills are remodeled by lamellar expansion in a matter of hours to increase (diffusional) oxygen uptake (27).

The inherent consequences for hydromineral disturbances are counteracted by changes in ion channel and aquaporin expression in osmoregulatory organs (28).

The crucian carp survives over six dark winter months of anoxia by strong metabolic suppression. The mechanisms of hypoxia/anoxia-tolerance of this fish are only partly understood; preferentially, the fish stores energy in glycogen, and the glycogen volume determines the duration of hypoxia it can survive. Preceding the switch to anaerobic metabolism (see above), the crucian carp remodels its gills in response to the imminent anoxic conditions. An extensive gill remodeling takes place under control of hypoxia-inducible factor 1α (HIF- 1α) (29): the gas exchange surface increases due to a reduction of filamental epithelial thickness resulting in a further protrusion of lamellar epithelium. This comes with a cost as energy consuming osmoregulatory adjustments are required to compensate diffusional flows of Na⁺ and Cl⁻ (reminiscent of the situation in the scaleless carp) over the expanded gill surface. The investment in an expansion of the machinery to obtain oxygen has high priority to keep on fueling aerobic metabolism. Next, anaerobic metabolism offers an escape when oxygen diffusion becomes limiting to fuel the citric acid cycle.

The Magadi tilapia (Alcolapia grahami) from Lake Magadi in Kenya is described as the "hottest fish on earth": it thrives in highly alkaline (pH 9.8), hypersaline (880 mOsmol kg⁻¹) waters with temperatures over 40°C (critical temperature: 45.6°C, i.e., above this temperature loss of equilibrium and often death occurs). The concentration of oxygen in SW (at 35‰ salinity, comparable to the water in which this fish lives and 101.1 kPa pressure¹) will drop from 7.2 mg L⁻¹ at 20°C to 5.3 mg L⁻¹ at 40°C, and, thus, although a large water body in principle provides an infinite oxygen source for the fish, its uptake mechanisms need adjustment to compensate for this roughly 30% drop in water oxygen content. Indeed, upon comparison with the same species kept at lower temperatures, compensation was seen in a very high mass-specific gill area to facilitate oxygen uptake, a high metabolic rate (of which an estimated 50% seems needed for acid-base regulation), and a high mitochondrial respiration rate. Moreover, because of the basic environment and its consequences for ammonium excretion, this fish is 100% ureotelic, i.e., it does not produce ammonium but the energetically costlier urea as waste (30). The rates of O_2 consumption and swimming performance at 39°C in laboratory setting indicate that this tilapia exhibits the greatest metabolic performance recorded in any fish, in the basal metabolic rate (BMR) range of a similar sized shrew (31).

PHYSIOLOGY

Metabolic Rates

Metabolism (*sensu lato*) can be defined as "the complex of physical and chemical processes involved in the maintenance of life" (32). Metabolic rate is a measure for the amount of energy used per unit of time by an organism, generally assessed as rate of

oxygen consumed per hour [e.g., O₂ consumption in millimoles per hour (33, 34)]. In fish and other bradymetabolic animals (see Data Sheet S1 in Supplementary Material), and these are mostly ectotherms, the standard metabolic rate (SMR) and maximum metabolic rate (MMR) are generally used as ratios to define the "scope for activity" (35). SMR refers to the minimal rate of energy expenditure in an organism at rest. Basically, this equals the BMR in the tachymetabolic birds and mammals. However, SMR can be influenced by ambient temperature (36). MMR indicates the highest possible rate of energy expenditure, e.g., during sustained and aerobic maximal activity. In between these states, the routine metabolism is defined as energy expenditure during spontaneous activity in common life processes (35). Note that only the aerobic metabolism is taken into account when metabolic rate is measured *via* oxygen consumption.

Ectothermy Meets Endothermy

The majority of animal life forms are ectothermic (see Data Sheet S1 in Supplementary Material for discussion on terminology). The environment determines the body temperature of ectotherms for the major part and, with that, the pace of biochemical reactions and rates of physiological processes. If we go back to the Magadi tilapia, we have seen, to the best of our knowledge, the upper limit of metabolic performance of an aquatic ectotherm. Note that the maximum performance of this fish comes to 35% of that of a similar sized mammal (31). After the water-land transition of vertebrates (~390-360 Mya) and the evolution of endothermy, new niches of the terrestrial environment became available. True endothermy (by this we do not mean regional endothermy, as we will discuss below) evolved independently in two different clades: (i) the diapsid clade that gave rise to extant birds and (ii) the synapsid clade that gave rise to the contemporary mammals (37). Animals that invest in endothermy (birds, mammals) can stay active independent of meteorological conditions, but do so at phenomenal cost [i.e., it requires lots of fuel (38)].

One could argue that ectotherms function at the mercy of ambient temperature; however, they are not passive and have the potential to regulate their body temperature. By shifting thermal preference and actively migrating toward warmer or colder environments, ectotherms are capable of sophisticated and adaptive behavioral thermoregulation (39, 40). To cope with challenges like infections or stressors (41–43), some fish migrate to warmer water, i.e., behavioral fever, a process that should be regarded as an intrinsic feature of ectothermic physiology.

Indeed, ectothermy comes with many benefits: it is energetically more economical, since the energy demand per unit mass, compared to an endothermic animal of the same size, is four to five times lower (44). Therefore, ectotherms require less time for foraging, and by doing so reduce their energy demand even more as a result of less locomotor activity. Moreover, as ectotherms need not invest in maintenance of a relatively high and constant body temperature, they can allocate more energy to growth and reproduction (44).

Here, we seem to reach a paradox, as endothermy also has advantages over ectothermy. Besides relative independence from ambient temperatures, energy metabolism is significantly enhanced in a warm body, which allows for high and fast

¹http://www.engineeringtoolbox.com/oxygen-solubility-water-d_841.html.

muscular activity, fast metabolism, and growth during circadian and seasonal fluctuations. Notably, locomotion requires much more energy in terrestrial than in aqueous environments [the energetic cost for transport is about 10 times higher in terrestrial, running or walking, vertebrates than in equal-sized swimmers (45)], which might have been an important determinant in the evolution of endothermy. In addition, endothermy provides a stable thermal environment, securing optimal enzyme activities (46) and facilitating the ultimate parental care seen in mammals (47, 48).

What drove the evolution of endothermy? Three major hypotheses addressed this question. Crompton et al. (49) proposed that endothermy evolved in a two-step process: first, a more or less constant body temperature was acquired; next, the body temperature and metabolic rate increased. McNab (50) argued that early reptiles with a large body mass were de facto inertial homeotherms. Following an evolution of fur and decreasing body size, with a modest increase in mass-specific metabolic rate, inertial homeothermy became true endothermy. The most widely accepted theory, however, was put forward by Bennett and Ruben (38), who argued that higher body temperatures and endothermy have evolved secondarily to the selection on enhanced maximal aerobic capacity. This is known as the aerobic scope hypothesis. The evolution of endothermy is maybe the single most debated topic in comparative biology. The proposed hypotheses are not mutually exclusive. For this review, we focus on the aerobic scope hypothesis, as it conveniently joins aspects of metabolic demand and energy balance.

Bennett and Ruben (38) showed that the ratio between resting and maximal metabolic rates in vertebrate ectotherms and endotherms is roughly the same [on average 10 (51)], although the resting metabolic rate in endotherms is around 10 times higher than in ectotherms of similar body mass, i.e., the factorial aerobic scope is comparable for ectotherms and endotherms, but the absolute aerobic scope (the difference between resting and maximal metabolic rates) is much greater in endotherms. As a result, endotherms have, in general, more energy available for processes other than resting metabolism. The aerobic scope hypothesis holds aerobic metabolism at its center, which is important in sustained muscular activity. Still, a reptile can outrun a mammal, achieving great muscular power through anaerobic metabolism (52). This burst activity is time limited, as lactic acid builds up; some lizards and amphibians are highly tolerant to these metabolic waste products (53, 54).

Clarke and Pörtner (37) modified the original aerobic scope hypothesis: they regard a higher body temperature as the mechanism by which a greater aerobic scope was achieved, rather than as a consequence. They point out that an endotherm is not merely a warm ectotherm, since several processes are linked to the evolution of endothermy, such as the modification of mitochondrial membranes and heat retention (insulation by feathers, hair, and fat) mechanisms. In their view, the evolution of endothermy is considered a gradual process in which the driving force was selection for increased aerobic scope (37).

The magnitude of aerobic scope is greatly influenced by temperature. An optimal aerobic scope, associated with a species' thermal niche specialization, is of vital importance for their performance and fitness [reviewed by Pörtner et al. (55)]. The first indication for thermal intolerance in ectotherms is a decreased aerobic scope due to a mismatch in oxygen supply and demand in tissues (56). Even before critical temperatures (here defined by the switch from aerobic to anaerobic metabolism) are reached, failure of circulatory and ventilatory systems occurs, which affects all higher functions (e.g., locomotor activity, behavior, growth, and reproduction) (57). Hence, even slight decreases in aerobic scope can result in lowered performance and enhanced mortality. The mechanisms that are crucial for aerobic scope and related to thermal intolerance are best studied in cold-adapted eurytherm and stenotherm fishes. These special adaptations allow them to withstand seasonal and permanent cold, respectively (58).

Eurythermal fishes are those that tolerate a wider thermal range than stenothermal fishes, and this relates to their ability to increase mitochondrial density or capacity in the cold to prevent hypoxia in tissues (58, 59). This is energetically costly, since they need to upregulate their SMR for mitochondrial maintenance. Stenotherm fishes have a permanently low SMR, associated with specialized cold-adapted mitochondria. These are found in extremely high densities in aerobic tissues, but do not increase overall aerobic capacity (60). Sidell (61) explained that the high density of enlarged mitochondria, seen in the icefishes lacking Hb and Mb, forms an interwoven membrane network, acting as a "lipid highway" for oxygen delivery. Selection for energy savings may have narrowed the thermal window for stenotherm fishes to survive with minimal aerobic capacity and energy expenditure, but allows them to preserve metabolic energy for processes like growth and reproduction, which are temporarily suspended in cold-acclimatized eurytherm fishes (55, 58).

Where is the heat coming from in an endotherm? During generation of ATP in the mitochondria, highly energetic electrons pass through the electron transfer chain and protons are pumped from the mitochondrial matrix into the intramembranous space. Following build-up of that gradient, protons flow back over the mitochondrial inner membrane and drive an H⁺-ATP synthase. As membranes are somewhat leaky for protons, some protons passively diffuse over the membrane and, without being used for ATP synthesis, emit energy as heat. Controlled uncoupling *via* the mitochondrial uncoupling proteins (UCPs), of the proton flux from ATP generation was thought to be the main source of heat in endotherms (62). However, more recent research shows that UCPs are not the exclusive actors in proton conductance, as the observed proton leak contributes proportionally and equally to the SMR in ectotherms and endotherms (63).

In mammals, five UCPs are present. In mammals UCP1 is responsible for non-shivering thermogenesis, whereas UCP2 and UCP3 are thought to be involved in maintaining the resting metabolism. In fish, we find orthologs of UCP1, UCP2, and UCP3, illustrating that the presence of UCPs is not restricted to endothermic animals (64, 65). In common carp (*Cyprinus carpio*), hepatic *ucp1* transcript abundance was significantly downregulated in response to cold (opposing the function of UCP1 in mammals). Note that the fish liver is a primary storage site of energy. In red muscles, *ucp3* is predominantly expressed and increases up to fivefold in response to fasting (65). As fasting leads to high lipid oxidation and reactive oxygen species, UCP3 is suggested to protect mitochondria and cells from damage *via* mild uncoupling activity or fatty acid anion export (66–68). The omnipresent UCP2 may play a similar scavenging role. Certainly, UCPs are evolutionary much older than originally thought; they were already present in fish ~420 Mya (65).

Although most fishes are strictly ectothermic, there are (of course) also fish that attain a regional endothermy in important organs and tissues, such as muscles, eyes, visceral organs, and the brain (69). We follow the nomenclature proposed by Clarke and Pörtner (37) (see Data Sheet S1 in Supplementary Material), and name this process heterothermy. An exceptional group of teleosts capable of heterothermy are the *Thunnini* (tuna).

Tuna are obligate ram ventilators and they are not sufficiently buoyant, which means they have to swim continuously to maintain a constant water flow over their gills (to fuel their relatively high metabolic activity) and to prevent sinking (70). Tuna have a specialized red muscle (RM) that is constantly metabolically active to power this so-called cruise swimming. Since the byproduct of all metabolic processes is heat, tunas have developed a way to retain the heat that is generated by RM and use it to elevate their body temperature regionally (69).

In tuna, the circulation to and from RM is structurally arranged in so-called *retia mirabilia* (literally: wonderful nets) (71). In these parallel to one another organized vascular bundles with very thin vessel walls, arterial and venous vessels lay side by side with the blood flowing in opposite directions, so that they function as countercurrent heat exchangers. Hence, a stable thermal gradient is established, which warms the cool arterial blood coming from the gills. The heat conserved is used to warm other body parts (72). When tuna dive during predation from pelagic zones with high temperature (e.g., 20°C) to more benthic zones where temperatures may drop to around 4°C, the biochemistry of brains, eyes, and swimming muscles is guaranteed of a rather constant temperature.

Considering that the SMR of tuna is 2-10 times higher than in most other fish species of comparable size and activity (69), this demonstrates that metabolism, and more specifically metabolic rate, is at the basis of thermal regulation in both ecto- and endotherms. The production of heat and having heat-retaining mechanisms are equally important. In general, maintaining the temperature of (part of) the body above the ambient temperature, is energetically costlier than keeping the body at lower temperatures, due to higher standard or basal metabolic rates. However, it also results in enhanced ATP production, which in turn allows for higher locomotor activity, growth rate and, completing the circle, metabolic rate. To understand causality, one needs to take a closer look at the regulation of energy intake and expenditure, and a comparative endocrine view may facilitate this, as we will do in the next section. Yet, it is clear why temperature is regarded as the abiotic master factor (73).

ENDOCRINOLOGY

Regulation of Energy Balance

Metabolism, thermoregulation, and aerobic performance are intertwined and have one nexus in common: they are all dependent

on food intake, food being the source of chemical energy for these related processes. In general, and despite mismatches in energy intake and expenditure on the short term, on the long term, they are carefully balanced and regulated by several endocrine systems, which together guarantee energy homeostasis (74).

A plethora of research on mammals is available in this field, not in the least to gain a better understanding of disturbances in energy homeostasis, which are pivotal for the current obesity pandemic (75, 76). In a healthy animal, the control system that matches energy intake to energy expenditure is remarkably accurate. A striking example is put forward by Seeley and Woods (75), who calculated that it takes only a mismatch of 46 kJ per day (0.55% of the daily energy intake!) for an adult human male to gain a pound in a year. Such tight regulation of energy balance can only be achieved by an accurate integration of signal molecules from stored and currently available fuel, in accordance with internal set points reflecting energy availability.

Where these signals come from and how they contribute to the regulation of food intake is of ongoing research interest. It has long been recognized that specific hypothalamic nuclei are crucial in monitoring energy balance (77), and these seem to be mainly tuned by signals regarding the storage of fat (i.e., lipostatic regulation). Another theory about hypothalamic tuning of energy balance through signaling of carbohydrate storage [i.e., glucostatic regulation (78)] has largely been abandoned in the past decades, as it has become clear that neurons are well protected from fluctuating glucose levels and usually feeding takes place when plasma glucose levels are within normal physiological values (75).

The link between body-fat stores (adiposity) and food intake was formalized by Kennedy (79), when he postulated that signals distributed in proportion to the total amount of body fat influence the control of food intake by the brain. This lipostatic regulation is based on a negative feedback system involving communication on the total amount of fat by adiposity signals and the central nervous system (CNS) (80).

Since adipose tissue is poorly innervated by the peripheral nervous system, research has been directed mainly to humoral signals. Adiposity signals (see below) should fulfill three criteria, *viz.*,: they should circulate in proportion to the total body fat, they should reach specific nuclei within the CNS [i.e., cross the blood–brain barrier (BBB)], and they should produce predictable changes in energy balance by altering food intake and energy expenditure dose-dependently (74).

Insulin and Leptin: Adiposity Signals in Mammals

In the 1980s, ample evidence identified insulin as a major adiposity signal (81, 82). Porte and Woods (81) showed that intracerebroventricular (icv) infusion of insulin in baboons induced drastic weight loss and decreased food intake dose-dependently. In additional studies, insulin receptors were found in key brain areas involved in control of food intake, including the hypothalamic arcuate nucleus (ARC, see below) (83, 84). Insulin is shuttled over the BBB *via* receptor-mediated transport (85). Insulin, produced by pancreatic β -cells, is best known for its involvement in carbohydrate metabolism; in response to high plasma glucose levels, insulin enhances the uptake of glucose by adipocytes, liver, and skeletal muscle cells, storing energy as glycogen or triglycerides (86). Insulin circulates in proportion to the amount of adipose tissue, although its levels fluctuate greatly when food is ingested and absorbed, in accordance with its hypoglycemic actions. However, baseline insulin levels and the magnitude of the fluctuations following food intake are directly proportional to body adiposity (87).

A second adiposity signal, leptin, a type-I α -helical cytokine, is encoded by the *obese* (*ob*) gene and was discovered in mice in 1994 (88) and has gained unparalleled momentum in research on energy homeostasis. It is a potent anorexigenic hormone produced in peripheral white fat and meets the aforementioned criteria for an adiposity signal. In addition, receptors for leptin are present in brain areas involved in the regulation of food intake, especially in the ARC (75).

Two subpopulations of neurons in the ARC integrate peripheral signals regarding energy homeostasis: the "anabolic" population expresses neuropeptide Y and agouti-related peptide, is orexigenic, and inhibited by leptin (89), whereas the "catabolic" population expresses pro-opiomelanocortin and cocaine and amphetamine regulated transcript, is anorexigenic, and stimulated by leptin (90). In line with this model, leptin administration in rodents was shown to decrease body mass dose dependently (91, 92). During fasting, plasma leptin levels fall dramatically and over prolonged periods of food deprivation, changes in the activities of the gonadal, adrenal, and thyroid axes are observed (93). Postprandially, leptin does not increase significantly, nor does it lead to termination of a meal by itself, indicating that leptin is largely involved in long-term regulation of feeding behavior and energy balance (94).

Leptin administration is an effective treatment for obesity in mice and humans with genetic leptin deficiency (95-97). However, in most cases of obesity, circulating leptin levels are already high and leptin therapy is not effective. Indeed, leptin resistance and the consequent lack of anorexic signaling in the ARC is commonly associated with obesity (98). Interestingly, leptin resistance in the ARC does not cause obesity, but it contributes to its persistence, as it develops secondarily after adiposity and body mass increase (99). More recent research revealed that vagal afferent neurons (VAN), apart from their role in meal termination via short-term gut-brain signaling, are involved in the long-term regulation of food intake (100–102). The authors showed that leptin resistance developed in VAN, before hypothalamic leptin signaling became disturbed (100). Moreover, when the leptin receptor is knocked out in VAN specifically, mice displayed increased food intake, body mass, and adiposity, indicating that the absence of leptin signaling in VAN is an important factor in the onset of hyperphagia and obesity (101).

Both adiposity signals (insulin and leptin) exert their function centrally through signaling *via* the ARC neurons, which results in reduced food intake and increased energy expenditure (103, 104). Arguably, leptin, for a while thought to be the panacea to beat obesity (105), received major attention in obesity research, whereas the role of insulin was less appreciated. This might be due to the opposing actions of insulin in peripheral tissues and the

CNS; its hypoglycemic and anabolic function (energy storage) peripherally; and its catabolic effect (steering energy expenditure) in the hypothalamus (106). In the periphery, however, obesity eventually leads to inflammation of adipose tissue, and the following interplay between leptin signaling and the inflammatory cytokines secreted by macrophages seems to contribute to insulin resistance (107).

The complementary, and sometimes redundant, roles of leptin and insulin in the central regulation of energy homeostasis are best illustrated in a condition known as diabetic hyperphagia. When pancreatic β -cells become non-functional, complete depletion of insulin leads to strong hyperglycemia and an inability to store energy peripherally, with considerable weight loss as a result. However, without the catabolic insulin action in the hypothalamus and the co-occurring decrease in plasma leptin levels, increased compensatory food intake is initiated, counteracting energy wasting and preventing more rapid weight loss (106). Administration of either leptin or insulin to the CNS in rats with streptozotocin-induced diabetes blocks this compensatory hyperphagia almost completely (108, 109).

In fact, one can state that leptin and insulin are equally important adiposity signals involved in a negative feedback loop, as has been shown in many studies before (**Figure 1**) (75, 103, 110, 111). We focus on leptin mainly in this review, because leptin received the lion's share of attention in recent research; however, we recognize the significance of the undervalued role of insulin. As Seeley and Woods (75) point out, insulin provides the brain with information not only about fat storage (long-term energy) but also about glucose availability (short-term energy). From this perspective, although indirectly, glucostatic regulation of food intake is indeed taking place. Thus, insulin signaling to the brain could provide the link that integrates glucostatic and lipostatic peripheral signals, allowing for a precise monitoring and accurate regulation of energy balance.

Insulin and Leptin: Adiposity Signals in Fish?

The insulin signaling pathway and its role in energy metabolism is evolutionary conserved and serves fundamentally the same physiological functions from invertebrates to mammals; it is found in phylogenetically distant invertebrate species, such as *Caenorhabditis elegans* and *Drosophila melanogaster*, where it is involved in energy storage (106, 112–114). Interestingly, these animals express homologs of key players in the insulin signal transduction pathway, but do not seem to actively regulate carbohydrate fluxes. They do regulate fat stores: insulin appears to limit energy storage in *C. elegans* (mutants for insulin signal transduction had increased fat deposits), which indicates a catabolic function of this protein in early evolution (106).

In elasmobranchs (mostly carnivores), protein and lipid metabolism are the primary energy sources (115), and although infusion of mammalian insulin resulted in severe prolonged hypoglycemia in spiny dogfish (*Squalus acanthias*) (over 15 times lower than time-zero levels), these fish did not exhibit any symptoms of illness (116). Apparently, strict glucose regulation is not as vital in these animals as it is in later vertebrates. The structure



intake). In addition, leptin signals to VAN, which, according to recent insights, directly influences energy balance. Insulin also has a catabolic effect on the CNS, by exerting the same functions as leptin in the ARC. Note that insulin levels are proportional to adiposity (indicated by a blue arrow).

of insulin and its receptor is also highly conserved among vertebrates (117). Fish insulins, as their mammalian orthologs, consist of an α - and β -chain, linked by disulfide bridges (118); when we align the zebrafish an human insulin genes, we find a sequence of 60%.

As in mammals, it is important to distinguish between peripheral and central functions of insulin. The role of insulin in the periphery as an anabolic hormone has gained more attention, as it was long, but erroneously thought that fish were glucose intolerant [reviewed in Ref. (117)]. He argues that metabolic rate is a factor commonly overlooked in the studies performed on glucose clearance in fish. Acknowledging the fact that the metabolic rate of fish is about 10 times lower than in mammals, it may not come as a surprise that glucose turnover is rather slow (119). For several fish, it was shown that amino acids are a more potent stimulator of insulin secretion than glucose (120, 121), and fish are in general much slower in clearing a glucose load, compared to mammals (117). Notwithstanding, hyperglycemia does induce hyperinsulinemia in vivo (122-124). Significant differences between species exist: in the herbivorous carp glucose is more potent in stimulating insulin secretion than it is in carnivorous species, such as trout (Oncorhynchus mykiss) and sea bream (Sparus aurata) (125).

Contrasting results have been found in studies that address the central role of insulin. Fish brains are likely insulin-sensitive organs, as they contain insulin receptors (126–128). In channel catfish (*Ictalurus punctatus*), 24 h of icv injection of insulin appeared to have no effect on food intake (128). In contrast, icv administration of insulin in rainbow trout elicited a reduction of food intake after 26 h (129). Moreover, it has been shown in rainbow trout that insulin levels drop dramatically after 6 weeks of fasting, a response also seen in mammals (130). These conflicting outcomes could be the result of the longer administration time in the trout study or, more likely, central insulin effects could be species dependent. Progressive insight suggests that fish, like mammals, have specialized neurons involved in glucose sensing, which modulate the hypothalamic neurocircuitry controlling food intake (131).

Whether insulin has similar functions in fish as in mammals in communicating adiposity status to the CNS is not evident. In studies on rainbow trout, insulin stimulates lipogenesis in the liver and, more recently, in white mesenteric adipose tissue (132, 133). Traditionally, researchers considered the fish liver to be the main lipogenic tissue (134). However, Polakof et al. (133) showed that in rainbow trout fed a carbohydrate-rich diet and provided with insulin, lipogenesis in adipose tissue was significantly enhanced. The researchers hypothesized that the increased lipogenic capacity helps to regulate glycemia when excess carbohydrates need to be processed. In addition, these results are indicative for the utilization of lipids, stored in white adipose tissue, as an energy source. In juvenile chinook salmon, circulating insulin levels increased with a high-fat diet, and body adiposity clearly reduced food intake compared to fish that were fed a low-fat diet (135). However, no direct association between insulin levels and adiposity was found, but insulin levels correlated with dietary fat content.

More than a decade after the breakthrough identification of the mammalian ob gene and its protein product leptin (1994), the first non-mammalian ortholog was characterized in a teleostean fish [common carp (136, 137)] and many other fish species followed, including zebrafish (Danio rerio) (138), Atlantic salmon (Salmo salar) (139), and tiger pufferfish (Takifugu rubripes) (140). More recently, the first non-vertebrate functional leptin homolog was identified in Drosophila (141). The Drosophila cytokine Unpaired 2 has structural and functional similarities with mammalian leptin, is secreted by the fat body and signals via a similar intracellular messenger signaling pathway to reduce growth and alter energy metabolism. The canonical paper by Zhang et al. (88) addressed the ob gene as "evolutionary conserved" after demonstrating its presence in evolutionary distant species like Drosophila and eel (Anguilla rostrata LeSueur). However, once fish leptin was cloned and sequenced in 2004 (Huising et al.; accession numbers AJ868357 and AJ868356), the primary sequence identity between fish leptins and mammalian leptins turned out to be less than 25% (136), at variance with the earlier proposed "evolutionary conservation." However, conserved gene structure, phylogenetic analyses, the conservation of essential cysteine residues, and tertiary structure, as well as synteny, firmly demonstrated true orthology of teleostean leptins (136, 138, 140). This indicates that if one wants to study the original function(s) of leptin(s), fish should be addressed.

The organization of hypothalamic nuclei involved in energy metabolism and food intake is conserved throughout the vertebrate lineage (142, 143), yet reports on leptin's physiological role(s) have not been consistent for different fish species, which may not be surprising considering the vast number of species and niche adaptations. Most studies, however, recognize the organs and tissues with a high-fat content (liver or muscle) as the main expression sites for leptin in fish, not adipose tissue like in mammals (136, 138-140, 144, 145). In contrast with mammals, the liver is one of the major energy depots (glycogen and fat) in fish, together with muscle tissue and mesenteric fat (146). Moreover, lipid catabolism is the main source of energy in many fish species (147). Next to being the primary energy storage site, hypodermic fat in endotherms serves a second function, viz. insulation (148). No such insulation is required in an ectotherm, which then may explain differential leptin functioning (see below).

In some fish, leptin inhibits food intake through an interaction with hypothalamic orexigenic and anorexigenic genes, as it does in mammals. For example, in goldfish, administration of heterologous (murine) leptin caused a decrease in food intake, with lower doses needed when applied centrally than when applied peripherally to exert the same effect (149). In rainbow trout, recombinant homologous leptin injected intraperitoneally (144) and recombinant human leptin, administered icv, reduces food intake (150).

In common carp, two *leptin* paralogs were characterized initially, designated *leptin-I* and *leptin-II*, which, given their similarity, are probably the result of the tetraploidization following the "recent" cyprinid WGD ~16 Mya (11, 136, 138). These were later renamed *leptin-a* paralogs. The common carp *leptin-a* paralog did not respond to 6 weeks of fasting, nor to feeding to satiation, which feeding regime caused the experimental fish to grow twice as fast as controls. Only transient postprandial increase and decrease were observed in hepatic *leptin-a-II* and *leptin-a-I* mRNA, respectively (136).

Reduction of food intake is an early response of fish when exposed to stress in general (18) and hypoxia in particular (151, 152); in mammals, leptin levels are known to increase in hypoxic conditions (153). Indeed, the mammalian ob gene contains hypoxia response element (HRE) sites which can be bound by HIF-1 α , a transcription factor that regulates the expression of hypoxia-sensitive genes (153-155). Analyses of the promotor region of zebrafish leptin and the leptin receptor (lepr) revealed putative HRE in both genes (156). Therefore, a follow-up study with common carp was done to elucidate the relation between leptin, hypoxia, and the hypothalamic regulation of food intake. It was shown that hepatic leptin-a-I, leptin-a-II, and lepr expression in common carp is indeed stimulated in hypoxic conditions, which is congruent with a reduction in food intake (156). This fits with a well-known strategy among fishes to deal with hypoxia (152, 157, 158), since appetite suppression leads to precious energy and oxygen savings by reducing the cost of specific dynamic action (i.e., the metabolic energy cost of digestion) (159). These results were subsequently confirmed by a study in zebrafish, in which chronic hypoxia and HIF-1a induced a rise in hepatic leptin mRNA levels (160).

The Bernier laboratory (2012) compared hypothalamic gene expression between hypoxic and fasted (pair-fed to the hypoxic groups) carp, which led to the suggestion that during hypoxia, leptin counteracts the suppression of *pomc* and upregulation of *agrp*, characteristic for fasted carp (136), since *agrp* levels were not affected in hypoxia and the suppression of *pomc* was attenuated (156). These data provide grounds for the involvement of leptin in re-establishing energy balance during chronic hypoxia and indicate a broader physiological role for leptin beyond the signaling of nutrient status.

LEPTIN: STATE OF THE ART

More than 20 years after the discovery of leptin, a picture emerges of a pleiotropic cytokine, apart from its well-known roles in regulation of appetite and energy balance in mammals, which relates energy status to adaptive responses of multiple physiological systems within vertebrates. In a comprehensive review on mammalian leptin physiology, Friedman (161) elaborates on leptin involvement in the entire neuro-endocrine axis: he points out that already in 1991, Bray noted that *ob/ob* mice are infertile, euthyroid sick, hypothermic, and diabetic (162). In addition, *ob/* *ob* mice have increased corticosterone levels and immunological and hematological abnormalities. Most of these abnormalities are linked with starvation, not with obesity (163); the lack of leptin signaling to inform the brain that adequate fat stores are present, elicits physiological responses that reduce energy expenditure and stimulate appetite, similar to when the organism is starving (161).

In fish, leptin functions appear to share similarities, but also differences with their mammalian orthologs. Leptin and its receptor have now been cloned for all major vertebrate classes, including the notoriously elusive leptin in birds (164–166). The aim of this section is to provide a concise overview of the functional divergence and evolution of the leptin system, and to gain insights in recently discovered leptin functions in fish.

Evolution of Leptin and Leptin Receptor Genes

After the initial cloning of leptin in carp, multiple *leptin* paralogs were found in zebrafish (138) and in the Japanese ricefish [*Oryzias latipes*, aka medaka (145)] and named *leptin-a* and *leptin-b*. Indeed, also in common carp a *leptin-b* paralog was found (167) and the first characterized carp leptins were renamed *leptin-a-II* and *leptin-a-II*. The *leptin-a* and *leptin-b* paralogs most likely find their origin in the third, fish-specific, genome duplication, as they are found in evolutionary distant species, such as zebrafish (*Cypriniformes*) and medaka (*Beloniformes*), that shared their last common ancestor ~296 Mya (168).

However, reflecting the diversity among teleostean fishes, leptin phylogeny appears to be even more complex (**Figure 2**). Also in the genome of salmonids, four leptin paralogs (*leptin-aI/II* and *leptin-bI/II*) are present. These paralogs originated as a result of the salmonid WGD 88–103 Mya (13, 139, 169). In more modern fish, e.g., the Tiger puffer (Tetraodon family), only a single *leptin* gene is found, which suggests that this lineage experienced genome reduction, after the split from the *Beloniformes* ~186 Mya (170).

As some of the leptin paralogs share very low primary amino acid sequence identity even within a species [e.g., zebrafish leptina and leptin-b amino acid identity is only 24% (138)], it is likely that these leptin genes acquired different functionality (neofunctionalization or sub-functionalization) (165). Testimony to this reasoning is that *leptin-a* and *leptin-b* are expressed differentially (at least spatially); *leptin-a* is mainly expressed in the liver (138, 139), while the ovary is the main expression site for *leptin-b* (138). In addition, calculations on binding energy suggest that in both medaka and zebrafish, leptin-a has a higher binding energy for the leptin receptor than leptin-b (172).

Surprisingly, in all currently available teleostean genomes only one *lepr* gene is found (165). In salmonids [Atlantic salmon; Rønnestad et al. (139), and rainbow trout; Gong et al. (173)], several splice variants have been identified, but, as in the mammalian situation, only one of these variants contains the full length sequence required for intracellular signal transduction. In Atlantic salmon, four truncated and one full length leptin receptor variants were identified, the latter of which was ubiquitously expressed, including in gills, gonads, and brain (139), whereas in rainbow trout at least three splice variants gave rise to functional circulating leptin binding proteins (LepBP1, LepBP2, and LepBP3) (173). Together, these findings suggest a complex mode of leptin functioning in teleostean fish, with both inter- and intraspecies differences in the interaction of leptin (paralogs) with the leptin receptor, and in the modulation of endocrine and/ or paracrine signaling pathways.

Recent Discoveries on Leptin Physiology

In the past 5 years, research on leptin functioning in teleostean fish has been carried out not only in the field of feeding and appetite regulation (156, 174–177) but has extended to other endocrine regulatory systems, including sexual maturation (169, 178), energy expenditure and metabolic rate (179, 180), osmotic adaptation (181, 182), and glucose homeostasis (183), all of which we will discuss below. In addition, the involvement of leptin in reproduction (184), the growth hormone (GH)–insulin-like growth factor axis [GH–IGF axis (185)], hypothalamic neurotensin networks (186), and the immune system (187) has been studied.

Feeding and Appetite Regulation

The early observations by Huising et al. (136, 137) that *leptin-a* in common carp is regulated by feed intake postprandially are strengthened by a study by Klaren et al. (174). Juvenile common carp were either fed once daily, or demand fed (*via* operating a pendulum connected to an automatic feed dispenser). An interaction effect between time of day and feeding regime was observed for hepatic *leptin-a* transcript abundance (174), indicating an effect of short-term feeding status on *leptin* expression.

Hypoxia-induced elevation of leptin mRNA levels, congruent with a reduction in food intake, has been demonstrated in carp (156). MacDonald et al. (176) investigated the effect of hypoxemia on hepatic leptin expression, plasma leptin levels, and food intake in rainbow trout. To establish the hypoxic state, fish were infected with a pathogenic hemoflagellate, Cryptobia salmositica, which was followed by an immediate drop in hematocrit. After 14 weeks, infected fish had consumed 75% less food compared to controls, an observation accompanied by an initial, transient, 17-fold increase in hepatic leptin-a1 expression, and a sustained increase in plasma leptin-a1 levels. Non-infected fish, pair-fed to the infected group, did not exhibit differences in liver leptin-a1 expression and plasma leptin compared to non-infected fish fed to satiety. Thus, leptin-a1 expression appears to be stimulated by hypoxemia, not feed restriction (176), consistent with the results obtained in carp.

Accordingly, no role for leptin in the regulation of food intake in rainbow trout was observed by Jørgensen et al. (177). Plasma leptin levels did not change upon fasting for 4 months, compared to controls, nor after consumption of a large meal. Levels of *leptin-a1* mRNA increased in the belly flap of the fasted fish and stayed high, even after re-feeding, which suggests a tissue-specific role of leptin in long-term fasting. Transcript levels of *pomc* were elevated in fasted fish, possibly to serve as a satiety signal to reduce energy expenditure when food is scarce. However, no causative role in appetite regulation was found for leptin and hypothalamic neuropeptides (177).



To study leptin functioning in medaka, Chisada et al. (175) generated the first fish model deficient of a functional leptin receptor, by inducing a homozygous mutation in the *lepr* gene. Loss of function of the leptin receptor was suggested by disrupted leptin signaling: the expression of appetite-regulating genes differed between mutant and wild-type fish. Independently of feeding, the mutants exhibited constant and upregulated mRNA levels of orexigenic *npya* and *agrp*, but diencephalic *pomc1* expression was downregulated. The post-juvenile and adult mutants displayed hyperphagia, resulting in a high growth rate in the post-juvenile stage, but not in an altered final body size compared to wild-types. In addition, mutants had large deposits of visceral fat, whereas wild-type fish had none (175). These results suggest a stage-specific influence for leptin in food intake, growth, and fat allocation in medaka.

We see that leptin serves different functions with respect to feeding and metabolism among teleosts. Possibly, this is due to differences between species in lipid metabolism and energy storage sites (188).

Sexual Maturation

In fish, reproduction is dependent on a healthy energy status. Recently, the focus has been on the role for leptin in sexual maturation in Atlantic salmon. A possible role for leptin in the sexual maturation of male parr (freshwater, FW, stage) has been proposed by Angotzi et al. (169), since they observed higher hepatic *leptin-a1* mRNA levels during mid-spermatogenesis compared to immature fish. However, plasma leptin levels did not differ, so the physiological relevance of these findings is not clear (169).

A seasonal study on the link between leptin and energy balance during sexual maturation of the same species revealed that hepatic *leptin* expression was upregulated during mid-spermatogenesis with a 7.7-fold increase of leptin-a1 and a 49-fold increase of leptin-a2 during final maturation (178). For the first time in fish, an upregulation of lepr mRNA was observed in the testis from mid- to late spermatogenesis. In non-maturing control fish, the hepatic expression of leptin-a1 and leptin-a2 and brain lepr was downregulated in early spring, coinciding with the start of growth and fat accumulation. The incidence of sexual maturation was also assessed in a feed-restricted group (fed a low-fat diet at a 50% ration of the control group). This resulted in a 53% decrease in sexual maturation incidence and a major upregulation of both liver leptins and pituitary lepr. It appears that hepatic leptin expression and *lepr* expression in the testis are affected by early sexual maturation in male Atlantic salmon. In addition, the results suggest that leptin does not signal as an adiposity signal in Atlantic salmon, as there is an inverse relationship between fat stores and leptin expression (178). Interestingly, zebrafish lacking either leptin paralog or the leptin receptor show no difference in fecundity compared to wild-type fish (183). Apparently, leptin is involved in sexual maturation, but is not critical for reproductive capability.

Energy Expenditure and Metabolic Rate

Leptin affects metabolic rate in zebrafish embryos (179). Translation of *leptin-a* was inhibited by injection of an antisense morpholino oligonucleotide (MO) in the 1–8 cell stage, and oxygen consumption and total acid production were used as indicators of metabolic rate. Morphants consumed significantly less oxygen until 48 h post-fertilization (hpf) followed by a lower acid production, compared to wild-type controls. Co-injection of recombinant zebrafish leptin-a and antisense MO rescued these effects. In addition, a significant decrease in heart rate was seen in morphants, and developmental abnormalities in, *inter alia*, the

eyes and the inner ear (189). Taken together, these results suggest that, as in mammals, leptin influences metabolic rate in fishes.

Another study in zebrafish embryos showed that leptin, insulin, and α -MSH, increase energy expenditure dose-dependently (180). An assay to measure metabolic rate was developed based on the reduction of non-fluorescent resazurin by NADH2 to fluorescent resorufin (alamarBlue®). To validate the results, a compound known to inhibit hypermetabolic effects of leptin in mice [etomoxir, a carnitine palmitoyl transferase I inhibitor (190)] was tested and shown to block the leptin-induced increase in energy expenditure. These results indicate that leptin's involvement in the endocrine regulation of energy expenditure is conserved in a teleost (180).

SW Adaptation

When fish move between FW and SW, they are challenged by opposite osmotic gradients. Proceeding from a plasma osmolality of 300 mOsmol kg⁻¹ this gradient in FW (10 mOsmol kg⁻¹; 20°C) results in an osmotic pressure of 706.8 kPa, while in SW (1,000 mOsmol kg⁻¹; 20°C) this gradient results in an osmotic pressure of -1,706.1 kPa. Two type-I α-helical cytokines, viz. prolactin and GH, play a key role in dealing with these gradients, in FW and SW, respectively. Interestingly, in both cases, cortisol contributes in a synergistic way to hyper- and hypoosmoregulation (191). Thus, in response to SW exposure, a fish needs to adjust its hydromineral balance, an adaptive and energy demanding process that is associated with enhanced glucose (192) and fatty acid utilization (193). Protein utilization, on the other hand, decreases, as amino acids are retained and function as osmolytes, to maintain cell volume (191, 192). Maybe not surprisingly, considering the energetic cost of osmoregulation, also leptin is involved.

Indeed, in the euryhaline Mozambique tilapia (*Oreochromis mossambicus*), during a 72-h SW challenge, plasma glucose levels were significantly elevated (with a maximum at 12 h after transfer), accompanied by a 25-fold increase in hepatic *leptin-a* expression at 4 h, and elevated *lepr* mRNA levels at 12 h, compared to FW controls (181). To test whether leptin stimulates hepatic glycogenolysis, FW tilapia were injected with recombinant, homologous leptin-a, which resulted in a similar increase in plasma glucose levels as observed during the salinity challenge. Liver glycogen levels were significantly depleted, indicating that leptin-a induced hepatic glycogenolysis necessary for glucose mobilization, to meet increased energy demands during hyperosmotic adaptation (181).

Due to the absence of species-specific antisera, no plasma leptin levels were analyzed in the study described above. In their next study, however, the authors developed and validated an assay to measure plasma leptin-a levels in the Mozambique tilapia (182). This study further identified interactions between prolactin, the pituitary hormone key for adaptation to FW (194, 195), and leptin-a in the euryhaline tilapia. Leptin-a appeared to be the dominant paralog in this species (determined by qPCR analysis of tissues) and is primarily produced by the liver. Hypophysectomized tilapia had higher plasma leptin-a, and hepatic *leptin-a* mRNA levels. These effects could be restored to control values by administration of ovine prolactin. As leptin was found to stimulate *prolactin* expression in the pituitary *in vitro* (196), a negative feedback regulatory model for leptin-a and prolactin seems likely: leptin-a stimulates the expression and secretion of pituitary prolactin (both *prl1* and *prl2*), the prolactins in turn inhibit hepatic *leptin-a* expression, which then translates into a decrease in circulating leptin-a levels (182).

Plasma prolactin and pituitary mRNA levels decrease rapidly upon SW exposure (195). Douros et al. (182) presented tilapia with a 24-h SW challenge, which inactivates the pituitary prolactin cells. During SW acclimation, again a major increase in liver *leptin-a* transcript abundance was observed. Therefore, the authors proposed a mechanism in which the sudden decline in prolactin levels alleviates the continuous inhibition of leptin-a. Prolactin may therefore, *via* leptin-a, be a key glucose regulator in the adaptation to SW (182).

Growth hormone serves to control somatic growth both in FW and SW, and prepares the fish for SW entry by increasing ionoregulatory capacity (197); moreover, GH is particularly well known as permissive for SW adaptation (191). Tilapia leptin-a decreases pituitary gh mRNA and hypophysectomy increases *leptin-a* expression, which is rescued by GH replacement. Additionally, during fasting leptin-a enhances hepatic gh receptor 1 & -2 and igf1 & -2, to prepare the hepatosomatic growth axis in case feeding resumes (198). We now better understand the GH-IGF axis and its control by leptin-a in the euryhaline tilapia, as leptin, the energy signal, directly steers the endocrine growth axis and, together with cortisol, controls the expensive energy expenditure related to SW adaptation.

Both studies by Baltzegar et al. (181) and Douros et al. (198) on hyperosmotic adaptation in tilapia provide original evidence that leptin-a acts as a potent hyperglycemic factor in tilapia, which is functionally distinct from leptin's actions in mammals. It is, therefore, an attractive hypothesis that the functional divergence of the leptin protein among vertebrates reflects fundamental differences in metabolic regulation between ectotherms and endotherms (181). The interplay between these three type-I helical cytokines, *viz.* prolactin, GH, and leptin, once again strengthens the epithet *pleiotropic* of this group of hormones [reviewed in Ref. (137)].

Glucose Homeostasis

In an elegant series of experiments, Michel et al. (183) demonstrated a role for leptin in glucose homeostasis and disproving a role for leptin as an adipostat in zebrafish. To do so, they created a zebrafish with a dysfunctional leptin receptor. These mutant zebrafish did not exhibit increased adiposity or hyperphagia compared to wild-type controls. In addition, no effect of genotype on length or body mass was found in different life stages and fertility appeared to be normal in these mutants (183).

Given the profound diabetes observed in leptin receptor-deficient mice (db/db) (199), and leptin being an important hyperglycemic factor in tilapia (181), it is very tempting to speculate that leptin receptor deficiency in zebrafish would have an effect on glucose homeostasis. Indeed, it seems that, at least in zebrafish, a role for leptin in glucose homeostasis is more pronounced than a role as an adipostat. In the zebrafish leptin receptor mutant, leptin is not required for adipostasis, reproductive functions, or appetite regulation. However, several aspects of glucose homeostasis were altered in mutant fry compared to controls: a small increase in whole body glucose content was found, the expression of the preproinsulin gene *insulin-a* (*insa*), not *insb*, was enhanced in endocrine pancreas tissue, the number of β -cells was 25% higher than in controls, and the expression of key enzymes involved in hepatic glucose metabolism was altered (183). A 3-day exposure of mutant larvae to metformin [a drug known for its beneficial effects on hepatic glucose homeostasis and insulin sensitivity in diabetes patients (200)] normalized the number of β -cells to wild-type levels at 5 days post fertilization. Mutant *leptin-a* and *leptin-b* zebrafish (generated using CRISPR technology) confirmed that lack of leptin-a signaling *via* the leptin receptor is responsible for the increased number of β -cells (183).

With respect to the involvement of leptin in the regulation of food intake and adipostasis, the zebrafish and medaka studies [Michel et al. (183) and Chisada et al. (175), respectively] present opposing results. Whereas Michel et al. (183) concluded that leptin plays a role in glucose homeostasis in zebrafish, but not in adipostasis, Chisada et al. (175) concluded that leptin exerts a powerful influence on food intake regulation and fat allocation in medaka. Although medaka and zebrafish are evolutionary distant species [~296 Mya apart (168)], which could explain differential functions of leptin, the effect of differences in genetic background and raising density in the medaka study cannot be ruled out. A study on knock-out medaka with proper genetic background controls should resolve this issue.

LEPTIN AND STRESS

Re-establishing energy balance is pivotal for vertebrates to realize general homeostasis and cope with environmental or physical disturbances (18, 201, 202). To cope with a (potential) stressful event, vertebrates have to adjust neural, endocrine, and immune mechanisms (203), that, together, modulate energy metabolism. This is an allostatic response; i.e., the ability of an animal to acquire "stability through change" (204, 205). Allostasis is essential in attaining homeostasis (203), and leptin has been annotated as an allostatic hormone (206). This description embraces leptin functioning as a pleiotropic hormone, involved in redistribution of energy, independent of context.

The stress response is largely conserved from fish to terrestrial vertebrates (18, 201), and recently reviewed with respect to fish (202). As both leptin and corticotropin-releasing factor (CRF) are important modulators of energy balance, a link between these hormone systems was predicted soon after the discovery of leptin. Indeed, icv injections of recombinant leptin in fasted rats resulted in increased *Crf* mRNA levels in the hypothalamus, decreased *Npy* expression, and a reduction in food intake (207, 208). Leptin receptors appeared to be concentrated in the ARC (207), thus leptin exerts its anorexic effect, at least in part, mediated by indirect stimulation of CRF *via* the ARC and paraventricular nucleus in mammals (208).

Nutritional state is a crucial component in stress axis activity (209). The contribution of leptin and CRF to the regulation of the stress axis and energy homeostasis is dependent on shared signaling pathways with complementary effects centrally and peripherally. The ultimate result of the stress response is the

production and release of glucocorticoids that stimulate the induction of gluconeogenic enzymes in the liver and lipogenesis (210). In mammals, peripheral leptin functions directly at the level of the adrenal gland, where it reduces cortisol release and blunts the adrenal corticotropic hormone (ACTH)-induced rise in cortisol levels (211). Thus, leptin stimulates CRF release from the hypothalamus, but counteracts the peripheral effects of glucocorticoids by inhibiting cortisol release from the adrenal gland.

Also in fish, leptin has been shown to modulate the stress response at multiple levels (156, 212). We have already considered the upregulation of hepatic *leptin* expression during chronic hypoxia in common carp (156), and another study with this species demonstrated that recombinant (human) leptin decreased regulated, CRF-mediated, as well as constitutive ACTH release, and lowered basal cortisol secretion from the head kidney (212). Leptin may then serve as a master signal to downplay the stress response and decrease energy expenditure, as these two processes are intimately linked. This situation is strongly reminiscent of the role of leptin in the GH-IGF axis, as well as the interaction with prolactin.

SYNTHESIS AND PERSPECTIVES

Vertebrates have adapted to essentially all niches found on earth, aquatic, terrestrial, and aerial. The conquest of and adaptations to these niches come with niche-specific energetic consequences. The earliest vertebrates evolved in aquatic niches, and their welllubricated integument is an adaptation to save energy spent on transportation. Swimming is energetically cheaper than flying and running (the most expensive mode of transport). Efficient (aerobic) production of ATP requires a guaranteed oxygen uptake machinery, which is found in high sophistication in the gills of extant fish. The delicate barrier of the gills that facilitates oxygen diffusion comes with a cost: the large branchial surface holds the danger of unwanted water and ion flows, in hypo- or hypersaline waters. Accurate hydromineral balance is secured by the energetically expensive Na⁺/K⁺-ATPase. Fish play with the surface area required for oxygen uptake, but also show metabolic suppression when hypoxic or anoxic conditions arise.

Although several trials with regional endothermy are found in fish, with the transition to land the evolution of true endothermy is seen. The terrestrial environment required more expensive modes of transportation, facilitated by the large metabolic scope inherent to endothermy. Heat loss through air is considerably less than through water. The keratinized skin was equipped externally with feathers or hair and internally with a hypodermic insulating fat layer to retain heat. At the same time, the fat tissue is the major energy depot, which secures the energy requirements of endothermy. In many terrestrial animals, the fat is the largest endocrine tissue, production site, and target of humoral factors key in energy metabolism. Of note, in some icefishes fat can make up 50% of total body mass, fat that serves a role in buoyancy and vertical migration (213).

In the first part of this review, we have non-exhaustively discussed different metabolic strategies. Metabolism, specifically

metabolic rate, is at the basis of thermal regulation in both ectoand endotherms. Metabolism, thermoregulation, and aerobic performance affect each other and all depend on food intake, food being the source of chemical energy. Diametric differences in energy metabolism resulted in different endocrine mechanisms, regulating energy balance and food intake. In the second part of this review, we discussed these endocrine mechanisms in a comparative way, with a focus on insulin and (mainly) leptin.

Up till now, major differences in leptin function between fish species were reported. There is urgent need to find a "common denominator" in teleostean leptin physiology. Most of our current knowledge arises from studies on cyprinids and salmonids, which reflect only a small share of the teleostean diversity. Therefore, one should study leptin in a truly comparative way, including a broader range of fish species. Furthermore, studies on the endocrinology of energy balance should also include insulin. An interesting new avenue of research is the contribution of VAN to energy balance in early vertebrates, and the effects of insulin and leptin thereon.

Insulin and leptin are evolutionary old and the pinnacle regulators of energy intake, storage, and expenditure. Our recent knowledge, in particular on the involvement of leptin in the entire neuro-endocrine axis, is greatly enhanced by comparative studies between early vertebrates and mammals. The evolution of and the interactions within the type-I helical cytokine family (including leptin, prolactin, and GH) elaborated sophisticated control of the energy balance in challenging niches. In addition, comparative

REFERENCES

- International Union for Conservation of Nature. Red List version 2016-3. Table 1: numbers of threatened species by major groups of organisms (1996– 2016). *IUCN Red List.* (2016). Available from: http://cmsdocs.s3.amazonaws. com/summarystats/2016-3_Summary_Stats_Page_Documents/2016_3_ RL_Stats_Table_1.pdf
- 2. Ohno S. Evolution by Gene Duplication. New York: Springer-Verlag (1970).
- 3. Scotese CR. Paleomap project. *PALEOMAP Project*. (2001). Available from: http://www.scotese.com/newpage1.htm
- Harvey Pough F, Janis CM, Heiser JB. Vertebrate Life. New Jersey: Pearson Prentice Hall (1999).
- Long JA, Gordon MS. The greatest step in vertebrate history: a paleobiological review of the fish-tetrapod transition. *Physiol Biochem Zool* (2004) 77(5):700–19. doi:10.1086/425183
- Dehal P, Boore JL. Two rounds of whole genome duplication in the ancestral vertebrate. *PLoS Biol* (2005) 3(10):e314. doi:10.1371/journal.pbio.0030314
- Force A, Lynch M, Pickett FB, Amores A, Yan YL, Postlethwait J. Preservation of duplicate genes by complementary, degenerative mutations. *Genetics* (1999) 151(4):1531–45.
- Raup DM, Sepkoski JJ Jr. Mass extinctions in the marine fossil record. Science (1982) 215(4539):1501–3. doi:10.1126/science.215.4539.1501
- Meyer A, Van de Peer Y. From 2R to 3R: evidence for a fish-specific genome duplication (FSGD). *Bioessays* (2005) 27(9):937–45. doi:10.1002/bies.20293
- Allendorf FW, Thorgaard GH. Tetraploidy and the evolution of salmonid fishes. In: Turner BJ, editor. *Evolutionary genetics of fishes*. New York: Plenum Press (1984). p. 1–53.
- Larhammar D, Risinger C. Molecular genetic aspects of tetraploidy in the common carp *Cyprinus carpio. Mol Phylogenet Evol* (1994) 3(1):59–68. doi:10.1006/mpev.1994.1007
- Hoegg S, Brinkmann H, Taylor JS, Meyer A. Phylogenetic timing of the fish-specific genome duplication correlates with the diversification of teleost fish. J Mol Evol (2004) 59(2):190–203. doi:10.1007/s00239-004-2613-z

studies keep promise to solve the paradoxical (?) evolution of endothermy.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

IP drafted the manuscript. IP, GF, and MG, all edited and finalized the manuscript.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

Present and former members and students of the department, as well as our (inter) national collaborators are acknowledged for valuable discussions.

FUNDING

MG and GF received funding from the European Community's seventh Framework Program (FP7/2010–2014) under grant agreement number 265957 (COPEWELL).

SUPPLEMENTARY MATERIAL

The Supplementary Material for this article can be found online at http://journal.frontiersin.org/article/10.3389/fendo. 2017.00036/full#supplementary-material.

- Macqueen DJ, Johnston IA. A well-constrained estimate for the timing of the salmonid whole genome duplication reveals major decoupling from species diversification. *Proc Biol Sci* (2014) 281(1778):20132881. doi:10.1098/ rspb.2013.2881
- Clarke JT, Lloyd GT, Friedman M. Little evidence for enhanced phenotypic evolution in early teleosts relative to their living fossil sister group. *Proc Nalt Acad Sci U S A* (2016) 113(41):11531–6. doi:10.1073/pnas.1607237113
- Apschner A, Schulte-Merker S, Witten PE. Not all bones are created equal

 using zebrafish and other teleost species in osteogenesis research. 3rd ed.
 In: Detrich H III, Westerfield M, Zon L, editors. *The Zebrafish: Disease* Models and Chemical Screens. USA: Academic Press (2011). p. 239–55.
- Nelson JS, Grande TC, Wilson MV. Fishes of the World. Hoboken, New Jersey: John Wiley & Sons (2016).
- Wootton R. Ecology of Teleost Fishes. London: Springer Science & Business Media (1990).
- Wendelaar Bonga SE. The stress response in fish. Physiol Rev (1997) 77(3):591-625.
- Atkinson DE. Energy charge of the adenylate pool as a regulatory parameter. Interaction with feedback modifiers. *Biochemistry* (1968) 7(11):4030–4. doi:10.1021/bi00851a033
- Shoubridge EA, Hochachka P. Ethanol: novel end product of vertebrate anaerobic metabolism. *Science* (1980) 209(4453):308–9. doi:10.1126/ science.7384807
- Nilsson GE. Surviving anoxia with the brain turned on. *Physiology* (2001) 16(5):217–21.
- DeVries AL. Freezing resistance in fishes. In: Hoar WS, Randall DJ, editors. *Environmental Relations and Behavior*. USA: Elsevier Academic Press (1971). p. 157–90.
- Verberk WC, Bilton DT, Calosi P, Spicer JI. Oxygen supply in aquatic ectotherms: partial pressure and solubility together explain biodiversity and size patterns. *Ecology* (2011) 92(8):1565–72. doi:10.1890/10-2369.1
- Sidell BD, O'Brien KM. When bad things happen to good fish: the loss of hemoglobin and myoglobin expression in Antarctic icefishes. *J Exp Biol* (2006) 209(10):1791–802. doi:10.1242/jeb.02091

- Gardner PR. Nitric oxide dioxygenase function and mechanism of flavohemoglobin, hemoglobin, myoglobin and their associated reductases. J Inorg Biochem (2005) 99(1):247–66. doi:10.1016/j.jinorgbio.2004.10.003
- Bacila M, Rosa R, Rodrigues E, Lucchiari PH, Rosa CD. Tissue metabolism of the ice-fish *Chaenocephalus aceratus* Loenberg. *Comp Biochem Physiol B: Biochem Mol Biol* (1989) 92(2):313–8.
- Matey V, Richards JG, Wang Y, Wood CM, Rogers J, Davies R, et al. The effect of hypoxia on gill morphology and ionoregulatory status in the Lake Qinghai scaleless carp, *Gymnocypris przewalskii. J Exp Biol* (2008) 211(7):1063–74. doi:10.1242/jeb.010181
- Zhang R, Ludwig A, Zhang C, Tong C, Li G, Tang Y, et al. Local adaptation of *Gymnocypris przewalskii* (*Cyprinidae*) on the Tibetan Plateau. *Sci Rep* (2015) 5:09780. doi:10.1038/srep09780
- Sollid J, Rissanen E, Tranberg HK, Thorstensen T, Vuori KA, Nikinmaa M, et al. HIF-1alpha and iNOS levels in crucian carp gills during hypoxiainduced transformation. *J Comp Physiol B* (2006) 176(4):359–69. doi:10.1007/ s00360-005-0059-2
- Wood CM, Perry SF, Wright PA, Bergman HL, Randall DJ. Ammonia and urea dynamics in the Lake Magadi tilapia, a ureotelic teleost fish adapted to an extremely alkaline environment. *Respir Physiol* (1989) 77(1):1–20. doi:10.1016/0034-5687(89)90025-X
- Wood CM, Brix KV, De Boeck G, Bergman HL, Bianchini A, Bianchini LF, et al. Mammalian metabolic rates in the hottest fish on earth. *Sci Rep* (2016) 6:26990. doi:10.1038/srep26990
- Schilling CH, Letscher D, Palsson BØ. Theory for the systemic definition of metabolic pathways and their use in interpreting metabolic function from a pathway-oriented perspective. *J Theor Biol* (2000) 203(3):229–48. doi:10.1006/jtbi.2000.1073
- Weir JB. New methods for calculating metabolic rate with special reference to protein metabolism. *J Physiol* (1949) 109(1–2):1. doi:10.1113/jphysiol.1949. sp004363
- Clarke A, Fraser K. Why does metabolism scale with temperature? Funct Ecol (2004) 18(2):243–51. doi:10.1111/j.0269-8463.2004.00841.x
- Steffensen JF. Respiratory systems and metabolic rates. In: Randall DJ, Farrell AP, editors. *The Physiology of Polar Fishes*. San Diego: Elsevier Academic Press (2005). p. 203–33.
- McNab BK. On the utility of uniformity in the definition of basal rate of metabolism. *Physiol Zool* (1997) 70(6):718–20. doi:10.1086/515881
- Clarke A, Pörtner HO. Temperature, metabolic power and the evolution of endothermy. *Biol Rev Camb Philos Soc* (2010) 85(4):703–27. doi:10.1111/j.1469-185X.2010.00122.x
- Bennett AF, Ruben JA. Endothermy and activity in vertebrates. Science (1979) 206(4419):649–54. doi:10.1126/science.493968
- Covert JB, Reynolds WW. Survival value of fever in fish. Nature (1977) 267:43–5. doi:10.1038/267043a0
- Schurmann H, Steffensen J, Lomholt JP. The influence of hypoxia on the preferred temperature of rainbow trout Oncorhynchus mykiss. J Exp Biol (1991) 157(1):75–86.
- Boltana S, Rey S, Roher N, Vargas R, Huerta M, Huntingford FA, et al. Behavioural fever is a synergic signal amplifying the innate immune response. *Proc Biol Sci* (2013) 280(1766):20131381. doi:10.1098/rspb.2013.1381
- 42. Rey S, Huntingford FA, Boltana S, Vargas R, Knowles TG, Mackenzie S. Fish can show emotional fever: stress-induced hyperthermia in zebrafish. *Proc Biol Sci* (2015) 282:20152266. doi:10.1098/rspb.2015.2266
- Cerqueira M, Rey S, Silva T, Featherstone Z, Crumlish M, MacKenzie S. Thermal preference predicts animal personality in Nile tilapia Oreochromis niloticus. J Anim Ecol (2016) 85:1389–400. doi:10.1111/1365-2656.12555
- 44. Hochachka P, Somero G. *Biochemical Adaptation: Mechanism and Process in Physiological Evolution*. Oxford: Oxford University Press (2002).
- Schmidt-Nielsen K. Locomotion: energy cost of swimming, flying, and running. Science (1972) 177(4045):222–8. doi:10.1126/science.177.4045.222
- Heinrich B. Why have some animals evolved to regulate a high body temperature? Am Nat (1977) 111(980):623–40. doi:10.1086/283196
- Farmer CG. Parental care: the key to understanding endothermy and other convergent features in birds and mammals. *Am Nat* (2000) 155(3):326–34. doi:10.1086/303323
- Koteja P. Energy assimilation, parental care and the evolution of endothermy. Proc R Soc Lond B Biol Sci (2000) 267(1442):479–84. doi:10.1098/ rspb.2000.1025

- Crompton AW, Richard Taylor C, Jagger JA. Evolution of homeothermy in mammals. *Nature* (1978) 272(5651):333–6. doi:10.1038/272333a0
- McNab BK. The evolution of endothermy in the phylogeny of mammals. Am Nat (1978) 112(983):1–21. doi:10.1086/283249
- Savage VM, Gillooly J, Woodruff W, West G, Allen A, Enquist B, et al. The predominance of quarter-power scaling in biology. *Funct Ecol* (2004) 18(2):257–82. doi:10.1111/j.0269-8463.2004.00856.x
- 52. Bennett AF. The evolution of activity capacity. J Exp Biol (1991) 160(1):1-23.
- Bennett AF, Licht P. Anaerobic metabolism during activity in lizards. J Comp Physiol B (1972) 81(3):277–88. doi:10.1007/BF00693632
- Bennett AF, Licht P. Anaerobic metabolism during activity in amphibians. *Comp Biochem Physiol A* (1974) 48(2):319–27. doi:10.1016/0300-9629(74) 90712-9
- Pörtner HO, Bock C, Knust R, Lannig G, Lucassen M, Mark FC, et al. Cod and climate in a latitudinal cline: physiological analyses of climate effects in marine fishes. *Clim Res* (2008) 37(2–3):253–70. doi:10.3354/cr00766
- Pörtner HO. Climate change and temperature-dependent biogeography: oxygen limitation of thermal tolerance in animals. *Naturwissenschaften* (2001) 88(4):137–46. doi:10.1007/s001140100216
- 57. Pörtner HO, Knust R. Climate change affects marine fishes through the oxygen limitation of thermal tolerance. *Science* (2007) 315(5808):95–7. doi:10.1126/science.1135471
- Pörtner HO. Climate variations and the physiological basis of temperature dependent biogeography: systemic to molecular hierarchy of thermal tolerance in animals. *Comp Biochem Physiol A Mol Int Physiol* (2002) 132(4):739–61. doi:10.1016/S1095-6433(02)00045-4
- Pörtner HO, Van Dijk P, Hardewig I, Sommer A. Levels of metabolic cold adaptation: tradeoffs in eurythermal and stenothermal ectotherms. In: Davison W, Howard Williams C, editors. *Antarctic Ecosystems: Models for Wider Ecological Understanding*. Christchurch, New Zealand: Caxton Press (2000). p. 109–22.
- Johnston I, Calvo J, Guderley H, Fernandez D, Palmer L. Latitudinal variation in the abundance and oxidative capacities of muscle mitochondria in perciform fishes. J Exp Biol (1998) 201(1):1–12.
- 61. Sidell BD. Intracellular oxygen diffusion: the roles of myoglobin and lipid at cold body temperature. *J Exp Biol* (1998) 201(8):1119–28.
- Else P, Hulbert A. Evolution of mammalian endothermic metabolism: "leaky" membranes as a source of heat. *Am J Physiol Regul Integr Comp Physiol* (1987) 253(1):R1–7.
- Stuart JA, Cadenas S, Jekabsons MB, Roussel D, Brand MD. Mitochondrial proton leak and the uncoupling protein 1 homologues. *Biochim Biophys Acta* (2001) 1504(1):144–58. doi:10.1016/S0005-2728(00)00243-7
- Stuart J, Harper J, Brindle K, Brand M. Uncoupling protein 2 from carp and zebrafish, ectothermic vertebrates. *Biochim Biophys Act* (1999) 1413(1):50–4. doi:10.1016/S0005-2728(99)00081-X
- Jastroch M, Wuertz S, Kloas W, Klingenspor M. Uncoupling protein 1 in fish uncovers an ancient evolutionary history of mammalian nonshivering thermogenesis. *Physiol Genomics* (2005) 22(2):150–6. doi:10.1152/ physiolgenomics.00070.2005
- Himms-Hagen J, Harper M-E. Physiological role of UCP3 may be export of fatty acids from mitochondria when fatty acid oxidation predominates: an hypothesis. *Exp Biol Med* (2001) 226(2):78–84. doi:10.1177/153537020122600204
- Schrauwen P, Hoeks J, Schaart G, Kornips E, Binas B, van de Vusse GJ, et al. Uncoupling protein 3 as a mitochondrial fatty acid anion exporter. FASEB J (2003) 17(15):2272–4. doi:10.1096/fj.03-0515fje
- Brand MD, Affourtit C, Esteves TC, Green K, Lambert AJ, Miwa S, et al. Mitochondrial superoxide: production, biological effects, and activation of uncoupling proteins. *Free Radic Biol Med* (2004) 37(6):755–67. doi:10.1016/ j.freeradbiomed.2004.05.034
- Korsmeyer K, Dewar H. Tuna metabolism and energetics. In: Block BA, Stevens ED, editors. *Tuna: Physiology, Ecology, and Evolution*. London: Elsevier Academic Press (2001). p. 36–71.
- Magnuson JJ. Locomotion by scombrid fishes: hydromechanics, morphology, and behavior. *Fish Physiology. Vol. 7: Locomotion*. London: Academic Press Inc (1978). p. 239–313.
- 71. Stevens E, Lam HM, Kendall J. Vascular anatomy of the counter-current heat exchanger of skipjack tuna. *J Exp Biol* (1974) 61(1):145.
- Carey FG, Teal JM. Heat conservation in tuna fish muscle. *Proc Natl Acad Sci* U S A (1966) 56(5):1464–9. doi:10.1073/pnas.56.5.1464

- Brett JR. Energetic responses of salmon to temperature. A study of some thermal relations in the physiology and freshwater ecology of sockeye salmon (*Oncorhynchus nerkd*). Am Zool (1971) 11(1):99–113. doi:10.1093/ icb/11.1.99
- Schwartz MW, Woods SC, Porte D, Seeley RJ, Baskin DG. Central nervous system control of food intake. *Nature* (2000) 404(6778):661–71. doi:10.1038/35007534
- Seeley RJ, Woods SC. Monitoring of stored and available fuel by the CNS: implications for obesity. *Nat Rev Neurosci* (2003) 4(11):901–9. doi:10.1038/ nrn1245
- Gale SM, Castracane VD, Mantzoros CS. Energy homeostasis, obesity and eating disorders: recent advances in endocrinology. *J Nutr* (2004) 134(2):295–8.
- 77. Anand BK, Brobeck JR. Hypothalamic control of food intake in rats and cats. *Yale J Biol Med* (1951) 24(2):123.
- Mayer J. Regulation of energy intake and the body weight: the glucostatic theory and the lipostatic hypothesis. *Ann N Y Acad Sci* (1955) 63(1):15–43. doi:10.1111/j.1749-6632.1955.tb36543.x
- 79. Kennedy GC. The role of depot fat in the hypothalamic control of food intake in the rat. *Proc R Soc Lond B Biol Sci* (1953) 140(901):578–92.
- Woods SC, Seeley RJ. Adiposity signals and the control of energy homeostasis. Nutrition (2000) 16(10):894–902. doi:10.1016/S0899-9007(00)00454-8
- Porte D Jr, Woods S. Regulation of food intake and body weight by insulin. Diabetologia (1981) 20(3):274–80. doi:10.1007/BF00254493
- Woods S, Porte D, Bobbioni E, Ionescu E, Sauter J, Rohner-Jeanrenaud F, et al. Insulin: its relationship to the central nervous system and to the control of food intake and body weight. *Am J Clin Nut* (1985) 42(5):1063–71.
- Marks JL, Porte D Jr, Stahl WL, Baskin DG. Localization of insulin receptor mRNA in rat brain by in situ hybridization. *Endocrinology* (1990) 127(6):3234–6. doi:10.1210/endo-127-6-3234
- Baura GD, Foster D, Porte D Jr, Kahn S, Bergman R, Cobelli C, et al. Saturable transport of insulin from plasma into the central nervous system of dogs *in vivo*. A mechanism for regulated insulin delivery to the brain. *J Clin Invest* (1993) 92(4):1824. doi:10.1172/JCI116773
- Schwartz MW, Sipols A, Kahn SE, Lattemann DF, Taborsky GJ, Bergman RN, et al. Kinetics and specificity of insulin uptake from plasma into cerebrospinal fluid. *Am J Physiol Endocrinol Metab* (1990) 259(3):E378.
- 86. Stryer L. Biochemistry. New York: W H Freeman & Co (1995).
- Polonsky K, Given B, Hirsch L, Shapiro E, Tillil H, Beebe C, et al. Quantitative study of insulin secretion and clearance in normal and obese subjects. *J Clin Invest* (1988) 81(2):435. doi:10.1172/JCI113338
- Zhang Y, Proenca R, Maffei M, Barone M, Leopold L, Friedman JM. Positional cloning of the mouse obese gene and its human homologue. *Nature* (1994) 372(6505):425–32. doi:10.1038/372425a0
- Broberger C, Johansen J, Johansson C, Schalling M, Hökfelt T. The neuropeptide Y/agouti gene-related protein (AGRP) brain circuitry in normal, anorectic, and monosodium glutamate-treated mice. *Proc Natl Acad Sci* U S A (1998) 95(25):15043–8. doi:10.1073/pnas.95.25.15043
- Elias CF, Lee C, Kelly J, Aschkenasi C, Ahima RS, Couceyro PR, et al. Leptin activates hypothalamic CART neurons projecting to the spinal cord. *Neuron* (1998) 21(6):1375–85. doi:10.1016/S0896-6273(00)80656-X
- Halaas JL, Gajiwala KS, Maffei M, Cohen SL, Chait BT, Rabinowitz D, et al. Weight-reducing effects of the plasma protein encoded by the *obese* gene. *Science* (1995) 269(5223):543. doi:10.1126/science.7624777
- Halaas JL, Boozer C, Blair-West J, Fidahusein N, Denton DA, Friedman JM. Physiological response to long-term peripheral and central leptin infusion in lean and obese mice. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* (1997) 94(16):8878–83. doi:10.1073/pnas.94.16.8878
- Ahima RS, Prabakaran D, Mantzoros C, Qu D, Lowell B, Maratos-Flier E, et al. Role of leptin in the neuroendocrine response to fasting. *Nature* (1996) 382:250–2. doi:10.1038/382250a0
- 94. Friedman JM, Halaas JL. Leptin and the regulation of body weight in mammals. *Nature* (1998) 395(6704):763–70. doi:10.1038/27376
- Frederich RC, Hamann A, Anderson S, Löllmann B, Lowell BB, Flier JS. Leptin levels reflect body lipid content in mice: evidence for diet-induced resistance to leptin action. *Nat Med* (1995) 1(12):1311–4. doi:10.1038/ nm1295-1311
- 96. Considine RV, Sinha MK, Heiman ML, Kriauciunas A, Stephens TW, Nyce MR, et al. Serum immunoreactive-leptin concentrations in normal-weight

and obese humans. N Engl J Med (1996) 334(5):292-5. doi:10.1056/ NEJM199602013340503

- Farooqi IS, Matarese G, Lord GM, Keogh JM, Lawrence E, Agwu C, et al. Beneficial effects of leptin on obesity, T cell hyporesponsiveness, and neuroendocrine/metabolic dysfunction of human congenital leptin deficiency. *J Clin Invest* (2002) 110(8):1093–103. doi:10.1172/JCI15693
- Myers MG, Cowley MA, Münzberg H. Mechanisms of leptin action and leptin resistance. *Annu Rev Physiol* (2008) 70:537–56. doi:10.1146/annurev. physiol.70.113006.100707
- Myers MG, Leibel RL, Seeley RJ, Schwartz MW. Obesity and leptin resistance: distinguishing cause from effect. *Trends Endocrinol Metab* (2010) 21(11):643–51. doi:10.1016/j.tem.2010.08.002
- 100. de Lartigue G, de la Serre CB, Espero E, Lee J, Raybould HE. Diet-induced obesity leads to the development of leptin resistance in vagal afferent neurons. Am J Physiol Endocrinol Metab (2011) 301(1):E187–95. doi:10.1152/ ajpendo.00056.2011
- de Lartigue G, Ronveaux CC, Raybould HE. Deletion of leptin signaling in vagal afferent neurons results in hyperphagia and obesity. *Mol Metab* (2014) 3(6):595–607. doi:10.1016/j.molmet.2014.06.003
- de Lartigue G, Diepenbroek C. Novel developments in vagal afferent nutrient sensing and its role in energy homeostasis. *Curr Opin Pharmacol* (2016) 31:38–43. doi:10.1016/j.coph.2016.08.007
- Baskin DG, Lattemann DF, Seeley RJ, Woods SC, Porte D, Schwartz MW. Insulin and leptin: dual adiposity signals to the brain for the regulation of food intake and body weight. *Brain Res* (1999) 848(1):114–23. doi:10.1016/ S0006-8993(99)01974-5
- Niswender KD, Schwartz MW. Insulin and leptin revisited: adiposity signals with overlapping physiological and intracellular signaling capabilities. *Front Neuroendocrinol* (2003) 24(1):1–10. doi:10.1016/S0091-3022(02)00105-X
- Caro JF, Sinha MK, Kolaczynski JW, Zhang PL, Considine RV. Leptin: the tale of an obesity gene. *Diabetes* (1996) 45(11):1455–63. doi:10.2337/ diab.45.11.1455
- Niswender KD, Baskin DG, Schwartz MW. Insulin and its evolving partnership with leptin in the hypothalamic control of energy homeostasis. *Trends Endocrinol Metab* (2004) 15(8):362–9. doi:10.1016/j.tem.2004.07.009
- Neels JG, Olefsky JM. Inflamed fat: what starts the fire? J Clin Invest (2006) 116(1):33–5. doi:10.1172/JCI27280
- Sipols AJ, Baskin DG, Schwartz MW. Effect of intracerebroventricular insulin infusion on diabetic hyperphagia and hypothalamic neuropeptide gene expression. *Diabetes* (1995) 44(2):147–51. doi:10.2337/diab.44.2.147
- Sindelar DK, Havel PJ, Seeley RJ, Wilkinson CW, Woods SC, Schwartz MW. Low plasma leptin levels contribute to diabetic hyperphagia in rats. *Diabetes* (1999) 48(6):1275–80. doi:10.2337/diabetes.48.6.1275
- 110. Kolaczynski JW, Nyce MR, Considine RV, Boden G, Nolan JJ, Henry R, et al. Acute and chronic effect of insulin on leptin production in humans: studies *in vivo* and *in vitro*. *Diabetes* (1996) 45(5):699–701. doi:10.2337/diab.45. 5.699
- 111. Schwartz MW, Woods SC, Porte D, Seeley RJ, Baskin DG. Central nervous system control of food intake. *Nature* (2000) 404(6778):661–71. doi:10.1038/35007534
- 112. Wolkow CA, Kimura KD, Lee M-S, Ruvkun G. Regulation of *C. elegans* life-span by insulinlike signaling in the nervous system. *Science* (2000) 290(5489):147–50. doi:10.1126/science.290.5489.147
- Garofalo RS. Genetic analysis of insulin signaling in Drosophila. Trends Endocrinol Metab (2002) 13(4):156–62. doi:10.1016/S1043-2760(01)00548-3
- 114. Wu Q, Brown MR. Signaling and function of insulin-like peptides in insects. Annu Rev Entomol (2006) 51:1–24. doi:10.1146/annurev. ento.51.110104.151011
- 115. Ballantyne JS. Jaws: the inside story. The metabolism of elasmobranch fishes. Comp Biochem Physiol B: Biochem Mol Biol (1997) 118(4):703–42. doi:10.1016/S0305-0491(97)00272-1
- DeRoos R, DeRoos CC. Severe insulin-induced hypoglycemia in the spiny dogfish shark (*Squalus acanthias*). *Gen Comp Endocrinol* (1979) 37(2):186–91. doi:10.1016/0016-6480(79)90106-0
- 117. Moon TW. Glucose intolerance in teleost fish: fact or fiction? Comp Biochem Physiol B Biochem Mol Biol (2001) 129(2):243–9. doi:10.1016/ S1096-4959(01)00316-5
- 118. Mommsen T, Plisetskaya E. Insulin in fishes and agnathans history, structure, and metabolic-regulation. *Rev Aquat Sci* (1991) 4(2–3):225–59.

- Weber JM, Zwingelstein G. Circulatory substrate fluxes and their regulation. Biochem Mol Biol Fishes (1995) 4:15–32. doi:10.1016/S1873-0140(06)80005-6
- Navarro I, Rojas P, Capilla E, Albalat A, Castillo J, Montserrat N, et al. Insights into insulin and glucagon responses in fish. *Fish Physiol Biochem* (2002) 27(3–4):205–16. doi:10.1023/B:FISH.0000032726.78074.04
- 121. Andoh T. Amino acids are more important insulinotropins than glucose in a teleost fish, barfin flounder (*Verasper moseri*). Gen Comp Endocrinol (2007) 151(3):308–17. doi:10.1016/j.ygcen.2007.01.015
- 122. Furuichi M, Yone Y. Change of blood sugar and plasma insulin levels of fishes in glucose tolerance test. *Nippon Suisan Gakk* (1981) 47(6):761–4. doi:10.2331/suisan.47.761
- 123. Mazur CN, Higgs D, Plisetskaya E, March B. Utilization of dietary starch and glucose tolerance in juvenile Chinook salmon (*Oncorhynchus tshawytscha*) of different strains in seawater. *Fish Physiol Biochem* (1992) 10(4):303–13. doi:10.1007/BF00004479
- 124. Blasco J, Fernandez-Borras J, Marimon I, Requena A. Plasma glucose kinetics and tissue uptake in brown trout *in vivo*: effect of an intravascular glucose load. *J Comp Physiol B* (1996) 165(7):534–41. doi:10.1007/ BF00387514
- 125. Panserat S, Médale F, Blin C, Breque J, Vachot C, Plagnes-Juan E, et al. Hepatic glucokinase is induced by dietary carbohydrates in rainbow trout, gilthead seabream, and common carp. *Am J Physiol Regul Integr Comp Physiol* (2000) 278(5):R1164–70.
- Gutierrez J, Plisetskaya EM. Peptide receptor assays: insulin receptor. In: Mommsen TP, Hochachka PW, editors. *Biochemistry and Molecular Biology* of Fishes Vol. 3: Analytical Techniques. Amsterdam: Elsevier (1994). p. 431–46.
- 127. Leibush B, Parrizas M, Navarro I, Lappova Y, Maestro M, Encinas M, et al. Insulin and insulin-like growth factor-I receptors in fish brain. *Regul Pept* (1996) 61(2):155–61. doi:10.1016/0167-0115(95)00154-9
- Silverstein JT, Plisetskaya EM. The effects of NPY and insulin on food intake regulation in fish. *Am Zool* (2000) 40(2):296–308. doi:10.1093/icb/40.2.296
- 129. Soengas J, Aldegunde M. Brain glucose and insulin: effects on food intake and brain biogenic amines of rainbow trout. *J Comp Physiol A* (2004) 190(8):641–9. doi:10.1007/s00359-004-0524-5
- Moon TW, Foster G, Plisetskaya E. Changes in peptide hormones and liver enzymes in the rainbow trout deprived of food for 6 weeks. *Can J Zool* (1989) 67(9):2189–93. doi:10.1139/z89-309
- 131. Conde-Sieira M, Agulleiro MJ, Aguilar AJ, Míguez JM, Cerdá-Reverter JM, Soengas JL. Effect of different glycaemic conditions on gene expression of neuropeptides involved in control of food intake in rainbow trout; interaction with stress. *J Exp Biol* (2010) 213(22):3858–65. doi:10.1242/jeb. 048439
- Cowley DJ, Sheridan MA. Insulin stimulates hepatic lipogenesis in rainbow trout, Oncorhynchus mykiss. Fish Physiol Biochem (1993) 11(1-6):421-8. doi:10.1007/BF00004592
- 133. Polakof S, Médale F, Larroquet L, Vachot C, Corraze G, Panserat S. Insulin stimulates lipogenesis and attenuates beta-oxidation in white adipose tissue of fed rainbow trout. *Lipids* (2011) 46(2):189–99. doi:10.1007/ s11745-010-3521-1
- Lin H, Romsos DR, Tack PI, Leveille GA. Influence of dietary lipid on lipogenic enzyme activities in coho salmon, *Oncorhynchus kisutch* (Walbaum). *J Nutr* (1977) 107(5):846–54.
- 135. Shearer KD, Silverstein JT, Plisetskaya EM. Role of adiposity in food intake control of juvenile chinook salmon (*Oncorhynchus tshawytscha*). Comp Biochem Physiol A (1997) 118(4):1209–15. doi:10.1016/S0300-9629(97)86801-6
- 136. Huising MO, Geven EJW, Kruiswijk CP, Nabuurs SB, Stolte EH, Spanings FAT, et al. Increased leptin expression in common carp (*Cyprinus carpio*) after food intake but not after fasting or feeding to satiation. *Endocrinology* (2006) 147(12):5786–97. doi:10.1210/en.2006-0824
- Huising MO, Kruiswijk CP, Flik G. Phylogeny and evolution of class-I helical cytokines. J Endocrinol (2006) 189(1):1–25. doi:10.1677/joe.1.06591
- Gorissen M, Bernier NJ, Nabuurs SB, Flik G, Huising MO. Two divergent leptin paralogues in zebrafish (*Danio rerio*) that originate early in teleostean evolution. *J Endocrinol* (2009) 201(3):329–39. doi:10.1677/JOE-09-0034
- 139. Rønnestad I, Nilsen TO, Murashita K, Angotzi AR, Moen A-GG, Stefansson SO, et al. Leptin and leptin receptor genes in Atlantic salmon: cloning, phylogeny, tissue distribution and expression correlated to long-term feed-ing status. *Gen Comp Endocrinol* (2010) 168(1):55–70. doi:10.1016/j.ygcen. 2010.04.010

- Kurokawa T, Uji S, Suzuki T. Identification of cDNA coding for a homologue to mammalian leptin from pufferfish, *Takifugu rubripes. Peptides* (2005) 26(5):745–50. doi:10.1016/j.peptides.2004.12.017
- Rajan A, Perrimon N. Drosophila cytokine unpaired 2 regulates physiological homeostasis by remotely controlling insulin secretion. Cell (2012) 151(1):123–37. doi:10.1016/j.cell.2012.08.019
- Volkoff H, Canosa L, Unniappan S, Cerda-Reverter J, Bernier NJ, Kelly S, et al. Neuropeptides and the control of food intake in fish. *Gen Comp Endocrinol* (2005) 142(1):3–19. doi:10.1016/j.ygcen.2004.11.001
- 143. Gorissen MHAG, Flik G, Huising MO. Peptides and proteins regulating food intake: a comparative view. Anim Biol (2006) 56(4):447-73. doi:10.1163/157075606778967829
- 144. Murashita K, Uji S, Yamamoto T, Rønnestad I, Kurokawa T. Production of recombinant leptin and its effects on food intake in rainbow trout (Oncorhynchus mykiss). Comp Biochem Physiol B Biochem Mol Biol (2008) 150(4):377–84. doi:10.1016/j.cbpb.2008.04.007
- 145. Kurokawa T, Murashita K. Genomic characterization of multiple leptin genes and a leptin receptor gene in the Japanese medaka, *Oryzias latipes. Gen Comp Endocrinol* (2009) 161(2):229–37. doi:10.1016/j.ygcen.2009.01.008
- Sheridan MA. Lipid dynamics in fish: aspects of absorption, transportation, deposition and mobilization. *Comp Biochem Physiol B* (1988) 90(4):679–90.
- Tocher DR. Metabolism and functions of lipids and fatty acids in teleost fish. *Rev Fish Sci* (2003) 11(2):107–84. doi:10.1080/713610925
- 148. Young RA. Fat, energy and mammalian survival. *Am Zool* (1976) 16(4):699–710. doi:10.1093/icb/16.4.699
- 149. Volkoff H, Eykelbosh AJ, Peter RE. Role of leptin in the control of feeding of goldfish *Carassius auratus*: interactions with cholecystokinin, neuropeptide Y and orexin A, and modulation by fasting. *Brain Res* (2003) 972(1):90–109. doi:10.1016/S0006-8993(03)02507-1
- Aguilar AJ, Conde-Sieira M, Polakof S, Míguez JM, Soengas JL. Central leptin treatment modulates brain glucosensing function and peripheral energy metabolism of rainbow trout. *Peptides* (2010) 31(6):1044–54. doi:10.1016/ j.peptides.2010.02.026
- Boutilier R, Dobson G, Hoeger U, Randall D. Acute exposure to graded levels of hypoxia in rainbow trout (*Salmo gairdneri*): metabolic and respiratory adaptations. *Respir Physiol* (1988) 71(1):69–82. doi:10.1016/0034-5687(88)90116-8
- Bernier NJ, Craig PM. CRF-related peptides contribute to stress response and regulation of appetite in hypoxic rainbow trout. *Am J Physiol Regul Integr Comp Physiol* (2005) 289(4):R982–90. doi:10.1152/ajpregu.00668.2004
- Quintero P, Milagro F, Campion J, Martinez J. Impact of oxygen availability on body weight management. *Med Hypotheses* (2010) 74(5):901–7. doi:10.1016/j.mehy.2009.10.022
- 154. Ambrosini G, Nath AK, Sierra-Honigmann MR, Flores-Riveros J. Transcriptional activation of the human leptin gene in response to hypoxia involvement of hypoxia-inducible factor 1. *J Biol Chem* (2002) 277(37):34601–9. doi:10.1074/jbc.M205172200
- Grosfeld A, André J, Hauguel-de Mouzon S, Berra E, Pouysségur J, Guerre-Millo M. Hypoxia-inducible factor 1 transactivates the human leptin gene promoter. J Biol Chem (2002) 277(45):42953–7. doi:10.1074/jbc.M206775200
- 156. Bernier NJ, Gorissen M, Flik G. Differential effects of chronic hypoxia and feed restriction on the expression of leptin and its receptor, food intake regulation and the endocrine stress response in common carp. *J Exp Biol* (2012) 215(13):2273–82. doi:10.1242/jeb.066183
- Chabot D, Dutil JD. Reduced growth of Atlantic cod in non-lethal hypoxic conditions. J Fish Biol (1999) 55(3):472–91. doi:10.1111/j.1095-8649.1999. tb00693.x
- 158. Pichavant K, Person-Le-Ruyet J, Bayon NL, Severe A, Roux AL, Boeuf G. Comparative effects of long-term hypoxia on growth, feeding and oxygen consumption in juvenile turbot and European sea bass. J Fish Biol (2001) 59(4):875–83. doi:10.1111/j.1095-8649.2001.tb00158.x
- 159. Wang T, Lefevre S, Van Cong N, Bayley M. The effects of hypoxia on growth and digestion. *Fish Physiol* (2009) 27:361–96. doi:10.1016/ S1546-5098(08)00008-3
- Chu DLH, Li VWT, Yu RMK. Leptin: clue to poor appetite in oxygen-starved fish. *Mol Cell Endocrinol* (2010) 319(1):143–6. doi:10.1016/j.mce.2010.01.018
- Friedman J. Leptin at 20: an overview. J Endocrinol (2014) 223(1):T1–8. doi:10.1530/JOE-14-0405
- Bray GA. Obesity, a disorder of nutrient partitioning: the MONA LISA hypothesis. J Nutr (1991) 121(8):1146–62.

- Lord GM, Matarese G, Howard JK, Baker RJ, Bloom SR, Lechler RI. Leptin modulates the T-cell immune response and reverses starvation-induced immunosuppression. *Nature* (1998) 394(6696):897–901. doi:10.1038/ 29795
- 164. Friedman-Einat M, Cogburn LA, Yosefi S, Hen G, Shinder D, Shirak A, et al. Discovery and characterization of the first genuine avian leptin gene in the rock dove (*Columba livia*). *Endocrinology* (2014) 155:3376–84. doi:10.1210/ en.2014-1273
- 165. Gorissen M, Flik G. Leptin in teleostean fish, towards the origins of leptin physiology. *J Chem Neuroanat* (2014) 61:200–6. doi:10.1016/ j.jchemneu.2014.06.005
- 166. Londraville RL, Macotela Y, Duff RJ, Easterling MR, Liu Q, Crespi EJ. Comparative endocrinology of leptin: assessing function in a phylogenetic context. *Gen Comp Endocrinol* (2014) 203:146–57. doi:10.1016/ j.ygcen.2014.02.002
- 167. Tang Y, Yu J, Li H, Xu P, Li J, Ren H. Molecular cloning, characterization and expression analysis of multiple *leptin* genes in Jian carp (*Cyprinus carpio* Var. Jian). *Comp Biochem Physiol B* (2013) 166(2):133–40. doi:10.1016/ j.cbpb.2013.07.009
- Hoegg S, Meyer A. Hox clusters as models for vertebrate genome evolution. *Trends Genet* (2005) 21(8):421–4. doi:10.1016/j.tig.2005.06.004
- 169. Angotzi AR, Stefansson SO, Nilsen TO, Rathore RM, Rønnestad I. Molecular cloning and genomic characterization of novel leptin-like genes in salmonids provide new insight into the evolution of the leptin gene family. *Gen Comp Endocrinol* (2013) 187:48–59. doi:10.1016/j.ygcen.2013.03.022
- 170. Near TJ, Eytan RI, Dornburg A, Kuhn KL, Moore JA, Davis MP, et al. Resolution of ray-finned fish phylogeny and timing of diversification. *Proc Nat Acad Sci U S A* (2012) 109(34):13698–703. doi:10.1073/pnas. 1206625109
- 171. Seroussi E, Cinnamon Y, Yosefi S, Genin O, Gage Smith J, Rafati N, et al. Identification of the long-sought leptin in chicken and duck: expression pattern of the highly GC-rich avian *leptin* fits an autocrine/paracrine rather than endocrine function. *Endocrinology* (2016) 157(2):737–51. doi:10.1210/ en.2015-1634
- 172. Prokop JW, Duff RJ, Ball HC, Copeland DL, Londraville RL. Leptin and leptin receptor: analysis of a structure to function relationship in interaction and evolution from humans to fish. *Peptides* (2012) 38(2):326–36. doi:10.1016/ j.peptides.2012.10.002
- 173. Gong N, Einarsdottir IE, Johansson M, Björnsson BT. Alternative splice variants of the rainbow trout leptin receptor encode multiple circulating leptin-binding proteins. *Endocrinology* (2013) 154(7):2331–40. doi:10.1210/ en.2012-2082
- 174. Klaren PHM, van Dalen SC, Atsma W, Spanings FAT, Hendriks J, Flik G. Voluntary timing of food intake increases weight gain and reduces basal plasma cortisol levels in common carp (*Cyprinus carpio L.*). *Physiol Behav* (2013) 122:120–8. doi:10.1016/j.physbeh.2013.08.020
- 175. Chisada S, Kurokawa T, Murashita K, Rønnestad I, Taniguchi Y, Toyoda A, et al. Leptin receptor-deficient (knockout) medaka, *Oryzias latipes*, show chronical up-regulated levels of orexigenic neuropeptides, elevated food intake and stage specific effects on growth and fat allocation. *Gen Comp Endocrinol* (2014) 195:9–20. doi:10.1016/j.ygcen.2013. 10.008
- 176. MacDonald LE, Alderman SL, Kramer S, Woo PT, Bernier NJ. Hypoxemiainduced leptin secretion: a mechanism for the control of food intake in diseased fish. *J Endocrinol* (2014) 221(3):441–55. doi:10.1530/JOE-13-0615
- 177. Jørgensen EH, Bernier NJ, Maule AG, Vijayan MM. Effect of long-term fasting and a subsequent meal on mRNA abundances of hypothalamic appetite regulators, central and peripheral leptin expression and plasma leptin levels in rainbow trout. *Peptides* (2016) 86:162–70. doi:10.1016/ j.peptides.2015.08.010
- 178. Trombley S, Mustafa A, Schmitz M. Regulation of the seasonal leptin and leptin receptor expression profile during early sexual maturation and feed restriction in male Atlantic salmon, *Salmo salar* L., parr. *Gen Comp Endocrinol* (2014) 204:60–70. doi:10.1016/j.ygcen.2014.04.033
- Dalman MR, Liu Q, King MD, Bagatto B, Londraville RL. Leptin expression affects metabolic rate in zebrafish embryos (*D. rerio*). Front Physiol (2013) 4:160. doi:10.3389/fphys.2013.00160

- Renquist BJ, Zhang C, Williams SY, Cone RD. Development of an assay for high-throughput energy expenditure monitoring in the zebrafish. *Zebrafish* (2013) 10(3):343–52. doi:10.1089/zeb.2012.0841
- Baltzegar DA, Reading BJ, Douros JD, Borski RJ. Role for leptin in promoting glucose mobilization during acute hyperosmotic stress in teleost fishes. *J Endocrinol* (2014) 220(1):61–72. doi:10.1530/JOE-13-0292
- 182. Douros JD, Baltzegar DA, Breves JP, Lerner DT, Seale AP, Grau EG, et al. Prolactin is a major inhibitor of hepatic leptin A synthesis and secretion: studies utilizing a homologous leptin A ELISA in the tilapia. *Gen Comp Endocrinol* (2014) 207:86–93. doi:10.1016/j.ygcen.2014.03.007
- 183. Michel M, Page-McCaw PS, Chen W, Cone RD. Leptin signaling regulates glucose homeostasis, but not adipostasis, in the zebrafish. *Proc Natl Acad Sci* USA (2016) 113(11):3084–9. doi:10.1073/pnas.1513212113
- 184. Yu RM, Chu DL, Tan TF, Li VW, Chan AK, Giesy JP, et al. Leptin-mediated modulation of steroidogenic gene expression in hypoxic zebrafish embryos: implications for the disruption of sex steroids. *Env Sci Tech* (2012) 46(16):9112–9. doi:10.1021/es301758c
- Won ET, Douros JD, Hurt DA, Borski RJ. Leptin stimulates hepatic growth hormone receptor and insulin-like growth factor gene expression in a teleost fish, the hybrid striped bass. *Gen Comp Endocrinol* (2016) 229:84–91. doi:10.1016/j.ygcen.2016.02.003
- Levitas-Djerbi T, Yelin-Bekerman L, Lerer-Goldshtein T, Appelbaum L. Hypothalamic leptin-neurotensin-hypocretin neuronal networks in zebrafish. J Comp Neurol (2015) 523(5):831–48.
- 187. Mariano G, Stilo R, Terrazzano G, Coccia E, Vito P, Varricchio E, et al. Effects of recombinant trout leptin in superoxide production and NF-κB/ MAPK phosphorylation in blood leukocytes. *Peptides* (2013) 48:59–69. doi:10.1016/j.peptides.2013.07.026
- Volkoff H. The neuroendocrine regulation of food intake in fish: a review of current knowledge. Front Neurosci (2016)10:540. doi:10.3389/ fnins.2016.00540
- 189. Liu Q, Dalman M, Chen Y, Akhter M, Brahmandam S, Patel Y, et al. Knockdown of leptin A expression dramatically alters zebrafish development. *Gen Comp Endocrinol* (2012) 178(3):562–72. doi:10.1016/j.ygcen.2012. 07.011
- 190. Solinas G, Summermatter S, Mainieri D, Gubler M, Pirola L, Wymann MP, et al. The direct effect of leptin on skeletal muscle thermogenesis is mediated by substrate cycling between de novo lipogenesis and lipid oxidation. *FEBS Lett* (2004) 577(3):539–44. doi:10.1016/j.febslet.2004.10.066
- 191. Takei Y, Hwang PP. Homeostatic responses to osmotic stress. In: Schreck CB, Tort L, Farrell AP, Brauner CJ, editors. *Fish Physiology Vol.* 35: *Biology* of Stress in Fish. London: Academic Press (2016). p. 207–49.
- 192. Fiess JC, Kunkel-Patterson A, Mathias L, Riley LG, Yancey PH, Hirano T, et al. Effects of environmental salinity and temperature on osmoregulatory ability, organic osmolytes, and plasma hormone profiles in the Mozambique tilapia (*Oreochromis mossambicus*). Comp Biochem Physiol A: Mol Integr Physiol (2007) 146(2):252–64. doi:10.1016/j.cbpa.2006.10.027
- 193. Aas-Hansen Ø, Vijayan MM, Johnsen HK, Cameron C, Jørgensen EH. Resmoltification in wild, anadromous Arctic char (*Salvelinus alpinus*): a survey of osmoregulatory, metabolic, and endocrine changes preceding annual seawater migration. *Can J Fish Aquat Sci* (2005) 62(1):195–204. doi:10.1139/f04-186
- 194. Flik G, Fenwick J, Kolar Z, Mayer-Gostan N, Bonga SW. Effects of ovine prolactin on calcium uptake and distribution in *Oreochromis mossambicus*. *Am J Physiol Regul Integr Comp Physiol* (1986) 250(2):R161–6.
- 195. Yada T, Hirano T, Grau EG. Changes in plasma levels of the two prolactins and growth hormone during adaptation to different salinities in the euryhaline tilapia, Oreochromis mossambicus. Gen Comp Endocrinol (1994) 93(2):214–23. doi:10.1006/gcen.1994.1025
- 196. Tipsmark CK, Strom CN, Bailey ST, Borski RJ. Leptin stimulates pituitary prolactin release through an extracellular signal-regulated kinase-dependent pathway. J Endocrinol (2008) 196(2):275–81. doi:10.1677/JOE-07-0540
- 197. Flik G, Atsma W, Fenwick JC, Rentier-Delrue F, Smal J, Wendelaar Bonga SE. Homologous recombinant growth hormone and calcium metabolism in the tilapia, *Oreochromis mossambicus*, adapted to fresh-water. *J Exp Biol* (1993) 185:107–19.
- 198. Douros JD, Baltzegar DA, Mankiewicz J, Taylor J, Yamaguchi Y, Lerner DT, et al. Control of leptin by metabolic state and its regulatory interactions

with pituitary growth hormone and hepatic growth hormone receptors and insulin like growth factors in the tilapia (*Oreochromis mossambicus*). *Gen Comp Endocrinol* (2017) 240:227–37. doi:10.1016/j.ygcen.2016.07.017

- 199. Hummel KP, Dickie MM, Coleman DL. Diabetes, a new mutafton in the mouse. Science (1966) 153(3740):1127–8. doi:10.1126/science.153.3740.1127
- 200. Shaw RJ, Lamia KA, Vasquez D, Koo SH, Bardeesy N, DePinho RA, et al. The kinase LKB1 mediates glucose homeostasis in liver and therapeutic effects of metformin. *Science* (2005) 310(5754):1642–6. doi:10.1126/science. 1120781
- 201. Flik G, Klaren PHM, Van den Burg EH, Metz JR, Huising MO. CRF and stress in fish. *Gen Comp Endocrinol* (2006) 146(1):36–44. doi:10.1016/ j.ygcen.2005.11.005
- 202. Gorissen M, Flik G. The endocrinology of the stress response in fish. In: Schreck CB, Tort L, Farrell AP, Brauner CJ, editors. *Fish Physiology Vol. 35: Biology of Stress in Fish.* London: Academic Press (2016). p. 76–111.
- 203. McEwen BS. Stress, adaptation, and disease: allostasis and allostatic load. Ann N Y Acad Sci (1998) 840(1):33–44. doi:10.1111/j.1749-6632.1998. tb09546.x
- 204. Sterling P, Eyer J. Allostasis: a new paradigm to explain arousal pathology. In: Fisher S, Reason J, editors. *Handbook of Life Stress, Cognition and Health*. New York: John Wiley & Sons (1988). p. 629–49.
- McEwen BS, Wingfield JC. The concept of allostasis in biology and biomedicine. *Horm Behav* (2003) 43(1):2–15. doi:10.1016/S0018-506X(02) 00024-7
- Copeland DL, Duff RJ, Liu Q, Prokop J, Londraville RL. Leptin in teleost fishes: an argument for comparative study. *Front Physiol* (2011) 2:26. doi:10.3389/fphys.2011.00026
- 207. Schwartz MW, Seeley RJ, Campfield LA, Burn P, Baskin DG. Identification of targets of leptin action in rat hypothalamus. *J Clin Invest* (1996) 98(5):1101. doi:10.1172/JCI118891

- Uehara Y, Shimizu H, Ohtani K, Sato N, Mori M. Hypothalamic corticotropin-releasing hormone is a mediator of the anorexigenic effect of leptin. *Diabetes* (1998) 47(6):890. doi:10.2337/diabetes.47.6.890
- Roubos EW, Dahmen M, Kozicz T, Xu L. Leptin and the hypothalamopituitary-adrenal stress axis. *Gen Comp Endocrinol* (2012) 177(1):28–36. doi:10.1016/j.ygcen.2012.01.009
- Laugero KD. A new perspective on glucocorticoid feedback: relation to stress, carbohydrate feeding and feeling better. J Neuroendocrinol (2001) 13(9):827–35. doi:10.1046/j.1365-2826.2001.00706.x
- 211. Bornstein SR, Uhlmann K, Haidan A, Ehrhart-Bornstein M, Scherbaum WA. Evidence for a novel peripheral action of leptin as a metabolic signal to the adrenal gland: leptin inhibits cortisol release directly. *Diabetes* (1997) 46(7):1235–8. doi:10.2337/diabetes.46.7.1235
- 212. Gorissen M, Bernier NJ, Manuel R, de Gelder S, Metz JR, Huising MO, et al. Recombinant human leptin attenuates stress axis activity in common carp (*Cyprinus carpio* L.). *Gen Comp Endocrinol* (2012) 178(1):75–81. doi:10.1016/j.ygcen.2012.04.004
- DeVries AL, Eastman JT. Lipid sacs as a buoyancy adaptation in an Antarctic fish. *Nature* (1978) 271(5643):352–3. doi:10.1038/271352a0

Conflict of Interest Statement: The authors declare that this review was written in the absence of commercial or financial relationships that could be interpreted as possible conflicts of interest.

Copyright © 2017 van de Pol, Flik and Gorissen. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) or licensor are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





Assessing the Functional Role of Leptin in Energy Homeostasis and the Stress Response in Vertebrates

Courtney A. Deck, Jamie L. Honeycutt, Eugene Cheung, Hannah M. Reynolds and Russell J. Borski*

Department of Biological Sciences, North Carolina State University, Raleigh, NC, USA

Leptin is a pleiotropic hormone that plays a critical role in regulating appetite, energy metabolism, growth, stress, and immune function across vertebrate groups. In mammals, it has been classically described as an adipostat, relaying information regarding energy status to the brain. While retaining poor sequence conservation with mammalian leptins, teleostean leptins elicit a number of similar regulatory properties, although current evidence suggests that it does not function as an adipostat in this group of vertebrates. Teleostean leptin also exhibits functionally divergent properties, however, possibly playing a role in glucoregulation similar to what is observed in lizards. Further, leptin has been recently implicated as a mediator of immune function and the endocrine stress response in teleosts. Here, we provide a review of leptin physiology in vertebrates, with a particular focus on its actions and regulatory properties in the context of stress and the regulation of energy homeostasis.

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Maximilian Michel, University of Michigan, USA

Reviewed by:

Helene Volkoff, Memorial University of Newfoundland Marnix Gorissen, Radboud University, Netherlands

> *Correspondence: Russell J. Borski russell_borski@ncsu.edu

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Experimental Endocrinology, a section of the journal Frontiers in Endocrinology

Received: 24 February 2017 Accepted: 23 March 2017 Published: 07 April 2017

Citation:

Deck CA, Honeycutt JL, Cheung E, Reynolds HM and Borski RJ (2017) Assessing the Functional Role of Leptin in Energy Homeostasis and the Stress Response in Vertebrates. Front. Endocrinol. 8:63. doi: 10.3389/fendo.2017.00063 Keywords: leptin, energy homeostasis, stress, teleosts, metabolism, cortisol, appetite

INTRODUCTION

Leptin is a class I helical cytokine encoded by the *obese* gene (*ob*) that has typically been characterized as an adipostat, circulating in proportion to the quantity of white adipose tissue and relaying information regarding the energy status of the animal to the central nervous system (1, 2). In mammals, leptin is pleiotropic, regulating a multitude of physiological processes including appetite, lipid metabolism, growth, reproduction, stress, and immune function [reviewed in Ref. (3)]. The function of leptin has been less extensively studied in non-mammalian vertebrates; however, there is growing evidence in teleosts that leptin may play a greater role as a glucoregulatory hormone than an adipostat in this group of vertebrates. Studies on the interactions between leptin and the stress axis as well as the immune system, however, suggest that some of the actions of leptin may be conserved between fish and mammals despite the low sequence conservation between these two groups. Here, we provide an overview of what is known about the role of leptin in regulating energy homeostasis and the stress response in teleost fishes and compare this to the known effects of leptin in mammals and other vertebrate groups.

LEPTIN CHARACTERIZATION, DISTRIBUTION, AND SIGNALING

Orthology in Vertebrates

Leptin was first cloned in the mouse by Zhang et al. (1) and has since been identified in all extant vertebrate groups examined to date. Following the discovery of leptin in the mouse, orthologs were

identified in several other mammalian species (4); however, attempts to isolate a putative leptin sequence in non-mammalian vertebrates were largely unsuccessful. It was not until 2005, over a decade after its discovery in mammals, that a leptin homolog was cloned in a non-mammalian species, the Japanese pufferfish [*Takifugu rubripes* (5)]. This delay was due to the low amino acid identity (often less than 30%) between vertebrate leptin sequences (6) (**Figure 1**). The deduced primary structure of the pufferfish leptin (pLep) shared only 13.2% identity with human leptin; however, three-dimensional modeling suggested a strong conservation of tertiary structure with mammalian leptins, as pLep also possesses four α -helices (5). Further, the amino acid sequence of pLep contained two cysteine residues to form the disulfide bridge between α -helices C and D, a highly conserved element of vertebrate leptins (5).

Shortly after the identification of pLep, a leptin homolog was cloned in an amphibian, *Xenopus laevis*, that shared 35 and 13% amino acid identity with human and pLeps, respectively (7)

(Figure 1). Putative leptin sequences have also been identified in the tiger salamander [Ambystoma tigrinum (8)] and in the green Anole lizard [Anolis carolinensis (9)], both of which show low amino acid identity to human leptin. In teleosts, leptin orthologs have now been characterized in striped bass [Morone saxatilis (10)], common carp [Cyprinus carpio (11)], rainbow trout [Oncorhynchus mykiss (12)], zebrafish [Danio rerio (13)], Atlantic salmon [Salmo salar (14)], orange-spotted grouper [Epinephelus coioides (15)], Japanese medaka [Oryzias latipes (13, 16)], vellow catfish [Pelteobagrus fulvidraco (17)], Nile tilapia [Oreochromis niloticus (18)], Jian carp [C. carpio var. Jian (19)], Arctic charr [Salvelinus alpinus (20)], grass carp [Ctenopharyngodon idella (21)], silver carp [Hypophthalmichthys molitrix (21)], chub mackerel [Scomber japonicus (22)], mandarin fish [Siniperca chuatsi (23)], and white-clouds mountain minnow [Tanichthys albonubes (24)]. These teleost leptins all have low sequence conservation with mammals, varying from 13 to 25% amino acid identity (Figures 1 and 2); however, each one is composed of two

Tilapia LepA	[Helix A MDYGLVLLFSLF-QALSMGTAAPLPVEVVTMKSKVKWMAEQLVVRLDKDV	49
Zebrafish LepA	MRFPALRSTCILSML-SLIHCIPVHOHDRKNVKLOAKTIIVRIREHI	46
Salmon LepA	MDCSMALLLSSLLALFSVGAGASLSLHVVRTKVKDLAQTMVIRI	44
Fugu	MDHILALVLALLPLSLCVALPGALDAMDVEKMKSKVTWKAQGLVARIDKHF	51
Xenopus	MQYIHLSFWGIFWMLLPVSQGRAIKADRVKNDAKLLASTLITRIQEHP	48
Falcon	MRWPGMSLWGVLWLWLPLASGHPVRLEKVRADTRNLTRTLSARIOOL-	40 47
Mouse	~~~	47
	MCWRPLCRFLWLWSYLSYVQAVPIQKVQDDTKTLIKTIVTRINDIS	
Human	MHWGTLCGFLWLWPYLFYVQAVPIQKVQDDTKTLIKTIVTRINDIS	46
	-] [Helix B] [Helix C	
Tilapia LepA	QVPVNWTLNPPADDLDGTSSIETVLNGYNSLIP-DTFKGVSQIKYDI	95
Zebrafish LepA	DGQNLLPTLIIGDPGHYPEIPADKPIQGLGSIMETINTFHKVLQKLPNKHVDQIRRDL	104
Salmon LepA	NKLDISPNLIEGMDPFLPAAAVDQHIESLPSIMETMGFYQDLMLFLDWADLKQLVEDT	102
Fugu	PDRGLRFDTDKVEGSTSVVASLESYNNLIS-DRFGGVSQIKTEI	94
Xenopus	IQFLFPSNLKISGLDFIPDEQLLESLEHMDETLEVFQKILSSLPMENVDQMLSDM	103
Falcon	QLFPLSLKISGLEAIPGEGAPEGLGAMDHRLQLFQRLLGGLAAGGLPLAQIANDM	102
Mouse	HTQSVSAKQRVTGLDFIPGLHPILSLSKMDQTLAVYQQVLTSLPSQNVLQIANDL	101
Human	HTQSVSSKQKVTGLDFIPGLHPILTLSKMDQTLAVYQQILTSMPSRNVIQISNDL	101
	Helix D-	
Tilapia LepA	SSLTGYIHLWRQG-HCSEQRPKPEVPGPLQELQSHKEFIQTVGIEALMRVKEFLNLLL	152
Zebrafish LepA	STLLGYLEGMDCTLKESTNGKALDAFLEDSASYPFTLEYMTLNRLKOFMOKLI	157
Salmon LepA	STMRGLLENWMIS-RCPGRQQKQTGEGRLSEALKDTTRKYGLSVGPVALNRLKGYLGRLL	161
Fuqu	SSLAGYLNHWREG-NCQEQQPKVWPRRNIFNHTVSLEALMRVREFLKLLQ	143
Xenopus	ENLRSLLQSLSTIMGCTARKHSQCDTQVNLTEEYAKAPYTTEKVALDRLQKSLHSIV	160
Falcon	ENLRSLLAALAAHLGCPLPRAPPAPPGLPDLLAEAPHTAAGLALARLRICLDGIA	157
Mouse	ENLROLLHLLAFSKSCSLPQTSGLQKPESLDGVLEASLYSTEVVALSRLQGSLQDIL	158
Human	ENLRDLLHVLAFSKSCHLPWASGLETLDSLGGVLEASGYSTEVVALSRLQGSLQDML	158
manan	*	100
]	
Tilapia LepA	KNLDQLETC- 161	
Zebrafish LepA	DNLDQLKIC- 166	
Salmon LepA	LNLDQLNYCY 171	
Fugu	KNVDLLERC- 152	
Xenopus	KHLDHITDC- 169	
Falcon	ARLDSLPAC- 166	
Mouse	QQLDVSPEC- 167	
Human	WQLDLSPGC- 167	
	*	

NP_032519.1; human, NP_000221.1. Shaded areas represent the conserved cysteine residues required for the formation of the disulfide bridge. The four alpha-helices are indicated by dashed lines within the parentheses.

	[Helix A]			
Tilapia LepA	MDYGLVLLFSLFQALSMGTAAPLPVE-VVTMKSKVKWMAEQLVVRLDKDV	49		
Tilapia LepB	MRNILALLCVFLMAADQSTILLTKGESIKNTIHNIVNIAQITLVHIKKLK	50		
Zebrafish LepB	MKS-SMIFCLLISSLVAVSISRPTAPEDRIRIIARTTISRIKKIKDEHF	48		
Salmon LepB	MDVSVVLLCLGLVVSV-SVCHPQRGRPLNGDVQMRNNIKLLSMITVVHIKNYLT-EF	55		
Xenopus	MQYIHLSFWGIFWMLLPVSQGRAIK-ADRVKNDAKLLASTLITRIQEHPIQFLFPS	55		
Falcon	MRWPGMSLWGVLWLWLPLASGHPVR-LEKVRADTRNLTRTLSARIQQLQLFPL	52		
Mouse	MCWRPLCRFLWLWSYLSYVQAVP-IQKVQDDTKTLIKTIVTRINDISHTQSVSA	53		
Human	$\texttt{MHWGTLCGFLWLWPYLFYVQ} \\ \texttt{AVP-IQ} \\ \texttt{KVQ} \\ \texttt{DDTKTLIKTIVTRINDISHTQ} \\ \texttt{SVSS}$	53		
	[Helix B] [Helix C-			
Tilapia LepA	-QVPVNWTLNP-PADDLDGTSSIETVLNGYNSLIPDTFKGVSQIKYDISSLTGYIHL	104		
Tilapia LepB	L-PATPTEV-PTPSIDGLSSISHDLGVLDNELQHPFLIQIQADVSSLEGRVRS	101		
Zebrafish LepB	-QMSPEIDFGPDIDNPIDGLSSVLSYLSYLQLRLHVPPAQHLQQVQIDLETLLRTLEE	105		
Salmon LepB	-DVPPEMEFNP-MNPPIEGLASIWVHLGGLEESLQDSRCGQVYEDLSSMRGWVHS	108		
Xenopus	NLKISGLDFIP-DEQLLESLEHMDETLEVFQKILSSLPMENVDQMLSDMENLRSLLQS	112		
Falcon	SLKISGLEAIP-GEGAPEGLGAMDHRLQLFORLLGGLAAGGLPLAQIANDMENLRSLLAA	111		
Mouse	KQRVTGLDFIP-GLHPILSLSKMDQTLAVYQQVLTSLPSQNVLQIANDLENLRDLLHL	110		
Human	KQKVTGLDFIP-GLHPILTLSKMDQTLAVYQQILTSMPSRNVIQISNDLENLRDLLHV	110		
Indian	KÖKATOPPETE-OPUETUTPOKIPÖTUKATÖÖTUTPUEPÄPÄPÄPÄPUPUUA	110		
] [Helix D]			
Tilapia LepA	WRQG-HCSEQRPKPEVPGPLQELQSHKEFIQTVGIEALMRVKEFLNLLLKNLDQLETC	161		
Tilapia LepB	FALSMECPLK-PKPAVQTDESVFPDSRLYMTVAKVQHYLEKLILNKGKLKLC	152		
Zebrafish LepB	LAVSQGCPLPNPETPVHKEETAFPVTSNYLHLLELQRFLEKLCLNIDKLKYCKD	159		
Salmon LepB	LSQALGCPDL-AKPGGEALKTVYQSLVEGQRYMEKISLNLDKLKIC	153		
Xenopus	LSTIMGCTARKHS-QCDTQVNLTEEYAKAPYTTEKVALDRLQKSLHSIVKHLDHITDC	169		
Falcon	LAAHLGCPLPRAP-PAPPGLPDLLAEAPHTAAGLALARLRICLDGIAARLDSLPAC	166		
Mouse	LAFSKSCSLPQTS-GLQKPESLDGVLEASLYSTEVVALSRLQGSLQDILQQLDVSPEC			
Human	LAFSKSCHLPWAS-GLETLDSLGGVLEASGYSTEVVALSRLQGSLQDMLWQLDLSPGC	167		
	* *			
Tilapia LepA	161			
Tilapia LepB	152			
Zebrafish LepB	TDVAETFIL 168			
Salmon LepB	153			
Xenopus	169			
Falcon	166			
Mouse	167			
Human	167			

for comparison. Accession numbers: tilapia LepA, AHL37667.1; tilapia LepB, AHL37668.1; salmon LepB, NP_00126063.1; zebrafish LepB, NP_001025357.2; *Xenopus*, NP_001089183.1; falcon, NP_001298279.1; mouse, NP_032519.1; human, NP_000221.1. Shaded areas represent the conserved cysteine residues required for the formation of the disulfide bridge. The four alpha-helices are indicated by dashed lines within the parentheses.

exons separated by a short intron, contains the cysteine residues required for formation of the disulfide bridge, and is predicted to have retained the four-helix tertiary structure characteristic of mammalian leptins. Even within the teleost lineage, there is often low amino acid identity between species (<50%), unless the species are closely related, such as within the salmonids or cyprinids.

Paralogs in Teleosts

FIGURE

In certain teleost species, two leptin paralogs have been identified. This is a common feature of teleostean class I cytokines, resulting from the genome duplication that occurred in the teleost lineage (6, 25). Zebrafish (*D. rerio*), Japanese medaka (*O. latipes*), orange-spotted grouper (*E. coioides*), Nile tilapia (*O. niloticus*), Mozambique tilapia (*Oreochromis mossambicus*), chub mackerel (*S. japonicus*), mandarin fish (*S. chuatsi*), and white-clouds mountain minnow (*T. albonubes*) have all been shown to possess two separate leptin proteins, leptin A (LepA) and leptin B (LepB) (13, 15, 18, 19, 22–24, 26) (**Figures 1** and **2**). The amino acid identity between LepA and LepB within each species is low, ranging from 18 to 30%, and phylogenetic analysis shows that the two genes form separate branches (18, 19, 24, 27). Due to the additional genome duplications that occurred within the salmonid and cyprinid lineages, a number of species including the common carp (*C. carpio*), Atlantic salmon (*S. salar*), goldfish (*Carassius auratus*), rainbow trout (*O. mykiss*), and Jian carp (*C. carpio* var Jian) possess up to four leptin paralogs, two LepA genes, and either one or two LepB genes (11, 14, 19, 28, 29). The two LepA sequences and the two LepB sequences in these species share higher amino acid identities than is seen between the A and B forms (ranging from 71 to 83%); thus, the nomenclature typically used is leptin A1 and A2 and leptin B1 and B2 (13, 14, 28, 29).

Tissue Distribution in Teleosts

Unlike in mammals where leptin is produced predominantly in adipose tissue, teleost leptins often have the highest mRNA expression levels in liver, with most species having low or non-existent leptin expression in adipose tissue. Other sites of expression in teleosts are the brain, gonads, muscle, and kidney; however, this can vary widely between species (10–24, 26). In some instances, the tissue distribution between paralogs within a single species differs, and it has been suggested that *lepa* is more prominent in the liver, while *lepb* is predominantly expressed in the gonads, thus indicating divergent roles of the two paralogs (13, 29). However, studies on LepB are limited, and this differential expression pattern is not consistent across species, with most showing substantial overlap in the tissue expression patterns for the two forms. Regardless, *lepa* appears to be the predominantly expressed form in most species examined (15, 16, 24) showing 10–100 times greater tissue mRNA copy number than *lepb* and hence likely reflecting the major source of circulating leptin (26).

Receptor and Signaling Pathways

The leptin receptor (LepR) is part of the glycoprotein 130 family of cytokine receptors, which utilize gp130 as a signal transducer to activate signaling pathways within the cell, typically the Janus kinase/signal transducers and activators of transcription (JAK/ STAT) pathway (30, 31). Signaling via this pathway has been observed in the pituitary of both mammals and frogs, suggesting conservation of this signaling mechanism for leptin across vertebrate groups (30-32). Although sharing low identity with mammalian receptors (<30%), teleost LepRs show genomic synteny with the human receptor and possess the functionally important JAK- and STAT-binding domains that are largely conserved within vertebrates (14-18, 33-35). In teleosts, lepr mRNA is ubiquitously expressed, with higher levels typically being observed in the pituitary, hypothalamus, and gonads, suggesting that these are prominent sites of leptin action (14–18, 28, 33–35). Indeed, leptin regulates glucose sensing in the hypothalamus and hindbrain of rainbow trout (O. mykiss) both in vitro and in vivo (36, 37). These actions were attenuated when leptin was administered in combination with either a phosphoinositide-3-kinase or JAK2 inhibitor, indicating involvement of these pathways in leptin signaling (36, 37). Further evidence for leptin signaling via the JAK/STAT pathway comes from the increase in Akt and STAT3 phosphorylation observed in trout hypothalamic cells following incubation with leptin (38). The lipid regulatory activity of heterologous leptin on hepatocytes and ovarian follicular cells of yellow catfish (P. fulvidraco) is attenuated by JAK/STAT inhibitors, reiterating a role for this pathway in leptin signaling (39). Leptin has also been shown to act on the pituitary of tilapia (O. mossambicus) to stimulate prolactin (PRL) release through activation of the extracellular signal-related kinase (ERK) pathway (40) and on the liver of the hybrid striped bass [Morone chrysops x Morone saxatilis (41)] and Mozambique tilapia [O. mossambicus (42)] to regulate growth hormone (GH) receptors and insulin-like growth factors (IGFs), although the signaling pathways have yet to be determined. Albeit studies assessing the function of leptin in teleosts are limited, existing data suggest that the sites of leptin action and the signaling pathways responsible for eliciting its effects may be conserved with that of other vertebrate systems. Further investigations are required to elucidate the full complement of intracellular pathways mediating leptin action(s).

LEPTIN ENERGY HOMEOSTATIC ACTIONS

Feeding

Leptin is renowned for its role in regulating food intake and body mass (43). Secreted primarily from adipose tissue in mammals, leptin serves as a lipostatic signal and conveys critical information regarding metabolic state to the brain (44, 45). As lipid stores accumulate and circulating leptin rises, the hormone enhances energy expenditure and reduces food intake by stimulating anorexic proopiomelanocortin/cocaine and amphetamine-related transcript neurons and inhibiting orexigenic neuropeptide Y/ agouti-related protein neurons (46–50). Leptin-deficient pathologies are typically accompanied by hyperphagia and obesity [reviewed in Ref. (45, 49, 51)]. The anorexigenic properties of leptin have been well characterized in the context of leptin deficiency through experimental administration to obese, leptin-deficient *ob/ob* mice, as well as leptin-deficient humans, resulting in the reduction of food intake and body mass (52, 53).

In some fishes, leptin demonstrates a marked postprandial elevation [(54, 55); reviewed in Ref. (56, 57)] in accordance with the mammalian paradigm. Further, the administration of leptin via injection has been shown to reduce food intake in goldfish [C. auratus (58, 59)], rainbow trout [O. mykiss (12, 36)], grass carp [C. Idella (21)], Atlantic salmon [S. salar (60)], and striped bass [M. saxatilis (10)]. Properties similar to that of leptin-related pathologies initially observed in the *db/db* mouse have also been reported in a LepR-deficient medaka [O. latipes (61)]. This mutant line showed consistently elevated hypothalamic activity of orexigenic neuropeptides, suppression of anorexigenic neuropeptides, and increased food intake, suggesting a similar regulatory role for leptin in appetite suppression in fishes. While the anorexigenic properties of leptin would also suggest potentially concurrent lipostatic properties as seen in mammals, no changes in adiposity were observed in leptin receptor-deficient strains of zebrafish (62), and other species exhibit inconsistent correlations between fat deposition and leptin expression, e.g., during fasting leptin rises in fish as adiposity declines, while it declines with fasting and lipid stores in mammals (38, 42, 63-65). Nonetheless, the anorexigenic properties of leptin appear well conserved among vertebrates.

Metabolism

Leptin regulates energy availability in mammals by mobilizing lipid stores (66) and stimulating the oxidation of fatty acids (67). It also induces hypoglycemia by enhancing glucose uptake into peripheral tissues (68) and elevates metabolic rate in muscle and liver (69). Studies on the metabolic actions of leptin in other vertebrate classes are limited (**Table 1**) leading to difficulties in elucidating whether leptin evolved primarily as a lipolytic agent or if its basal metabolic functions are more glucoregulatory in nature. Teleosts appeared relatively early in the vertebrate lineage, and thus, understanding the role of leptin in regulating metabolic pathways in these fish could provide valuable insights into the evolution of energy homeostasis in vertebrates. The existing data in teleosts are equivocal, with lipolytic actions being reported in response to leptin treatment in some species, while in others,

Leptin effects	***		and the second s		
Source	Adipocytes	Adipocytes and hepatocytes	Hepatocytes	?	Hepatocytes
Appetite	Anorexigenic	Anorexigenic	Anorexigenic	Anorexigenic	Anorexigenic
Fasting	Levels decline	?	?	?	Levels elevate ^a
Metabolic rate	Elevates	?	?	Elevates	?
Energy mobilization	Lipolytic	?	Glycogenolytic	?	Glycogenolytic Lipolytic [⊳]
Glycemia	Hypoglycemic	?	Hyperglycemic	?	Hyperglycemic Hypoglycemic ^b

TABLE 1 | Comparison of the source of leptin, response to fasting, and effects on appetite, energy metabolism, glycemia, and metabolic rate in the different vertebrate classes based on current knowledge.

?, unknown

^aPredominant response but does not occur in all species.

^bResponse varies between species.

TABLE 2 | Different effects of leptin on appetite, energy metabolism, and glycemia as well as the response to fasting in various teleost species.

Species ^a	Leptin source	Appetite	Energy metabolism	Glycemia	Fasting	Reference
Grass carp (Ctenopharyngodon idella)	Carp	Anorexigenic	↑ lipolytic enzyme mRNA	?	?	Li et al. (21)
Catfish (Pelteobagrus fulvidraco)	Human	?	 ↑ lipolytic enzyme mRNA ↑ enzyme activity ↓ triglycerides 	?	?	Song et al. (39); Zhang et al. (70)
Striped bass (Morone chrysops x Morone saxatilis)	Human	Anorexigenic	?	?	<i>↓ lep</i> mRNA	Won et al. (10)
Tilapia (Oreochromis mossambicus)	Tilapia	?	↓ glycogen ↓ lipolytic enzyme mRNA	Hyperglycemic	↑ <i>lepa</i> mRNA ↑ plasma leptin A	Baltzegar et al. (71); Douros et al. (42)
Rainbow trout (Oncorhynchus mykiss)	Salmonid	Anorexigenic	↓ glycogen	Hyperglycemic	↑ plasma Lep	Murashita et al. (12); Kling et al. (72); Aguilar et al. (36, 37)
Goldfish (Carassius auratus)	Human	Anorexigenic	↑ glycogen ↓ lipids	Hypoglycemic	No effect?	de Pedro et al. (58); Vivas et al. (59); Tinoco et al. (28)

The source of leptin indicates whether homologous or heterologous leptin was used in the study.

^aSpecies were chosen to highlight the disparate effects of leptin observed in teleosts.

leptin instead stimulates glycogen depletion and increases plasma glucose (**Table 2**).

Leptin actions appear to agree with the classic mammalian paradigm in grass carp (C. Idella), wherein it induces a decrease in the hepatic stearoyl-coA desaturase-1 mRNA, an enzyme involved in the synthesis of fatty acids, while simultaneously increasing the mRNA level of hormone-sensitive lipase (hsl) (21). Fatty acid levels were not measured in these studies; however, an overall effect on lipid regulation cannot be ascertained. Nonetheless, human leptin increases activity and mRNA levels of lipolytic enzymes in catfish (P. fulvidraco) hepatocytes and ovarian follicular cells, which paralleled a decrease in overall lipid content, suggesting a lipolytic action of the hormone (39, 70). Further, human leptin increased the mRNA levels of various lipolytic genes, decreased the levels of lipogenic genes, and decreased overall triglyceride content in hepatocytes of the goby [Synechogobius hasta (73)]. In contrast, the mRNA levels of hormone-sensitive lipase, as well as lipoprotein lipase (lpl), decreased in the liver of Mozambique tilapia (O. mossambicus) in response to homologous hormone treatment (71). The latter study also observed a decrease in hepatic glycogen content and corresponding increase in plasma glucose (71), suggesting that leptin has hyperglycemic actions in teleosts and thus may represent a functional divergence from mammalian leptins. This corroborates an earlier study in rainbow trout (O. mykiss) in which central administration of leptin also increased plasma glucose while concurrently reducing the glycogen content of the liver (36). Similar effects were observed in lizards, with leptin decreasing hepatic glycogen content and increasing plasma glucose levels (74). Disparate results have been reported in goldfish, however, with human leptin increasing muscle and liver glycogen while depleting liver lipids and lowering plasma glucose, similar to what is observed in mammals (58). The different actions of leptin reported in teleosts could be a function of differences in life history strategies or from using mammalian vs. homologous leptins. Baltzegar et al. (71) reported similar glucoregulatory effects for both recombinant human leptin and tilapia LepA. However, distinct actions on regulation of hepatic hsl and lpl were observed between the two, with tilapia LepA reducing and human leptin having little effect on the lipases, suggesting that the use of homologous hormone may be essential for determining species-specific effects.

Further glucoregulatory roles for leptin have been demonstrated in the brain of rainbow trout and tilapia. Aguilar et al. (36) demonstrated increases in the glucose and glycogen contents of the trout (*O. mykiss*) hypothalamus and hindbrain in response to an intracerebroventricular injection of human leptin, which were paralleled by increases in glut2 mRNA and glycogen synthase activity. Leptin also induced a significant increase in glucokinase activity in the brain (36), suggesting that one of the functions of leptin may be to stimulate glucose uptake and metabolism. In the pituitary rostral pars distalis of the tilapia (O. mossambicus), homologous leptin induced an increase in the activity of phosphofructokinase, a rate-limiting glycolytic enzyme, and this was correlated with an increase in lactate secretion or overall glycolytic output (75). Although typically believed to be a lipolytic agent, leptin has also been implicated in glucose metabolism in mammals, having been shown to stimulate glycolysis and gluconeogenesis and inhibit glycogenolysis [reviewed in Ref. (76)]. These data suggest that one of the basal functions of leptin may be to regulate glucose uptake and catabolism (e.g., glycolysis) in vertebrates; however, the source of glucose may vary as the hormone can elicit catabolic effects on either lipid or glycogen stores. One explanation for this could be the evolution of endothermy [see Ref. (77) for review of energetics between endothermy and ectothermy]. Mammals exhibit higher metabolic rates that, if fueled by fatty acids and/or glucose that has been synthesized de novo, would allow glycogen stores to be conserved in the event the animal is in need of a rapid source of energy. Hence, leptin may promote gluconeogenesis, but not glycogenolysis. Whether leptin alters gluconeogenic pathways in fish remains to be determined.

LEPTIN INTEGRATION WITH THE CLASSICAL ENDOCRINE STRESS AXIS

Endocrine Stress Response

It is apparent that leptin is a catabolic hormone in vertebrates that enhances energy mobilization and suppresses appetite, two processes often linked to stress responses. Hence, the hormone may be integral to the endocrine stress response. Stress impacts virtually all aspects of vertebrate physiology including immunity, reproduction, hydromineral balance, and energy homeostasis (78-80). The adrenergic (humoral and neuronal) and hypothalamic-pituitary-adrenal [interrenal in fish; HPA/hypothalamic-pituitary interrenal (HPI)] axes are central components of the vertebrate stress response and ultimately aid in restoration of homeostasis when disrupted. In all vertebrates, including teleost fishes, acute and chronic stress events are mediated through the sympathetic adrenergic and HPA/HPI axes, two primary components of the endocrine stress response. The two axes release catecholamines (epinephrine/norepinephrine) and glucocorticoids (cortisol/corticosterone), respectively, to allow for the mobilization of energy stores (79, 81, 82).

Upon the perception of a stressor, sympathetic nerve fibers release acetylcholine onto chromaffin cells within the adrenal medulla (mammals) or interrenal tissue (teleosts) to stimulate the secretion of catecholamines and allow for the rapid mobilization of energy stores from peripheral tissues (81, 83–85). Simultaneously, the hypothalamus releases corticotropin-releasing factor (CRF), which stimulates the release of adrenocorticotropic hormone (ACTH) from the pituitary. ACTH then triggers the production and release of glucocorticoids from the adrenal cortex (mammals) or interrenal cells of the head kidney (teleosts) (79, 80, 85). These glucocorticoids then elicit a myriad of metabolic effects

such as inducing lipid and protein catabolism and stimulating gluconeogenesis to increase plasma glucose levels (79, 86). In a classic negative feedback pathway, the increase in circulating cortisol then inhibits further release of CRF and ACTH, attenuating the stress response.

Catecholamines and Leptin

Epinephrine is thought to be the primary hormone of the humoral adrenergic system in most fishes (80, 81). As part of the "fight or flight" response, catecholamines exert numerous actions that include rapid mobilization of glucose and free fatty acids through enhanced glycogenolysis and lipolysis, respectively, as well as regulation of respiration and blood flow (79, 81, 87). Leptin is also critical for regulating energy expenditure in vertebrates and responds to various stressors (see Leptin Responses to Stress in Vertebrates), yet little is known about how the hormone interacts with components of the endocrine stress axis, particularly in non-mammalian vertebrates (27). To date, the majority of studies examining the relationship between leptin and the stress axis have been performed in mammals (27, 51). However, studies in lizards [Podarcis sicula (74)] and teleosts have indicated that leptin may act as a key metabolic regulator during stress in all vertebrates through mobilization of energy stores (Figure 3).

Leptin has been shown to stimulate the release of catecholamines in both porcine (88) and bovine (89) adrenal medullary cells. In addition, leptin increased mRNA levels of tyrosine hydroxylase, the rate-limiting enzyme in catecholamine production (88). This suggests a synergistic relationship between leptin and catecholamines wherein leptin mobilizes energy from lipids while simultaneously stimulating the release of catecholamines to mobilize glucose during periods of stress (90). Interestingly, other studies utilizing human chromaffin cells have shown no significant change in catecholamine release with leptin treatment (91). The contradictory responses observed between human and other mammalian models could possibly be due to differences in methodology (isolated cells vs. whole adrenal tissue), the leptin concentrations used, or simply species differences (88). The regulation of catecholamines by leptin in fishes has not been well characterized. In goldfish (C. auratus), chronic leptin treatment resulted in no significant changes in hypothalamic catecholamines (58); however the effects of leptin on circulating catecholamines are yet to be examined.

While leptin exerts a stimulatory effect on catecholamine release in mammals, epinephrine has been shown to directly inhibit leptin secretion (92-95). In addition, increases in intracellular cAMP in medullary cells, one of the second messengers involved in adrenergic signaling, downregulate leptin mRNA (96). Leptin increases intracellular cAMP in addition to stimulating catecholamine release (88), both of which could act in a negative feedback loop to inhibit further leptin release. One theory behind this inhibition is that it is not advantageous for catecholamines to stimulate leptin during acute stress as obtaining energy from lipolysis is too slow for a "fight or flight" response; however, it may play a role in mediating the response to chronic stress (27). The regulation of leptin by catecholamines in fishes and other ectotherms is still unclear. However, both leptin and epinephrine exhibit glycogenolytic and/or lipolytic actions and have been shown to increase during times of stress in fishes (71, 79).



Glucocorticoids and Leptin

The human ob promoter region possesses glucocorticoid response elements, suggesting that cortisol may elicit some of their actions by inducing leptin transcription (97, 98). Indeed, glucocorticoids elicited a stimulatory effect on leptin synthesis and secretion in rats (99), humans (100), and cultured human adipocytes (101) (Figure 3). In addition, the synthetic glucocorticoid dexamethasone increased mRNA levels and stimulated leptin secretion in rat adipocytes (96, 102). Similar results have been observed in teleosts, with cortisol increasing hepatic leptin mRNA levels in rainbow trout (O. mykiss) both in vivo and in vitro (103). In addition, when trout hepatocytes were treated simultaneously with cortisol and RU486, a glucocorticoid receptor antagonist, the increase in leptin mRNA was attenuated (103). Whether a similar response occurs with leptin secretion remains unknown. It has been speculated that since cortisol release is slower than that of catecholamines, the prolonged stressors that elicit cortisol actions would also benefit from the catabolic effects of leptin on lipids and/or carbohydrates reported in fishes, particularly in the liver where leptin is produced and may act locally (26, 27, 39, 71, 73, 104).

Leptin in turn has an overall inhibitory effect on the HPA axis in mammals (98), inhibiting CRF release from the hypothalamus in mice (105) and suppressing cortisol secretion from adrenal cells (106–108) (**Figure 3**). In contrast, leptin has no effect on ACTH secretion from the pituitary, suggesting that it regulates glucocorticoid release indirectly *via* the hypothalamus and directly by acting on the adrenal gland (105). When human adrenocortical cells are incubated with leptin, a dose-dependent decrease in ACTH-stimulated cortisol secretion is observed (91), while in leptin knockout mice (*ob/ob*), circulating levels of glucocorticoids are 85% higher than basal. Injecting these knockouts with leptin, however, reduced the level of glucocorticoids by 40% (109, 110). These data could potentially suggest a synergism between leptin

and cortisol wherein cortisol stimulates the secretion of leptin that, in turn, mobilizes energy stores necessary for coping with a stressor. It has also been suggested that the anorexigenic effects of leptin could counteract the weight gain effects of cortisol in mammals (111). Similar results have been observed in teleosts, suggesting that interactions between leptin and glucocorticoids may be conserved in vertebrates. In the common carp (C. carpio), leptin inhibited ACTH-stimulated cortisol secretion in vivo and caused a dose-dependent decrease in CRF-induced ACTH secretion from the pituitary in vitro (6, 112). No changes in circulating cortisol were observed in leptin-injected goldfish [C. auratus (59)]; however, it is possible that leptin only inhibits glucocorticoid production when the HPI axis has been activated and circulating cortisol levels are elevated. In general, we do know that teleost pituitary glands are responsive to leptin (6, 26, 40, 42), and as such, it has been postulated that leptin may regulate the stress axis at the level of the pituitary (6, 113).

Currently, there are no other studies in fishes examining the relationship between leptin and the hormones of the stress axis, specifically interactions with catecholamines and glucocorticoids. There is a need to address these gaps as understanding these interactions will help to elucidate leptin's basal function as a putative regulator of the endocrine stress response in these organisms and how these actions may differ from that of the classically described adipostat in mammals.

LEPTIN RESPONSES TO STRESS IN VERTEBRATES

Fasting

Catabolic stress associated with fasting typically leads to downregulation of leptin expression in mammals (114). The preponderance of evidence in teleosts, however, points to fasting-induced increases in leptin synthesis and secretion (23, 42, 58, 72, 115, 116); albeit evidence in two species, the hybrid striped bass (M. chrysops x M. saxatilis) and red-bellied piranha (Pygocentrus nattereri) show that production of the hormone may decline with fasting (10, 117). The general increase in leptin during fasting found in most teleosts presents a functional paradox between the role of leptin as an anorexigenic endocrine signal and the drive to increase food intake during fasting. Leptin could aid to limit feeding to avoid the metabolic costs associated with foraging and digestion (118) during periods of low food availability, or perhaps other orexigenic factors such as ghrelin, whose levels are known to increase dramatically with fasting (119), outweigh the anorexigenic properties of leptin in driving food intake when energy status is low. Regardless, the increase in leptin with fasting is likely critical for promoting the catabolism of energy stores to fuel essential cellular processes. The variability of responses in fishes compared to mammals may be attributed to distinct regulation of energy stores, perhaps suggesting that signaling during altered metabolic states may not be reliant solely on leptin, but an integration of lipostatic, glucostatic, and other metabolic and endocrine signals. Further, as a consequence of genome duplication events in teleosts [reviewed in Ref. (120, 121)], some species possess multiple leptin paralogs that may exhibit different functional properties.

Hyperosmotic Stress

Euryhaline fishes can withstand wide fluctuations in environmental salinity. Through active excretion of ions, they can overcome large increases in plasma osmolality (>150 mOsm) during acute seawater challenge (71). The process of seawater acclimation consumes 20-68% of their total metabolic energy demand (122, 123). Elevated leptin stimulates Na⁺ retention and induces hypertension in rats and may be associated with hypertension induced kidney disease in humans (124). Few studies have investigated the role of leptin in osmoregulation in teleost fishes, despite its regulatory interactions with GH, IGFs, and PRL, hormones known to control salt and water balance (26, 40-42). In the Mozambique tilapia (O. mossambicus), acute seawater transfer induced significant increases in hepatic lepa and lepr mRNA levels (71). The authors propose that leptin may work with cortisol to mobilize energy stores by inducing hepatic glycogenolysis and gluconeogenesis, respectively, thereby allowing the organism to fuel the increased energy demands associated with hyperosmotic stress. The hormone had no direct effect on expression of the gill Na⁺K⁺-ATPase pump, so it remains unclear whether the hormone is ionoregulatory in teleosts. Additional studies suggest that leptin may stimulate the release of PRL, an important freshwater osmoregulatory or Na⁺-retaining hormone in teleosts (26, 40). Collectively, the results suggest that leptin may act to mobilize energy for seawater adaptation and promote GH sensitivity and IGF production to enhance seawater acclimation (41, 42, 71). It may also promote synthesis and secretion of PRL for freshwater adaptation (40).

Нурохіа

Oxygen is a necessary component of energy production in all vertebrates, and thus hypoxia represents a severe and potentially

lethal stress. As leptin functions at the intersection of the endocrine stress response and metabolism, it is reasonable to postulate that it is involved in the vertebrate response to hypoxia. Indeed, an increase in the transcription of leptin in humans, observed in response to hypoxia and hypoxia-inducible factor 1 (HIF-1), transactivates the human leptin gene promoter (125, 126). In addition, leptin mRNA levels increase in response to hypoxia in a variety of mammalian cell lines (127-129). Interestingly, Meissner et al. (130) reported that short-term hypoxia in rats had no effect on plasma leptin levels or expression in adipose tissue; however, leptin expression was increased in the liver, kidney, and lungs suggesting a unique metabolic role for leptin under hypoxic stress. Leptin has further been shown to attenuate apoptosis under hypoxic conditions and appears to be necessary for behavioral recovery following acute hypoxia (131, 132). Taken together, the data from mammals point to a crucial role for leptin as a multifaceted mediator of energy homeostasis during hypoxia.

The first report of leptin regulation by hypoxia in fishes came from Chu et al. (133). The authors showed that lepa expression increased after 4 and 10 days of hypoxic exposure in zebrafish (D. rerio) and implicated HIF-1 α as a key mediator of this response. In common carp (C. carpio), the expression of lep-a1, lep-a2, and lepr in the liver increases in proportion with the length of hypoxic exposure (113). This study also showed that exposure to hypoxia upregulated expression of lepr mRNA in the pituitary, suggesting potential integration with the HPI axis (113). In addition, transcriptome data for the tilapia (O. mossambicus) shows upregulation of genes responsive to hypoxia in the pituitary following leptin treatment [e.g., chaperone-containing TCP1, chromodomain helicase-binding domain, heat shock protein 90b1, Gene Ontology 0070482/001666 (75)]. Crucian carp (C. carassius) expresses multiple isoforms of the LepR in the gill, and the mRNA levels increased in response to hypoxia in vivo (134). While there are still significant gaps in knowledge with regards to how leptin is acting to augment organism energetics during hypoxia in fishes, it appears that leptin is indeed regulated by hypoxia in much the same way as mammals, increasing in response to the decreased availability of oxygen for ATP production. The emerging role of leptin in stimulating glycolysis among different vertebrates may fit well with its upregulation during hypoxia or normoxia (Warburg effect).

Immune Function and Disease

Immunity is intimately linked to an organism's metabolism and energy status, and as such, allocating energy to the immune system in states of both health and disease is critical to the overall fitness and survival of an organism (135). Fasting and nutritional deprivation are associated with an increased disease susceptibility, as well as immune system suppression and dysfunction in vertebrates (136–138). Due to its role as a vital neuroendocrine mediator of metabolic state, leptin has been investigated as a regulator of the energetics associated with the innate and adaptive immune responses. In mammals, increases in serum leptin levels occur with inflammation, a response that appears to be modulated by glucocorticoids (139). Further, leptin has been shown to reverse starvation-induced immunosuppression by stimulating the proliferation of pro-inflammatory cytokine-secreting T cells (140). Despite having been extensively studied in mammals, few studies have explored the interplay of leptin and immunity in teleost fishes or other non-mammalian vertebrates.

The correct allocation of energy to the innate immune system, the first line of organism defense and the most important responder in the acute phase of an infection, is critical to host survival. Leptin signaling has been shown to be necessary for innate immunity in mammals (135, 141), increasing chemotaxis and oxidative function and delaying apoptosis in immune cells (142-146). Leptin increases activation and proliferation and induces production of pro-inflammatory cytokines in phagocytes (147). Similar functions have been observed in the adaptive immune response, wherein leptin acts to stimulate B-lymphocytes by inducing cell cycle entry, preventing apoptosis and causing the secretion of pro-inflammatory cytokines (148, 149). In addition, it has been determined that leptin signaling is necessary for normal rates of glucose uptake and glycolysis in activated T-cells (150). These data suggest that, in mammals, leptin may drive immune activation by increasing the oxidative and overall glycolytic capacities of various immune cells.

Very little work has been done to directly connect leptin to the immune system in teleost fishes. Mariano et al. (151) showed that leptin drove ERK and STAT3 phosphorylation in both adherent and non-adherent trout leukocytes. Additional evidence for a role of leptin in regulating immune function in teleosts comes from MacDonald et al. (152) in which rainbow trout (O. mykiss) infected with a pathogenic hemoflagellate exhibited significantly higher mRNA and plasma levels of LepA. The authors determined that leptin was being secreted in response to the hypoxemia associated with the infection to reduce food intake (152). This would serve to prevent the organism from having to allocate energy toward digestive functions while in the diseased state. It is also possible that increases in leptin synthesis and secretion could lead to catabolism of energy stores necessary to meet the energetic demands of fighting the disease. Although limited, the data suggest an integration of leptin with immune function, and future studies should investigate the extent of leptin's involvement in immunometabolic pathways in teleost fishes.

CONCLUSION

In teleost fishes, there is much that remains to be elucidated about the role of leptin in energy homeostasis. Although there

REFERENCES

- Zhang Y, Proenca R, Maffei M, Barone M, Leopold L, Friedman JM. Positional cloning of the mouse obese gene and its human homologue. *Nature* (1994) 372:425–31. doi:10.1038/372425a0
- Broberger C, De Lecea L, Sutcliffe JG, Hökfelt T. Hypocretin/orexin-and melanin-concentrating hormone-expressing cells form distinct populations in the rodent lateral hypothalamus: relationship to the neuropeptide Y and Agouti gene-related protein systems. *J Comp Neurol* (1998) 402(4):460–74. doi:10.1002/(SICI)1096-9861(19981228)402:4<460::AID-CNE3>3.3.CO;2-J
- Londraville RL, Macotela Y, Duff RJ, Easterling MR, Liu Q, Crespi EJ. Comparative endocrinology of leptin: assessing function in a phylogenetic context. *Gen Comp Endocrinol* (2014) 203:146–57. doi:10.1016/j.ygcen.2014.02.002
- Doyon C, Drouin G, Trudeau VL, Moon TW. Molecular evolution of leptin. Gen Comp Endocrinol (2001) 124:188–98. doi:10.1006/gcen.2001.7701

is evidence that leptin acts as a glucoregulatory agent in teleosts, there are also reports of leptin having lipolytic actions, particularly in the cyprinid fishes. In mammals, leptin has been implicated in regulating the metabolism of both glucose and lipids, suggesting some conservation of function between the two groups, perhaps sharing roles in promoting glycolysis. However, the increase in leptin levels during fasting presents a functional paradox against its role as an anorexigenic hormone. A further look into the function of leptins in regulating basal metabolism may shed light in this area. As multiple paralogs of leptin have been identified in teleosts, future studies should focus on whether the disparate actions are simply species-specific differences or the result of neofunctionalization between the various leptin paralogs. To date, the studies investigating the involvement of leptin in regulating immunity and the endocrine stress response suggest that such roles may be conserved within vertebrates. However, it is currently unclear by what means metabolic energy stores might be preferentially mobilized by leptin upon exposure to acute and chronic stressors, such as osmotic stress or hypoxia. Further, it remains to be determined how multiple endocrine signals (e.g., catecholamines, glucocorticoids) might integrate with leptin signaling to achieve the appropriate physiological response under such conditions. Studies in teleosts, or other ectotherms, may shed light on potential new functions of leptin that may be well conserved in the vertebrate lineage.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

All individuals contributed to writing and reviewing the final version of the article.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

The authors would like to thank Scott Salger for providing comments on the manuscript.

FUNDING

Some of the work described herein was supported by grants to RB from the National Science Foundation (IOS-1457040) and the Feed-the-Future AquaFish Innovation Lab of the United States Agency for International Development (EPP-A-00-06-00012-00, accession number 1471). The opinions expressed herein are those of the authors and do not necessarily reflect that of the granting agencies.

- Kurokawa T, Uji S, Suzuki T. Identification of cDNA coding for a homologue to mammalian leptin from pufferfish, *Takifugu rubripes. Peptides* (2005) 26:745–50. doi:10.1016/j.peptides.2004.12.017
- Gorissen M, Flik G. Leptin in teleostean fish, towards the origins of leptin physiology. J Chem Neuroanat (2014) 62:200–6. doi:10.1016/j.jchemneu.2014.06.005
- Crespi EJ, Denver RJ. Roles of stress hormones in food intake regulation in anuran amphibians throughout the life cycle. *Comp Biochem Physiol A Mol Integr Physiol* (2005) 142:3–19. doi:10.1016/j.cbpb.2004.12.007
- Boswell T, Dunn IC, Wilson PW, Joseph N, Burt DW, Sharp PJ. Identification of a non-mammalian leptin-like gene: characterization and expression in the tiger salamander (*Ambystoma tigrinum*). *Gen Comp Endocrinol* (2006) 146:157–66. doi:10.1016/j.ygcen.2005.08.001
- Boorse GC, Libbon JV. Genomic characterization of two leptin genes and a leptin receptor gene in the Green Anole, Anolis carolinensis. *Integrative and Comparative Biology*. (Vol. 50), Cary, NC: Oxford University Press (2010). p. E207.

- Won ET, Baltzegar DA, Picha ME, Borski RJ. Cloning and characterization of leptin in a Perciform fish, the striped bass (*Morone saxatilis*): control of feeding and regulation by nutritional state. *Gen Comp Endocrinol* (2012) 178:98–107. doi:10.1016/j.ygcen.2012.04.019
- Huising MO, Geven EJW, Kruiswijk CP, Nabuurs SB, Stolte EH, Spanings FAT, et al. Increased leptin expression in common carp (*Cyprinus carpio*) after food intake but not after fasting or feeding to satiation. *Endocrinology* (2006) 147(12):5786–97. doi:10.1210/en.2006-0824
- Murashita K, Uji S, Yamamoto T, Rønnestad I, Kurokawa T. Production of recombinant leptin and its effects on food intake in rainbow trout (*Oncorhynchus mykiss*). Comp Biochem Physiol B (2008) 150:377–84. doi:10.1016/j.cbpb.2008.04.007
- Gorissen M, Bernier NJ, Nabuurs SB, Flik G, Huising MO. Two divergent leptin paralogues in zebrafish (*Danio rerio*) that originate early in teleostean evolution. *J Endocrinol* (2009) 201:329–39. doi:10.1677/JOE-09-0034
- Rønnestad I, Nilsen TO, Murashita K, Angotzi AR, Moen AG, Stefansson SO, et al. Leptin and leptin receptor genes in Atlantic salmon: cloning, phylogeny, tissue distribution and expression correlated to long-term feeding status. *Gen Comp Endocrinol* (2010) 168:55–70. doi:10.1016/j.ygcen.2010.04.010
- Zhang H, Chen H, Zhang Y, Li S, Lu D, Zhang H, et al. Molecular cloning, characterization and expression profiles of multiple leptin genes and a leptin receptor gene in orange-spotted grouper (*Epinephelus coioides*). *Gen Comp Endocrinol* (2013) 181:295–305. doi:10.1016/j.ygcen.2012.09.008
- Kurokawa T, Murashita K. Genomic characterization of multiple leptin genes and a leptin receptor gene in the Japanese medaka, *Oryzias latipes. Gen Comp Endocrinol* (2009) 161:229–37. doi:10.1016/j.ygcen.2009.01.008
- Gong Y, Luo Z, Zhu Q-L, Zheng J-L, Tan X-Y, Chen Q-L, et al. Characterization and tissue distribution of leptin, leptin receptor and leptin receptor overlapping transcript genes in yellow catfish *Pelteobagrus fulvidraco. Gen Comp Endocrinol* (2013) 182:1–6. doi:10.1016/j.ygcen.2012.11.006
- Shpilman M, Hollander-Cohen L, Ventura T, Gertler A, Levavi-Sivan B. Production, gene structure and characterization of two orthologs of leptin and a leptin receptor in tilapia. *Gen Comp Endocrinol* (2014) 207:74–85. doi:10.1016/j.ygcen.2014.05.006
- Tang Y, Yu J, Li H, Xu P, Li J, Ren H. Molecular cloning, characterization and expression analysis of multiple *leptin* genes in Jian carp (*Cyprinus carpio* var. Jian). *Comp Biochem Physiol B* (2013) 166:133–40. doi:10.1016/j.cbpb. 2013.07.009
- Frøiland E, Murashita K, Jørgensen EH, Kurokawa T. Leptin and ghrelin in anadramous Arctic charr: cloning and change in expressions during a seasonal feeding cycle. *Gen Comp Endocrinol* (2010) 165:136–43. doi:10.1016/j.ygcen. 2009.06.010
- Li G-G, Liang X-F, Xie Q, Li G, Yu Y, Lai K. Gene structure, recombinant expression and functional characterization of grass carp leptin. *Gen Comp Endocrinol* (2010) 166:117–27. doi:10.1016/j.ygcen.2009.10.009
- 22. Ohga H, Matsumori K, Kodama R, Kitano H, Nagano N, Yamaguchi A, et al. Two leptin genes and a leptin receptor gene of female chub mackerel (*Scomber japonicus*): molecular cloning, tissue distribution and expression in different obesity indices and pubertal stages. *Gen Comp Endocrinol* (2015) 222:88–98. doi:10.1016/j.ygcen.2015.06.002
- Yuan X, Li A, Liang XF, Huang W, Song Y, He S, et al. Leptin expression in mandarin fish *Siniperca chuatsi* (Basilewsky): regulation by postprandial and short-term fasting treatment. *Comp Biochem Physiol A Mol Integr Physiol* (2016) 194:8–18. doi:10.1016/j.cbpa.2016.01.014
- Chen T, Chen S, Ren C, Hu C, Tang D, Yan A. Two isoforms of leptin in the white-clouds mountain minnow (*Tanichthys albonubes*): differential regulation by estrogen despite similar response to fasting. *Gen Comp Endocrinol* (2016) 225:174–84. doi:10.1016/j.ygcen.2015.08.002
- Venkatesh B. Evolution and diversity of fish genomes. Curr Opin Genet Dev (2003) 13:588–92. doi:10.1016/j.gde.2003.09.001
- Douros JD, Baltzegar DA, Breves JP, Lerner DT, Seale AP, Grau EG, et al. Prolactin is a major inhibitor of hepatic leptin A synthesis and secretion: studies utilizing a homologous leptin A ELISA in the tilapia. *Gen Comp Endocrinol* (2014) 207:86–93. doi:10.1016/j.ygcen.2014.03.007
- Copeland DL, Duff RJ, Liu Q, Prokop J, Londraville RL. Leptin in teleost fishes: an argument for comparative study. *Front Physiol* (2011) 2:26. doi:10.3389/ fphys.2011.00026
- 28. Tinoco AB, Nisembaum LG, Isorna E, Delgado MJ, de Pedro N. Leptins and leptin receptor expression in the goldfish (*Carassius auratus*): regulation by

food intake and fasting/overfeeding conditions. *Peptides* (2012) 34:329–35. doi:10.1016/j.peptides.2012.02.001

- Angotzi AR, Stefansson SO, Nilsen TO, Rathore RM, Rønnestad I. Molecular cloning and genomic characterization of novel leptin-like genes in salmonids provide new insight into the evolution of the leptin gene family. *Gen Comp Endocrinol* (2013) 187:48–59. doi:10.1016/j.ygcen.2013.03.022
- Tartaglia LA. The leptin receptor. J Biol Chem (1997) 272(10):6093–6. doi:10.1074/jbc.272.10.6093
- White UA, Stephens JM. The gp130 receptor cytokine family: regulators of adipocyte development and function. *Curr Pharm Des* (2011) 17(4):340–6. doi:10.2174/138161211795164202
- Cui MY, Hu CK, Pelletier C, Dziuba A, Slupski RH, Li C, et al. Ancient origins and evolutionary conservation of intracellular and neural signaling pathways engaged by the leptin receptor. *Endocrinology* (2014) 155(11):4202–14. doi:10.1210/en.2014-1301
- Kurokawa T, Murashita K, Suzuki T, Uji S. Genomic characterization and tissue distribution of leptin receptor and leptin receptor overlapping transcript genes in the pufferfish, *Takifugu rubripes. Gen Comp Endocrinol* (2008) 158:108–14. doi:10.1016/j.ygcen.2008.06.003
- Gong N, Björnsson BT. Leptin signaling in the rainbow trout central nervous system is modulated by a truncated leptin receptor isoform. *Endocrinology* (2014) 155(7):2445–55. doi:10.1210/en.2013-2131
- Escobar S, Rocha A, Felip A, Carrillo M, Zanuy S, Kah O, et al. Leptin receptor gene in the European sea bass (*Dicentrarchus labrax*): cloning, phylogeny, tissue distribution and neuroanatomical organization. *Gen Comp Endocrinol* (2016) 229:100–11. doi:10.1016/j.ygcen.2016.03.017
- Aguilar AJ, Conde-Sieira M, Polakof S, Miguez JM, Soengas JL. Central leptin treatment modulates brain glucosensing function and peripheral energy metabolism of rainbow trout. *Peptides* (2010) 31:1044–54. doi:10.1016/j. peptides.2010.02.026
- Aguilar AJ, Conde-Sieira M, Lopez-Patino M, Miguez JM, Soengas JL. In vitro leptin treatment of rainbow trout hypothalamus and hindbrain affects glucosensing and gene expression of neuropeptides involved in food intake regulation. Peptides (2011) 32:232–40. doi:10.1016/j.peptides.2010.11.007
- Gong N, Jönsson E, Bjöornsson BT. Acute anorexigenic action of leptin in rainbow trout is mediated by the hypothalamic PI3K pathway. J Mol Endocrinol (2016) 56(3):227–38. doi:10.1530/JME-15-0279
- 39. Song YF, Wu K, Tan XY, Zhang LH, Zhuo MQ, Pan YX, et al. Effects of recombinant human leptin administration on hepatic lipid metabolism in yellow catfish *Pelteobagrus fulvidraco*: in vivo and in vitro studies. *Gen Comp Endocrinol* (2015) 212:92–9. doi:10.1016/j.ygcen.2015.01.022
- Tipsmark CK, Strom CN, Bailey ST, Borski RJ. Leptin stimulates pituitary prolactin release through an extracellular signal-regulated kinase-dependent pathway. J Endocrinol (2008) 196:275–81. doi:10.1677/JOE-07-0540
- Won ET, Douros JD, Hurt DA, Borski RJ. Leptin stimulates hepatic growth hormone receptor and insulin-like growth factor gene expression in a teleost fish, the hybrid striped bass. *Gen Comp Endocrinol* (2016) 229:84–91. doi:10.1016/j.ygcen.2016.02.003
- 42. Douros JD, Baltzegar DA, Mankiewicz J, Taylor J, Yamaguchi Y, Lerner DT, et al. Control of leptin by metabolic state and its regulatory interactions with pituitary growth hormone and hepatic growth hormone receptors and insulin like growth factors in the tilapia (*Oreochromis mossambicus*). *Gen Comp Endocrinol* (2017) 240:227–37. doi:10.1016/j.ygcen.2016.07.017
- Saladin R, de Vos P, Guerre-Millo M, Leturque A, Girard J, Staels B, et al. Transient increase in obese gene expression after food intake or insulin administration. *Nature* (1995) 377(6549):527. doi:10.1038/377527a0
- Bjorbaek C, Kahn BB. Leptin signaling in the central nervous system and the periphery. *Recent Prog Horm Res* (2004) 59:305–32. doi:10.1210/rp.59.1.305
- 45. Arora S. Leptin and its metabolic interactions an update. *Diabetes Obes Metab* (2008) 10(11):973–93. doi:10.1111/j.1463-1326.2008.00852.x
- Elias CF, Aschkenasi C, Lee C, Kelly J, Ahima RS, Bjorbaek C, et al. Leptin differentially regulates NPY and POMC neurons projecting to the lateral hypothalamic area. *Neuron* (1999) 23(4):775–86. doi:10.1016/S0896-6273(01)80035-0
- Cowley MA, Smart JL, Rubinstein M, Cerdán MG, Diano S, Horvath TL, et al. Leptin activates anorexigenic POMC neurons through a neural network in the arcuate nucleus. *Nature* (2001) 411(6836):480–4. doi:10.1038/35078085
- Elmquist JK. Hypothalamic pathways underlying the endocrine, autonomic, and behavioral effects of leptin. *Physiol Behav* (2001) 74(4):703–8. doi:10.1016/ S0031-9384(01)00613-8

- Ahima RS. Adipose tissue as an endocrine organ. Obesity (2006) 14(S8): 242S–9S. doi:10.1038/oby.2006.317
- Ahima RS, Qi Y, Singhal NS, Jackson MB, Scherer PE. Brain adipocytokine action and metabolic regulation. *Diabetes* (2006) 55(Suppl 2):S145–54. doi:10.2337/db06-S018
- Ahima RS, Flier JS. Adipose tissue as an endocrine organ. Trends Endocrinol Metab (2000) 11(8):327–32. doi:10.1016/S1043-2760(00)00301-5
- Weigle DS, Bukowski TR, Foster DC, Holderman S, Kramer JM, Lasser G, et al. Recombinant *ob* protein reduces feeding and body weight in the *ob/ob* mouse. *J Clin Invest* (1995) 96(4):2065. doi:10.1172/JCI118254
- Farooqi IS, Matarese G, Lord GM, Keogh JM, Lawrence E, Agwu C, et al. Beneficial effects of leptin on obesity, T cell hyporesponsiveness, and neuroendocrine/metabolic dysfunction of human congenital leptin deficiency. *J Clin Invest* (2002) 110(8):1093–103. doi:10.1172/JCI0215693
- Volkoff H, Eykelbosh AJ, Peter RE. Role of leptin in the control of feeding of goldfish *Carassius auratus*: interactions with cholecystokinin, neuropeptide Y and orexin A, and modulation by fasting. *Brain Res* (2003) 972(1):90–109. doi:10.1016/S0006-8993(03)02507-1
- Volkoff H. The role of neuropeptide Y, orexins, cocaine and amphetaminerelated transcript, cholecystokinin, amylin and leptin in the regulation of feeding in fish. *Comp Biochem Physiol B* (2006) 144(3):325–31. doi:10.1016/j. cbpa.2005.10.026
- Volkoff H, Canosa LF, Unniappan S, Cerda-Reverter JM, Bernier NJ, Kelly SP, et al. Neuropeptides and the control of food intake in fish. *Gen Comp Endocrinol* (2005) 142(1):3–19. doi:10.1016/j.ygcen.2004.11.001
- Volkoff H. The neuroendocrine regulation of food intake in fish: a review of current knowledge. *Front Neurosci* (2016) 10:540. doi:10.3389/fnins.2016. 00540
- de Pedro N, Martinez-Alvarez R, Delgado MJ. Acute and chronic leptin reduces food intake and body weight in goldfish (*Carassius auratus*). *J Endocrinol* (2006) 188(3):513–20. doi:10.1677/joe.1.06349
- Vivas Y, Azpeleta C, Feliciano A, Velarde E, Isorna E, Delgado MJ, et al. Timedependent effects of leptin on food intake and locomotor activity in goldfish. *Peptides* (2011) 32(5):989–95. doi:10.1016/j.peptides.2011.01.028
- 60. Rønnestad I, Søyland MA, Hansen T, Jordal AE, Nilsen TO, Gomes AS, et al. Effects of intraperitoneal administration of leptin on voluntary feed intake, appetite signaling pathways and metabolism in Atlantic salmon, *Salmo salar*. *FASEB J* (2016) 30(1):lb644.
- Chisada SI, Kurokawa T, Murashita K, Rønnestad I, Taniguchi Y, Toyoda A, et al. Leptin receptor-deficient (knockout) medaka, *Oryzias latipes*, show chronical up-regulated levels of orexigenic neuropeptides, elevated food intake and stage specific effects on growth and fat allocation. *Gen Comp Endocrinol* (2014) 195:9–20. doi:10.1016/j.ygcen.2013.10.008
- Michel M, Page-McCaw PS, Chen W, Cone RD. Leptin signaling regulates glucose homeostasis, but not adipostasis, in the zebrafish. *Proc Natl Acad Sci* U S A (2016) 113(11):3084–9. doi:10.1073/pnas.1513212113
- 63. Frøiland E, Jobling M, Björnsson BT, Kling P, Ravuri CS, Jørgensen EH. Seasonal appetite regulation in the anadromous Arctic charr: evidence for a role of adiposity in the regulation of appetite but not for leptin in signalling adiposity. *Gen Comp Endocrinol* (2012) 178(2):330–7. doi:10.1016/j.ygcen. 2012.06.017
- 64. Kling P, Jönsson E, Nilsen TO, Einarsdottir IE, Rønnestad I, Stefansson SO, et al. The role of growth hormone in growth, lipid homeostasis, energy utilization and partitioning in rainbow trout: interactions with leptin, ghrelin and insulin-like growth factor I. *Gen Comp Endocrinol* (2012) 175(1):153–62. doi:10.1016/j.ygcen.2011.10.014
- 65. Salmerón C, Johansson M, Angotzi AR, Rønnestad I, Jönsson E, Björnsson BT, et al. Effects of nutritional status on plasma leptin levels and in vitro regulation of adipocyte leptin expression and secretion in rainbow trout. *Gen Comp Endocrinol* (2015) 210:114–23. doi:10.1016/j.ygcen.2014.10.016
- Siegrist-Kaiser CA, Pauli V, Juge-Aubry CE, Boss O, Pernin A, Chin WW, et al. Direct effects of leptin on brown and white adipose tissue. *J Clin Invest* (1997) 100:2858–64. doi:10.1172/JCI119834
- Minokoshi Y, Kim YB, Peroni OD, Fryer LG, Muller C, Carling D, et al. Leptin stimulates fatty-acid oxidation by activating AMP-activated protein kinase. *Nature* (2002) 415:339–43. doi:10.1038/415339a
- Minokoshi Y, Haque MS, Shimazu T. Microinjection of leptin into the ventromedial hypothalamus increases glucose uptake in peripheral tissues in rats. *Diabetes* (1999) 48(2):287–91. doi:10.2337/diabetes.48.2.287

- Wang MY, Lee Y, Unger RH. Novel form of lipolysis induced by leptin. J Biol Chem (1999) 274:17541–4. doi:10.1074/jbc.274.25.17541
- Zhang LH, Tan XY, Wu K, Zhuo MQ, Song YF, Chen QL. Regulation and mechanism of leptin on lipid metabolism in ovarian follicle cells from yellow catfish *Pelteobagrus fulvidraco*. *Gen Comp Endocrinol* (2015) 222:116–23. doi:10.1016/j.ygcen.2015.06.008
- Baltzegar DA, Reading BJ, Douros JD, Borski RJ. Role for leptin in promoting glucose mobilization during acute hyperosmotic stress in teleost fishes. *J Endocrinol* (2014) 220(1):61–72. doi:10.1530/JOE-13-0292
- Kling P, Rønnestad I, Stefansson SO, Murashita K, Kurokawa T, Björnsson BT. A homologous salmonid leptin radioimmunoassay indicates elevated plasma leptin levels during fasting of rainbow trout. *Gen Comp Endocrinol* (2009) 162(3):307–12. doi:10.1016/j.ygcen.2009.04.003
- 73. Wu K, Tan XY, Xu YH, Shi X, Fan YF, Li DD, et al. JAK family members: molecular cloning, expression profiles and their roles in leptin influencing lipid metabolism in *Synechogobius hasta. Comp Biochem Physiol B* (2017) 203:122–31. doi:10.1016/j.cbpb.2016.10.004
- Paolucci M, Buono S, Sciarrillo R, Putti R. Effects of leptin administration on the endocrine pancreas and liver in the lizard *Podarcis sicula*. J Exp Zool (2006) 305(5):383–95. doi:10.1002/jez.a.284
- 75. Douros JD. *The Function and Regulation of Leptin in Teleost Fish [Doctoral Dissertation]*. Raleigh, NC: North Carolina State University (2015).
- Frühbeck G, Salvador J. Relation between leptin and the regulation of glucose metabolism. *Diabetologia* (2000) 43:3–12. doi:10.1007/s001250050002
- van de Pol I, Flix G, Gorissen M. Comparative physiology of energy metabolism: fishing for endocrine signals in the early vertebrate pool. *Front Endocrinol* (2017) 8:36. doi:10.3389/fendo.2017.00036
- Chrousos GP, Gold PW. The concepts of stress and stress system disorders, overview of physical and behavioral homeostasis. JAMA (1992) 267:1244–52.
- 79. Wendelaar Bonga SE. The stress response in fish. *Physiol Rev* (1997) 77: 591-625.
- Barton BA. Stress in fishes: a diversity of responses with particular reference to changes in circulating corticosteroids. *Integr Comp Biol* (2002) 42:517–25. doi:10.1093/icb/42.3.517
- Reid SG, Bernier NJ, Perry SF. The adrenergic stress response in fish: control of catecholamine storage and release. *Comp Biochem Physiol C* (1998) 120:1–27.
- Gorissen M, Flik G. The endocrinology of the stress response in fish: an adaptation-physiological view. In: Schrek CB, Tort L, Farrell AP, Brauner CJ, editors. *Biology of Stress in Fish: Fish Physiology*. (Vol. 35), London: Elsevier (2016). p. 75–111.
- Nilsson S, Abrahamsson T, Grove DJ. Sympathetic nervous control of adrenaline release from the head kidney of the cod, *Gadus morhua*. Comp Biochem Physiol C (1976) 55:123–7. doi:10.1016/0306-4492(76)90034-4
- Mazeaud MM, Mazeaud F, Donaldson EM. Primary and secondary effects of stress in fish: some new data with a general review. *Trans Am Fish Soc* (1977) 106(3):201–12. doi:10.1577/1548-8659(1977)106<201:PASEOS>2.0.CO;2
- Axelrod J, Reisine TD. Stress hormones: their interaction and regulation. Science (1984) 224:452–9. doi:10.1126/science.6143403
- Mommsen TP, Vijayan MM, Moon TW. Cortisol in teleosts: dynamics, mechanisms of action, and metabolic regulation. *Rev Fish Biol Fish* (1999) 9:211–68. doi:10.1023/A:1008924418720
- Fabbri E, Capuzzo A, Moon TW. The role of circulating catecholamines in the regulation of fish metabolism: an overview. *Comp Biochem Physiol C* (1998) 120:177–92.
- Takekoshi K, Mootoka M, Isobe K, Nomura F, Manmoku T, Ishii K, et al. Leptin directly stimulates catecholamine secretion and synthesis in cultured porcine adrenal medullary chromaffin cells. *Biochem Biophys Res Commun* (1999) 261:426–31. doi:10.1006/bbrc.1999.1025
- Utsunomiya K, Yanagihara N, Tachikawa E, Cheah TB, Kajiwara K, Toyohira Y, et al. Stimulation of catecholamine synthesis in cultured bovine adrenal medullary cells by leptin. *J Neurochem* (2001) 76(3):926–34. doi:10.1046/j.1471-4159.2001.00123.x
- Trayhurn P, Duncan JS, Hoggard N, Rayner DV. Regulation of leptin production: a dominant role for the sympathetic nervous system? *Proc Nutr Soc* (1998) 57:413–9. doi:10.1079/PNS19980060
- Glasow A, Haidan A, Hiblers U, Breidert M, Gillespie J, Scherbaum WA, et al. Expression of *ob* receptor in normal human adrenals: differential regulation of adrenocortical and adrenomedullary function by leptin. *J Clin Endocrinol Metab* (1998) 83:4459–66. doi:10.1210/jc.83.12.4459

- Kosaki A, Yamada K, Kuzuya H. Reduced expression of the leptin gene (*ob*) by catecholamine through a G(S) protein-coupled pathway in 3T3-L1 adipocytes. *Diabetes* (1996) 45:1744–9. doi:10.2337/diabetes.45.12.1744
- 93. Mantzoros CS, Frederich RC, Flier JS, Qu D, Susulic VS, Lowell BB, et al. Activation of β_3 adrenergic receptors suppresses leptin expression and mediates a leptin-independent inhibition of food intake in mice. *Diabetes* (1996) 45(7):909–14. doi:10.2337/diab.45.7.909
- Fritsche A, Wahl HG, Metzinger E, Renn W, Kellerer M, Haring H, et al. Evidence for inhibition of leptin secretion by catecholamines in man. *Exp Clin Endocrinol Diabetes* (1998) 106:415–8. doi:10.1055/s-0029-1212008
- Carulli L, Ferrari S, Bertolini M, Tagliafico E, del Rio G. Regulation of *ob* gene expression: evidence for epinephrine-induced suppression in human obesity. *J Clin Endocrinol Metab* (1999) 84(0):3309–12. doi:10.1210/jcem.84.9.6007
- Slieker LJ, Sloop KW, Surface PL, Kriauciunas A, LaQuier F, Manetta J, et al. Regulation of expression of *ob* mRNA and protein by glucocorticoids and cAMP. *J Biol Chem* (1996) 271(10):5301–4. doi:10.1074/jbc.271.10.5301
- Gong DW, Bi S, Pratleys RE, Weintraub BD. Genomic structure and promoter analysis of the human *obese* gene. *J Biol Chem* (1996) 271(8):3971–4. doi:10.1074/jbc.271.8.3971
- Leal-Cerro A, Soto A, Martínez MA, Dieguez C, Casanueva FF. Influence of cortisol status on leptin secretion. *Pituitary* (2001) 4:111–6. doi:10.1023/A: 1012903330944
- 99. de Vos P, Saladin R, Auwerx J, Staels B. Induction of *ob* gene expression by corticosteroids is accompanied by body weight loss and reduced food intake. *J Biol Chem* (1995) 270(27):15958–61. doi:10.1074/jbc.270.27. 15958
- Newcomer JW, Selke G, Melson A, Gross J, Vogler GP, Dagogo-Jack S. Dosedependent cortisol-induced increases in plasma leptin concentration in healthy humans. Arch Gen Psychiatry (1998) 55(11):995–1000. doi:10.1001/ archpsyc.55.11.995
- 101. Wabitsch M, Jensen PB, Blum WF, Christoffersen CT, Englaro P, Heinze E, et al. Insulin and cortisol promote leptin production in cultured human fat cells. *Diabetes* (1996) 45:1435–8. doi:10.2337/diab.45.10.1435
- Murakami T, Ida M, Shima K. Dexamethasone regulates *obese* expression in isolated rat adipocytes. *Biochem Biophys Res Commun* (1995) 214(3):1260–7. doi:10.1006/bbrc.1995.2422
- 103. Madison BN, Tavakoli S, Kramer S, Bernier NJ. Chronic cortisol and the regulation of food intake and the endocrine growth axis in rainbow trout. *J Endocrinol* (2015) 226(2):103–19. doi:10.1530/JOE-15-0186
- 104. Lu RH, Liang XF, Wang M, Zhou Y, Bai XL, He Y. The role of leptin in lipid metabolism in fatty degenerated hepatocytes of the grass carp *Ctenopharyngodon idella. Fish Physiol Biochem* (2012) 38:1759–74. doi:10.1007/s10695-012-9673-6
- Heiman ML, Ahima RS, Craft LS, Schoner B, Stephens TW, Flier JS. Leptin inhibition of the hypothalamic-pituitary-adrenal axis in response to stress. *Endocrinology* (1997) 138:3859–63. doi:10.1210/endo.138.9.5366
- 106. Bornstein SR, Uhlmann K, Haidan A, Ehrhart-Bornstein M, Scherbaum WA. Evidence for a novel peripheral action of leptin as a metabolic signal to the adrenal gland: leptin inhibits cortisol release directly. *Diabetes* (1997) 46:1235–8. doi:10.2337/diabetes.46.7.1235
- 107. Pralong FP, Roduit R, Waeber G, Castillo E, Mosimann F, Thorens B, et al. Leptin inhibits directly glucocorticoid secretion by normal human and rat adrenal gland. *Endocrinology* (1998) 139(10):4264–8. doi:10.1210/endo.139. 10.6254
- Roubos EW, Dahmen M, Kozicz T, Xu L. Leptin and the hypothalamopituitary-adrenal axis. *Gen Comp Endocrinol* (2012) 177:28–36. doi:10.1016/ j.ygcen.2012.01.009
- 109. Ahima RS, Prabakaran D, Flier JS. Postnatal leptin surge and regulation of circadian rhythm of leptin by feeding. Implications for energy homeostasis and neuroendocrine function. J Clin Invest (1998) 101(5):1020. doi:10.1172/ JCI1176
- Davis SN, Lamos EM, Loper H, Younk LM. Leptin in acute stress. In: Dagogo-Jack S, editor. *Leptin*. Cham: Springer International Publishing (2015). p. 103–15.
- Dagogo-Jack S, Selke G, Melson AK, Newcomer JW. Robust leptin secretory responses to dexamethasone in obese subjects. *J Clin Endocrinol Metab* (1997) 82:3230–3. doi:10.1210/jcem.82.10.4154
- 112. Gorissen M, Bernier NJ, Manuel R, De Gelder S, Metz JR, Huising MO, et al. Recombinant human leptin attenuates stress axis activity in common carp

(Cyprinus carpio L.). Gen Comp Endocrinol (2012) 178:75-81. doi:10.1016/j. ygcen.2012.04.004

- 113. Bernier NJ, Gorissen M, Flik G. Differential effects of chronic hypoxia and feed restriction on the expression of leptin and its receptor, food intake regulation and the endocrine stress response in common carp. *J Exp Biol* (2012) 215(13):2273–82. doi:10.1242/jeb.066183
- Ahima RS, Prabakaran D, Mantzoros C, Qu D, Lowell B, Maratos-Flier E, et al. Role of leptin in the neuroendocrine response to fasting. *Nature* (1996) 382(6588):250. doi:10.1038/382250a0
- 115. Fuentes EN, Kling P, Einarsdottir IE, Alvarez M, Valdés JA, Molina A, et al. Plasma leptin and growth hormone levels in the fine flounder (*Paralichthys adspersus*) increase gradually during fasting and decline rapidly after refeeding. *Gen Comp Endocrinol* (2012) 177(1):120–7. doi:10.1016/j.ygcen. 2012.02.019
- 116. Trombley S, Maugars G, Kling P, Björnsson BT, Schmitz M. Effects of longterm restricted feeding on plasma leptin, hepatic leptin expression and leptin receptor expression in juvenile Atlantic salmon (*Salmo salar L.*). *Gen Comp Endocrinol* (2012) 175(1):92–9. doi:10.1016/j.ygcen.2011.10.001
- 117. Volkoff H. Cloning, tissue distribution and effects of fasting on mRNA expression levels of leptin and ghrelin in red-bellied piranha (*Pygocentrus nattereri*). Gen Comp Endocrinol (2015) 217:20–7. doi:10.1016/j.ygcen.2015.05.004
- Skalski GT, Picha ME, Gilliam JF, Borski RJ. Variable intake, compensatory growth and increased growth efficiency in fish: models and mechanisms. *Ecology* (2005) 86(6):1452–62. doi:10.1890/04-0896
- 119. Picha ME, Strom CN, Riley LG, Walker AA, Won ET, Johnstone WM, et al. Plasma ghrelin and growth hormone regulation in response to metabolic state in hybrid striped bass: effects of feeding, ghrelin and insulin-like growth factor-I on in vivo and in vitro GH secretion. *Gen Comp Endocrinol* (2009) 161(3):365–72. doi:10.1016/j.ygcen.2009.01.026
- Hoegg S, Brinkmann H, Taylor JS, Meyer A. Phylogenetic timing of the fish-specific genome duplication correlates with the diversification of teleost fish. J Mol Evol (2004) 59(2):190–203. doi:10.1007/s00239-004-2613-z
- 121. Brunet FG, Crollius HR, Paris M, Aury JM, Gibert P, Jaillon O, et al. Gene loss and evolutionary rates following whole-genome duplication in teleost fishes. *Mol Biol Evol* (2006) 23(9):1808–16. doi:10.1093/molbev/msl049
- 122. Morgan JD, Sakamoto T, Grau EG, Iwama GK. Physiological and respiratory responses of the Mozambique tilapia (*Oreochromis mossambicus*) to salinity acclimation. *Comp Biochem Physiol A Mol Integr Physiol* (1997) 117(3):391–8. doi:10.1016/S0300-9629(96)00261-7
- 123. Boeuf G, Payan P. How should salinity influence fish growth? *Comp Biochem Physiol C* (2001) 130(4):411–23. doi:10.1016/S1532-0456(01)00268-X
- Bełtowski J, Wójcicka G, Marciniak A, Jamroz A. Oxidative stress, nitric oxide production, and renal sodium handling in leptin-induced hypertension. *Life Sci* (2004) 74(24):2987–3000. doi:10.1016/j.lfs.2003.10.029
- 125. Ambrosini G, Nath AK, Sierra-Honigmann MR, Flores-Riveros F. Transcriptional activation of the human leptin gene in response to hypoxia: involvement of hypoxia-inducible factor 1. *J Biol Chem* (2002) 277(37):34601–9. doi:10.1074/jbc.M205172200
- 126. Grosfeld A, André J, Hauguel-de Mouzon S, Berra E, Pouysségur J, Guerre-Millo M. Hypoxia-inducible factor 1 transactivates the human leptin gene promoter. J Biol Chem (2002) 277(45):42953–7. doi:10.1074/jbc.M206775200
- 127. Grosfeld A, Turban S, André J, Cauzac M, Challier JC, Hauguel-de Mouzon S, et al. Transcriptional effect of hypoxia on placental leptin. *FEBS Lett* (2001) 502(3):122–6. doi:10.1016/S0014-5793(01)02673-4
- Bruder ED, Jacobson L, Raff H. Plasma leptin and ghrelin in the neonatal rat: interaction of dexamethasone and hypoxia. *J Endocrinol* (2005) 185(3): 477–84. doi:10.1677/joe.1.06159
- Trayhurn P. Hypoxia and adipose tissue function and dysfunction in obesity. *Physiol Rev* (2013) 93(1):1–21. doi:10.1152/physrev.00017.2012
- 130. Meissner U, Hänisch C, Ostreicher I, Knerr I, Hofbauer KH, Blum WF, et al. Differential regulation of leptin synthesis in rats during short-term hypoxia and short-term carbon monoxide inhalation. *Endocrinology* (2005) 146(1):215–20. doi:10.1210/en.2004-0782
- Sherry CL, Kramer JM, York JM, Freund GG. Behavioral recovery from acute hypoxia is reliant on leptin. *Brain Behav Immun* (2009) 23(2):169–75. doi:10.1016/j.bbi.2008.09.011
- 132. Shin EJ, Schram K, Zheng XL, Sweeney G. Leptin attenuates hypoxia/ reoxygenation-induced activation of the intrinsic pathway of apoptosis in rat H9c2 cells. J Cell Physiol (2009) 221(2):490–7. doi:10.1002/jcp.21883

- Chu DL, Li VW, Yu RM. Leptin: clue to poor appetite in oxygenstarved fish. *Mol Cell Endocrinol* (2010) 319(1):143-6. doi:10.1016/j. mce.2010.01.018
- 134. Cao YB, Xue JL, Wu LY, Jiang W, Hu PN, Zhu J. The detection of 3 leptin receptor isoforms in crucian carp gill and the influence of fasting and hypoxia on their expression. *Domest Anim Endocrinol* (2011) 41(2):74–80. doi:10.1016/j.domaniend.2011.04.002
- Kominsky DJ, Campbell EJ, Colgan SP. Metabolic shifts in immunity and inflammation. *J Immunol* (2010) 184(8):4062–8. doi:10.4049/jimmunol. 0903002
- Cason JA, Britton WM. Effect of short-term feed deprivation on shell quality in laying hens. *Poult Sci* (1986) 65(3):530–7. doi:10.3382/ps.0650530
- Chandra RK. 1990 McCollum Award lecture. Nutrition and immunity: lessons from the past and new insights into the future. *Am J Clin Nutr* (1991) 53(5):1087–101.
- 138. Shoemaker CA, Klesius PH, Lim C, Yildirim M. Feed deprivation of channel catfish, *Ictalurus punctatus* (Rafinesque), influences organosomatic indices, chemical composition and susceptibility to *Flavobacterium columnare. J Fish Dis* (2003) 26(9):553–61. doi:10.1046/j.1365-2761.2003.00489.x
- Gualillo O, Eiras S, Lago F, Diegues C, Casanueva FF. Elevated serum leptin concentrations induced by experimental acute inflammation. *Life Sci* (2000) 67(20):2433–41. doi:10.1016/S0024-3205(00)00827-4
- 140. Lord GM, Matarese G, Howard JK, Baker RJ, Bloom SR, Lechler RI. Leptin modulates the T-cell immune response and reverses starvationinduced immunosuppression. *Nature* (1998) 394(6696):897–901. doi:10.1038/ 29795
- 141. Abella V, Scotece M, Conde J, Pino J, Gonzalez-Gay MA, Gómez-Reino, et al. Leptin in the interplay of inflammation, metabolism and immune system disorders. *Nat Rev Rheumatol* (2017) 13(2):100–9. doi:10.1038/nrrheum. 2016.209
- Caldefie-Chezet F, Poulin A, Vasson MP. Leptin regulates functional capacities of polymorphonuclear neutrophils. *Free Radic Res* (2003) 37(8):809–14. doi:10.1080/1071576031000097526
- Conus S, Bruno A, Simon HU. Leptin is an eosinophil survival factor. J Allergy Clin Immunol (2005) 116(6):1228–34. doi:10.1016/j.jaci.2005.09.003
- 144. Wong MM, Richard MK, Ng PK, Law SH, Tsang AK, Kong RY. Characterization of a hypoxia-responsive leptin receptor (omLepR(L)) cDNA from the marine medaka (*Oryzias melastigma*). *Mar Pollut Bull* (2007) 54(6):797–803. doi:10.1016/j.marpolbul.2007.01.025

- 145. Kato H, Ueki S, Kamada R, Kihara J, Yamauchi Y, Suzuki T, et al. Leptin has a priming effect on eotaxin-induced human eosinophil chemotaxis. *Int Arch Allergy Immunol* (2011) 155(4):335–44. doi:10.1159/000321195
- 146. Suzukawa M, Nagase H, Ogahara I, Han K, Tashimo H, Shibui A, et al. Leptin enhances survival and induces migration, degranulation, and cytokine synthesis of human basophils. *J Immunol* (2011) 186(9):5254–60. doi:10.4049/ jimmunol.1004054
- Santos-Alvarez J, Goberna R, Sanchez-Margalet V. Human leptin stimulates proliferation and activation of human circulating monocytes. *Cell Immunol* (1999) 194(1):6–11. doi:10.1006/cimm.1999.1490
- 148. Lam QL, Wang S, Ko OK, Kincade PW, Lu L. Leptin signaling maintains B-cell homeostasis via induction of Bcl-2 and Cyclin D1. *Proc Natl Acad Sci* USA (2010) 107(31):13812–7. doi:10.1073/pnas.1004185107
- 149. Agrawal S, Gollapudi S, Su H, Gupta S. Leptin activates human B cells to secrete TNF-alpha, IL-6, and IL-10 via JAK2/STAT3 and p38MAPK/ ERK1/2 signaling pathway. J Clin Immunol (2011) 31(3):472–8. doi:10.1007/ s10875-010-9507-1
- Saucillo DC, Gerriets VA, Sheng J, Rathmell JC, MacIver NJ. Leptin metabolically licenses T cells for activation to link nutrition and immunity. *J Immunol* (2014) 192(1):136–44. doi:10.4049/jimmunol.1301158
- 151. Mariano G, Terrazzano G, Coccia E, Vito P, Varricchio E, Paolucci M. Effects of recombinant trout leptin in superoxide production and NF-kappaB/ MAPK phosphorylation in blood leukocytes. *Peptides* (2013) 48:59–69. doi:10.1016/j.peptides.2013.07.026
- MacDonald LE, Alderman SL, Kramer S, Woo PTK, Bernier NJ. Hypoxemiainduced leptin secretion: a mechanism for the control of food intake in diseased fish. J Endocrinol (2014) 221(3):441–55. doi:10.1530/JOE-13-0615

Conflict of Interest Statement: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2017 Deck, Honeycutt, Cheung, Reynolds and Borski. This is an openaccess article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) or licensor are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





On the Molecular Evolution of Leptin, Leptin Receptor, and Endospanin

Richard Lyle Londraville^{1*}, Jeremy W. Prokop², Robert Joel Duff¹, Qin Liu¹ and Matthew Tuttle¹

¹ Program in Integrative Bioscience, Department of Biology, University of Akron, Akron, OH, USA, ² Hudson Alpha Institute for Biotechnology, Huntsville, AL, USA

Over a decade passed between Friedman's discovery of the mammalian leptin gene (1) and its cloning in fish (2) and amphibians (3). Since 2005, the concept of gene synteny conservation (vs. gene sequence homology) was instrumental in identifying leptin genes in dozens of species, and we now have leptin genes from all major classes of vertebrates. This database of *LEP* (leptin), *LEPR* (leptin receptor), and *LEPROT* (endospanin) genes has allowed protein structure modeling, stoichiometry predictions, and even functional predictions of leptin function for most vertebrate classes. Here, we apply functional genomics to model hundreds of LEP, LEPR, and LEPROT proteins from both vertebrates and invertebrates. We identify conserved structural motifs in each of the three leptin signaling proteins and demonstrate *Drosophila* Dome protein's conservation with vertebrate leptin receptors. We model endospanin structure for the first time and identify endospanin paralogs in invertebrate genomes. Finally, we argue that leptin is not an adipostat in fishes and discuss emerging knockout models in fishes.

OPEN ACCESS Edited by:

Maximilian Michel, University of Michigan, USA

Reviewed by:

Jan Tavernier, Ghent University, Belgium Robert J. Denver, University of Michigan, USA Marnix Gorissen, Radboud University, Netherlands

> *Correspondence: Richard Lyle Londraville

> londraville@uakron.edu

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Experimental Endocrinology, a section of the journal Frontiers in Endocrinology

Received: 13 January 2017 Accepted: 15 March 2017 Published: 10 April 2017

Citation:

Londraville RL, Prokop JW, Duff RJ, Liu Q and Tuttle M (2017) On the Molecular Evolution of Leptin, Leptin Receptor, and Endospanin. Front. Endocrinol. 8:58. doi: 10.3389/fendo.2017.00058 Keywords: leptin, leptin receptor, endospanin, in silico modeling, molecular evolution, obesity, adipostat, fish models

INTRODUCTION

In 1994, Friedman's laboratory described leptin as a peptide hormone that is synthesized by adipose tissue (1) and soon after it was proposed to regulate appetite and metabolic rate by communicating energy stores to the central nervous system (4-6). In mammals, leptin is synthesized by adipose tissue and released into the blood; there it travels to the hypothalamus and binds to the leptin receptor, which stimulates reduction of appetite and increased mobilization of lipid for metabolism. Through this feedback loop, the brain regulates energy stores to remain relatively constant ["adipostat control" (4-6)]. Control of energy stores is central to an organism's life history, and as such, it is a research focus for comparative biologists. Migratory birds fuel long-distance migration by dramatic changes in lipid stores (7), hibernating mammals accumulate lipid stores to survive long periods of torpor (8), snakes dramatically rework organs to process large and infrequent meals (9), amphibian survival after metamorphosis is tied to adipose stores (10), and fish routinely go months without eating during winter (11). Agricultural scientists also have a great interest in leptin, because manipulating energy acquisition and deposition has potential to influence production of commercially important species (12-14). Therefore, there has been great interest and effort expended toward cloning and characterizing leptin orthologs throughout vertebrates. Recent reviews thoroughly document the progress of the comparative leptin community (15-17). This review will focus on three areas: evolution of genes in the leptin signaling pathway, the status of leptin as an adipostat, and emerging non-mammal

models for studying leptin signaling. These research topics have made significant progress in recent years, and they provide examples of how a comparative approach can inform the study of human leptin (hLEP) endocrinology.

EVOLUTION OF LEPTIN SIGNALING: LEPTIN AND LEPTIN RECEPTOR GENES AMONG VERTEBRATES

Although leptins in domestic mammals were identified soon after leptin in mice (18, 19), the first non-mammal leptin gene took over a decade to discover (2). This was due to the false assumption of sequence conservation among orthologs and was overcome by Kurokawa's insight of gene order conservation or synteny (2). This major advance, along with progress on genome projects, has allowed identification of LEPs and LEPRs in all classes of vertebrates (Figures 1 and 2). It is now clear that the ancestral leptin that gave rise to leptins in tetrapods (birds, reptiles, amphibians, and mammals) is more closely related to coelacanth and shark (Callorhinchus milii) leptins vs. leptins from bony fish. In other words, bony fish leptins diverged along their own lineage independent of leptins in higher mammals (Figures 1 and 2). After the bony fish and tetrapods diverged, multiple paralogs of fish lep evolved. Tetrapods and their closest living relatives for which we have data (gar, coelacanth, Dipnoi not determined) express a single ortholog of leptin (Figure 1), with the exception of Anolis lizard, which has two lep, one of which is not expressed (15).

Bony fish typically expresses two paralogs of leptin, referred to as "A" and "B." These are interpreted as arising during the whole genome duplication event in the Teleost fish lineage; more recent duplications (in salmonids and carps) are subtypes of A and B [see the study by Morini et al. (20) for an insightful discussion of leptin paralog evolution]. Leptin receptors are typically present as single orthologs per species, with the exception of recently identified duplicate *lepr* paralogs in European eel (20) and Asian arowana (*Scleropages formosus*) (acc# XP 018609810 and KPP63040). This duplication event appears to be ancient, but it is unresolved if the duplication of *lepr* was present in the ancestor of teleost fishes and then lost, or if loss of *lepr* predates teleosts (**Figure 2**).

Amphibians express a single paralog of lep and lepr, with lep expressed in multiple tissues, including adipose (3, 21). Xenopus responds to homologous recombinant leptin as an anorexigen, but not at all life stages (3). Xenopus leptin stimulates hind limb (3) and lung (22) development and may influence life history decisions in spadefoot toad (23). Xenopus lepr binds homologous and non-homologous leptins (3) and stimulates phosphorylation of intracellular signal transducer and activator of transcription (STAT) 3 and 5 (24). Less is known about reptile leptins. Several reports indicate that reptiles respond to non-homologous leptin treatment consistent with the mammalian model of leptin function [e.g., reduced appetite (25), reproductive effects (25, 26)]. In addition, studies using non-homologous leptin antibodies have documented leptin-like proteins that respond to seasonal changes in lipid (27-29), which are consistent with mammalian models. Denver et al. reported 2 lep (one which may be nonfunctional) and 1 lepr in the genome of the green anole (15). In general, amphibian *lep* and *lepr* expression and *in vitro* and *in vivo* function are more consistent with mammalian models than are similar data for fishes and birds.

What is the significance of multiple leptin paralogs? We assert that leptin-A and -B paralogs have distinct functions in teleosts. The fact that both paralogs (in multiple species of teleosts) are maintained throughout the teleost lineage (Figure 1) argues that each paralog has a distinct function. Where expression has been measured, A-type leps are typically expressed at higher message copies and with a more narrow tissue distribution than B-type (16, 30-33), but not in all species (2). If leptin-B paralogs are functional (and not pseudogenes), why is their expression lower and less tissue specific than A? Perhaps leptin-Bs are acting in an autocrine/paracrine manner, similar to that proposed for bird leptin (see below). Supporting this hypothesis is the observation that leptin-B is dramatically upregulated during regeneration of fin and heart in zebrafish (34), and after retinal injury (35), perhaps indicating local vs. circulating action. In addition, leptin-A knockdown in zebrafish embryos (via morpholino oligonucleotide) does not elicit a change in expression of leptin-B (36). If the A and B paralogs overlap functionally, one would expect a compensatory increase in B with decreased expression of A. Finally, in silico binding simulation of both paralogs predicts significantly lower binding energy of B vs. A to the leptin receptor (37). This indicates that something about the ligand-receptor interaction is different for leptin-B; perhaps it requires a second ligand or a higher local concentration of ligand (as in autocrine/ paracrine signaling). To our knowledge, there are no published data on leptin-B protein expression or in vivo function other than regeneration (34-35). A leptin receptor reporter assay to assess functional differences between leptin paralogs, similar to that developed for Xenopus (24), and specific antibodies to document expression would be useful in addressing these questions.

EVOLUTION OF LEPTIN SIGNALING: IS THERE ANOTHER MAJOR SIGNALING SYSTEM FOR ENERGY STORES IN BIRDS?

Arguably, bird leptin was the most difficult to identify among vertebrates, with over a decade of significant effort from multiple laboratories. A purported chicken leptin gene was reported early on, but independent laboratories were unable to amplify the sequence from chicken tissues, and it was absent in early builds of the chicken genome, despite the presence of a leptin receptor (38-40). The missing bird leptin gene was eventually found within regions of genomes that were refractory to characterization due to their high GC content and repetitive sequence (41-44). The advent of new methods of whole genome sequencing allowed identification of bird leptin in most major lineages of birds. Recently (45), RNAseq experiments in chicken documented highest leptin transcript copy number in brain (hypothalamus and cerebrum) and pituitary, with moderate expression in pancreas and testis, and low expression in liver and adipose [typically high expressing leptin tissues in fish and mammals, respectively (16)]. Further, Friedman-Einat's group speculated that the high





FIGURE 2 | Evolutionary relationships of vertebrate leptin receptor (LEPR). Relationships of 48 amino acid sequences using the neighbor-joining method conducted in MEGA7. Numbers at nodes represent percentage of 500 bootstrap replicates. Nodes with no number indicate bootstrap support of less than 50%. GenBank accession numbers represent protein accessions.

correlation between leptin and leptin receptor transcripts indicated that leptin in birds may not circulate, but instead acts as an autocrine/paracrine factor (45). Several lines of evidence support this hypothesis: bird leptin expression is primarily in CNS (42, 45), bird blood did not activate a sensitive chicken leptin receptor assay, even in birds with extreme adiposity (46), and genes with

high GC content (such as bird leptin genes) are associated with low transcription rates (47). One study that supported a circulating leptin in birds documented that chicken serum and crow blood caused translocation of GFP-labeled STAT 3 to the nucleus in an expressed chicken leptin receptor assay (48). However, potent leptin receptor antagonists tested in chickens effectively block chicken leptin receptor *in vitro* but not *in vivo* (49).

The primary sequences of bird leptins have typically low but recognizable homology with other vertebrate leptins (41, 45), and bird leptin primary structure folds in silico into the conserved tertiary structure seen in all leptins (44, 45). Despite this structural conservation (or homology), it otherwise appears that bird leptins do not function similar to leptins in other vertebrates (detailed above). We assert that leptin signaling in birds is fundamentally different than it is in other vertebrates, which suggests that there is a leptin-independent pathway to manipulate energy stores. Birds make large-magnitude changes in adipose stores routinely as a life history strategy. Red knots undergo massive changes in body composition during their 9,000-km migration flights (7), emperor penguin lose ~50% of their body mass during a 4-month fast while incubating eggs on ice (50), and ptarmigan accumulate up to 30% of body mass as lipid in anticipation of winter storms (51). If leptin signaling is reduced/altered in birds, what signals these dramatic changes in lipid mobilization? Other major mammalian adipokine/appetite genes are missing in chickens, including resistin, TNFa, serpine 1, and omentin (52), and ghrelin in falcons (53). Thus, the "usual suspects" for neuroendocrine control of energy stores are either absent or play a fundamentally different role (52).

EVOLUTION OF LEPTIN SIGNALING: ANALYSIS OF TERTIARY STRUCTURES DETERMINED IN SILICO

In the effort to understand the evolution of vertebrate leptin function, often the first data available are sequence data, and we have used these data to model leptins, leptin receptors, and their interaction. Comparing ~100 primary sequences per gene (Table 1), we can make some generalizations about structure. Vertebrate leptins demonstrate considerable primary amino acid sequence divergence, but despite this retain high tertiary structure conservation (predicted) when modeled with the hLEP structure (15, 37). We analyzed multiple tertiary structures (generated via in silico modeling) and proposed conservation of critical binding sites between leptin and the leptin receptor from fish to human (37). Combining our previous work (37) with our sequence-tostructure-to-function tools (63), we addressed the vertebrate evolution of LEP, LEPR, and the lesser-studied LEPROT. By using a total of 93 vertebrate LEP sequences and 89 vertebrate LEPR sequences (Table 1), we mapped conservation and linear motifs for each gene onto protein structures (Figure 3). Leptins contain a conserved disulfide bridge (Table 1) and several hydrophobic amino acids that are critical to maintaining the four-helix packing of the protein, even though sequence homology is low (~20%). On the surface of leptins, two linear motifs were identified, one for interaction with the Ig-like domain as suggested by Peelman

<u>Concise Methods</u>: Open reading frame (ORF) sequences were obtained for each gene from NCBI gene and aligned to the human ORF using ClustalW (54) in Mega (55). Codon selection was calculated using HyPhy (56) under a Muse-Gaut model (57) and standard Tamura-Nei model (58) for all sites in the *LEP, LEPR, LEPROT,* and *LEPROTL1*. Conservation scores were calculated using a combination of codon/amino acid fixation rates and dN-dS scores of selective pressure. A score of 2 at any site implies both a greater than 2 SDs above the mean for codon selection and a site that an amino acid is 100% conserved. A score of 0 implies no conservation of the amino acid and below the mean selective pressure (dN-dS). The scores were then put on a sliding window of 21 codons to calculate the top linear motifs within each gene. All numbering throughout the article is based on the full gene sequence of human.

Protein modeling was performed using our previously published LEP-LEPR interaction model (37) combined with I-TASSER- (59) generated extracellular and intracellular domains of LEPR joined by a single-pass transmembrane helix. The endospanin proteins were modeled with I-TASSER (59). Each structure was assessed for structural modeling reliability using a Z-score approach of a knowledge-based force field YASARA2 (60) relative to all solved structures of the PDB. Models were generated for both human and mouse and the structures aligned using MUSTANG to calculate sequence and atom alignments [in root mean square deviation (RMSD)]. Each protein was also run for 10 ns of molecular dynamic simulations (MDS) using the AMBER03 force field (61) to assess the average movement in RMSD of the carbon alpha positions throughout the proteins. For all four proteins, evolution was mapped onto protein structures using the sequence alignments above with the ConSurf tools (62). Homology modeling for the Drosophila UPD2 and Dome proteins was performed using YASARA (60) and structure scores calculated with the YASARA2 knowledge-based force field. BLAST analysis was performed for invertebrate genomes using all available sequences of ENSEMBL Metazoa BLAST (http://metazoa.ensembl.org/Multi/Tools/ Blast?db=core) including Arthopoda, Nematoda, Lophotrochozoa, and Cnidaria. Sequences for metazoa, fungi, and plant endospanin orthologs (LEPROT and LEPROTL1 genes) were also pulled for ENSEMBL annotated ortholoas.

et al. (64) and the other for the leptin-binding domain of *LEPR*. Utilizing molecular modeling and dynamics, we studied the structural integrity of the leptin protein among many taxa and determined that while sequence is highly divergent, the conservation of several hydrophobic amino acids and the disulfide bridge is sufficient to maintain protein folding in all classes of vertebrates. The leptin receptor conserves protein folding with seven highly conserved and selected linear motifs. There are also 16 conserved sites for posttranslational modification within the receptor (**Table 1**).

We hypothesize that the physiological effects of leptin are induced *via* binding with leptin receptor in a 2–2 molecular interaction, resulting in conformational stability to already dimerized receptors (37, 44, 65–67). There is evidence of higher order oligomerization states such as that of 4:4 stoichiometry (66, 68); however, very little is known about the structural basis for these states. Merging conserved motifs into the model of leptin–leptin receptor interaction, a 2–2 molecular interaction model was created (**Figure 4A**) using previous structures as a guide (66). When viewing the entire leptin receptor protein (**Figure 4A**), docking of leptin to leptin receptor accounted for all motifs. Motif 1 of leptin (red, **Figure 4A**) interacts with motifs 2 and 4 (magenta, **Figure 4A**) of leptin receptor, while motif 2 of leptin (blue, **Figure 4A**) interacts with motif 1 of LEPR (green, **Figure 4A**). Motif 3 of leptin receptor (yellow,
TABLE 1	Vertebrate LEP	LEPR. LEPROT	and LEPROTL1	genes analyzed.

Gene	Open reading frame sequences	AA start	AA end	Codons analyzed	Human model Z-score	Mouse– human homology (%)	Mouse-human alignment [root mean square deviation (RMSD), Å]	Molecular dynamic simulations carbon alpha (RMSD, Å)	Conserved posttranslational modifications
LEP	93	22	167	13,578	0.28	84.93	0.342	1.33	C117, C167
LEPR	89	29	1,158	100,570	-3	75.35	0.457	2.06	C196, N347, C352, C412, C413, C418 C447, C473, N624, N659, N688, N728 S882, Y986, Y1079, Y1141
LEPROT	150	1	131	19,650	-0.56	94.66	0.346	2.85	_

Z-score is an indicator of how close (number of SDs from the mean) the predicted model fits chemical properties of all previously solved protein structures; RMSD is a measure of average distance between predicted models and native structures.



Figure 4A) falls in the fibronectin type III 3 domain, known to control non-LEP-dependent dimerization of LEPR (67, 69, 70). Our models suggest with high probability that this motif contributes to dimerization of the receptor. In this dimer model, LEPR exists on the surface of cells as a dimer controlled by the conserved motif 3, such that the intracellular regions

are not in close proximity to each other (**Figure 4B**). On two leptin molecules binding, the receptor is hinged by motif 3 (yellow, **Figure 4C**) to bring together motifs 1, 2, and 4 of LEPR to LEP motifs 1 and 2, resulting in intracellular domains of LEPR brought into close proximity for JAK and STAT activation (**Figure 4C**).

EVOLUTION OF LEPTIN SIGNALING: INVERTEBRATE LEPTIN SIGNALING GENES

Rajan and Perrimon in 2012 described what they thought was a homologous leptin system in *Drosophila melanogaster* (71), through Unpaired 2 (*Upd2*) and Domeless (*Dome*) proteins. Similar to vertebrate *LEPRs* in fish (72), chicken (73), pig (74), cow (75), rat (76), and human (77), the Dome protein of *Drosophila* is critical for germline and follicle cell development through UPD signaling (78). Recent reports of a putative leptin signaling system in *D. melanogaster* through the UPD2 and Dome proteins (71), which are associated with phenotypes from tissue development (79), memory (80), and reproductive systems (78), proposes conserved leptin signaling components in invertebrates. Overlapping functions of vertebrate leptin receptor and Dome proteins suggest possible conserved tertiary structure.

To test homology between vertebrate and invertebrate systems, we modeled UPD2 (**Figure 5A**) and Dome proteins (**Figure 5B**) using our LEP:LEPR models and evaluated conservation of vertebrate motifs in the fly proteins. The UPD2 protein four-helix bundle was homologous to hLEP with some conserved amino acids contributing to packing and others that were surface exposed (**Figure 5A**). Structural alignments of hLEP to UPD2 had



LEPR showing the 2–2 interaction model based on vertebrate evolution. (C) Model of endogenous dimerized LEPR being activated by LEP binding.

8.24% homology and an alpha carbon average RMSD of 1.627 Å. The UPD2 model had a *z*-score of -1.375, which suggests that the model contains behaviors similar to most known protein structures. Aligning sequence of LEP to UPD2, 9 of 20 amino acids contributing to LEP–LEPR interaction were conserved in UPD2 (cyan, **Figure 5A**), fitting within our expectations based on zebrafish LEP modeling (37). Motif 1 of vertebrate LEP had 8 of 16 conserved amino acids, while motif 2 had 3 of 13 conserved amino acids. These data suggest a high probability of similar fold between leptin and UPD2 with a high number of amino acids conserved that are known to interact with leptin receptor, including motif 1 generated from our vertebrate evolutionary analysis.

The DOME and hLEPR models align with 22.94% homology and an average RMSD of alpha carbons of 0.823 Å (Figure 5B). To refine the functional conservation of DOME to hLEPR, we analyzed each of the top seven vertebrate motifs of LEPR. Each of the seven motifs of vertebrate LEP were found in the Dome sequence. Motif 1 had 6 of 14 critical amino acids conserved including two cysteine amino acids involved in disulfide bond formation. Motif 2 and 4 involved in the main interaction with LEP had hydrophobic and structural amino acids conserved with the vertebrate sequences. Motif 3 involved in non-LEP-dependent LEPR dimerization had three critical hydrophobic amino acids conserved. Of the intracellular three motifs 5-7, motif 6 was the most highly conserved including the known tyrosine phosphorylation site. To our knowledge, the combination of these seven motifs is not found in any other human protein, thus the high conservation of these motifs in Dome supports the assertion that this is indeed a homolog of vertebrate LEPR.

To probe the existence of the leptin signaling genes in other invertebrate genomes, a BLAST approach for the top motifs was used (Figure 5C). BLAST analysis of 54 invertebrate genomes was unable to identify invertebrate homologs. This is likely due to insertions and deletions seen in the motif alignments of Upd2 and Dome (Figures 5A,B), decreasing success of BLAST approaches. By using Ensembl Metazoa annotation tools (81), Upd2 homologs were only identified in the 12 sequenced Drosophila species, with no other invertebrates having annotated homologs. The Dome protein, however, has homologs found in 48 species of invertebrates according to ENSEMBL (http://metazoa.ensembl. org/Drosophila_melanogaster/Gene/Compara_Ortholog?db= core;g=FBgn0043903;r=X:19676061-19683518;t=FBtr007 4756), with 22 being found as similar size of human LEPR and D. melanogaster Dome proteins. Outside of invertebrates, no homologs of Upd2 or Dome are yet reported. Contrary to LEP and LEPR, the LEPROT gene is found in many species from invertebrates to plants to fungi (Figures 5D,E).

EVOLUTION OF LEPTIN SIGNALING: ENDOSPANIN

Three years after the discovery of the leptin, Bailleul et al. established that the human *LEPR* transcribes a second, non-leptin receptor gene product (82). Initially named leptin receptor generelated protein (*OB-RGRP*) or *LEPROT* (83), it is transcribed from an alternate AUG within the leptin receptor gene. The alternate start site is out of frame with the leptin receptor transcript, such that it produces a 131 amino acid protein that shares no primary sequence with *LEPR*.

LEPROT [recently renamed endospanin (84)] and its paralog LEPROTL1 (endospanin 2) are homologous with the yeast vesicle trafficking gene VPS55 (85). Knockout or disruption of VPS55 in yeast results in generally altered endosomal/vacuole trafficking (85, 86). In vertebrates, endospanin is proposed to specifically regulate endosomal trafficking and surface expression of the leptin receptor. Knockout LEPROT mice express more leptin receptors on the cell surface than wild-type, which makes them hyperresponsive to leptin and resistant to diet-induced obesity (87-89). Further, LEPR protein expression and LEPROT genomic copy number are negatively correlated in humans (90), and LEPROT may control tissue-specific expression of LEPR (91). Both endospanins 1 and 2 are known to interact with Rab13 and Rab8 (92), small G-proteins critical for trafficking between the trans-Golgi network and other cell compartments (93, 94). This suggests that endospanin1/2's role is larger than just regulation of leptin receptor protein.

Is endospanin function conserved among vertebrates? While the BLAST approach did not identify invertebrate *LEP* and *LEPR*, the Ensembl Metazoa annotation (81) identified 48 invertebrate genomes as containing *LEPROT* homologous proteins. Further, 270 sequenced fungi and 44 sequenced plants contain a *LEPROT* homolog. We combined all of these sequences with 150 and 159 vertebrate LEPROT and LEPROTL1 sequences both to build the first tertiary structure prediction for endospanin and to determine critically conserved amino acids throughout eukaryote evolution (**Figures 3** and **5D,E**).

One amino acid is conserved in all 671 sequences studied (red), 13 amino acids are conserved in at least 4 of the 5 taxa (green), 16 in at least 3 of the 5 organism groupings (cyan), and 45 conserved in at least 2 of the 5 organism groupings (gray, Figures 5D,E). Using the total of 140 positions in the sequence alignment as shown, red represents 0.7%, green represents 9.3%, cyan represents 11.4%, and gray represents 32.1%, and thus 53.5% of the protein is identified to maintain conservation in at least one of the groupings. This value far exceeds that of LEPR and Dome proteins. Endospanin 1 protein contains a four-helix transmembrane bundle with high conservation of a hydrophobic core of the protein (Figure 5D). Noting conserved amino acids on our fourhelix model (Figure 5D), 12 amino acids were conserved and surface exposed at positions 36, 42, 46, 68, 72, 75, 80, 83, 84, 90, 112, and 120 using the human LEPROT numbering (Figure 5E). These residues make up one side of the helix, suggesting possible interaction with another protein at this site.

Another aspect of *LEPROT* genomics likely affects its influence on *LEPR* functional expression (i.e., on the surface of the cell). LEPROT's original designation was as the "leptin receptor overlapping transcript" (82), indicating that *LEPROT* overlapped *LEPR*. Surveying Genbank for *LEPROT* and *LEPR* loci in all vertebrate classes, *LEPROT* overlaps or is adjacent to *LEPR* (within 150,000 bp and no intervening gene) in all cases. The one exception is teleost fishes, where *LEPROT* and *LEPR* are on different chromosomes (**Figure 6**). Gene proximity affects transcription rates (95). Given the high conservation of endospanin sequence,



human leptin receptor (LEPR). To the right of the model are sequence alignments showing amino acids conserved in the top seven motifs (gray) and conserved PTMs (red). (C) Using the top motifs of LEP, LEPR, and LEPROT, BLAST data for each in invertebrate genomes. (D,E) Models of LEPROT, now known as endospanin 1 (D), with conserved amino acids identified (E). Amino acids in red are conserved in all sequences, those in green conserved in at least four of the five groups, those in cyan conserved in at least three groups, and those in gray conserved in at least two groups.

the conservation of its synteny with leptin receptor, and its effect on leptin receptor functional expression (87–89), it is likely that *LEPROT* and *LEPR* coevolved. We assert that because that synteny is broken in teleosts, it may be that control of leptin receptor expression is unique for teleosts among vertebrates.

EVOLUTION OF LEPTIN SIGNALING: WHAT DOES GENE EVOLUTION TELL US ABOUT HUMAN LEPTIN SIGNALING?

Uncovering the evolutionary history of leptin signaling genes and modeling their structure is valuable as a self-contained enterprise, because it sets the stage for understanding functional differences among taxa. However, knowing how these genes are represented among vertebrates also has translational value. Modeling of *Drosophila* Dome as a leptin receptor and finding Dome homologs among other invertebrates provide an avenue for studying leptin signaling in other model systems. How changes in leptin signaling contribute to obesity is certainly complex, with interacting endocrine, neurological, epigenetic, and environmental variables. Added to this complexity is the interaction of multiple leptin receptor isoforms in transporting leptin across the blood-brain barrier. Decreased leptin signaling in the presence of high titers of circulating leptin, or leptin insensitivity/resistance, is often implicated as contributing to human obesity (96, 97). There is growing consensus that reduced blood-brain transport of leptin is a contributing factor to leptin insensitivity in the face of high leptin titers caused by obesity [reviewed in Ref. (98)]. Transport of leptin across the blood-brain barrier is facilitated by leptin receptors with short intracellular domains [commonly referred to as the ObRa paralog, as opposed to the ObRb paralog, which has a complete intracellular domain and is capable of mediating intracellular signaling (99, 100)]. This transport can be inhibited by a soluble form of the leptin receptor (ObRe), capable of binding leptin in serum (101, reviewed in 102). Sequencing cDNAs indicates that these isoforms are the result of alternate splicing of LEPR [e.g., Ref. (103)]; however, soluble receptors can also result from cleaving of membrane bound leptin receptors (102). All studies on leptin resistance (to our knowledge) are conducted in mammal models. Comparative study across model systems has the potential to illuminate how receptor paralog diversity contributes to leptin sensitivity. Given that endospanin controls surface expression of long-form LEPR [ObRb (82, 89)], it



either embedded within the LEPR gene, or within 150,000 bp, and without any gene between LEPROI and LEPR. For teleost fishes only, LEPROI and LEPR are or separate chromosomes. Data mined from Genbank queries. For example, LEPR search term returns chromosome 1, acc# NC_000001.11 for human LEPR, which also maps LEPROT within the human LEPR sequence, and chromosome 6, acc# NC_07117.6 for zebrafish LEPR but chromosome 2, acc# NC_007113.6 for zebrafish LEPROT.

may also control expression of the other leptin receptor paralogs. Because endospanin is highly conserved, it represents an opportunity to study leptin sensitivity across models and an avenue to explore for human obesity treatment.

LEPTIN AS AN ADIPOSTAT: LACK OF EVIDENCE IN FISHES

Recently, we made an argument that leptin in fishes does not fit the adipostat model proposed for mammals (16). Importantly, we are distinguishing between leptin's proposed adipostat function and its anorexigen function. Leptin's anorexigenic function is well documented among fishes (104, 105), amphibians (3), birds (although with non-homologous leptin) (106), lizards (25), and mammals (4). However, central to the adipostat model is the idea that serum leptin is proportional to total adipose stores, because adipose is the major producer of leptin in mammals (4-6). Kurokawa's seminal study first noted that the primary tissue expressing leptin in fish was liver and not adipose (2). This was confirmed in many [e.g., Ref. (31-33)] but not all (107) fish species. Instead of decreasing as fat stores are depleted (as predicted by adipostat), plasma leptin consistently increases with fasting in salmonids (108-110) and flounder (111). Striberny et al. (112) found no evidence that this change in circulating leptin titer was mediated by the CNS. Further, Arctic charr will spontaneously stop feeding in winter even while leptin titers are falling and even if presented with food (11), but will resume eating during the time of year when leptin concentrations are rising (113, 114). The observation that leptin increases at the end of a long fast in fishes runs counter to leptin's documented anorexigenic effects (above). It may be that plasma leptin titers in fasting fish are below the threshold that triggers an anorexigenic response. It is also possible that leptin injections result in supraphysiological concentrations of the hormone in serum, eliciting a response not seen with "normal" leptin signaling (115) and eliciting responses even with artifactual leptins (116). In fishes, increasing serum leptin commonly is interpreted as a signal to mobilize lipid stores in preparation for reproduction, rather than a response to fasting *per se* (113, 114).

Clearly, a decreasing leptin signal during winter and increase prior to reproduction is not consistent with the adipostat model proposed for mammals (2–4). The majority of leptin studies are done on rodents (16), and as such our view of leptin as an adipostat is likely biased by those studies. Rodents have high mass-specific metabolic rates and can only fast for hours, whereas hibernating mammals and ectothermic fishes routinely fast for months. Although leptin is thought to drive the prehibernation anorexia of some, but not all hibernating mammals [reviewed in Ref. (117)], organisms with life histories that are distinctly seasonal (but not necessarily hibernating) may change their set point for leptin sensitivity to accommodate different levels of activity and food availability between seasons (97, 112, 118, 119); thus, an adipostat as described for rodents may not be adaptive for fishes.

Total lipid stores (summing all tissues) clearly are not reflected in serum leptin (as evidenced by fasting fish that increase leptin titers above). However, many researchers (including us) have assumed that liver or gonad is the tissue that contributes to the bulk of serum leptin (because it gives the highest qPCR signal), but that may not be true. Salmonid adipocytes express detectable leptin (110, 120-123), and adipocytes cultured from food-restricted fish secrete significantly more leptin than those from fed fish, reflecting the response of the whole organism (110). Recent knockout models either affect adipose tissue [medaka lepr knockout (124)] or do not [zebrafish lep knockout (125)]. It may be that the bulk of leptin's serum titer results from expression from liver, but that other tissues express leptin for autocrine/paracrine roles, as proposed for birds (see below). Well-controlled immunological studies, such as those for salmonids and tilapia (110, 126), are needed for a diversity of teleosts, along with how each tissue contributes to the serum/local pool under various physiological conditions.

How does the status of the adipostat model in fishes affect leptin as an adipostat in other vertebrates? We now know that human obesity is influenced by changes in food perception and metabolism after weight loss (127), and therefore a simplistic adipostat feedback loop does not adequately model human phenotypes. Documenting the response of appetite and leptin across vertebrates argues that it is possible to adjust leptin sensitivity, and even presents possible mechanisms for how sensitivity changes (e.g. endospanin).

EMERGING NON-MAMMAL MODELS OF LEPTIN SIGNALING

The obese (*ob/ob*) mouse, a long-standing model of human obesity (128), gained favor for leptin studies after Freidman's laboratory cloned the truncated *LEP* gene (1). Together with the diabetic (*db/db*) mouse, a *LEPR*-deficient model, leptin administration effects have been demonstrated repeatedly. Intraperitoneal leptin injections in *ob/ob* mice causes 30% decrease in body mass, and *db/db* mice are similar to controls (5). Leptin's pleiotropy was detailed using these models, and as a result, we now know that leptin affects reproduction, immune function, bone growth/ resorption, and metabolic rate [reviewed in Ref. (129–132)]. The long-term normalizing effects of peripheral leptin injections on hLEP congenital deficiency reflect those in the *ob/ob* mouse [reviewed in Ref. (133)]. There are lines of fish (134) and birds (135) selected for high and low adiposity; however, few *LEP* and *LEPR*-null models are available for comparative (leptin) studies.

Our group used morpholino knockdown to generate zebrafish embryos with reduced leptin signaling (136, 137). We documented severe developmental defects in response to knockdown of *LEPA* or *LEPR*. Morphants were characterized by malformed sensory structures, bent notochord, poor yolk absorption, and low metabolic rate; these effects were rescued by coinjection of recombinant zebrafish leptin (136, 137). Microarray analysis of leptin-A "morphant" and "rescue" expression data identified differentially expressed genes that correspond to leptin signal transduction pathways [GnRH signaling, fatty acid metabolism, glycolysis/gluconeogenesis, MAP kinase, phosphoinositol signaling (138)]. The recent availability of CRISPR technology allowed direct comparison of zebrafish gene knockdown vs. gene knockout. "Morphant" and "mutant" phenotypes generally do not agree when targeting the same gene; typically morphants do not emulate mutant phenotypes (139, 140). Zebrafish morphants targeting (apparently) unrelated genes often share combinations of morphological markers ranging from disrupted eye, ear, and brain development; irregular body/tail curvature; or enlarged volk (139, 141, 142). Non-specific MO off-target activity upregulates zebrafish tp53, which may induce apoptosis and global changes in gene expression (139, 143). For these reasons, we are hesitant to pursue antisense technologies. Similar to recent work by other laboratories, we are opting for knockout technologies as a means to generate comparative null models for many leptin signaling genes. Chisada et al. produced the first LEPR mutant fish, using the TILLING approach in medaka (124). Adult medaka LEPR mutants are hyperphagic, have elevated NPYa and AGRP, and decreased POMC mRNAs. Liver and muscle lipid does not increase in the LEPR mutants, but they accumulate visceral fat as adults (124). The medaka data are consistent with a mammalian adipostat model, but zebrafish are not. Michel et al. recently characterized an established (144) LEPR TILLING mutant in zebrafish and also generated CRISPR mutants for LEPA, LEPB, and LEPR (125). LEPR-null adults have no differences from wild-type in adiposity, body size, growth rate, mating success, or feeding behavior. However, LEPR mutants have altered glucose metabolism, and both *LEPR* and *LEPA* larvae have increased β -cell number (125).

CONCLUSION AND FUTURE DIRECTIONS

Comparative leptin endocrinology has matured in the 11 years since the first non-mammal leptin was cloned. All major vertebrate classes are now represented in cloned leptins and leptin receptors, and investigation of invertebrate leptin signaling is beginning. Protein structures have been modeled for leptin, leptin receptor, and endospanins across an extensive evolutionary timescale, but models (although useful) are simply predictions to be tested. Now that we have identified conserved motifs and conserved sites of leptin–leptin receptor interaction, these predictions should be tested with *in vitro* functional assays.

The bird leptin problem has been solved in a genomic sense, but is just initiating physiologically. Now that the bird receptor assays (49) can be used with homologous ligands (hopefully soon), we should learn if birds are truly different among vertebrates in leptin signaling. We assert that understanding the endocrinology of how birds manipulate lipid stores will pay dividends in comparative endocrinology, agriculture, and human disease. Robust data from decades of research demonstrate that many species of birds perform large-scale manipulation of energy stores, and preliminary (but compelling) data indicate that they are doing so either without leptin (or other known adipokines) or by using leptin in a fundamentally different way (e.g., through an uncharacterized pathway). If leptin signaling in birds is truly different, it means that there is another way that vertebrates manipulate energy stores and thus potentially new avenues to pursue that will help us understand human obesity.

Amphibian leptin models are well developed with homologous recombinant leptin and receptor assays (15, 24), but relatively little is known for reptiles. These groups appear to adhere to the lipostat model, while birds and teleost fishes may not. As such, more species diversity in amphibian and reptile leptin studies could be very important in understanding leptin function as an adipostat.

In fishes, we are now past the point where one's fish species of choice can be interpreted as representative of all fishes. Given that bony fishes have been on the planet \sim 370 MY longer than modern mammals (www.timetree.org), it is not surprising that they may be diverse in their leptin signaling. Phylogenetic analyses make it clear that teleost fishes are diverse in the structures of their leptin, leptin receptor, and *LEPROT* genes, and it is likely that reported differences among species represent true species divergence rather than methodological idiosyncrasies. Although we argue that there is a lack of evidence for adipostat function in fishes, the future may reveal that an "origin(s)" of that status within a fish clade, and we simply need to sample fish diversity more completely (e.g., non-teleost fishes need attention).

If we are to move forward, we must have comparable variables to assess species diversity. As such, reliance on relative qPCR for expression data does not allow quantitative comparisons among species; the community needs well-validated ELISAs (such as that developed for salmonids and tilapia) for multiple species. In this same light, the non-coding regions near leptin and leptin receptor need to be studied with more detail to gain an understanding of how expression is controlled throughout evolution. We need to pursue knockout models in non-mammals for laboratory approaches comparable to those using *ob/ob* and *db/db* mice. Finally, we need to measure leptin signaling responses

REFERENCES

- Zhang Y, Proenca R, Maffei M, Barone M, Leopold L, Friedman JM. Positional cloning of the mouse obese gene and its human homologue. *Nature* (1994) 372:425–32. doi:10.1038/372425a0
- Kurokawa T, Uji S, Suzuki T. Identification of cDNA coding for a homologue to mammalian leptin from pufferfish, *Takifugu rubripes. Peptides* (2005) 26:745–50. doi:10.1016/j.peptides.2004.12.017
- Crespi EJ, Denver RJ. Leptin (ob gene) of the South African clawed frog Xenopus laevis. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A (2006) 103:10092–7. doi:10.1073/ pnas.0507519103
- Pelleymounter MA, Cullen MJ, Baker MB, Hecht R, Winters D, Boone T, et al. Effects of the obese gene product on body weight regulation in ob/ob mice. *Science* (1995) 269:540–3. doi:10.1126/science.7624776
- Halaas JL, Gajiwala KS, Maffei M, Cohen SL, Chait BT, Rabinowitz D, et al. Weight-reducing effects of the plasma protein encoded by the obese gene. *Science* (1995) 269:543–6. doi:10.1126/science.7624777
- Campfield LA, Smith FJ, Guisez Y, Devos R, Burn P. Recombinant mouse OB protein: evidence for a peripheral signal linking adiposity and central neural networks. *Science* (1995) 269:546–9. doi:10.1126/science.7624778
- Hua N, Piersma T, Ma Z. Three-phase fuel deposition in a long-distance migrant, the red knot (*Calidris canutus piersmai*), before the flight to high Arctic breeding grounds. *PLoS One* (2013) 8:e62551. doi:10.1371/journal. pone.0062551
- Jastroch M, Giroud S, Barrett P, Geiser F, Heldmaier G, Herwig A. Seasonal control of mammalian energy balance: recent advances in the understanding of daily torpor and hibernation. *J Neuroendocrinol* (2016) 28(11). doi:10.1111/jne.12437

of unmanipulated animals in the field and take advantage of the tremendous diversity of life histories that are well suited for leptin questions [The Krogh Principle (145)]. In doing so, the comparative community will contribute to understanding of human obesity similar to how *Drosophila* studies contributed to genetics, how shark-rectal gland contributed to kidney function, or how the squid giant axon contributed to neurobiology.

ETHICS STATEMENT

All procedures performed by the authors that used animals were approved by the institution's IACUC.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

All authors contributed to drafting and editing of the manuscript. JWP completed all molecular modeling.

FUNDING

RL and QL were funded by NIH 2R15DK079282-02 for some of the research highlighted in this review. RL was also supported by the University of Akron Faculty Research Committee. JWP was funded by NIH-K01ES025435 to perform all protein modeling and motif analysis.

SUPPLEMENTARY MATERIAL

The Supplementary Material for this article can be found online at http://journal.frontiersin.org/article/10.3389/fendo. 2017.00058/full#supplementary-material.

- Secor SM, Carey HV. Integrative physiology of fasting. *Compr Physiol* (2016) 6:773–825. doi:10.1002/cphy.c150013
- Scott DE, Casey ED, Donovan MF, Lynch TK. Amphibian lipid levels at metamorphosis correlate to post-metamorphic terrestrial survival. *Oecologia* (2007) 153:521–32. doi:10.1007/s00442-007-0755-6
- Tveiten H, Johnsen HK, Jobling M. Influence of maturity status on the annual cycles of feeding and growth in Arctic charr reared at constant temperature. *J Fish Biol* (1996) 48:910–24. doi:10.1111/j.1095-8649.1996.tb01486.x
- Honig H, Ofer L, Elbaz M, Kaim M, Shinder D, Gershon E. Seasonal and parity effects on ghrelin levels throughout the estrous cycle in dairy cows. *Gen Comp Endocrinol* (2016) 235:64–9. doi:10.1016/j.ygcen.2016. 06.006
- Volkoff H, Estevan Sabioni R, Coutinho LL, Cyrino JEP. Appetite regulating factors in pacu (*Piaractus mesopotamicus*): tissue distribution and effects of food quantity and quality on gene expression. *Comp Biochem Physiol A Mol Integr Physiol* (2016) 203:241–54. doi:10.1016/j.cbpa.2016. 09.022
- McConn BR, Yi J, Gilbert ER, Siegel PB, Chowdhury VS, Furuse M, et al. Stimulation of food intake after central administration of gonadotropininhibitory hormone is similar in genetically selected low and high body weight lines of chickens. *Gen Comp Endocrinol* (2016) 232:96–100. doi:10.1016/j.ygcen.2016.01.004
- Denver RJ, Bonett RM, Boorse GC. Evolution of leptin structure and function. *Neuroendocrinology* (2011) 94:21–38. doi:10.1159/000328435
- Londraville RL, Macotela Y, Duff RJ, Easterling MR, Liu Q, Crespi EJ. Comparative endocrinology of leptin: assessing function in a phylogenetic context. *Gen Comp Endocrinol* (2014) 203:146–57. doi:10.1016/ j.ygcen.2014.02.002

- Gorissen M, Flik G. Leptin in teleostean fish, towards the origins of leptin physiology. J Chem Neuroanat (2014) 6(1-62):200-6. doi:10.1016/ j.jchemneu.2014.06.005
- Dyer CJ, Simmons JM, Matteri RL, Keisler DH. cDNA cloning and tissue-specific gene expression of ovine leptin, NPY-Y1 receptor, and NPY-Y2 receptor. *Domest Anim Endocrinol* (1997) 14:295–303. doi:10.1016/ S0739-7240(97)00028-3
- Pfister-Genskow M, Hayes H, Eggen A, Bishop MD. Chromosomal localization of the bovine obesity (OBS) gene. *Mamm Genome* (1996) 7:398–9. doi:10.1007/s003359900118
- Morini M, Pasquier J, Dirks R, van den Thillart G, Tomkiewicz J, Rousseau K, et al. Duplicated leptin receptors in two species of eel bring new insights into the evolution of the leptin system in vertebrates. *PLoS One* (2015) 10:e0126008. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0126008
- Boswell T, Dunn IC, Wilson PW, Joseph N, Burt DW, Sharp PJ. Identification of a non-mammalian leptin-like gene: characterization and expression in the tiger salamander (*Ambystoma tigrinum*). *Gen Comp Endocrinol* (2006) 146:157–66. doi:10.1016/j.ygcen.2005.08.001
- Torday JS, Ihida-Stansbury K, Rehan VK. Leptin stimulates Xenopus lung development: evolution in a dish. Evol Dev (2009) 11:219–24. doi:10.1111/j.1525-142X.2009.00321.x
- Garcia NW, Pfennig KS, Burmeister SS. Leptin manipulation reduces appetite and causes a switch in mating preference in the plains spadefoot toad (*Spea bombifrons*). *PLoS One* (2015) 10:e0125981. doi:10.1371/journal. pone.0125981
- Cui MY, Hu CK, Pelletier C, Dziuba A, Slupski RH, Li C, et al. Ancient origins and evolutionary conservation of intracellular and neural signaling pathways engaged by the leptin receptor. *Endocrinology* (2014) 155:4202–14. doi:10.1210/en.2014-1301
- 25. Niewiarowski PH, Balk ML, Londraville RL. Phenotypic effects of leptin in an ectotherm: a new tool to study the evolution of life histories and endothermy? *J Exp Biol* (2000) 203(Pt 2):295–300.
- Putti R, Varricchio E, Gay F, Elena C, Paolucci M. Leptin effects on testis and epididymis in the lizard *Podarcis sicula*, during summer regression. *Gen Comp Endocrinol* (2009) 160:168–75. doi:10.1016/j.ygcen.2008. 11.010
- Goldberg DW, Leitão SAT, Godfrey MH, Lopez GG, Santos AJB, Neves FA, et al. Ghrelin and leptin modulate the feeding behaviour of the hawksbill turtle *Eretmochelys imbricata* during nesting season. *Conserv Physiol* (2013) 1:cot016. doi:10.1093/conphys/cot016
- Paolucci M, Rocco M, Varricchio E. Leptin presence in plasma, liver and fat bodies in the lizard *Podarcis sicula*: fluctuations throughout the reproductive cycle. *Life Sci* (2001) 69:2399–408. doi:10.1016/S0024-3205(01) 01326-1
- Spanovich S, Niewiarowski PH, Londraville RL. Seasonal effects on circulating leptin in the lizard *Sceloporus undulatus* from two populations. *Comp Biochem Physiol B Biochem Mol Biol* (2006) 143:507–13. doi:10.1016/ j.cbpb.2006.01.001
- Huang H, Wei Y, Meng Z, Zhang Y, Liu X, Guo L, et al. Polymorphisms of leptin-b gene associated with growth traits in orange-spotted grouper (*Epinephelus coioides*). *Int J Mol Sci* (2014) 15:11996–2006. doi:10.3390/ ijms150711996
- Gorissen M, Bernier NJ, Nabuurs SB, Flik G, Huising MO. Two divergent leptin paralogues in zebrafish (*Danio rerio*) that originate early in teleostean evolution. *J Endocrinol* (2009) 201:329–39. doi:10.1677/JOE-09-0034
- Chen T, Chen S, Ren C, Hu C, Tang D, Yan A. Two isoforms of leptin in the White-clouds Mountain minnow (*Tanichthys albonubes*): differential regulation by estrogen despite similar response to fasting. *Gen Comp Endocrinol* (2016) 225:174–84. doi:10.1016/j.ygcen.2015.08.002
- 33. Yuan X, Li A, Liang X-F, Huang W, Song Y, He S, et al. Leptin expression in mandarin fish *Siniperca chuatsi* (Basilewsky): regulation by postprandial and short-term fasting treatment. *Comp Biochem Physiol A Mol Integr Physiol* (2016) 194:8–18. doi:10.1016/j.cbpa.2016.01.014
- Kang J, Hu J, Karra R, Dickson AL, Tornini VA, Nachtrab G, et al. Modulation of tissue repair by regeneration enhancer elements. *Nature* (2016) 532:201–6. doi:10.1038/nature17644
- Sifuentes CJ, Kim J-W, Swaroop A, Raymond PA. Rapid, dynamic activation of Müller glial stem cell responses in zebrafish. *Invest Ophthalmol Vis Sci* (2016) 57:5148–60. doi:10.1167/iovs.16-19973

- Dalman M. Characterization of Leptin Signaling in the Developing Zebrafish (Danio rerio) Using Molecular, Physiological, and Bioinformatic Approaches. Unpublished Ph.D. thesis, University of Akron (2014).
- Prokop JW, Duff RJ, Ball HC, Copeland DL, Londraville RL. Leptin and leptin receptor: analysis of a structure to function relationship in interaction and evolution from humans to fish. *Peptides* (2012) 38:326–36. doi:10.1016/ j.peptides.2012.10.002
- Pitel F, Faraut T, Bruneau G, Monget P. Is there a leptin gene in the chicken genome? Lessons from phylogenetics, bioinformatics and genomics. *Gen Comp Endocrinol* (2010) 167:1–5. doi:10.1016/j.ygcen.2009.10.006
- Pitel F, Monbrun C, Gellin J, Vignal A. The chicken LEP (OB) gene has not been mapped. *Anim Genet* (2000) 31:281. doi:10.1111/j.1365-2052.2000. 00610.pp.x
- Friedman-Einat M, Boswell T, Horev G, Girishvarma G, Dunn IC, Talbot RT, et al. The chicken leptin gene: has it been cloned? *Gen Comp Endocrinol* (1999) 115:354–63. doi:10.1006/gcen.1999.7322
- Friedman-Einat M, Cogburn LA, Yosefi S, Hen G, Shinder D, Shirak A, et al. Discovery and characterization of the first genuine avian leptin gene in the rock dove (*Columba livia*). *Endocrinology* (2014) 155:3376–84. doi:10.1210/ en.2014-1273
- Wang D, Xu C, Wang T, Li H, Li Y, Ren J, et al. Discovery and functional characterization of leptin and its receptors in Japanese quail (*Coturnix japonica*). *Gen Comp Endocrinol* (2016) 225:1–12. doi:10.1016/j.ygcen.2015. 09.003
- 43. Huang G, Li J, Wang H, Lan X, Wang Y. Discovery of a novel functional leptin protein (LEP) in zebra finches: evidence for the existence of an authentic avian leptin gene predominantly expressed in the brain and pituitary. *Endocrinology* (2014) 155:3385–96. doi:10.1210/en.2014-1084
- 44. Prokop JW, Schmidt C, Gasper D, Duff RJ, Milsted A, Ohkubo T, et al. Discovery of the elusive leptin in birds: identification of several "missing links" in the evolution of leptin and its receptor. *PLoS One* (2014) 9:e92751. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0092751
- 45. Seroussi E, Cinnamon Y, Yosefi S, Genin O, Smith JG, Rafati N, et al. Identification of the long-sought leptin in chicken and duck: expression pattern of the highly GC-rich avian leptin fits an autocrine/paracrine rather than endocrine function. *Endocrinology* (2016) 157:737–51. doi:10.1210/ en.2015-1634
- Yosefi S, Hen G, Rosenblum CI, Cerasale DJ, Beaulieu M, Criscuolo F, et al. Lack of leptin activity in blood samples of Adélie penguin and bar-tailed godwit. J Endocrinol (2010) 207:113–22. doi:10.1677/JOE-10-0177
- Veloso A, Kirkconnell KS, Magnuson B, Biewen B, Paulsen MT, Wilson TE, et al. Rate of elongation by RNA polymerase II is associated with specific gene features and epigenetic modifications. *Genome Res* (2014) 24:896–905. doi:10.1101/gr.171405.113
- Ohkubo T, Hirota K, Murase D, Adachi H, Nozawa-Takeda T, Sugita S. Avian blood induced intranuclear translocation of STAT3 via the chicken leptin receptor. *Comp Biochem Physiol B Biochem Mol Biol* (2014) 174:9–14. doi:10.1016/j.cbpb.2014.05.001
- Gertler A, Shinder D, Yosefi S, Shpilman M, Rosenblum CI, Ruzal M, et al. Pegylated leptin antagonist with strong orexigenic activity in mice is not effective in chickens. *J Exp Biol* (2014) 217:180–4. doi:10.1242/jeb.095539
- Robin JP, Frain M, Sardet C, Groscolas R, Le Maho Y. Protein and lipid utilization during long-term fasting in emperor penguins. *Am J Physiol* (1988) 254:R61–8.
- Mortensen A, Blix AS. Seasonal changes in the effects of starvation on metabolic rate and regulation of body weight in Svalbard Ptarmigan. *Ornis Scand* (1985) 16:20–4. doi:10.2307/3676570
- Daković N, Térézol M, Pitel F, Maillard V, Elis S, Leroux S, et al. The loss of adipokine genes in the chicken genome and implications for insulin metabolism. *Mol Biol Evol* (2014) 31:2637–46. doi:10.1093/molbev/ msu208
- Seim I, Jeffery PL, Herington AC, Chopin LK. Comparative analysis reveals loss of the appetite-regulating peptide hormone ghrelin in falcons. *Gen Comp Endocrinol* (2015) 216:98–102. doi:10.1016/j.ygcen.2014.11.016
- Larkin MA, Blackshields G, Brown NP, Chenna R, McGettigan PA, McWilliam H, et al. Clustal W and Clustal X version 2.0. *Bioinformatics* (2007) 23:2947–8. doi:10.1093/bioinformatics/btm404
- 55. Tamura K, Peterson D, Peterson N, Stecher G, Nei M, Kumar S. MEGA5: molecular evolutionary genetics analysis using maximum likelihood,

evolutionary distance, and maximum parsimony methods. *Mol Biol Evol* (2011) 28:2731–9. doi:10.1093/molbev/msr121

- Pond SLK, Frost SDW, Muse SV. HyPhy: hypothesis testing using phylogenies. *Bioinformatics* (2005) 21:676–9. doi:10.1093/bioinformatics/bti079
- Muse SV, Gaut BS. A likelihood approach for comparing synonymous and nonsynonymous nucleotide substitution rates, with application to the chloroplast genome. *Mol Biol Evol* (1994) 11:715–24.
- Tamura K, Nei M. Estimation of the number of nucleotide substitutions in the control region of mitochondrial DNA in humans and chimpanzees. *Mol Biol Evol* (1993) 10:512–26.
- Roy A, Kucukural A, Zhang Y. I-TASSER: a unified platform for automated protein structure and function prediction. *Nat Protoc* (2010) 5:725–38. doi:10.1038/nprot.2010.5
- Krieger E, Joo K, Lee J, Lee J, Raman S, Thompson J, et al. Improving physical realism, stereochemistry, and side-chain accuracy in homology modeling: four approaches that performed well in CASP8. *Proteins* (2009) 77(Suppl 9):114–22. doi:10.1002/prot.22570
- Duan Y, Wu C, Chowdhury S, Lee MC, Xiong G, Zhang W, et al. A pointcharge force field for molecular mechanics simulations of proteins based on condensed-phase quantum mechanical calculations. *J Comput Chem* (2003) 24:1999–2012. doi:10.1002/jcc.10349
- Ashkenazy H, Erez E, Martz E, Pupko T, Ben-Tal N. ConSurf 2010: calculating evolutionary conservation in sequence and structure of proteins and nucleic acids. *Nucleic Acids Res* (2010) 38:W529–33. doi:10.1093/nar/ gkq399
- Prokop JW, Leeper TC, Duan Z-H, Milsted A. Amino acid function and docking site prediction through combining disease variants, structure alignments, sequence alignments, and molecular dynamics: a study of the HMG domain. *BMC Bioinformatics* (2012) 13(Suppl 2):S3. doi:10.1186/1471-2105-13-S2-S3
- Peelman F, Van Beneden K, Zabeau L, Iserentant H, Ulrichts P, Defeau D, et al. Mapping of the leptin binding sites and design of a leptin antagonist. *J Biol Chem* (2004) 279:41038–46. doi:10.1074/jbc.M404962200
- Couturier C, Jockers R. Activation of the leptin receptor by a ligand-induced conformational change of constitutive receptor dimers. *J Biol Chem* (2003) 278:26604–11. doi:10.1074/jbc.M302002200
- Moharana K, Zabeau L, Peelman F, Ringler P, Stahlberg H, Tavernier J, et al. Structural and mechanistic paradigm of leptin receptor activation revealed by complexes with wild-type and antagonist leptins. *Structure* (2014) 22:866–77. doi:10.1016/j.str.2014.04.012
- Mancour LV, Daghestani HN, Dutta S, Westfield GH, Schilling J, Oleskie AN, et al. Ligand-induced architecture of the leptin receptor signaling complex. *Mol Cell* (2012) 48:655–61. doi:10.1016/j.molcel.2012.09.003
- Zabeau L, Defeau D, Van der Heyden J, Iserentant H, Vandekerckhove J, Tavernier J. Functional analysis of leptin receptor activation using a Janus kinase/signal transducer and activator of transcription complementation assay. *Mol Endocrinol* (2004) 18:150–61. doi:10.1210/me.2003-0078
- Maruyama IN. Activation of transmembrane cell-surface receptors via a common mechanism? The "rotation model". *Bioessays* (2015) 37:959–67. doi:10.1002/bies.201500041
- Zabeau L, Defeau D, Iserentant H, Vandekerckhove J, Peelman F, Tavernier J. Leptin receptor activation depends on critical cysteine residues in its fibronectin type III subdomains. *J Biol Chem* (2005) 280:22632–40. doi:10.1074/jbc.M413308200
- Rajan A, Perrimon N. Drosophila cytokine unpaired 2 regulates physiological homeostasis by remotely controlling insulin secretion. *Cell* (2012) 151:123–37. doi:10.1016/j.cell.2012.08.019
- Copeland DL, Duff RJ, Liu Q, Prokop J, Londraville RL. Leptin in teleost fishes: an argument for comparative study. *Front Physiol* (2011) 2:26. doi:10.3389/fphys.2011.00026
- Lei MM, Wu SQ, Li XW, Wang CL, Chen Z, Shi ZD. Leptin receptor signaling inhibits ovarian follicle development and egg laying in chicken hens. *Reprod Biol Endocrinol* (2014) 12:25. doi:10.1186/1477-7827-12-25
- Smolinska N, Kaminski T, Siawrys G, Przala J. Expression of leptin and its receptor genes in the ovarian follicles of cycling and early pregnant pigs. *Animal* (2013) 7:109–17. doi:10.1017/S1751731112001103
- Sarkar M, Schilffarth S, Schams D, Meyer HHD, Berisha B. The expression of leptin and its receptor during different physiological stages in the bovine ovary. *Mol Reprod Dev* (2010) 77:174–81. doi:10.1002/mrd.21129

- Ryan NK, Van der Hoek KH, Robertson SA, Norman RJ. Leptin and leptin receptor expression in the rat ovary. *Endocrinology* (2003) 144:5006–13. doi:10.1210/en.2003-0584
- Dupuis L, Schuermann Y, Cohen T, Siddappa D, Kalaiselvanraja A, Pansera M, et al. Role of leptin receptors in granulosa cells during ovulation. *Reproduction* (2014) 147:221–9. doi:10.1530/REP-13-0356
- Ghiglione C, Devergne O, Georgenthum E, Carballès F, Médioni C, Cerezo D, et al. The *Drosophila* cytokine receptor Domeless controls border cell migration and epithelial polarization during oogenesis. *Development* (2002) 129:5437–47. doi:10.1242/dev.00116
- Brown S, Hu N, Hombría JC. Identification of the first invertebrate interleukin JAK/STAT receptor, the *Drosophila* gene domeless. *Curr Biol* (2001) 11:1700–5. doi:10.1016/S0960-9822(01)00524-3
- Copf T, Goguel V, Lampin-Saint-Amaux A, Scaplehorn N, Preat T. Cytokine signaling through the JAK/STAT pathway is required for long-term memory in *Drosophila*. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* (2011) 108:8059–64. doi:10.1073/ pnas.1012919108
- Kersey PJ, Allen JE, Armean I, Boddu S, Bolt BJ, Carvalho-Silva D, et al. Ensembl Genomes 2016: more genomes, more complexity. *Nucleic Acids Res* (2016) 44:D574–80. doi:10.1093/nar/gkv1209
- Bailleul B, Akerblom I, Strosberg AD. The leptin receptor promoter controls expression of a second distinct protein. *Nucleic Acids Res* (1997) 25:2752–8. doi:10.1093/nar/25.14.2752
- Touvier T, Conte-Auriol F, Briand O, Cudejko C, Paumelle R, Caron S, et al. LEPROT and LEPROTL1 cooperatively decrease hepatic growth hormone action in mice. J Clin Invest (2009) 119:3830–8. doi:10.1172/JCI34997
- Seron K, Couturier C, Belouzard S, Bacart J, Monte D, Corset L, et al. Endospanins regulate a postinternalization step of the leptin receptor endocytic pathway. *J Biol Chem* (2011) 286:17968–81. doi:10.1074/jbc. M111.224857
- Belgareh-Touzé N, Avaro S, Rouillé Y, Hoflack B, Haguenauer-Tsapis R. Yeast Vps55p, a functional homolog of human obesity receptor gene-related protein, is involved in late endosome to vacuole trafficking. *Mol Biol Cell* (2002) 13:1694–708. doi:10.1091/mbc.01-12-0597
- Schluter C, Lam KKY, Brumm J, Wu BW, Saunders M, Stevens TH, et al. Global analysis of yeast endosomal transport identifies the vps55/68 sorting complex. *Mol Biol Cell* (2008) 19:1282–94. doi:10.1091/mbc.E07-07-0659
- Séron K, Couturier C, Belouzard S, Bacart J, Monté D, Corset L, et al. Endospanins regulate a postinternalization step of the leptin receptor endocytic pathway. *J Biol Chem* (2011) 286:17968–81. doi:10.1074/jbc. M111.224857
- Vauthier V, Swartz TD, Chen P, Roujeau C, Pagnon M, Mallet J, et al. Endospanin 1 silencing in the hypothalamic arcuate nucleus contributes to sustained weight loss of high fat diet obese mice. *Gene Ther* (2014) 21:638–44. doi:10.1038/gt.2014.36
- Couturier C, Sarkis C, Séron K, Belouzard S, Chen P, Lenain A, et al. Silencing of OB-RGRP in mouse hypothalamic arcuate nucleus increases leptin receptor signaling and prevents diet-induced obesity. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* (2007) 104:19476–81. doi:10.1073/pnas.0706671104
- Jeon J-P, Shim S-M, Nam H-Y, Ryu G-M, Hong E-J, Kim H-L, et al. Copy number variation at leptin receptor gene locus associated with metabolic traits and the risk of type 2 diabetes mellitus. *BMC Genomics* (2010) 11:426. doi:10.1186/1471-2164-11-426
- Satoh T, Yoshino S, Katano A, Ishizuka T, Tomaru T, Shibusawa N, et al. Isolation of a novel leptin receptor gene promoter preferentially functioning in neuronal cells. *Biochem Biophys Res Commun* (2009) 389:673–7. doi:10.1016/j.bbrc.2009.09.056
- Hirvonen MJ, Büki KG, Sun Y, Mulari MTK, Härkönen PL, Väänänen KH. Novel interaction of Rab13 and Rab8 with endospanins. *FEBS Open Bio* (2013) 3:83–8. doi:10.1016/j.fob.2013.01.004
- Nokes RL, Fields IC, Collins RN, Fölsch H. Rab13 regulates membrane trafficking between TGN and recycling endosomes in polarized epithelial cells. J Cell Biol (2008) 182:845–53. doi:10.1083/jcb.200802176
- Huber LA, Pimplikar S, Parton RG, Virta H, Zerial M, Simons K. Rab8, a small GTPase involved in vesicular traffic between the TGN and the basolateral plasma membrane. *J Cell Biol* (1993) 123:35–45. doi:10.1083/jcb.123.1.35
- Akhtar W, de Jong J, Pindyurin AV, Pagie L, Meuleman W, de Ridder J, et al. Chromatin position effects assayed by thousands of reporters integrated in parallel. *Cell* (2013) 154:914–27. doi:10.1016/j.cell.2013.07.018

- Myers MG, Cowley MA, Münzberg H. Mechanisms of leptin action and leptin resistance. *Annu Rev Physiol* (2008) 70:537–56. doi:10.1146/annurev. physiol.70.113006.100707
- Scarpace PJ, Zhang Y. Leptin resistance: a prediposing factor for diet-induced obesity. Am J Physiol Regul Integr Comp Physiol (2009) 296:R493–500. doi:10.1152/ajpregu.90669.2008
- Szczesna M, Zieba DA. Phenomenon of leptin resistance in seasonal animals: the failure of leptin action in the brain. *Domest Anim Endocrinol* (2015) 52:60–70. doi:10.1016/j.domaniend.2015.03.002
- Hileman SM, Pierroz DD, Masuzaki H, Bjørbaek C, El-Haschimi K, Banks WA, et al. Characterizaton of short isoforms of the leptin receptor in rat cerebral microvessels and of brain uptake of leptin in mouse models of obesity. *Endocrinology* (2002) 143:775–83. doi:10.1210/endo.143.3.8669
- Hileman SM, Tornøe J, Flier JS, Bjørbaek C. Transcellular transport of leptin by the short leptin receptor isoform ObRa in Madin-Darby Canine Kidney cells. *Endocrinology* (2000) 141:1955–61. doi:10.1210/endo.141.6.7450
- Tu H, Kastin AJ, Hsuchou H, Pan W. Soluble receptor inhibits leptin transport. J Cell Physiol (2008) 214:301–5. doi:10.1002/jcp.21195
- Schaab M, Kratzsch J. The soluble leptin receptor. Best Pract Res Clin Endocrinol Metab (2015) 29:661–70. doi:10.1016/j.beem.2015.08.002
- 103. Escobar S, Rocha A, Felip A, Carrillo M, Zanuy S, Kah O, et al. Leptin receptor gene in the European sea bass (*Dicentrarchus labrax*): cloning, phylogeny, tissue distribution and neuroanatomical organization. *Gen Comp Endocrinol* (2016) 229:100–11. doi:10.1016/j.ygcen.2016.03.017
- Murashita K, Uji S, Yamamoto T, Rønnestad I, Kurokawa T. Production of recombinant leptin and its effects on food intake in rainbow trout (*Oncorhynchus mykiss*). Comp Biochem Physiol B Biochem Mol Biol (2008) 150:377–84. doi:10.1016/j.cbpb.2008.04.007
- Li Z, Ceccarini G, Eisenstein M, Tan K, Friedman JM. Phenotypic effects of an induced mutation of the ObRa isoform of the leptin receptor. *Mol Metab* (2013) 2:364–75. doi:10.1016/j.molmet.2013.07.007
- 106. Kuo AY, Cline MA, Werner E, Siegel PB, Denbow DM. Leptin effects on food and water intake in lines of chickens selected for high or low body weight. *Physiol Behav* (2005) 84:459–64. doi:10.1016/j.physbeh.2005.01.014
- 107. Ohga H, Hirata D, Matsumori K, Kitano H, Nagano N, Yamaguchi A, et al. Possible role of the leptin system in controlling puberty in the male chub mackerel, *Scomber japonicus*. *Comp Biochem Physiol A Mol Integr Physiol* (2016) 203:159–66. doi:10.1016/j.cbpa.2016.09.009
- Kling P, Rønnestad I, Stefansson SO, Murashita K, Kurokawa T, Björnsson BT. A homologous salmonid leptin radioimmunoassay indicates elevated plasma leptin levels during fasting of rainbow trout. *Gen Comp Endocrinol* (2009) 162:307–12. doi:10.1016/j.ygcen.2009.04.003
- 109. Trombley S, Maugars G, Kling P, Björnsson BT, Schmitz M. Effects of longterm restricted feeding on plasma leptin, hepatic leptin expression and leptin receptor expression in juvenile Atlantic salmon (*Salmo salar L.*). *Gen Comp Endocrinol* (2012) 175:92–9. doi:10.1016/j.ygcen.2011.10.001
- 110. Salmerón C, Johansson M, Angotzi AR, Rønnestad I, Jönsson E, Björnsson BT, et al. Effects of nutritional status on plasma leptin levels and in vitro regulation of adipocyte leptin expression and secretion in rainbow trout. *Gen Comp Endocrinol* (2015) 210:114–23. doi:10.1016/j.ygcen.2014.10.016
- 111. Fuentes EN, Safian D, Einarsdottir IE, Valdés JA, Elorza AA, Molina A, et al. Nutritional status modulates plasma leptin, AMPK and TOR activation, and mitochondrial biogenesis: implications for cell metabolism and growth in skeletal muscle of the fine flounder. *Gen Comp Endocrinol* (2013) 186:172–80. doi:10.1016/j.ygcen.2013.02.009
- 112. Striberny A, Ravuri CS, Jobling M, Jørgensen EH. Seasonal differences in relative gene expression of putative central appetite regulators in Arctic charr (*Salvelinus alpinus*) do not reflect its annual feeding cycle. *PLoS One* (2015) 10:e0138857. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0138857
- 113. Frantzen M, Damsgård B, Tveiten H, Moriyama S, Iwata M, Johnsen HK. Effects of fasting on temporal changes in plasma concentrations of sex steroids, growth hormone and insulin-like growth factor I, and reproductive investment in Arctic charr. *J Fish Biol* (2004) 65:1526–42. doi:10.1111/j.1095-8649.2004.00564.x
- 114. Frøiland E, Jobling M, Björnsson BT, Kling P, Ravuri CS, Jørgensen EH. Seasonal appetite regulation in the anadromous Arctic charr: evidence for a role of adiposity in the regulation of appetite but not for leptin in signalling adiposity. *Gen Comp Endocrinol* (2012) 178:330–7. doi:10.1016/ j.ygcen.2012.06.017

- 115. Sahin-Efe A, Polyzos SA, Dincer F, Zaichenko L, McGovern R, Schneider B, et al. Intracellular leptin signaling following effective weight loss. *Metabolism* (2015) 64:888–95. doi:10.1016/j.metabol.2015. 04.006
- 116. Lõhmus M, Olin M, Sundström LF, Troedsson MHT, Molitor TW, EL Halawani M. Leptin increases T-cell immune response in birds. *Gen Comp Endocrinol* (2004) 139:245–50. doi:10.1016/j.ygcen.2004.09.011
- 117. Florant GL, Healy JE. The regulation of food intake in mammalian hibernators: a review. J Comp Physiol B (2012) 182:451–67. doi:10.1007/ s00360-011-0630-y
- Adam CL, Findlay PA. Decreased blood-brain leptin transfer in an ovine model of obesity and weight loss: resolving the cause of leptin resistance. *Int J Obes (Lond)* (2010) 34:980–8. doi:10.1038/ijo.2010.28
- 119. Ball HC, Londraville RL, Prokop JW, George JC, Suydam RS, Vinyard C, et al. Beyond thermoregulation: metabolic function of cetacean blubber in migrating bowhead and beluga whales. *J Comp Physiol B* (2017) 187(1):235–52. doi:10.1007/s00360-016-1029-6
- 120. Gong N, Einarsdottir IE, Johansson M, Björnsson BT. Alternative splice variants of the rainbow trout leptin receptor encode multiple circulating leptin-binding proteins. *Endocrinology* (2013) 154:2331–40. doi:10.1210/ en.2012-2082
- 121. Pfundt B, Sauerwein H, Mielenz M. Leptin mRNA and protein immunoreactivity in adipose tissue and liver of rainbow trout (*Oncorhynchus mykiss*) and immunohistochemical localization in liver. *Anat Histol Embryol* (2009) 38:406–10. doi:10.1111/j.1439-0264.2009.00951.x
- 122. Rønnestad I, Nilsen TO, Murashita K, Angotzi AR, Gamst Moen A-G, Stefansson SO, et al. Leptin and leptin receptor genes in Atlantic salmon: cloning, phylogeny, tissue distribution and expression correlated to longterm feeding status. *Gen Comp Endocrinol* (2010) 168:55–70. doi:10.1016/ j.ygcen.2010.04.010
- 123. Salmerón C, Johansson M, Asaad M, Angotzi AR, Rønnestad I, Stefansson SO, et al. Roles of leptin and ghrelin in adipogenesis and lipid metabolism of rainbow trout adipocytes in vitro. *Comp Biochem Physiol A Mol Integr Physiol* (2015) 188:40–8. doi:10.1016/j.cbpa.2015.06.017
- 124. Chisada S, Kurokawa T, Murashita K, Rønnestad I, Taniguchi Y, Toyoda A, et al. Leptin receptor-deficient (knockout) medaka, *Oryzias latipes*, show chronical up-regulated levels of orexigenic neuropeptides, elevated food intake and stage specific effects on growth and fat allocation. *Gen Comp Endocrinol* (2014) 195:9–20. doi:10.1016/j.ygcen.2013.10.008
- 125. Michel M, Page-McCaw PS, Chen W, Cone RD. Leptin signaling regulates glucose homeostasis, but not adipostasis, in the zebrafish. *Proc Natl Acad Sci* USA (2016) 113:3084–9. doi:10.1073/pnas.1513212113
- 126. Douros JD, Baltzegar DA, Breves JP, Lerner DT, Seale AP, Gordon Grau E, et al. Prolactin is a major inhibitor of hepatic leptin A synthesis and secretion: studies utilizing a homologous leptin A ELISA in the tilapia. *Gen Comp Endocrinol* (2014) 207:86–93. doi:10.1016/j.ygcen.2014.03.007
- 127. MacLean PS, Wing RR, Davidson T, Epstein L, Goodpaster B, Hall KD, et al. NIH working group report: innovative research to improve maintenance of weight loss. *Obesity (Silver Spring)* (2015) 23:7–15. doi:10.1002/ oby.20967
- Coleman DL. Obese and diabetes: two mutant genes causing diabetes-obesity syndromes in mice. *Diabetologia* (1978) 14:141–8. doi:10.1007/ BF00429772
- Wang B, Chandrasekera PC, Pippin JJ. Leptin- and leptin receptor-deficient rodent models: relevance for human type 2 diabetes. *Curr Diabetes Rev* (2014) 10:131–45. doi:10.2174/1573399810666140508121012
- Procaccini C, La Rocca C, Carbone F, De Rosa V, Galgani M, Matarese G. Leptin as immune mediator: interaction between neuroendocrine and immune system. *Dev Comp Immunol* (2017) 66:120–9. doi:10.1016/j. dci.2016.06.006
- Dupont J, Pollet-Villard X, Reverchon M, Mellouk N, Levy R. Adipokines in human reproduction. *Horm Mol Biol Clin Investig* (2015) 24:11–24. doi:10.1515/hmbci-2015-0034
- 132. Chen XX, Yang T. Roles of leptin in bone metabolism and bone diseases. J Bone Miner Metab (2015) 33:474–85. doi:10.1007/s00774-014-0569-7
- 133. Farooqi IS, Wangensteen T, Collins S, Kimber W, Matarese G, Keogh JM, et al. Clinical and molecular genetic spectrum of congenital deficiency of the leptin receptor. N Engl J Med (2007) 356:237–47. doi:10.1056/ NEJMoa063988

- Gong N, Johansson M, Björnsson BT. Impaired central leptin signaling and sensitivity in rainbow trout with high muscle adiposity. *Gen Comp Endocrinol* (2016) 235:48–56. doi:10.1016/j.ygcen.2016.06.013
- 135. Yi J, Gilbert ER, Siegel PB, Cline MA. Fed and fasted chicks from lines divergently selected for low or high body weight have differential hypothalamic appetite-associated factor mRNA expression profiles. *Behav Brain Res* (2015) 286:58–63. doi:10.1016/j.bbr.2015.02.008
- 136. Liu Q, Dalman M, Chen Y, Akhter M, Brahmandam S, Patel Y, et al. Knockdown of leptin A expression dramatically alters zebrafish development. *Gen Comp Endocrinol* (2012) 178:562–72. doi:10.1016/j.ygcen.2012.07.011
- Dalman MR, Liu Q, King MD, Bagatto B, Londraville RL. Leptin expression affects metabolic rate in zebrafish embryos (*D. rerio*). Front Physiol (2013) 4:160. doi:10.3389/fphys.2013.00160
- 138. Tuttle M. In Silico Analysis of Zebrafish Leptin-A Knockdown Reveals Enrichment for Metabolism, Development, and Morpholino Artifacts. Unpublished MS thesis, University of Akron (2016).
- 139. Kok FO, Shin M, Ni C-W, Gupta A, Grosse AS, van Impel A, et al. Reverse genetic screening reveals poor correlation between morpholino-induced and mutant phenotypes in zebrafish. *Dev Cell* (2015) 32:97–108. doi:10.1016/ j.devcel.2014.11.018
- Lawson ND. Reverse genetics in zebrafish: mutants, morphants, and moving forward. *Trends Cell Biol* (2016) 26:77–9. doi:10.1016/j.tcb.2015. 11.005
- 141. Danilova N, Sakamoto KM, Lin S. Ribosomal protein S19 deficiency in zebrafish leads to developmental abnormalities and defective erythropoiesis through activation of p53 protein family. *Blood* (2008) 112:5228–37. doi:10.1182/blood-2008-01-132290

- 142. Rai K, Chidester S, Zavala CV, Manos EJ, James SR, Karpf AR, et al. Dnmt2 functions in the cytoplasm to promote liver, brain, and retina development in zebrafish. *Genes Dev* (2007) 21:261–6. doi:10.1101/gad.1472907
- 143. Robu ME, Larson JD, Nasevicius A, Beiraghi S, Brenner C, Farber SA, et al. p53 activation by knockdown technologies. *PLoS Genet* (2007) 3:e78. doi:10.1371/journal.pgen.0030078
- 144. Kettleborough RNW, Busch-Nentwich EM, Harvey SA, Dooley CM, de Bruijn E, van Eeden F, et al. A systematic genome-wide analysis of zebrafish protein-coding gene function. *Nature* (2013) 496:494–7. doi:10.1038/ nature11992
- 145. Lindstedt S. Krogh 1929 or "the Krogh principle". J Exp Biol (2014) 217:1640–1. doi:10.1242/jeb.095505

Conflict of Interest Statement: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

The reviewer RD and handling editor declared their shared affiliation, and the handling editor states that the process nevertheless met the standards of a fair and objective review.

Copyright © 2017 Londraville, Prokop, Duff, Liu and Tuttle. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) or licensor are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





Leptin Induces Mitosis and Activates the Canonical Wnt/β-Catenin Signaling Pathway in Neurogenic Regions of *Xenopus* Tadpole Brain

Melissa Cui Bender, Christopher J. Sifuentes and Robert J. Denver*

Department of Molecular, Cellular and Developmental Biology, University of Michigan, Ann Arbor, MI, USA

In addition to its well-known role as an adipostat in adult mammals, leptin has diverse physiological and developmental actions in vertebrates. Leptin has been shown to promote development of hypothalamic circuits and to induce mitosis in different brain areas of mammals. We investigated the ontogeny of leptin mRNA, leptin actions on cell proliferation in the brain, and gene expression in the preoptic area/hypothalamus of tadpoles of Xenopus laevis. The level of leptin mRNA was low in premetamorphic tadpoles, but increased strongly at the beginning of metamorphosis and peaked at metamorphic climax. This increase in leptin mRNA at the onset of metamorphosis correlated with increased cell proliferation in the neurogenic zones of tadpole brain. We found that intracerebroventricular (i.c.v.) injection of recombinant Xenopus leptin (rxLeptin) in premetamorphic tadpoles strongly increased cell proliferation in neurogenic zones throughout the tadpole brain. We conducted gene expression profiling of genes induced at 2 h following i.c.v. injection of rxLeptin. This analysis identified 2,322 genes induced and 1,493 genes repressed by rxLeptin. The most enriched Kyoto Encyclopedia of Genes and Genomes term was the canonical Wnt/β-catenin pathway. Using electroporation-mediated gene transfer into tadpole brain of a reporter vector responsive to the canonical Wnt/ β -catenin signaling pathway, we found that i.c.v. rxLeptin injection activated Wnt/β-catenin-dependent transcriptional activity. Our findings show that leptin acts on the premetamorphic tadpole brain to induce cell proliferation, possibly acting via the Wnt/ β -catenin signaling pathway.

Keywords: leptin, neurogenesis, Xenopus, metamorphosis, Wnt/β-catenin

INTRODUCTION

Leptin is a protein hormone secreted by adipocytes that signals energy stores to the adult brain. The plasma concentration of leptin fluctuates in proportion to fat mass, and leptin acts on feeding control centers in the hypothalamus to suppress food intake and increase whole body metabolism (1). Leptin (*lep*) and its receptor (LepR) are widely expressed, and the hormone has been shown to have pleiotropic actions in physiology and development of diverse vertebrate species (2, 3). The actions of leptin are mediated by the long form of the LepR (LepRb), which engages several intracellular signaling pathways, especially the Janus kinase 2/signal transducer and activator of transcription (JAK2/STAT) (4, 5) and phosphoinositide 3-kinase (PI3K) signaling pathways (6, 7).

Recent findings support that leptin has important roles in neurological development, especially development of leptin-responsive feeding control circuits in the hypothalamus. Leptin-deficient

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Maximilian Michel, University of Michigan, USA

Reviewed by:

Suraj Unniappan, University of Saskatchewan, Canada Vance Trudeau, University of Ottawa, Canada

> *Correspondence: Robert J. Denver rdenver@umich.edu

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Experimental Endocrinology, a section of the journal Frontiers in Endocrinology

Received: 01 March 2017 Accepted: 20 April 2017 Published: 08 May 2017

Citation:

Bender MC, Sifuentes CJ and Denver RJ (2017) Leptin Induces Mitosis and Activates the Canonical Wnt/β-Catenin Signaling Pathway in Neurogenic Regions of Xenopus Tadpole Brain. Front. Endocrinol. 8:99. doi: 10.3389/fendo.2017.00099 mice (ob/ob) have reduced brain weight, volume, and DNA content that can be restored by injecting leptin (4, 8). Leptin induces mitosis in several brain areas in rodents (8–10), and in tissue culture (11, 12), and this role for leptin is likely related to the brain size defects seen in *ob/ob* mice. The hormone also promotes formation of neuronal projections among hypothalamic nuclei involved with feeding (13–16).

In rodents, serum leptin concentration increases markedly in the neonate, then declines in the juvenile adult (17–19). This "postnatal leptin surge" may play a critical role in the development of the hypothalamic feeding control circuit (13, 15, 16). Cells in the ventricular zone (VZ)/subventricular zone (SVZ) of the third ventricle (3V) of neonates express functional LepR; LepR mRNA expression declines in the VZ/SVZ through development then appears in the arcuate nucleus and ventromedial hypothalamus (18). The LepR is expressed within the VZ of the 3V in embryonic/fetal brain (18, 20) and these neural progenitor/stem cells (NSCs) may be precursors of hypothalamic feeding control and hypophysiotropic neurons of the adult (21).

Genes for lep have now been isolated from numerous mammalian species, birds, reptiles, amphibians, and fishes (2, 3, 22). Our earlier findings in Xenopus support that the adipostat function of leptin was present in the earliest tetrapods (23, 24). By contrast, a role for leptin in feeding and energy balance in fishes remains unresolved (2, 3). Like mammals, tadpoles of Xenopus laevis develop competence to respond to leptin signaling during the postembryonic developmental period of metamorphosis (Melissa Cui Bender and Robert J. Denver, unpublished data). We found that functional LepR is expressed in regions surrounding the 3V of premetamorphic tadpole brain, suggesting that leptin can act within tadpole neurogenic zones. In the current study, we investigated whether leptin can promote mitosis in developing Xenopus tadpole brain by administering recombinant Xenopus leptin (rxLeptin) to premetamorphic tadpoles by intracerebroventricular (i.c.v.) injection, then we analyzed cells in M phase of the cell cycle using immunohistochemistry (IHC) for phosphorylated histone 3 (pH3). We also conducted a gene expression screen for early (2 h after i.c.v. rxLeptin injection) leptin-induced transcriptional changes in tadpole preoptic area/hypothalamus. This screen identified the canonical Wnt/β-catenin signaling pathway as the major intracellular signaling pathway induced by leptin in premetamorphic tadpole brain. Using electroporation-mediated (EM) gene transfer of a Wnt/β-catenin-responsive reporter plasmid into tadpole brain, we provide additional evidence that leptin activates functional Wnt/β-catenin signaling.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Animal Care and Use

We obtained *X. laevis* tadpoles from in-house breeding and raised them in dechlorinated tap water maintained at $21-23^{\circ}$ C with a 12L:12D photoperiod. Tadpoles were fed frog brittle twice daily (NASCO, Fort Atkinson, WI, USA) and developmental stages were determined using the Nieuwkoop–Faber (NF) staging table (25). We anesthetized NF stage 50 *X. laevis* tadpoles (premetamorphic tadpoles) in a buffered solution of 0.002% benzocaine (Sigma) before administering i.c.v. injection of rxLeptin [produced as described by Crespi and Denver (23)], or plasmid injections for EM gene transfer (described below). For i.c.v. injection, we used a Drummond microinjector to deliver 50-150 nL of solution containing 0.6% saline, rxLeptin (20 ng/g BW) or plasmid DNA, plus 0.01% fast green dye to the area of the 3V as described previously (23, 24, 26). We chose this dose of rxLeptin based on our previously published work that showed that i.c.v. injection caused a dose-dependent suppression of food intake in the Western spadefoot toad, with 20 ng/g BW rxLeptin causing maximal suppression (23). Animals were killed by immersion in 0.1% benzocaine for 2 min before tissue harvest. All procedures involving animals were conducted under an approved animal use protocol (PRO00006809) in accordance with the guidelines of the Institutional Animal Care and Use Committee at the University of Michigan.

RNA Isolation for Gene Expression Analyses

For developmental analysis of lep mRNA, we extracted total RNA from whole animals beginning at NF stage 45. For NF stages 45-54, we pooled three animals per replicate and for NF stages 58–66, one animal per replicate (n = 5-6/NF stage). We also dissected and isolated total RNA from the portion of the carcass containing the fat pads (we removed tail and other organs; we refer to this as "adipose tissue"), liver, brain, and gut from tadpoles throughout metamorphosis (NF stages 50, 54, 58, 62, 66) for analysis of *lep* mRNA (n = 6/NF stage). For analysis of gene expression by microarray and reverse transcriptase quantitative real-time PCR (RTqPCR), we injected tadpoles i.c.v. with 0.6% saline or rxLeptin (20 ng/g BW), and 2 h later, we killed the animals, removed the brain, and microdissected the middle region of the brain (n = 6/treatment; the region of the diencephalon containing the preoptic area and hypothalamus, the neuroendocrine and feeding control regions of the brain) (27). We isolated RNA using the Trizol reagent (Invitrogen) following the manufacturer's instructions.

For RTqPCR analysis of gene expression, we developed SYBR Green assays that spanned exon–exon boundaries for each gene. We treated 1 µg total RNA with 1.5 U RNase-free DNase I (Roche, Indianapolis, IN, USA) to digest contaminating genomic DNA, then reverse-transcribed the RNA into cDNA using 250 ng random hexamers and Superscript II Reverse Transcriptase (Invitrogen) following the manufacturer's instructions [see also Ref. (28, 29)]. Minus RT controls were included. Oligonucleotides used for RTqPCR are given in **Table 1**. We conducted quantitative, real-time PCR using the ABsolute[™] Blue qPCR SYBR Green Low Rox Mix (ABgene), and reactions were run on an ABI 7500 Fast qPCR machine. Relative quantities were determined using standard curves generated with pooled cDNAs.

IHC for pH3 and Phosphorylated STAT3 (pSTAT3)

We analyzed the effects of i.c.v. injection of rxLeptin on mitosis in the premetamorphic tadpole brain using IHC for pH3. The serine

Gene name	Forward	Reverse		
ctnnb1	5' GAATTGGCCACTCGAGCAA 3'	5' ACCTGGTCCTCGTCATTAAGC 3'		
sox8	5' GGGCAAACTGTGGCGTTTA 3'	5' CTCAGCCTCCTCCACAAAGG 3'		
socs3	5' AGAACCTACGCATCCAGTGTGA 3'	5' GGCACTTCGTGGGTCAGTCT 3'		
arrb2	5' TCAGTCAGACAATACGCAGACATC 3'	5' GCCACCGGGCCACTTGTAC 3'		
dab2	5' CAGCAGCTGCCACTGGAA 3'	5' ATTGTTGTGCGTGAGAGTTTAC 3'		
mad2l1	5' AAGAACTTGCAACCGTTAAACT 3'	5' TCACGAACAATGCCGTCTTTC 3'		
rpL8	5' TTTGCTGAAAGAAATGGCTACATC 3'	5' CACGGCCTGGATCATGGA 3'		

10 at the amino terminus of H3 is phosphorylated during late G2 through M phase of the cell cycle and is therefore used to detect dividing cells [for X. laevis brain: (30-32)]. We administered two i.c.v. injections of 0.6% saline or rxLeptin (200 ng/g BW) (23) into the region of the 3V of NF stage 50 tadpoles; the second injection was 24 h after the first, and tadpoles were killed 48 h after the first injection (i.e., 24 h after the second injection). We then processed brains for IHC for pH3 following the method of Denver et al. (30). Briefly, we prepared 10 µm thick transverse cryosections through entire tadpole brains and immunostained sections with a rabbit antiserum against human pH3 (1:500; Cat. #0650 EMD Millipore, Billerica, MA, USA). Primary immune complexes were detected using a secondary antibody conjugated with Cy3 (1:500, Jackson ImmunoResearch Laboratories, Inc., West Grove, PA, USA). For IHC for pSTAT3, a marker for activated LepR, we administered i.c.v. injections of 0.6% saline or rxLeptin (20 ng/g BW) (24) to NF stage 50 tadpoles and collected brains 1 h later for fixation and sectioning. We conducted IHC for pSTAT3 on Xenopus brain as described previously (24) using an antiserum generated against a phosphopeptide AP[pY]LK from mouse STAT3 (Tyr705; 1:200; Cat. # 9131, Cell Signaling), which is 100% conserved with X. laevis STAT3 (24, 33). Images of immunostained slides were captured using an Olympus XI-81 microscope, and the total number of pH3 positive cells per brain was counted. Five brains were analyzed per treatment. Xenopus neuroanatomy is based on Tuinhof et al. (34) with modifications by Yao et al. (35).

DNA Microarray Analysis of Gene Expression after i.c.v. rxLeptin Injection

We conducted DNA microarray analysis on total RNA isolated from the preoptic area/hypothalamus of NF stage 54 *X. laevis* tadpoles (~0.2 g BW) 2 h after i.c.v. injection of 0.6% saline or rxLeptin (20 ng/g BW). We isolated total RNA from microdissected brain regions of three replicate pools (three brains per pool) per treatment. Samples were hybridized to the Affymetrix GeneChip *Xenopus laevis* Genome 2.0 Array (n = 3/treatment) at the Affymetrix and Microarray Core Facility at the University of Michigan. We selected a subset of the induced genes to cover a range of expression values (fold change) for validation by RTqPCR (**Table 1**).

Microarray Data Background Correction, Normalization, and Expression Quantification

We used the Robust Multichip Average method (36) from the Affy package (v1.52.0) (37) to calculate background-corrected, normalized expression values. Genefilter (v1.56.0) (38) was used

to remove uninformative probesets (internal control probesets, or probesets with low variance or background level expression values).

Microarray Data Differential Expression Analysis and Annotation

Principal component analysis plots of the normalized, filtered samples showed samples of the same treatment (saline or rxLeptin) clustered together, and that the two treatments clustered separately. We used the limma package (v3.30.2) (39) to apply empirically derived array weights to individual samples, which were then used to calculate differential expression values (40). Annotations for each gene were added using the annotation file supplied by Affymetrix for the *X. laevis* Genome 2.0 Array.

Gene Ontology (GO) and Pathway Analysis

Gene ontology term enrichment analysis was conducted using a log₂ fold change (log₂FC) ranked list from limma, containing genes with a Benjamini and Hochberg (BH)-corrected *p*-value, or false-discovery rate (FDR) <0.05, as input into clusterProfiler (v3.2.4) (41). This analysis determines which molecular function, biological process, or cellular component GO terms are positively or negatively enriched in rxLeptin-treated samples compared with saline-treated controls, at a *p*-value < 0.05, while taking into account the magnitude and direction of change. Due to the hierarchical and redundant nature of GO terms, we obtained a summarized list of GO terms using Revigo to remove redundant terms (42).

We conducted Kyoto Encyclopedia of Genes and Genomes (KEGG) (43) pathways enrichment analysis using a log₂FC ranked list of all differential gene expression data from limma (FDR < 0.05) as input into clusterProfiler (v3.2.4) (41). An additional KEGG module (highly annotated functional units of a metabolic network) enrichment analysis was conducted using the same log₂FC ranked list as input into clusterProfiler (v3.2.4). Gene expression values for KEGG pathways were plotted on the respective pathways using the pathview package (v1.14.0) (44).

Enriched biological processes GO terms, KEGG pathways, and KEGG modules were displayed using the Enrichment Map application (v2.2.0) (45) in Cytoscape (v3.4.0) (46).

EM Gene Transfer and *In Vivo* Reporter Assay

We used EM gene transfer (30, 47–50) and i.c.v. microinjection of 0.6% saline or rxLeptin (20 ng/g BW) to investigate whether

leptin can activate the Wnt/ β -catenin signaling pathway in tadpole brain in vivo. We divided NF stage 50 tadpoles into three groups for bipolar electroporation. Tadpoles were electroporated with a DNA mixture containing pRenilla-null (50 ng/µL; for dual-luciferase assay normalization), pCMV-eGFP (500 ng/µL; to visualize transfection efficiency), and one of the following firefly luciferase reporter vectors (each at 1 µg/µL): pGL4.23 empty (negative control), GAS-luciferase (positive control for leptin activity) (23, 24) or pGL4.23-6TCF (reporter of activated canonical Wnt/β-catenin signaling). The pGL4.23-6TCF vector contains six T cell factor (TCF) sites upstream of a minimal promoter driving luciferase expression, and therefore reports activation of the canonical Wnt/β-catenin signaling pathway (gift of Dr. Ken Cadigan). A separate group of tadpoles received pGL4.23-6TCF, pRenilla-null, and pCMV-EGFP plus a constitutively active β-catenin expression vector pcDNA3-S33Y β -catenin (51) (gift of Dr. Eric Fearon) or an empty vector (pCMVneo-empty). Plasmid concentrations for electroporation are based on Yao et al. (52). Twenty-four hours after EM gene transfer we screened tadpoles for strong GFP expression, and then separated them into eight groups: pGL4.23-empty reporter, saline, or rxLeptin; GAS-luciferase, saline, or rxLeptin; pGL4.23-6TCF, saline, or rxLeptin; pGL4.23-6TCF, pCMVneoempty, or pcDNA3-S33Y β-catenin. Tadpoles receiving i.c.v. injections were given saline or rxLeptin (20 ng/g BW). Two hours after injection, tadpoles were killed and brains harvested for dual-luciferase assay following the protocol described by Yao et al. (52). We had a sample size of eight tadpoles per treatment.

Data and Statistical Analysis

We analyzed data for gene expression by RTqPCR, pH3 cell counts and dual-luciferase assay data by one-way ANOVA or by unpaired Student's *t*-test (p < 0.05). Derived values were \log_{10} -transformed before statistical analysis. Fisher's least squares difference *post hoc* test was used to separate the means following ANOVA. We used the SYSTAT 13.0 computer program (SPSS Inc.).

RESULTS

Ontogeny of *lep* mRNA in Tadpoles during Metamorphosis, and Effects of rxLeptin on Mitosis in Premetamorphic Tadpole Brain

Whole body *lep* mRNA increased 3.3-fold between stages 48 and 50, which is immediately before the onset of metamorphosis (p < 0.001, ANOVA; **Figure 1A**). The mRNA level increased further (7.6-fold) from stages 50 to 54, and remained elevated throughout metamorphosis and in the postmetamorphic frog (NF stage 66). The pattern of changes in *lep* mRNA in adipose tissue during metamorphosis was similar to whole body (**Figure 1B**; p = 0.002, ANOVA). By contrast, *lep* mRNA decreased in liver (p = 0.001) and was low and unchanged in brain throughout metamorphosis (**Figure 1B**). These findings, and other results from our laboratory support that fat tissue is the major source of *lep* mRNA in the tadpole (Melissa Cui Bender and Robert J. Denver, unpublished data). This developmental pattern of *lep*

mRNA paralleled changes in cell proliferation in tadpole brain during metamorphosis (**Figure 2A**) (30). Injection of rxLeptin strongly increased pH3-immunoreactivity (35-fold; p < 0.0001; Student's unpaired *t*-test) in cells within the VZ/SVZ throughout the tadpole brain (**Figures 2B,C**). Also, i.c.v. rxLeptin injection (1 h) induced the appearance of pSTAT3 immunoreactivity (pSTAT3-ir) in the VZ/SVZ in the region of the 3V (**Figure 2D**), supporting the expression of functional LepR in these cells. The inset in **Figure 2D** shows a high magnification view of the VZ/SVZ with elongated cells undergoing migration out of the neurogenic zone.

i.c.v. rxLeptin Injection Induces Rapid Transcriptional Responses in Early Premetamorphic (NF Stage 54) Tadpole Brain

To investigate the molecular basis for leptin action on tadpole brain, we conducted microarray analysis on the region of the diencephalon containing the preoptic area/hypothalamus of NF stage 54 tadpoles at 2 h following i.c.v. injection of 0.6% saline or rxLeptin injection (20 ng/g BW). The transformed log ratio (M) and mean average (A) plot (MA plot) in Figure 3A shows that the data are normally distributed, with a zero-centered transformed log ratio. Additionally, this plot shows that genes with a significant BH-adjusted *p*-value (FDR < 0.05), plotted in red, are distributed evenly across MA expression levels, indicating an ability to detect differentially expressed genes at any range of expression. This plot also indicates that an absolute log2 fold change (log2FC) as low as ~0.5 can be detected with confidence (FDR < 0.05). This analysis identified 2,322 induced and 1,493 repressed genes (Table S1 in Supplementary Material). The top 20 induced and repressed genes are given in Tables 2 and 3, respectively. The microarray dataset has been deposited in the Gene Expression Omnibus archive at the National Center for Biotechnology Information (GEO accession #GSE97243).

Using these differential expression data, we conducted several enrichment analyses, allowing us to classify the global gene regulation changes into several general categories (general biological process regulation, metabolism, cellular components, adhesion, immune signaling, cell signaling, development, cell division and neurogenesis, and others) and highlighting several biological processes or pathways of interest. The enrichment map in **Figure 3B** shows these data: enriched biological process GO terms (*p*-value < 0.15), KEGG pathways (*p*-value < 0.15), and KEGG modules. We validated a subset of the induced genes by RTqPCR (**Figure 4**).

The top ten GO terms involved developmental processes (**Figure 3B**; **Table 4**; Table S2 in Supplementary Material). Noteworthy is the Wnt/ β -catenin signaling pathway, which was found by each enrichment analysis (biological process GO, KEGG pathway, KEGG module; **Figure 5**). Also, signaling by two TGF β family members, bone morphogenetic protein (BMP) and activin, was among the enriched KEGG modules (**Figure 6**; Table S3 in Supplementary Material; tab KEGGmodules.filt). The hedgehog and insulin signaling pathways were also found to be enriched (Figures S1 and S2 in Supplementary Material).



FIGURE 1 | Transcription of the *lep* gene is activated during tadpole metamorphosis. (A) Whole body *lep* mRNA increases during tadpole metamorphosis. (B) Developmental changes in *lep* mRNA in four tadpole tissues during metamorphosis. We analyzed *lep* mRNA by reverse transcriptase quantitative real-time PCR. Note that the scales of the graphs in panel (B) are not directly comparable to the graph in panel (A) since the samples were analyzed in separate assays using a relative quantification method (see Materials and Methods). Means with the same letter are not significantly different [p < 0.05; Fisher's least squares difference test; n = 5-6/Nieuwkoop–Faber (NF) stage].

Wnt/β-Catenin Signaling Is Activated in Premetamorphic Tadpole Brain by i.c.v. rxLeptin Injection

To test if leptin can activate the canonical Wnt/ β -catenin signaling pathway in tadpole brain *in vivo*, we conducted EM gene transfer with different reporter plasmids, and injected saline or rxLeptin i.c.v. Injection of rxLeptin did not alter luciferase activity in pGL4.23-empty vector-transfected brain, but caused a strong increase (12.9-fold; p < 0.0001, unpaired Student's *t*-test) in luciferase driven by the GAS-luciferase vector, which reports pSTAT3 signaling induced by leptin binding to the LepR (**Figure** 7) (23, 24). This confirmed activation of LepR signaling in tadpole brain after i.c.v. rxLeptin injection. We observed a threefold increase in luciferase activity (p < 0.001) driven by the pGL4.23-6TCF (Wnt/ β -catenin pathway) reporter vector following injection of rxLeptin. Forced expression of constitutively active β -catenin confirmed the activity of the pGL4.23-6TCF reporter (47-fold increase; p < 0.0001).

DISCUSSION

Leptin has well-established roles in adult physiology, but its developmental actions are less understood. Here, we show that *lep* expression increases strongly during tadpole metamorphosis



in parallel with an increase in mitosis in tadpole brain. Also, i.c.v. injection of rxLeptin induced mitosis in neurogenic zones of premetamorphic tadpole brain. Gene expression screening identified genes regulated by leptin signaling in early premetamorphic tadpole brain, and highlighted several signaling pathways (Wnt/ β -catenin, TGF β , hedgehog, and insulin signaling) through which leptin may effect its regulatory role in neurogenesis. We also show that leptin activates Wnt/ β -catenin pathway signaling in tadpole brain *in vivo*, as evidenced by activation of a Wnt/ β -catenin pathway reporter vector.

Leptin Promotes Neurogenesis in *Xenopus* Tadpole Brain

We observed a strong induction of mitosis in neurogenic zones of the premetamorphic tadpole brain following i.c.v. injection of rxLeptin. The rapid increase in pSTAT3-ir in cells of these regions 1 h after rxLeptin injection supports that they express functional LepR, and therefore that the action of leptin on mitosis is likely to be direct. In rodent embryonic/fetal brain, LepR mRNA is expressed within the VZ/SVZ of the 3V (18, 20). The LepR mRNA level in the VZ/SVZ declines through development, after which time it appears in the arcuate nucleus and ventromedial hypothalamus (18). These LepR mRNA-expressing NSCs may be precursors of hypothalamic feeding control and hypophysiotropic neurons of the adult (21). The LepR is also expressed in the VZ/ SVZ (progenitor cell niches) of adult monkey brain (53).

Several lines of evidence from studies in rodents support that leptin controls cell proliferation in developing brain and can also induce neurogenesis in adults. For example, the reduced brain weight and DNA content in ob/ob mice is restored by leptin injection (4, 8), and leptin has been found to induce mitosis in rodent brain in vivo (8-10), and in tissue culture (11, 12). The large increase in lep mRNA in tadpoles during metamorphosis, a postembryonic developmental period that has been compared to the neonatal/early postnatal period in direct developing species like mammals (54), may be similar, both phenomenologically and functionally, to the postnatal leptin surge that occurs in rodents (17-19). It has been hypothesized that this postnatal increase in leptin plays a pivotal role in the development of the hypothalamic feeding control circuitry (13, 15, 16, 55-56). Leptin has also been shown to promote neurogenesis in the hippocampus of adult mammals (57), which may depend on Wnt/ β -catenin signaling (58). The extra-hypothalamic actions of leptin on adult neurogenesis and neural plasticity may improve cognition and mood in animal models of depression and anxiety, and circulating leptin concentration is negatively correlated with Alzheimer's disease in humans (59), and promotes neurogenesis in a mouse model



FIGURE 3 | Analysis of microarray data from preoptic area/hypothalamus of saline or recombinant *Xenopus* leptin (rxLeptin)-injected [intracerebroventricular (i.c.v.) 20 ng/g BW; 2 h] Nieuwkoop–Faber stage 54 tadpoles. (A) Transformed log ratio and mean average plot [log₂ fold change (log₂FC) vs. average expression] of saline vs. rxLeptin-injected tadpole mRNA levels (see Materials and Methods). Dots represent genes: red = genes with a false-discovery rate <0.05; blue = top 20 differentially expressed and annotated *Xenopus laevis* genes; black = all other genes. (B) Biological processes, pathways, and modules affected by i.c.v. rxLeptin injection. Enrichment map of enriched biological process gene ontology terms (redundancy reduced, p < 0.05), Kyoto Encyclopedia of Genes and Genomes (KEGG) pathways (p < 0.05), and KEGG modules. Circular node color reflects positive (red) or negative (blue) enrichment. Node color intensity reflects the degree of enrichment relative to the most highly enriched in either direction. Lines (green) represent significant genetic information shared between connected nodes (above 50%), and line thickness represents the degree of shared information.

TABLE 2 | Top twenty genes with annotation induced by recombinant Xenopus leptin in premetamorphic tadpole brain.

Gene symbol	Gene title	Entrez gene ID	log ₂ fold change	Adjusted p-value	
LOC100036815/cxcl8	Hypothetical protein LOC100036815/interleukin-8	100036815	2.63	0.00001	
ctnnb1	Beta-catenin protein	399274	2.32	0.00013	
ube2d3	Ubiquitin-conjugating enzyme E2D 3 (UBC4/5 homolog)	403384	2.23	0.00018	
lpar4	Lysophosphatidic acid receptor 4	779407	2.07	0.00018	
aplp2	Amyloid beta (A4) precursor-like protein 2	431790	2.03	0.00018	
set/TAF-Ibeta1	SET nuclear oncogene///TAF-lbeta1	379599///399349	1.94	0.00014	
brd2	RING3 protein	779057	1.94	0.00028	
mbd3	Methyl-CpG binding domain protein 3	398135	1.87	0.00018	
dhcr7	7-Dehydrocholesterol reductase	379273	1.87	0.00028	
gca	Grancalcin, EF-hand calcium binding protein	444080	1.84	0.00014	
idh3a	Isocitrate dehydrogenase 3 (NAD+) alpha	444419	1.75	0.00017	
gna11	Guanine nucleotide binding protein (G protein), alpha 11 (Gq class)	380535///779103	1.74	0.00026	
pin1	Peptidylprolyl cis/trans isomerase, NIMA-interacting 1	503670	1.72	0.00018	
mad2l1	MAD2 mitotic arrest deficient-like 1	380433	1.72	0.00074	
phyhipl	Phytanoyl-CoA 2-hydroxylase interacting protein-like	447238	1.70	0.00037	
psat1	Phosphoserine aminotransferase 1	494700	1.67	0.00013	
nm1-A	Neuritin 1-A	373709	1.66	0.00025	
ifrd1/MGC69123	Interferon-related developmental regulator 1	379667///494857	1.63	0.00019	
tifa	TRAF-interacting protein with forkhead-associated domain	734184	1.62	0.00026	
irf1	Interferon regulatory factor 1	398826	1.60	0.00007	

TABLE 3 | Top twenty genes with annotation repressed by recombinant Xenopus leptin in premetamorphic tadpole brain.

Gene symbol	Gene title	Entrez gene ID	log₂ fold change	Adjusted p-value	
gtf2h2/MGC81060	General transcription factor IIH subunit 2	443754	-1.55	0.00027	
sfrs3	Splicing factor, arginine serine-rich 3	380152	-1.51	0.00018	
muc19	Mucin 19, oligomeric	378670	-1.50	0.00018	
tmem14a	Transmembrane protein 14A	444418	-1.30	0.00613	
xcirp2	Cold-inducible RNA binding protein 2	379484	-1.22	0.00391	
prss3	Protease, serine, 3	447093	-1.16	0.01023	
tef	Thyrotrophic embryonic factor	379940	-1.14	0.00018	
hsp90aa1.1/MGC82579	Heat shock protein 90 kDa alpha family class A member 1	444024	-1.12	0.00030	
myh4	Similar to myosin, heavy polypeptide 4, skeletal muscle	399414	-1.09	0.00145	
LOC100037078	Hypothetical protein LOC100037078	100037078	-1.09	0.01290	
pcca	Propionyl Coenzyme A carboxylase, alpha polypeptide	734347	-1.04	0.00330	
dnajc8	DnaJ (Hsp40) homolog, subfamily C, member 8	447089	-1.03	0.00224	
dhx.8S/MGC80994	DEAH-box helicase 8 S homolog	444315	-1.03	0.00145	
LOC397871	Larval beta II globin	397871	-1.02	0.00106	
MGC85304	MGC85304 protein	447105	-1.02	0.00207	
MGC99235	MGC99235 protein	447690	-1.01	0.00053	
MGC64236	Hypothetical protein MGC64236	379516	-1.01	0.00292	
scc2-1	Scc2-1B	445865	-0.95	0.01224	
zmynd8	Zinc finger, MYND-type containing 8	733267	-0.94	0.01584	
hmgn1/MGC64236	High mobility group nucleosome binding domain 1	379516	-0.94	0.00244	

of Alzheimer's disease (60). Leptin has also been shown to be neuroprotective and induces neurogenesis and angiogenesis after stroke (61–63).

Cell proliferation in tadpole brain during metamorphosis depends on thyroid hormone (30). However, other mitogens such as leptin, activators of the TGF β pathway, neurotrophins, and insulin-like peptides likely also play important roles in this developmental process. Indeed, there may be synergy between different signaling pathways, some that are affected by nutritional state like leptin and insulin-like peptides, that determine cell expansion and development of neural structures and pathways. Leptin has been found to synergize with thyroid hormone to

induce proliferation of chondrocytes in growth plates, and also to promote terminal differentiation (64). Whether similar synergy occurs in the developing brain, which is critically dependent on thyroid hormone for its development, requires further study.

Leptin Activates Canonical Wnt/β-Catenin Signaling in *Xenopus* Tadpole Brain

Using gene expression screening, we discovered sets of genes that are rapidly induced or repressed by leptin signaling in the tadpole preoptic area/hypothalamus. The major pathways regulated by leptin included the Wnt/ β -catenin and TGF β signaling pathways.



transcriptase quantitative real-time PCR (RTqPCR). Tadpoles received an injection intracerebroventricular of 0.6% saline or recombinant *Xenopus* leptin (rxLeptin) (20 ng/g BW) and were killed 2 h later for tissue harvest for RNA isolation. Gene expression was analyzed by SYBR Green RTqPCR and normalized to the reference gene rpL8 which was not affected by rxLeptin injection (data not shown). Asterisks indicate statistically significant differences from saline injected controls (*p < 0.05; unpaired Student's *t*-test).

ID	Description	Set size	Enrichment score	NES	<i>p</i> -Value	p.adjust	q-Values
GO:0044767	Single-organism developmental process	470	0.298665447	1.479435427	0.00101833	0.159221311	0.159221311
GO:0048856	Anatomical structure development	452	0.305758564	1.512476805	0.00101833	0.159221311	0.159221311
GO:0032502	Developmental process	473	0.305340626	1.513106572	0.001019368	0.159221311	0.159221311
GO:0044707	Single-multicellular organism process	433	0.301770432	1.490562662	0.001023541	0.159221311	0.159221311
GO:0032501	Multicellular organismal process	463	0.29984464	1.483930907	0.00102459	0.159221311	0.159221311
GO:0007275	Multicellular organism development	407	0.300744558	1.475210668	0.003089598	0.400102987	0.400102987
GO:0030154	Cell differentiation	203	0.319354548	1.47945519	0.004429679	0.491694352	0.491694352
GO:0009790	Embryo development	84	0.391329957	1.634661027	0.006157635	0.598060345	0.598060345
GO:0048513	Animal organ development	137	0.342563144	1.530163684	0.007900677	0.649743161	0.649743161
GO:0048869	Cellular developmental process	242	0.301733778	1.42896268	0.008583691	0.649743161	0.649743161



Notably, we identified several genes involved in the Wnt/β-catenin signaling pathway, including β -catenin, the central component of the canonical Wnt/β-catenin pathway. The Wnt proteins, and the canonical Wnt/ β -catenin intracellular signaling pathway, play central roles in development and disease (65), including development of the central nervous system, and are known to promote cell proliferation (66). The Wnt ligands bind to cell surface receptors of the Frizzled (Fz) and low-density lipoprotein-related protein families (67). In canonical Wnt/ β -catenin signaling, the absence of Wnt ligand causes cytoplasmic signaling components such as glycogen synthase kinase 3β (GSK3 β) to phosphorylate β-catenin, leading to the latter's degradation. Activation of Wnt receptors leads to phosphorylation of GSK3β, allowing β-catenin to accumulate in the cytoplasm. The accumulated β-catenin translocates to the nucleus, where it interacts with lymphoid enhancer-binding factor 1 with lymphoid enhancer-binding factor 1 (also known as TCF) to activate transcription of Wnt/βcatenin target genes (67, 68).

In addition to the Wnt receptor Fzd10 and β -catenin (ctnnb1), one of the TCFs, Tcf7l1 (also known as TCF-3) was induced by leptin in tadpole brain. This transcription factor is a transcriptional repressor (67) and was recently found to promote growth of colorectal cancers (69). *Myc* was also identified in our screen and is a Wnt/ β -catenin target gene that functions in mitosis (70). The cyclin-dependent kinase 10 was induced by leptin and is known to be modulated by Wnt/ β -catenin signaling (66, 71).

There is mounting evidence from different systems and tissues that leptin induction of mitosis and cell survival depends on Wnt/ β -catenin signaling (72, 73). For example, the level of β -catenin in the cytoplasm is maintained low through continuous proteasome-mediated degradation controlled by a protein complex of GSK3/APC/Axin (65). Phosphorylation of GSK3 on serine 9 by activated Wnt/ β -catenin signaling leads to destruction of this complex and the accumulation of β -catenin. β -Catenin translocates to the nucleus to regulate gene transcription (65). Leptin acts as a growth factor for different kinds of tumor cells



entire dataset.

(73, 74), causes rapid nuclear translocation of β -catenin, and activates other components of the Wnt/ β -catenin pathway (74–76). Leptin-dependent activation of Wnt/ β -catenin signaling has also been shown to play a role in leptin action in the adult hypothalamus to modulate glucose homeostasis and energy balance (77–80).

Leptin Modulates TGF β , Hedgehog, and Insulin Signaling in *Xenopus* Tadpole Brain

After the Wnt/ β -catenin pathway, the next most enriched pathway activated by leptin in tadpole brain was that regulated by the TGF β superfamily of ligands, in particular bone BMP and activin. The TGF β signaling pathway plays central roles in animal development, including cell proliferation, cell differentiation, and apoptosis (81, 82). Several components of this pathway were modulated by leptin in tadpole brain, including ligands, cell surface receptors, and receptor-activated transcription factors of the SMAD family (see **Figure 6**).

The hedgehog signaling pathway was also found to be activated by leptin (Figure S1 in Supplementary Material). A proposed mechanism of leptin-induced neurogenesis in murine transient amplifying neuroblasts involves hedgehog signaling regulation (83). We also found that leptin modulated components of the insulin signaling pathway (see Figure S2 in Supplementary Material). Interactions between leptin and insulin signaling, and potential therapeutic uses for leptin in normalizing type 2 diabetes have been described recently (84–86). The signal transduction pathways initiated by insulin and leptin are both distinct and overlapping. For example, leptin activates the JAK2–STAT pathway, while insulin activates the mitogen-activated protein kinase pathway. Both insulin and leptin appear to activate the PI3K pathway. Recent findings show that insulin can potentiate leptin signaling (87).

Leptin and Developmental Programming

Early life nutrition (from maternal source—placenta or yolk, or from feeding—larva) can influence adipocyte production of leptin in the fetus (88, 89) or larva (*Xenopus*, Melissa Cui Bender and Robert J. Denver, unpublished data). Alterations in hormone production, influenced by nutrition during critical periods of development can affect the timing of development, and exert lasting effects on the structure and function of hypothalamic



the region of the third ventricle of premetamorphic (Nieuwkoop–Faber stage 50) tadpoles and transfected them by biopolar electroporation-mediate gene transfer. Twenty-four hours after transfection, we screened tadpoles for EGFP expression, and then separated them into eight groups. The reporter vector is given at the top left of each panel. Tadpoles received intracerebroventricular (i.c.v.) injections of 0.6% saline or recombinant *Xenopus* leptin (rxLeptin) (20 ng/g BW); a separate group was cotransfected with the pGL4.23-6TCF reporter vector and either empty expression vector (pCMVneo-empty) or a vector that expresses constitutively active β -catenin (pcDNA3-S33Y β -catenin). Two hours after i.c.v. injection, tadpoles were killed and brains harvested for dual-luciferase assay. Asterisks indicate statistically significant differences (*p < 0.001, **p < 0.0001; n = 8 tadpoles/treatment).

feeding and neuroendocrine circuits, a phenomenon termed developmental programming (88–93). There is mounting evidence that early life nutrition is an important determinant for risk of obesity (94), and modulation of leptin signaling during critical developmental periods can have long-term consequences for adult physiology (95–99). In animal models, undernutrition during pregnancy leads to a premature leptin surge, and offspring develop leptin resistance as adults, especially following a high-fat diet (100). A decrease or loss of leptin signaling in early postnatal life impairs development of the feeding circuit, and also predisposes individuals to leptin resistance and obesity as adults (95–99, 101–103).

The cellular and molecular mechanisms by which leptin acts on the developing brain to "program" the hypothalamic feeding control circuit are poorly understood (104). One possible mechanism of action is for circulating leptin in the neonate/tadpole to act within neurogenic zones of the developing brain to induce expansion of a LepR expressing cell population, which ultimately establishes the leptin-responsive network in the hypothalamus and other brain regions. Mammals develop competence to respond to leptin signaling during early postnatal development (15, 16, 105); amphibians develop competence to respond to leptin during early premetamorphosis (Melissa Cui Bender and Robert J. Denver, unpublished data). Functional LepR is detected in the VZ/SVZ during early postnatal development in rodents (18) and premetamorphosis in *Xenopus* (**Figure 2D**). Based on our findings and those in the literature, we hypothesize that leptin acts on the neural progenitor population *via* Wnt/ β -catenin signaling to induce mitosis and promote cell survival.

Future fate mapping studies can investigate if cells born in the ependymal layer following leptin injection migrate to and populate the preoptic area and ventral hypothalamus. It will also be interesting to investigate the consequences of aberrant leptin signaling during early postembryonic development on later-life physiology and hypothalamic feeding control centers using the *Xenopus* model system. Leptin signaling in early stage *Xenopus* tadpole brain can be easily activated by i.c.v. injection of rxLeptin. Furthermore, cells in the tadpole VZ/SVZ can be transfected by EM gene transfer with expression plasmids (e.g., pCS2-xLepR) to force LepR expression in stem/progenitor cells, followed by injection of rxLeptin i.c.v. to activate LepR signaling. We predict that forced expression of LepR in progenitor/stem cells in the developing brain will promote proliferation followed by differentiation of these cells into the LepR expressing lineage.

ETHICS STATEMENT

All procedures involving animals were conducted under an approved animal use protocol (PRO00006809) in accordance with the guidelines of the Institutional Animal Care and Use Committee at the University of Michigan.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

MB participated in the design of experiments, conducted the leptin mRNA analysis, immunohistochemistry for pH3, DNA microarray analyses and electroporation-mediated gene transfer, and participated in writing the manuscript. CS did the bioinformatics analyses of the DNA microarray data and participated in

REFERENCES

- Morton GJ, Cummings DE, Baskin DG, Barsh GS, Schwartz MW. Central nervous system control of food intake and body weight. *Nature* (2006) 443:289–95. doi:10.1038/nature05026
- Denver RJ, Bonett RM, Boorse GC. Evolution of leptin structure and function. Neuroendocrinology (2011) 94:21–38. doi:10.1159/000328435
- Londraville RL, Macotela Y, Duff RJ, Easterling MR, Liu Q, Crespi EJ. Comparative endocrinology of leptin: assessing function in a phylogenetic context. *Gen Comp Endocrinol* (2014) 203:146–57. doi:10.1016/j.ygcen.2014. 02.002
- Ahima RS, Osei SY. Leptin signaling. *Physiol Behav* (2004) 81:223–41. doi:10.1016/j.physbeh.2004.02.014
- Myers MG, Cowley MA, Munzberg H. Mechanisms of leptin action and leptin resistance. *Annu Rev Physiol* (2008) 70:537–56. doi:10.1146/annurev. physiol.70.113006.100707
- Wauman J, Tavernier J. Leptin receptor signaling: pathways to leptin resistance. Front Biosci (Landmark Ed) (2011) 16:2771–93. doi:10.2741/ 3885
- Xu AW, Kaelin CB, Takeda K, Akira S, Schwartz MW, Barsh GS. PI3K integrates the action of insulin and leptin on hypothalamic neurons. *J Clin Invest* (2005) 115:951–8. doi:10.1172/JCI200524301
- Steppan CM, Swick AG. A role for leptin in brain development. *Biochem Biophys Res Commun* (1999) 256:600–2. doi:10.1006/bbrc.1999.0382
- Udagawa J, Hashimoto R, Suzuki H, Hatta T, Sotomaru Y, Hioki K, et al. The role of leptin in the development of the cerebral cortex in mouse embryos. *Endocrinology* (2006) 147:647–58. doi:10.1210/en.2005-0791
- Udagawa J, Hatta T, Hashimoto R, Otani H. Roles of leptin in prenatal and perinatal brain development. *Congenit Anom* (2007) 47:77–83. doi:10.1111/ j.1741-4520.2007.00150.x
- Desai M, Li T, Ross MG. Fetal hypothalamic neuroprogenitor cell culture: preferential differentiation paths induced by leptin and insulin. *Endocrinology* (2011) 152:3192–201. doi:10.1210/en.2010-1217
- Desai M, Li T, Ross MG. Hypothalamic neurosphere progenitor cells in low birth-weight rat newborns: neurotrophic effects of leptin and insulin. *Brain Res* (2011) 1378:29–42. doi:10.1016/j.brainres.2010.12.080
- Bouret SG, Draper SJ, Simerly RB. Formation of projection pathways from the arcuate nucleus of the hypothalamus to hypothalamic regions implicated in the neural control of feeding behavior in mice. *J Neurosci* (2004) 24:2797–805. doi:10.1523/JNEUROSCI.5369-03.2004
- Bouret SG, Draper SJ, Simerly RB. Trophic action of leptin on hypothalamic neurons that regulate feeding. *Science* (2004) 304:108–10. doi:10.1126/ science.1095004
- Bouret SG, Simerly RB. Minireview: leptin and development of hypothalamic feeding circuits. *Endocrinology* (2004) 145:2621–6. doi:10.1210/en.2004-0231
- Bouret SG, Simerly RB. Development of leptin-sensitive circuits. J Neuroendocrinol (2007) 19:575–82. doi:10.1111/j.1365-2826.2007.01563.x
- 17. Ahima RS, Prabakaran D, Flier JS. Postnatal leptin surge and regulation of circadian rhythm of leptin by feeding implications for energy homeostasis

writing the manuscript. RD participated in the design of experiments, analysis of the data, and in writing the manuscript.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

This research was supported by a grant from the National Science Foundation (IOS 0641587) to RD. The authors thank Caroline Hu for technical assistance with pSTAT3 IHC, and Ken Cadigan and Eric Fearon for providing plasmids.

SUPPLEMENTARY MATERIAL

The Supplementary Material for this article can be found online at http://journal.frontiersin.org/article/10.3389/fendo.2017.00099/ full#supplementary-material.

and neuroendocrine function. J Clin Invest (1998) 101:1020–7. doi:10.1172/ JCI1176

- Cottrell EC, Cripps RL, Duncan JS, Barrett P, Mercer JG, Herwig A, et al. Developmental changes in hypothalamic leptin receptor: relationship with the postnatal leptin surge and energy balance neuropeptides in the postnatal rat. *Am J Physiol Regul Integr Comp Physiol* (2009) 296:R631–9. doi:10.1152/ ajpregu.90690.2008
- Cottrell EC, Mercer JG, Ozanne SE. Postnatal development of hypothalamic leptin receptors. *Vitam Horm* (2010) 82:201–17. doi:10.1016/S0083-6729 (10)82011-4
- Udagawa J, Hatta T, Naora H, Otani H. Expression of the long form of leptin receptor (Ob-Rb) mRNA in the brain of mouse embryos and newborn mice. *Brain Res* (2000) 868:251–8. doi:10.1016/S0006-8993(00)02334-9
- Ishii Y, Bouret SG. Embryonic birthdate of hypothalamic leptin-activated neurons in mice. *Endocrinology* (2012) 153:3657–67. doi:10.1210/en. 2012-1328
- Prokop JW, Schmidt C, Gasper D, Duff RJ, Milsted A, Ohkubo T, et al. Discovery of the elusive leptin in birds: identification of several 'missing links' in the evolution of leptin and its receptor. *PLoS One* (2014) 9:e92751. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0092751
- Crespi EJ, Denver RJ. Leptin (ob gene) of the South African clawed frog Xenopus laevis. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A (2006) 103:10092–7. doi:10.1073/ pnas.0507519103
- Cui MY, Hu CK, Pelletier C, Dziuba A, Slupski RH, Li C, et al. Ancient origins and evolutionary conservation of intracellular and neural signaling pathways engaged by the leptin receptor. *Endocrinology* (2014) 155:4202–14. doi:10.1210/en.2014-1301
- 25. Nieuwkoop PD, Faber J. *Normal Table of Xenopus laevis (Daudin)*. New York: Garland Publishing Inc. (1994).
- Crespi EJ, Denver RJ. Roles of stress hormones in food intake regulation in anuran amphibians throughout the life cycle. *Comp Biochem Physiol A Mol Integr Physiol* (2005) 141:381–90. doi:10.1016/j.cbpb.2004.12.007
- Hu F, Knoedler JR, Denver RJ. A mechanism to enhance cellular responsivity to hormone action: Kruppel-like factor 9 promotes thyroid hormone receptor-beta autoinduction during postembryonic brain development. *Endocrinology* (2016) 157:1683–93. doi:10.1210/en.2015-1980
- Bagamasbad P, Howdeshell KL, Sachs LM, Demeneix BA, Denver RJ. A role for basic transcription element-binding protein 1 (BTEB1) in the autoinduction of thyroid hormone receptor beta. *J Biol Chem* (2008) 283:2275–85. doi:10.1074/jbc.M709306200
- Manzon RG, Denver RJ. Regulation of pituitary thyrotropin gene expression during *Xenopus* metamorphosis: negative feedback is functional throughout metamorphosis. *J Endocrinol* (2004) 182:273–85. doi:10.1677/joe.0.1820273
- Denver RJ, Hu F, Scanlan TS, Furlow JD. Thyroid hormone receptor subtype specificity for hormone-dependent neurogenesis in *Xenopus laevis*. *Dev Biol* (2009) 326:155–68. doi:10.1016/j.ydbio.2008.11.005
- Saka Y, Smith JC. Spatial and temporal patterns of cell division during early *Xenopus* embryogenesis. *Dev Biol* (2001) 229:307–18. doi:10.1006/ dbio.2000.0101

- 32. Schreiber AM, Das B, Huang HC, Marsh-Armstrong N, Brown DD. Diverse developmental programs of *Xenopus laevis* metamorphosis are inhibited by a dominant negative thyroid hormone receptor. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* (2001) 98:10739–44. doi:10.1073/pnas.191361698
- Nishinakamura R, Matsumoto Y, Matsuda T, Ariizumi T, Heike T, Asashima M, et al. Activation of Stat3 by cytokine receptor gp130 ventralizes *Xenopus* embryos independent of BMP-4. *Dev Biol* (1999) 216:481–90. doi:10.1006/ dbio.1999.9518
- Tuinhof R, Gonzalez A, Smeets W, Roubos EW. Neuropeptide Y in the developing and adult brain of the South African clawed toad *Xenopus laevis*. *J Chem Neuroanat* (1994) 7:271–83. doi:10.1016/0891-0618(94)90018-3
- Yao M, Westphal N, Denver R. Distribution and acute stressor-induced activation of corticotrophin-releasing hormone neurones in the central nervous system of *Xenopus laevis*. J Neuroendocrinol (2004) 16:880–93. doi:10.1111/j.1365-2826.2004.01246.x
- Irizarry RA, Hobbs B, Collin F, Beazer-Barclay YD, Antonellis KJ, Scherf U, et al. Exploration, normalization, and summaries of high density oligonucleotide array probe level data. *Biostatistics* (2003) 4:249–64. doi:10.1093/ biostatistics/4.2.249
- Gautier L, Cope L, Bolstad BM, Irizarry RA. affy analysis of Affymetrix GeneChip data at the probe level. *Bioinformatics* (2004) 20:307–15. doi:10.1093/ bioinformatics/btg405
- Gentleman R, Carey V, Huber W, Hahne F. genefilter: genefilter: methods for filtering genes from high-throughput experiments. R package version 1.50.0.
- Ritchie ME, Diyagama D, Neilson J, van Laar R, Dobrovic A, Holloway A, et al. Empirical array quality weights in the analysis of microarray data. *BMC Bioinformatics* (2006) 7:261. doi:10.1186/1471-2105-7-261
- Smyth GK. Linear models and empirical bayes methods for assessing differential expression in microarray experiments. *Stat Appl Genet Mol Biol* (2004) 3:Article3. doi:10.2202/1544-6115.1027
- Yu GC, Wang LG, Han YY, He QY. clusterProfiler: an R package for comparing biological themes among gene clusters. *OMICS* (2012) 16:284–7. doi:10.1089/omi.2011.0118
- Supek F, Bosnjak M, Skunca N, Smuc T. REVIGO summarizes and visualizes long lists of gene ontology terms. *PLoS One* (2011) 6:e21800. doi:10.1371/ journal.pone.0021800
- Ogata H, Goto S, Fujibuchi W, Kanehisa M. Computation with the KEGG pathway database. *Biosystems* (1998) 47:119–28. doi:10.1016/S0303-2647 (98)00017-3
- Luo WJ, Brouwer C. Pathview: an R/Bioconductor package for pathway-based data integration and visualization. *Bioinformatics* (2013) 29:1830–1. doi:10.1093/bioinformatics/btt285
- Merico D, Isserlin R, Stueker O, Emili A, Bader GD. Enrichment map: a network-based method for gene-set enrichment visualization and interpretation. *PLoS One* (2010) 5:e13984. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0013984
- Shannon P, Markiel A, Ozier O, Baliga NS, Wang JT, Ramage D, et al. Cytoscape: a software environment for integrated models of biomolecular interaction networks. *Genome Res* (2003) 13:2498–504. doi:10.1101/gr.1239303
- Boorse GC, Kholdani CA, Seasholtz AF, Denver RJ. Corticotropin-releasing factor is cytoprotective in *Xenopus* tadpole tail: coordination of ligand, receptor, and binding protein in tail muscle cell survival. *Endocrinology* (2006) 147:1498–507. doi:10.1210/en.2005-1273
- Haas K, Jensen K, Sin WC, Foa L, Cline HT. Targeted electroporation in *Xenopus* tadpoles in vivo – from single cells to the entire brain. *Differentiation* (2002) 70:148–54. doi:10.1046/j.1432-0436.2002.700404.x
- Yao M, Denver RJ. Regulation of vertebrate corticotropin-releasing factor genes. Gen Comp Endocrinol (2007) 153:200–16. doi:10.1016/j.ygcen. 2007.01.046
- Yao M, Schulkin J, Denver RJ. Evolutionarily conserved glucocorticoid regulation of corticotropin-releasing factor expression. *Endocrinology* (2008) 149:2352–60. doi:10.1210/en.2007-1551
- Kolligs FT, Hu G, Dang CV, Fearon ER. Neoplastic transformation of RK3E by mutant beta-catenin requires deregulation of Tcf/Lef transcription but not activation of c-myc expression. *Mol Cell Biol* (1999) 19:5696–706. doi:10.1128/MCB.19.8.5696
- 52. Yao M, Stenzel-Poore M, Denver RJ. Structural and functional conservation of vertebrate corticotropin-releasing factor genes: evidence for a critical role for a conserved cyclic AMP response element. *Endocrinology* (2007) 148:2518–31. doi:10.1210/en.2006-1413

- Tonchev AB. Expression of leptin receptor in progenitor cell niches of adult monkey brain. C R Acad Bulg Sci (2008) 61:1219–24.
- Tata JR. Amphibian metamorphosis as a model for the developmental actions of thyroid hormone. *Mol Cell Endocrinol* (2006) 246:10–20. doi:10.1016/j. mce.2005.11.024
- Bouret SG. Development of hypothalamic neural networks controlling appetite. In: Langhans W, Geary N, editors. *Frontiers in Eating and Weight Regulation*. Basel: S. Karger AG (2010). p. 84–93.
- Bouret SG. Neurodevelopmental actions of leptin. Brain Res (2010) 1350:2–9. doi:10.1016/j.brainres.2010.04.011
- Garza JC, Guo M, Zhang W, Lu XY. Leptin increases adult hippocampal neurogenesis in vivo and in vitro. *J Biol Chem* (2008) 283:18238–47. doi:10.1074/jbc.M800053200
- Garza JC, Guo M, Zhang W, Lu XY. Leptin restores adult hippocampal neurogenesis in a chronic unpredictable stress model of depression and reverses glucocorticoid-induced inhibition of GSK-3 beta/beta-catenin signaling. *Mol Psychiatry* (2012) 17:790–808. doi:10.1038/mp.2011.161
- Paz G, Wong ML, Licinio J. The procognitive effects of leptin in the brain and their clinical implications. *Int J Clin Pract* (2010) 64:1808–12. doi:10.1111/j.1742-1241.2010.02536.x
- Perez-Gonzalez R, Antequera D, Vargas T, Spuch C, Bolos M, Carro E. Leptin induces proliferation of neuronal progenitors and neuroprotection in a mouse model of Alzheimer's disease. *J Alzheimers Dis* (2011) 24:17–25. doi:10.3233/JAD-2011-102070
- Avraham Y, Davidi N, Lassri V, Vorobiev L, Kabesa M, Dayan M, et al. Leptin induces neuroprotection neurogenesis and angiogenesis after stroke. *Curr Neurovasc Res* (2011) 8:313–22. doi:10.2174/156720211798120954
- 62. Parimisetty A, Dorsemans AC, Awada R, Ravanan P, Diotel N, d'Hellencourt CL. Secret talk between adipose tissue and central nervous system via secreted factors-an emerging frontier in the neurodegenerative research. J Neuroinflammation (2016) 13:67. doi:10.1186/s12974-016-0530-x
- 63. Tang BL. Leptin as a neuroprotective agent. *Biochem Biophys Res Commun* (2008) 368:181–5. doi:10.1016/j.bbrc.2008.01.063
- Wang L, Shao YY, Ballock RT. Leptin synergizes with thyroid hormone signaling in promoting growth plate chondrocyte proliferation and terminal differentiation in vitro. *Bone* (2011) 48:1022–7. doi:10.1016/j.bone.2011.02.012
- Logan CY, Nusse R. The Wnt signaling pathway in development and disease. Annu Rev Cell Dev Biol (2004) 20:781–810. doi:10.1146/annurev. cellbio.20.010403.113126
- Davidson G. The cell cycle and Wnt. Cell Cycle (2010) 9:1667–8. doi:10.4161/ cc.9.9.11595
- Cadigan KM, Waterman ML. TCF/LEFs and Wnt signaling in the nucleus. *Cold Spring Harb Perspect Biol* (2012) 4:a007906. doi:10.1101/cshperspect. a007906
- Clevers H. Wnt/beta-catenin signaling in development and disease. Cell (2006) 127:469–80. doi:10.1016/j.cell.2006.10.018
- Murphy M, Chatterjee SS, Jain S, Katari M, DasGupta R. TCF7L1 modulates colorectal cancer growth by inhibiting expression of the tumor-suppressor gene EPHB3. Sci Rep (2016) 6:28299. doi:10.1038/srep28299
- Stephens WZ, Senecal M, Nguyen M, Piotrowski T. Loss of adenomatous polyposis coli (apc) results in an expanded ciliary marginal zone in the zebrafish eye. *Dev Dyn* (2010) 239:2066–77. doi:10.1002/dvdy.22325
- Davidson G, Niehrs C. Emerging links between CDK cell cycle regulators and Wnt signaling. *Trends Cell Biol* (2010) 20:453–60. doi:10.1016/j.tcb. 2010.05.002
- Doherty GH, Oldreive C, Harvey J. Neuroprotective actions of leptin on central and peripheral neurons in vitro. *Neuroscience* (2008) 154:1297–307. doi:10.1016/j.neuroscience.2008.04.052
- Endo H, Hosono K, Uchiyama T, Sakai E, Sugiyama M, Takahashi H, et al. Leptin acts as a growth factor for colorectal tumours at stages subsequent to tumour initiation in murine colon carcinogenesis. *Gut* (2011) 60:1363–71. doi:10.1136/gut.2010.235754
- Arita S, Kinoshita Y, Ushida K, Enomoto A, Inagaki-Ohara K. High-fat diet feeding promotes stemness and precancerous changes in murine gastric mucosa mediated by leptin receptor signaling pathway. *Arch Biochem Biophys* (2016) 610:16–24. doi:10.1016/j.abb.2016.09.015
- 75. Fenton JI, Lavigne JA, Perkins SN, Liu H, Chandramouli GVR, Shih JH, et al. Microarray analysis reveals that leptin induces autocrine/paracrine cascades to promote survival and proliferation of colon epithelial cells in an

Apc genotype-dependent fashion. *Mol Carcinog* (2008) 47:9–21. doi:10.1002/mc.20357

- 76. Yan D, Avtanski D, Saxena NK, Sharma D. Leptin-induced epithelialmesenchymal transition in breast cancer cells requires beta-catenin activation via Akt/GSK3- and MTA1/Wnt1 protein-dependent pathways. *J Biol Chem* (2012) 287:8598–612. doi:10.1074/jbc.M111.322800
- Benzler J, Andrews ZB, Pracht C, Stohr S, Shepherd PR, Grattan DR, et al. Hypothalamic Wnt signalling is impaired during obesity and reinstated by leptin treatment in male mice. *Endocrinology* (2013) 154:4737–45. doi:10.1210/en.2013-1746
- Benzler J, Ganjam GK, Kruger M, Pinkenburg O, Kutschke M, Stohr S, et al. Hypothalamic glycogen synthase kinase 3 beta has a central role in the regulation of food intake and glucose metabolism. *Biochem J* (2012) 447:175–84. doi:10.1042/BJ20120834
- Boucsein A, Benzler J, Hempp C, Stohr S, Helfer G, Tups A. Photoperiodic and diurnal regulation of Wnt signaling in the arcuate nucleus of the female Djungarian hamster, *Phodopus sungorus. Endocrinology* (2016) 157:799–809. doi:10.1210/en.2015-1708
- Helfer G, Tups A. Hypothalamic Wnt signalling and its role in energy balance regulation. J Neuroendocrinol (2016) 28:12368. doi:10.1111/jne.12368
- Moustakas A, Heldin CH. The regulation of TGF beta signal transduction. Development (2009) 136:3699–714. doi:10.1242/dev.030338
- Ross S, Hill CS. How the Smads regulate transcription. Int J Biochem Cell Biol (2008) 40:383–408. doi:10.1016/j.biocel.2007.09.006
- Armato U, Chakravarthy B, Chiarini A, Chioffi F, Dal Pra I, Whitfield J. Leptin, sonic hedgehogs, and neurogenesis – a primary cilium's taleon. J Alzheimers Dis (2012) 2:1000e1105. doi:10.4172/2161-0460.1000e105
- Jackson VM, Breen DM, Fortin JP, Liou A, Kuzmiski JB, Loomis AK, et al. Latest approaches for the treatment of obesity. *Expert Opin Drug Discov* (2015) 10:825–39. doi:10.1517/17460441.2015.1044966
- Meek TH, Morton GJ. The role of leptin in diabetes: metabolic effects. Diabetologia (2016) 59:928–32. doi:10.1007/s00125-016-3898-3
- Stern JH, Rutkowski JM, Scherer PE. Adiponectin, leptin, and fatty acids in the maintenance of metabolic homeostasis through adipose tissue crosstalk. *Cell Metab* (2016) 23:770–84. doi:10.1016/j.cmet.2016. 04.011
- Thon M, Hosoi T, Ozawa K. Possible integrative actions of leptin and insulin signaling in the hypothalamus targeting energy homeostasis. *Front Endocrinol* (2016) 7:138. doi:10.3389/fendo.2016.00138
- Levin BE. Metabolic imprinting: critical impact of the perinatal environment on the regulation of energy homeostasis. *Philos Trans R Soc Lond B Biol Sci* (2006) 361:1107–21. doi:10.1098/rstb.2006.1851
- Plagemann A. Perinatal nutrition and hormone-dependent programming of food intake. *Horm Res* (2006) 65:83–9. doi:10.1159/000091511
- Bouret SG. Leptin, nutrition, and the programming of hypothalamic feeding circuits. In: Lucas A, Makrides M, Ziegler EE, editors. *Importance of Growth for Health and Development*. Basel: S. Karger AG (2010). p. 25–39.
- Lee DA, Blackshaw S. Feed your head: neurodevelopmental control of feeding and metabolism. *Annual Review of Physiology* (2014) 76:197–223. doi:10.1146/annurev-physiol-021113-170347
- 92. Ross MG, Desai M. Developmental programming of appetite/satiety. *Ann Nutr Metab* (2014) 64 Suppl 1:36–44. doi:10.1159/000360508
- Sullivan EL, Grove KL. Metabolic imprinting in obesity. In: Langhans W, Geary N, editors. Frontiers in Eating and Weight Regulation. Basel: S. Karger AG (2010). p. 186–94.

- 94. Lau C, Rogers JM, Desai M, Ross MG. Fetal programming of adult disease implications for prenatal care. *Obstet Gynecol* (2011) 117:978–85. doi:10.1097/ AOG.0b013e318212140e
- Bouyer K, Simerly RB. Neonatal leptin exposure specifies innervation of presympathetic hypothalamic neurons and improves the metabolic status of leptin-deficient mice. *J Neurosci* (2013) 33:840–51. doi:10.1523/ JNEUROSCI.3215-12.2013
- 96. Djiane J, Attig L. Role of leptin during perinatal metabolic programming and obesity. *J Physiol Pharmacol* (2008) 59:55–63.
- Granado M, Garcia-Caceres C, Fuente-Martin E, Diaz F, Mela V, Viveros MP, et al. Effects of acute changes in neonatal leptin levels on food intake and long-term metabolic profiles in rats. *Endocrinology* (2011) 152:4116–26. doi:10.1210/en.2011-1233
- Mela V, Diaz F, Lopez-Rodriguez AB, Vazquez MJ, Gertler A, Argente J, et al. Blockage of the neonatal leptin surge affects the gene expression of growth factors, glial proteins, and neuropeptides involved in the control of metabolism and reproduction in peripubertal male and female rats. *Endocrinology* (2015) 156:2571–81. doi:10.1210/en.2014-1981
- Walker CD, Long H, Williams S, Richard D. Long-lasting effects of elevated neonatal leptin on rat hippocampal function, synaptic proteins and NMDA receptor subunits. *J Neurosci Res* (2007) 85:816–28. doi:10.1002/jnr.21173
- 100. Yura S, Itoh H, Sagawa N, Yamamoto H, Masuzaki H, Nakao K, et al. Role of premature leptin surge in obesity resulting from intrauterine undernutrition. *Cell Metab* (2005) 1:371–8. doi:10.1016/j.cmet.2005.05.005
- 101. Attig L, Solomon G, Ferezou J, Abdennebi-Najar L, Taouis M, Gertler A, et al. Early postnatal leptin blockage leads to a long-term leptin resistance and susceptibility to diet-induced obesity in rats. *Int J Obes* (2008) 32:1153–60. doi:10.1038/ijo.2008.39
- Bouret SG. Early life origins of obesity: role of hypothalamic programming. J Pediatr Gastroenterol Nutr (2009) 48:S31–8. doi:10.1097/MPG. 0b013e3181977375
- Vickers MH, Breier BH, Cutfield WS, Hofman PL, Gluckman PD. Fetal origins of hyperphagia, obesity, and hypertension and postnatal amplification by hypercaloric nutrition. *Am J Physiol Endocrinol Metab* (2000) 279:E83–7.
- 104. Bouret SG. Organizational actions of metabolic hormones. Front Neuroendocrinol (2013) 34:18–26. doi:10.1016/j.yfrne.2013.01.001
- Caron E, Sachot C, Prevot V, Bouret SG. Distribution of leptin-sensitive cells in the postnatal and adult mouse brain. J Comp Neurol (2010) 518:459–76. doi:10.1002/cne.22219

Conflict of Interest Statement: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

The handling editor declared a shared affiliation, though no other collaboration, with the authors, and the handling editor states that the process met the standards of a fair and objective review.

Copyright © 2017 Bender, Sifuentes and Denver. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) or licensor are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





Energy Homeostasis in Monotremes

Stewart C. Nicol *

Biological Sciences, University of Tasmania, Hobart, TAS, Australia

In 1803, the French anatomist Étienne Geoffroy Saint-Hilaire decided that the newly described echidna and platypus should be placed in a separate order, the monotremes, intermediate between reptiles and mammals. The first physiological observations showed monotremes had low body temperatures and metabolic rates, and the consensus was that they were at a stage of physiological development intermediate between "higher mammals" and "lower vertebrates." Subsequent studies demonstrated that platypuses and echidnas are capable of close thermoregulation in the cold although less so under hot conditions. Because the short-beaked echidna Tachyglossus aculeatus, may show very large daily variations in body temperature, as well as seasonal hibernation, it has been suggested that it may provide a useful model of protoendotherm physiology. Such analysis is complicated by the very significant differences in thermal relations between echidnas from different climates. In all areas female echidnas regulate T_b within 1°C during egg incubation. The lactation period is considered to be the most energetically expensive time for most female mammals but lactating echidnas showed no measurable difference in field metabolic rate from non-lactating females, while the lactation period is more than 200 days for Kangaroo Island echidnas but only 150 days in Tasmania. In areas with mild winters echidnas show reduced activity and shallow torpor in autumn and early winter, but in areas with cold winters echidnas enter true hibernation with T_b falling as low as 4.5°C. Monotremes do not possess brown adipose tissue and maximum rates of rewarming from hibernation in echidnas were only half those of marmots of the same mass. Although echidnas show very large seasonal variations in fat stores associated with hibernation there is no relationship between plasma leptin and adiposity. Leptin levels are lowest during post-reproductive fattening, supporting suggestions that in evolutionary terms the anorectic effects of leptin preceded the adiposity signal. BMR of platypuses is twice that of echidnas although maximum metabolism is similar. High levels of thyroid hormones in platypuses may be driving metabolism limited by low body temperature. Monotremes show a mosaic of plesiomorphic and derived features but can still inform our understanding of the evolution of endothermy.

Keywords: echidna, platypus, hibernation, leptin, thyroid, brown adipose tissue, basoendothermy, evolution of endothermy

INTRODUCTION

The monotremes are the least speciose of the major extant mammal groups: there are roughly 5,500 species of eutherian mammal and 350 marsupial species but only five extant monotreme species and these are restricted to Australia and New Guinea: the platypus (*Ornithorhynchus anatinus*; Grant, 2015), the short-beaked echidna (*Tachyglosus aculeatus*), and three species of long-beaked

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Maximilian Michel, University of Michigan, USA

Reviewed by:

Fritz Geiser, University of New England, Australia Frank Grutzner, University of Adelaide, Australia

> *Correspondence: Stewart C. Nicol s.c.nicol@utas.edu.au

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Neuroendocrine Science, a section of the journal Frontiers in Neuroscience

Received: 11 November 2016 Accepted: 22 March 2017 Published: 21 April 2017

Citation:

Nicol SC (2017) Energy Homeostasis in Monotremes. Front. Neurosci. 11:195. doi: 10.3389/fnins.2017.00195

echidna (Zaglossus spp.; Griffiths, 1978; Flannery and Groves, 1998; Nicol, 2015). Unlike all other mammals, which give birth to live young, monotremes lay eggs. Their unusual reproductive biology and various aspects of their anatomy has led to their frequent depiction as primitive mammals, only slightly removed from the "lower vertebrates." The term "lower vertebrates" with all its overtones of the scalae naturae or "Great Chain of Being" dating back to the ideas of Aristotle (Mayr, 1982), is normally applied to the fish, amphibians, and reptiles (Bennett, 1978). The major problem of using the terms "higher" and "lower" in describing taxa is that they are closely linked to the idea that humans and their closest relatives are the goal of a progression toward a higher level of complexity (Diogo et al., 2015). This thinking persists when biologists read phylogenetic trees as ladders of progress or assume that species-poor lineages that appear "early branching" are basal (Omland et al., 2008).

Despite previously expressing reservations about the application of the concepts of "highness" and "lowness" to animals (Darwin, 1854), in the Descent of Man Darwin wrote "The Monotremata are plainly allied to the Marsupials; forming a third and still lower division in the great mammalian series" (Darwin, 1871). The term "lower mammals" continued to be used until relatively recently in the comparative physiology literature to refer to monotremes, marsupials, and some placentals, particularly when discussing thermoregulation (Johansen, 1962). The similarly problematic term "primitive" is often still used to describe the extant monotremes (Omland et al., 2008), but while many aspects of their anatomy and physiology are plesiomorphic it does not follow that this is the case in all aspects of monotreme biology. Egg-laying is clearly plesiomorphic, but the brain of monotremes, particularly the tachyglossids, is comparable in size and complexity to that of eutherian carnivores. Even in the post-cranial skeleton, which is often described as primitive, the monotremes demonstrate mosaic evolution, combining primitive with very specialized features, e.g., retaining a shoulder girdle of a therapsid pattern but possessing a pelvis of therian pattern (Crompton and Jenkins, 1973). From the first physiological investigations, discussion of the physiology of the monotremes has been influenced by the presumption of primitivity in all aspects of their biology.

A distinguishing feature of the "higher vertebrates"mammals and birds—is endothermy, the maintenance of a high and (relatively) constant body temperature by metabolic means (Bennett and Ruben, 1979). This distinction was integral to the classification of animals proposed by Linnæus, who divided animals into six classes: Mammalia, birds, amphibia, fishes, insects, and worms. The mammals and birds he grouped together as having a heart with two auricles and two ventricles, and warm red blood; the amphibia (which included reptiles) and fishes were grouped together as having one auricle and one ventricle, and cold red blood (Kerr, 1792). In 1803, the French anatomist Étienne Geoffroy Saint-Hilaire decided that the newly described echidna and platypus did not fit in the Linnæan groupings and should be placed in a separate order, the monotremes, intermediate between reptiles and mammals (Geoffroy Sàint-Hilaire, 1803). Much of the debate about the status of the monotremes revolved around their mode of reproduction but the consensus was that they were primitive and imperfect mammals and close to reptiles.

The first physiological measurements of monotremes reinforced this view. Body temperatures of both Australian monotremes were measured by the Russian explorer turned Australian biologist, Nicholas Miklouho-Maclay: he found the echidna to have a temperature of 28°C and the platypus 24.8°C (Miklouho-Maclay, 1883, 1884). Sutherland (1896) found an average T_b for echidnas of 29.4°C, and commenting on his own, and Miklouho-Maclay's results, wrote "... the platypus, therefore, at only 24.8° is almost a cold blooded animal. The only other genus of monotremes, the echidna, carries us a step upwards". However, he found "an echidna on a cold morning was a low as low as 22°", while one "in a sack, exposed to fierce midday heat registered 36.6°." He commented "This is an immense range for a mammal, and suggests a reptilian want of capacity for temperature regulation." The first measurements of metabolic rate were made by C. J. Martin. Citing Sutherland's work, Martin wrote "Without doubt ...monotremes and marsupials present a stage of physiological development intermediate between the fairly accurate homoeothermism of the higher mammals, and the rudimentary indications in this direction ...which occur in lower vertebrates." Martin's paper (Martin, 1903) was "an attempt to locate more precisely the position of the monotremes and marsupials in this ascending scale of physiological superiority to the temperature of the environment." As well as measuring rectal temperature, Martin measured metabolic rates by gravimetric estimation of CO₂ production in a range of Australian animals, including a platypus and three echidnas. Martin found a mean rectal temperature for the monotremes of 29.8°C and metabolic rates which are quite close to much more recent measurements (Figure 1).

METABOLIC RATE AND BODY TEMPERATURE

Figure 1 shows quite clearly that the monotremes are all characterized by low T_b and metabolic rates, with the platypus having significantly higher basal metabolic rate (BMR) than the echidnas. Depending on the allometric relationship used to calculate the standard eutherian metabolic rates, BMR of the long- and short-beaked echidnas is 25-40% of the corresponding eutherian values, and platypus 70-80% (Dawson et al., 1979; Dawson and Grant, 1980; Capellini et al., 2010; Barker et al., 2016). Can the low metabolic rates of monotremes be attributed to their low T_b? This would be consistent with the metabolic theory of ecology, which claims that the metabolic rate of an organism is a function of its mass and temperature (Gillooly et al., 2001; Brown et al., 2004; Clarke, 2006). Repeated attempts have been made to explain the BMR differences between birds and mammals, and eutherians and marsupials, in terms of differences in T_b (White and Seymour, 2005), and in such comparisons BMR is adjusted to a common T_b using appropriate Q₁₀ values. Q₁₀ provides a useful way to investigate the mechanisms by which metabolism is supressed in individuals, or within a species, in daily torpor and hibernation (Nicol et al., 1992; Geiser, 2004),



FIGURE 1 | Metabolic rates plotted against body temperature for resting, unrestrained monotremes at thermoneutrality. Colored circles show data from four of the echidna subspecies. Grav symbols are metabolic rates calculated for eutherian mammals of the same mass as the respective monotreme means, using a phylogenetic least-squares model based on data from 543 eutherian mammals (Capellini et al., 2010) plotted against the mean T_b from each monotreme species. The measurements by Martin (1903) (1), are remarkably close to more recent results although his single platypus was only half grown. Of the other platypus data, point 10 with a lower T_b and $\dot{V}O_2$ than the other data, is from a single animal of unspecified mass, whose other physiological responses seem abnormal (Grant and Dawson, 1978), data in point 11 were collected from resting, but not post-absorptive platypuses, and data for point 12 were obtained in the field. The VO2 measured for the Western Australian T. a. acanthion (9) is much lower than any other for this species. 1, Martin (1903); 2, Schmidt-Nielsen et al. (1966); 3, Augee (1978); 4, Dawson et al. (1979); 5, McNab (1984); 6, Bech et al. (1992); 7, Frappell et al. (1994); 8, Kuchel (2003); 9, Barker et al. (2016); 10, Smyth (1973); 11, Bethge et al. (2001); 12, Frappell (2003).

but using T_b adjustment to allow comparisons between taxa seems a fairly meaningless exercise—it is not really clear what the results of such an adjustment tell us. Monotremes are not just "detuned" eutherian mammals: the average eutherian T_b is lethal for monotremes (Augee, 1976). In the first attempt to apply this temperature "correction" to monotremes, Dawson and Hulbert (1970) found adjusting the BMR of the echidna to 38°C gave a value close to the allometric prediction for eutherian mammals, and more recently Barker et al. (2016) using a Q₁₀ with a constant conductance correction, obtained a similar result. However, as pointed out by Dawson et al. (1979) temperature cannot account for the difference between the monotremes: although the mean T_b of resting platypuses is only 1°C higher than the echidnas, BMR is more than twice as high (**Figure 1**).

The BMR of the platypus and echidnas can be partly explained in terms of the evolutionary trade-off hypothesis: the resting metabolic rate of an organism is the result of a trade-off between resting costs and scope for activity, with the precise level being set by lifestyle (Clarke, 2006). Water has a higher thermal conductivity (2.4 × higher) and specific heat (4,000 × higher) than air, leading to higher rates of heat loss in water, and semiaquatic mammals are also relatively inefficient swimmers (Fish, 2000). Because of these energetic disadvantages semiaquatic eutherian species have a higher BMR than similarly sized terrestrial species (Fish, 2000). The platypus has very dense fur which retains a high insulative value in water, and a number of vascular adaptations which reduce heat loss, but even so at water temperatures below 20°C heat loss of resting platypuses is double that in air at the same temperature (Grant and Dawson, 1978; Bethge et al., 2001). Metabolic rate further increases during foraging activity (Fish, 2000; Bethge et al., 2001), but even when foraging at water temperatures very close to freezing, platypuses maintain their body temperature within the normal range (Grigg et al., 1992), which means that heat loss is being matched by increased heat production. Even in the coldest water platypuses forage on average about 12 h/day (Bethge et al., 2009), and these sustained high levels of energy expenditure have selected for a higher BMR than the terrestrial echidna.

BMR is also influenced by phylogeny (Capellini et al., 2010; Clarke et al., 2010), as is T_b (Clarke and Rothery, 2008; Lovegrove, 2012). McNab (1992, 2008) demonstrated that BMR is strongly correlated with diet, and that ant- and termiteeating mammals have a low BMR as well as low Tb (McNab, 1984). A more recent analysis has shown that this well accepted relationship between diet and BMR vanishes when Tb is included in the model (Clarke et al., 2010), suggesting that the underlying relationship is between diet and Tb, with BMR responding through its dependence on T_b. A subsequent analysis of diet and T_b patterns in mammals and birds confirmed this strong relationship between Tb and diet, with predators of invertebrates having the lowest T_b (Clarke and O'Connor, 2014). All the monotremes feed nearly exclusively on invertebrates, although platypuses may occasionally take small fish (Nicol, 2013). Thus, the low T_b and BMR of the monotremes can be considered to be the result of their phylogeny and respective ecological niches, although it could be argued that phylogenetic constraints on T_b and metabolism may have restricted possible ecological niches. Herbivores consuming grass or leaves have a T_b about 2.6°C higher than carnivores taking invertebrate prey (Clarke and Rothery, 2008), and the monotreme line may not have been able to achieve or tolerate higher T_b that would have been necessary to occupy other niches. The operative temperature of active shortbeaked echidnas and platypuses is about 32°C and the maximum T_b recorded in active platypuses is about 34.6°C (Grigg et al., 1992) and in echidnas about 35°C (Brice et al., 2002; Nicol and Andersen, 2002; Nicol et al., 2004) but in both species T_b very rarely exceeds 34°C.

Ninety percentage of oxygen consumption at BMR occurs in the mitochondria (Rolfe and Brown, 1997), and while the metabolic differences between reptile and mammal are reflected in differences in total mitochondrial membrane surface area (Else and Hulbert, 1985a), no difference in mitochondrial surface area was seen between the echidna and other mammals (Else and Hulbert, 1985b). Extensive studies on mitochondrial function led Hulbert and Else (2005) to propose the membrane pacemaker theory of metabolism: metabolic rate is determined by the activities of membrane-bound proteins that are either directly or indirectly associated with the energy-consuming processes of cells; the activities of membrane-bound proteins such as transporters, channels, and receptors are influenced by different membrane environments; and the composition of membranes (such as changes in fatty acid or acyl composition) and concomitant changes in membrane properties is the common underlying factor underpinning change in the metabolic rate of animal. However, mitochondrial proton leak is greater in marsupials than in eutherians, although marsupials have lower BMRs, and thus the differences between mammalian taxa do not seem to be explained by mitochondrial proton permeability (Polymeropoulos et al., 2011).

BMR is generally believed to be an indicator of metabolic capacity (White and Seymour, 2005) and although there has been debate about how the metabolic constraints on life history variables relate to BMR (Johnson et al., 2001; Mueller and Diamond, 2001), in placental mammals energy expenditure on reproduction is positively correlated with energy expended on maintenance. Thus, high-maintenance species harvest more energy and expend more on reproduction than low-maintenance species (McNab, 2002) while a low BMR optimizes longevity. The maximum lifespan of the short-beaked echidna is at least 50 years (Hulbert et al., 2008), while female platypuses have a lifespan of up to 21 years (Grant, 2004). An eastern long-beaked echidna at Taronga Zoo was at least 53 when she died. There are no direct measurements of field metabolic rates (FMR) of platypuses, but FMR of short-beaked echidnas measured using the doubly labeled water method was 2.7 times the BMR (Green et al., 1992; Schmid et al., 2003). $\dot{V}O_2$ max for echidnas estimated from treadmill exercise (Edmeades and Baudinette, 1975) and from maximal rewarming rates from hibernation (Nicol and Andersen, 2008), is \sim 1.44 ml O₂ g⁻¹ h⁻¹, 9 times the BMR, but only 28% of the value predicted for wild eutherian mammals of the same mass (Taylor et al., 1981). The highest metabolic rate recorded for platypuses is 1.9 $O_2 g^{-1} h^{-1}$ when walking on a treadmill (Bethge et al., 2001), 4.2 times BMR, while the highest metabolic rates recorded while foraging in cold water are only 3.2 times BMR (Grant and Dawson, 1978; Bethge et al., 2001). If the reported maximum metabolic rates are corrected to mass independent values using a mass exponent of 0.67 (White and Seymour, 2005) these become 0.36 ml O_2 kg^{-0.67} min⁻¹ for the playpus and 0.35 ml O_2 kg^{-0.67} min⁻¹ for the echidna.

Platypuses occur in permanent freshwater environments in the Australian east, from Cooktown in north Queensland (15°S) to Tasmania (43°S) (Nicol, 2013; Grant, 2015). At Cooktown freshwater river temperatures may reach 31°C (Howley, 2012) and in Tasmania platypuses forage in water at nearly 0°C (Bethge et al., 2003). Mean mass of female platypuses from a north Queensland population was 0.75 ± 0.08 kg and from Tasmania 1.21 ± 0.13 kg (Nicol, 2013). This would normally be considered to be an example of Bergmann's Rule; the platypuses from the colder areas will be bigger to limit heat loss, but it may be better to look at it from the inverse view: platypuses in the warmer areas will be smaller to maximize heat loss. This would be consistent with the heat dissipation limit theory—an upper boundary on total energy expenditure is imposed by the maximal capacity to dissipate body heat and therefore avoid the detrimental consequences of hyperthermia (Speakman and Król, 2010), which will occur at lower ambient temperatures in an endotherm with a low T_b. Platypuses have a modest

ability to sweat (Augee, 1976; Grant and Dawson, 1978) and thus can lose heat when air temperature exceeds T_b, but during active swimming, when heat production increases by four times over basal (Bethge et al., 2001), the only means of dissipating metabolic heat is by conduction to water. Much smaller body size at the northernmost part of its range is consistent with high water temperatures being an important factor in limiting platypus distribution. Cold water does not appear to be so limiting for platypuses. They have a number of adaptations that minimize heat loss when foraging in cold water: the fur has a high insulation value, higher than that of the polar bear and beaver, and vascular structures in the skin and hind limbs which greatly decrease heat loss (Grant and Dawson, 1978). In a Tasmanian highland lake, platypuses foraged on average 11.9 h/day in summer, and 13.2 h/day in winter when water temperatures frequently approached 0°C (Bethge et al., 2003, 2009). There have been no equivalent studies on platypus in the northern part of their range.

Despite the dramatic differences in adult size between north and south, platypuses from all parts of their range are considered to belong to the same species, although mitochondrial DNA shows two major clades: one from mainland Australia and the other from Tasmania/King Island (Gongora et al., 2012). Echidnas occur from sea level to 1,800 m altitude, and in all parts of Australia, as well as eastern New Guinea, but significant differences in appearance between geographic populations, particularly in the hairiness of the pelage, have resulted in their division into five subspecies (Griffiths, 1978; Augee et al., 2006; Nicol, 2015), although these have not been validated genetically. The most widespread sub-species T. a. acanthion which occurs throughout the arid zone in all mainland states and the Northern Territory has long spines and very sparse bristly fur. T. a. aculeatus, the sub-species from which the echidnas were first described (Shaw, 1792) occupies the coastal temperate zones in south-east Queensland, New South Wales, Victoria and South Australia. The Tasmanian and Flinders Island subspecies (T. a. setosus) has soft thick fur which may completely hide the spines, and was initially believed to be a separate species from mainland echidnas (Nicol, 2015). On temperate Kangaroo Island, the subspecies (T. a. multiaculeatus) has very long fine pelage obscured by long, thin spines. The northern sub-species, (T. a. lawesii) has long stout spines and thick fur and was first described from New Guinea, but Griffiths (1978) suggests that echidnas from tropical northern Australia also belong to this subspecies.

Augee (1978) found that the conductance of the *T. a.* acanthion was 1.7 times that for *T. a. setosus.* Figure 1 shows metabolic rates and T_b measurements for all named subspecies. The two points for *T. a. acanthion* were derived from two geographically distant populations, central Queensland (3) and south-west Western Australia (9), but they both show a very low T_b at thermoneutrality, although the metabolic rates are very different. When ambient temperature was reduced from 20° C to 5° C over 58 days, T_b of *T. a. acanthion* dropped to 23° C (Augee, 1978). Generally, echidnas from the warmer parts of Australia seem to have more variable T_b when active than echidnas from cooler climates. Figure 2 shows T_b records over 10 days in November from echidnas in Tasmania (a) and south-east Queensland (b). November is the time of maximum foraging and



weight gain for males following the mating period (Kuchel, 2003; Nicol and Morrow, 2012). Echidnas in both locations show daily variations in T_b related to activity, rather than T_a (Grigg et al., 2004; Nicol et al., 2004), but in Tasmania T_b only drops below 30°C following several days of inactivity, whereas at the warmer site the pattern resembles daily torpor. For Tasmanian females the daily T_b range of non-lactating individuals in November was $3.1 \pm 0.7^{\circ}$ C, similar to the males, but lactating females had a significantly greater daily variability (4.8 ± 1.0°C) (Schmid et al., 2003).

Heterothermia appears to be one means whereby echidnas can survive in hot environments: an animal with low initial T_b takes longer to reach dangerous levels. Despite this it has been difficult to reconcile the ability of echidnas to survive for many hours at ambient temperatures exceeding T_b (Brice et al., 2002) with their apparent inability to use evaporative cooling (Augee, 1976), but a recent study shows echidnas have some capacity to increase evaporative water loss (Barker et al., 2016).

HIBERNATION

Many birds and mammals temporarily abandon homeothermic endothermy during times of cold exposure, food shortage or drought, and use the energy minimizing strategies of daily torpor and hibernation (Ruf and Geiser, 2015). The short-beaked echidna is the only one of the monotremes to use these strategies, but the different geographic sub-species vary in their use of torpor and hibernation. Echidnas in all parts of their range show a reduction in activity at about the same time of the year (Nicol and Andersen, 1996; Morrow et al., 2009), but whether they are able to show extended periods of hibernation appears at least partly to depend on the environmental temperature.

At Stanthorpe in Queensland hibernation occurred in 9 out of 15 echidna-years of recording (Kuchel, 2003), whereas at Lovely Banks in Tasmania all echidnas hibernated every year (Nicol and Andersen, 2002). The greater variability in active T_b and use of hibernation mean that in echidnas in warm climates it is difficult

to distinguish between torpor and non-torpor (Kuchel and Grigg, 2003). Kangaroo Island echidnas showed reduced activity from April to August, but this varied greatly between individuals, and within individuals from year to year (Rismiller and McKelvey, 1996). Some Kangaroo Island echidnas showed several bouts of hibernation, with T_b profiles similar to "classical hibernators" and a minimum T_b of 11.8°C, while other echidnas in the same area did not hibernate. In the cooler climates of Tasmania and the Australian Alps (Beard et al., 1992) the hibernation period is very distinct. Figure 3 shows a male Tasmanian echidna entering hibernation at the warmest time of the year. When they have built up sufficient fat reserves, echidnas reduce their activity (Sprent et al., 2012), and dig into the soil, and T_b falls until it is with 0.5-1.0°C of substrate temperature (Nicol and Andersen, 2002; **Figure 4**). The factors that determine the equilibrium T_b can be seen by rearranging the familiar Scholander-Irving model (Nicol et al., 2008):

$$T_b = T_a + \frac{\dot{V}O_2}{C} \tag{1}$$

i.e., T_b falls to a temperature dependent on ambient temperature plus an amount determined by the ratio of hibernating metabolic rate to conductance. This relationship only holds for thermoconforming animals above the lower set point (Geiser, 2001; Nicol and Andersen, 2008). If T_b drops below the set point, most hibernators increase heat production, which is energetically expensive (Geiser, 2004). Echidnas arouse and move to a warmer area which also represents an energetic penalty and increases the chance of predation. Metabolic rate in hibernating echidnas is about 12% of the normal resting value, and at low T_b is relatively independent of Tb (Nicol and Andersen, 1993), while the conductance during cooling is the same as in cold exposed non-hibernating echidnas (McNab, 1984; Nicol and Andersen, 2007a). The minimum T_b recorded from a hibernating echidna is 4.5° C (Nicol et al., 2008), which seems to be the lower set point. Because cooling takes several days (Figure 4), daily torpor with a stable torpid T_b is clearly not an option for echidnas.

Nicol



As in other hibernators (Geiser et al., 1990), hibernation bout length increases as T_b falls (Nicol and Andersen, 2000), and echidnas seem unable to maintain a prolonged hibernation bout when T_b is above 17°C. In the record shown in **Figure 3**,

there were several days of very cold nights, cooling the soil, and allowing the male to enter hibernation on February 1. Grigg et al. (2004) have described this behavior as using cold as a resource, i.e., taking advantage of the cold to cool down and



enter torpor, thus saving energy. The female, which had not accumulated sufficient fat reserves, did not enter hibernation, but showed only a brief fall in T_b to 28°C. Echidnas show behavioral thermoregulation during hibernation; early in the hibernation season echidnas prefer to hibernate in cool areas, while during the coldest months they may move to warmer hibernacula, giving a preferred hibernating T_b in the range 7–9°C (Nicol and Andersen, 2007a). This is well above the minimum recorded T_b and apparent lower set point of 4.5°C, but may represent a balance between maximizing bout length and thus reducing energetically expensive periodic arousals, and maintaining a safety margin to reduce cold induced arousals. Unlike most hibernators, echidnas do not dig or construct a hibernaculum. Instead they may use existing rabbit or wombat burrows, hollow logs, or dig under tree stumps or into grass tussocks, piles of bark or leaves (Wilkinson et al., 1998) or simply burrow into the substrate, and are often more exposed to ambient conditions.

There is no evidence of hibernation or daily torpor in the longbeaked echidna or the platypus. Captive long-beaked echidnas showed a daily variation of T_b of 2–4°C, with a modal T_b of 31°C, when short-beaked echidnas in the same pen showed both torpor and hibernation (Grigg et al., 2003). Free-ranging platypuses in the southern Alps monitored maintained a T_b close to 32°C throughout the winter (32.1 ± 0.8°C, range 29.2–34.6°C) (Grigg et al., 1992).

Recently Nowack et al. (2016) have demonstrated an increased use of torpor by short-beaked echidnas after fire, and argue that torpor may be an important contributor to survival during natural disasters. Turbill et al. (2011) have shown that hibernation is associated with higher rates of overwinter and annual survival than non-hibernators. This higher survival appears to be due not only to avoidance of sub-optimal

environmental conditions (which could include wildfire), but to reduced predation. This further demonstrates that the benefits of torpor extend beyond energy conservation in cold climates (Geiser and Brigham, 2012). The increased survival of hibernating species is linked with the coevolution of traits indicative of slow life histories (Turbill et al., 2011). The limited amount of data from long-beaked echidnas (non-hibernators) suggest very similar life history traits to short-beaked echidnas (hibernators), but as the evolution of slow life histories appears to be related to survival, rather than hibernation per se (Turbill et al., 2011) this suggests high rates of survival in long-beaked echidnas. Unfortunately, the echidna fossil record is very sparse and incomplete so that echidna origins are the subject of considerable debate (Phillips et al., 2009; Musser, 2013; Simon, 2013). Short-beaked echidnas appear in the fossil record in the Pleistocene, before which long-beaked echidnas predominated (Musser, 2013), and it seems likely that the slow life history of short-beaked echidnas has not co-evolved with torpor and hibernation, but was a pre-existing tachyglossid trait, which facilitated the expression of torpor and hibernation in this species.

REPRODUCTION AND ENERGETICS

The unusual timing of hibernation in echidnas is clearly related to reproduction: in Tasmanian echidnas, in which hibernation appears obligatory, the time from hatching of the young to weaning is about 150 days, at which time the young weighs about 1.5 kg (Morrow and Nicol, 2012). This relatively slow growth rate of the young and an apparent increase in heterothermy by the mother means that daily energy expenditure of females in mid-lactation was not measurably higher than of non-lactating females at the same time (Schmid et al., 2003). As in other seasonal breeders, male echidnas show testicular involution after the breeding season, presumably as an energy saving measure (Griffiths, 1978; Morrow et al., 2016). In order for the young to be weaned before the females enter hibernation, mating must occur in winter but the very large size of the testes (about 1% of body mass at the beginning of breeding) and the low metabolic rate means that, unlike all other hibernators, testicular recrudescence in Tasmanian echidnas occurs before entry into hibernation (Morrow et al., 2016). The very high competition between males for females selects for early arousal by males, which then seek out females, which are still hibernating (Figure 3). Morrow et al. (2015) found that all females that mated prior to July 27 re-entered hibernation, including females that were pregnant. Five of these were monitored; four re-entered hibernation for relatively short periods (3-13 days) but one hibernated for 50 days, showing 4 periodic arousals. Pregnant females that reentered torpor did so no more than 5 days after fertilization, when the embryo would probably be no later than the blastocyst stage (Werneburg and Sánchez-Villagra, 2011; Ashwell, 2013b), and it appears that there is no significant development of the embryo during torpor, as the gestation period is extended by a day for every day in torpor (Nicol and Morrow, 2012). In some respects this is similar to embryonic diapause in marsupials

and some eutherian mammals (Lopes et al., 2004), although it is controlled by temperature rather than hormonally. Hibernation during pregnancy is quite unusual; torpor and reproduction have been widely viewed as mutually exclusive but torpor during pregnancy has now been observed in monotreme, marsupial, and eutherian mammals (McAllan and Geiser, 2014). In the majority of species these torpor bouts are daily events lasting a few hours, rather than the extended deep hibernation seen in some female echidnas, however Willis et al. (2006) recorded deep multiday torpor (i.e., hibernation) of up to 5.6 days in pregnant hoary bats (Lasiurus cinereus), which enabled parturition to be delayed in unfavourable weather. Similarly, female echidnas that are mated very early, thus benefitting from mating with the fittest males, re-enter hibernation, delaying egg-laying until conditions are more favourable, and ensuring that that maximum growth rate of the young coincides with the period of greatest ecosystem productivity (Nicol and Morrow, 2012; Morrow et al., 2015).

An earlier observation in which a pregnant Kangaroo Island echidna entered torpor only 2 days before egg-laying (Geiser and Seymour, 1989) appears to be different from the hibernation in early pregnancy observed in Tasmanian echidnas. 16 days after capture this female was found to be torpid with a T_b of 21°C, but T_b and activity had returned to normal 6 h later. An egg shell was found in the cage 2 days later. There is no indication whether the young died accidentally after the egg was laid, or had not survived to this stage. We have 60 records of Tb from pregnant Tasmanian echidnas but none of these show any indication of late stage torpor, although several entered torpor after losing the egg or the young. Because the Kangaroo Island echidna young did not survive, it is not clear whether what happened was a stress response of a captive animal, or normal physiological behavior in a sub-species which shows numerous differences from eastern echidnas.

Throughout Australia echidna mating occurs at approximately the same time (June-September), although it appears to be slightly earlier in more southern populations (Morrow et al., 2009). This is in contrast to platypuses, which do not hibernate, and in which breeding begins earlier in more northern populations (Nicol, 2013). Data are only available from a small number of Australian locations, but it appears that in more northern parts of eastern Australia echidna lactation durations are similar to those in Tasmania (Beard et al., 1992; Beard and Grigg, 2000), whereas on Kangaroo Island (South Australia) (Rismiller and McKelvey, 2003) and in Western Australia (Abensperg-Traun, 1989) young are weaned at 204-210 days, although at similar body mass to eastern echidnas. This could be another manifestation of differences in energetics between the geographic sub-species.

A particularly interesting feature of echidna reproduction and thermoregulation is shown in the T_b record following egg-laying in **Figure 3**. While the mother is in the nursery burrow T_b is remarkably constant, particularly during the first 10–11 days, which is the egg-incubation period (Nicol and Andersen, 2006; Morrow and Nicol, 2012), where the range is about 1.2°C. This pattern was first observed in echidnas in the Australian Alps (Beard et al., 1992) and subsequently in echidnas in south-east Queensland (Beard and Grigg, 2000).

THYROID HORMONES

As noted above, perhaps the major distinction between birds and mammals and "lower vertebrates" is that all birds and mammals are endothermic, even when inactive. The contribution of the monotremes to our understanding of the evolution of endothermy is discussed later in this review, but whatever the selective process, the acquisition of endothermy appears to be closely linked to thyroid hormones (Little and Seebacher, 2014). The elevated metabolism associated with endothermy in mammals is produced by leaky cell membranes, and thyroid hormones play a key role in regulating metabolic rate by increasing leakiness and thus increasing cellular ATP turnover (Hulbert, 2000). In mammals there is a stoichiometric relationship between oxygen consumption and consumption of thyroid hormones (Tomasi, 1991).

Hulbert (2000) has compiled a comprehensive listing of concentrations of thyroid hormones in vertebrate plasma and I have drawn heavily on his review in this section. Birds and eutherian mammals have much higher circulating levels of thyroid hormones-principally 3',5',3,5-l-tetraiodothyronine (thyroxine, T4)-than "lower vertebrates". In adult reptiles, total plasma thyroxine (TT4) ranges from 1 to 14.5 nmol L^{-1} , while in birds (apart from ostriches, which have low values) TT4 is in the range of 15.9–34 nmol L^{-1} . In small to medium sized eutherian mammals TT4 is typically is in the range 20-80 nmol L⁻¹ (Hulbert, 2000), and TT4 of active echidnas is 15 nmol L^{-1} (Hulbert and Augee, 1982; Nicol et al., 2000), at the low end of the normal range for eutherian mammals and consistent with a low metabolic rate. The only significantly lower TT4 for an adult small mammal comes from a poikilothermic rodent, the naked mole-rat (*Heterocephalus glaber*), with a TT4 of 5 nmoL⁻¹, which increases to 7 nmol L^{-1} during cold exposure (Buffenstein et al., 2001).

By contrast with the values for echidnas, TT4 in adult platypuses is high (64 nmol L⁻¹) (Hulbert and Grant, 1983), at the upper end of the range for eutherian mammals, and presumably associated with a BMR that is two and a half times that of echidnas. TT4 levels in platypuses did not vary significantly with season, and similarly in active echidnas there was no difference between summer and winter values, but plasma levels of all thyroid hormones in echidnas fell significantly during hibernation (Nicol et al., 2000; Table 1). This is different from what has been observed in other hibernators. Eutherian hibernators show the lowest levels of thyroid hormones pre-hibernation (Hulbert and Hudson, 1976; Young, 1984; Kwiecinski et al., 1991; Damassa et al., 1995; Tomasi and Stribling, 1996), whereas in echidnas thyroid hormone levels trend down during the pre-hibernation period and reach their lowest during the hibernation period.

In eutherian hibernators thyroid hormone levels, although starting low, rise progressively during hibernation. In ground squirrels TT4, FT4, TT3, and FT3 are higher during hibernation than in active animals (Magnus and Henderson, 1988a,b). In woodchucks (Young et al., 1979) found TT4 and FT4 to be highest in early spring and lowest in summer and autumn, while TT3 and FT3 were highest during hibernation. In black

TABLE 1 | Plasma thyroid hormone levels in active and hibernating (T_b 5–12°C) echidnas.

Hibernating
7.47 ± 0.95 (8)
10.7 ± 1.9 (8)
1.09 ± 0.06 (8)
2.76 ± 0.14 (8)
-

Values are shown as mean \pm SEM. Sample sizes are shown in parentheses.

bears all four hormone levels decreased prior to hibernation; free hormones remained low during hibernation but the total levels recovered (Tomasi and Stribling, 1996). In male little brown bats (*Myotis lucifugus*), there is a 5-fold increase in TT4 during the course of hibernation (Damassa et al., 1995) and in females the increase is 8-fold (Kwiecinski et al., 1991).

As thyroid hormones are considered to have a major role in regulating metabolic rate, the first findings of increased levels of thyroid hormones in hibernating rodents were unexpected. Blood levels of thyroid hormones reflect the amount bound to proteins and the balance between the rates of secretion and utilization. Elevated total hormone levels during hibernation have been attributed to greatly reduced clearance rates (Demeneix and Henderson, 1978) and increased levels of binding proteins (Magnus and Henderson, 1988a). Most thyroid hormone circulating in the blood is bound to plasma proteins (99.97% of T4 and 99.7% of T3 in humans; 99.86 and 99.72%, respectively, in euthermic echidnas). In large eutherian mammals, some bats, and many marsupial species, three plasma proteins are involved in this transport: albumin, which in humans binds about 15-20% of T4 and T3; transthyretin (TTR) which binds 10-15% of T4 and T3; and thyroxine binding globulin (TBG), which in humans binds about 70% of T4 and T3 (Mendel, 1989). Adult monotremes possess only two thyroid hormone binding plasma proteins: albumin and a post-albumin globulin (E-TBP); TTR has not been detected in plasma from shortbeaked echidnas (Tachyglossus aculeatus) either when active or hibernating, from long-beaked echidnas, (Zaglossus bartoni), or platypuses (Richardson et al., 1994; Richardson, 2009). Using electrophoresis followed by autoradiography Richardson et al. (1994) found the band caused by binding of radioactive thyroxine to protein in the post-albumin region was less intense in plasma from a hibernating echidna than in plasma from a nonhibernating echidna, indicating a reduction in E-TBP levels during hibernation. By contrast in the bat *M. lucifugus*, although TT4 rises during the course of hibernation, TBG remains at basal levels (Damassa et al., 1995). The differences in patterns of seasonal variation in hormone levels between the echidna and other hibernators may well be related to differences in characteristics and levels of these binding proteins.

BRAIN AND ENERGETICS

Thyroid hormones are essential for nervous system and brain growth and development (Hulbert, 2000), but the brain is separated from the rest of the body by the "blood-brain barrier" which restricts the movement of large molecules (Saunders et al., 1999). Transport of thyroid hormones from the blood to the brain is dependent on TTR, the only thyroid hormone transporting protein made in the brain. TTR is synthesized in the choroid plexus and secreted exclusively into the CSF, transporting thyroid hormones from the blood into the brain and throughout the CSF (Richardson, 2009). Transthyretin synthesis in the choroid plexus is believed to have begun at the stage of the stem reptiles, about 320 Ma, which developed the first traces of a cerebral neocortex (Richardson, 2009), and is synthesized by the choroid plexus of the echidna, the only monotreme in which it has been investigated (Richardson et al., 1994).

The platypus and the echidnas both have large, highly encephalized brains with a six-layered isocortex (neocortex) like all therian mammals, but the two monotreme groups have very different cortical morphology (Ashwell, 2013a). In the platypus the isocortex is lissencephalic (smooth) and thick, while in the echidnas it is gyrencephalic (folded) and thin. The olfactory bulb of the echidna is also gyrified (Ashwell, 2013c).

Brain tissue is energetically expensive and during rest it uses nearly an order of magnitude more energy per unit weight than most other somatic tissues (Mink et al., 1981). Analysis of microanatomical features that reflect metabolic activity of the cerebral cortex (capillary volume fraction, and mitochondrial density) suggest that the echidna cerebral cortex has similar levels of metabolic activity to eutherian mammals (Hassiotis et al., 2005). Assuming this, the energy usage of monotreme brains can be estimated from brain mass, using the equations from Hofman (1983), and then adjusting brain metabolic rates from the T_b of placental mammals (38°C) to the monotreme value of 32°C. From this the percentage of basal oxygen consumption used by the brain would be about 5.8% for the platypus, 8.5% for the short-beaked echidna, and 9.5% for the long-beaked echidna (Nicol, 2013). Most mammals lie in the range from 2-8% (mean value for 240 mammals is 4.6%) with only primates and cetaceans having values above 8% (Hofman, 1983). However, these estimates depend on several assumptions about the scaling of brain metabolism, and a more direct analysis is provided by simply plotting brain mass as a function of BMR (Figure 5). This graph demonstrates that the echidnas have very large brains relative to their metabolic rate, comparable to the primates.

The expensive tissue hypothesis states that an increase in brain size must be accommodated by an increase in total metabolic rate or by a reduction of the demands of the other expensive organs, such as heart, liver, kidney, and gastrointestinal tract (Aiello and Wheeler, 1995). Thus, it is argued that the relatively large brain sizes of humans and other primates could not have been achieved without a shift to a high-quality diet, allowing a reduction in gut size. It is doubly puzzling then that the short-beaked echidna has a brain of similar size to that of a similar sized eutherian carnivore but a metabolic rate only 30% of the eutherian prediction and has a diet of extremely low energy density and digestibility (Sprent and Nicol, 2016). Echidnas have brain size to BMR relationships similar to those of primates, suggesting that there must be very considerable fitness benefits for the echidnas to maintain such large brains, i.e., the cognitive benefits must outweigh the metabolic costs (Isler and van Schaik, 2006).



FIGURE 5 | Brain mass as a function of basal metabolic rate in mammals. Both BMR and brain mass scale with body mass, and the relationship between brain mass and BMR illustrates the relative investment of energy in the brain. The regression line and 99% confidence limits have been fitted to the data for 12 non-primate non-myrmecophagous terrestrial placental mammals from 11 families and 9 orders (Afrosoricida, Artiodactyla, Carnivora, Chiroptera, Eulipotyphla, Hyracoidea, Lagomorpha, and Scandentia). The two echidnas (Tachyglossus aculeatus and Zaglossus sp.), and the primates (Perodictus potto, Nycticebus coucang, Macaca mulatta, Pan troglodytes, Homo sapiens) lie well above the upper confidence limit. The giant anteater (Myrmecophaga tridactyla), the hairy-nosed wombat (Lasiorhinus latifrons), and tamandua (Tamandua tetradactyla) also lie above the upper confidence limit. Circles: placental mammals, data from McNab and Eisenberg (1989); squares: marsupials, data from Ashwell (2008), Weisbecker and Goswami (2010). Triangles: monotremes, data from McNab and Eisenberg (1989), Nicol and Andersen (2007b). In order of increasing brain mass they are platypus, short-beaked echidna, long-beaked echidna. Solid shading: primates; gray shading: myrmecophages: open symbols: other terrestrial mammals. Body masses have been restricted to a range of 250 to 70,000 g to avoid any effects associated with very low or very high body masses. Metabolic rates were recalculated for the body mass used for brain mass measurement assuming a within-species exponent for metabolic rate of body mass^{0.70} (Kozlowski and Konarzewski, 2005; White and Seymour, 2005; Sieg et al., 2009). To minimize errors associated with this correction, data sets have been restricted to cases where body masses for BMR measurement and body masses used for brain weight were within 30% of each other. Under these circumstances, any errors in BMR correction are trivial. Redrawn from Nicol (2013).

The fitness benefits must be considerable for short-beaked echidnas, because the species seems to be specialized to minimize energy expenditure, and many aspects of their ecology and behavior are correlated with small brain size in other mammals. Insectivorous eutherian mammals have smaller brains than carnivores and omnivores (Gittleman, 1986), possibly because a larger brain may be necessary to handle a resource that requires more complex foraging strategies and within primates, larger brain size appears linked to monitoring food sources that vary in space and time (Clutton-Brock and Harvey, 1980). The echidna is the only mammal known to have a gyrified olfactory bulb, probably to expand the number of synaptic glomeruli available for the analysis of the odorant repertoire (Ashwell, 2013c). A total of 186 compounds potentially used in olfactory communication by echidnas have been identified in exudates from the cloaca and base of the spur, including volatile carboxylic acids, aldehydes, ketones, fatty acids, methyl esters, ethyl esters,

terpenes, nitrogen- and sulfur-containing compounds, alcohols, and aromatics (Harris et al., 2012). Long chain and very long chain monounsaturated fatty acids, sterols, and sterol esters were identified as the major constituents of solid exudates, some of which have not previously been described from any animal skin gland. There are differences in volatile and non-volatile odorant composition between sexes and individuals but there is no single pheromone—echidnas process a complex suite of chemical signals providing a range of information (Harris et al., 2014, 2016). Echidnas deposit feces in latrines (Sprent et al., 2006), and chemical signals from these are likely to be an important means of communication in echidna populations. Processing this complex olfactory information may have been important in the selection process leading to a high investment in the echidna brain. Platypuses have cervical scent glands on both sides of the neck which produce a musky odor and secretions increase during the breeding season (Grant, 2015), but the olfactory bulb is smaller and unfolded, consistent with olfactory communication being less important in this semiaquatic monotreme.

Large brain size in mammals is also associated with longevity and González-Lagos et al. (2010) suggest that because large brains allow flexible behavioral responses to unusual, novel or complex socioecological challenges they will facilitate a longer reproductive life span. This underlines the need for more behavioral studies of echidnas in their natural habitat across their range (Nicol, 2013). It may be significant that both relative brain size and longevity are greater in the echidna than the platypus. Longevity is also correlated with a low basal metabolic rate (Hofman, 1983; White and Seymour, 2004) and it may be difficult to unravel the causal relationships between metabolic rate, brain size and longevity.

LEPTIN AND ENERGETICS

In eutherian mammals, the peptide hormone leptin has a key role in the regulation of fat reserves. Leptin is synthesized and secreted primarily by adipose tissue, and an increase in adiposity in eutherian mammals is normally associated with a corresponding increase in the synthesis and secretion of leptin by adipocytes, resulting in increased circulating leptin concentrations (Denver et al., 2011). Leptin binds to leptinspecific receptors in the hypothalamus, regulating the production of a range of orexigenic and anorexigenic neuropeptides, and resulting in a decrease in food intake, an increase in metabolic rate, and consequently a loss of adipose tissue (Denver et al., 2011; Florant and Healy, 2012). Although it is frequently claimed that leptin is an adipostat in mammals this been demonstrated only for eutherian mammals; it is not true for the short-beaked echidna (Sprent et al., 2012), and although pharmacological doses of leptin inhibit daily torpor in the marsupial Sminthopsis macroura (Geiser et al., 1998) the relationship between adiposity and endogenous plasma leptin has not been investigated in marsupial mammals.

Leptin othologs have now been described for all the major classes of vertebrate (Londraville et al., 2014; Prokop et al., 2014), and the Lep gene has been identified in the genome sequence of

the platypus (Denver et al., 2011). The interaction between leptin and the leptin receptor is conserved in terrestrial vertebrates, and in mammals both leptin and its receptor are highly conserved with few variations (Prokop et al., 2012). Sprent et al. (2012) hypothesized that in the echidna as in eutherian hibernators, there would be a strong relationship between adiposity and plasma leptin for most of the year which would change during pre-hibernatory fattening. Instead they found a weak negative relationship between adiposity and plasma leptin. The highest leptin levels were found in both sexes during hibernation and in females during the mating period. As female echidnas return to hibernation after mating, even when pregnant, unless they are further disturbed by males (Harris and Nicol, 2014; Morrow et al., 2015), the high leptin in mating females is most probably also related to hibernation. The lowest leptin levels were recorded from males during the post-reproductive period, when they forage maximally and show their greatest increase in mass (Nicol and Morrow, 2012). Generally high leptin concentrations in echidnas occur during periods when animals show minimal activity, have low body temperatures and do not feed. These results on the echidna are consistent with studies on a variety of non-mammalian vertebrates which have led to the consensus of an ancient role of leptin in regulating food intake and metabolism (Denver et al., 2011; Sprent et al., 2012).

Sprent et al. (2012) suggested that the adipostatic role for leptin in eutherian mammals evolved along with BATbased thermogenesis. In eutherian mammals, leptin increases brown fat (BAT) activation, decreasing metabolic efficiency and increasing heat production, and burning fat stores (Cannon and Nedergaard, 2004). Heat production in BAT results from the activation of mitochondrial uncoupling protein-1 (UCP1), which leads increased proton leak, rather than ATP production. There is no evidence for BAT thermogenesis in marsupials, and no evidence for BAT in monotremes (Oelkrug et al., 2015). Molecular phylogeny of UCP1 demonstrates that the monotreme and marsupial UCP1 gene is more closely related to that of ectothermic rather than eutherian orthologs, suggesting that monotremes and marsupials may have never evolved a thermogenic competent UCP1 (Oelkrug et al., 2015). The success of eutherian species radiation and niche expansion has been linked to BAT based thermogenesis (Cannon and Nedergaard, 2004; Oelkrug et al., 2015), although Cannon and Nedergaard (2004) clearly overstate the case when they claim that brown fat derived heat is essential for arousal from hibernation in mammals: it may be essential for eutherian hibernators but echidnas and a number of marsupial hibernators (Geiser and Körtner, 2010), with no BAT, arouse from hibernation quite successfully. Augee and Ealey (1968) reported rewarming rates of echidnas to be lower than for other hibernators. Geiser and Baudinette (1990) demonstrated that in mammals rewarming rates were inversely related to body mass but did not find any difference between the rates of rewarming for marsupials and eutherian mammals. The largest marsupial that shows deep hibernation is the mountain pygmy possum (Burramys parvus), which weighs less than 70 g (Ruf and Geiser, 2015), which means there were no marsupials of equivalent size to the echidna and marmot to include in this comparison. In large hibernators rewarming follows a sigmoidal trajectory (Nicol et al., 2009) and rewarming rate varies with T_b . **Figure 6** shows peak rewarming rates for marmots, which have significant amounts of BAT, and for echidnas of the same body mass. Not only are rewarming rates of echidnas much lower than those of marmots, but the relationships between T_b and rewarming rate are very different: marmots at low T_b have higher maximal rewarming rates than marmots at higher T_b , while echidnas with a lower T_b have lower peak rewarming rates than warmer echidnas. BAT appears to offer a far superior mechanism for rewarming from very low T_b .

MONOTREMES AND THE EVOLUTION OF ENDOTHERMY

There have been numerous models proposed for evolution of endothermy; of these three have received recent attention because they are physiologically testable in modern mammals such as monotremes (Lovegrove, 2012). The aerobic scope hypothesis supposes that the evolution of endothermy was driven by selection for enhanced aerobic capacity to support sustained locomotor activity. In the original formulation of this Bennett and Ruben (1979) argued that a warmer body and endothermy were secondary consequences of selection for enhanced aerobic scope. Clarke and Pörtner (2010) have proposed a modification of the aerobic scope hypothesis in which the increase in aerobic scope was achieved through an increase in T_b . The parental care model proposes that endothermy may have arisen as a



FIGURE 6 | Peak rates of rewarming from hibernation in marmots (*Marmota marmota*) and echidnas (*Tachyglossus aculeatus*) as a function of body temperature. Peak rewarming rates were calculated from the first derivative of a sigmoid curve fitted to the rewarming data, and each point represents one rewarming. Because rewarming rate is inversely related to body mass (Geiser and Baudinette, 1990) the figure compares data from hibernators of the same mass (10 marmots, mass 3.39 \pm 0.46 kg, mean \pm *SD* and 10 echidnas 3.71 \pm 0.75 kg). In marmots, which possess BAT, the highest rewarming rates occur at lower T_b than in echidnas, although active T_b in marmots is 38°C and in echidnas 32°C. The contrasting relationships between peak warming rates and T_b reflect a difference between BAT and muscle thermogenesis. Redrawn from Nicol et al. (2009).

consequence of selection for parental care, because endothermy allows a parent to control incubation temperature, facilitating embryonic development. Higher temperatures speed embryonic development but the costs of this extra thermogenesis would have selected for an increase in aerobic capacity (Farmer, 2000; Farmer and Losos, 2003). The assimilation capacity model (Koteja, 2000) is a variation on the parental care model. It argues that the evolution of endothermy in birds and mammals was driven by two factors: (i) a selection for intense post-hatching parental care, particularly feeding offspring, and (ii) the high cost of maintaining the increased capacity of the visceral organs necessary to support high rates of total daily energy expenditures. What can the monotremes bring to this debate? Although it is now understood that the monotremes do not represent an intermediate step on the way to true endothermy they may still provide some insights into its evolution.

Grigg et al. (2004) suggest that short-beaked echidnas have some of the attributes of a protoendotherm: they are relaxed about maintaining a stable T_b, with large daily cycles of T_b (2-5°C) associated with activity, they show a continuum from daily torpor to long-term torpor or hibernation, which is interrupted by periodic arousals, and they may abandon their normal daily pattern with short periods of torpor at any time of the year. Grigg et al. (2004) stress that this does not mean that the short-beaked echidna displays a primitive or inadequate thermoregulatory ability. Rather they suggest it has retained a plesiomorphic condition to tolerate low T_b. Lovegrove (2012) uses the term protoendotherm to describe mammals such as the echidna which he suggests have retained Cretaceous basoendothermy. His plesiomorphic-apomorphic endothermy (PAE) model suggests that Cretaceous mammals may not have maintained a constant T_b throughout the year and daily torpor and hibernation in certain extant stem tropical mammals is a plesiomorphic condition. Heterothermy in protoendotherms might be considered to be the non-adaptive plesiomorphic state, and periodic normothermy, for example during breeding, as is seen in the echidna, is the adaptive state. In this model, highly seasonal, well-regulated adaptive hibernation in high latitude mammals is a derived state of heterothermy (Lovegrove, 2012).

Leaving aside the difficulty in explaining how torpor in birds and mammals could be derived from the most recent common amniote ancestor, an ectotherm which lived 325 million years ago (Shedlock and Edwards, 2009), it is reasonable to assume that early mammals had a low and variable T_b , and that the low T_b of monotremes (31–32°C), the lowest of any of the mammalian orders (Clarke and O'Connor, 2014), reflects an ancestral condition. However, torpor and hibernation in echidnas is extremely variable between geographic sub-species. In warm climates there seems to be a protoendotherm-like continuum from daily torpor to hibernation, while in cooler areas the expression of hibernation is indistinguishable from Lovegrove's apoendothermic highly seasonal, well-regulated adaptive hibernation (Lovegrove, 2012).

Echidnas do provide some useful insight into the relative merits of the parental care and assimilation capacity models. Very close regulation of maternal T_b during egg-incubation (Beard et al., 1992; Nicol and Andersen, 2006) is consistent

with the parental care model as the maintenance of a high and constant temperature must be energetically expensive. The 10-11 day period of egg-incubation corresponds with the period of organogenesis and neurulation in echidnas (Werneburg and Sánchez-Villagra, 2011). These developmental processes are particularly temperature sensitive (Andrews, 2004), and in reptiles and birds embryonic development is very sensitive to variations in temperature as well as the absolute temperature (Shine, 2005; Du and Shine, 2015). As decreased mortality early in life results in a larger gain in Darwinian fitness than can be achieved by a comparable decrease of mortality at an older age (Stearns, 1992), there would be very strong selection for higher energy expenditure during egg-incubation. By contrast, the fact that the metabolic rate of lactating female echidnas is not measurably higher that of non-lactating females, suggests that post-hatching energy expenditure may not necessarily be as strong a selection force as is suggested by the assimilationcapacity model (Koteja, 2000).

The monotremes also provide some support for the proposal that the increase in aerobic scope in endotherms was achieved through an increase in T_b (Clarke and Pörtner, 2010). The very similar maximum metabolic rates of the echidna and platypus, despite their differences in BMR, points to a T_b limitation on metabolic capacity. The more energetically expensive lifestyle and higher BMR of the platypus is associated with thyroid hormone levels which exceed those of the majority of eutherian species. Is the monotreme mitochondrial machinery idling at a much higher rate in the platypus but with still the same temperature limited maximal output as echidnas?

The egg-laying mode of reproduction of the monotremes led early researchers to perceive them as living fossils whose physiology will give insights into the physiology of early mammals. Extant monotremes however are highly specialized, and aspects of their physiology are likely to be strongly affected by their ecological niche. They also have a large brain which accounts for about 9% of resting metabolism, which is certainly not a primitive trait. Monotremes show a mosaic of derived and plesiomorphic features in their embryology and development (Werneburg and Sánchez-Villagra, 2011), adult anatomy (Crompton and Jenkins, 1973) and genome (Warren et al., 2008), reinforcing the picture that mammalian evolution is not a story of linear progress starting with monotremes, passing through marsupials and reaching placentals (Werneburg and Sánchez-Villagra, 2011). This mosaic also clearly extends to energetics and thermoregulation.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

The author confirms being the sole contributor of this work and approved it for publication.

FUNDING

This work was supported by the Australian Research Council and the National Geographic Committee for Research and Exploration.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

Thanks to my colleagues and students who have worked with me on many aspects of monotreme biology, particularly Niels

REFERENCES

- Abensperg-Traun, M. (1989). Some observations on the duration of lactation and movements of a *Tachyglossus aculeatus acanthion* (Monotremata: Tachyglossidae) from Western Australia. *Aust. Mammal.* 12, 33–34.
- Aiello, L. C., and Wheeler, P. (1995). the expensive-tissue hypothesis: the brain and the digestive system in human and primate evolution. *Curr. Anthropol.* 36, 199–221. doi: 10.1086/204350
- Andrews, R. (2004). "Patterns of embryonic development," in *Reptilian Incubation: Environment, Evolution and Behaviour*, ed D. C. Deeming (Nottingham: Nottingham University Press), 75–102.
- Ashwell, K. W. S. (2008). Encephalization of Australian and New Guinean Marsupials. Brain Behav. Evol. 71, 181–199. doi: 10.1159/000114406
- Ashwell, K. W. S. (2013a). "Cerebral cortex and claustrum/endopiriform complex," in *Neurobiology of Monotremes: Brain Evolution in Our Distant Mammalian Cousins*, ed K. W. S. Ashwell (Collingwood, Vic: CSIRO Publishing), 131–160.
- Ashwell, K. W. S. (2013b). "Embryology and post-hatching development of the monotremes," in *Neurobiology of Monotremes: Brain Evolution in Our Distant Mammalian Cousins*, ed K. W. S. Ashwell (Collingwood, Vic: CSIRO Publishing), 31–46.
- Ashwell, K. W. S. (2013c). "Reflections: monotreme neurobiology in context," in *Neurobiology of Monotremes: Brain Evolution in Our Distant Mammalian Cousins*, ed K. W. S. Ashwell (Collingwood, Vic: CSIRO Publishing), 285–298.
- Augee, M. (1978). Metabolic consequences of subspecific pelage variations in the echidna. Austral. Zool. 20, 105–109.
- Augee, M. L. (1976). Heat tolerance of monotremes. J. Therm. Biol. 1, 181–184. doi: 10.1016/0306-4565(76)90011-5
- Augee, M. L., and Ealey, E. H. M. (1968). Torpor in the echidna, *Tachyglossus aculeatus*. J. Mammal. 49, 446–454. doi: 10.2307/1378202
- Augee, M., Gooden, B., and Musser, A. M. (2006). Echidna: Extraordinary Egg-Laying Mammal. Collingwood, Vic: CSIRO Publishing.
- Barker, J. M., Cooper, C. E., Withers, P. C., and Nicol, S. C. (2016). Reexamining echidna physiology: the big picture for *Tachyglossus aculeatus acanthion*. *Physiol. Biochem. Zool.* 89, 169–181. doi: 10.1086/686716
- Beard, L. A., and Grigg, G. C. (2000). Reproduction in the short-beaked echidna, *Tachyglossus aculeatus*: field observations at an elevated site in south-east Queensland. *Proc. Linnean Soc. New South Wales* 122, 89–99.
- Beard, L. A., Grigg, G. C., and Augee, M. L. (1992). "Reproduction by echidnas in a cold climate," in *Platypus and Echidnas*, ed M. L. Augee (Mosman, NSW: Royal Zoological Society of New South Wales), 93–100.
- Bech, C., Nicol, S. C., and Andersen, N. A. (1992). "Ventilation in the echidna Tachyglossus aculeatus," in Platypus and Echidnas, ed M. L. Augee (Mosman, NSW: Royal Zoological Society of New South Wales), 134–139.
- Bennett, A. F. (1978). Activity metabolism of the lower vertebrates. Annu. Rev. Physiol. 40, 447–469. doi: 10.1146/annurev.ph.40.030178.002311
- Bennett, A. F., and Ruben, J. A. (1979). Endothermy and activity in vertebrates. Science 206, 649–654. doi: 10.1126/science.493968
- Bethge, P., Munks, S., and Nicol, S. C. (2001). Energetics of foraging and locomotion in the platypus Ornithorhynchus anatinus. J. Comp. Physiol. B Biochem. Syst. Environ. Physiol. V171, 497–506. doi: 10.1007/s003600100200
- Bethge, P., Munks, S., Otley, H., and Nicol, S. (2003). Diving behaviour, dive cycles and aerobic dive limit in the platypus Ornithorhynchus anatinus. Comp. Biochem. Physiol. Part A Mol. Integr. Physiol. 136, 799–809. doi: 10.1016/S1095-6433(03)00198-3
- Bethge, P., Munks, S., Otley, H., and Nicol, S. C. (2009). Activity patterns and sharing of time and space of platypuses, *Ornithorhynchus* anatinus, in a subalpine Tasmanian lake. J. Mammal. 90 1350–1356. doi: 10.1644/08-MAMM-A-355R.1

Andersen, Philip Bethge, Rachel Harris, Gemma Morrow, and Jenny Sprent. Thanks also to Fritz Geiser and two reviewers who made numerous suggestions that have aided greatly in the preparation of this review.

- Brice, P. H., Grigg, G. C., Beard, L. A., and Donovan, J. A. (2002). Heat tolerance of short-beaked echidnas (*Tachyglossus aculeatus*) in the field. J. Therm. Biol. 27, 449–457. doi: 10.1016/S0306-4565(02)00015-3
- Brown, J. H., Gillooly, J. F., Allen, A. P., Savage, V. M., and Westand, G. B. (2004). Toward a metabolic theory of ecology. *Ecology* 85, 1771–1789. doi: 10.1890/03-9000
- Buffenstein, R., Woodley, R., Thomadakis, C., Daly, T. J. M., and Gray, D. A. (2001). Cold-induced changes in thyroid function in a poikilothermic mammal, the naked mole-rat. *Am. J. Physiol. Regul. Integr. Comp. Physiol.* 280, R149– R155.
- Cannon, B., and Nedergaard, J. (2004). Brown adipose tissue: function and physiological significance. *Physiol. Rev.* 84, 277–359. doi: 10.1152/physrev.00015.2003
- Capellini, I., Venditti, C., and Barton, R. A. (2010). Phylogeny and metabolic scaling in mammals. *Ecology* 91, 2783–2793. doi: 10.1890/09-0817.1
- Clarke, A. (2006). Temperature and the metabolic theory of ecology. *Funct. Ecol.* 20, 405–412. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2435.2006.01109.x
- Clarke, A., and O'Connor, M. I. (2014). Diet and body temperature in mammals and birds. *Glob. Ecol. Biogeogr.* 23, 1000–1008. doi: 10.1111/geb.12185
- Clarke, A., and Pörtner, H. O. (2010). Temperature, metabolic power and the evolution of endothermy. *Biol. Rev.* 85, 703–727. doi:10.1111/j.1469-185x.2010.00122.x
- Clarke, A., and Rothery, P. (2008). Scaling of body temperature in mammals and birds. *Funct. Ecol.* 22, 58–67. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2435.2007.01341.x
- Clarke, A., Rothery, P., and Isaac, N. J. B. (2010). Scaling of basal metabolic rate with body mass and temperature in mammals. J. Anim. Ecol. 79, 610–619. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2656.2010.01672.x
- Clutton-Brock, T. H., and Harvey, P. H. (1980). Primates, brains and ecology. J. Zool. 190, 309-323. doi: 10.1111/j.1469-7998.1980.tb01430.x
- Crompton, A., and Jenkins, F. A. Jr. (1973). Mammals from reptiles: a review of mammalian origins. Annu. Rev. Earth Planet. Sci. 1:131. doi: 10.1146/annurev.ea.01.050173.001023
- Damassa, D. A., Gustafson, A. W., Kwiecinski, G. G., and Gagin, G. A. (1995). Seasonal influences on the control of plasma sex hormone-binding globulin by t-4 in male little brown bats. *Am. J. Physiol. Regul. Integr. Comp. Physiol.* 37, R1303–R1309.
- Darwin, C. (1871). The Descent of Man and Selection in Relation to Sex. London: John Murray.
- Darwin, C. (1854). Letter no. 1573. Available online at: http://www.darwinproject.ac.uk/DCP-LETT-1573 (Accessed January 16, 2017).
- Dawson, T. J., and Hulbert, A. (1970). Standard metabolism, body temperature, and surface areas of Australian marsupials. Am. J. Physiol. Legacy Cont. 218, 1233–1238.
- Dawson, T., and Grant, T. (1980). "Metabolic capabilities of monotremes and the evolution of homeothermy," in *Comparative Physiology: Primitive Mammals*, eds K. Schmidt-Nielsen, L. Bolis, and C. R. Taylor (Cambridge: Cambridge University Press), 140–147.
- Dawson, T., Grant, T., and Fanning, D. (1979). Standard metabolism of monotremes and the evolution of homeothermy. *Aust. J. Zool.* 27, 511–515. doi: 10.1071/ZO9790511
- Demeneix, B. A., and Henderson, N. E. (1978). Thyroxine metabolism in active and torpid ground squirrels, Spermophilus richardsoni. Gen. Comp. Endocrinol. 35, 86–92. doi: 10.1016/0016-6480(78)90171-5
- Denver, R. J., Bonett, R. M., and Boorse, G. C. (2011). Evolution of leptin structure and function. *Neuroendocrinology* 94, 21–38. doi: 10.1159/000328435
- Diogo, R., Ziermann, J. M., and Linde-Medina, M. (2015). Is evolutionary biology becoming too politically correct? A reflection on the scala naturae, phylogenetically basal clades, anatomically plesiomorphic taxa, and 'lower' animals. *Biol. Rev.* 90, 502–521. doi: 10.1111/brv.12121

- Du, W. G., and Shine, R. (2015). The behavioural and physiological strategies of bird and reptile embryos in response to unpredictable variation in nest temperature. *Biol. Rev.* 90, 19–30. doi: 10.1111/brv.12089
- Edmeades, R., and Baudinette, R. V. (1975). Energetics of locomotion in a monotreme, the echidna *Tachyglossus aculeatus. Experientia* 31, 935–936. doi: 10.1007/BF02358861
- Else, P. L., and Hulbert, A. J. (1985a). An allometric comparison of the mitochondria of mammalian and reptilian tissues: the implications for the evolution of endothermy. J. Comp. Physiol. B Biochem. Syst. Environ. Physiol. 156, 3–11. doi: 10.1007/BF00692920
- Else, P. L., and Hulbert, A. J. (1985b). Mammals: an allometric study of metabolism at tissue and mitochondrial level. Am. J. Physiol. Regul. Integr. Comp. Physiol. 248(4 Pt 2), R415–R421.
- Farmer, C. G. (2000). Parental care: the key to understanding endothermy and other convergent features in birds and mammals. Am. Nat. 155, 326–334. doi: 10.1086/303323
- Farmer, C. G., and Losos, J. B. (2003). Reproduction: the adaptive significance of endothermy. Am. Nat. 162, 826–840. doi: 10.1086/380922
- Fish, F. E. (2000). Biomechanics and energetics in aquatic and semiaquatic mammals: platypus to Whale. *Physiol. Biochem. Zool. Ecol. Evol. Approaches* 73, 683–698. doi: 10.1086/318108
- Flannery, T. F., and Groves, C. P. (1998). A revision of the genus Zaglossus (Monotremata, Tachyglossidae), with description of new species and subspecies. Mammalia 62, 367–396. doi: 10.1515/mamm.1998.62.3.367
- Florant, G., and Healy, J. (2012). The regulation of food intake in mammalian hibernators: a review. J. Comp. Physiol. B Biochem. Syst. Environ. Physiol. 182, 451–467. doi: 10.1007/s00360-011-0630-y
- Frappell, P. B. (2003). Ventilation and metabolic rate in the platypus: insights into the evolution of the mammalian breathing pattern. *Comp. Biochem. Physiol. Part A Mol. Integr. Physiol.* 136, 943–955. doi: 10.1016/S1095-6433(03)00273-3
- Frappell, P. B., Franklin, C. E., and Grigg, G. C. (1994). Ventilatory and metabolic responses to hypoxia in the echidna, *Tachyglossus aculeatus. Am. J. Physiol. Regul. Integr. Comp. Physiol.* 36, R1510–R1515.
- Geiser, F. (2001). "Hibernation: Endotherms," in *eLS* (John Wiley & Sons, Ltd.), 1–8. doi: 10.1002/9780470015902.a0003215.pub2
- Geiser, F. (2004). Metabolic rate and body temperature reduction during hibernation and daily torpor. Annu. Rev. Physiol. 66, 239–274. doi: 10.1146/annurev.physiol.66.032102.115105
- Geiser, F., and Baudinette, R. V. (1990). The relationship beween body mass and rate of rewarming from hibernation and daily torpor in mammals. J. Exp. Biol. 151, 349–359.
- Geiser, F., and Brigham, R. M. (2012). "The other functions of torpor," in *Living in a Seasonal World*, eds T. Ruf, C. Bieber, W. Arnold, and E. Millesi (Berlin: Springer), 109–121.
- Geiser, F., and Körtner, G. (2010). Hibernation and daily torpor in Australian mammals. Austral. Zool. 35, 204–215. doi: 10.7882/AZ.2010.009
- Geiser, F., and Seymour, R. S. (1989). Torpor in a pregnant echidna, *Tachyglossus aculeatus* (Monotremata: Tachyglossidae). Aust. Mammal. 12, 81–82.
- Geiser, F., Hiebert, S., and Kenagy, G. J. (1990). Torpor bout duration during the hibernating season of two sciurid rodent: interrelations with temperature and metabolism. *Physiol. Zool.* 3, 489–503. doi: 10.1086/physzool.63.3.30 156224
- Geiser, F., Kortner, G., and Schmidt, I. (1998). Leptin increases energy expenditure of a marsupial by inhibition of daily torpor. Am. J. Physiol. Regul. Integr. Comp. Physiol. 275, R1627–1632.
- Geoffroy Sàint-Hilaire, É. (1803). Extrait des observations anatomiques de M Home, sur l'echidne. *Bull. Sci. Soc. Philomath.* 3, 125–127.
- Gillooly, J. F., Brown, J. H., West, G. B., Savage, V. M., and Charnov, E. L. (2001). Effects of size and temperature on metabolic rate. *Science* 293, 2248–2251. doi: 10.1126/science.1061967
- Gittleman, J. L. (1986). Carnivore brain size, behavioral ecology, and phylogeny. J. Mammal. 67, 23–36. doi: 10.2307/1380998
- Gongora, J., Swan, A. B., Chong, A. Y., Ho, S. Y. W., Damayanti, C. S., Kolomyjec, S., et al. (2012). Genetic structure and phylogeography of platypuses revealed by mitochondrial DNA. *J. Zool.* 286, 110–119. doi: 10.1111/j.1469-7998.2011.00854.x
- González-Lagos, C., Sol, D., and Reader, S. M. (2010). Large-brained mammals live longer. J. Evol. Biol. 23, 1064–1074. doi: 10.1111/j.1420-9101.2010.01976.x

- Grant, T. (2004). Captures, capture mortality, age and sex ratios of platypuses, Ornithorhynchus anatinus, during studies over 30 years in the upper Shoalhaven River in New South Wales. Proc. Linnean Soc. New South Wales 125, 217–226.
- Grant, T. R. (2015). "Family Ornithorhynchidae (Platypus)" in *Handbook of Mammals of the World*, eds D. E. Wilson and R. A. Mittermeier (Barcelona: Lynx Edicions), 58–69.
- Grant, T. R., and Dawson, T. J. (1978). Temperature regulation in the platypus, Ornithorhynchus anatinus: production and loss of metabolic heat in air and water. Physiol. Zool. 51, 315–332. doi: 10.1086/physzool.51.4.301 60956
- Green, B., Griffiths, M., and Newgrain, K. (1992). Seasonal patterns in water, sodium and energy turnover in free-living echidnas, *Tachyglossus aculeatus* (Mammalia: Monotremata). J. Zool. 227, 351–365. doi: 10.1111/j.1469-7998.1992.tb04399.x
- Griffiths, M. (1978). *The Biology of Monotremes*. New York, NY: Academic Press Inc.
- Grigg, G. C., Beard, L. A., Barnes, J. A., Perry, L. I., Fry, G. J., and Hawkins, M. (2003). Body temperature in captive long-beaked echidnas (*Zaglossus bartoni*). Comp. Biochem. Physiol. Part A Mol. Integr. Physiol. 136, 911–916. doi: 10.1016/j.cbpb.2003.09.004
- Grigg, G., Beard, L., and Augee, M. (2004). The evolution of endothermy and its diversity in mammals and birds. *Physiol. Biochem. Zool.* 77, 982–997. doi: 10.1086/425188
- Grigg, G., Beard, L., Grant, T., and Augee, M. (1992). Body temperature and diurnal activity patterns in the platypus (*Ornithorhynchus anatinus*) during winter. Aust. J. Zool. 40, 135–142. doi: 10.1071/ZO9920135
- Harris, R. L., and Nicol, S. C. (2014). Observations of breeding behaviour and possible infanticide in a wild population of Tasmanian echidnas (*Tachyglossus* aculeatus setosus). Aust. Mammal. 36, 108–112. doi: 10.1071/AM13011
- Harris, R. L., Cameron, E. Z., Davies, N. W., and Nicol, S. C. (2016). "Chemical cues, hibernation and reproduction in female short-beaked echidnas (*Tachyglossus aculeatus setosus*): implications for sexual conflict," in *Chemical Signals in Vertebrates 13*, eds B. A. Schulte, T. E. Goodwin, and M. H. Ferkin (Cham: Springer International Publishing), 145–166.
- Harris, R. L., Davies, N. W., and Nicol, S. C. (2012). Chemical composition of odorous secretions in the Tasmanian short-beaked echidna (*Tachyglossus* aculeatus setosus). Chem. Senses 37, 819–836. doi: 10.1093/chemse/bjs066
- Harris, R. L., Holland, B. R., Cameron, E. Z., Davies, N. W., and Nicol, S. C. (2014). Chemical signals in the echidna: differences between seasons, sexes, individuals and gland types. J. Zool. 293, 171–180. doi: 10.1111/jzo.12133
- Hassiotis, M., Paxinos, G., and Ashwell, K. W. (2005). Cyto-and chemoarchitecture of the cerebral cortex of an echidna (*Tachyglossus aculeatus*). II. Laminar organization and synaptic density. *J. Comp. Neurol.* 482, 94–122. doi: 10.1002/cne.20353
- Hofman, M. A. (1983). Energy metabolism, brain Size and longevity in mammals. Q. Rev. Biol. 58, 495–512. doi: 10.1086/413544
- Howley, C. (2012). "Annan and Endeavour River Freshwater and Estuarine Water Quality Report". (Cooktown, QLD: CYMAG Environmental).
- Hulbert, A. (2000). Thyroid hormones and their effects: a new perspective. *Biol. Rev. Camb. Philos. Soc.* 75, 519–631. doi: 10.1017/S146479310000556X
- Hulbert, A. J., and Augee, M. L. (1982). A comparative study of thyroid function in monotreme, marsupial, and eutherian mammals. *Physiol. Zool.* 55, 220–228. doi: 10.1086/physzool.55.3.30157886
- Hulbert, A. J., and Else, P. L. (2005). Membranes and the setting of energy demand. J. Exp. Biol. 208, 1593–1599. doi: 10.1242/jeb.01482
- Hulbert, A. J., and Grant, T. R. (1983). Thyroid hormone levels in an egg-laying mammal, the platypus Ornithorhynchus anatinus. Gen. Comp. Endocrinol. 51, 401–405. doi: 10.1016/0016-6480(83)90056-4
- Hulbert, A. J., and Hudson, J. W. (1976). Thyroid function in a hibernator, Spermophilus tridecemlineatus. Am. J. Physiol. Regul. Integr. Comp. Physiol. 230, 1211–1216.
- Hulbert, A. J., Beard, L. A., and Grigg, G. C. (2008). The exceptional longevity of an egg-laying mammal, the short-beaked echidna (*Tachyglossus aculeatus*) is associated with peroxidation-resistant membrane composition. *Exp. Gerontol.* 43, 729–733. doi: 10.1016/j.exger.2008.05.015
- Isler, K., and van Schaik, C. P. (2006). Metabolic costs of brain size evolution. Biol. Lett. 2, 557–560. doi: 10.1098/rsbl.2006.0538

- Johansen, K. (1962). Responses to heat and cold in lower mammals. Int. J. Biometeorol. 6, 3–28. doi: 10.1007/BF02187009
- Johnson, M. S., Thomson, S. C., and Speakman, J. R. (2001). Limits to sustained energy intake. II. Inter-relationships between resting metabolic rate, life-history traits and morphology in *Mus musculus*. J. Exp. Biol. 204(Pt 11), 1937–1946.
- Kerr, R. (1792). The Animal Kingdom or Zoological System of the Celebrated Sir Charles Linnæus. Edinburgh: A. Strahan, and T. Cadell.
- Koteja, P. (2000). Energy assimilation, parental care and the evolution of endothermy. Proc. R. Soc. Lond. Ser. B Biol. Sci. 267, 479–484. doi: 10.1098/rspb.2000.1025
- Kozlowski, J., and Konarzewski, M. (2005). West, Brown and Enquist's model of allometric scaling again: the same questions remain. *Funct. Ecol.* 19, 739–743. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2435.2005.01021.x
- Kuchel, L. J. (2003). The Energetics and Patterns of Torpor in Free-ranging Tachyglossus aculeatus from a Warm-temperate Climate. PhD thesis, The University of Queensland.
- Kuchel, L. J., and Grigg, G. (2003). Torpor cannot be distinguished from nontorpor in free-ranging echidnas. *Comp. Biochem. Physiol. Part A Mol. Integr. Physiol.* 134:S93.
- Kwiecinski, G. G., Damassa, D. A., and Gustafson, A. W. (1991). Patterns of plasma sex hormone-binding globulin, thyroxine and thyroxine-binding globulin in relation to reproductive state and hibernation in female little brown bats. J. Endocrinol. 128, 63–70. doi: 10.1677/joe.0.1280063
- Little, A. G., and Seebacher, F. (2014). The evolution of endothermy is explained by thyroid hormone-mediated responses to cold in early vertebrates. J. Exp. Biol. 217, 1642–1648. doi: 10.1242/jeb.088880
- Londraville, R. L., Macotela, Y., Duff, R. J., Easterling, M. R., Liu, Q., and Crespi, E. J. (2014). Comparative endocrinology of leptin: assessing function in a phylogenetic context. *Gen. Comp. Endocrinol.* 203, 146–157. doi: 10.1016/j.ygcen.2014.02.002
- Lopes, F. L., Desmarais, J. A., and Murphy, B. D. (2004). Embryonic diapause and its regulation. *Reproduction* 128, 669–678. doi: 10.1530/rep.1.00444
- Lovegrove, B. G. (2012). The evolution of endothermy in Cenozoic mammals: a plesiomorphic-apomorphic continuum. *Biol. Rev.* 87, 128–162. doi: 10.1111/j.1469-185X.2011.00188.x
- Magnus, T. H., and Henderson, N. E. (1988a). Thyroid hormone resistance in hibernating ground squirrels, *Spermophilus richardsoni*: I. Increased binding of triiodo-l-thyronine and l-thyroxine by serum proteins. *Gen. Comp. Endocrinol.* 69, 352–360. doi: 10.1016/0016-6480(88)90025-1
- Magnus, T. H., and Henderson, N. E. (1988b). Thyroid hormone resistance in hibernating ground squirrels, *Spermophilus richardsoni*: II. Reduction of hepatic nuclear receptors. *Gen. Comp. Endocrinol.* 69, 361–371. doi: 10.1016/0016-6480(88)90026-3
- Martin, C. J. (1903). Thermal adjustment and respiratory exchange in monotremes and marsupials.- A study in the development of homoeothermism. *Philos. Trans. R. Soc. Lond. Ser B Biol. Sci.* 195, 1–37. doi: 10.1098/rstb.1903.0001
- Mayr, E. (1982). The Growth of Biological Thought: Diversity, Evolution, and Inheritance. Cambridge, MA; London Harvard University Press.
- McAllan, B. M., and Geiser, F. (2014). Torpor during reproduction in mammals and birds: dealing with an energetic conundrum. *Integr. Comp. Biol.* 54, 516–532. doi: 10.1093/icb/icu093
- McNab, B. (1992). A statistical analysis of mammalian rates of metabolism. *Funct. Ecol.* 6, 672–679. doi: 10.2307/2389963
- McNab, B. K. (2002). The Physiological Ecology of Vertebrates: A View from Energetics. New York, NY: Cornell University Press.
- McNab, B. K. (2008). An analysis of the factors that influence the level and scaling of mammalian BMR. *Comp. Biochem. Physiol. Part A Mol. Integr. Physiol.* 151, 5–28. doi: 10.1016/j.cbpa.2008.05.008
- McNab, B. K., and Eisenberg, J. F. (1989). Brain size and its relation to the rate of metabolism in mammals. Am. Nat. 133, 157–167. doi: 10.1086/284907
- McNab, B. K. (1984). Physiological convergence amongst anteating and termite-eating mammals. J. Zool. 203, 485–510. doi: 10.1111/j.1469-7998.1984.tb02345.x
- Mendel, C. M. (1989). The free hormone hypothesis: a physiologically based mathematical model. *Endocr. Rev.* 10, 232–274. doi: 10.1210/edrv-10-3-232
- Miklouho-Maclay, N. (1883). Temperature of the body of *Echidna hystrix* Cuv. Proc. Linnean Soc. New South Wales 8, 425–426. doi: 10.5962/bhl.part. 28668

- Miklouho-Maclay, N. (1884). On the temperature of the body of Ornithorhynchus paradoxus. Proc. Linnean Soc. New South Wales 9, 1204–1205.
- Mink, J. W., Blumenschine, R. J., and Adams, D. B. (1981). Ratio of central nervous system to body metabolism in vertebrates: its constancy and functional basis. *Am. J. Physiol. Regul. Integr. Comp. Physiol.* 241, R203–R212.
- Morrow, G. E., and Nicol, S. C. (2012). Maternal care in the Tasmanian echidna (*Tachyglossus aculeatus setosus*). Aust. J. Zool. 60:289. doi: 10.1071/ZO12066
- Morrow, G. E., Jones, S. M., and Nicol, S. C. (2015). Frozen embryos? Torpor during pregnancy in the Tasmanian short-beaked echidna *Tachyglossus aculeatus* setosus. *Gen. Comp. Endocrinol.* 244, 139–145. doi: 10.1016/j.ygcen.2015.11.006
- Morrow, G. E., Jones, S. M., and Nicol, S. C. (2016). Interaction of hibernation and male reproductive function in wild Tasmanian echidnas *Tachyglossus aculeatus* setosus. J. Mammal. 97, 852–860. doi: 10.1093/jmammal/gyw013
- Morrow, G., Andersen, N. A., and Nicol, S. C. (2009). Reproductive strategies of the short-beaked echidna - a review with new data from a long-term study on the Tasmanian subspecies (*Tachyglossus aculeatus setosus*). Aust. J. Zool. 57, 275–282. doi: 10.1071/ZO09037
- Mueller, P., and Diamond, J. (2001). Metabolic rate and environmental productivity: well provisioned animals evolved to run and idle fast. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 98, 12550–12555. doi: 10.1073/pnas.2214 56698
- Musser, A. M. (2013). "Classification and evolution of monotremes," in Neurobiology of Monotremes: Brain Evolution in Our Distant Mammalian Cousins, ed K. W. S. Ashwell (Collingwood, Vic: CSIRO Publishing), 1–16.
- Nicol, S. C. (2013). "Behaviour and ecology of monotremes," in *Neurobiology of Monotremes: Brain Evolution in Our Distant Mammalian Cousins*, ed K. W. S. Ashwell (Collingwood, VIC: CSIRO Publishing), 17–30.
- Nicol, S. C. (2015). "Family Tachyglossidae (Echidnas)" in Handbook of Mammals of the World, eds D. E. Wilson and R. A. Mittermeier (Barcelona: Lynx Edicions), 34–57.
- Nicol, S. C., and Andersen, N. A. (1993). "The physiology of hibernation in an egglaying mammal, the echidna," in *Life in the Cold III: Ecological, Physiological, and Molecular Mechanisms*, eds C. Carey, G. F. Florant, B. A. Wunder, and B. Horwitz (Boulder: Westview Press), 55–64.
- Nicol, S. C., and Andersen, N. A. (1996). "Hibernation in the echidna: not an adaptation to cold?," in *Adaptations to the Cold: Tenth International HibernationSymposium*, eds F. Geiser, A. J. Hulbert and S. C. Nicol (Armidale, NSW: University of New England Press), 7–12.
- Nicol, S. C., and Andersen, N. A. (2000). "Patterns of hibernation of echidnas in Tasmania," in *Life in the Cold: Eleventh International Hibernation Symposium*, eds G. Heldmaier and M. Klingenspor (Berlin: Springer), 21–29.
- Nicol, S. C., and Andersen, N. A. (2002). The timing of hibernation in Tasmanian echidnas: why do they do it when they do? *Comp. Biochem. Physiol. Part B Biochem. Mol. Biol.* 131, 603–611. doi: 10.1016/S1096-4959(02)00018-0
- Nicol, S. C., and Andersen, N. A. (2006). Body temperature as an indicator of egg-laying in the echidna, *Tachyglossus aculeatus. J. Therm. Biol.* 31, 483–490. doi: 10.1016/j.jtherbio.2006.05.001
- Nicol, S. C., and Andersen, N. A. (2007a). Cooling rates and body temperature regulation of hibernating echidnas (*Tachyglossus aculeatus*). J. Exp. Biol. 210, 586–592. doi: 10.1242/jeb.02701
- Nicol, S. C., and Andersen, N. A. (2007b). The life history of an egg-laying mammal, the echidna (*Tachyglossus aculeatus*). *Ecoscience* 14, 275–285. doi: 10. 2980/1195-6860(2007)14[275:TLHOAE]2.0.CO;2
- Nicol, S. C., and Andersen, N. A. (2008). Rewarming rates and thermogenesis in hibernating echidnas. *Comp. Biochem. Physiol. Part A Mol. Integr. Physiol.* 150, 189–195. doi: 10.1016/j.cbpa.2006.08.039
- Nicol, S. C., and Morrow, G. E. (2012). "Sex and seasonality: reproduction in the echidna (*Tachyglossus aculeatus*)," in *Living in a Seasonal World: Thermoregulatory and Metabolic Adaptations*, eds T. Ruf, C. Bieber, W. Arnold and E. Millesi (Heidelberg: Springer), 143–153.
- Nicol, S. C., Andersen, N. A., and Mesch, U. (1992). "Metabolic rate and ventilatory pattern in the echidna during hibernation and arousal," in *Platypus and Echidnas*, ed M. L. Augee (Mosman, NSW: Royal Zoological Society of NSW), 150–159.
- Nicol, S. C., Andersen, N. A., and Tomasi, T. E. (2000). Seasonal variations in thyroid hormone levels in free-living echidnas (*Tachyglossus aculeatus*). Gen. Comp. Endocrinol. 117, 1–7. doi: 10.1006/gcen.1999.7372

- Nicol, S. C., Andersen, N. A., Arnold, W., and Ruf, T. (2009). Rewarming rates of two large hibernators: comparison of a monotreme and a eutherian. J. Therm. Biol. 34, 155–159. doi: 10.1016/j.jtherbio.2009.01.003
- Nicol, S. C., Morrow, G., and Andersen, N. A. (2008). "Hibernation in monotremes – a review," in *Hypometabolism in Animals: Torpor, Hibernation* and Cryobiology, eds B. G. Lovegrove and A. E. McKechnie (Pietermaritzburg: University of KwaZulu-Natal), 251–262.
- Nicol, S. C., Vanpé, C., Sprent, J., Morrow, G., and Andersen, N. A. (2011). Spatial ecology of a ubiquitous Australian anteater, the shortbeaked echidna (*Tachyglossus aculeatus*). J. Mammal. 92, 101–110. doi: 10.1644/09-MAMM-A-398.1
- Nicol, S. C., Vedel-Smith, C., and Andersen, N. A. (2004). "Behavior, body temperature and hibernation in Tasmanian echidnas (*Tachyglossus aculeatus*)." in *Life in the Cold: Evolution, Mechanisms, Adaptation, and Application. Twelfth International Hibernation Symposium*, eds B. M. Barnes and H. V. Carey (Fairbanks, AK: Institute of Arctic Biology, University of Alaska), 149–157.
- Nowack, J., Cooper, C. E., and Geiser, F. (2016). Cool echidnas survive the fire. *Proc. R. Soc. B Biol. Sci.* 283:20160382. doi: 10.1098/rspb.20 16.0382
- Oelkrug, R., Polymeropoulos, E., and Jastroch, M. (2015). Brown adipose tissue: physiological function and evolutionary significance. J. Comp. Physiol. B 185, 587–606. doi: 10.1007/s00360-015-0907-7
- Omland, K. E., Cook, L. G., and Crisp, M. D. (2008). Tree thinking for all biology: the problem with reading phylogenies as ladders of progress. *Bioessays* 30, 854–867. doi: 10.1002/bies.20794
- Phillips, M. J., Bennett, T. H., and Lee, M. S. Y. (2009). Molecules, morphology, and ecology indicate a recent, amphibious ancestry for echidnas. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci.U.S.A.* 106, 17089–17094. doi: 10.1073/pnas.0904649106
- Polymeropoulos, E. T., Heldmaier, G., Frappell, P., McAllan, B., Withers, K., Klingenspor, M., et al. (2011). Phylogenetic differences of mammalian basal metabolic rate are not explained by mitochondrial basal proton leak. *Proc. Biol. Sci.* 279, 185–193. doi: 10.1098/rspb.2011.0881
- Prokop, J. W., Duff, R. J., Ball, H. C., Copeland, D. L., and Londraville, R. L. (2012). Leptin and leptin receptor: analysis of a structure to function relationship in interaction and evolution from humans to fish. *Peptides* 38, 326–336. doi: 10.1016/j.peptides.2012.10.002
- Prokop, J. W., Schmidt, C., Gasper, D., Duff, R. J., Milsted, A., Ohkubo, T., et al. (2014). Discovery of the elusive leptin in birds: identification of several 'missing links' in the evolution of leptin and its receptor. *PLoS ONE* 9:e92751. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0092751
- Richardson, S. J. (2009). Evolutionary changes to transthyretin: evolution of transthyretin biosynthesis. *FEBS J.* 276, 5342–5356. doi: 10.1111/j.1742-4658.2009.07244.x
- Richardson, S. J., Bradley, A. J., Duan, W., Wettenhall, R., Harms, P. J., Babon, J. J., et al. (1994). Evolution of marsupial and other vertebrate thyroxine-binding plasma proteins. *Am. J. Physiol. Regul. Integr. Comp. Physiol.* 266(4 Pt 2), R1359–R1370.
- Rismiller, P. D., and McKelvey, M. W. (1996). "Sex, torpor and activity in temperate climate echidnas," in *Adaptations to the Cold: Tenth International Hibernation Symposium*, eds F. Geiser, A. J. Hulbert and S. C. Nicol (Armidale, NSW: University of New England Press), 23–30.
- Rismiller, P. D., and McKelvey, M. W. (2003). Body mass, age and sexual maturity in short-beaked echidnas, *Tachyglossus aculeatus. Comp. Biochem. Physiol. Part A Mol. Integr. Physiol.* 136, 851–865. doi: 10.1016/S1095-6433(03) 00225-3
- Rolfe, D., and Brown, G. C. (1997). Cellular energy utilization and molecular origin of standard metabolic rate in mammals. *Physiol. Rev.* 77, 731–758.
- Ruf, T., and Geiser, F. (2015). Daily torpor and hibernation in birds and mammals. *Biol. Rev.* 90, 891–926. doi: 10.1111/brv. 12137
- Saunders, N., Habgood, M., and Dziegielewska, K. (1999). Barrier mechanisms in the brain, I. Adult brain. *Clin. Exp. Pharmacol. Physiol.* 26, 11–19. doi: 10.1046/j.1440-1681.1999.02986.x
- Schmid, J., Andersen, N. A., Speakman, J. R., and Nicol, S. C. (2003). Field energetics of free-living, lactating and non-lactating echidnas (*Tachyglossus aculeatus*). Comp. Biochem. Physiol. Part A Mol. Integr. Physiol. 136, 903–909. doi: 10.1016/S1095-6433(03)00240-X

- Schmidt-Nielsen, K., Dawson, T. J., and Crawford, E. J. (1966). Temperature regulation in the echidna (*Tachyglossus aculeatus*). J. Cell. Comp. Physiol. 67, 63–71. doi: 10.1002/jcp.1040670108
- Shaw, G. (1792). The Naturalists' Miscellany. London: F.P. Nodder & Co.
- Shedlock, A. M., and Edwards, S. V. (2009). "Amniotes (amniota)," in *The Timetree of Life*, eds S. B. Hedges and S. Kumar (New York, NY: Oxford University Press), 375–379.
- Shine, R. (2005). Life-history evolution in reptiles. Annu. Rev. Ecol. Evol. Syst. 36, 23–46. doi: 10.1146/annurev.ecolsys.36.102003.152631
- Sieg, A. E., O'Connor, M. P., McNair, J. N., Grant, B. W., Agosta, S. J., and Dunham, A. E. (2009). Mammalian metabolic allometry: do intraspecific variation, phylogeny, and regression models matter? *Am. Nat.* 174, 720–733. doi: 10.1086/606023
- Simon, R. V. (2013). Cranial Osteology of the Long-beaked Echidna, and the Definition, Diagnosis and Origin of Monotremata and Its Major Subclades. MSc, University of Texas at Austin.
- Smyth, D. M. (1973). Temperature regulation in the platypus, Ornithorhynchus anatinus (Shaw). Comp. Biochem. Physiol.Part A Physiol. 45, 705–715. doi: 10.1016/0300-9629(73)90074-1
- Speakman, J. R., and Król, E. (2010). Maximal heat dissipation capacity and hyperthermia risk: neglected key factors in the ecology of endotherms. J. Anim. Ecol. 79, 726–746. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2656.2010. 01689.x
- Sprent, J. A., and Nicol, S. C. (2016). Diet of the short-beaked echidna (*Tachyglossus aculeatus*) in the Tasmanian Southern Midlands. *Aust. Mammal.* 38, 188–194. doi: 10.1071/AM15023
- Sprent, J. A., Andersen, N. A., and Nicol, S. C. (2006). Latrine use by the short-beaked echidna, *Tachyglossus aculeatus*. Aust. Mammal. 28, 131–133. doi: 10.1071/AM06021
- Sprent, J., Jones, S. M., and Nicol, S. C. (2012). Does leptin signal adiposity in the egg-laying mammal, *Tachyglossus aculeatus*? Gen. Comp. Endocrinol. 178, 372–379. doi: 10.1016/j.ygcen.2012.06.021
- Stearns, S. C. (1992). The Evolution of Life Histories. Oxford: Oxford University Press.
- Sutherland, A. (1896). The temperature of reptiles, monotremes and marsupials. *Proc. R. Soc. Victoria* 9, 57–67.
- Taylor, R. C., Maloiy, G. M. O., Weibel, E. R., Langman, V. A., Kamau, J. M. Z., Seeherman, H. J., et al. (1981). Design of the mammalian respiratory system. III. Scaling maximum aerobic capacity to body mass: Wild and domestic mammals. *Respir. Physiol.* 44, 25–37. doi: 10.1016/0034-5687(81) 90075-X
- Tomasi, T. E. (1991). Utilization rates of thyroid hormones in mammals. Comp. Biochem. Physiol. Part A Physiol. 100, 503–516. doi: 10.1016/0300-9629(91)90363-H
- Tomasi, T., and Stribling, A. (1996). "Thyroid function in the 13-lined ground squirrel," in Adaptations to the Cold: Tenth International Hibernation Symposium, eds F. Geiser, A. Hulbert, and S. Nicol (Armidale, NSW: University of New England Press), 263–269.
- Turbill, C., Bieber, C., and Ruf, T. (2011). Hibernation is associated with increased survival and the evolution of slow life histories among mammals. *Proc. Biol. Sci.* 278, 3355–3363. doi: 10.1098/rspb.2011.0190
- Warren, W. C., Hillier, L. W., Marshall Graves, J. A., Birney, E., Ponting, C. P., Grutzner, F., et al. (2008). Genome analysis of the platypus reveals unique signatures of evolution. *Nature* 455, 256–256. doi: 10.1038/nature07253
- Weisbecker, V., and Goswami, A. (2010). Brain size, life history, and metabolism at the marsupial/placental dichotomy. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 107, 16216–16221. doi: 10.1073/pnas.0906486107
- Werneburg, I., and Sánchez-Villagra, M. R. (2011). The early development of the echidna, *Tachyglossus aculeatus* (Mammalia: Monotremata), and patterns of mammalian development. *Acta Zool.* 92, 75–88. doi: 10.1111/j.1463-6395.2009.00447.x
- White, C. R., and Seymour, R. S. (2004). Does basal metabolic rate contain a useful signal? Mammalian BMR allometry and correlations with a selection of physiological, ecological and life-history variables. *Physiol. Biochem. Zool.* 77, 929–941. doi: 10.1086/425186
- White, C. R., and Seymour, R. S. (2005). Allometric scaling of mammalian metabolism. J. Exp. Biol. 208, 1611–1619. doi: 10.1242/jeb.01501

- Wilkinson, D. A., Grigg, G. C., and Beard, L. A. (1998). Shelter selection and home range of echidnas, *Tachyglossus aculeatus*, in the highlands of south-east Queensland. *Wildlife Res.* 25, 219–232. doi: 10.1071/WR97072
- Willis, C. K. R., Brigham, R. M., and Geiser, F. (2006). Deep, prolonged torpor by pregnant, free-ranging bats. *Naturwissenschaften* 93, 80–83. doi: 10.1007/s00114-005-0063-0
- Young, R. A. (1984). Interrelationships between body weight, food consumption and plasma thyroid hormone concentration cycles in the woodchuck, Marmota monax. *Comp. Biochem. Physiol. Part A Physiol.* 77, 533–536. doi: 10.1016/0300-9629(84)90223-8
- Young, R. A., Danforth, E. Jr., Vagenakis, A. G., Krupp, P. P., Frink, R., and Sims, E. A. (1979). Seasonal variation and the influence of body temperature on plasma concentrations and binding of thyroxine and triiodothyronine

in the woodchuck. *Endocrinology* 104, 996–999. doi: 10.1210/endo-104-4-996

Conflict of Interest Statement: The author declares that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2017 Nicol. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) or licensor are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.

